# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

# FORM 10-K

(Mark One)					
,	ORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15	(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHA	NGE ACT OF 1934		
_	FOR THE I	FISCAL YEAR ENDED DEC	EEMBER 31, 2020		
☐ TRANSITION F	REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 O	R 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXC	CHANGE ACT OF 1934		
	FOR THE TRANS	SITION PERIOD FROM	то		
		Commission File Number: 001		_	
	7	The Carlyle Group	Inc.		
	(Exact	name of registrant as specified i	n its charter)		
	Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)		(I.R.	5-2832612 S. Employer ification No.)	
	(Ac	1001 Pennsylvania Avenue, N Washington, DC, 20004-25( ldress of principal executive offices)	)5		
	(Dog	(202) 729-5626	a avea codo)		
	(Reg	istrant's telephone number, includin Not Applicable	g area code)		
	(Former	name or former address, if changed	since last report)		
Securities registered pursuant	t to Section 12(b) of the Act:				
1	Title of each class	Trading Symbol(s)	Name of each e	xchange on which registered	
	Common Stock	CG	The Nasda	aq Global Select Market	
Indicate by check mark Indicate by check mark for such shorter period that th Indicate by check mark	if the Registrant is a well-known seasoned is if the Registrant is not required to file reports whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports the Registrant was required to file such reports whether the registrant has submitted electron	s pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15( ts required to be filed by Section 13 or ), and (2) has been subject to such filin iically every Interactive Data File requi	urities Act. Yes ⊠ No □ d) of the Act. Yes □ No ⊠ 15(d) of the Securities Exchang g requirements for the past 90 of ired to be submitted pursuant to	ge Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 days. Yes $oxtimes$ No $oxtimes$	•
Indicate by check mark	12 months (or for such shorter period that the whether the Registrant is a large accelerated "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of	filer, an accelerated filer, a non-acceler		company. See the definitions of "larg	ge accelerate
Large accelerated filer	× S Y	-		Accelerated filer	
Non-accelerated filer				Smaller reporting company	
				Emerging growth company	
standards provided pursuant t	company, indicate by check mark if the regist to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. □				
3	whether the registrant has filed a report on an es-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the regis	O O			ing under
The aggregate market v	whether the Registrant is a shell company (a alue of the common stock of the Registrant h istrant's shares of common stock outstanding	eld by non-affiliates as of June 30, 202	0 was \$9,246,701,644.		
	DO	CUMENTS INCORPORATED BY RE	EFERENCE		
	nt's definitive proxy statement relating to its where indicated. The 2021 Proxy Statement				

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
PART I.		
ITEM 1.	<u>BUSINESS</u>	<u>e</u>
ITEM 1A.	RISK FACTORS	<u>28</u>
ITEM 1B.	UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS	<u>8</u> 4
ITEM 2.	<u>PROPERTIES</u>	<u>8</u> 4
ITEM 3.	LEGAL PROCEEDINGS	<u>8</u> 4
ITEM 4.	MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES	<u>8</u> 4
PART II.		
ITEM 5.	MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES	<u>85</u>
ITEM 6.	SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA	<u>86</u>
ITEM 7.	MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS	<u>89</u>
ITEM 7A.	QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK	<u>151</u>
ITEM 8.	FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA	<u>154</u>
ITEM 9.	CHANGES AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE	<u>223</u>
ITEM 9A.	CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES	<u>223</u>
ITEM 9B.	OTHER INFORMATION	224
PART III.		
ITEM 10.	DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE	225
ITEM 11.	EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION	225
ITEM 12.	SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS	<u>225</u>
ITEM 13.	CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE	225
ITEM 14.	PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES	225
PART IV.		
ITEM 15.	EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES	226

1

### **Forward-Looking Statements**

This report may contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1934 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These statements include, but are not limited to, statements related to our expectations regarding the performance of our business, our financial results, our liquidity and capital resources, contingencies, our dividend policy, and other non-historical statements. You can identify these forward-looking statements by the use of words such as "outlook," "believes," "expects," "potential," "continues," "may," "will," "should," "seeks," "approximately," "predicts," "intends," "plans," "estimates," "anticipates" or the negative version of these words or other comparable words. Such forward-looking statements are subject to various risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Accordingly, there are or will be important factors that could cause actual outcomes or results to differ materially from those indicated in these statements including, but not limited to, those listed below and those described under the section entitled "Risk Factors" in this report, as such factors may be updated from time to time in our periodic filings with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"), which are accessible on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov. These factors should not be construed as exhaustive and should be read in conjunction with the other cautionary statements that are included in this report and in our other periodic filings with the SEC. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or review any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future developments or otherwise, except as required by applicable law.

#### **Summary of Risk Factors**

The following is only a summary of the principal risks that may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. The following should be read in conjunction with the complete discussion of risk factors we face, which are set forth in "Item 1A. Risk Factors".

### **Risks Related to Our Company**

- Our business could be negatively impacted in many ways by adverse economic and market conditions or changes in the debt financing markets, including by reducing the value or performance of investments made by our investment funds and reducing the ability of our funds to raise capital or obtain attractive financing or re-financing.
- The global outbreak of the novel coronavirus, or COVID-19, has caused severe disruptions in the U.S. and global economies and has impacted, and may continue to adversely impact our performance and results of operations.
- Our use of leverage may expose us to substantial risks and our revenue, earnings and cash flow are variable, which makes it difficult for us to achieve steady earnings growth on a quarterly basis.
- Our business could be adversely affected by the loss of services from or investor confidence in our Chief Executive Officer and other key personnel or by future difficulty in recruiting and retaining professionals.
- We may reduce our AUM, restrain its growth, reduce our fees or otherwise alter the terms under which we do business when we deem it in the best interest of our investors, even when such actions may be contrary to the near term interests of stockholders.
- We may not be successful in expanding into new investment strategies, markets and businesses, including business initiatives to increase the number and type of investment products we offer to retail investors.
- Operational risks may disrupt our businesses, result in losses or limit our growth and failure to maintain the security of our information and technology networks, intellectual property and proprietary business information could have a material adverse effect on us.
- Extensive regulation in the United States and abroad, including financial regulatory changes (such as those regarding derivatives and commodity
  interest transactions), affects our activities, increases the cost of doing business and creates the potential for significant liabilities, penalties and
  additional burdens.
- It is unclear what impact the United Kingdom's exit from the European Union will have on the Company or the fund portfolio companies.
- The replacement of LIBOR with an alternative reference rate may adversely affect our credit arrangements and our collateralized loan obligation transactions.
- We are subject to substantial litigation risks, including allegations of employee misconduct or fraud (including at our portfolio companies), and may face significant liabilities and damage to our professional reputation as a result of such allegations and negative publicity.
- Certain policies and procedures implemented to mitigate potential conflicts of interest and address certain regulatory requirements may reduce the synergies across our various businesses.

#### **Risks Related to Our Business Operations**

- Poor performance of our investment funds would cause a decline in our revenue, income and cash flow, may obligate us to repay carried interest previously paid to us, and could adversely affect our ability to raise capital. Our asset management business depends in large part on our ability to raise capital from third-party investors.
- Our investors may negotiate to pay us lower management fees and the economic terms of our future funds may be less favorable to us than those of our existing funds, which could adversely affect our revenues.
- Valuation methodologies for certain assets in our funds can involve subjective judgments, and the fair value of assets established pursuant to such methodologies may be incorrect, which could result in the misstatement of fund performance and accrued performance allocations. Historical returns attributable to our funds should not be considered as indicative of the future results.
- Dependence on significant leverage in investments by our funds could adversely affect our ability to achieve attractive rates of return on those investments.
- The alternative asset management business is intensely competitive and we often pursue investment opportunities that involve business, regulatory, legal or other complexities and relatively high-risk, illiquid assets.
- The investments of our corporate private equity, real estate and Investment Solutions funds are subject to a number of inherent risks.
- Our investment funds may invest in companies that we do not control or that are based outside of the United States, assets denominated in currencies which differ from the currency in which the fund is denominated or make preferred and common equity investments that rank junior to preferred equity and debt.
- We may need to pay "giveback" obligations if they are triggered under the governing agreements with our investors.
- Third-party investors in substantially all of our carry funds have rights that in certain circumstances could lead to a decrease in our revenues. In addition, third-party investors in our investment funds with commitment-based structures may not satisfy their contractual obligation to fund capital calls when requested by us, which could adversely affect a fund's performance.
- · Our failure to deal appropriately with conflicts of interest in our investment business could damage our reputation and adversely affect our businesses.
- There are risks associated with our CLO business, investment into CLOs and underwriting, syndicating and securities placement activities.
- Risk management activities may adversely affect the return on our investments.
- Our energy business is involved in oil and gas investments (i.e, exploration, production, storage, transportation, logistics, refining, marketing, trading, petrochemicals, energy services and other opportunistic investments), which involves a high degree of risk. Investments in the natural resources industry, including the infrastructure and power industries, involve various operational, construction and regulatory risks.
- Our private equity funds' performance, and our performance, may be adversely affected by the financial performance, financial projections or contingent liabilities of our portfolio companies and the industries in which our funds invest, including securities of companies that are experiencing significant financial or business difficulties.
- Investments in the insurance industry (including our investment in Fortitude Holdings) could be adversely impacted by insurance regulations and potential regulatory reforms. Our relationship with Fortitude Holdings may not generate a meaningful contribution to our revenue and our ownership and control of Fortitude Holdings could give rise to real or apparent conflicts of interest.
- Ongoing trade negotiations and potential for further regulatory reform may create regulatory uncertainty for our portfolio companies and our investment strategies and adversely affect the profitability of our portfolio companies.

## **Risks Related to Our Common Stock**

- Carlyle Group Management L.L.C. controls us and its interests may conflict with ours or yours in the future. As a "controlled company", we rely on exceptions from certain corporate governance requirements under Nasdaq rules.
- Our founders have the right to designate members of our Board of Directors and our certificate of incorporation will not limit the ability of our former general partner, founders, directors, officers or stockholders to compete with us.
- If The Carlyle Group Inc. were deemed to be an "investment company" under the Investment Company Act, applicable restrictions could make it impractical for us to continue our business as contemplated and could have a material adverse effect on our business.
- The consolidation of investment funds, holding companies or operating businesses of our portfolio companies could make it more difficult to understand the operating performance of the Company and could create operational risks.

- The market price of our common stock may be volatile.
- · Certain provisions in our organizational documents may discourage transactions or lawsuits that stockholders might consider favorable.

#### Risks Related to U.S. Taxation

- Changes in U.S. and foreign tax regulations, including the comprehensive U.S. federal income tax reform that became effective in 2018, could adversely affect us and our ability to raise funds from certain foreign investors.
- We expect to pay more corporate income taxes than we would have as a limited partnership prior to the Conversion. We may fail to realize the anticipated benefits of the Conversion, or those benefits may take longer to realize than expected or not offset the costs of the Conversion.

On January 1, 2020, we completed our conversion from a Delaware limited partnership named The Carlyle Group L.P. into a Delaware Corporation named The Carlyle Group Inc. Pursuant to the Conversion, at the specified effective time on January 1, 2020, each common unit of The Carlyle Group L.P. outstanding immediately prior to the effective time converted into one share of common stock of The Carlyle Group Inc. and each special voting unit and general partner unit was canceled for no consideration. In addition, holders of the partnership units in Carlyle Holdings I L.P., Carlyle Holdings II L.P., and Carlyle Holdings III L.P. exchanged such units for an equivalent number of shares of common stock and certain other restructuring steps occurred (the conversion, together with such restructuring steps and related transactions, the "Conversion").

Unless the context suggests otherwise, references in this report to "Carlyle," the "Company," "we," "us" and "our" refer (i) prior to the consummation of the Conversion to The Carlyle Group L.P. and its consolidated subsidiaries and (ii) from and after the consummation of the Conversion to The Carlyle Group Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries. References to our common stock or shares in periods prior to the Conversion refer to the common units of The Carlyle Group L.P. When we refer to our "senior Carlyle professionals," we are referring to the partner-level personnel of our firm. References in this report to the ownership of the senior Carlyle professionals include the ownership of personal planning vehicles of these individuals. When we refer to the "Carlyle Holdings partnerships" or "Carlyle Holdings", we are referring to Carlyle Holdings I L.P., Carlyle Holdings II L.P., and Carlyle Holdings III L.P., which prior to the Conversion were the holding partnerships through which the Company and our senior Carlyle professionals and other holders of Carlyle Holdings partnership units owned their respective interests in our business.

"Carlyle funds," "our funds" and "our investment funds" refer to the investment funds and vehicles advised by Carlyle.

"Carry funds" generally refers to closed-end investment vehicles, in which commitments are drawn down over a specified investment period, and in which the general partner receives a special residual allocation of income from limited partners, which we refer to as carried interest, in the event that specified investment returns are achieved by the fund. Disclosures referring to carry funds will also include the impact of certain commitments which do not earn carried interest, but are either part of, or associated with our carry funds. The rate of carried interest, as well as the share of carried interest allocated to Carlyle, may vary across the carry fund platform. Carry funds generally include the following investment vehicles across our three business segments:

- Global Private Equity: Buyout, middle market and growth capital, real estate, and natural resources funds advised by Carlyle, as well as certain energy funds advised by our strategic partner NGP Energy Capital Management ("NGP") in which Carlyle is entitled to receive a share of carried interest ("NGP Carry Funds")
- Global Credit: Distressed credit, energy credit, opportunistic credit, corporate mezzanine funds, aircraft financing and servicing, and other closed-end credit funds advised by Carlyle
- Investment Solutions: Funds and vehicles advised by AlpInvest Partners B.V. ("AlpInvest") and Metropolitan Real Estate Equity Management, LLC ("Metropolitan"), which include primary fund, secondary and co-investment strategies

Carry funds specifically exclude certain funds advised by NGP in which Carlyle is not entitled to receive a share of carried interest (or "NGP Predecessor Funds"), collateralized loan obligation vehicles ("CLOs"), as well as our business development companies and associated managed accounts.

For an explanation of the fund acronyms used throughout this Annual Report, refer to "Item 1. Business-Our Family of Funds."

"Fee-earning assets under management" or "Fee-earning AUM" refers to the assets we manage or advise from which we derive recurring fund management fees. Our Fee-earning AUM is generally based on one of the following, once fees have been activated:

- (a) the amount of limited partner capital commitments, generally for carry funds where the original investment period has not expired, for AlpInvest carry funds during the commitment fee period and for Metropolitan carry funds during the weighted-average investment period of the underlying funds;
- (b) the remaining amount of limited partner invested capital at cost, generally for carry funds and certain co-investment vehicles where the original investment period has expired, Metropolitan carry funds after the expiration of the weighted-average investment period of the underlying funds, and one of our business development companies;
- (c) the amount of aggregate fee-earning collateral balance at par of our CLOs and other securitization vehicles, as defined in the fund indentures (typically exclusive of equities and defaulted positions) as of the quarterly cut-off date;
- (d) the external investor portion of the net asset value of certain carry funds;
- (e) the gross assets (including assets acquired with leverage), excluding cash and cash equivalents, of one of our business development companies and certain carry funds; or
- (f) the lower of cost or fair value of invested capital, generally for AlpInvest carry funds where the commitment fee period has expired and certain carry funds where the investment period has expired.
  - "Assets under management" or "AUM" refers to the assets we manage or advise. Our AUM equals the sum of the following:
- (a) the aggregate fair value of our carry funds and related co-investment vehicles, NGP Predecessor Funds and separately managed accounts, plus the capital that Carlyle is entitled to call from investors in those funds and vehicles (including Carlyle commitments to those funds and vehicles and those of senior Carlyle professionals and employees) pursuant to the terms of their capital commitments to those funds and vehicles;
- (b) the amount of aggregate collateral balance and principal cash at par or aggregate principal amount of the notes of our CLOs and other structured products (inclusive of all positions);
- (c) the net asset value of certain carry funds; and
- (d) the gross assets (including assets acquired with leverage) of our business development companies, plus the capital that Carlyle is entitled to call from investors in those vehicles pursuant to the terms of their capital commitments to those vehicles.

We include in our calculation of AUM and Fee-earning AUM certain energy and renewable resources funds that we jointly advise with Riverstone Holdings L.L.C. ("Riverstone") and the NGP Predecessor Funds and NGP Carry Funds (collectively, the "NGP Energy Funds") that are advised by NGP.

For most of our carry funds, total AUM includes the fair value of the capital invested, whereas Fee-earning AUM includes the amount of capital commitments or the remaining amount of invested capital, depending on whether the original investment period for the fund has expired. As such, total AUM may be greater than Fee-Earning AUM when the aggregate fair value of the remaining investments exceeds the cost of those investments.

Our calculations of AUM and Fee-earning AUM may differ from the calculations of other asset managers. As a result, these measures may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other asset managers. In addition, our calculation of AUM (but not Fee-earning AUM) includes uncalled commitments to, and the fair value of invested capital in, our investment funds from Carlyle and our personnel, regardless of whether such commitments or invested capital are subject to management or performance fees. Our calculations of AUM or Fee-earning AUM are not based on any definition of AUM or Fee-earning AUM that is set forth in the agreements governing the investment funds that we manage or advise.

#### PART I.

#### ITEM 1. BUSINESS

#### Overview

We are a global investment firm that deploys capital across scalable strategies. We advise an array of investment funds and other investment vehicles that invest across the spectrum of private capital asset classes, including private equity, credit, real estate, and natural resources. Our teams invest across a range of strategies that leverage our deep-industry expertise, local insights, and global resources to deliver attractive returns throughout an investment cycle. Since our firm was founded in Washington, D.C. in 1987, we have grown to manage \$246 billion in AUM as of December 31, 2020. Our experienced and diverse team of 1,825 employees includes 678 investment professionals in 29 offices across five continents, and we serve more than 2,650 active carry fund investors from 95 countries. Across our Global Private Equity (GPE) funds, as of December 31, 2020, we had investments in 256 active portfolio companies that employ more than 1,000,000 people around the world.

Our firm is guided by the following strategic priorities:

- *Scale our Investment Platforms*. We pursue sizable opportunities that allow us to build on our strengths in Global Private Equity, Global Credit, and Investment Solutions.
- *Capture Adjacencies*. We identify areas that we can apply our capabilities in a focused and sustainable manner such as Capital Markets.
- *Institutionalization of the Firm.* We invest with a clarity of purpose, adaptability, and alignment between our interest and the interests of our fund investors, stockholders, and other stakeholders.

Operational and strategic highlights for our firm for 2020 include:

- With the leadership of our sole CEO, we realigned our operating segments to better reflect the internal management of our business. Our Global Private Equity segment is a combination of our former Corporate Private Equity and Real Assets segments.
- We continued to build more connectivity, increase inclusivity, create more transparency and encourage direct dialogue with our
  employees. Enhancing our culture that emphasizes collaboration, diversity of perspectives, and global alignment in the remote work
  environment was a key focus in 2020 with management reimagining our processes, office environment and business operations for future
  success.
- During 2020, we successfully navigated the COVID-19 pandemic and remote work environment. We reimagined and rejuvenated our
  approach to communications with all stakeholders. We increased the cadence and nature of our interactions with our fund investors and
  hosted our first virtual global investor conference.
- Throughout the year, we continued to strengthen and deepen our investment and operating platforms through new hires and strategic realignment of existing resources. Our Global Investment Resources team delivered a robust set of value creation capabilities to help portfolio companies to grow, save costs, and implement operational best practices.
- On January 1, 2020 we completed our conversion to a full "C" Corporation. In connection with the Conversion:
  - Our structure was simplified. We now have a single class of common stock fully aligning all stockholders on an economic basis
    and providing all stockholders the same "one vote per share."
  - We adopted an annual dividend of \$1.00 per share, or \$0.25 per quarter.
- Despite the challenging environment, we made investments through our carry funds of \$18.3 billion and we realized proceeds of \$21.0 billion for our carry fund investors.
- During 2020, we raised more than \$27.5 billion in new commitments across our platform, even though we did not have any of our large global private equity funds in the market. Of our \$170.1 billion in fee-earning assets under management, 98% is in investment vehicles with long-term fee structures and not subject to quarterly redemption, driving predictable and reliable associated management fees.

- In 2020, Carlyle FRL, L.P. ("Carlyle FRL"), an investment fund advised by us, acquired a 51.6% interest in Fortitude Group Holdings LLC ("Fortitude Holdings") and T&D United Capital Co., Ltd. ("T&D") purchased a 25.0% ownership interest as a third-party investor. Fortitude Holdings owns 100% of the outstanding common shares of Fortitude Reinsurance Company Ltd., a Bermuda domiciled reinsurer (collectively, "Fortitude Re") established to reinsure a portfolio of AIG's legacy life, annuity, and property and casualty liabilities. At closing, we contributed our existing 19.9% interest in Fortitude Holdings to Carlyle FRL such that the investment fund holds a 71.5% controlling interest in Fortitude Holdings. Taken together, Carlyle FRL and T&D have 96.5% ownership of Fortitude Holdings. In connection with this transaction, we strengthened our strategic asset management relationship with Fortitude Re pursuant to which Fortitude Re, together with certain AIG-affiliated ceding companies it has reinsured, will continue to allocate assets in certain of our asset management strategies and vehicles across multiple segments.
- We continued to significantly enhance our Impact efforts:
  - We published our inaugural Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) Report, underscoring our evolving approach to climate change. This augments our annual firm-wide ESG Report, which we have been publishing for more than 10 years.
  - We achieved our third year of carbon neutrality across our 29 global offices and the activities of our 1,825 employees, after we became the first major private equity firm to make a carbon neutrality commitment in 2017.
  - We completed several ESG-linked financings, which can reduce interest expense for Carlyle and our portfolio companies while driving environmental and social performance.
- Operational and strategic highlights for our three business segments for 2020 include:

#### Global Private Equity ("GPE"):

- We concluded fundraising for our latest Japan buyout fund, latest international energy fund, and latest longer-dated private equity fund. We continued fundraising for our first renewable and sustainable energy fund, our U.S. open-end core-plus real estate fund and launched fundraising for our latest U.S. opportunistic real estate fund, latest Asia growth fund and first NGP U.S. minerals and royalties fund. During 2020, we raised \$3.5 billion in new capital commitments for our GPE funds.
- During 2020, GPE invested \$11.1 billion across the segment despite a challenging investment environment, including \$6.2 billion deployed in the fourth quarter of 2020. Investment activity included \$8.4 billion in the Americas, \$1.5 billion in Asia, and \$1.1 billion in Europe.
- Our GPE funds realized proceeds of \$12.1 billion for our GPE carry fund investors in 2020, across a mix of trade-sales, public
  market block trades, recapitalizations, dividends, and the initial public offerings of seven of our portfolio companies.

# Global Credit:

- We continued our efforts to build a diversified and deep Global Credit business that offers compelling solutions across the credit spectrum. We realigned our teams to a platform model where we can better scale our capabilities across funds and seek to optimize investment performance. We successfully transitioned leadership of our Liquid Credit business to the next generation of leaders.
- We took advantage of market dislocations in 2020 and launched a successor credit opportunities fund as well as customized aviation products. We held two closings for our Credit Opportunities Fund II totaling \$1.9 billion and raised an additional \$2.5 billion in separately managed accounts. In our collateralized loan obligation ("CLO") business, we closed \$1.3 billion of new CLOs in the U.S. and \$0.6 billion of new CLOs in Europe during 2020 with \$27.9 billion of total AUM across all of our CLOs at December 31, 2020. In Carlyle Aviation Partners, we held a final closing on our latest aviation flagship finance fund with a total of \$1.0 billion in commitments and launched and closed \$0.3 billion on a new aviation finance fund investing in young aircraft. In total, we raised \$10.1 billion in new capital commitments to our Global Credit products during 2020, and overall AUM increased to \$55.9 billion.

- While the pandemic adversely impacted our U.S. CLOs and resulted in deferral of subordinated management fees in the first half of the year, we fully recovered those fees by Q3 2020.
- We executed approximately \$2.0 billion of gross originations in our direct lending business in 2020.

#### **Investment Solutions:**

During 2020, we we raised \$13.9 billion in capital commitments, which included closing our seventh AlpInvest secondaries program at its hard cap of \$9 billion, the commencement of fundraising on our new coinvestment program, over \$0.9 billion in new client SMAs, and continued fundraising for Metropolitan Real Estate. We deployed \$4.6 billion in investments across our Investment Solutions platform, and our the portfolio appreciated 10% during the year. Our exit activity in our Investment Solutions segment was strong this year, realizing proceeds of \$7.1 billion for our Investment Solutions investors.

#### **Business Segments**

We operate our business across three segments: (1) GPE, (2) Global Credit and (3) Investment Solutions. Information about our segments should be read together with "Part II. Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."

## **Global Private Equity**

Our GPE segment advises our buyout, growth, real estate, and natural resources funds. Our GPE teams have the following areas of focus:

Corporate Private Equity. Our corporate private equity teams advise a diverse group of 34 active funds that invest in transactions that focus either on a particular geography or strategy. Our buyout funds focus on corporate buyouts and strategic minority investments. The investment mandate for our growth capital funds is to seek out companies with the potential for disruptive growth and operational improvements. Our core strategy seeks longer duration private equity opportunities, targeting stable businesses with sustainable market leadership. These funds are advised by teams of local professionals who live and work in the markets where they invest. In 2020, we invested \$7.5 billion in new and follow-on investments through our corporate private equity funds. As of December 31, 2020, our corporate private equity funds had, in the aggregate, \$90.7 billion in AUM.

*Real Estate.* Our real estate team advises 10 active real estate funds that invest in the United States and Europe, with a focus on a broad range of opportunities including residential properties, senior living facilities, industrial properties, and self-storage properties, but have limited our exposure to office buildings, hotels and retail properties. Our real estate funds generally focus on acquiring single-property assets rather than large-cap companies with real estate portfolios and made more than 1,100 investments in more than 520 cities or metropolitan statistical areas around the world as of December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, our real estate funds had, in the aggregate, \$19.4 billion in AUM.

*Natural Resources*. Our 14 active natural resources funds focus on energy and infrastructure investing. Our infrastructure business is comprised of teams that invest in six primary sectors: renewables, energy infrastructure, water and waste, transportation, digital infrastructure, and power generation. Our energy activities focus on buyouts, growth capital investments and strategic joint ventures in the midstream, upstream, downstream, energy and oilfield services sectors around the world. Our international energy investment team focuses on investments across the energy value chain outside of North America. We conduct our North American energy investing through our partnership with NGP, a Texas-based energy investor. As of December 31, 2020, we managed \$20.9 billion in AUM through our natural resources funds.

The following table presents certain data about our Global Private Equity segment as of December 31, 2020 (dollar amounts in billions).

AUM (1)	% of Total AUM	Fee-earning AUM	Active Investments	Active Funds (4)	Available Capital	Investment Professionals (2)	Amount Invested Since Inception (3)	Investments Since Inception (3)
\$132	54%	\$92	665	61	\$43	411	\$178	1,995

- (1) Total AUM includes NGP, which advises eight funds with \$10 billion in AUM as of December 31, 2020. Through our strategic partnership with NGP, we are entitled to 55% of the management fee-related revenue of the NGP entities that serve as advisors to the NGP Energy Funds, and an allocation of income related to the carried interest received by the fund general partners of the NGP Carry Funds.
- (2) Total GPE investment professionals excludes NGP employees.
- (3) Amount invested and number of investments in GPE since inception exclude the investment activity of the NGP Predecessor Funds.
- (4) Active GPE funds includes the three NGP Predecessor Funds and five NGP Carry Funds advised by NGP.

#### **Global Credit**

Our Global Credit segment, which had \$55.9 billion in assets under management as of December 31, 2020, advises a group of 71 active funds that pursue investment strategies across the credit spectrum, including: liquid credit, illiquid credit, and real assets credit. Since our establishment in 1999, these various capital sources provide the opportunity for Carlyle to offer highly customizable and creative financing solutions to borrowers to meet their specific capital needs. Carlyle draws on the expertise and underwriting capabilities of our 170 investment professionals and leverages the resources and industry expertise of Carlyle's global network to provide creative solutions for borrowers. In 2020, we hired several new senior investment professionals to continue to build Global Credit's investment breadth and geographical presence.

Primary areas of focus for our Global Credit platform include:

### Liquid Credit

Loans and Structured Credit. Our structured credit funds invest primarily in performing senior secured bank loans through CLOs and other
investment vehicles. In 2020, we closed three new U.S. CLOs and one CLO in Europe with a total of \$1.3 billion and \$0.6 billion,
respectively, of AUM at December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, our loans and structured credit team advised 53 structured credit
funds and two other structured credit funds in the United States and Europe totaling, in the aggregate, \$29.4 billion in AUM.

# Illiquid Credit

- Direct Lending. Our direct lending business includes our business development companies ("BDCs") that invest primarily in middle market first-lien loans (which include unitranche, "first out" and "last out" loans) and second-lien loans of middle-market companies, typically defined as companies with annual EBITDA ranging from \$25 million to \$100 million, that lack access to the broadly syndicated loan and bond markets. In 2020, we expanded our direct lending capabilities by adding senior personnel to bolster our underwriting capabilities. As of December 31, 2020, our direct lending investment team advised two BDCs and five separately managed accounts totaling, in the aggregate, \$5.0 billion in AUM.
- Opportunistic Credit. Our opportunistic credit team invests primarily in highly-structured and privately-negotiated capital solutions supporting corporate borrowers through secured loans, senior subordinated debt, mezzanine debt, convertible notes, and other debt-like instruments, as well as preferred and common equity. The team will also look to invest in special situations (i.e., event-driven opportunities that exhibit hybrid credit and equity features) as well as market dislocations (i.e., primary and secondary market investments in liquid debt instruments that arise as a result of temporary market volatility). As of December 31, 2020, our opportunistic credit team advised two funds and one separately managed account totaling, in the aggregate, \$5.0 billion in AUM.
- Distressed Credit. Our distressed credit funds generally invest in liquid and illiquid securities and obligations, including secured debt, senior
  and subordinated unsecured debt, convertible debt obligations, preferred stock and public and private equity of financially distressed
  companies in defensive and asset-rich industries. In certain investments, our funds may seek to restructure pre-reorganization debt claims into
  controlling positions in the

equity of the reorganized companies. As of December 31, 2020, our distressed credit team advised three funds totaling, in the aggregate, \$3.2 billion in AUM.

#### Real Assets Credit

- Aircraft Financing and Servicing. Carlyle Aviation Partners is our multi-strategy investment platform that is engaged in commercial aviation
  aircraft financing and investment throughout the commercial aviation industry. As of December 31, 2020, Carlyle Aviation Partners had
  approximately \$6.1 billion in AUM across four active carry funds, in addition to securitization vehicles, liquid strategies, and other vehicles.
- Infrastructure Debt. Our Infrastructure debt team invests primarily in directly originated and privately negotiated debt instruments related to global infrastructure projects, primarily in the power, energy, transportation, water/waste, telecommunications and social infrastructure sectors. The team focuses primarily on senior, subordinated, and mezzanine debt and seeks to invest primarily in developed markets within the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development ("OECD"). As of December 31, 2020, our infrastructure debt team managed \$1.1 billion in AUM.

### Other Credit

- *Insurance Solutions*. Carlyle Insurance Solutions ("CIS") combines our deep insurance expertise with portfolio construction capabilities, capital sourcing and asset origination strengths to provide comprehensive liability funding and reinsurance, asset management and advisory solutions for (re)insurance companies and fund investors. The CIS team oversees the investment in Fortitude Holdings. As of December 31, 2020, AUM related to capital raised from third-party investors to acquire a controlling interest in Fortitude Holdings was \$2.6 billion, and Fortitude and AIG have committed approximately \$4.7 billion of capital to-date to various Carlyle strategies.
- Global Capital Markets. Carlyle Global Capital Markets ("GCM") is a loan syndication and capital markets business that launched in 2018.
  The primary focus of Carlyle Global Capital Markets is to arrange, place, underwrite, originate and syndicate loans and underwrite securities of third parties and Carlyle portfolio companies through TCG Capital Markets and TCG Senior Funding. TCG Capital Markets is a FINRA registered broker dealer. GCM may also act as the initial purchaser of such loans and securities. GCM receives fees, including underwriting, placement, structuring, transaction and syndication fees, commissions, underwriting and original issue discounts, interest payments and other compensation, which may be payable in cash or securities or loans, in respect of the activities described above and may elect to waive such fees.

The following table presents certain data about our Global Credit segment as of December 31, 2020 (dollar amounts in billions).

AUM	% of Total AUM	Fee-earning AUM	Active Funds	Investment Professionals
\$56	23%	\$42	71	170

### **Investment Solutions**

Our Investment Solutions segment, established in 2011, provides comprehensive investment opportunities and resources for our investors and clients to build private equity and real estate portfolios through fund of funds, secondary purchases of existing portfolios and managed co-investment programs. Investment Solutions executes these activities through AlpInvest, one of the world's largest investors in private equity, and Metropolitan, one of the largest managers of indirect investments in global real estate.

The primary areas of focus for our Investment Solutions teams include:

- Private Equity Fund Investments. Our fund of funds vehicles advised by AlpInvest make investment commitments directly to buyout, growth
  capital, venture and other alternative asset funds advised by other general partners. As of December 31, 2020, AlpInvest advised 100 vehicles
  totaling, in the aggregate, \$23.2 billion in AUM.
- *Private Equity Co-investments*. AlpInvest invests alongside other private equity and mezzanine funds in which it or certain AlpInvest limited partners typically has a primary fund investment throughout Europe, North America and Asia. These investments are generally made when an investment opportunity is too large for a particular fund

and the sponsor of the fund therefore seeks to raise additional "co-investment" capital from sources such as AlpInvest. As of December 31, 2020, our co-investment programs were conducted through 71 vehicles totaling, in the aggregate, \$13.1 billion in AUM.

- Private Equity Secondary Investments. Funds managed by AlpInvest build an investment portfolio of private equity owned assets through the
  acquisition of limited partnership interests in the secondary market and other types of transactions such as fund recapitalizations, portfolio
  restructurings and spin-outs. Private equity investors who desire to sell or restructure their pre-existing investment commitments to a fund
  may negotiate to sell the fund interests to AlpInvest. In this manner, AlpInvest's secondary investments team provides liquidity and
  restructuring alternatives for third-party private equity investors. As of December 31, 2020, our secondary investments program was
  conducted through 74 vehicles totaling, in the aggregate, \$19.3 billion in AUM.
- Real Estate Funds of Funds and Co-Secondary Investments. The principal strategic focus in our real estate funds is on value add and opportunistic real estate investments through direct commitments to more than 100 highly-focused, specialist real estate managers across the globe. As of December 31, 2020, Carlyle advised 38 real estate vehicles with \$2.4 billion in AUM.

The following table presents certain data about our Investment Solutions segment as of December 31, 2020 (dollar amounts in billions).

AUM(1)	% of Total AUM	Fee-earning AUM	Fund Vehicles	Available Capital	Investment Professionals	Amount Invested Since Inception
\$58	24%	\$36	283	\$24	97	\$82

(1) Under our arrangements with the historical owners and management team of AlpInvest, we generally do not retain any carried interest in respect of the historical investments and commitments to our AlpInvest carry fund vehicles that existed as of July 1, 2011 (including any options to increase any such commitments exercised after such date). We are entitled to 15% or, in some cases, 40% of the carried interest in respect of commitments from the historical owners of AlpInvest for the period between 2011 and 2020 and 40% of the carried interest in respect of all other commitments (including all future commitments from third parties).

# **Investment Approach**

## **Global Private Equity**

The investment approach of our GPE teams is generally characterized as follows:

- Consistent and Disciplined Investment Process. We believe our successful investment track record is the result, in part, of a consistent and disciplined application of our investment process. Investment opportunities for our GPE funds are initially sourced and evaluated by one or more of our deal teams. Deal teams consistently strive to be creative and look for deals in which we can leverage Carlyle's competitive advantages, sector experience and the global platform. The due diligence and transaction review process places a special emphasis on, as appropriate and among other considerations, the reputation of a target company shareholders and management, the company or asset's size and sensitivity of cash flow generation, the business sector and competitive risks, the portfolio fit, exit risks and other key factors specific to a particular investment. In evaluating each deal, we consider what expertise or experience (i.e., the "Carlyle Edge") we can bring to the transaction to enhance value for our investors. Each investment opportunity must secure approval from the investment committee of the applicable investment fund to move forward. To help ensure consistency, we utilize a standard investment committee process across our GPE funds, although NGP follows its own policies and procedures with respect to its advised funds. The investment committee approval process involves a detailed review of the transaction and investment thesis, business, risk factors and diligence issues, as well as financial models.
- *Distinctive Portfolio Construction Principles*. We seek to proactively manage the construction of our portfolios through deliberate and thoughtful diversification across industries, geographies and cycles, and to avoid certain assets facing economic or industry headwinds. For example, our real estate portfolios have relatively little current exposure to commercial office properties, business hotels and retail properties.
- *Geographic- and Industry-Focused*. We have developed a global network of local investment teams and have adopted an industry-focused approach to investing. Our extensive network of global investment professionals has the knowledge, experience and relationships on a local level that allows them to identify and take advantage of

opportunities that may be unavailable to firms that do not have our global reach and resources. We believe that our global platform helps enhance all stages of the investment process, including by facilitating faster and more effective diligence, a deeper understanding of global industry trends and priority access to the capital markets. We have particular industry expertise in aerospace, defense and government services, consumer, media and retail, financial services, healthcare, industrial, telecom, technology and business services, transportation, real estate, natural resources and infrastructure. As a result, we believe that our in-depth knowledge of specific industries improves our ability to source and create transactions, conduct effective and more informed due diligence, develop strong relationships with management teams and use contacts and relationships within these industries to drive value creation.

- Variable Deal Sizes and Creative Structures. We believe that having the resources to complete investments of varying sizes provides us with the ability to enhance investment returns while providing for prudent industry, geographic and size diversification. Our teams are staffed not only to effectively pursue large transactions, but also other transactions of varying sizes. We often invest in smaller companies or single real estate transactions and this has allowed us to obtain greater diversity across our entire portfolio. Additionally, we may undertake large, strategic minority investments with certain control elements or private investment in public equity (PIPE) transactions in large companies with a clear exit strategy. In certain jurisdictions around the world, we may make investments with little or no debt financing and seek alternative structures to opportunistically pursue transactions. We generally seek to obtain board representation and typically appoint our investment professionals and advisors to represent us on the boards of the companies in which we invest. Where our funds, either alone or as part of a consortium, are not the controlling investor, we typically, subject to applicable regulatory requirements, acquire significant voting and other control rights with a view to securing influence over the conduct of the business.
- Driving Value Creation. Our GPE teams seek to make investments in portfolio companies and assets in which our particular strengths and resources may be employed to their best advantage. Typically, as part of a GPE investment, our investment teams will prepare and execute a systematic value creation plan that is developed during a thorough due diligence effort and draws on the deep resources available across our global platform, specifically relying on:
  - Reach: Our global team and global presence enables us to support international expansion of our operating companies' efforts and global supply chain initiatives.
  - Expertise: Our deep bench of investment professionals and industry specialists provide extensive sector-specific knowledge and local market expertise. Our investment teams benefit from best-in-class support services and infrastructure provided through the global Carlyle organization. Carlyle's overall infrastructure and support services cover the full range of administrative functions, including fund management, accounting, legal and compliance, human resources, information technology, tax, and external affairs. Additionally, where appropriate we may seek to partner with third parties whose sector or market expertise may enhance our value creation in an investment. For example, in our U.S. real estate funds we may partner with joint venture partners or managers with significant operational expertise and/or deal sourcing capabilities.
  - Insight: To supplement our investment expertise, we have retained a group of more than 50 operating executives and advisors as independent consultants to work with our investment teams, provide board-level governance and support and advise our portfolio companies. These operating executives and advisors are typically former CEOs and other high-level executives of some of the world's most successful corporations and currently sit on the boards of directors of a diverse mix of companies. Operating executives and advisors are independent consultants and are not Carlyle employees. Operating executives and advisors are often engaged by Carlyle primarily to assist with deal sourcing, due diligence and market intelligence. Operating executives and advisors may also be engaged and compensated by our portfolio companies as directors or to otherwise advise portfolio company management.
  - Data: The goal of our research function is to extract as much information as possible from our portfolio about the current state of the economy and its likely evolution over the near-to-medium term. Our GPE investment portfolio includes 181 active corporate investments as of December 31, 2020, across a diverse range of industries and geographies that each generate multiple data points (e.g., orders, shipments, production volumes, occupancy rates, bookings). By evaluating this data on a systematic basis, we work to identify the data with the highest correlation with macroeconomic data and map observed movements in the portfolio to

anticipated variation in the economy, including changes in growth rates across industries and geographies. We incorporate this proprietary data into our investment portfolio management strategy and exit decisions on an ongoing basis. We believe this robust data gives us an advantage over our peers who do not have as large of a global reach.

- Talent and Organization Performance: Focused on maximizing organizational and leadership effectiveness, our investment professionals work to enhance leadership and organizational effectiveness through proprietary and third-party data-driven assessments, best-practice playbooks, and knowledge-sharing forums.
- Pursuing Best Exit Alternatives. In determining when to exit an investment, our investment teams consider whether a portfolio company
  or asset has achieved its objectives, the financial returns and the appropriate timing in industry cycles and company or asset development
  to strive for the optimal value. Each fund's investment committee approves all exit decisions.
- Coordinating Efforts. We have created a Global Investment Resources team that helps to translate our collaborative culture into services
  and capabilities supporting our investment process and portfolio companies and assets. Our approach ensures that Carlyle's global
  network, deep industry knowledge and operational expertise are used to support and enhance our investments. This team made several
  strategic hires in 2020 to bolster support in Europe and Asia, and further deepen existing functional resources covering human capital
  management, procurement, IT, digital, revenue growth, ESG and government affairs.
  - *Information Technology Resources*: We have established an information technology capability that contributes to due diligence, portfolio company strategy and portfolio company operations. The capability includes dedicated information technology and business process resources, including assistance with portfolio company risk assessments and enhanced deal analytics.
  - *Digital*: Given the increasing importance of digital tools and resources across the global economy, we have established a dedicated group focused exclusively on identifying, developing and implementing digital transformation strategies to help drive growth, unlock value, and drive efficiencies across our portfolio companies.
  - Procurement: We have developed a leveraged purchasing effort to provide portfolio companies with effective sourcing programs with better pricing and service levels to help create operating value. This program seeks to drive down costs and provide better service on common indirect spend categories and disseminate best practices on managing functional spend in the areas of human capital management, employee benefits, corporate real estate, information technology and treasury and risk. As of December 31, 2020, nearly 80 portfolio companies are actively participating in the optional program, benefiting from more than 60 category arrangements and preferred vendor arrangements.
  - *ESG*. As part of Carlyle's investment process, where appropriate, we evaluate ESG risks and seek opportunities to create value through sustainability initiatives. During our ownership period, we support our management teams' efforts to develop strategic ESG programs and provide access to prescreened vendors, sustainability resources and individualized assistance from our Head of Impact and dedicated ESG team. Carlyle educates portfolio companies in which we have a controlling interest on our Guidelines for Responsible Investment and encourages them to review the Guidelines at the board level on an annual basis.

#### Global Credit

The investment approach of our Global Credit platform is generally characterized as follows:

- Source Investment Opportunities. Our Global Credit team sources investment opportunities from both the primary and secondary markets through our global network and strong relationships with the financial community. We typically target portfolio companies that have a demonstrated track record of profitability, market leadership in their respective niche, predictable cash flow, a definable competitive advantage and products or services that are value-added to their customer base.
- Conduct Fundamental Due Diligence and Perform Capital Structure Analyses. After an opportunity is identified, our Global Credit investment professionals conduct fundamental due diligence to determine the relative value of

the potential investment and capital structure analyses to determine credit worthiness. Our due diligence approach typically incorporates meetings with management, company facility visits, discussions with industry analysts and consultants and an in-depth examination of financial results and projections. In conducting due diligence, our Global Credit team employs an integrated, cross platform approach with industry-dedicated credit research analysts and non-investment grade expertise across the capital structure. Our Global Credit team also seeks to leverage resources from across the firm, utilizing information obtained from our more than 275 active portfolio companies and lending relationships, 20 credit industry research analysts, and in-house government affairs and economic research teams.

- Evaluation of Macroeconomic Factors. Our Global Credit team evaluates technical factors such as supply and demand, the market's expectations surrounding a company and the existence of short- and long-term value creation or destruction catalysts. Inherent in all stages of credit evaluation is a determination of the likelihood of potential catalysts emerging, such as corporate reorganizations, recapitalizations, asset sales, changes in a company's liquidity and mergers and acquisitions.
- *Risk Minimization.* Our Global Credit team seeks to make investments in companies that are well-positioned to weather downturns and/or below-plan performance. The team works to structure investments with strong financial covenants, frequent reporting requirements and board representation, if possible. Through board representation or observation rights, our Global Credit team works to provide a consultative, interactive approach to equity sponsors and management partners as part of the overall portfolio management process.

#### **Investment Solutions**

Our Investment Solutions team aims to apply a wide array of capabilities to help clients meet their investment objectives. The investment approach of our Investment Solutions platform is generally characterized as follows:

- Well-informed, Disciplined Investment Process: We follow a disciplined, highly-selective investment process and seek to achieve
  diversification by deploying capital across economic cycles, segments and investment styles. Our integrated and collaborative culture across
  our strategies, reinforced by investment in information technology solutions, provides deep insight into fund manager portfolios and
  operations to support our rigorous selection process.
- *Proactive Sourcing*: AlpInvest Partners' and Metropolitan Real Estate's extensive network of private equity and real estate managers across the globe positions us to identify investment opportunities that may be unavailable to other investors. Our investment strategy is defined by a strong belief that the most attractive opportunities are found in areas that are subject to fewer competitive pressures. As a result, our teams actively seek out proprietary investments that would otherwise be difficult for our investors to access alone.
- Global Scale and Presence: Our scale and on-the-ground presence across three continents Asia, Europe and North America give us a distinct and comprehensive perspective on the private equity and real estate markets. Our stable, dedicated, and experienced teams have deep knowledge of their respective markets across the globe. We believe this enhances our visibility across the global investment market and provides detailed local information that enhances our investment evaluation process.

## **Our Family of Funds**

The following chart presents the name (acronym), total capital commitments (in the case of our carry funds, structured credit funds, and the NGP Predecessor Funds), assets under management (open-end products and non-carry Aviation vehicles), gross assets (in the case of our BDCs) and vintage year of the active funds in each of our segments, as of December 31, 2020. We present total capital commitments (as opposed to assets under management) for our closed-end investment funds because we believe this metric provides the most useful information regarding the relative size and scale of such funds. In the case of our products which are open-ended and accordingly do not have permanent committed capital, we generally believe the most useful metric regarding relative size and scale is assets under management.

		Global Priv	vate Equity <sup>1</sup>			
Corpor	rate Private Equity			te Carry Funds		
	le Partners (U.S.)		Carlyle Realty Partners (U.S.)			
CP VII	\$18.5 bn	2018	CRP VIII	\$5.5 bn	2017	
CP VI	\$13.0 bn	2014	CRP VII	\$4.2 bn	2014	
CP V	\$13.7 bn	2007	CRP VI	\$2.3 bn	2011	
	ncial Services Part		CRP V	\$3.0 bn	2006	
CGFSP III	\$1.0 bn	2018	CRP IV	\$1.0 bn	2005	
CGFSP II	\$1.0 bn	2013	Core Plus I	Real Estate (U.S	.)	
Carlyl	e Europe Partners		CPI <sup>4</sup>	\$4.3 bn	2016	
CEP V	€6.4 bn	2018	Internatio	nal Real Estate		
CEP IV	€3.7 bn	2014	CER	€0.5 bn	2017	
CEP III	€5.3 bn	2007	CEREP III	€2.2 bn	2007	
CEP II	€1.8 bn	2003	Natural R	esources Funds		
Carly	yle Asia Partners		Natural Resources Funds NGP Energy Carry Funds			
CAP V	\$6.6 bn	2018	NGP XII	\$4.3 bn	2017	
CBPF II	RMB 2.0 bn	2017	NGP XI	\$5.3 bn	2014	
CAP IV	\$3.9 bn	2014	NGP X	\$3.6 bn	2012	
CAP III	\$2.6 bn	2008	Other NG	P Carry Funds		
Carly	le Japan Partners		NGP Minerals	\$0.2 bn	2020	
CJP IV	¥258.0 bn	2020	NGP GAP	\$0.4 bn	2014	
CJP III	¥119.5 bn	2013	NGP Pre	decessor Funds		
CJP II	¥165.6 bn	2006	Various <sup>2</sup>	\$5.7 bn	2007-2008	
Carlyl	e Global Partners		International l	Energy Carry F	unds	
CGP II	\$1.8 bn	2020	CIEP II	\$2.3 bn	2019	
CGP I	\$3.6 bn	2015	CIEP I	\$2.5 bn	2013	
Carlyl	e MENA Partners		Infrastr	ucture Funds		
MENA I	\$0.5 bn	2008	CRSEF	\$0.4 bn	2019	
	ı American Buyout		CGIOF	\$2.2 bn	2019	
CSABF I	\$0.8 bn	2009	CPP II	\$1.5 bn	2014	
	o-Saharan Africa F		СРОСР	\$0.5 bn	2013	
CSSAF I	\$0.7 bn	2012				
	lyle Peru Fund					
CPF I	\$0.3 bn	2012				
	Venture/Growth Pa					
CEOF II	\$2.4 bn	2015				
CEOF I	\$1.1 bn	2011				
CVP II	\$0.6 bn	2001				
Carlyle Euro	pe Technology Par	tners				
CETP IV	€1.4 bn	2019				
CETP III	€0.7 bn	2014				
Carlyle Asia V	Venture/Growth Pa	rtners				

Global Cre	dit							
Liquid Cre	dit							
Cash CLC	Cash CLO's							
U.S.	\$20.0 bn	2012-2020						
Europe	€7.3 bn	2013-2020						
Structured Cred	lit Funds							
CREV	\$0.5 bn	2020						
CSC	\$0.8 bn	2017						
Illiquid Cr	edit							
Business Developmen	t Companies <sup>3</sup>	3						
TCG BDC II, Inc.	\$1.9 bn	2017						
TCG BDC, Inc.	\$1.9 bn	2013						
Opportunistic Credit	Carry Funds							
CCOF II	\$1.9 bn	2020						
CCOF	\$2.4 bn	2017						
Distressed Credit C	arry Funds							
CSP IV	\$2.5 bn	2016						
CSP III	\$0.7 bn	2011						
CSP II	\$1.4 bn	2007						
Real Assets Credit								
Energy Credit Carry Funds								
CEMOF II	\$2.8 bn	2015						
CEMOF I	\$1.4 bn	2011						
Carlyle Aviation	Partners							
SASOF V	\$1.0 bn	2020						
SASOF IV	\$1.0 bn	2018						
SASOF III	\$0.8 bn	2015						
SASOF II	\$0.6 bn	2012						
Securitization Vehicles <sup>4</sup>	\$1.9 bn	Various						
9 Other Vehicles <sup>4</sup>	\$2.3 bn	Various						
Other Cre	dit							
Fortitude <sup>5</sup>	\$2.6 bn	2020						
	*							
Investment So	lutions							
AlpInves								
Fund of Private Eq								
100 vehicles	€45.1 bn	2000-2020						
Secondary Investments								
74 vehicles €24.5 bn 2002-2020								
Co-Investm								
CO III (Colli								

71 vehicles €15.8 bn 2002-2020 Metropolitan Real Estate 38 vehicles \$5.0 bn 2002-2020

Note: All amounts shown represent total capital commitments as of December 31, 2020, unless otherwise noted. Certain of our recent vintage funds are currently in fundraising and total capital commitments are subject to change. In addition, certain carry funds included herein may be disclosed which are not included in fund performance if they have not made an initial capital call or commenced investment activity. The NGP funds are advised by NGP Energy Capital Management, LLC, a separately registered investment adviser, and we do not serve as an investment adviser to those funds.

- (1) Global Private Equity also includes funds which we jointly advise with Riverstone Holdings L.L.C. (the "Legacy Energy funds"). The impact of these funds is no longer significant to our results of operations.
- (2) Includes NGP M&R, NGP ETP II, and NGP IX, on which we are not entitled to a share of carried interest.
- (3) Amounts represent gross assets plus any available capital as of December 31, 2020.

2017

2008

2014

(4) Amounts represent Total AUM as of December 31, 2020.

\$0.3 bn

\$1.0 bn

€0.3 bn

Carlyle Cardinal Ireland

CAP Growth I

CAGP IV

CCI

(5) Reflects AUM related to capital raised from third-party investors to acquire a 76.6% interest in Fortitude Holdings.

#### **Organizational Structure**

On January 1, 2020, we completed our conversion from a Delaware limited partnership named The Carlyle Group L.P. into a Delaware corporation named The Carlyle Group Inc. See "Item 7A. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Conversion to a Corporation" for additional information.

In the Conversion, the former holders of common units of the Partnership and limited partners of the Carlyle Holdings partnerships became holders of common stock of the Corporation. The holders of common stock are entitled to vote on all matters on which stockholders of a corporation are generally entitled to vote on under Delaware General Corporation Law ("DGCL"), including the election of the board of directors of the Corporation. Holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share of common stock.

Since January 1, 2020, our business and affairs are overseen by a board of directors of the Corporation, rather than by the board of directors of Carlyle Group Management L.L.C., formerly the general partner of the Partnership. The directors and executive officers of the Corporation immediately after the Conversion are the same individuals who were directors and executive officers, respectively, of Carlyle Group Management L.L.C. immediately prior to the Conversion.

In connection with the Conversion, senior Carlyle professionals and certain of the other former limited partners of Carlyle Holdings who became holders of shares of common stock in connection with the Conversion were generally required to grant an irrevocable proxy to Carlyle Group Management L.L.C., which is wholly owned by our founders and other senior Carlyle professionals. As a result, we are a "controlled company" and qualify for exceptions from certain corporate governance and other requirements of the rules of the Nasdaq Global Select Market ("Nasdaq"). See "Item 1A. Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Common Stock—Carlyle Group Management L.L.C. controls us and its interests may conflict with ours or yours in the future" and "—We are a "controlled company" and as a result rely on and intend to continue to rely on, exceptions from certain corporate governance requirements under the rules of Nasdaq."

#### LP Relations

Our diverse and sophisticated investor base includes more than 2,650 active investors in our carry funds located in 95 countries. Included among our many longstanding fund investors are pension funds, sovereign wealth funds, insurance companies and high net worth individuals in the United States, Asia, Europe, the Middle East and South America.

We strive to cultivate long-term, strategic partnerships with our limited partners. We continuously seek to expand our partnerships by sharing our insights and perspectives on the market and investment environment, as well as discussing how we can help the investor achieve their objectives. We are in constant dialogue with our investors and during 2020, we have used technology to enhance our fund transparency and communication around insights and facilitate consistent dialogue with our firm in a remote environment. This partnership approach to fundraising has been critical in raising \$27.5 billion in 2020.

We have a dedicated in-house investor relations group. Our team combines strong segment sales with firm-level strategy and coordination to bring the best of Carlyle to our limited partners. Each segment team consists of a combination of geographically-focused professionals and product specialists who work closely together to deliver against investor needs and is supported by central staff responsible for data analytics and additional fulfillment responsibilities.

Our LP relations professionals are in constant dialogue with our fund investors, which enables us to monitor investor preferences and tailor future fund offerings to meet investor demand. We strive to secure a first-mover advantage with key investors, often by establishing a local presence and providing a broad and diverse range of investment opportunities.

As of December 31, 2020, approximately 94% of commitments to our active carry funds (by dollar amount) were from investors who are committed to more than one active carry fund and approximately 75% of commitments to our active carry funds (by dollar amount) were from investors who are committed to more than five active carry funds. We believe the loyalty of our carry fund investor base, as evidenced by our substantial number of multifund relationships, enhances our ability to raise new funds and successor funds in existing strategies.

### **Investor Services**

We have a team of over 550 investor services professionals worldwide. The investor services group performs a range of functions to support our investment teams, LP relations group and the corporate infrastructure of Carlyle. Our investor services professionals provide an important control function, ensuring that transactions are structured pursuant to the partnership agreements, assisting in global regulatory compliance requirements and investor reporting to enable investors to easily monitor the performance of their investments. We have devoted substantial resources to creating comprehensive and

timely investor reports, which are increasingly important to our investor base. The investor services group also works closely with the investment teams' throughout each fund's lifecycle, from fund formation and investments to portfolio monitoring and fund liquidation. We maintain an internal global legal and compliance team, which includes 31 professionals and a government relations group of five professionals with a presence around the globe as of December 31, 2020.

### **Structure and Operation of Our Investment Funds**

We conduct the sponsorship and management of our carry funds and other investment vehicles primarily through limited partnerships, which are organized by us, to accept commitments and/or funds for investment from institutional investors and high net worth individuals. In general, each investment fund that is a limited partnership, or "partnership" fund, has a general partner that is responsible for the management and operation of the fund's affairs and makes all policy and investment decisions relating to the conduct of the investment fund's business. Generally, the limited partners of such funds take no part in the conduct or control of the business of such funds, have no right or authority to act for or bind such funds and have no influence over the voting or disposition of the securities or other assets held by such funds, although such limited partners may vote on certain partnership matters including the removal of the general partner or early liquidation of the partnership by majority vote, as discussed below. Most of our funds also have an investor advisory committee, comprising representatives of certain limited partners, which may consider and/or waive conflicts of interest or otherwise consult with the general partner on certain partnership matters. In the case of certain separately managed accounts advised by us, the investor, rather than us, may control the asset or the investment decisions related thereto or certain investment vehicles or entities that hold or have custody of such assets.

Each investment fund and in the case of our separately managed accounts, the client, engages an investment adviser. Carlyle Investment Management L.L.C. ("CIM") or one of its subsidiaries or affiliates serves as an investment adviser for most of our carry funds and is registered under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended (the "Advisers Act"). Carlyle Global Credit Investment Management L.L.C. ("CGCIM") is an affiliate of CIM and serves as investment adviser for most of our Global Credit carry funds, as well as our BDCs and Interval Fund and is registered under the Advisers Act. The business of Carlyle Aviation Partners includes investment funds organized to invest in certain aviation-related securities and physical assets (including aircraft, engines and components), and certain of the advisers and general partners of such funds are currently not registered under the Advisers Act or otherwise operated in reliance on another entity's registration under the Advisers Act. Our investment advisers are generally entitled to a management fee from each investment fund for which they serve as investment advisers. For a discussion of the management fees to which our investment advisers are entitled across our various types of investment funds, see "—Incentive Arrangements / Fee Structure" below.

Investment funds themselves typically do not register as investment companies under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the "1940 Act" or the "Investment Company Act"), in reliance on Section 3(c) or Section 7(d) thereof. Section 3(c)(7) of the 1940 Act exempts from the 1940 Act's registration requirements investment funds whose securities are owned exclusively by persons in the United States who, at the time of acquisition of such securities, are "qualified purchasers" as defined under the 1940 Act and purchase their interests in a private placement. Section 3(c)(1) of the 1940 Act exempts from the 1940 Act's registration requirements privately placed investment funds whose securities are beneficially owned by not more than 100 persons and purchase their interests in a private placement. In addition, under certain current interpretations of the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), Section 7(d) of the 1940 Act exempts from registration any non-U.S. investment fund all of whose outstanding securities are beneficially owned either by non-U.S. residents or by U.S. residents that are qualified purchasers and purchase their interests in a private placement. Certain of our investment funds, however, rely on other exemptions from the 1940 Act or register as investment companies under the 1940 Act or elect to be regulated as BDCs under the 1940 Act.

The governing agreements of the vast majority of our investment funds provide that, subject to certain conditions, a majority in interest (based on capital commitments) of third-party investors in those funds have the right to remove the general partner of the fund for cause and/or to accelerate the liquidation date of the investment fund without cause. In addition, the governing agreements of many of our investment funds generally require investors in those funds to affirmatively vote to continue the commitment period in the event that certain "key persons" in our investment funds do not provide the specified time commitment to the fund or our firm ceases to control the general partner (or similar managing entity) or the investment adviser or ceases to hold a specified percentage of the economic interests in the general partner (any such events, a "Key Person Event").

With limited exceptions, our carry funds, BDCs, Carlyle Tactical Private Credit interval fund (the "Interval Fund"), NGP Predecessor Funds, and certain other investment vehicles, are closed-end funds. In a closed-end fund structure, once an investor makes an investment, the investor is generally not able to withdraw or redeem its interest, except in very limited circumstances. Furthermore, the governing agreement of each investment vehicle contains restrictions on an investor's ability to

transfer its interest in the fund. In the open-end funds we advise, investors' interests are usually locked up for a period of time after which investors may generally redeem their interests on a quarterly basis, to the extent that sufficient cash is available.

With respect to our Global Private Equity and Global Credit carry funds, investors generally agree to fund their commitment over a period of time. For such carry funds, the commitment period generally runs until the earliest of (i) the sixth anniversary of either the effective date (the date we start charging management fees for the fund), or the initial closing date, (ii) the fifth anniversary of the final closing date of the fund; (iii) the date the general partner cancels the investors' obligation to fund capital contributions due to changes in applicable laws, business conditions or when at least a significant portion (which may range between 75% and 90%) of the capital commitments to the fund have been invested, committed or reserved for investments; (iv) the date a supermajority in interest (based on capital commitments) of investors vote to terminate the commitment period; or (v) the occurrence of a Key Person Event, unless upon any of these events the investors vote to continue the commitment period. Following the termination of the commitment period, an investor generally will be released from any further obligation with respect to its undrawn capital commitment except to the extent necessary to pay partnership expenses and management fees, fund outstanding borrowings and guarantees, complete investments with respect to transactions committed to prior to the end of the commitment period and make follow-on investments in existing investments (collectively, the "post-termination obligations"). Generally, an investor's obligation to fund follow-on investments extends for a period of three years following the end of the commitment period, although certain funds do not have a time limit and there may be limitations on how much the fund is permitted to fund for such follow-on investments. In those funds where such limitations exist, they generally range from 15-20% of the fund's aggregate capital commitment.

For the latest generation of our closed-end real estate funds, the length of the commitment period varies from fund to fund, typically running for a period of between two and five years from the final closing date, provided that the general partner may unilaterally extend such expiration date for one year and may extend it for another year with the consent of a majority of the limited partners or the investment advisory committee for that fund. Investors in the latest generation of our closed-end real estate funds are also obligated to continue to make capital contributions with respect to follow-on investments and to repay indebtedness for a period of time after the original expiration date of the commitment period, as well as to fund partnership expenses and management fees during the life of the fund.

The term of each of the Global Private Equity and Global Credit carry funds generally will end 10 years from the initial closing date, or in some cases, from the final closing date, but such termination date may be earlier in certain limited circumstances (e.g., six years, in the case of certain Carlyle Aviation Partners funds) or later if extended by the general partner (in many instances with the consent of a majority in interest (based on capital commitments) of the investors or the investment advisory committee) for successive one-year periods, typically up to a maximum of two years. Certain of such investment funds may have a longer initial termination date (such funds, "longer-dated funds"), such as 15 years from the final closing date, or may be open-ended.

With respect to our Investment Solutions vehicles and separately managed accounts, the commitment period generally runs for a period of one to five years after the initial closing date of the vehicle. The term of each of the funds generally will end 8 to 12 years from the initial closing date. In some cases, the termination date may be later if extended by the general partner (in many instances with the consent of a majority in interest (based on capital commitments) of the investors or the investment advisory committee) for successive up to two-year periods, potentially up to a maximum of four years or until such time as is reasonably necessary for the general partner to be able to liquidate the fund's assets.

### Incentive Arrangements / Fee Structure

Fund Management Fees. We provide management services to funds in which we hold a general partner interest or with which we have an investment advisory agreement. For closed-end carry funds in the Global Private Equity and Global Credit segments, management fees generally range from 1.0% to 2.0% of commitments during the fund's commitment period based on limited partners' capital commitments to the funds. Following the expiration or termination of the commitment period, management fees generally are based on the lower of cost or fair value of invested capital and the rate charged may also be reduced to between 0.6% and 2.0%. For certain separately managed accounts, open-end funds and longer-dated carry funds, management fees generally range from 0.2% to 1.0% based on contributions for unrealized investments, the current value of the investment, or adjusted book value. The investment adviser will receive management fees during a specified period of time, which is generally ten years from the initial closing date, or, in some instances, from the final closing date, but such termination date may be earlier in certain limited circumstances or later if extended for successive one year periods, typically up to a maximum of two years. Depending on the contracted terms of the investment advisory agreement and related agreements, these fees are generally called semi-annually in advance. For certain open-end and longer-dated carry funds, management fees are called quarterly in arrears over the life of the funds.

Within the Global Credit segment, for CLOs and other structured products, management fees generally range from 0.4% to 0.5% based on the total par amount of assets or the aggregate principal amount of the notes in the CLO and are due quarterly. Management fees for the CLOs and other structured products are governed by indentures and collateral management agreements. The investment advisers will receive management fees for the CLOs until redemption of the securities issued by the CLOs, which is generally five to ten years after issuance. Management fees for the BDCs are due quarterly in arrears at annual rates that range from 1.25% of invested capital to 1.5% of gross assets, excluding cash and cash equivalents. Management fees for the Interval Fund are due monthly in arrears at the annual rate of 1.0% of the month-end value of the Interval Fund's net assets. Carlyle Aviation Partners' funds have varying management fee arrangements depending on the strategy of the particular fund. The mid-life to end-of-life commercial aircraft strategy generally has a 2.0% management fee on committed capital. The new or relatively new commercial aircraft strategy generally has a management fee of 0.5% of the gross asset purchase price of assets and 2.0% of the rents paid by asset lessees. The aircraft pre-delivery payment lending strategy generally has a management fee of 0.25% of invested capital and 50% of the upfront fee based on the amount of each loan.

The investment advisers of our Investment Solutions private equity and real estate carry fund vehicles generally receive an annual management fee that ranges from 0.25% to 1.0% of the vehicle's capital commitments or its committed capital to investments during the commitment fee period of the relevant fund or the weighted-average commitment period of the underlying funds. Following the expiration of the commitment fee period or weighted-average investment period of such funds, the management fees generally range from 0.25% to 1.0% on (i) net invested capital; (ii) the lower of cost or fair value of the capital invested, (iii) the net asset value for unrealized investments or (iv) the contributions for unrealized investments; however certain separately managed accounts pay management fees at all times on contributions for unrealized investments or on the initial commitment amount. The management fees we receive from our Investment Solutions carry fund vehicles typically are payable quarterly in advance.

Our equity interest in NGP entitles us to an allocation of income equal to 55% of the management fee-related revenues of the NGP entities that serve as advisors to the NGP Energy Funds.

The general partners or investment advisers to certain of our Global Private Equity and Global Credit carry funds from time to time receive customary transaction fees upon consummation of many of our funds' acquisition transactions, receive monitoring fees from many of their portfolio companies following acquisition and may from time to time receive other fees in connection with their activities. The ongoing monitoring fees that they receive are generally calculated either as a fixed amount or as a percentage of a specified financial metric of a particular portfolio company. The transaction fees which they receive are generally calculated either as a fixed amount or as a percentage (that generally ranges up to 1%, but may exceed 1% in certain circumstances) of the total enterprise value or capitalization of the investment. The management fees charged to investors in our carry funds are generally reduced by 80% to 100% of such transaction fees, monitoring fees, and certain other fees that are received by the general partners and their affiliates.

In addition, Carlyle Aviation Partners may receive servicing fees in connection with asset-backed financing transactions for certain Carlyle Aviation Partners funds, generally in the range of 2% of rents, incentive fees up to 5% of rents in the aggregate, and 3% of sales proceeds earned from such assets. To the extent the financing instruments are held by the funds, these fees are generally offset against management fees or partnership expenses of the funds.

Performance Allocations. The general partner of each of our carry funds also receives carried interest from the carry funds. Carried interest entitles the general partner to a special residual allocation of profit on third-party capital. In the case of our closed-end carry funds, carried interest is generally calculated on a "realized gain" basis, and each general partner is generally entitled to a carried interest equal to 20% allocation (or 10% to 20% on certain open-end and longer-dated carry funds, certain credit funds and external co-investment vehicles, or approximately 2% to 12% in the case of most of our more mature Investment Solutions carry funds) of the net realized profit (generally taking into account unrealized losses) generated by third-party capital invested in such fund. Net realized profit or loss is not netted between or among funds. Our senior Carlyle professionals and other personnel who work in these operations also own interests in the general partners of our carry funds and we generally allocate 45% of any carried interest that we earn to these individuals in order to better align their interests with our own and with those of the investors in the funds. Of the carried interest that we retain, we utilize a portion for our new carried interest pool program that commenced in 2019 for certain of our employees who do not receive direct allocations of carried interest to further align their interests with those of our investors. For most carry funds, the carried interest is subject to an annual preferred return of 6% to 9% (or 4% to 7% for certain longer-dated carry funds) and return of certain fund costs (generally subject to catch-up provisions as set forth in the fund limited partnership agreement). If, as a result of diminished performance of later investments in the life of a closed-end fund, the fund does not achieve investment returns that (in most cases) exceed the preferred return threshold or (in almost all cases) the general partner receives in excess of the allocated carried inter

exceeds amounts to which we are ultimately entitled. This obligation, which is known as a "giveback" obligation, operates with respect to a given carry fund's own net investment performance only and is typically capped at the after-tax amount of carried interest received by the general partner. Each recipient of carried interest distributions is individually responsible for his or her proportionate share of any "giveback" obligation, and we have historically withheld a portion of the cash from carried interest distributions to individuals as security for potential "giveback" obligations. However, we may guarantee the full amount of such "giveback" obligation in respect of amounts received by Carlyle and certain other amounts. With respect to the portion of any carried interest allocated to the firm, we expect to fund any "giveback" obligation from available cash. Our ability to generate carried interest is an important element of our business and carried interest has historically accounted for a significant portion of our income.

The receipt of carried interest in respect of investments of our carry funds is dictated by the terms of the partnership agreements that govern such funds, which generally allow for carried interest distributions in respect of an investment upon a realization event after satisfaction of obligations relating to the return of capital from all realized investments, any realized losses, allocable fees and expenses and the applicable annual preferred return. Carried interest is ultimately realized and distributed when: (i) an underlying investment is profitably disposed of, (ii) certain costs borne by the investors have been reimbursed, (iii) the investment fund's cumulative returns are in excess of the preferred return and (iv) we have decided to collect carry rather than return additional capital to investors. Distributions to eligible senior Carlyle professionals in respect of such carried interest are generally made shortly thereafter. Our decision to realize carry considers such factors as the level of embedded valuation gains, the portion of the fund invested, the portion of the fund returned to investors and the length of time the fund has been in carry, as well as other qualitative measures. Our Investment Solutions funds are not eligible for carried interest distributions until all capital contributions for investments and expenses and the preferred return hurdle have been returned. Although Carlyle has seldom been obligated to pay a giveback obligation, such obligation, if any, in respect of previously realized carried interest, is generally determined and due upon the winding up or liquidation of a carry fund pursuant to the terms of the fund's partnership agreement, although in certain cases the giveback is calculated at prior intervals.

With respect to our separately managed accounts, BDCs and the Interval Fund, carried interest is generally referred to as an "Incentive Fee." Incentive Fees consist of performance-based incentive arrangements pursuant to management contracts when the return on assets under management exceeds certain benchmark returns or other performance targets. Incentive Fees are recognized when the performance benchmark has been achieved.

Under our arrangements with the historical owners of Carlyle Aviation Partners, we are entitled to 100% of the management fee-related revenues and advisory fee-related revenues of Carlyle Aviation Partners that serve as advisers or service providers of the Carlyle Aviation Partners funds and portfolios of investments. In addition, we will receive 55% of the carried interest from funds managed or advised by Carlyle Aviation Partners, with the remaining 45% being allocated to the prior owners of Carlyle Aviation Partners and certain employees.

With respect to our arrangements with NGP, we are entitled to an allocation of income equal to 47.5% of the carried interest received by NGP XI and future NGP funds. In addition, we hold an interest in the general partner of the NGP X fund, which entitles us to an allocation of income equal to 40% of the carried interest received by NGP X's general partner.

Under our arrangements with the historical owners and management team of AlpInvest, we generally do not retain any carried interest in respect of the historical investments and commitments to our fund of funds vehicles that existed as of July 1, 2011 (including any options to increase any such commitments exercised after such date). We are entitled to 15%, or in some cases 40%, of the carried interest in respect of commitments from the historical owners of AlpInvest for the period between 2011 and 2020 and 40% of the carried interest in respect of all other commitments (including all future commitments from third parties).

Under our arrangements with the historical owners and management team of Metropolitan, the management team and employees are allocated all carried interest in respect of the historical investments and commitments to the fund vehicles that have had a final closing on or prior to July 31, 2013, and 45% of the carried interest in respect of all other commitments.

As noted above, in connection with raising new funds or securing additional investments in existing funds, we negotiate terms for such funds and investments with existing and potential investors. The outcome of such negotiations could result in our agreement to terms that are materially less favorable to us than for prior funds we have advised or funds advised by our competitors. See "Item 1A. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Business Operations — Our investors in future funds may negotiate to pay us lower management fees and the economic terms of our future funds may be less favorable to us than those of our existing funds, which could adversely affect our revenues."

# Capital Invested in and Alongside Our Investment Funds

To further align our interests with those of investors in our investment funds, we have invested our own capital and that of our senior Carlyle professionals in and alongside the investment funds we sponsor and advise. Carlyle generally expects to commit to fund approximately 0.75% of the capital commitments to our future Global Private Equity and Global Credit carry funds. We also intend to make investments in our Investment Solutions carry funds, our open-end funds, our BDCs and other 1940 Act regulated vehicles and our CLO vehicles. In addition, certain qualified Carlyle professionals and other qualified individuals (including certain individuals who may not be employees of the firm but who have pre-existing business relationships with Carlyle or industry expertise in the sector in which a particular investment fund may be investing) are permitted, subject to certain restrictions, to invest alongside the investment funds we sponsor and advise. Fees assessed or profit allocations on such investments by such persons may be eliminated or substantially reduced.

Minimum general partner capital commitments to our investment funds are determined separately with respect to each investment fund. We may, from time to time, exercise our right to purchase additional interests in our investment funds that become available in the ordinary course of their operations. See "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources" for more information regarding our minimum general partner capital commitments to our funds. Our general partner capital commitments are funded with cash and not with carried interest or through a management fee waiver program.

#### **Employees**

We believe that one of the strengths and principal reasons for our success is the quality and dedication of our people. As of December 31, 2020, we employed more than 1,825 individuals, including 678 investment professionals, located in 29 offices across five continents.

### One Carlyle Culture and Diversity, Equity and Inclusion

Uniting our employees around the globe is our One Carlyle culture, which is built on promoting collaboration; diversity, equity and inclusion ("DEI") as a decision-making framework; and alignment of our core values and business objectives. We are committed to growing and cultivating an environment that fosters DEI and values the diverse perspectives, backgrounds, experiences and geographies of our employees and other stakeholders. A focus on DEI efforts is embedded into the highest levels of our firm and is guided by our Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Council, comprised of members of our executive team, as well as key senior leaders across the globe. We strive to create a workplace culture that enhances our ability to recruit, develop and retain diverse talent. During 2020, to continue to facilitate the career development of all of our employees, we made inclusive leadership a core leadership competency and augmented the role of the DEI Council in reviewing the promotion process for our senior personnel. To continue to enhance inclusive decision-making, we launched "Better Decisions," a high impact initiative that provides education, practical tools and guidance to build awareness of unconscious bias and to mitigate its negative effects. Over 80% of our employees have participated in in-person or virtual sessions of this program. In addition to these initiatives, we encourage our employees to engage with and support one another through our global Employee Resource Groups, which include DiverseAbility, LGBTQ+, Multicultural, Veterans, Women, Working Parents and Young Professionals groups, that were formed to cultivate and retain a diverse, equitable and inclusive workforce.

### **Employee Engagement**

We continuously evaluate, modify, and enhance our internal processes and technologies to increase employee engagement, productivity and efficiency. Recognizing that feedback is a critical component to driving employee career growth and development, as well as overall engagement, during 2020, we hired a new Global Head of Talent Management and implemented a robust feedback training and communication campaign. We introduced a system to deliver real-time feedback, as well as more frequent formal performance conversations and launched a new more streamlined performance management system. In order to measure employee engagement, we conducted an annual engagement survey as well as other pulse surveys throughout the year. We are also continuing to expand our employee training programs, including those focused on enhancing

management and leadership capability at all levels of the firm. We also continue to support a global mentoring program in which 376 of our employees participated as mentors or mentees in 2020.

### **Compensation and Benefits**

We believe that equitable compensation and incentive programs are critical to hiring and retaining highly qualified people. We seek to provide a pay and benefits package that is competitive within the local marketplace for our industry to reward and retain our employees and attract and retain new talent. Compensation comprises a base salary for salaried employees and compensation per hour for hourly employees in connection with satisfying the daily expectations of their roles. Our annual discretionary performance-based cash bonus program is a significant component of our compensation program and rewards employees based on firm, segment, investment fund, department and individual performance to directly align our employees with our financial performance and strategic goals. To further align the interests of our employees with our shareholders and to cultivate a strong sense of ownership and commitment to our firm, certain employees also are eligible to receive awards of restricted stock units or participate in our other long-term incentive programs. The success of our business is fundamentally connected to the well-being of our people. We are committed to their health, safety and wellness and seek to provide benefits that are locally relevant for our global employees. Following the start of the COVID-19 pandemic, during 2020, we offered enhanced support to our employees by partnering with external wellness providers to host dedicated sessions on mental and physical well-being.

#### **ESG** and Impact

We are committed to the principle that building a better business means investing responsibly and engaging in communities where we work and invest. As a responsible global organization dedicated to serving all of its stakeholders, Carlyle has made it a priority to invest in a framework and the necessary resources for understanding, monitoring and managing ESG risks and opportunities across its portfolio. In 2008, Carlyle developed a set of Guidelines for Responsible Investment that consider the environmental, social and governance implications of certain investments we make. These guidelines are still in use today to inform our investment decision-making process for our controlled, corporate investments.

Over the years, we have sought to continuously strengthen our governance, resourcing, reporting and transparency on material ESG issues. In 2010, we became the first private equity firm to publish an ESG report. In 2013, Carlyle established our DEI Council, which we believe was the first of its kind in our industry. In early 2014, Carlyle hired its first dedicated ESG professional, adding our first Chief Inclusion and Diversity Officer in 2018 and Global Head of Impact in 2019. In 2020, we further tightened our policies and practices around evaluating new investments for ESG implications, establishing a senior ESG review committee to evaluate more complex ESG issues, in order to help guide our investment analysis. In 2020, we published our inaugural Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) Report, underscoring our evolving approach to climate change and published our first corporate ESG disclosures, utilizing Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) Standards, which provide an internationally recognized framework to communicate our material ESG issues as a firm to our stakeholders.

The Carlyle Group's Board of Directors oversees the firm's approach to ESG and impact. The Board receives updates on our ESG and impact strategy and investment implications at least annually, and receives reports on thematic issues, such as Carlyle's approach to climate risk and opportunity and diversity and inclusion. One of the members of our Board of Directors serves as the ESG and Impact lead.

Carlyle has an internal dedicated ESG team with a breadth of experience to help identify critical material ESG issues in our investment processes, as well as a network of outside experts to enable our investment teams to go deeper on the most material factors and potential ESG growth opportunities for a given investment over our hold periods. Our ESG professionals are a part of our Global Investment Resources team. This team includes a Chief Performance Officer, Chief Digital Officer, Chief Information Officer, Chief Procurement Officer, and Head of Government Affairs, as well as dedicated professionals working on healthcare and benefits, and real estate and energy usage, amongst other ESG areas of focus. ESG considerations play an increasing role in our investment processes and the operations of our portfolio companies. Our commitment to sustainability influences strategy, brings new ideas for operational efficiency and helps unlock value. Pursuing tailored ESG strategies that focus on material issues for individual businesses is one way Carlyle is driving impact at our portfolio companies.

We encourage our employees to get involved where they live, work and invest through our volunteer and wealth sharing programs. In 2020, 350 Carlyle employees gave over 680 philanthropic gifts which were matched by the firm. These gifts supported over 200 nonprofit organizations globally. We also initiated a significant philanthropic effort in response to COVID-19, donating to nonprofit organizations globally to help relief efforts, as well as a separate firm matching program for

donations to organizations working on social justice and reform of the U.S. criminal justice system. Carlyle employees also put their time and expertise to work through volunteer activities across our offices.

We work to continually improve environmental stewardship within our firm, particularly in the areas of climate change, energy and materials use. In 2020 we hosted our inaugural climate scenario planning workshop to help us start thinking critically about a range of plausible climate scenarios, and from those scenarios, what would better position our portfolio today for those worlds. 2020 was Carlyle's fourth year of carbon neutrality across our 29 global offices and the activities of our more than 1,825 employees, after we became the first major private equity firm to make a carbon neutrality commitment in 2017. Our new office location in New York City at OneVanderbilt received the highest LEED and wellness certifications. We are a member of Businesses for Social Responsibility (BSR), an industry group working to advance sustainability practices in the business sector (BSR facilitated our first climate scenario workshop, detailed above) as well as a member of the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB) Alliance, the Renewable Energy Buyers Association (REBA), and the Green Chemistry and Commerce Council (GC3).

We are a member of the British Private Equity and Venture Capital Association and seek to ensure that our U.K.-based portfolio companies are compliant, on a voluntary basis, with the Private Equity Reporting Group Guidelines for Disclosure and Transparency when such companies become subject to these guidelines. Carlyle is a member of Invest Europe and an active participant in its work on ESG-related industry issues. Further, we are also a member of the Bundesverband Deutscher Kapitalbeteiligungsgesellschaften (BVK), the German private equity and venture capital trade association. We believe that we are compliant with the BVK Guidelines for Disclosure and Transparency and seek to ensure that our German portfolio companies comply with these guidelines when they are required to do so.

AlpInvest is a signatory of the Principles for Responsible Investment and has adopted the UN Global Compact as a corporate social responsibility (CSR) framework to evaluate fund managers and portfolio companies. AlpInvest has fully integrated CSR into its investment process and actively engages with fund managers and other stakeholders in the private equity markets to promote sustainability and improved corporate governance as an investment consideration.

Since Carlyle was established, we have recognized the value and benefits of maintaining a business model grounded in investment fundamentals, strong governance and transparency. We maintain strong internal corporate governance processes and fiduciary functions and are subject to regulatory supervision. Carlyle professionals receive regular and targeted training on many issues related to corporate governance and compliance, such as anti-corruption, conflicts of interest, economic sanctions and anti-money laundering. All employees annually certify to their understanding of and compliance with key global Carlyle policies and procedures.

# **Global Information Technology and Solutions**

Global Information Technology and Solutions, which we refer to as GTS, is essential for Carlyle to conduct investment activities, manage internal administration activities and connect a global enterprise. As part of our GTS strategy and governance processes, we develop and routinely refine our technology architecture to leverage solutions that will best serve the needs of our investors. Our systems, data, network and infrastructure are continuously monitored and administered by formal controls and risk management processes that also help protect the data and privacy of our employees and investors. Our business continuity plans are designed to allow all critical business functions to continue in an orderly manner in the event of an emergency. GTS works closely with our various segments to test Carlyle's business continuity plans via table top exercises and disaster recovery exercises. GTS requires firm-wide information security awareness training on a quarterly basis to sensitize employees about the cyber risks to the firm with a goal of educating the firm on how to safeguard Carlyle's information assets. This testing is intended to help mitigate risk to the firm if an actual emergency were to occur. Carlyle's Information Security Steering Committee, chaired by the Chief Information Security Officer, monitors threats and prioritizes the initiatives of Carlyle's information security programs.

### Competition

As a global investment firm, we compete with a broad array of regional and global investment firms, as well as global banking institutions and other types of financial institutions and markets, for employees, investors and investment opportunities. Generally, our competition varies across business lines, geographies, distribution channels and financial markets. We believe that our competition for investors is based primarily on investment performance, business relationships, the quality of services provided to investors, reputation and brand recognition, pricing, market sentiment and the relative attractiveness of the particular opportunity in which a particular fund intends to invest. To stay competitive, we believe it is also important to be able to offer fund investors a customized suite of investment products which enable them to tailor their investments across alternatives in private equity, real estate, natural resources, infrastructure and credit. We believe that competition for investment

opportunities varies across business lines, but is generally based on industry expertise and potential for value-add, pricing, terms and the structure of a proposed investment and certainty of execution.

We generally compete with sponsors of public and private investment funds across all of our segments. Within our GPE segment, we also compete with sovereign wealth funds and operating companies acting as strategic acquirers, as well as real estate development companies and other infrastructure investment business. In our Global Credit segment, we compete with private credit strategies, BDCs, distressed debt funds, mezzanine funds, lessors of commercial aircraft, infrastructure lenders and other CLO issuers. In our Investment Solutions segment, we generally compete with other fund of funds managers and/or with advisers that are turning their business models towards discretionary investment advisory services. As larger sovereign wealth funds and pension funds pursue direct commitments and secondary transactions, there is the possibility that our Investment Solutions funds could face increased competition for investments.

In addition to these traditional competitors within the global investment industry, we have increasingly faced competition from local and regional firms, financial institutions, sovereign wealth funds, family offices and agencies and instrumentalities of governments in the various countries in which we invest. This trend has been especially apparent in emerging markets, where local firms tend to have more established relationships with the companies in which we are attempting to invest. In addition, large institutional investors and sovereign wealth funds have begun to develop their own in-house investment capabilities and may compete against us for investment opportunities. Greater reliance on advisory firms or in-house investment management may reduce fund of funds' appeal to large institutional investors. As we continue to target high net worth investors, we also face competition from mutual funds and investment firms that have competing products.

More recently, we have seen a marked increase in the use of special purpose acquisition companies (SPACs) by our peers and competitors. Recent market volatility and the willingness of seasoned sponsors and management teams to use these vehicles has increased competition in the deal market. While SPACs may compete with us for acquisition targets, they also represent potential purchasers for companies already in our portfolio, thereby potentially expanding exit opportunities. Furthermore, while we do not believe SPACs are an equivalent substitute to our private equity funds, investors may elect to allocate capital to SPACs versus traditional closed-ended funds, thereby potentially adversely impacting the amount of money we are able to raise in the future.

Some of the entities that we compete with as a global investment firm are substantially larger and have greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources and more personnel than we do. Many of our competitors also have recently raised or are expected to raise, significant amounts of capital and many of them have investment objectives similar to ours, which may create additional competition for investment opportunities and investor capital. Some of these competitors may also have a lower cost of capital and access to funding sources that are not available to us, which may create competitive disadvantages for us when sourcing investment opportunities. In addition, some of these competitors may have higher risk tolerances, different risk assessments or lower return thresholds, which could allow them to consider a wider range of investments and to bid more aggressively than us for investments. Strategic buyers may also be able to achieve synergistic cost savings or revenue enhancements with respect to a targeted portfolio company, which we may not be able to achieve through our own portfolio, and this may provide them with a competitive advantage in bidding for such investments.

### **Regulatory and Compliance Matters**

### **United States**

Our businesses, as well as the financial services industry generally, are subject to extensive regulation in the United States and elsewhere. In general, the SEC, Commodity Futures Trading Commission (the "CFTC") and other regulators around the globe have in recent years significantly increased their regulatory activities with respect to global investment firms.

Certain of our subsidiaries are registered as investment advisers with the SEC. Registered investment advisers are subject to the requirements and regulations of the Advisers Act. Such requirements relate to, among other things, fiduciary duties to advisory clients, maintaining an effective compliance program, solicitation agreements, conflicts of interest, recordkeeping and reporting requirements, disclosure requirements, limitations on agency cross and principal transactions between an adviser and advisory clients and general anti-fraud prohibitions. In addition, our registered investment advisers are subject to routine periodic and other examinations by the staff of the SEC. In accordance with our efforts to enhance our compliance program and in response to recommendations received from the SEC in the course of routine examinations, certain additional policies and procedures have been put into place, but no material changes to our registered investment advisers' operations have been made as a result of such examinations. Our registered investment advisers also have not been subject to any regulatory or disciplinary actions by the SEC. Finally, certain of our investment advisers are subject to limited SEC disclosure requirements as "exempt reporting advisers."

TCG Securities, L.L.C. ("TCG Securities"), the affiliate entity through which we conduct U.S.-based marketing and fundraising activities for our Global Private Equity and Investment Solutions business lines, and house our anti-money laundering compliance function, is registered as a limited purpose broker-dealer with the SEC, is a member of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority ("FINRA") and is also registered as a broker-dealer in all 50 states, the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico and the Virgin Islands. Additionally, TCG Securities operates under an international broker-dealer exemption in the Canadian provinces of Alberta, British Columbia, Ontario and Quebec. TCG Securities acts as a placement agent, on a best efforts basis, for interests in private funds for such business lines.

TCG Capital Markets L.L.C. ("TCG Capital Markets") is an affiliate broker-dealer entity that operates as part of the GCM platform within Global Credit. TCG Capital Markets is registered as a broker-dealer with the SEC and in 50 states and the District of Columbia. TCG Capital Markets may act as an underwriter, syndicator or placement agent in securities offerings and TCG Senior Funding L.L.C. may act as an underwriter, originator, syndicator or placement agent for loan originations.

Additionally, our broker-dealers are subject to routine periodic and other examinations by the staff of FINRA. No material changes to our broker-dealers' operations have been made as a result of such examinations.

Broker-dealers are subject to rules relating to transactions on a particular exchange and/or market, and rules relating to the internal operations of the firms and their dealings with customers including, but not limited to the form or organization of the firm, qualifications of associated persons, officers and directors, net capital and customer protection rules, books and records and financial statements and reporting. In particular, as a result of its registered status, each of TCG Securities and TCG Capital Markets is subject to the SEC's uniform net capital rule, Rule 15c3-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), which specifies both the minimum level of net capital a broker-dealer must maintain relative to the scope of its business activities and net capital liquidity parameters. The SEC and FINRA require compliance with key financial responsibility rules, including maintenance of adequate funds to meet expenses and contractual obligations, as well as early warning rules that compel notice to the regulators via accelerated financial reporting anytime a firm's capital falls below the minimum required level. The uniform net capital rule limits the amount of qualifying subordinated debt that is treated as equity to a specific percentage under the debt-to-equity ratio test, and further limits the withdrawal of equity capital, which is subject to specific notice provisions. Finally, compliance with net capital rules may also limit a firm's ability to expand its operations, particularly to those activities that require the use of capital. Violation of the net capital rule may result in censures, fines, the issuance of cease-and-desist orders, revocation of licenses or registrations, the suspension or expulsion from the securities industry of the broker-dealer or its officers or employees or other similar consequences by regulatory bodies. To date, neither TCG Securities nor TCG Capital Markets has had any capital adequacy issues and each entity is currently capitalized in ex

Carlyle Global Credit Investment Management L.L.C. ("CGCIM"), one of our subsidiaries, serves as investment adviser to certain closed-end investment companies that have elected, or intend to elect, to be regulated as BDCs under the Investment Company Act (as well as to certain private fund and other clients). Accordingly, these BDCs are, or are expected to be, subject to all relevant provisions under the Investment Company Act as registered investment companies. In addition, CGCIM serves as the investment adviser to the Interval Fund, which is regulated as a registered investment company under the Investment Company Act.

# United Kingdom and the European Union

Similar to the United States, jurisdictions outside the United States in which we operate, in particular Europe, have become subject to an expanding body of regulation, some of which is complex and prescriptive. Governmental regulators and other authorities in Europe have proposed or implemented a number of initiatives and additional rules and regulations that could adversely affect our business. These include rules and regulations in the United Kingdom ("UK") that are applicable to our subsidiaries established in the UK, as well as, or in addition to, rules and regulations implemented under European Union ("EU") directives or regulations, which generally have application throughout the European Economic Area ("EEA").

In the UK, the principal legislation regulating financial services is the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the "FSMA") and the principal European legislation affecting the conduct of our business in the EU is implemented under the Markets and Financial Instruments Directive ("MiFID") and the Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive ("AIFMD") – although there are a number of other pieces of legislation both in the UK and the EU that affect our business. The FSMA, rules made pursuant to the FSMA, and EU laws which have either been adopted into UK law in connection with the UK's withdrawal from the EU (e.g. the Markets in Financial Instruments Regulation) or already implemented in the UK through domestic legislation or regulatory rules prior to such withdrawal (e.g., MiFID and AIFMD), comprehensively regulate the provision of most aspects of our asset management and advisory business in the UK, including sales, research and trading practices, provision of investment advice, corporate finance, dealing, use and safekeeping of client funds and securities, record

keeping, margin practices and procedures, approval standards for individuals, anti-money laundering, periodic reporting, settlement procedures, securitization, derivative trading, prudential capital requirements, data protection, sustainable finance, and interest rate benchmarks. Legislation not yet in effect and future legislative initiatives will impact our business. See "Item 1A. Risk Factors—Regulatory initiatives in jurisdictions outside the United States could adversely affect our business."

CECP Advisors LLP ("CECP"), one of our subsidiaries in the UK, is authorized under the FSMA and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority (the "FCA"). CECP has permission to undertake certain corporate finance activities in the UK – broadly these are advising on, and arranging deals in relation to certain types of, investments. CECP is only permitted to carry out these activities in relation to eligible counterparties and professional clients.

CELF Advisors LLP ("CELF"), another one of our subsidiaries in the UK, is also authorized and regulated by the FCA, but has permission to undertake a broader range of regulated activities than CECP, namely, arranging deals in investments, advising on investments, managing investments, dealing in investments as agent, and arranging for the safeguarding and administration of assets. CELF is only permitted to carry out these activities in relation to eligible counterparties and professional clients.

Following the UK's exit from the EU on January 31, 2020, and the end of the Brexit transition period on December 31, 2020, EEA passporting rights (which previously entitled CECP and CELF to provide certain investment services in the EEA on a cross-border basis) are no longer available to CECP and CELF. The UK and the EU announced, on December 24, 2020, that they have reached agreement on a new Trade and Cooperation Agreement (the "TCA"), which addresses the future relationship between the parties. However, the TCA does not substantively address future cooperation in the financial services sector or reciprocal market access into the EU by UK firms under equivalence arrangements. The European Commission has indicated that its assessment of the UK's replies to its equivalence inquiries remains ongoing and, at this stage, there is no certainty as to when such assessments will be concluded or whether the UK will be deemed equivalent in some or all of the individual assessments. In light of the uncertainty as to when and whether any such equivalence or other arrangements facilitating market access into the EEA will be forthcoming, we are exploring ways in which to preserve the continuity of our EEA-based product distribution strategy and minimize disruption to our business in the short- to medium-term.

Certain of our European subsidiaries are subject to compliance requirements in connection with AIFMD, which regulates alternative investment fund managers established in the EEA ("AIFMS"). The AIFMD generally became effective in countries across the EEA in 2014. Currently, Carlyle has three authorized AIFMs in the EEA: AlpInvest, CIM Europe S.a.r.l. ("CIM Europe") and Carlyle Real Estate SGR S.p.A.

The AIFMD imposes significant regulatory requirements on AIFMs. The AIFMD regulates fund managers by, amongst other things, prescribing authorization conditions for an AIFM, restricting the activities that can be undertaken by an AIFM, prescribing the organizational requirements, operating conditions, and regulatory standards relating to such things as initial capital, remuneration, conflicts, risk management, leverage, liquidity management, delegation of duties, transparency and reporting requirement, etc. The AIFMD has the potential to restrict Carlyle's fund marketing strategy and places additional compliance obligations on its authorized AIFMs in the form of, among other things, remuneration policies, capital requirements, reporting requirements, leverage oversight and liquidity management.

Authorized AIFMs are entitled to market their alternative investment funds ("AIFs") throughout the EEA under a marketing passport. Under the AIFMD, an AIFM may, in addition to its fund management activity, also be authorized to provide certain investment services that would otherwise require authorization under MiFID. Authorization under the AIFMD is currently available only to EEA fund managers. AlpInvest obtained authorization as an AIFM from the Authority for Financial Markets in the Netherlands (the "AFM") in 2015. AlpInvest is also licensed by the AFM to provide some of the additional investment services that are otherwise generally reserved to MiFID firms. CIM Europe obtained authorization as an AIFM in Luxembourg in early 2018. Carlyle Real Estate SGR S.p.A. registered at the Bank of Italy's AIFM register under no.127 on October 10, 2017.

The AIFMD allows member states to permit marketing within their member state by non-EEA fund managers (under what are known as national private placement regimes), provided the local law imposes certain minimum requirements. Member states may impose more stringent requirements. At present, some EEA states have chosen not to operate a national private placement regime at all; some EEA states apply the minimum requirements; others require the minimum plus a few additional requirements (e.g., the appointment of a depository); and some require compliance with substantially all of the AIFMD. Certain of Carlyle's funds are currently offered in selected member states of the EEA in accordance with the national private placement regimes of the relevant EEA jurisdiction.

The European Commission is currently reviewing the AIFMD and launched a public consultation in October 2020 on potential improvements to the regulatory framework. This is expected to result in new legislation, possibly in 2021 (commonly referred to as "AIFMD II"). It is unclear at this stage whether and how AIFMD II would affect us or our subsidiaries.

In July 2019, a new EU regulation and a directive were adopted to provide more standardized requirements for cross-border fund distribution by AIFMs (amongst others). Member states must transpose the new requirements into local law by August 2021. The package includes a new definition of "premarketing" and will require an EU AIFM to notify its home state authority within two weeks of commencing any pre-marketing activity. Any subscription to a fund taking place within 18 months of pre-marketing will be considered to be the result of marketing.

As outlined above, certain of our European subsidiaries, notably CECP and CELF in the UK, must comply with the regulatory framework established by MiFID, which regulates the provision and conduct of investment services and activities throughout the EEA. Certain aspects of MiFID also apply to AlpInvest by virtue of its MiFID "top up" permission as part of its AIFMD authorization. MiFID prescribes detailed requirements governing the organization and conduct of business of investment firms, regulated markets and certain other entities such as credit institutions to the extent they perform investment services or activities.

The latest iteration of MiFID, Directive 2014/65/EU ("MiFID II") together with the accompanying Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 (the "Markets in Financial Instruments Regulation" or "MiFIR"), extended the MiFID requirements in a number of areas and require investment firms to comply with more prescriptive and onerous obligations in relation to such things as: costs and charges disclosure, product design and governance, the receipt and payment of inducements, the receipt of and payment for investment research, suitability and appropriateness assessments, conflicts of interest, record-keeping, best execution, transaction and trade reporting, remuneration, training and competence and corporate governance. Although the UK has now withdrawn from the EU, its rules implementing MiFID continue to have effect and MiFIR has been adopted into UK law (subject to certain amendments to ensure it operates properly in a UK-specific context) in connection with this withdrawal.

The UK is introducing a new prudential regulatory framework for UK investment firms (the "Investment Firm Prudential Regime" or "IFPR"), which will be closely based on an equivalent regulatory framework being introduced at the EU-level through the EU Investment Firm Regulation and Investment Firm Directive. IFPR is expected to take effect from January 1, 2022 and will apply to CECP and CELF, which are both UK investment firms. IFPR introduces new regulatory capital rules for most investment firms and, in some cases, will result in substantially increased capital requirements for certain types of firms. In particular, UK firms such as CECP are likely to need to hold substantially greater capital than they are currently required to hold under the prudential rules that presently apply. IFPR will also impose more onerous remuneration rules and revised and extended internal governance, disclosure, reporting, liquidity and group "prudential" consolidation requirements (among other things). It is at this stage unclear to what extent the equivalent EU framework will apply to EU AIFMs with a MiFID "top-up" permission, such as AlpInvest.

#### Other Jurisdictions

Certain of our subsidiaries are subject to registration and compliance with laws and regulations of non-U.S. governments, their respective agencies and/or various self-regulatory organizations or exchanges relating to, among other things, investment advisory services and the marketing of investment products, and any failure to comply with these regulations could expose us to liability and/or damage our reputation. Certain of our private funds are also required to comply with the trading and disclosure rules and regulations of non-U.S. securities regulators.

The Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (the "OECD") has developed Common Reporting Standard ("CRS") rules for the automatic exchange of FATCA-like financial account information amongst OECD member states. Like FATCA, CRS imposes certain due diligence, documentation and reporting requirements on various Carlyle entities. While CRS does not contain a potential withholding requirement, non-compliance could subject Carlyle to certain reputational harm and potential financial penalties.

Carlyle Hong Kong Equity Management Limited is licensed by the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission to carry on Type 1 (dealing in securities) regulated activity in respect of professional investors.

Carlyle Mauritius Investment Advisor Limited and Carlyle Mauritius CIS Investment Management Limited are licensed providers of investment management services in the Republic of Mauritius and are subject to applicable Mauritian securities laws and the oversight of the Financial Services Commission. Carlyle Mauritius Investment Advisor Limited holds a "Foreign Institutional Investor" license from the Securities and Exchange Board of India, which entitles this entity to engage in limited activities in India. Carlyle Mauritius CIS Investment Management Limited holds a "Qualified Foreign Institutional

Investor" license from the China Securities Regulatory Commission, which entitles this entity to invest in certain permitted financial instruments (including equity) and derivatives traded or listed on exchanges in the Peoples Republic of China.

Carlyle Australia Equity Management Pty Limited is licensed by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission as an Australian financial services licensee and is authorized to carry on a financial services business to provide advice on and deal in financial products (managed investment schemes and securities) for wholesale clients.

Carlyle Japan Equity Management L.L.C. ("CJEM") is registered with the Financial Services Agency of Japan to carry out Type II Financial Instruments Business as a Japanese Type II Financial Instruments Business Operator and it is also a member of the T2FIFA, a self-regulatory organization in Japan. Pursuant to this registration, CJEM is permitted to perform marketing activities to and private placements for specified investors with respect to interests in a limited partnership.

Carlyle MENA Investment Advisors Limited, a company limited by shares in the Dubai Financial Centre, holds a Category 3C license issued by the Dubai Financial Services Authority and is authorized to arrange credit or deal in investments, advise on financial products or credit and manage collective investment funds.

Carlyle Singapore Investment Advisors Pte Limited holds a capital markets license and an exempt financial adviser status with the Monetary Authority of Singapore to carry on fund management and dealing in regulated capital market products activities in respect of institutional and accredited investors.

Carlyle Real Estate SGR S.p.A. holds an authorization from the Bank of Italy to carry on AIFMD-compliant fund management and real estate activities. It is registered at the Bank of Italy's AIFM register under no.127.

Diversified Global Asset Management Corporation holds an exempt market dealer license with Ontario Securities Commission to facilitate certain Carlyle fund marketing activities in Canada.

TCG Gestor is licensed by the Securities & Exchange Commission of Brazil as an investment adviser.

AlpInvest is registered as a cross-border discretionary investment management company with the Financial Supervisory Service of South Korea.

An investment fund advised by us holds a majority interest in Fortitude Re, a Bermuda company registered as a Class 4 and Class E insurer. Fortitude Re is subject to regulation and supervision by the Bermuda Monetary Authority (the "BMA") and compliance with all applicable Bermuda law and Bermuda insurance statutes and regulations, including but not limited to the Insurance Act of 1978 (Bermuda) and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder (the "Bermuda Insurance Act"). In addition, as a result of ownership of Fortitude Holdings by our investment fund, certain Carlyle affiliates that serve as general partner and investment advisor to the fund are subject to certain insurance laws and regulations in Bermuda as a "controller" of Fortitude Re under the Bermuda Insurance Act. These laws and regulations include certain notice requirements for any person that has become, or as a result of a disposition ceased to be, a shareholder controller of a registered insurer, and failure to comply with such requirements is an offense punishable by law.

In addition, we and/or our affiliates and subsidiaries may become subject to additional regulatory demands in the future to the extent we expand our investment advisory business in existing and new jurisdictions. There are also a number of pending or recently enacted legislative and regulatory initiatives in the United States and around the world that could significantly impact our business. See "Item 1A. Risk Factors—Risks Related to our Company— Extensive regulation in the United States and abroad affects our activities, increases the cost of doing business and creates the potential for significant liabilities and penalties," "—Financial regulatory changes in the United States could adversely affect our business and the possibility of increased regulatory focus could result in additional burdens and expenses on our business" and "—Regulatory initiatives in jurisdictions outside the United States could adversely affect our business."

Our businesses have operated for many years within a framework that requires our being able to monitor and comply with a broad range of legal and regulatory developments that affect our activities and we take our obligation to comply with all such laws, regulations and internal policies seriously. Our reputation depends on the integrity and business judgment of our employees and we strive to maintain a culture of compliance throughout the firm. We have developed, and adhere to, compliance policies and procedures such as codes of conduct, compliance systems, education and communication of compliance matters. These policies focus on matters such as insider trading, anti-corruption, document retention, conflicts of interest, anti-money laundering and other matters. Our legal and compliance team monitors our compliance with all of the legal and regulatory requirements to which we are subject and manages our compliance policies and procedures. Our legal and compliance team also monitors the information barriers that we maintain to restrict the flow of confidential information,

including material, nonpublic information, across our business. Our enterprise risk management function analyzes our operations and investment strategies to identify key risks facing the firm and works closely with the legal and compliance team to address them. The firm also has an independent and objective internal audit department that employs a risk-based audit approach that focuses on Sarbanes-Oxley compliance, enterprise risk management functions and other areas of perceived risk and aims to give management and our Board of Directors reasonable assurance that our risks are well managed and controls are appropriate and effective.

### Website and Availability of SEC Filings

Our website address is www.carlyle.com. We make available free of charge on our website or provide a link on our website to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, as soon as reasonably practicable after those reports are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. To access these filings, go to the "SEC Documents" portion of our "Public Investors" page on our website. You may also access the reports and other documents we file with the SEC at a website maintained by the SEC at www.sec.gov.

We use our website (www.carlyle.com), our corporate Facebook page (https://www.facebook.com/onecarlyle), our corporate Twitter account (@OneCarlyle or www.twitter.com/onecarlyle), our corporate Instagram account (@onecarlyle or www.instagram.com/onecarlyle), our corporate LinkedIn account (www.linkedin.com/company/the-carlyle-group) and our corporate YouTube channel (www.youtube.com/user/onecarlyle) as channels of distribution of material company information. For example, financial and other material information regarding our company is routinely posted on and accessible at www.carlyle.com. Accordingly, investors should monitor these channels, in addition to following our press releases, SEC filings and public conference calls and webcasts. In addition, you may automatically receive email alerts and other information about Carlyle when you enroll your email address by visiting the "Email Alert Subscription" section at http://ir.carlyle.com/email-alerts. The contents of our website and social media channels are not, however, a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and are not incorporated by reference herein.

The Carlyle Group Inc. was formed in Delaware as a partnership on July 18, 2011 and converted to a corporation on January 1, 2020. Our principal executive offices are located at 1001 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Washington, D.C. 20004-2505.

### ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

### **Risks Related to Our Company**

Adverse economic and market conditions could negatively impact our business in many ways, including by reducing the value or performance of the investments made by our investment funds and reducing the ability of our investment funds to raise capital, any of which could materially reduce our revenue, earnings and cash flow and adversely affect our financial prospects and condition.

Our business is materially affected by conditions in the global financial markets and economic conditions or events throughout the world that are outside of our control, including, but not limited to, changes in interest rates, availability of credit, inflation rates, economic uncertainty, slowdown in global growth, changes in laws (including laws relating to taxation and regulations on the financial industry), disease, pandemics or other severe public health events, trade barriers, commodity prices, currency exchange rates and controls and national and international political circumstances (including government shutdowns, wars, terrorist acts or security operations). For example, the COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in a widespread health crisis that continues to adversely affect general commercial activity and the economies and financial markets of many countries. Such unforeseen and catastrophic events could adversely affect the businesses, financial conditions and results of operations of us and our funds' portfolio companies and assets. These factors may affect the level and volatility of securities prices and the liquidity and the value of investments, and we may not be able to or may choose not to manage our exposure to these market conditions and/or other events. In the event of a market downturn, each of our businesses could be affected in different ways.

Over the twelve months ending December 31, 2020, the S&P 500 increased by 16%, while the MSCI All Country World Index (MSCI) rose by 14%. While global markets performed well in the aggregate, the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic earlier in the year resulted in periods of notable volatility such as a 34% peak-to-trough decline in the S&P 500 from mid-February through late March. Market performance was also highly uneven across asset classes as investors assessed the pandemic's differing impacts by geography and industry. Due to the severity of the pandemic and uncertainty surrounding Brexit, the UK-focused FTSE 100 ended the year down 14% while the tech-heavy NASDAQ Composite returned 44%. Throughout the year, market performance was continuously affected by developments in case counts, fiscal stimulus measures,

global central bank policies, real economic data, and vaccine progress. As such, it is possible investor sentiment could change quickly once more and market volatility could reemerge in the face of negative macro or geopolitical developments, such as disappointing economic data, vaccine roadblocks or delays, the emergence of vaccine resistant strains of the coronavirus, political uncertainty or unexpected changes in fiscal and monetary policy. If global markets become unstable, it is possible sellers may readjust their valuations and attractive investment opportunities may become available. On the other hand, the valuations of certain assets we planned to sell in the near future could be negatively impacted, as well as the valuations of our portfolio companies and as a result, our accrued performance revenues.

Market volatility could adversely affect our fundraising efforts in several ways. Investors often allocate to alternative asset classes (including private equity) based on a target percentage of their overall portfolio. If the value of an investor's portfolio decreases as a whole, the amount available to allocate to alternative assets (including private equity) could decline. Further, investors often evaluate the amount of distributions they have received from existing funds when considering commitments to new funds. General market volatility and/or a reduction in distributions to investors could cause investors to delay making new commitments to investment funds. With several funds in the market, a decrease in the amount an investor commits to our funds could have an impact on the ultimate size of the fund and amount of management fees we generate.

The availability and cost of financing for significant acquisition and disposition transactions could be impacted if equity and credit markets experience heightened volatility. For example, in the United States, high yield credit spreads rose by nearly 750 basis points (bps) during the first quarter of 2020 on fears around the economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. If credit markets weaken again in the future, it is possible that we and our investment funds may not be able to consummate significant acquisition and disposition transactions on acceptable terms or at all if we or our funds are unable to finance these types of transactions on attractive terms or if the counterparty to the transaction is unable to secure suitable financing. If there is a general slowdown in global merger and acquisition activity due to the lack of availability of suitable financing or an increase in risk aversion and uncertainty, this could cause a slowdown in our investment pace, which in turn could have an adverse impact on our ability to generate future performance revenues and to fully invest the available capital in our funds and reduce opportunities to exit and realize value from our fund investments. A slowdown in the deployment of our available capital could impact the management fees we earn on those carry funds and managed accounts that generate fees based on invested (and not committed) capital. A slowdown in the deployment of our available capital could also adversely affect our ability to raise and the timing of raising successor investment funds. In 2020, we invested more than \$18 billion through our carry funds.

The current U.S. political environment and the resulting uncertainties regarding actual and potential shifts in U.S. foreign, trade, economic, environmental and other policies under the new Administration could lead to disruption, instability and volatility in the global markets, which may also have an impact on our exit opportunities across negatively impacted sectors or geographies. The consequences of previously enacted legislation could also impact our business operations in the future. For example, bipartisan legislation enacted in August 2018 may significantly increase the number of transactions that are subject to the jurisdiction of the Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States ("CFIUS"). Under the final regulations of the reform legislation, which became effective on February 13, 2020, CFIUS has the authority to review, and potentially recommend that the President block or impose conditions on non-controlling investments in critical infrastructure and critical technology companies and in companies collecting or storing sensitive data of U.S. citizens, which may reduce the number of potential buyers and limit the ability of our funds to realize value from certain existing and future investments. We are unable to predict whether and to what extent uncertainty surrounding economic and market conditions will be reduced, and even in the absence of uncertainty, adverse conditions and/or other events in particular sectors may cause our performance to suffer further.

During periods of difficult market conditions or slowdowns (which may occur across one or more industries or geographies), our funds' portfolio companies may experience adverse operating performance, decreased revenues, financial losses, credit rating downgrades, difficulty in obtaining access to financing and increased funding costs. Negative financial results in our funds' portfolio companies may result in less appreciation across the portfolio and lower returns in our funds. Because our investment funds will generally make a limited number of investments, and such investments generally involve a high degree of risk, negative financial results in a few of a investment fund's portfolio companies could severely impact the fund's total returns. This could materially and adversely affect our ability to raise new funds as well as our operating results and cash flow. During such periods of weakness, our funds' portfolio companies may also have difficulty expanding their businesses and operations or meeting their debt service obligations or other expenses as they become due, including expenses payable to us. Furthermore, such negative market conditions could potentially result in a portfolio company entering bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of certain real estate funds, the abandonment or foreclosure of investments, thereby potentially resulting in a complete loss of the fund's investment in such portfolio company or real assets and a significant negative impact to the fund's performance and consequently our operating results and cash flow, as well as to our reputation. In addition,

negative market conditions would also increase the risk of default with respect to investments held by our funds that have significant debt investments, such as our Global Credit funds.

Finally, during periods of difficult market conditions or slowdowns, our fund investment performance could suffer, resulting in, for example, the payment of less or no performance revenues to us or the creation of the obligation to repay performance revenues previously received by us. The payment of less or no performance revenues could cause our cash flow from operations to significantly decrease, which could materially and adversely affect our liquidity position and the amount of cash we have on hand to conduct our operations and to dividend to our stockholders. The generation of less performance revenues could also impact our leverage ratios and compliance with our term loan covenants. Having less cash on hand could in turn require us to rely on other sources of cash (such as the capital markets, which may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all) to conduct our operations, which include, for example, funding significant general partner and co-investment commitments to our carry funds. Furthermore, during adverse economic and market conditions, we might not be able to renew or refinance all or part of our credit facility or find alternate financing on commercially reasonable terms. As a result, our uses of cash may exceed our sources of cash, thereby potentially affecting our liquidity position.

The global outbreak of the novel coronavirus, or COVID-19, caused severe disruptions in the U.S. and global economies and has impacted, and may continue to adversely impact our performance and results of operations.

In 2020, the global outbreak of COVID-19 spread to every country and every state in the United States. The World Health Organization designated COVID-19 as a pandemic, and numerous countries, including the United States, declared national emergencies with respect to COVID-19. While vaccines have been approved and are slowly being deployed, the global impact of the outbreak continues to adversely impact many industries and different geographies continue to be impacted by the effects of public health restrictions in various ways. The International Monetary Fund estimates that the global economy may not return to pre-pandemic levels until the end of 2021 or early 2022 depending on the roll-out and effectiveness of the vaccine.

While our fears of a great depression at the onset of the pandemic have not today been realized, the economic recovery is only partially underway, and has been gradual, uneven and characterized by meaningful dispersion across sectors and regions with uncertainty regarding the ultimate length and trajectory. Increasing infection rates and hospitalizations in certain geographies and a potential resulting market downturn has resulted in COVID-19 continuing to impact our business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and prospects.

- Portfolio Company Performance. Some of our investments are in industries that have been materially impacted by the effects of COVID-19 and has resulted, and may continue to result in, material reductions in value in certain instances. In particular, many portfolio companies in the energy, infrastructure, healthcare, travel, entertainment, hospitality, and retail industries continue to face operational and financial hardships resulting from the spread of COVID-19 and related governmental measures imposed to contain the virus, such as the closure of stores, restrictions on travel, quarantines or stay-at-home orders. If the disruptions caused by the pandemic continue, the businesses of these portfolio companies could suffer materially or become insolvent, which would decrease the value of our funds' investments and potentially harm our reputation.
- Portfolio Company Liquidity. Certain portfolio companies are facing or may face in the future increased credit and liquidity risk due to volatility in financial markets, reduced revenue streams, and limited or higher cost of access to preferred sources of funding, which may result in potential impairment of our or our funds' equity investments. Changes in the debt financing markets have impacted or may in the future impact, the ability of our portfolio companies to meet their respective financial obligations. In addition, borrowers of loans, notes and other credit instruments in our credit funds' portfolios may be unable to meet their principal or interest payment obligations or satisfy financial covenants, and tenants leasing real estate properties owned by our funds may not be able to pay rents in a timely manner or at all, resulting in a decrease in value of our funds' credit and real estate investments and lower than expected returns. In addition, for variable interest instruments, lower reference rates resulting from government stimulus programs in response to COVID-19 has already caused and could lead to lower interest income for our credit funds.
- Operational Risks. Travel restrictions, the closure of non-essential businesses or shelter-in-place/stay-at-home orders may make it more difficult
  and costly for our investment teams to conduct due diligence and consummate the acquisition and disposition of investments for our funds. Our
  global employee base has generally been working remotely since the start of the pandemic. This extended period of remote working by our
  employees may introduce operational risks, including technology availability and heightened cybersecurity risk. Remote working environments
  may be less secure and more susceptible to hacking attacks, including phishing and social engineering attempts that

seek to exploit the COVID-19 pandemic. In addition, our data security, data privacy, investor reporting and business continuity processes could be impacted by a third party's inability to perform due to COVID-19 or by failures of, or attacks on, their information systems and technology. Our accounting and financial reporting systems, processes, and controls could be impacted as a result of these risks.

- *Employee-Related Risks*. COVID-19 continues to present a significant threat to our employees' well-being and morale. Our key employees or executive officers may become sick or otherwise unable to perform their duties for an extended period of time and we may experience a potential loss of productivity. The same could be said of the employees in our portfolio companies, who may not be able to transition to remote work arrangements, as well as our third-party service providers. In addition, continued office closures could adversely affect our One Carlyle culture. Although our employees continue to collaborate across offices and geographies, the informal office interactions that contribute to our culture have generally ceased. It is also harder to integrate new employees into the firm in a remote working environment.
- Regulatory and Litigation Risks. Costly litigation could increase in connection with merger and acquisition transactions, as parties to such transactions explore ways to avoid transactions by the assertion of claims of force majeure, material adverse change in the condition of target investments, and/or fraudulent misrepresentation.
- Taxation Risk as a Result of Mobility Challenges. As a result of travel restrictions, stay-at-home orders, etc., many of our staff are unable to travel for physical meetings and/or have been displaced working remotely outside of their normal work location. This may create taxable presence or residency risks for our corporate entities and professionals as well as our funds and portfolio companies. Ultimately, these risks could lead to increased levels of taxation and additional compliance complexities.
- *Impact of Vaccine*. Although a vaccine has been approved for use, the rollout and success are unknown. Although our workforce has demonstrated its ability to achieve pre-pandemic levels of productivity on a remote basis, if we were unable to vaccinate our employee base, our work force may be unwilling to return to the office.

In addition to the foregoing, COVID-19 has exacerbated and may continue to exacerbate, many of the other risks described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in the debt financing markets could negatively impact the ability of certain of our funds and their portfolio companies to obtain attractive financing or re-financing and could increase the cost of such financing if it is obtained, which could lead to lower-yielding investments and could potentially decrease our net income.

A significant contraction in the market for debt financing or other adverse change relating to the terms of debt financing, including higher interest rates and equity requirements and more restrictive covenants, could have a material adverse impact on our business and that of our investment funds and their portfolio companies. Additionally, the financing of new investments or the operations of our funds' portfolio companies may become less attractive due to limitations on the deductibility of net interest expense, which under current law is due to become more restrictive beginning with tax year 2022. Regulatory changes that constrain banks' ability to provide debt financing also could have a material adverse impact on our business and that of our investment funds and their portfolio companies. If our funds are unable to obtain committed debt financing for potential acquisitions or are only able to obtain debt financing at unfavorable interest rates or on unfavorable terms, our funds may have difficulty completing acquisitions that may have otherwise been profitable or if completed, such acquisitions could generate lower than expected profits, both of which could lead to a decrease in our net income.

Our funds' portfolio companies also regularly utilize the corporate loan and bond markets to obtain financing for their operations. While credit was available for much of 2020 and new debt issuance hit record levels in some markets, the onset of the COVID-19 crisis exhibited how abruptly credit markets can weaken from exogenous shocks and become unavailable or unattractive for issuers. In the first and early second quarters of 2020, corporate debt issuance and merger and acquisition activity decreased significantly as market volatility rose and credit spreads widened. It is possible that during future periods of stress, tightening in the credit markets could render debt financing difficult to obtain, less attractive or more expensive, which may negatively impact the operating performance of our portfolio companies who use debt to fund certain of their operations. This may result in a negative impact on the investment returns of our funds. In addition, if market conditions make it difficult or impossible to refinance debt that is maturing in the near term, some of our portfolio companies' operations may be negatively impacted or our portfolio companies may be unable to repay their debt at maturity and may be forced to sell assets, undergo a recapitalization or seek bankruptcy protection.

#### Our use of leverage may expose us to substantial risks.

We use indebtedness as a means to finance our business operations, which exposes us to the risks associated with using leverage. We are dependent on financial institutions extending credit to us on reasonable terms to finance our business. There is no guarantee that such institutions will continue to extend credit to us or will renew the existing credit agreements we have with them, or that we will be able to refinance our outstanding notes or other obligations when they mature. In addition, the incurrence of additional debt in the future could result in downgrades of our existing corporate credit ratings, which could limit the availability of future financing and/or increase our cost of borrowing. As borrowings under our credit facility or any other indebtedness mature, we may be required to either refinance them by entering into a new facility or issuing additional debt, which could result in higher borrowing costs, or issuing additional equity, which would dilute existing stockholders. We could also repay them by using cash on hand, cash provided by our continuing operations or cash from the sale of our assets, which could reduce dividends to our stockholders. We could have difficulty entering into new facilities or issuing debt or equity securities in the future on attractive terms, or at all.

From time to time we may access the capital markets by issuing debt securities. For example, in September 2019, we issued \$425 million of 3.500% senior notes due 2029 and used the proceeds to redeem our 5.875% Series A Preferred Units. In September 2018, we issued \$350 million aggregate principal amount of 5.650% senior notes due September 2048 and used a portion of the proceeds of the offering to repurchase \$250 million in aggregate principal amount of our 3.875% senior notes due February 2023. Approximately \$250 million aggregate principal amount of our 3.875% senior notes due February 2023 remains outstanding. In March 2013, we issued \$400 million aggregate principal amount of 5.625% senior notes due March 2043 and in March 2014, we issued an additional \$200 million aggregate principal amount of 5.625% senior notes due March 2048. We also have a credit agreement that provides a \$775 million revolving facility with a final maturity date of February 11, 2024. The credit agreement contains financial and non-financial covenants with which we need to comply to maintain access to this source of liquidity. Non-compliance with any of the financial or non-financial covenants without cure or waiver would constitute an event of default, and an event of default resulting from a breach of certain financial or non-financial covenants could result, at the option of the lenders, in an acceleration of the principal and interest outstanding, and a termination of the credit agreement. In addition, to the extent we incur additional debt relative to our current level of earnings or experience a decrease in our level of earnings, our credit rating could be adversely impacted, which would increase our interest expense under our credit facility. In November 2020, Standard & Poor's and Fitch reaffirmed their "BBB+" stable rating.

# Our revenue, earnings and cash flow are variable, which makes it difficult for us to achieve steady earnings growth on a quarterly basis.

Our revenue, earnings and cash flow are variable. For example, our cash flow fluctuates because we receive carried interest from our carry funds only when investments are realized and achieve a certain preferred return. We may also experience fluctuations in our quarterly and annual results, including our revenue and net income, due to a number of other factors, including changes in the carrying values and performance of our funds' investments that can result in significant volatility in the carried interest that we have accrued (or as to which we have reversed prior accruals) from period to period, as well as changes in the amount of distributions, gains, dividends or interest paid in respect of investments in our funds and strategic investments (e.g., our investment in Fortitude Re), changes in our operating expenses, the degree to which we encounter competition and general economic and market conditions. The valuations of investments made by our funds could also be impacted by geopolitical conflict as well as changes, or anticipated changes, in government policy, including policies related to tax reform, financial services regulation, international trade, immigration, environmental, healthcare, labor, infrastructure and energy. For instance, during the first quarter of 2020 with the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, we recorded significant reductions in the carrying values of many of the investments of the investment funds we advise. The carrying value of fund investments, particularly the public portion of our carry fund portfolios, may be more variable during times of market volatility. As of December 31, 2020, 15% of our Global Private Equity and Global Credit carry fund portfolio was in public securities, which is up materially from December 31, 2019.

Transaction fees earned in respect of our carry funds can vary from quarter-to-quarter and year-to-year depending on the nature of the investments in any given period. The recognition of transaction fees can be volatile as they are primarily generated by investment activity within our funds, and therefore are impacted by both the pace and size of our carry fund investments. We anticipate a general decline in net transaction fees earned from our carry funds as our recently raised products have generally increased the percentage of transaction fees that are shared with fund investors from 80% to 100%, such that a larger share of the transaction fee revenue we retain is driven by co-investment activity. In addition, Carlyle Global Capital Markets (GCM) generates capital markets fees in connection with activities related to the underwriting, issuance and placement of debt and equity securities and loan syndication for our portfolio companies and third-party clients. Capital markets fees generated are typically dependent on transaction frequency and volume, and a slowdown in the pace or size of investments by our carry funds could adversely affect the amount of fees generated by capital markets business. We are seeking to bolster and

grow our capital markets business, and associated fee stream, related to the underwriting, issuance, and placement of debt and equity securities and loan syndication for our portfolio companies and third-party clients, which if successful will positively impact capital markets fees over time.

During periods in which a significant portion of our AUM is attributable to carry funds that are in the fundraising period or are in the investment period that precedes harvesting, as has been the case from time to time, we may receive substantially lower distributions. Higher fundraising activity also generates incremental expenses and, as new capital commitments may not immediately generate fees until they activate management fees, we could incur fundraising related costs ahead of generating revenues. Moreover, even if an investment proves to be profitable, it may be several years before any profits can be realized in cash. A downturn in the equity markets also makes it more difficult to exit investments by selling equity securities at a reasonable value. If we were to have a realization event in a particular quarter, that event may have a significant impact on our quarterly results and cash flow for that particular quarter and may not be replicated in subsequent quarters. We cannot predict precisely when, or if, realizations of investments will occur, where a fund will be in its lifecycle when the realizations occur or whether a fund will realize carried interest.

We recognize revenue on investments in our investment funds based on our allocable share of realized and unrealized gains (or losses) reported by such investment funds, and a decline in realized or unrealized gains, or an increase in realized or unrealized losses, would adversely affect our revenue, which could further increase the volatility of our quarterly results and cash flow. Because our carry funds have preferred investor return thresholds that need to be met prior to us receiving any carried interest, declines in, or failures to increase sufficiently the carrying value of, the investment portfolios of a carry fund may delay or eliminate any carried interest distributions paid to us with respect to that fund. This is because the value of the assets in the fund would need to recover to their aggregate cost basis plus the preferred return over time before we would be entitled to receive any carried interest from that fund or vehicle.

The timing and receipt of realized carried interest also varies with the life cycle of our carry funds and there is often a difference between the time we start accruing carried interest for financial reporting purposes and the realization and distribution of such carried interest. However, performance revenues are ultimately realized when (i) an investment is profitably disposed of, (ii) certain costs borne by the limited partner investors have been reimbursed, (iii) the investment fund's cumulative net returns are in excess of the preferred return and (iv) we have decided to collect carried interest rather than return additional capital to limited partner investors. In deciding to realize carried interest we consider such factors as the level of embedded valuation gains, the portion of the fund invested, the portion of the fund returned to limited partner investors, the length of time the fund has been in carry, and other qualitative measures. In most funds, we will initially defer realizing carried interest even when contractually entitled to take it, allowing carried interest to accrue until it is determined that giveback risk is substantially reduced. As a result of this deferral, we are generally entitled to a disproportionate "catchup" level of profit allocation at some point during the harvesting period. For example, during the period from late 2013 to early 2015, we benefited from "catch-up" realized carried interest on some of our largest funds, but in 2016 and 2017 we did not benefit from "catch-up" realized carried interest to the extent we had in prior years. In certain circumstances, we may also need to reduce the rate at which we realize carried interest, or temporarily stop realizing carried interest, in order to maintain a sufficient level of reserves and reduce the risk of potential future giveback obligations. In addition to the timing uncertainty of realized carried interest in a single fund, there may also be a generational trough or gap in the realized carried interest of a fund family, as a predecessor fund transitions to its successor fund. In such cases, even when both the predecessor and successor fund have strong performance and earn carried interest, the predecessor fund may substantially exit its investment portfolio before the successor fund is in a sufficient position to begin realizing carried interest. See "— Our investors may negotiate to pay us lower management fees and the economic terms of our future funds may be less favorable to us than those of our existing funds, which could adversely affect our revenues."

Our fee revenue may also depend on the pace of investment activity in our funds. In many of our carry funds, the base management fee may be reduced when the fund has invested substantially all of its capital commitments or the aggregate fair market value of a fund's investments is below its cost. We may receive a lower management fee from such funds if there has been a decline in value or after the investing period and during the period the fund is harvesting its investments. As a result, the variable pace at which many of our carry funds invest capital and dispose of investments may cause our management fee revenue to vary from one quarter to the next. Additionally, certain funds derive management fees only on the basis of invested capital whereby the pace at which we make investments, the length of time we hold such investment and the timing of dispositions will directly impact our revenues.

The investment period of a fund may expire prior to the raising of a successor fund. Where appropriate, we may work with our fund investors to extend the investment period, which gives us the opportunity to invest any capital that remains in the fund. In general, the end of the original investment period (regardless of whether it is extended) will trigger a change in the

capital base on which management fees are calculated from committed capital to invested capital. In some cases, a step-down in the applicable rate used to calculate management fees may also occur. For example, prior to raising a successor fund, the South America buyout fund's original investment period ended in the second half of 2015, resulting in a change from committed capital to invested capital for the management fee base, despite a one-year extension to the investment period. In addition, we may raise an investment fund and delay the initiation of fees once a fund is raised to better align our management fee inception date to when we are ready to begin investing the fund. For example, we completed fund raising for the latest Japan fund in summer 2020, but did not charge management fees until October 1, 2020. While the total amount of management fees collected over the life of a fund would not be impacted, this could result in a delay in receipt of management fees.

We depend on our Chief Executive Officer and other key personnel, and the loss of their services or investor confidence in such personnel could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We depend on the efforts, skill, reputations and business contacts of our senior Carlyle professionals, including our Chief Executive Officer, Kewsong Lee, and other key personnel, including members of the investment committees of our investment funds and senior members of our investment teams, the information and deal flow they and others generate during the normal course of their activities and the synergies among the diverse fields of expertise and knowledge held by our professionals. On September 30, 2020, Glenn Youngkin retired from the firm and Mr. Lee became our sole Chief Executive Officer. Messrs. Conway and Rubenstein continue to serve as Co-Chairmen and Mr. D'Aniello serves as Chairman Emeritus. Although our founders remain committed to our business and serve on various investment committees, in these roles, they are not executive officers and no longer have responsibility for the day-to-day operations of the firm and may choose to pursue philanthropic or other personal endeavors, including personal investment activities, in addition to their roles at Carlyle. Our founders and other key personnel are not obligated to remain employed with us in their current capacities or at all. To continue to enhance our talent base, we have and will continue to hire and internally develop senior professionals to assume key leadership positions throughout the firm into the future. The efficacy of such future leadership may constitute an adverse risk to our business.

In October 2017, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Lee, which was amended in connection with our Conversion in January 2020. Several key personnel have left the firm in the past and others may do so in the future, and we cannot predict the impact that the departure of any key personnel will have on our ability to achieve our objectives. The loss of the services of any of our key personnel could have a material adverse effect on our revenues, net income and cash flow and could harm our ability to maintain or grow AUM in existing funds or raise additional funds in the future. The governing agreements of many of our investment funds generally require investors in those funds to vote to continue the investment period in the event that certain "key persons" in our investment funds do not provide the specified time commitment to the fund or our firm ceases to control the general partner. We have historically relied in part on the interests of these professionals in the investment funds' carried interest and incentive fees to discourage them from leaving the firm. However, to the extent our investment funds perform poorly, thereby reducing the potential for carried interest and incentive fees, their interests in carried interest and incentive fees become less valuable to them and may become a less effective retention tool.

Our senior Carlyle professionals and other key personnel possess substantial experience and expertise and have strong business relationships with investors in our funds and other members of the business community. As a result, the loss of these personnel could jeopardize our relationships with investors in our funds and members of the business community and result in the reduction of AUM or fewer investment opportunities. For example, if any of our senior Carlyle professionals were to join or form a competing firm, that action could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Recruiting and retaining professionals may be more difficult in the future, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our most important asset is our people, and our continued success is highly dependent upon the efforts of our senior Carlyle professionals and other professionals we employ. Our future success and growth depends to a substantial degree on our ability to retain and motivate our senior Carlyle professionals and other key personnel and to strategically recruit, retain and motivate new talented personnel, including new senior Carlyle professionals. The market for qualified investment professionals is extremely competitive and we may not be successful in our efforts to recruit, retain and motivate these professionals. In addition, if there is a shift to remote work options that do not require relocation or maintaining close proximity to a company's offices as a result of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, we may experience an increase in competition for talent and it may be difficult to recruit and retain our professionals.

There are also certain factors that are not within our control that may affect our efforts to recruit, retain and motivate investment professionals, in particular as it relates to tax considerations regarding carried interest. For example, if the U.S. Congress or state, local or certain foreign governments enacted legislation to treat carried interest as ordinary income rather than as capital gain for tax purposes or impose a surcharge on carried interest, this could result in a material increase in the amount of taxes that our carry recipients would be required to pay, which would in turn affect our ability to recruit, retain and motivate our current and future professionals. U.S. tax reform legislation, informally known as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, which was signed into law on December 22, 2017 (the "TCJA"), includes a provision that changes the treatment of carried interest with respect to an applicable partnership interest from long-term capital gains to short-term capital gains (taxable at ordinary income rates) to the extent such gains relate to property with a holding period not greater than three years. The Internal Revenue Service released final regulations on January 7, 2021, which clarified the scope and applicability of such longer holding period requirement. The final regulations apply to taxable years beginning on or after January 19, 2021, which means that for most partnerships they will only apply to taxable years beginning in 2022, unless the partnership elects to apply them sooner. While most proposals regarding the taxation of carried interest still require realization of gains before applying ordinary income rates, legislation has previously been introduced that would assume a deemed annual return on carried interest and tax that amount annually, with a true-up once the assets are sold. The new Congress may consider a proposal that would require certain taxpayers to pay capital gains taxes on the appreciated value of their public investments annually. This could result in the payment of tax prior to the realization of any cash receipts. Any tax on private assets would be deferred until a sale, but at undetermined higher rates than current law. The new Congress may also consider proposals to increase the capital gains tax rate. In addition, the tax treatment of carried interest may continue to be an area of focus for policymakers and government officials, which could result in further regulatory action by federal or state governments. For example, certain states have proposed legislation to levy additional state tax on carried interest, which may also negatively affect our ability to attract and retain professionals. The TCJA also includes a provision that limits U.S. tax deductions for certain amounts of publicly traded corporations' executive compensation expense. We are seeing similar policy discussions in respect of the appropriate treatment of carried interest in many of the international jurisdictions in which we have investment professionals. For example, the UK Office of Tax Simplification is currently undertaking a review of the UK Capital Gains Tax Regime and there is a risk that this review could prompt a change to the ultimate taxation of carried interest by our UK investment professionals. The additional pressures of fiscal deficits created as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic has heightened these risks as international authorities consider ways to increase tax revenues. These types of developments might make it more difficult for us to incentivize, recruit and retain investment professionals, which may have an adverse effect on our ability to achieve our investment objectives. In addition, the after-tax income and gain related to our business, our distributions to stockholders and the market price of our shares, all could be reduced.

We have granted and expect to grant equity awards from our Equity Incentive Plan, which has caused dilution. While we evaluate the grant of equity awards from our Equity Incentive Plan to employees on an annual basis, the size of the grants, if any, is made at our discretion. If we increase the use of equity awards from our Equity Incentive Plan in the future, expenses associated with equity-based compensation may increase materially. In 2020, we incurred equity compensation expenses of \$105.0 million in connection with grants of restricted stock units. The value of our common stock may drop in value or be volatile, which may make our equity less attractive to our employees since we may not be able to adequately incentivize them.

As of December 31, 2020, our employees held an aggregate of 8.5 million unvested restricted stock units, which vest over various time periods, generally from six months to four years from the date of grant. All of the shares of common stock held by our founders are fully vested. In order to recruit and retain existing and future senior Carlyle professionals and other key personnel, we may need to increase the level of compensation that we pay to them. Accordingly, as we promote or hire new senior Carlyle professionals and other key personnel over time or attempt to retain the services of certain of our key personnel, we may increase the level of compensation we pay to these individuals, which could cause our total employee compensation and benefits expense as a percentage of our total revenue to increase and adversely affect our profitability. For example, in February 2021, we granted 6.6 million strategic restricted stock units to certain senior Carlyle professionals, the majority of which are subject to vesting based on the achievement of annual performance targets over four years, which will increase our equity based compensation expense in the coming years. Additionally, in February 2021, in order to further foster the alignment of our carry participants, in particular our senior investment professionals, with our stockholders, the Compensation Committee adopted a new program pursuant to our Equity Incentive Plan. Under the new program, at Carlyle's discretion, up to 20% of a carry participant's realized proceeds over a threshold amount may be paid by issuing fully vested new shares of our common stock. Over the first two years of the program, which we anticipate will commence during the second or third quarter of 2021, up to \$100 million in common shares may be issued in lieu of paying carried interest distributions all in cash. This program will not impact our equity based compensation expense. The issuance of equity interests in our business in the future to our senior Carlyle professionals and other per

We strive to maintain our culture of collaboration and seek to continue to align our interests (and the interests of our employees) with those of our investors. If we do not continue to develop and implement the right processes and tools to

maintain our culture, our ability to compete successfully and achieve our business objectives could be impaired, which could negatively impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Given our focus on achieving superior investment performance and maintaining and strengthening investor relations, we may reduce our AUM, restrain its growth, reduce our fees or otherwise alter the terms under which we do business when we deem it in the best interest of our investors—even in circumstances where such actions might be contrary to the near-term interests of stockholders.

From time to time if we decide it is in the best interests of all stakeholders, we may take actions that could reduce the profits we could otherwise realize in the short term. While we believe that our commitment to treating our investors fairly is in the long-term interest of us and our stockholders, our stockholders should understand we may take actions that could adversely impact our short-term profitability, and there is no guarantee that such actions will benefit us in the long term. The means by which we seek to achieve superior investment performance in each of our strategies could include limiting the AUM in our strategies to an amount that we believe can be invested appropriately in accordance with our investment philosophy and current or anticipated economic and market conditions. Additionally, we may voluntarily reduce management fee rates and terms for certain of our funds or strategies when we deem it appropriate, even when doing so may reduce our short-term revenue. For instance, in order to enhance our relationship with certain fund investors, we have reduced management fees or ceased charging management fees on certain funds in specific instances. In certain investment funds, we have agreed to charge management fees based on invested capital or net asset value as opposed to charging management fees based on committed capital. In certain cases, such as our most recent power fund, we have provided "fee holidays" to certain investors during which we do not charge management fees for a fixed period of time (such as the first six months). We may receive requests to reduce management fees on other funds in the future. "—See Risks Related to Our Business—Our investors may negotiate to pay us lower management fees and the economic terms of our future funds may be less favorable to us than those of our existing funds, which could adversely affect our revenues."

Many of our investment funds utilize subscription lines of credit to fund investments prior to the receipt of capital contributions from the fund's investors. As capital calls made to a fund's investors are delayed when using a subscription line of credit, the investment period of such investor capital is shortened, which may increase the net internal rate of return of an investment fund. However, since interest expense and other costs of borrowings under subscription lines of credit are an expense of the investment fund, the investment fund's net multiple of invested capital will be reduced, as will the amount of carried interest generated by the fund. Any material reduction in the amount of carried interest generated by a fund will adversely affect our revenues.

We may also take other actions that could adversely impact our short-term results of operations when we deem such action appropriate. We have also waived management fees on certain leveraged finance vehicles at various times to improve returns. Furthermore, we typically delay the realization of carried interest to which we are otherwise entitled if we determine (based on a variety of factors, including the stage of the fund's life cycle and the extent of fund profits accrued to date) that there would be an unacceptably high risk of potential future giveback obligations. Any such delay could result in a deferral of realized carried interest to a subsequent period. See "— Risks Related to Our Company — Our revenue, earnings and cash flow are variable, which makes it difficult for us to achieve steady earnings growth on a quarterly basis."

We may not be successful in expanding into new investment strategies, markets and businesses, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our growth strategy focuses on providing resources to foster the development of new product offerings and business strategies by our investment professionals. Given our diverse platform, these initiatives could create conflicts of interests with existing products, increase our costs and expose us to new market risks and legal and regulatory requirements. These products may have different economic structures than our traditional investment funds and may require a different marketing approach. These activities also may impose additional compliance burdens on us, subject us to enhanced regulatory scrutiny and expose us to greater reputation and litigation risk.

The success of our growth strategy will depend on, among other things:

- our ability to correctly identify and create products that appeal to our investors;
- the diversion of management's time and attention from our existing businesses;
- management's ability to spend time developing and integrating the new business and the success of the integration effort;

- our ability to properly manage conflicts of interests;
- our ability to identify and manage risks in new lines of businesses;
- our ability to obtain requisite approvals and licenses from the relevant governmental authorities and to comply with applicable laws and regulations without incurring undue costs and delays; and
- our ability to successfully negotiate and enter into beneficial arrangements with our counterparties.

In some instances, we may determine that growth in a specific area is best achieved through the acquisition of an existing business or a smaller scale lift out of an investment team to enhance our platform. Our ability to consummate an acquisition will depend on our ability to identify and value potential acquisition opportunities accurately and successfully compete for these businesses against companies that may have greater financial resources. Even if we are able to identify and successfully negotiate and complete an acquisition, these transactions can be complex and we may encounter unexpected difficulties or incur unexpected costs.

In addition to the concerns noted above, the success of a firm acquisition will be affected by, among other things:

- difficulties and costs associated with the integration of operations and systems;
- difficulties integrating the acquired business's internal controls and procedures into our existing control structure;
- · difficulties and costs associated with the assimilation of employees; and
- the risk that a change in ownership will negatively impact the relationship between an acquiree and the investors in its investment vehicles.

Each acquisition transaction presents unique challenges. For example, in December 2018 we acquired 100% of Apollo Aviation Group, a global commercial aviation investment and servicing firm with total assets under management of \$5.8 billion, and over 80 employees and offices in the United States, Ireland and Singapore. We renamed Apollo Aviation Group to Carlyle Aviation Partners at the time of our acquisition. Our investment in Carlyle Aviation Partners faces the risk that we do not successfully integrate the business into our Global Credit segment.

In addition, if a new product, business or venture developed internally or by acquisition is unsuccessful, we may decide to wind down, liquidate and/or discontinue it. Such actions could negatively impact our relationships with investors in those businesses, could subject us to litigation or regulatory inquiries and can expose us to additional expenses, including impairment charges and potential liability from investor or other complaints.

Our organizational documents do not limit our ability to enter into new lines of business, and we intend to, from time to time, expand into new investment strategies, geographic markets and businesses, each of which may result in additional risks and uncertainties in our businesses.

We intend, to the extent that market conditions warrant, to seek to grow our businesses and expand into new investment strategies, geographic markets and businesses. Our organizational documents do not limit us to the asset management business and to the extent that we make strategic investments or acquisitions in new geographic markets or businesses, undertake other related strategic initiatives or enter into a new line of business, we may face numerous risks and uncertainties, including risks associated with the following:

- the required investment of capital and other resources;
- the possibility that we have insufficient expertise to engage in such activities profitably or without incurring inappropriate amounts of risk
- the diversion of management's attention from our core businesses;
- assumption of liabilities in any acquired business;
- the disruption of our ongoing business;
- · the increasing demands on or issues related to the combination or integration of operational and management systems and controls;
- compliance with or applicability to our business or our portfolio companies of regulations and laws, including, in particular, local
  regulations and laws (for example, consumer protection related laws) and customs in the numerous global jurisdictions in which we
  operate and the impact that noncompliance or even perceived noncompliance could have on us and our portfolio companies;

- a potential increase in investor concentration; and
- the broadening of our geographic footprint, including the risks associated with conducting operations in certain foreign jurisdictions where we currently have no presence.

Entry into certain lines of business may subject us to new laws and regulations with which we are not familiar or from which we are currently exempt, and may lead to increased liability, litigation, regulatory risk and expense. If a new business generates insufficient revenue or if we are unable to efficiently manage our expanded operations, our results of operations may be adversely affected.

Our strategic initiatives may include joint ventures, which may subject us to additional risks and uncertainties in that we may be dependent upon, and subject to liability, losses or reputational damage relating to, systems, controls and personnel that are not under our control. There can be no assurances that any joint venture opportunities will be successful.

In November 2019, we signed an agreement for an investment fund advised by us to acquire an additional interest in Fortitude Re and closed on this acquisition in June 2020. We and our fund investors now own 71.5% of Fortitude Holdings (including our previously acquired 19.9% interest in the company). In addition to the risks noted above, if Fortitude Re is unable to successfully operate independently or our management of any real or perceived conflicts of interest that may arise in implementing Fortitude Re's asset management strategy may adversely impact our investment in the company and our future growth plans for the business and may not allow us to realize the strategic rationale for investing in the company.

## Proposed changes in U.S. and foreign taxation of businesses could adversely affect us.

Congress, the OECD, the European Commission and other government agencies in jurisdictions where we and our affiliates invest or do business have maintained a focus on issues related to the taxation of multinational corporations. The OECD, which represents a coalition of member countries, released the Base Erosion and Profit Shifting ("BEPS") package in October 2015. Individual jurisdictions have begun to introduce domestic legislation implementing certain of the BEPS actions, including measures covering treaty abuse, the deductibility of interest expense, local nexus requirements, transfer pricing and hybrid mismatch arrangements, which are potentially relevant to some of our structures and could have an adverse tax impact on us, our funds, investors and/or our portfolio companies. In particular, there remains significant uncertainty as to the continued availability of the protections afforded by double tax treaties and/or EU Directives to mitigate cross boarder frictional taxes and the loss of such protections would lead to increased taxes on income from our investments. This position is likely to remain uncertain for a number of years. In addition, press speculation and heightened focus on the structures commonly used in the private equity industry in general, whether or not valid, may harm our reputation which may ultimately be damaging to our business.

In addition, in July 2016, the European Council took steps to implement the BEPS Project actions points within EU law through the adoption of the Anti-Tax Avoidance Directive (EU) 2016/1164 (commonly referred to as "ATAD I). On May 29, 2017, the European Council formally amended the ATAD I directive to increase the scope of the hybrid mismatches pillar to also apply to arrangements with third countries outside of the EU (commonly referred to as "ATAD II"). ATAD II came into force in EU Member States on 1 January 2020 (subject to relevant derogations). The rules within ATAD I and II are extensive, complex and could apply to a wide range of scenarios. We are also still waiting for the issuance of guidance from several countries. These rules could have an adverse tax impact on our firm, funds, investors and/or our portfolio companies.

A new mandatory automatic exchange of information regime has been implemented under Council Directive 2011/16/EU on administrative co-operation in the field of taxation (as amended) (the "Directive on Administrative Co-Operation" or the "DAC"). The DAC, a directive under the EU Mandatory Disclosure Rules ("MDR"), took effect from June 25, 2018, and requires 'intermediaries' (as defined and which includes advisers), or in some cases taxpayers, to report information to EU tax authorities about cross-border arrangements that contain certain prescribed hallmarks. Under the DAC, certain information will be automatically exchanged among EU tax Member States. This will likely create additional costs and administrative burdens and penalties could be imposed for failure to adequately provide such disclosure in a timely manner.

A number of European jurisdictions have enacted taxes on financial transactions, and the European Commission has proposed legislation to harmonize these taxes under the so-called "enhanced cooperation procedure," which provides for adoption of EU-level legislation applicable to some but not all EU Member States. If adopted by individual countries, this could potentially increase tax uncertainty and/or costs faced by us, our funds' portfolio companies and our investors, change our business model and cause other adverse consequences.

Following a mandate by G20 Finance Ministers in March 2017 to address tax challenges arising from the digitalization of the economy, the OECD continues to pursue a multilateral agreement on so-called Pillar One and Pillar Two of the Inclusive Framework on BEPS, in an effort to prevent the proliferation of unilateral, discriminatory taxes on multi-national enterprises ("MNEs"), such as digital services taxes ("DSTs") recently adopted by France and other countries. Pillar One focuses on the allocation of taxing rights to different jurisdictions and seeks to undertake a coherent and concurrent review of the profit allocation and nexus rules. Pillar Two calls for the development of a coordinated set of rules to address ongoing risks from structures that allow MNEs to shift profit to jurisdictions where they are subject to no or low taxation.

Negotiations are underway at the OECD level to coordinate and recommend Pillar One and Pillar Two as alternatives to various country specific legislation, such as the DST. If country-specific DST were to be adopted, they could impact the value of investments or create additional administrative burdens and costs on the organization. The OECD's stated goal was to have an agreement by the end of 2020 and this has now been extended to the middle of 2021. The OECD, G20 and its members of the inclusive framework are still working to reach political and technical consensus by this date, for either Pillar separately or combined. Such an agreement would substantially require participating countries to implement national legislation, as well as comprehensive revision of existing bilateral tax treaties.

The Netherlands continued to provide additional updates to its withholding tax on dividends. Following EU case law, three safe harbor rules currently embedded in domestic anti-abuse rules as part of the Dividend Withholding Tax Act and the Corporate Income Tax Act will no longer function as a safe harbor rule. In addition, the Dutch political party "GroenLinks" has indicated they will issue a legislative proposal to amend the Dividend Withholding Tax Act. Currently, there is no draft bill, nor is it indicated when the draft bill will be presented to parliament. If the bill is accepted, the date of entry into force would be subject to discussion. We are evaluating and monitoring the impact of these changes which could result in additional withholding on certain payments for us and our investment funds.

The TCJA included a minimum tax at a current rate of 10.5% on global intangible low taxed income ("GILTI"), which is the income earned by foreign affiliates of US companies from intangible assets. The new Administration proposes to increase such rate on foreign income to 21% and replace the current aggregate approach with a separate calculation for each country, which could result in an increase in US taxable income. In addition, the new Administration may pursue tax policies seeking to limit further the deductibility of interest. Any such tax changes could materially increase the amount of taxes we, our portfolio companies, our investors, or our employees and other key personnel would be required to pay.

## Operational risks, including those associated with our business model, may disrupt our businesses, result in losses or limit our growth.

We rely heavily on our financial, accounting, information and other data processing systems. We face various security threats on a regular basis, including ongoing cyber security threats to and attacks on our information technology infrastructure that are intended to gain access to our proprietary information, destroy data or disable, degrade or sabotage our systems. These security threats could originate from a wide variety of sources, including unknown third parties outside the company.

There has been an increase in the frequency and sophistication of the cyber and security threats we face, with attacks ranging from those common to businesses generally to those that are more advanced and persistent, which may target us because, as an global investment management firm, we hold a significant amount of confidential and sensitive information about our investors, our portfolio companies and potential investments. As a result, we may face a heightened risk of a security breach, online extortion attempt, or disruption with respect to this information resulting from an attack by computer hackers, foreign governments, cyber extortionists or cyber terrorists. If successful, these types of attacks on our network or other systems could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations, due to, among other things, the loss of investor or proprietary data, interruptions or delays in our business and damage to our reputation. Our suppliers, contractors, investors, and other third parties with whom we do business also experience cyber threats and attacks that are similar in frequency and sophistication. In many cases, we have to rely on the controls and safeguards put in place by our suppliers, contractors, investors and other third parties to defend against, respond to, and report these attacks.

Because employees and contractors (and their family and household members) may introduce vulnerabilities in our systems if they are the target of "phishing," social engineering, bribery, coercion or other attacks through the firm's email systems, we have implemented a security awareness training program. The objective of this program is to inform Carlyle personnel of their responsibility for information security and includes quarterly online training, live awareness events and phishing simulations.

We cannot know the potential impact of future cyber incidents, which vary widely in severity and scale. There can be no assurance that the various procedures and controls we utilize to mitigate these threats will be sufficient to prevent disruptions

to our systems, especially because the cyber-attack techniques used change frequently or are not recognized until launched, and because cyber-attacks can originate from a wide variety of sources. If any of these systems do not operate properly or are disabled for any reason or if there is any unauthorized disclosure of data, whether as a result of tampering, a breach of our network security systems, a cyber-incident or attack or otherwise, we could suffer substantial financial loss, increased costs, a disruption of our businesses, liability to our funds and investors, regulatory intervention or reputational damage. The costs related to cyber or other security threats or disruptions may not be fully insured or indemnified by other means. Significant security incidents at competitor global investment firms in which we are not directly impacted could indirectly lead to increased costs from investor due diligence and more extensive and/or frequent regulator inspections.

Cyber security is a top priority for regulators around the world, including the SEC's Office of Compliance Inspections and Examinations (OCIE). In its examination programs, OCIE has prioritized cyber security with an emphasis on, among other things, proper configuration of network storage devices, information security governance, and policies and procedures related to retail trading information security. In addition, many jurisdictions in which we operate have laws and regulations relating to data privacy, cyber security and protection of personal information, including the General Data Protection Regulation ("GDPR") in the EU and U.S. state laws such as the California Consumer Privacy Act ("CCPA") that took effect in January 2020, which provides for enhanced consumer protections for California residents, a private right of action for data breaches and statutory fines for data breaches and other CCPA violations. If we fail to comply with the relevant laws and regulations, it could result in regulatory investigations and penalties, which could lead to negative publicity and may cause our investors to lose confidence in the effectiveness of our security measures.

Our information systems and technology may not continue to be able to accommodate our growth, and the cost of maintaining such systems may increase from its current level. For example, our existing systems may not be adequate to identify or control the relevant risks in investment strategies employed by new investment funds we may introduce. A failure to accommodate growth, or an increase in costs related to such information systems, could have a material adverse effect on us. In addition, we rely on third-party service providers for certain aspects of our business, including for certain information systems and technology and administration of our business development companies, structured credit funds and Investment Solutions segment. For example, Carlyle contracts information system backup and recovery services to a portfolio company. These third-party service providers could also face ongoing cyber security threats and as a result unauthorized individuals could improperly gain access to our confidential data. Any interruption or deterioration in the performance of these third parties or failures of their information systems and technology could impair the quality of the funds' operations and could affect our reputation and hence adversely affect our businesses.

Our technology, data and intellectual property and the technology, data and intellectual property of our portfolio companies are also subject to a heightened risk of theft or compromise to the extent we and our portfolio companies engage in operations outside the United States, particularly in those jurisdictions that do not have comparable levels of protection of proprietary information and assets such as intellectual property, trademarks, trade secrets, know-how and customer information and records. In addition, we and our portfolio companies may be required to compromise protections or forgo rights to technology, data and intellectual property in order to operate in or access markets in a foreign jurisdiction. Any such direct or indirect compromise of these assets could have a material adverse consequence on us or our investments.

Our global workforce has quickly transitioned to a remote work environment during the pandemic. We depend on our personnel located near Washington, DC, where most of our administrative and operations personnel are centralized, including our treasury, tax, finance, and GTS functions, for the continued operation of our business. However, our global employee base services the needs of our investment funds and investors out of 29 offices around the world. As our business needs evolve, including as part of trends toward remote work, and/or in order to reduce expenses, we may close offices, terminate the employment of a significant number of our personnel or cut back or eliminate the use of certain services or service providers, that, in each case, could be important to our business and without which our operating results could be adversely affected. Furthermore, a restructuring of our corporate real estate that results in the closure of one or more offices could result in significant charges and other costs incurred by us. For example, we are seeking to consolidate our New York City locations into one office located at One Vanderbilt, of which we took occupancy at the end of 2020. Closures or subleasing of existing office space in the future may result in our operating results being adversely impacted.

A disaster or a disruption in the infrastructure that supports our businesses, including a disruption involving electronic communications or other services used by us or third parties with whom we conduct business, or directly affecting our headquarters, could have a material adverse impact on our ability to continue to operate our business without interruption. Our disaster recovery programs may not be sufficient to mitigate the harm that may result from such a disaster or disruption. For example, systematic risks such as a massive and prolonged global failure of Amazon or Microsoft's cloud services could result in cascading catastrophic systems failures. We may also need to commit additional management, operational and financial

resources to identify new professionals to join our firm and to maintain appropriate operational and financial systems to adequately support expansion. The market for hiring talented professionals, including IT professionals, is competitive and we may not be able to grow at the pace we desire.

In addition, we, and our portfolio companies, may not be able to obtain or maintain sufficient insurance on commercially reasonable terms or with adequate coverage levels against potential liabilities we may face in connection with potential claims, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. We may face a risk of loss from a variety of claims, including related to securities, antitrust, contracts, fraud, business interruption and various other potential claims, whether or not such claims are valid. Insurance and other safeguards might only partially reimburse us for our losses, if at all, and if a claim is successful and exceeds or is not covered by our insurance policies, we may be required to pay a substantial amount in respect of such successful claim. Because of market conditions, premiums and deductibles for certain insurance policies, particularly D&O and property insurance, have increased substantially and may increase further, and in some instances, certain insurance may become unavailable or available only for reduced amounts of coverage. Additionally, the dollar amount of claims and/or the number of claims we experience may also increase at any time, which may have the result of further increasing our costs.

Certain losses of a catastrophic nature, such as wars, earthquakes, typhoons, pandemics, terrorist attacks or other similar events, may be uninsurable or may only be insurable at rates that are so high that maintaining coverage would cause an adverse impact on our business, our investment funds and their portfolio companies. Losses related to the COVID-19 pandemic have generally been excluded under most business property insurance properties and business interruption policies and going forward will not be covered under new policies. In general, losses related to terrorism are becoming harder and more expensive to insure against. Some insurers are excluding terrorism coverage from their all-risk policies. In some cases, insurers are offering significantly limited coverage against terrorist acts for additional premiums, which can greatly increase the total cost of casualty insurance for a property. As a result, we, our investment funds and their portfolio companies may not be insured against terrorism or certain other catastrophic losses.

Our portfolio companies also rely on data and processing systems and the secure processing, storage and transmission of information, including highly sensitive financial and medical data. A disruption or compromise of these systems, including from a cyber-attack or cyber-incident, could have a material adverse effect on the value of these businesses. Our investment funds may invest in strategic assets having a national or regional profile or in infrastructure assets, the nature of which could expose them to a greater risk of being subject to a terrorist attack or security breach than other assets or businesses. Such an event may have adverse consequences on our investment or assets of the same type or may require portfolio companies to increase preventative security measures or expand insurance coverage.

Failure to maintain the security of our information and technology networks, including personally identifiable employee and investor information, intellectual property and proprietary business information could have a material adverse effect on us.

We are subject to various risks and costs associated with the collection, handling, storage and transmission of sensitive information, including those related to compliance with U.S. and foreign data collection and privacy laws and other contractual obligations, as well as those associated with the compromise of our systems collecting such information. In the ordinary course of our business, we collect and store sensitive data, including our proprietary business information and intellectual property, and personally identifiable information of our employees and our investors, in our data centers, on our networks and with our third-party service providers. The secure processing, maintenance and transmission of this information are critical to our operations. Although we take various measures and have made, and will continue to make, significant investments to ensure the integrity of our systems and to safeguard against such failures or security breaches, there can be no assurance that these measures and investments will provide protection. For example, in 2020 Carlyle was targeted in an unsuccessful multi-week botnet-sourced password guessing attack. In addition, we and our employees may be the target of fraudulent emails or other targeted attempts to gain unauthorized access to proprietary or sensitive information. For example, we could be the target of wire transfer fraud whereby a third party seeks to benefit from misrepresenting an employee or fund investor by improperly authorizing a wire transfer or change in wire instructions. A significant actual or potential theft, loss, corruption, exposure, fraudulent use or misuse of investor, employee or other personally identifiable or proprietary business data, whether by third parties or as a result of employee malfeasance or otherwise, non-compliance with our contractual or other legal obligations regarding such data or intellectual property or a violation of our privacy and security policies with respect to such data could result in significant remediation and other costs, fines, litigation or regulatory actions against us by the U.S. federal and state governments, the EU or other jurisdictions or by various regulatory organizations or exchanges. Such an event could additionally disrupt our operations and the services we provide to investors, damage our reputation, result in a loss of a competitive advantage, impact

our ability to provide timely and accurate financial data, and cause a loss of confidence in our services and financial reporting, which could adversely affect our business, revenues, competitive position and investor confidence.

We have increasingly undertaken business initiatives to increase the number and type of investment products we offer to retail investors, which could expose us to new and greater levels of risk.

Although retail investors have been part of our historic distribution efforts, we have increasingly undertaken business initiatives to increase the number and type of investment products we offer to high net worth individuals, family offices and other mass affluent investors. In some cases we seek to distribute our unregistered funds to such retail investors indirectly through feeder funds sponsored by brokerage firms, private banks or third-party feeder providers, and in other cases directly to the qualified clients of private banks, independent investment advisors and brokers. In other cases we create registered investment products specifically designed for direct investment by both retail and institutional investors. Our initiatives to access retail investors entail the investment of resources and our objectives may not be fully realized.

Accessing retail investors and selling retail directed products exposes us to new and greater levels of risk, including heightened litigation and regulatory enforcement risks. To the extent we distribute retail products through new channels, including through unaffiliated firms, we may not be able to effectively monitor or control the manner of their distribution, which could result in litigation against us, including with respect to, among other things, claims that products distributed through such channels are distributed to customers for whom they are unsuitable or distributed in any other inappropriate manner. Although we seek to ensure through due diligence and onboarding procedures that the channels through which retail investors access our investment products conduct themselves responsibly, to the extent that our investment products are being distributed through third parties, we are exposed to reputation damage and possible legal liability to the extent such third parties improperly sell our products to investors. Similarly, the hiring of employees to oversee independent advisors and brokers presents risks if they fail to follow training, review and supervisory procedures. In addition, the distribution of retail products through new channels whether directly or through market intermediaries could expose us to additional regulatory risk in the form of allegations of improper conduct and/or actions by state and federal regulators against us with respect to, among other things, product suitability, conflicts of interest and the adequacy of disclosure to customers to whom our products are distributed through those channels.

# Extensive regulation in the United States and abroad affects our activities, increases the cost of doing business and creates the potential for significant liabilities and penalties.

Our business is subject to extensive regulation, including periodic examinations, by governmental agencies and self-regulatory organizations in the jurisdictions in which we operate around the world. Many of these regulators, including U.S. and foreign government agencies and self-regulatory organizations and state securities commissions in the United States, are empowered to conduct investigations and administrative proceedings that can result in fines, suspensions of personnel or other sanctions, including censure, the issuance of cease-and-desist orders or the suspension or expulsion of a broker-dealer or investment adviser from registration or memberships. Even if an investigation or proceeding does not result in a sanction or the sanction imposed against us or our personnel by a regulator were small in monetary amount, the costs incurred in responding to such matters could be material and the adverse publicity relating to the investigation, proceeding or imposition of these sanctions could harm our reputation and cause us to lose existing investors or fail to gain new investors or discourage others from doing business with us. Some of our investment funds invest in businesses that operate in highly regulated industries, including in businesses that are regulated by the U.S. Federal Communications Commission and U.S. federal and state banking authorities. The regulatory regimes to which such businesses are subject may, among other things, condition our funds' ability to invest in those businesses upon the satisfaction of applicable ownership restrictions or qualification requirements. Our failure to obtain or maintain any regulatory approvals necessary for our funds to invest in such industries may disqualify our funds from participating in certain investments or require our funds to divest themselves of certain assets.

In recent years, the SEC and its staff have focused on issues relevant to global investment firms and have formed specialized units devoted to examining such firms and, in certain cases, bringing enforcement actions against the firms, their principals and their employees. We expect a greater level of SEC enforcement activity under the new Administration, and while we have a robust compliance program in place, it is possible this enforcement activity will target practices at which we believe are compliant and which were not targeted by the prior Administration.

It is generally expected that the SEC's oversight of global investment firms will continue to focus on concerns related to transparency, investor disclosure practices, fees and expenses, valuation and conflicts of interest, which could impact Carlyle in various ways. For example, our private equity funds frequently engage operating executives and senior advisors who often work with our investment teams during due diligence, provide board-level governance and support and advise portfolio

company management. Operating executives and senior advisors generally are third parties, are not considered Carlyle employees and typically are engaged by us pursuant to consulting agreements, and the investors in our private equity funds may bear the cost of the operating executive or senior advisor compensation, as permitted under the relevant fund legal documents. In some cases, an operating executive or senior advisor may be retained by a portfolio company directly and in such instances the portfolio company may compensate the operating executive or senior advisor directly (meaning that investors in our private equity funds may indirectly bear the cost of the operating executive's or senior advisor's compensation). While we believe we have made appropriate and timely disclosures regarding the engagement and compensation of our operating executives and senior advisors, the SEC staff may disagree.

We regularly are subject to requests for information and informal or formal investigations by the SEC and other regulatory authorities, with which we routinely cooperate and, in the current environment, even historical practices that have been previously examined are being revisited. In 2014, the SEC indicated that investment advisers that receive transaction-based compensation for investment banking or acquisition activities relating to fund portfolio companies may be required to register as broker-dealers. Specifically, the Staff noted that if a firm receives fees from a fund portfolio company in connection with the acquisition, disposition or recapitalization of such portfolio company, such fees could raise broker-dealer concerns under applicable regulations related to broker-dealers. If receipt of transaction fees from a portfolio company is determined to require a broker-dealer license, receipt of such transaction fees in the past or in the future during any time when we did not or do not have a broker-dealer license could subject us to liability for fines, penalties or damages. Even if a regulatory investigation or proceeding does not result in a sanction or the sanction imposed against us or our personnel by a regulator were small in monetary amount, the adverse publicity relating to such matters could harm our reputation.

We regularly rely on exemptions from various requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), the Exchange Act, the Investment Company Act, the Commodity Exchange Act, and the U.S. Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA"), in conducting our asset management activities in the United States. If for any reason these exemptions were to become unavailable to us, we could become subject to regulatory action or third-party claims and our business could be materially and adversely affected. For example, in 2014, the SEC amended Rule 506 of Regulation D under the Securities Act to impose "bad actor" disqualification provisions which ban an issuer from offering or selling securities pursuant to the safe harbor in Rule 506 if the issuer, or any other "covered person", is the subject of a criminal, regulatory or court order or other disqualifying event" under the rule which has not been waived by the SEC. The definition of "covered person" under the rule includes an issuer's directors, general partners, managing members and executive officers; affiliates who are also issuing securities in the offering; beneficial owners of 20% or more of the issuer's outstanding equity securities; and promoters and persons compensated for soliciting investors in the offering. Accordingly, our ability to rely on Rule 506 to offer or sell securities would be impaired if we or any "covered person" is the subject of a disqualifying event under the rule and we are unable to obtain a waiver from the SEC.

Similarly, in conducting our asset management activities outside the United States, we rely on available exemptions from the regulatory regimes of various foreign jurisdictions. These exemptions from regulation within the United States and abroad are sometimes highly complex and may, in certain circumstances, depend on compliance by third parties whom we do not control. If for any reason these exemptions were to become unavailable to us, we could become subject to regulatory action or third-party claims and our business could be materially and adversely affected. Moreover, the requirements imposed by our regulators are designed primarily to ensure the integrity of the financial markets and to protect investors in our funds and are not designed to protect our stockholders. Consequently, these regulations often serve to limit our activities and impose burdensome compliance requirements. See

—"Part I. Item 1. Business —Regulatory and Compliance Matters."

We may become subject to additional regulatory and compliance burdens as we expand our product offerings and investment platform. For example, we have a number of closed-end investment companies in our Global Credit segment including ones that are regulated as business development companies under the Investment Company Act. These investment companies are subject to inspection by the SEC and to the Investment Company Act and the rules thereunder, which, among other things impose regulatory restrictions on principal transactions between, and joint transactions among, the investment company and certain of its affiliates, including its investment adviser. Certain of these investment companies are subject to additional securities law requirements due to their status as a publicly-traded issuer, as well as the listing standards of the applicable national securities exchange. These additional regulatory requirements will increase our compliance costs and may expose us to liabilities and penalties if we fail to comply with the applicable laws, rules and regulations.

In addition, the Iran Threat Reduction and Syria Human Rights Act of 2012 (the "ITRA") expanded the scope of U.S. sanctions against Iran and Section 219 of the ITRA amended the Exchange Act to require companies subject to SEC reporting obligations under Section 13 of the Exchange Act to disclose in their periodic reports specified dealings or transactions involving Iran or other individuals and entities targeted by certain sanctions promulgated by the Office of Foreign Assets

Control ("OFAC") engaged in by the reporting company or any of its affiliates, including in our case some of our portfolio companies, during the period covered by the relevant periodic report. In some cases, the ITRA requires companies to disclose transactions even if they were permissible under U.S. law. In addition, the ITRA imposes an obligation to separately file with the SEC a notice that specified activities have been disclosed in our quarterly and annual reports, and the SEC is required to post this notice of disclosure on its website and send the report to the U.S. President and certain U.S. Congressional committees. Disclosure of ITRA-specified activity, even if such activity is legally permissible and not subject to sanctions under applicable law, and any fines or penalties actually imposed on us or our affiliates as a result of impermissible any Iran-related activities, could harm our reputation and have a negative impact on our business. In the past, we have disclosed pursuant to Section 13 of the Exchange Act, certain permissible dealings and transactions and to date, we have not received notice of any investigation into such activities.

Laws in non-U.S. jurisdictions, such as EU sanctions or the U.K. Bribery Act, as well as other applicable anti-bribery, anti-corruption, anti-money laundering, or sanction or other export control laws in the United States and abroad, may also impose stricter or more onerous requirements than the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act ("FCPA"), OFAC, the U.S. Department of Commerce and the U.S. Department of State, and implementing them may disrupt our business or cause us to incur significantly more costs to comply with those laws. Different laws may also contain conflicting provisions, making compliance with all laws more difficult. If we fail to comply with these laws and regulations, we could be exposed to claims for damages, civil or criminal financial penalties, reputational harm, incarceration of our employees, restrictions on our operations and other liabilities, especially as non-U.S. regulators increase their enforcement activities, which could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, we may be subject to successor liability for FCPA violations or other acts of bribery, or violations of applicable sanctions or other export control laws committed by companies in which we or our funds invest or which we or our funds acquire.

## It is unclear what impact the United Kingdom's exit from the European Union will have on the Company or the fund portfolio companies.

The United Kingdom (the "UK") held a referendum in June 2016 on whether to remain a member state of the EU, in which a majority of voters voted to leave the EU. The UK formally notified the European Council of its intention to leave the EU on March 29, 2017. The UK officially left the EU on January 31, 2020, and a transition period of 11 months commenced on this date to allow for the negotiation of a new trade agreement. This transition period ended on December 31, 2020. Various EU laws have been adopted into domestic UK legislation and certain transitional regimes and deficiency-correction powers exist to ease the transition.

The UK and the EU announced, on December 24, 2020, that they have reached agreement on a new Trade and Cooperation Agreement (the "TCA"), which addresses the future relationship between the parties. The TCA was approved by the UK Parliament on December 30, 2020. Due to the TCA only being agreed shortly before the end of the transition period, it will apply on a provisional basis in the EU until it is formally ratified by the European Parliament. The TCA covers, for example, measures to preserve tariff-free trade in goods and the ability of UK nationals to travel to the EU on business but defers other issues. While the TCA includes a commitment by the UK and the EU to keep their markets open for persons wishing to provide financial services through a permanent establishment, it does not substantively address future cooperation in the financial services sector or reciprocal market access into the EU by UK-based firms under equivalence arrangements. The European Commission has indicated that its assessment of the UK's replies to its equivalence enquiries remains ongoing and, at this stage, there is no certainty as to when such assessments will be concluded or whether the UK will be deemed equivalent in some or all of the individual assessments.

While the TCA provides clarity in some areas, the impact of the UK's withdrawal from the EU ("Brexit") on our business operations in the UK and the EU, and on the private investment funds industry and global financial markets more broadly, remains uncertain. This is driven in part by the ongoing uncertainty relating to equivalence and the extent to which the EU will grant reciprocal access to UK firms in the financial services sector. As a new agreement, the implications and operation of the TCA may also evolve during the remainder of 2021, and potentially beyond that date.

Uncertainty about the way in which these and other complex issues will be resolved could adversely affect the Company, its investment funds and portfolio companies (especially if its investment funds include, or expose them to, businesses that depend on access to the single market, the customs union, or whose value is affected adversely by the UK's future relationship with the EU). The size and importance of the UK's economy, coupled with uncertainty or unpredictability about the precise nature of its future legal, political and economic relationship with the EU following the implementation of the TCA (and any subsequent discussions between the UK and EU in respect of matters not within its scope) may continue to cause instability, significant currency fluctuations and/or other adverse effects on international markets, international trade agreements

and/or other existing cross-border cooperation arrangements (whether economic, tax, fiscal, legal, regulatory or otherwise). In addition, Brexit could have a destabilizing effect if any other member states were to consider withdrawing from the EU. The decision for any other member state to withdraw from the EU could exacerbate such uncertainty and instability and may present similar and/or additional potential risks and consequences for the Company, its investment funds and fund portfolio companies.

The Company set up a Brexit Contingency Planning Committee (the "Brexit Committee") in September 2016 to conduct a risk review and track key political and business-related developments related to Brexit. On taxation, the Brexit Committee has considered, amongst other things, the availability of EU tax directives to our UK-based entities in the post-Brexit landscape and the impact that loss of such directives may have on the structure of our investment funds and portfolio investments. We are also engaging in regular and continuing dialogue with UK tax authorities (HMRC) and Treasury in respect of the tax framework that may apply between the UK and EU post Brexit and the impact of such framework on our business. The Brexit Committee continuously monitors the activities of those portfolio companies which could be impacted by Brexit," including considering the impact on debt restructuring and capital raising plans. The Brexit Committee coordinates engagement with portfolio company management to address identified issues.

Financial regulatory changes in the United States could adversely affect our business and the possibility of increased regulatory focus could result in additional burdens and expenses on our business.

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the "Dodd-Frank Act"), enacted in 2010, has imposed significant changes on almost every aspect of the U.S. financial services industry, including aspects of our business. On May 24, 2018, the Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief and Consumer Protection Act (the "Reform Act") was signed into law. The Reform Act amends various sections of the Dodd-Frank Act, including by modifying the Volcker Rule to exempt certain insured depository institutions. The Reform Act and various other proposals focused on deregulation of the U.S. financial services industry may have the effect of increasing competition for our credit-focused businesses or otherwise reducing investment opportunities, which could adversely affect our business.

The Volcker Rule, as amended by the Reform Act, generally prohibits any "banking entity" (broadly defined as any insured depository institution, subject to certain exceptions including for depository institutions that do not have, and are not controlled by a company that has, more than \$10 billion in total consolidated assets and significant trading assets and liabilities, any company that controls such an institution, a non-U.S. bank that is treated as a bank holding company for purposes of U.S. banking law and any affiliate or subsidiary of the foregoing entities) from sponsoring, acquiring or retaining an ownership interest in a fund that is not subject to the provisions of the 1940 Act in reliance upon either Section 3(c)(1) or Section 3(c)(7) of the 1940 Act. The Volcker Rule also authorizes the imposition of additional capital requirements and certain other quantitative limits on such activities engaged in by certain nonbank financial companies that have been determined to be systemically important by the Financial Stability Oversight Council ("FSOC") and subject to supervision by the Federal Reserve, although such entities are not expressly prohibited from sponsoring or investing in such funds. In July 2019, U.S. federal regulatory agencies adopted amendments to the Volcker Rule regulations to implement the Volcker Rule amendments included in the Reform Act, and also in 2019 such U.S. federal regulatory agencies adopted certain targeted amendments to the Volcker Rule regulations to simplify and tailor certain compliance requirements relating to the Volcker Rule. In June 2020, U.S. federal regulatory agencies adopted additional revisions to the Volcker Rule's current restrictions on banking entities sponsoring and investing in certain covered hedge funds and private equity funds, including by adopting new exemptions allowing banking entities to sponsor and invest without limit in credit funds, venture capital funds, customer facilitation funds and family wealth management vehicles (the "Covered Fund Amendments"). The Covered Fund Amendments also loosen certain other restrictions on extraterritorial fund activities and direct parallel or co-investments made alongside covered funds. The Covered Fund Amendments should therefore expand the ability of banking entities to invest in and sponsor private funds. The Covered Fund Amendments, the Reform Act and such regulatory developments and various other proposals focused on deregulation of the U.S. financial services industry may have the effect of increasing competition for our businesses.

In June 2010, the SEC approved Rule 206(4)-5 under the Advisers Act regarding "pay to play" practices by investment advisers involving campaign contributions and other payments to government clients and elected officials able to exert influence on such clients. The rule prohibits investment advisers from providing advisory services for compensation to a government client for two years, subject to very limited exceptions, after the investment adviser, its senior executives or its personnel involved in soliciting investments from government entities make contributions to certain candidates and officials in a position to influence the hiring of an investment adviser by such government client. Any failure on our part to comply with the rule could expose us to significant penalties, loss of fees, and reputational damage. In August 2017, FINRA's "pay to play" regulations went into effect. These FINRA rules effectively prohibit the receipt of compensation from state or local government agencies for solicitation and distribution activities within two years of a prohibited contribution by a broker-dealer or one of its covered associates. There have also been similar laws, rules and regulations and/or policies adopted by a number of states and municipal pension plans, which prohibit, restrict or require disclosure of payments to (and/or certain contracts

with) state officials by individuals and entities seeking to do business with state entities, including investment by public retirement funds.

The Dodd-Frank Act also imposes a regulatory structure on the "swaps" market, including requirements for clearing, exchange trading, capital, margin, reporting, and recordkeeping. The CFTC has finalized many rules applicable to swap market participants, including business conduct standards for swap dealers, reporting and recordkeeping, mandatory clearing for certain swaps, exchange trading rules applicable to swaps, initial and variation margin requirements for uncleared swap transactions and regulatory requirements for cross-border swap activities. These requirements could reduce market liquidity and adversely affect our business, including by reducing our ability to enter swaps.

The Dodd-Frank Act amended the Exchange Act to direct the Federal Reserve and other federal regulatory agencies to adopt rules requiring sponsors of asset-backed securities (or a majority-owned affiliate thereof) to retain at least 5% of the credit risk relating to the assets collateralizing the asset-backed securities (the "U.S. Risk Retention Rules"). The U.S. Risk Retention Rules were issued by five federal banking and housing agencies and the SEC in October 2014 and became effective on December 24, 2016. A 2018 order by the United States District Court for the District of Columbia held that the U.S. risk retention rules do not apply to managers of open-market CLOs (i.e., CLOs for which the underlying assets are not transferred by the manager to the CLO issuer via a sale). As a result, we have determined that we are not subject to the U.S. Risk Retention Rules in respect of our open-market CLO transactions and do not intend to act in accordance with the various restrictions the U.S. Risk Retention Rules imposed on sponsors of securitization transactions. We continue to review this decision and its ultimate impact on our business.

The Dodd-Frank Act authorizes federal regulatory agencies to review and, in certain cases, prohibit compensation arrangements at financial institutions that give employees incentives to engage in conduct deemed to encourage inappropriate risk taking by covered financial institutions. On May 16, 2016, the SEC and other federal regulatory agencies proposed a rule that would apply requirements on incentive-based compensation arrangements of "covered financial institutions," including certain registered investment advisers and broker-dealers above an specific asset threshold. This, if adopted, could limit our ability to recruit and retain investment professionals and senior management executives. However, the proposed rule remains pending and may be subject to significant modifications.

In May 2018, the Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief and Consumer Protection Act became law, which modified automatic additional regulatory compliance issues for financial entities that were deemed "Systemically Important Financial Institutions" (SIFI) from \$50 billion AUM to \$250 billion AUM. There is legislative risk under the new Administration that such designation will revert back to \$50 billion and expand its application to include private equity asset management firms.

In July 2019, proposed legislation was introduced into the U.S. Congress which contains a number of provisions that, if they were to become law, would adversely impact alternative asset management firms. Among other things, the bill would: (1) subject private funds and certain holders of economic interests therein to joint and several liability for all liabilities of portfolio companies; (2) require private funds to offer identical terms and benefits to all limited partners; (3) require disclosure of names of each limited partner invested in a private fund, as well as sensitive fund and portfolio company-level information; (4) impose a limitation on the deductibility of interest expense only applicable to companies owned by private funds; (5) modify settled bankruptcy law to target transactions by private equity funds; (6) increase tax rates on carried interest; and (7) prohibit portfolio companies from paying dividends or repurchasing their shares during the first two years following the acquisition of the portfolio company. If the proposed bill, or other similar legislation, were to garner enough support from the current Democratic-controlled Administration and U.S. Congress and become law, it would adversely affect us, our portfolio companies and our investors.

Future legislation, regulation or guidance may have an adverse effect on the fund industry generally and/or us, specifically. Financial services regulation, including regulations applicable to our business, has increased significantly in recent years, and may in the future be subject to further enhanced governmental scrutiny and/or increased regulation, including resulting from changes in U.S. executive administration or Congressional leadership. It is difficult to determine the full extent of the impact on us of any new laws, regulations or initiatives that may be proposed or whether any of the proposals will become law. Any changes in the regulatory framework applicable to our business, including the changes described above, may impose additional costs on us, require the attention of our senior management or result in limitations on the manner in which we conduct our business. Moreover, there may be an increase in regulatory investigations of the trading and other investment activities of private funds, including our investment funds. Compliance with any new laws or regulations could make compliance more difficult and expensive, affect the manner in which we conduct our business and adversely affect our profitability.

#### The short-term and long-term impact of the Basel capital standards is uncertain.

In June 2011, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision ("Basel Committee"), an international body comprised of senior representatives of bank supervisory authorities and central banks from 27 countries, including the United States, announced the final framework for a comprehensive set of capital and liquidity standards, commonly referred to as "Basel III," for internationally active banking organizations and certain other types of financial institutions. The Basel III standards were revised in 2017 as part of a package of reforms referred to as "Basel IV" by the banking industry. These standards generally require banks to hold more capital, predominantly in the form of common equity, than under the previous capital framework, reduce leverage and improve liquidity standards. U.S. federal banking regulators have adopted, and continue to adopt, final regulations to implement Basel III for U.S. banking organizations.

The ongoing adoption of these rules could restrict the ability of banks to maintain certain levels or types of capital market exposures under the present structure of their balance sheets, and cause these entities to raise additional capital in order to stay active in our marketplaces. As a result, their businesses, results of operations, financial condition or prospects could be materially adversely affected, which in turn could have unintended adverse consequences for us, through higher borrowing costs, reduced access to certain types of credit and increased costs and difficulty for us or our funds to enter into transactions in the normal course of our business. Moreover, these increased regulatory responsibilities and increased costs could reduce trading by a number of market participants, which could in turn adversely impact liquidity and increase volatility in the markets and expose our funds to greater risks in connection with their trading activities.

## Regulatory initiatives in jurisdictions outside the United States could adversely affect our business.

Similar to the environment in the United States, the current environment in jurisdictions outside the United States in which we operate, in particular the EU, has become subject to an expanding body of regulation. Governmental regulators and other authorities in the EU have proposed or implemented a number of initiatives and additional rules and regulations that could adversely affect our business.

New prudential regimes for EU and UK investment firms. On December 5, 2019, a new EU legislative package replacing the existing prudential framework for EU investment firms was published in the Official Journal of the European Union, which is due to take effect on June 26, 2021. The legislation consists of the Investment Firm Regulation and the Investment Firm Directive (together "IFR/IFD"). IFR/IFD will substantially increase regulatory capital requirements for certain investment firms and impose more onerous remuneration rules, and revised and extended internal governance, disclosure, reporting, liquidity, and group "prudential" consolidation requirements (among other things). Depending upon how member states implement IFR/IFD, these rules or certain aspects of them may also apply to AIFMs that have been licensed to provide investment services via a "top-up" MiFID permission, such as AlpInvest. The UK has confirmed that it will be implementing its own version of IFR/IFD, the Investment Firms Prudential Regime (the "IFPR"), which was initially expected to go into effect in June 2021 but has been delayed until January 1, 2022. The IFPR will apply to our subsidiaries that are UK investment firms, namely CECP Advisors LLP and CELF Advisors LLP.

AIFMD. The AIFMD was implemented in most jurisdictions in the EEA, on July 22, 2014. The AIFMD regulates alternative investment fund managers ("AIFMS") established in the EEA that manage alternative investment funds ("AIFS"). The AIFMD also regulates and imposes regulatory obligations in respect of the marketing in the EEA by AIFMs (whether established in the EEA or elsewhere) of AIFs (whether established in the EEA or elsewhere). The UK implemented AIFMD while it was still a member of the EU and therefore similar requirements therefore continue to apply in the UK notwithstanding Brexit. AlpInvest, one of our subsidiaries, obtained authorization in 2015 and is licensed as an AIFM in the Netherlands. Additionally, in 2017, one of our subsidiaries, Carlyle Real Estate SGR S.p.A was registered as an AIFM in Italy and in 2018, one of our subsidiaries, CIM Europe, obtained authorization as an AIFM in Luxembourg. The European Commission is currently reviewing the AIFMD and launched a public consultation in October 2020 (which closed on January 29, 2021) on potential improvements to this regulatory framework (commonly referred to as "AIFMD II"). The consultation touches on the areas of investor protection in relation to client classification, the possibility of a depository passport, mandatory disclosures under the AIFMD and rules relating to conflicts of interest and valuation as well as the use of liquidity risk management tools, possible enhancements to Annex IV reporting and loan originating AIFs. At this time, it is difficult to predict the final form of the recast AIFMD II and its impact on our business.

Given the significance of this review process as well as its potential impact on the European fund industry framework, we will need to consider the potential impact of AIFMD II on our business, particularly with regard to delegation of certain AIFM duties to third-countries that may affect both operating models of CIM Europe and AlpInvest, extension of the directive to third country firms and a push towards harmonization of the Collective Investment in Transferable Securities ("UCITS") and

AIFMD frameworks. AIFMD II has the potential to limit market access for our non-EU funds. Further, compliance with AIFMD II may, amongst other things, increase the cost and complexity of raising capital, may slow the pace of fundraising, limit operations, increase operational costs and disadvantage our investment funds as bidders for and potential owners of private companies located in the EEA when compared to non-AIF/AIFM competitors. It is not yet clear to what extent (if any) the UK would reflect AIFMD II in its domestic rules.

Anti-Money Laundering. During 2020, two new Anti-Money Laundering (AML) Directives came into force; the fifth AML EU Directive (AMLD5) and the sixth AML EU Directive (AMLD6). The changes under AMLD5 include: new more stringent customer due diligence measures and requirements to report discrepancies between information held and the Companies House register and to conduct risk assessments prior to the launch or use of new products, and business practices. AMLD5 will add complexity to our internal processes and any perceived shortcomings in our adoption of AMLD5 could create reputational risks to our business. AMLD6 harmonizes the definition of money laundering across the EU, expands the number of offenses that fall under the definition of money laundering and extends criminal liability to include punishments for legal persons, including partnership entities.

Securitization Regulation. Regulation (EU) 2017/2402 (the "Securitization Regulation") is a new framework for European securitizations which came into effect on January 1, 2019. There is a risk that a non-EU AIFM that markets funds in the EU which invest in securitization positions could be within scope of certain requirements under the Securitization Regulation. To the extent a non-EU AIFM is within the scope of the Securitization Regulation, it could only hold a securitization exposure where the originator, sponsor or original lender retains 5% of the securitization. If our non-EU AIFMs fall within the scope of the Securitization Regulation, it could affect the asset values of certain of our funds, force divestment of certain assets at depressed prices, and increase the operating cost of our CLOs. The UK has adopted the Securitization Regulation and therefore similar requirements continue to apply in the UK notwithstanding Brexit.

*Sustainable Finance.* In March 2018, the European Commission adopted an action plan on financing sustainable growth. The action plan is, among other things, designed to define and reorient investment toward sustainability and a number of legislative initiatives are underway. In particular:

- On December 9, 2019, a new regulation (Regulation (EU) 2019/2088) on sustainability-related disclosures in the financial sector was published in the Official Journal of the European Union (the "Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulation" or "SFDR"). The majority of its provisions will apply from March 10, 2021. The Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulation aims to address information asymmetries between investors and those acting for them in relation to the environmental and social characteristics of investments and the sustainability risks and impact involved. It introduces mandatory sustainability-related transparency and disclosure requirements for, among others, MiFID investment firms providing investment advisory or portfolio management services, and AIFMs.
- In June 2020, a new EU regulation establishing a general framework for determining which economic activities qualify as "environmentally sustainable" was published in the Official Journal of the European Union (the "Taxonomy Regulation"). The Taxonomy Regulation introduces certain mandatory disclosure requirements (which supplement those set out in SFDR) for financial products which have an environmentally sustainable investment objective or which promote environmental characteristics. The Taxonomy Regulation is due to take effect starting in January 2022 and is expected to impact Carlyle AIFMs in the EEA and certain AIFMs outside of the EEA ("Non-EEA AIFMs") where they market funds in the EEA under the National Private Placement Regime ("NPPR").

Much of the detail around the various EU sustainable finance initiatives is yet to be agreed and has been further delayed by the COVID-19 pandemic so it is not possible at this stage to fully assess how our business will be affected. Certain ESG-related initiatives being considered could require an AIFM to quantify sustainability risks and integrate principal adverse impacts in such quantification, as well as in their investment decision making processes, alongside the interests and preferences of investors. There is a risk that a large amount of additional data may need to be collected and disclosed pursuant to these ESG regulations, which could materially increase the compliance burden and costs for our operations.

While the UK is not expected to implement equivalent legislative initiatives, it has signaled an intention to introduce a new legislative framework focused on implementing the recommendations of the Financial Stability Board Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosures ("TCFD"), in particular by introducing mandatory TCFD-aligned disclosure requirements for UK firms. This framework is still in development and will be subject to a phased implementation, meaning it is not expected to begin to apply to the asset management sector until 2022 at the earliest. It is unclear at this stage what impact this new regime will have on our business.

Leveraged Transactions. In May 2017, the European Central Bank ("ECB") issued guidance on leveraged transactions which applies to significant credit institutions supervised by the ECB in member states of the euro zone. Under the guidance,

credit institutions should have in place internal policies that include a definition of "leveraged transactions". Loans or credit exposures to a borrower should be regarded as leveraged transactions if: (i) the borrower's post-financing level of leverage exceeds a total debt to EBITDA ratio of 4.0 times; or (ii) the borrower is owned by one or more "financial sponsors". For these purposes, a financial sponsor is an investment firm that undertakes private equity investments in and/or leveraged buyouts of companies. Following these guidelines, credit institutions in the euro zone could in the future limit, delay or restrict the availability of credit and/or increase the cost of credit for our investment funds or portfolio companies involved in leveraged transactions.

Hong Kong Security Law. On June 30, 2020, the National People's Congress of China passed a national security law (the "National Security Law"), which criminalizes certain offenses including secession, subversion of the Chinese government, terrorism and collusion with foreign entities. The National Security Law also applies to non-permanent residents. Although the extra-territorial reach of the National Security Law remains unclear, there is a risk that the application of the National Security Law to conduct outside Hong Kong by non-permanent residents of Hong Kong could limit the activities of or negatively affect the Company, our investment funds and/or portfolio companies. The National Security Law has been condemned by the United States, the United Kingdom and several EU countries. The United States and other countries may take action against China, its leaders and leaders of Hong Kong, which may include the imposition of sanctions. Escalation of tensions resulting from the National Security Law, including conflict between China and other countries, protests and other government measures, as well as other economic, social or political unrest in the future, could adversely impact the security and stability of the region and may have a material adverse effect on countries in which the Company, our investment funds and portfolio companies or any of their respective personnel or assets are located. In addition, any downturn in Hong Kong's economy could adversely affect the financial performance of the Company and our investments, or could have a significant impact on the industries in which the Company participates, and may adversely affect the operations of the Company, its investment funds and portfolio companies, including the retention of investment and other key professionals located in Hong Kong.

Chinese Regulations. In August 2014, China Securities Regulatory Commission ("CSRC"), the Chinese securities regulator, promulgated the Interim Regulations on the Supervision and Administration of Private Investment Funds (the "CSRC Regulations"). The CSRC Regulations adopt a very broad definition of private investment funds, potentially including private equity funds. In accordance with the CSRC Regulations and other relevant PRC laws, regulations and authorizations, the CSRC has become the principal regulator of private equity funds in China. CSRC has designated that the Asset Management Association of China ("AMAC"), an industry body, with responsibility to introduce and promote regulations towards a degree of selfregulation across private equity funds in China. In recent years, regulations, directives and guidelines from AMAC have continued to regulate private investment funds incorporated in China. For example, during the course of 2016, AMAC issued "Guidelines for Internal Control of Privately-raised Investment Fund Managers" (February, 2016), "Administrative Measures for Information Disclosure of Privately-raised Investment Fund" (February, 2016), "Announcement on Further Regulating Relevant Matters Concerning the Registration of the Managers of the Privately-Raised Funds" (February, 2016), "Measures for the Administration of Private Placement of Private Investment Funds" (April, 2016), "Private Equity Fund Contract Guidelines No. 1, No. 2 and No. 3" (April, 2016), "Administrative Measures for Private Investment Fund Services" (March, 2017), and "Implementing Guidelines on the Administration of Investor Suitability for Fund Raising Institutions" (July 2017), in addition to the regulations and directives from SCRS and AMAC. If a private capital fund wishes to accept capital contributions from a PRC governmental body or authority then that fund will also need to subject itself (including specific conditions as regards the general partner and/or the private investment fund manager) to the supervision of National Development and Reform Commission ("NDRC"). In accordance with the NDRC's regulations on governmental fund of funds' participation in equity investment funds, the private investment fund is subject to requirements relating to the industry focus, investment scope, investment restrictions, risk control and information disclosure. The general partner and/or the private investment fund manager are also subject to additional restrictions and qualification requirements and are required to fulfill reporting and filing obligations to NDRC (in addition to any reporting or filing obligations to CSRC, AMAC, or others). These regulations may have an adverse effect on us and/or our renminbi (RMB)-denominated investment funds by, among other things, increasing the regulatory burden and costs of raising money for RMB-denominated investment funds, especially given the differing nature of certain obligations to multiple regulatory bodies, imposing extensive disclosure obligations on RMB-denominated investment funds and their associated portfolio companies, and disadvantaging our investment funds as bidders, imposing significant capital requirements on managers of RMB denominated investment funds, imposing numerous registrations and ongoing filings by private investment fund managers in China with multiple government authorities.

Data Privacy. The legislative and regulatory framework for privacy and data protection issues worldwide is rapidly evolving and is likely to remain uncertain for the foreseeable future. Carlyle and our portfolio companies collect personally identifiable information ("PII") and other sensitive and confidential data as an integral part of our business processes and activities. This data is wide ranging and relates to our investors, employees, contractors and other counterparties and third parties. Our compliance obligations include those relating to U.S. laws such as the California Consumer Privacy Act (the

"CCPA"), which provides for enhanced consumer protections for California residents, a private right of action for data breaches and statutory fines and damages for data breaches or other CCPA violations, as well as a requirement of "reasonable" cybersecurity.

Many foreign countries and governmental bodies, including the European Union and other relevant jurisdictions where Carlyle and our portfolio companies conduct business, have laws and regulations concerning the collection and use of PII and other data obtained from their residents or by businesses operating within their jurisdiction that are more restrictive than those in the U.S. For example, the GDPR in Europe, the Japanese Personal Information Protection Act, the Hong Kong Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, the Australian Privacy Act and the Brazilian Bank Secrecy Law. Global laws in this area are rapidly increasing in the scale and depth of their requirements, and are also often extra-territorial in nature. In addition, a wide range of regulators are seeking to enforce these laws across regions and borders. Furthermore, we frequently have privacy compliance requirements as a result of our contractual obligations with counterparties. These legal and contractual obligations heighten our privacy obligations in the ordinary course of conducting our business in the U.S. and internationally.

The UK has adopted the GDPR and similar requirements continue to apply in the UK notwithstanding Brexit. As a result of Brexit, however, the UK is now a third country for the purposes of the GDPR regulation. This regulation provides for a transitional period during which transfers of personal data from the EU to the UK will not be considered as transfers to a third country under EU GDPR. If this transitional period ends without the European Commission adoption of an adequacy decision in relation to the UK, transfers of personal data from the EU to the UK will be subject to additional requirements under the EU GDPR rules on exporting data outside the EU, which may involve an increased compliance burden. Transfers of personal data from the UK to the EU will continue to be permitted under UK GDPR without the need for compliance with additional data export requirements. Any inability, or perceived inability, to adequately address privacy and data protection concerns, or comply with applicable laws, regulations, policies, industry standards, contractual obligations, or other legal obligations could result in additional cost and liability and could damage our reputation and adversely affect our business.

While Carlyle has taken various measures and made significant efforts and investment to ensure that our policies, processes and systems are both robust and compliant with these obligations, our potential liability remains, particularly given the continued and rapid development of privacy laws and regulations around the world, and increased enforcement action. Any inability, or perceived inability, by us or our portfolio companies to adequately address privacy concerns, or comply with applicable laws, regulations, policies, industry standards and guidance, contractual obligations, or other legal obligations, even if unfounded, could result in significant regulatory and third-party liability, increased costs, disruption of our and our portfolio companies' business and operations, and a loss of client (including investor) confidence and other reputational damage. Furthermore, as new privacy-related laws and regulations are implemented, the time and resources needed for us and our portfolio companies to comply with such laws and regulations continues to increase.

Other Similar Measures. Our investment businesses are subject to the risk that similar measures might be introduced in other countries in which our investment funds currently have investments or plan to invest in the future, or that other legislative or regulatory measures that negatively affect their respective portfolio investments might be promulgated in any of the countries in which they invest. The reporting related to such initiatives may divert the attention of our personnel and the management teams of our portfolio companies. Moreover, sensitive business information relating to us or our portfolio companies could be publicly released.

See "—Risks Related to Our Business Operations —Our investment funds make investments in companies that are based outside of the United States, which may expose us to additional risks not typically associated with investing in companies that are based in the United States" and "Part I. Item 1. Business — Regulatory and Compliance Matters" for more information.

## Changing regulations regarding derivatives and commodity interest transactions could adversely impact various aspects of our business.

The regulation of derivatives and commodity interest transactions in the United States and other countries is a rapidly changing area of law and is subject to ongoing modification by governmental and judicial action. We and our affiliates enter into derivatives transactions for various purposes, including to manage the financial risks related to our business. Accordingly, the impact of this evolving regulatory regime on our business is difficult to predict, but it could be substantial and adverse.

Managers of certain pooled investment vehicles with exposure to certain types of derivatives may be required to register with the CFTC as commodity pool operators ("CPOs") and/or commodity trading advisors ("CTAs") and become members of the National Futures Association (the "NFA"). As such, certain of our or our subsidiaries' risk management or other commodities interest-related activities may be subject to CFTC oversight. Consequently, certain CFTC rules expose

global investment firms, such as us, to increased registration and reporting requirements in connection with transactions in futures, swaps and other derivatives regulated by the CFTC. These regulations have required us to reassess certain business practices related to our pooled vehicles, consider registration of certain entities with the CFTC or file for additional exemptions from such registration requirements. In addition, as a result of their derivatives-related activities, certain of our entities also may be subject to a wide range of other regulatory requirements, such as:

- · potential compliance with certain commodities interest position limits or position accountability rules;
- · administrative requirements, including recordkeeping, confirmation of transactions and reconciliation of trade data; and
- mandatory central clearing and collateral requirements. Our business may incur increased ongoing costs associated with monitoring compliance
  with the CFTC registration and exemption obligations across platforms and complying with the various reporting and record-keeping
  requirements.

Newly instituted and amended regulations could significantly increase the cost of entering into derivative contracts (including through requirements to post collateral which could adversely affect our available liquidity), materially alter the terms of derivative contracts, reduce the availability of derivatives to protect against risks that we encounter, reduce our ability to restructure our existing derivative contracts, and increase our exposure to less creditworthy counterparties. If we reduce our use of derivatives as a result of such regulations (and any new regulations), our results of operations may become more volatile and our cash flows may be less predictable, which could adversely affect our ability to satisfy our debt obligations or plan for and fund capital expenditures.

The replacement of LIBOR with an alternative reference rate may adversely affect our credit arrangements and our collateralized loan obligation transactions.

LIBOR and certain other "benchmarks" are the subject of recent national, international, and other regulatory guidance and proposals for reform. These reforms have resulted in plans to phase out and eventually replace LIBOR which may cause such benchmarks to perform differently than in the past or have other consequences which cannot be predicted.

On November 30, 2020, the FCA, which regulates LIBOR, announced that subject to confirmation following its consultation with the administrator of LIBOR, it would cease publication of the one-week and two-month USD LIBOR immediately after December 31, 2021, and cease publication of the remaining tenors immediately after June 30, 2023. Additionally, the Federal Reserve Board has advised banks to stop entering into new USD LIBOR-based contracts. As a result of the phasing out of this benchmark, interest rates on our floating rate obligations, loans, deposits, derivatives, and other financial instruments tied to LIBOR rates, as well as the revenue and expenses associated with those financial instruments, may be adversely affected. It is unclear what methods of calculating a replacement benchmark will be established or adopted generally, and whether different industry bodies, such as the loan market and the derivatives market will adopt the same methodologies. To address the transition away from LIBOR, we have amended our credit agreements and related loan documentation to provide for an agreed upon methodology to calculate a new benchmark rate spreads, but there are as yet no comparable forward-looking benchmarks for the various LIBOR tenors. We are carefully evaluating our CLOs to identify any discrepancy between the interest rate an issuer pays on its liabilities compared to the interest rate on the underlying assets, or the amounts payable under a derivative used to hedge its currency or interest rate exposure. For our latest generation of CLOs, we have been incorporating provisions to address the transition from LIBOR, however certain older CLOs have not yet come up for amendment or refinancing, and as such may not currently contain clear LIBOR transition procedures. Additionally, there will be significant work required to transition to using the new benchmark rates and implement necessary changes to our systems, processes and models. This may impact our existing transaction data, products, systems, operations, and valuation processes. The calculation of interest rates under the replacement benchmarks could also negatively impact our business and financial results. We are assessing the impact of the transition; however, we cannot reasonably estimate the impact of the transition at this time.

There is no guarantee that a transition from LIBOR to an alternative will not result in financial market disruptions, significant increases or volatility in risk-free benchmark rates, or borrowing costs to borrowers, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, result of operations, financial condition, and unit price.

We are subject to substantial litigation risks and may face significant liabilities and damage to our professional reputation as a result of litigation allegations and negative publicity.

In the ordinary course of business, we are subject to the risk of substantial litigation and face significant regulatory oversight. In recent years, the volume of claims and the amount of potential damages claimed in such proceedings against the

financial services industry have generally been increasing. The investment decisions we make in our asset management business and the activities of our investment professionals on behalf of portfolio companies of our carry funds may subject them and us to the risk of third-party litigation arising from investor dissatisfaction with the performance of those investment funds, alleged conflicts of interest, the activities of our portfolio companies and a variety of other litigation claims and regulatory inquiries and actions. From time to time we and our portfolio companies have been and may be subject to regulatory actions and shareholder class action suits relating to transactions in which we have agreed to acquire public companies.

To the extent that investors in our investment funds suffer losses resulting from fraud, gross negligence, willful misconduct or other similar misconduct, investors may have remedies against us, our investment funds, our principals or our affiliates. Heightened standards of care or additional fiduciary duties may apply in certain of our managed accounts or other advisory contracts. To the extent we enter into agreements with clients containing such terms or applicable law mandates a heightened standard of care or duties, we could, for example, be liable to certain clients for acts of simple negligence or breach of such duties, which might include the allocation of a client's funds to our affiliated funds. Even in the absence of misconduct, we may be exposed to litigation or other adverse consequences where investments perform poorly and investors in or alongside our funds experience losses. The general partners and investment advisers to our investment funds, including their directors, officers, other employees and affiliates, are generally indemnified with respect to their conduct in connection with the management of the business and affairs of our investment funds.

Defending against litigation could be costly. Such litigation costs may not be recoverable from insurance or other indemnification. Carlyle has recovered significant amounts of insurance proceeds in recent years. As a general matter, we expect that the cost of insurance will increase significantly, and we do not believe we will recover the same amount of insurance proceeds as we have in prior years.

The laws and regulations governing the limited liability of such issuers and portfolio companies vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, and in certain contexts the laws of certain jurisdictions may provide not only for carve-outs from limited liability protection for the issuer or portfolio company that has incurred the liabilities, but also for recourse to assets of other entities under common control with, or that are part of the same economic group as, such issuer. For example, if one of our portfolio companies is subject to bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings in a jurisdiction and is found to have liabilities under the local consumer protection, labor, tax or bankruptcy laws, the laws of that jurisdiction may permit authorities or creditors to file a lien on, or to otherwise have recourse to, assets held by other portfolio companies (including the Company) in that jurisdiction. There can be no assurance that the Company will not be adversely affected as a result of the foregoing risks.

If any lawsuits were brought against us and resulted in a finding of substantial legal liability, the lawsuit could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations or financial condition or cause significant reputational harm to us, which could materially impact our business. We depend to a large extent on our business relationships and our reputation for integrity and high-caliber professional services to attract and retain investors and to pursue investment opportunities for our funds. As a result, allegations of improper conduct by private litigants (including investors in or alongside our funds), regulators or employees, whether the ultimate outcome is favorable or unfavorable to us, as well as negative publicity and press speculation about us, our investment activities, the private equity industry in general or our workplace, whether or not valid, may harm our reputation, which may be more damaging to our business than to other types of businesses.

In addition, with a workforce composed of many highly paid professionals, we face the risk of litigation relating to claims for compensation, which may, individually or in the aggregate, be significant in amount. The cost of settling any such claims could negatively impact our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Employee misconduct or fraud could harm us and subject us to significant legal liability and reputational harm, which could impair our ability to attract and retain investors in our funds. Fraud, other deceptive practices or other misconduct at our portfolio companies could similarly subject us to liability and reputational damage and also harm performance.

There have been a number of highly publicized cases involving fraud or other misconduct by employees in the financial services industry in recent years, and there is a risk that our employees or advisors could engage in misconduct or fraud that adversely affects our business. Misconduct or fraud by employees, advisors or other third-party service providers could cause significant losses. Employee misconduct or fraud could include, among other things, binding the Company to transactions that exceed authorized limits or present unacceptable risks and other unauthorized activities or concealing unsuccessful investments (which, in either case, may result in unknown and unmanaged risks or losses), or otherwise charging (or seeking to charge) inappropriate expenses or engaging in inappropriate or unlawful behavior or actions directed towards other employees. It is not always possible to deter misconduct or fraud by employees or service providers, and the precautions

we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in all cases. In the current remote work environment we may have less of an ability to supervise our employees, which could expose us to an enhanced risk of misconduct or fraud.

Our ability to attract and retain investors and to pursue investment opportunities for our investment funds depends heavily upon the reputation of our professionals, especially our senior Carlyle professionals. Because of our diverse business and the regulatory regimes under which we operate, we are subject to a number of obligations and standards (and related policies and procedures) arising from our asset management business and our authority over the assets managed by our asset management business. The violation of these obligations and standards (and related policies and procedures) by any of our employees would adversely affect us and our investment funds and investors. For example, we could lose our ability to raise new investment funds if any of our "covered persons" is the subject of a criminal, regulatory or court order or other "disqualifying event. See "—Extensive regulation in the United States and abroad affects our activities, increases the cost of doing business and creates the potential for significant liabilities and penalties." In addition, in certain jurisdictions, we may be liable for certain social media statements made by our employees. For example, any statements an employee makes online in a personal capacity (whether or not such employee identifies online as an employee of the Company) could still be attributed to Carlyle under certain regulations. Expressing personal views in a way that implies corporate endorsement could create misunderstandings and have adverse consequences for us and our employees.

Our business often requires that we deal with confidential matters of great significance to companies in which our investment funds may invest. If our employees, advisors or other third-party service providers were to use or disclose confidential information improperly, we could suffer serious harm to our reputation, financial position and current and future business relationships, as well as face potentially significant litigation. It is not always possible to detect or deter employee misconduct or fraud, including financial fraud, the misappropriation of funds of our business or our investment funds or inappropriate or unlawful behavior or actions directed toward other employees, and the extensive precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in all cases. If any of our employees were to engage in misconduct or fraud or were to be accused of such misconduct or fraud, whether or not substantiated, our business and our reputation could be adversely affected and a loss of investor confidence could result, which would adversely impact our ability to raise future funds.

In recent years, the U.S. Department of Justice (the "DOJ") and the SEC have devoted greater resources to enforcement of the FCPA. In addition, the United Kingdom and other jurisdictions have significantly expanded the reach of their anti-bribery laws. While we have developed and implemented policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance by us and our personnel with the FCPA and the UK anti-bribery laws, such policies and procedures may not be effective in all instances to prevent violations. Any determination that we have violated the FCPA, the UK anti-bribery laws or other applicable anticorruption laws could subject us to, among other things, civil and criminal penalties, material fines, profit disgorgement, injunctions on future conduct, securities litigation and a general loss of investor confidence, any one of which could adversely affect our business prospects, financial position or the market value of our common stock.

In addition, we will also be adversely affected if there is fraud, other deceptive practices or other misconduct by personnel of the portfolio companies in which our funds invest. For example, improper or illegal conduct by personnel at our portfolio companies or failure by such personnel to comply with anti-bribery, trade sanctions, anti-harassment, legal and regulatory requirements could adversely affect our business and reputation. Such misconduct or fraud could also undermine any due diligence efforts with respect to such companies and could negatively affect the valuation of a fund's investments.

Certain policies and procedures implemented to mitigate potential conflicts of interest and address certain regulatory requirements may reduce the synergies across our various businesses and inhibit our ability to maintain our collaborative culture.

We consider our "One Carlyle" philosophy and the ability of our professionals to communicate and collaborate across funds, industries and geographies one of our significant competitive strengths. As a result of the expansion of our platform into various lines of business in the asset management industry, our acquisition of new businesses, and the growth of our managed account business, we are subject to a number of actual and potential conflicts of interest and subject to greater regulatory oversight than that to which we would otherwise be subject if we had just one line of business. In addition, as we expand our platform, the allocation of investment opportunities among our investment funds is expected to become more complex. In addressing these conflicts and regulatory requirements across our various businesses, we have and may continue to implement certain policies and procedures (for example, information barriers). As a practical matter, the establishment and maintenance of such information barriers means that collaboration between our investment professionals across various platforms or with respect to certain investments may be limited, reducing potential synergies that we cultivate across these businesses through our "One Carlyle" approach. For example, although we maintain ultimate control over the Investment Solutions segment's constituent firms: AlpInvest and Metropolitan, we have erected an information barrier between the management teams at these

firms and the rest of Carlyle. See "—Risks Related to Our Business Operations—Our Investment Solutions business is subject to additional risks." In addition, we may come into possession of material, non-public information with respect to issuers in which we may be considering making an investment. As a consequence, we may be precluded from providing such information or other ideas to our other businesses that could benefit from such information.

## **Risks Related to Our Business Operations**

Poor performance of our investment funds would cause a decline in our revenue, income and cash flow, may obligate us to repay carried interest previously paid to us, and could adversely affect our ability to raise capital for future investment funds.

In the event that any of our investment funds were to perform poorly, our revenue, income and cash flow could decline. Investors could also demand lower fees or fee concessions for existing or future funds which would likewise decrease our revenue or require us to record an impairment of intangible assets and/or goodwill in the case of an acquired business. In some of our funds, such as our carry funds, a reduction in the value of the portfolio investments held in such funds could result in a reduction in the carried interest we earn or in our management fees. In our CLOs, defaults or downgrades of the CLOs' underlying collateral obligations could cause failures of certain overcollateralization tests and the potential for insufficient funds to pay expected management fees on any such CLO, which would result in either a temporary deferral or permanent loss of such management fees. See "—Our CLO business and investment into CLOs involves certain risks."

We also could experience losses on our investment of our own capital into our funds as a result of poor performance by our investment funds. If, as a result of poor performance of later investments in a carry fund's life, the fund does not achieve certain investment returns for the fund over its life, we will be obligated to repay the amount by which carried interest that was previously distributed to us exceeds the amount to which we are ultimately entitled. These repayment obligations may be related to amounts previously distributed to our senior Carlyle professionals prior to the completion of our initial public offering, with respect to which our stockholders did not receive any benefit. See "—We may need to pay "giveback" obligations if and when they are triggered under the governing agreements with our investors" and Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Poor performance of our investment funds may also make it more difficult for us to raise new capital. Investors in our funds might decline to invest in future investment funds we raise. Investors and potential investors in our funds continually assess our investment funds' performance, and our ability to raise capital for existing and future investment funds and avoid excessive redemption levels will depend on our investment funds' continued satisfactory performance. Accordingly, poor fund performance may deter future investment in our funds and thereby decrease the capital invested in our funds and ultimately, our management fee income.

Our asset management business depends in large part on our ability to raise capital from third-party investors. If we are unable to raise capital from third-party investors, we would be unable to collect management fees or deploy their capital into investments and potentially collect carried interest, which would materially reduce our revenue and cash flow and adversely affect our financial condition.

In 2019, we exceeded our goal of raising approximately \$100 billion in new capital commitments. Notwithstanding the pandemic and volatile economy, we raised \$27.5 billion in new capital commitments in 2020 led by our Global Credit and Investment Solutions funds. Our ability to raise capital from third-party investors depends on a number of factors, including certain factors that are outside our control. Certain of these factors such as the performance of the stock market, the pace of distributions from our funds and from the funds of other asset managers or the asset allocation rules or regulations or investment policies to which such third-party investors are subject, could inhibit or restrict the ability of third-party investors to make investments in our investment funds. Third-party investors in private equity, real assets and private credit funds typically use distributions from prior investments to meet future capital calls. In cases where valuations of existing investments fall, the investment pace is delayed and the pace of distributions slows, investors may be unable or unwilling to make new commitments or fund existing commitments to third-party management investment funds such as those advised by us. Although many investors have increased the amount of commitments they are making to alternative investment funds, there can be no assurance that this historical or current levels of commitments to our funds will continue. For example, there is a continuing shift away from defined benefit pension plans to defined contributions plans, which could reduce the amount of assets available for us to manage on behalf of certain of our clients. In addition, investors may downsize their investment allocations to alternative managers, including private funds and funds of funds vehicles, to rebalance a disproportionate weighting of their overall investment portfolio among asset classes. Investors may also seek to consolidate their investments with a smaller number of investment managers or prefer to pursue investment

making commitments to alternative investment funds, we may need to identify and attract new investors in order to maintain or increase the size of our investment funds. The lack of clarity around regulations, including BEPS, may also limit our fund investors' ability to claim double tax treaty benefits on their investments, which may limit their investments in our funds. We are working to create avenues through which we expect to attract a new base of individual investors. There can be no assurances that we can find or secure commitments from those new investors. Our ability to raise new funds could similarly be hampered if the general appeal of private equity and alternative investments were to decline.

An investment in a private equity, credit or real estate fund is more illiquid and the returns on such investment may be more volatile than an investment in securities for which there is a more active and transparent market. Private equity, credit and real estate investments could fall into disfavor as a result of concerns about liquidity and short-term performance. Such concerns could be exhibited, in particular, by public pension funds, which have historically been among the largest investors in alternative assets. Concerns with liquidity could cause such public pension funds to reevaluate the appropriateness of alternative investments.

In addition, the evolving preferences of our fund investors may necessitate that alternatives to the traditional investment fund structure, such as managed accounts, smaller funds and co-investment vehicles, become a larger part of our business going forward. Certain investors have also implemented or may implement restrictions against investing in certain types of asset classes such as fossil fuels, which would affect our ability to raise new funds focused on those asset classes, such as funds focused on energy or natural resources, and which could have a negative impact on our ability to exit certain of our energy investments, or our ability to invest capital in our conventional energy funds. Funds focused on investing in carbon-based energy ("Carbon Energy Funds") remain a significant part of our business (8% of total AUM) so the persistence of weakened market fundamentals in the energy sector could translate into future performance below investor expectations which, together with negative sentiments around carbon energy funds, could result in less investor demand for these funds in the future. Our total AUM in Carbon Energy Funds has already decreased from \$23 billion in 2015 to \$20 billion in 2020 and is expected to further decline in the future as Carlyle has determined not to raise a successor fund to Carlyle Energy Mezzanine Opportunities Fund II or Carlyle Power Partners II. Carlyle's future investments in carbon-based energy are expected to be made primarily through NGP in the United States and Carlyle International Energy Partners outside the United States. If we were unable to raise the next generation of our energy related funds, at the same levels or at all, our fee paying AUM and future management fees could be adversely impacted. This could increase our cost of raising capital at the scale we have historically achieved. Our investment in NGP entitles us to 55% of the management fee-related revenue of the NGP entities that serve as advisors to the NGP Energy Funds and is subject to impairment under the U.S. GAAP accounting for equity method investments. We evaluate our equity method investment in NGP for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the investment may not be recoverable, but no less than quarterly. For example, challenges with fundraising or lower future management fees could cause an impairment of our investment in NGP in the future. As of December 31, 2020, we continue to believe that our investment in NGP is not impaired.

The failure to successfully raise capital commitments to new investment funds may also expose us to credit risk in respect of financing that we may provide such funds. When existing capital commitments to a new investment fund are insufficient to fund in full a new investment fund's participation in a transaction, we may lend money to or borrow money from financial institutions on behalf of such investment funds to bridge this difference and repay this financing with capital from subsequent investors to the fund. Our inability to identify and secure capital commitments from new investors to these funds may expose us to losses (in the case of money that we lend directly to such funds) or adversely impact our ability to repay such borrowings or otherwise have an adverse impact on our liquidity position. Finally, if we seek to expand into other business lines, we may also be unable to raise a sufficient amount of capital to adequately support such businesses. The failure of our investment funds to raise capital in sufficient amounts could result in a decrease in our AUM as well as management fee and transaction fee revenue, or could result in a decline in the rate of growth of our AUM and management fee and transaction fee revenue, any of which could have a material adverse impact on our revenues and financial condition. Our past experience with growth of AUM provides no assurance with respect to the future.

Our investors may negotiate to pay us lower management fees and the economic terms of our future funds may be less favorable to us than those of our existing funds, which could adversely affect our revenues.

In connection with raising new funds or securing additional investments in existing funds, we negotiate terms for such funds and investments with existing and potential investors. The outcome of such negotiations could result in our agreement to terms that are materially less favorable to us than the terms of prior funds we have advised or funds advised by our competitors. Such terms could restrict our ability to raise investment funds with investment objectives or strategies that compete with existing funds, reduce fee revenues we earn, reduce the percentage of profits on third-party capital that we share in or add expenses and obligations for us in managing the fund or increase our potential liabilities, all of which could ultimately reduce

our profitability. Additionally, a change in terms which increases the amount of fee revenue the fund investors are entitled to could result in a significant decline in revenue generated from transaction fees. For instance, our latest generation U.S., Europe and Asia buyout funds have increased the percentage of transaction fees that are shared with fund investors from 80% to 100% of the fees we generate. Given this change in terms, and to the extent we change our fee practices for other successor funds, we could experience a meaningful decline in the amount of transaction fee revenue we earn. In particular, if our fund investors do not continue to agree that we are permitted to retain fees we derive from capital markets transactions involving our portfolio companies, the ability of our GCM group to produce fee revenue could be significantly hindered. Moreover, certain institutional investors have publicly criticized certain fund fee and expense structures, including management fees. We have received and expect to continue to confront requests from a variety of investors and groups representing investors to decrease fees and to modify our carried interest and incentive fee structures, which could result in a reduction in or delay in the timing of receipt of the fees and carried interest and incentive fees we earn. In addition to negotiating the overall fund rate of the management fees offered, certain fund investors have negotiated alternative management fee structures in several of our investment funds. For example, certain funds have offered a management fee rate discount for certain investors that came into the first closing of each fund. In certain cases, we have agreed to charge management fees based on invested capital or net asset value as opposed charging management fees on committed capital. Any modification of our existing fee or carry arrangements or the fee or carry structures for new investment funds could adversely affect our results of operations. See "—The alternative asset management business i

Valuation methodologies for certain assets in our funds can involve subjective judgments, and the fair value of assets established pursuant to such methodologies may be incorrect, which could result in the misstatement of fund performance and accrued performance allocations.

There are often no readily ascertainable market prices for a substantial majority of illiquid investments of our investment funds. We determine the fair value of the investments of each of our investment funds at least quarterly based on the fair value guidelines set forth by generally accepted accounting principles in the United States ("U.S. GAAP"). The fair value measurement accounting guidance establishes a hierarchal disclosure framework that ranks the observability of market inputs used in measuring financial instruments at fair value. The observability of inputs is impacted by a number of factors, including the type of financial instrument, the characteristics specific to the financial instrument and the state of the marketplace, including the existence and transparency of transactions between market participants. Financial instruments with readily available quoted prices, or for which fair value can be measured from quoted prices in active markets, will generally have a higher degree of market price observability and a lesser degree of judgment applied in determining fair value.

Investments for which market prices are not observable include, but are not limited to illiquid investments in operating companies, real estate, energy ventures and structured vehicles, and encompass all components of the capital structure, including equity, mezzanine, debt, preferred equity and derivative instruments such as options and warrants. Fair values of such investments are determined by reference to the market approach (i.e., multiplying a key performance metric of the investee company or asset, such as EBITDA, by a relevant valuation multiple observed in the range of comparable public entities or transactions, adjusted by management as appropriate for differences between the investment and the referenced comparables), the income approach (i.e., discounting projected future cash flows of the investee company or asset and/or capitalizing representative stabilized cash flows of the investee company or asset) and other methodologies such as prices provided by reputable dealers or pricing services, option pricing models and replacement costs.

The determination of fair value using these methodologies takes into consideration a range of factors including but not limited to the price at which the investment was acquired, the nature of the investment, local market conditions, the multiples of comparable securities, current and projected operating performance and financing transactions subsequent to the acquisition of the investment. These valuation methodologies involve a significant degree of management judgment. For example, as to investments that we share with another sponsor, we may apply a different valuation methodology than the other sponsor does and/or derive a different value than the other sponsor has derived on the same investment, which could cause some investors to question our valuations.

Because there is significant uncertainty in the valuation of, or in the stability of the value of, illiquid investments, the fair values of such investments as reflected in an investment fund's net asset value do not necessarily reflect the prices that would be obtained by us on behalf of the investment fund when such investments are realized. Realizations at values significantly lower than the values at which investments had been reflected in prior fund net asset values would result in reduced earnings or losses for the applicable fund, and potentially the loss of carried interest and incentive fees. Changes in values attributed to investments from quarter to quarter may result in volatility in the net asset values and results of operations that we report from period to period. Also, a situation where asset values turn out to be materially different than values reflected

in prior fund net asset values could cause investors to lose confidence in us, which could in turn result in difficulty in raising additional funds.

The historical returns attributable to our funds, including those presented in this report, should not be considered as indicative of the future results of our funds or of our future results or of any returns expected on an investment in our common stock.

We have presented in this Form 10-K information relating to the historical performance of our investment funds. The historical and potential future returns of the investment funds that we advise, however, are not directly linked to returns in our common stock. Therefore, any continued positive performance of the investment funds that we advise will not necessarily result in positive returns on an investment in our common stock. However, poor performance of the investment funds that we advise would cause a decline in our revenue from such investment funds, and could therefore have a negative effect on our performance, our ability to raise future funds and in all likelihood the returns on an investment in our common stock.

Moreover, with respect to the historical returns of our investment funds:

- we may create new funds in the future that reflect a different asset mix and different investment strategies, as well as a varied geographic and industry exposure as compared to our present funds, and any such new funds could have different returns than our existing or previous funds;
- the performance of our carry funds reflects our valuation of the unrealized investments held in those funds using assumptions that we
  believe are reasonable under the circumstances, but the actual realized return on these investments will depend on, among other factors,
  future operating results and the value of assets and market conditions at the time of disposition all of which may differ from the
  assumptions on which the valuations in our historical returns are based, which may adversely affect the ultimate value realized from those
  unrealized investments:
- in recent years, there has been increased competition for private equity investment opportunities resulting from the increased amount of capital invested in alternative investment funds, high liquidity in debt markets and strong equity markets, and the increased competition for investments may reduce our returns in the future;
- the rates of returns of some of our funds in certain years have been positively influenced by a number of investments that experienced rapid and substantial increases in value following the dates on which those investments were made, which may not occur with respect to future investments:
- our investment funds' returns in some years have benefited from investment opportunities and general market conditions that may not repeat themselves;
- our current or future investment funds might not be able to avail themselves of comparable investment opportunities or market
  conditions; and the circumstances under which our funds may make future investments may differ significantly from those conditions
  prevailing in the past;
- newly-established funds may generate lower returns during the period that they take to deploy their capital.

Our recent performance has benefited from today's high multiples and asset prices. In the current market environment, earning such returns on new investments will be much more difficult than in the past and the future internal rate of return for any current or future fund may vary considerably from the historical internal rate of return generated by any particular fund or for our funds as a whole. Future returns will also be affected by the risks described elsewhere in this report, including risks of the industries and businesses in which a particular fund invests. See—"Part II. Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Segment Analysis—Fund Performance Metrics" for additional information.

Dependence on significant leverage in investments by our funds could adversely affect our ability to achieve attractive rates of return on those investments.

Many of our carry funds' investments rely heavily on the use of leverage, and our ability to achieve attractive rates of return on investments will depend on our ability to access sufficient sources of indebtedness at attractive rates. For example, in many private equity investments, indebtedness may constitute and historically has constituted up to 70% or more of a portfolio company's or real estate asset's total debt and equity capitalization, including debt that may be incurred in connection with the

investment, whether incurred at or above the investment-level entity. The absence of available sources of sufficient debt financing for extended periods of time could therefore materially and adversely affect our Global Private Equity businesses. As the COVID-19 crisis began, in an effort to ensure adequate liquidity for an unknown period of time and avoid potential future disruptions in normal financial market function, many of our portfolio companies drew down available lines of credit in excess of typical utilization. These precautionary efforts ensured availability of working capital and avoided unnecessary business disruption. Certain of these portfolio companies may retain this capital for an extended period and therefore, the leverage at these portfolio companies will increase.

An increase in either the general levels of interest rates or in the risk spread demanded by sources of indebtedness would make it more expensive to finance those investments, thereby reducing returns. Increases in interest rates could also make it more difficult to locate and consummate private equity investments because other potential buyers, including operating companies acting as strategic buyers, may be able to bid for an asset at a higher price due to a lower overall cost of capital or their ability to benefit from a higher amount of cost savings following the acquisition of the asset. In addition, a portion of the indebtedness used to finance private equity investments often includes leveraged loans and high-yield debt securities issued in the public capital markets and debt instruments privately placed with institutional investors in the private capital markets. Availability of capital from the leveraged loan, high-yield and private debt markets is subject to significant volatility, and there may be times when we might not be able to access those markets at attractive rates, or at all, when completing an investment. Certain investments may also be financed through borrowings on fund-level debt facilities, which may or may not be available for a refinancing at the end of their respective terms. Additionally, to the extent there is a reduction in the availability of financing for extended periods of time, the purchasing power of a prospective buyer may be more limited, adversely impacting the fair value of our funds' investments and thereby reducing the acquisition price. Finally, the interest payments on the indebtedness used to finance our carry funds' investments have historically been deductible expenses for income tax purposes, subject to limitations under applicable tax law and policy. The availability of interest deductions for U.S. federal income tax purposes, however, is limited under rules imposed by the TCJA which apply complex limitations on the deductibility of net business interest expense over 30% of a taxpayer's taxable income of such business (with adjustments for certain interest and taxes, and for taxable years before 2022, depreciation and amortization). The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security ("CARES") Act was signed into law on March 27, 2020 and is part of U.S. legislation intended to address the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. The CARES Act includes provisions that modify the limitation on business interest rules imposed by the TCJA for tax years beginning in 2019 and 2020, increasing the limitation from 30% to 50% and providing special rules for partnerships to temporarily increase business interest deductibility.

These rules, as well as any future changes in such tax law or policy to eliminate or substantially limit these income tax deductions, as have been discussed from time to time in various other jurisdictions, could reduce the after-tax rates of return on the affected investments, which may have an adverse impact on our business and financial results. On October 5, 2015, the OECD published additional papers under the BEPS initiative. In action 4, the OECD recommended that countries adopt a limitation on excessive deductions under a fixed ratio rule and supplemented by a worldwide group ratio and certain targeted rules as needed. Many countries have adopted legislation limiting the amount of interest expense which will be deductible, which may impact the cash flow and value of our investments and ultimate profitability. See "— Our funds make investments in companies that are based outside of the United States, which may expose us to additional risks not typically associated with investing in companies that are based in the United States."

Investments in highly leveraged entities are also inherently more sensitive to declines in revenue, increases in expenses and interest rates and adverse economic, market and industry developments. Furthermore, the incurrence of a significant amount of indebtedness by an entity could, among other things:

- subject the entity to a number of restrictive covenants, terms and conditions, any violation of which could be viewed by creditors as an event of default and could materially impact our ability to realize value from the investment;
- allow even moderate reductions in operating cash flow to render the entity unable to service its indebtedness, leading to a bankruptcy or other reorganization of the entity and a loss of part or all of the equity investment in it;
- give rise to an obligation to make mandatory prepayments of debt using excess cash flow, which might limit the entity's ability to respond to changing industry conditions to the extent additional cash is needed for the response, to make unplanned but necessary capital expenditures or to take advantage of growth opportunities;
- limit the entity's ability to adjust to changing market conditions, thereby placing it at a competitive disadvantage compared to its
  competitors that have relatively less debt;

- · limit the entity's ability to engage in strategic acquisitions that might be necessary to generate attractive returns or further growth; and
- limit the entity's ability to obtain additional financing or increase the cost of obtaining such financing, including for capital expenditures, working capital or other general corporate purposes.

As a result, the risk of loss associated with a leveraged entity is generally greater than for companies with comparatively less debt. Similarly, the leveraged nature of the investments of our real assets funds increases the risk that a decline in the fair value of the underlying real estate or tangible assets will result in their abandonment or foreclosure.

When our private equity funds' portfolio investments reach the point when debt incurred to finance those investments matures in significant amounts and must be either repaid or refinanced, those investments may suffer materially if they have not generated sufficient cash flow to repay maturing debt and there is insufficient capacity and availability in the financing markets to permit them to refinance maturing debt on satisfactory terms, or at all. If a limited availability of financing for such purposes were to persist for an extended period of time, when significant amounts of the debt incurred to finance our Global Private Equity funds' portfolio investments came due, these funds could be materially and adversely affected.

Many of our Global Credit funds may choose to use leverage as part of their respective investment programs and regularly borrow a substantial amount of their capital. The use of leverage poses a significant degree of risk and enhances the possibility of a significant loss in the value of the investment portfolio. A fund may borrow money from time to time to purchase or carry securities or may enter into derivative transactions (such as total return swaps) with counterparties that have embedded leverage. The interest expense and other costs incurred in connection with such borrowing may not be recovered by appreciation in the securities purchased or carried and will be lost, and the timing and magnitude of such losses may be accelerated or exacerbated, in the event of a decline in the market value of such securities. Gains realized with borrowed funds may cause the fund's net asset value to increase at a faster rate than would be the case without borrowings. However, if investment results fail to cover the cost of borrowings, the fund's net asset value could also decrease faster than if there had been no borrowings. Increases in interest rates could also decrease the value of fixed-rate debt investment that our investment funds make. In addition, to the extent that any changes in tax law make debt financing less attractive to certain categories of borrowers, this could adversely affect the investment opportunities for our credit-focused funds.

Any of the foregoing circumstances could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flow.

## The alternative asset management business is intensely competitive.

The alternative asset management business is intensely competitive, with competition based on a variety of factors, including investment performance, business relationships, quality of service provided to investors, investor liquidity and willingness to invest, fund terms (including fees), brand recognition, types of products offered and business reputation. Our investment business, as well as our investment funds, competes with a number of private equity funds, specialized investment funds, hedge funds, corporate buyers, traditional asset managers, real estate development companies, commercial banks, investment banks and other financial institutions (as well as sovereign wealth funds and other institutional investors).

Additionally, developments in financial technology (or fintech), such as a distributed ledger technology (or blockchain), have the potential to disrupt the financial industry and change the way financial institutions, as well as asset managers, do business. A number of factors serve to increase our competitive risks:

- a number of our competitors in some of our businesses have greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources and more
  personnel than we do;
- some of our funds may not perform as well as competitors' funds or other available investment products;
- several of our competitors have significant amounts of capital, and many of them have similar investment objectives to ours, which may
  create additional competition for investment opportunities and may reduce the size and duration of pricing inefficiencies that otherwise
  could be exploited;
- some of these competitors (including strategic competitors) may also have a lower cost of capital and access to funding sources that are not available to us, which may create competitive disadvantages for our funds with respect to investment opportunities;

- some of our competitors may have higher risk tolerances, different risk assessments or lower return thresholds than us, which could allow
  them to consider a wider variety of investments and to bid more aggressively than us for investments that we want to make;
- some of our competitors may be subject to less regulation and accordingly may have more flexibility to undertake and execute certain businesses or investments than we do and/or bear less compliance expense than us;
- some of our competitors may have more flexibility than us in raising certain types of investment funds under the investment management contracts they have negotiated with their investors;
- some of our competitors may have better expertise or be regarded by investors as having better expertise in a specific asset class or geographic region than we do;
- our competitors that are corporate buyers may be able to achieve synergistic cost savings in respect of an investment, which may provide them with a competitive advantage in bidding for an investment;
- our competitors have instituted or may institute low cost high speed financial applications and services based on artificial intelligence and new competitors may enter the asset management space using new investment platforms based on artificial intelligence;
- there are relatively few barriers to entry impeding the formation of new investment firms, and the successful efforts of new entrants into our various businesses, including former "star" portfolio managers at large diversified financial institutions as well as such institutions themselves, is expected to continue to result in increased competition;
- · some investors may prefer to pursue investments directly instead of investing through one of our funds;
- some investors may prefer to invest with an asset manager that is not publicly traded or is smaller with only one or two investment products that it manages; and
- · other industry participants may, from time to time, seek to recruit our investment professionals and other employees away from us.

We may lose investment opportunities in the future if we do not match investment prices, structures, products or terms offered by our competitors. Alternatively, we may experience decreased rates of return and increased risks of loss if we match investment prices, structures and terms offered by our competitors. Moreover, if we are forced to compete with other asset managers on the basis of price, we may not be able to maintain our current fund fee and carried interest terms. We have historically competed primarily on the performance of our funds, and not on the level of our fees or carried interest relative to those of our competitors. However, there is a risk that fees and carried interest in the asset management industry will decline, without regard to the historical performance of a manager. Fee or carried interest income reductions on existing or future funds, without corresponding decreases in our cost structure, would adversely affect our revenues and profitability. See "—Our investors may negotiate to pay us lower management fees and the economic terms of our future funds may be less favorable to us than those of our existing funds, which could adversely affect our revenues."

The attractiveness of our investment funds relative to investments in other investment products could decrease depending on economic conditions. In addition, to the extent that any changes in tax law make debt financing less attractive to certain categories of borrowers, this could adversely affect the investment opportunities for our credit-focused funds. This competitive pressure could adversely affect our ability to make successful investments and limit our ability to raise future investment funds, either of which would adversely impact our business, revenue, results of operations and cash flow. See "—Our investors may negotiate to pay us lower management fees and the economic terms of our future funds may be less favorable to us than those of our existing funds, which could adversely affect our revenues."

The due diligence process that we undertake in connection with investments by our investment funds may not reveal all facts that may be relevant in connection with an investment.

Before making private equity and other investments, we conduct due diligence that we deem reasonable and appropriate based on the known facts and circumstances applicable to each investment. The objective of the due diligence

process is to identify attractive investment opportunities based on the known facts and circumstances and initial risk assessment surrounding an investment and, depending on our ownership or control of private equity investments, prepare a framework that may be used from the date of an acquisition to drive operational achievement and value creation. When conducting due diligence, we may be required to evaluate important and complex business, financial, regulatory, tax, accounting, environmental (including climate change) and legal issues. Outside consultants, legal advisors, accountants and investment banks may be involved in the due diligence process in varying degrees depending on the type of investment. Nevertheless, when conducting due diligence and making an assessment regarding an investment, we rely on the resources available to us, including information provided by the target of the investment and, in some circumstances, third-party investigations and analysis. The due diligence process may at times be subjective with respect to newly-organized companies for which only limited information is available. Accordingly, we cannot be certain that the due diligence investigation that we carry out with respect to any investment opportunity will reveal or highlight all relevant facts that may be necessary or helpful in evaluating such investment opportunity. The due diligence process in connection with carve-out transactions may underestimate the complexity and/or level of dependence a business has on its parent company and affiliated entities. Because a carve-out business often does not have financial statements that accurately reflect its true financial performance as a stand-alone business, due diligence assessments of such investments can be particularly difficult. Instances of fraud, accounting irregularities and other improper, illegal or deceptive practices can be difficult to detect, and fraud and other deceptive practices can be widespread in certain jurisdictions. Several of our funds invest in emerging market countries that may not have established laws and regulations that are as stringent as in more developed nations, or where existing laws and regulations may not be consistently enforced. For example, our funds invest throughout jurisdictions that have material perceptions of corruption according to international rating standards (such as "Transparency International's Corruption Perceptions Index") such as China, India, Indonesia, Latin America, MENA and Sub-Saharan Africa. Similarly, our funds invest in companies in the U.S. and other jurisdictions and regions with low perceived corruption but whose business may be conducted in other high-risk jurisdictions.

Due diligence on investment opportunities in these jurisdictions is frequently more complicated because consistent and uniform commercial practices in such locations may not be developed or our access to information may be very limited. Fraud, accounting irregularities and deceptive practices can be especially difficult to detect in such locations. In addition, investment opportunities may arise in companies that have historic and/or unresolved regulatory, tax, fraud or accounting related investigations, audits or inquiries and/or have been subjected to public accusations of improper behavior. However, even heightened and specific due diligence and investigations with respect to such matters may not reveal or highlight all relevant facts that may be necessary or helpful in evaluating such investment opportunity and/or will be able to accurately identify, assess and quantify settlements, enforcement actions and judgments that may arise and which could have a material adverse effect on the portfolio company's business, financial condition and operations, as well as potential significant harm to the portfolio company's reputation and prospects. We cannot be certain that our due diligence investigations will result in investments being successful or that the actual financial performance of an investment will not fall short of the financial projections we used when evaluating that investment. Failure to identify risks associated with our investments could have a material adverse effect on our business.

In addition, the global outbreak of COVID-19 may impact our ability to conduct due diligence on investment opportunities in the normal manner. More specifically, during fiscal 2020, travel restrictions negatively affected our ability to have in person meetings with potential target company personnel, customers, vendors and other service providers and such restrictions are likely to continue during fiscal 2021. Similarly, lower business confidence and generally higher levels of uncertainty as a result of the COVID-19 outbreak has made it more difficult to assess target company valuations and delayed our ability to complete due diligence on attractive businesses or assets that we identify, and may continue to do so in the future.

Our funds invest in relatively high-risk, illiquid assets, and we may fail to realize any profits from these activities for a considerable period of time or lose some or all of our principal investments.

Many of our investment funds invest in securities that are not publicly traded. In many cases, our investment funds may be prohibited by contract or by applicable securities laws from selling such securities for a period of time. Our investment funds will not be able to sell these securities publicly unless their sale is registered under applicable securities laws, or unless an exemption from such registration is available. The ability of many of our investment funds, particularly our private equity funds, to dispose of investments is heavily dependent on the public equity markets. For example, the ability to realize any value from an investment may depend upon the ability to complete an initial public offering of the portfolio company in which such investment is held. Even if the securities are publicly traded, large holdings of securities can often be disposed of only over a substantial length of time, exposing the investment returns to risks of downward movement in market prices during the intended disposition period. Moreover, because the investment strategy of many of our funds, particularly our private equity funds, often entails our having representation on our funds' public portfolio company boards, our funds may be able to effect such sales only during limited trading windows. Additionally, certain provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws (e.g., Exchange Act Section

16) may constrain our investment funds' ability to effect purchases or sales of publicly traded securities. Accordingly, under certain conditions, our investment funds may be forced to either sell securities at lower prices than they had expected to realize or defer, potentially for a considerable period of time, sales that they had planned to make.

We have made and expect to continue to make significant principal investments in our current and future investment funds. Contributing capital to these investment funds is subject to significant risks, and we may lose some or all of the principal amount of our investments.

#### The investments of our private equity funds are subject to a number of inherent risks.

Our results are highly dependent on our continued ability to generate attractive returns from our investments. Investments made by our private equity funds involve a number of significant risks inherent to private equity investing, including the following:

- we advise funds that invest in businesses that operate in a variety of industries that are subject to extensive domestic and foreign regulation, such as the telecommunications industry, the aerospace, defense and government services industry and the healthcare industry (including companies that supply equipment and services to governmental agencies), that may involve greater risk due to rapidly changing market and governmental conditions in those sectors;
- significant failures of our portfolio companies to comply with laws and regulations applicable to them may expose us to liabilities, fines
  or penalties, could affect the ability of our funds to invest in other companies in certain industries in the future and could harm our
  reputation;
- companies in which private equity investments are made may have limited financial resources and may be unable to meet their
  obligations, which may be accompanied by a deterioration in the value of their equity securities or any collateral or guarantees provided
  with respect to their debt;
- companies in which private equity investments are made are more likely to depend on the management talents and efforts of a small group of persons and, as a result, the death, disability, resignation or termination of one or more of those persons could have a material adverse impact on their business and prospects and the investment made;
- companies in which private equity investments are made may be businesses or divisions acquired from larger operating entities which
  may require a rebuilding or replacement of financial reporting, information technology, back office and other operations;
- companies in which private equity investments are made may from time to time be parties to litigation, may be engaged in rapidly changing businesses with products subject to a substantial risk of obsolescence and may require substantial additional capital to support their operations, finance expansion or maintain their competitive position;
- · companies in which private equity investments are made generally have less predictable operating results;
- instances of fraud, corruption and other deceptive practices committed by senior management of portfolio companies in which our funds
  invest may undermine our due diligence efforts with respect to such companies and, upon the discovery of such fraud, negatively affect
  the valuation of a fund's investments as well as contribute to overall market volatility that can negatively impact a fund's investment
  program;
- our funds may make investments that they do not advantageously dispose of prior to the date the applicable fund is dissolved, either by
  expiration of such fund's term or otherwise, resulting in a lower than expected return on the investments and, potentially, on the fund
  itself:
- our funds generally establish the capital structure of portfolio companies on the basis of the financial projections based primarily on management judgments and assumptions, and general economic conditions and other factors may cause actual performance to fall short of these financial projections, which could cause a substantial decrease in the value of our equity holdings in the portfolio company and cause our funds' performance to fall short of our expectations;

- under ERISA, a "trade or business" within a "controlled group" can be liable for the ERISA Title IV pension obligations (including withdrawal liability for union multiemployer plans) of any other member of the controlled group. This "controlled group" liability represents one of the few situations in which one entity's liability can be imposed upon another simply because the entities are united by common ownership, but in order for such joint and several liability to be imposed, two tests must be satisfied: (1) the entity on which such liability is to be imposed must be a "trade or business" and (2) a "controlled group" relationship must exist among such entity and the pension plan sponsor or the contributing employer. While a number of cases have held that managing investments is not a "trade or business" for tax purposes, at least one federal Circuit Court case has concluded that an investment fund could be a "trade or business" for ERISA purposes (and, consequently, could be liable for underfunded pension liabilities of an insolvent portfolio company) based upon a number of factors present in that case, including the fund's level of involvement in the management of its portfolio companies and the nature of its management fee arrangements. Litigation related to the Circuit Court's decision suggests that additional factors may be relevant for purposes of determining whether an investment fund could face "controlled group" liability under ERISA, including the structure of the investment, and the nature of the fund's relationship with other affiliated investors and co-investors in the portfolio company. Moreover, regardless of whether or not an investment fund is determined to be a trade or business for purposes of ERISA, a court might hold that one of the fund's portfolio companies could become jointly and severally liable for another portfolio company's unfunded pension liabilities pursuant to the ERISA "controlled group" rules, depending upon the relevant investment structures and ownership interests as noted above; and
- executive officers, directors and employees of an equity sponsor may be named as defendants in litigation involving a company in which a private equity investment is made or is being made.

# Our real estate funds are subject to the risks inherent in the ownership and operation of real estate and the construction and development of real estate.

Investments in our real estate funds will be subject to the risks inherent in the ownership and operation of real estate and real estate-related businesses and assets. These risks include the following:

- those associated with the burdens of ownership of real property;
- general and local economic conditions;
- changes in supply of and demand for competing properties in an area (as a result, for instance, of overbuilding);
- fluctuations in the average occupancy and room rates for hotel and student housing properties;
- the financial resources of tenants;
- · changes in building, environmental and other laws;
- failure to obtain necessary approvals and/or permits;
- · energy and supply shortages;
- various uninsured or uninsurable risks;
- · natural disasters;
- changes in government regulations (such as rent control);
- changes in real property tax rates and operating expenses;
- · changes in interest rates;
- the reduced availability of mortgage funds which may render the sale or refinancing of properties difficult or impracticable;
- inability to meet debt obligations
- negative developments in the economy that depress travel and leasing activity;
- environmental liabilities;
- contingent liabilities on disposition of assets;
- unexpected cost overruns in connection with development projects;
- terrorist attacks, war and other factors that are beyond our control; and
- · dependence on local operating partners.

With regards to potential environmental liabilities, ownership of real assets in our investment funds or vehicles may increase our risk of liability under laws that impose, regardless of fault, joint and several liability for the cost of remediating contamination and compensation for damages. In addition, changes in environmental laws or regulations or the environmental condition of an investment may create liabilities that did not exist at the time of acquisition. For example, the new Administration announced several initiatives and have proposed new regulations focused on the climate crisis which could impact our real estate assets in various ways that were not considered at the time of investment. Even in cases where we are indemnified by a seller against liabilities arising out of violations of environmental laws and regulations, there can be no assurance as to the financial viability of the seller to satisfy such indemnities or our ability to achieve enforcement of such indemnities.

In addition to real property assets, our real estate funds may also invest in real estate related operating companies such as logistics hubs and data centers. These investments are similar to the portfolio investments made by our buyout and growth funds and are subject to similar risks and uncertainties as apply to those operating companies. See "—The investments of our private equity funds are subject to a number of inherent risks."

Real estate markets may experience sharp increases in capitalization rates and declines in value as a result of overall economic decline and the limited availability of financing and the value of certain investments in our real estate funds may decline significantly. In addition, if our real estate funds acquire direct or indirect interests in undeveloped land or underdeveloped real property, which may often be non-income producing, they will be subject to the risks normally associated with such assets and development activities, including risks relating to the availability and timely receipt of zoning and other regulatory or environmental approvals, the cost and timely completion of construction (including risks beyond the control of our fund, such as weather or labor conditions or material shortages) and the availability of both construction and permanent financing on favorable terms. Additionally, our real estate funds' properties are often managed by a third party, which makes us dependent upon such third parties and subjects us to risks associated with the actions of such third parties. Any of these factors may cause the value of the investments in our real estate funds to decline, which may have a material impact on our results of operations.

## We often pursue investment opportunities that involve business, regulatory, legal or other complexities.

As an element of our investment style, we may pursue unusually complex investment opportunities. This can often take the form of substantial business, regulatory, tax, or legal complexity that would deter other asset managers. Our tolerance for complexity presents risks, as such transactions can be more difficult, expensive and time-consuming to finance and execute; it can be more difficult to manage or realize value from the assets acquired in such transactions; and such transactions sometimes entail a higher level of regulatory scrutiny or a greater risk of contingent liabilities. The complexity of these transactions could also make it more difficult to find a suitable buyer. Any of these risks could harm the performance of our funds or strategic investments.

## Our investment funds make investments in companies that we do not control.

Investments by many of our investment funds will include debt instruments and equity securities of companies that we do not control. Such instruments and securities may be acquired by our investment funds through trading activities or through purchases of securities from the issuer. In addition, our funds may acquire minority equity interests in large transactions, which may be structured as "consortium transactions" due to the size of the investment and the amount of capital required to be invested. A consortium transaction involves an equity investment in which two or more private equity or other firms serve together or collectively as equity sponsors. We participated in a number of consortium transactions in prior years due to the increased size of many of the transactions in which we were involved. Consortium transactions generally entail a reduced level of control by our firm over the investment because governance rights must be shared with the other consortium sponsors. Accordingly, we may not be able to control decisions relating to a consortium investment, including decisions relating to the management and operation of the company and the timing and nature of any exit. Our funds may also dispose of a portion of their majority equity investments in portfolio companies over time in a manner that results in the funds retaining a minority investment. Those investments may be subject to the risk that the company in which the investment is made may make business, tax, legal, financial or management decisions with which we do not agree or that the majority stakeholders or the management of the company may take risks or otherwise act in a manner that does not serve our interests. If any of the foregoing were to occur, the value of investments by our funds could decrease and our financial condition, results of operations and cash flow could suffer as a result.

## Our investment funds may invest in assets denominated in currencies which differ from the currency in which the fund is denominated.

When our investment funds invest in assets denominated in currencies that differ from the functional currency of the relevant fund, fluctuations in currency rates could impact the performance of the investment funds. For example, Carlyle sponsors U.S. dollar-denominated funds that invest in assets denominated in foreign currencies such as our buyout and growth funds in Asia and South America. In the event that the U.S. dollar appreciates, the market value of the investments in these funds will decline even if the underlying investments perform well in local currency. In addition, our buyout and growth funds in Europe are Euro-denominated and may have investments denominated in U.S. Dollar, British Pound, or other currencies. In the event the Euro appreciates, the market value of investments in these funds would decline even if the underlying investments perform well in local currency.

We may employ hedging techniques to manage these risks, but we can offer no assurance that such strategies will be effective or tax-efficient. If we engage in hedging transactions, we may be exposed to additional risks associated with such transactions. See "—Risks Related to Our Business Operations —Risk management activities may adversely affect the return on our and our funds' investments." And "—Financial regulatory changes in the United States could adversely affect our business and the possibility of increased regulatory focus could result in additional burdens and expenses on our business."

Our funds make investments in companies that are based outside of the United States, which may expose us to additional risks not typically associated with investing in companies that are based in the United States.

Many of our investment funds generally invest a significant portion of their assets in the equity, debt, loans or other securities of issuers that are headquartered outside of the United States, such as China, India, Indonesia and Latin America. A substantial amount of these foreign investments consist of investments made by our carry funds. For example, as of December 31, 2020, approximately 37% of the cumulative capital invested by our Global Private Equity and Global Credit carry funds was attributable to foreign investments. Investments in non-U.S. securities involve risks not typically associated with investing in U.S. securities, including:

- certain economic and political risks, including potential exchange control regulations and restrictions on our non-U.S. investments and repatriation of profits on investments or of capital invested, the risks of political, economic or social instability, the possibility of expropriation or confiscatory taxation and adverse economic and political developments;
- the imposition of non-U.S. taxes on gains from the sale of investments or other distributions by our funds;
- the absence of uniform accounting, auditing and financial reporting standards, practices and disclosure requirements and less government supervision and regulation;
- changes in laws or clarifications to existing laws that could impact our tax treaty positions, which could adversely impact the returns on our investments;
- limitations on the deductibility of interest for income tax purposes in certain jurisdictions;
- differences in the legal and regulatory environment or enhanced legal and regulatory compliance;
- limitations on borrowings to be used to fund acquisitions or dividends;
- · political hostility to investments by foreign or private equity investors, including increased risk of government expropriation;
- less liquid markets;
- · reliance on a more limited number of commodity inputs, service providers and/or distribution mechanisms;
- adverse fluctuations in currency exchange rates and costs associated with conversion of investment principal and income from one currency into another;
- higher rates of inflation;
- higher transaction costs;
- · less government supervision of exchanges, brokers and issuers;
- less developed bankruptcy, limited liability company, corporate, partnership and other laws (which may have the effect of disregarding or otherwise circumventing the limited liability structures potentially causing the actions or liabilities of one fund or a portfolio company to adversely impact us or an unrelated fund or portfolio company);
- difficulty in enforcing contractual obligations;

- less stringent requirements relating to fiduciary duties;
- · fewer investor protections and less publicly available information in respect of companies in non-U.S. markets; and
- greater price volatility.

For example, the imposition of a new national security law has increased overall uncertainty about risks associated with international trade with Hong Kong, the potential for increased taxation on Hong Kong-related transactions, and new regulatory restrictions and data protection concerns for businesses operated in Hong Kong (including our Hong Kong operations).

We operate in numerous national and subnational jurisdictions throughout the world and are subject to complex taxation requirements that could result in the imposition of taxes in excess of any amounts that are reserved as a cash or financial statement matter for such purposes. In addition, the portfolio companies of our investment funds are typically subject to taxation in the jurisdictions in which they operate. It is possible that a taxing authority could take a contrary view of our tax position or there could be changes in law subsequent to the date of an investment in a particular portfolio company that will adversely affect returns from that investment, or adversely affect any prospective investments in a particular jurisdiction, for example as a result of new legislation in any such local jurisdiction affecting the deductibility of interest or other expenses related to acquisition financing.

In the event a portfolio company outside the United States experiences financial difficulties, we may consider local laws, corporate organizational structure, potential impacts on other portfolio companies in the region and other factors in developing our business response. Among other actions, we may seek to enhance the management team or fund additional capital from our investment funds, our senior Carlyle professionals and/or us. To the extent we and/or certain of our senior Carlyle professionals fund additional capital into a company that is experiencing difficulties, we may be required to consolidate the entity into our financial statements under applicable U.S. GAAP. See "—Risks Related to Our Common Stock—The consolidation of investment funds, holding companies or operating businesses of our portfolio companies could make it more difficult to understand the operating performance of the Company and could create operational risks for the Company."

Our funds' investments that are denominated in a foreign currency will be subject to the risk that the value of a particular currency will change in relation to one or more other currencies or that there will be changes in the cost of currency conversion and/or exchange control regulations. Among the factors that may affect currency values are trade balances, levels of short-term interest rates, differences in relative values of similar assets in different currencies, long-term opportunities for investment and capital appreciation and political developments. Additionally, the increase in the value of the dollar makes it more difficult for companies outside of the United States that depend on non-dollar revenues to repay or refinance their dollar liabilities and a stronger dollar also reduces the domestic value of the foreign sales and earnings of U.S.-based businesses.

Regulatory action to implement controls on foreign exchange and outbound remittances of currency could also impact the dollar value of investments proceeds, interest and dividends received by our investment funds, gains and losses realized on the sale of investments and the timing and amount of distributions, if any, made to us. For example certain Asian countries, including China have implemented stricter controls on foreign exchange and outbound remittances, and several governmental entities such as, The Peoples Bank of China (PBOC), the State Administration of Foreign Exchange (SAFE), the National Development and Reform Commission (NDRC) and the Ministry of Commerce (MOFCOM) have instituted additional reporting, review and verification steps around control outbound payments on capital account items. Furthermore, in certain cases, our fund management fees are denominated in foreign currencies. With respect to those funds, we are subject to the risk that the value of a particular currency will change in relation to one or more other currencies in which the fund has incurred expenses or has made investments.

## We may need to pay "giveback" obligations if and when they are triggered under the governing agreements with our investors.

If, at the end of any of the life of our Global Private Equity and Global Credit carry funds (or earlier with respect to certain of our funds), the carry fund has not achieved investment returns that (in most cases) exceed the preferred return threshold or (in almost all cases) the general partner receives net profits over the life of the fund in excess of its allocable share under the applicable partnership agreement, we will be obligated to repay an amount equal to the extent to which carried interest that was previously distributed to us exceeds the amounts to which we are ultimately entitled. This repayment obligation is known as a "giveback" obligation. As of December 31, 2020, we had accrued a giveback obligation of \$18.7 million, representing the giveback obligation that would need to be paid by the firm if the carry funds were liquidated at their current fair values at that date, and of which approximately \$8.1 million is attributable to the Company. The remaining

obligations are related to amounts previously distributed to our senior Carlyle professionals, the majority of which relates to the accrued giveback obligation from the Legacy Energy Funds.

When payment of a giveback obligation is anticipated (or "realized"), the portion of this liability that is expected to be borne by the common stockholders (i.e., the amount not expected to be funded by Carlyle professionals) has the effect of reducing our Distributable Earnings. Any remaining giveback obligation required to be funded on behalf of our funds would generally be due upon the liquidation of the remaining assets from the funds.

If, as of December 31, 2020, all of the investments held by our carry funds were deemed worthless, the amount of realized and distributed carried interest subject to potential giveback would have been \$0.5 billion, on an after-tax basis where applicable. Since inception, we have realized \$216.1 million in aggregate giveback obligations, which were funded primarily through collection of employee receivables related to giveback obligations and from Carlyle professionals and other non-controlling interests for their portion of the obligation. This amount is net of \$44.7 million related to second Asia buyout fund accruing carry again after payment of a full after-tax clawback in 2016. Of the \$216.1 million in aggregate giveback obligations realized inception to date, \$55.6 million was attributable to the Company. See "Part 1. Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Key Financial Measures—Investment Income."

Although a giveback obligation is specific to each person who received a distribution, and not a joint obligation, the governing agreements of our funds generally provide that to the extent a recipient does not fund his or her respective share, then we may have to fund such additional amounts beyond the amount of carried interest we retained, although we generally will retain the right to pursue any remedies that we have under such governing agreements against those carried interest recipients who fail to fund their obligations. As of December 31, 2020, approximately \$10.6 million of our \$18.7 million accrued giveback obligation is attributable to various current and former senior Carlyle professionals. We have historically withheld a portion of the cash from carried interest distributions to individual senior Carlyle professionals and other employees as security for their potential giveback obligations. We may need to use or reserve cash to repay such giveback obligations instead of using the cash for other purposes. See "Part I. Item 1. Business—Structure and Operation of Our Investment Funds—Incentive Arrangements / Fee Structure" and "Part 1. Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Contractual Obligations—Contingent Obligations (Giveback)" and Notes 2 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our investment funds often make preferred and common equity investments that rank junior to preferred equity and debt in a company's capital structure.

In most cases, the companies in which our investment funds invest have, or are permitted to have, outstanding indebtedness or equity securities that rank senior to our fund's investment. By their terms, such instruments may provide that their holders are entitled to receive payments of dividends, interest or principal on or before the dates on which payments are to be made in respect of our investment. Also, in the event of insolvency, liquidation, dissolution, reorganization or bankruptcy of a company in which an investment is made, holders of securities ranking senior to our investment would typically be entitled to receive payment in full before distributions could be made in respect of our investment. After repaying senior security holders, the company may not have any remaining assets to use for repaying amounts owed in respect of our investment. To the extent that any assets remain, holders of claims that rank equally with our investment would be entitled to share on an equal and ratable basis in distributions that are made out of those assets. Also, during periods of financial distress or following an insolvency, the ability of our funds to influence a company's affairs and to take actions to protect their investments may be substantially less than that of the senior creditors.

Third-party investors in substantially all of our carry funds have the right to remove the general partner of the fund for cause, to accelerate the liquidation date of the investment fund without cause by a simple majority vote and to terminate the investment period under certain circumstances and investors in certain of the investment funds we advise may redeem their investments. These events would lead to a decrease in our revenues, which could be substantial.

The governing agreements of almost all of our carry funds provide that, subject to certain conditions, third-party investors in those funds have the right to remove the general partner of the fund for cause or to accelerate the liquidation date of the investment fund without cause by a simple majority vote. In addition, our investment vehicles that are structured as "funds of one", or separately managed accounts, have a single investor or a few affiliated investors that typically have the right to terminate the investment period or cause a dissolution of the vehicle under certain circumstances. These actions would result in a reduction in management fees we would earn from such investment funds, vehicles, or accounts, and could result in a significant reduction in the expected amounts of total carried interest and incentive fees from those investment funds, vehicles, or accounts. Carried interest and incentive fees could be significantly reduced as a result of our inability to maximize the value

of investments by an investment fund during the liquidation process or in the event of the triggering of a "giveback" obligation. Finally, the applicable investment funds, vehicles, or accounts would cease to exist after completion of liquidation and winding-up.

In addition, the governing agreements of certain of our investment funds provide that in the event certain "key persons" in our investment funds do not meet specified time commitments with regard to managing the fund (for example, certain of the investment professionals serving on the investment committee or advising the fund), then investors in certain funds have the right to vote to terminate the investment period by a simple majority vote in accordance with specified procedures, accelerate the withdrawal of their capital on an investor-by-investor basis, or the fund's investment period will automatically terminate and the vote of a simple majority of investors is required to restart it. While we believe that our investment professionals have appropriate incentives to remain in their respective positions, based on equity ownership, profit participation and other contractual provisions, we are not able to guarantee the ongoing participation of the management team members in respect of our funds. In addition to having a significant negative impact on our revenue, earnings and cash flow, the occurrence of a key person event with respect to any of our investment funds would likely result in significant reputational damage to us and could negatively impact our future fundraising efforts.

The AlpInvest funds generally provide for suspension of the investment period if there is a key person event, the right of a supermajority of investors to remove the general partner with cause and, in some cases, without cause, but generally have not provided for liquidation without cause.

The latest generation of Metropolitan funds generally provide for suspension of the investment period if there is a key person event, the right of a supermajority of investors to remove the general partner with or without cause, and the right of a majority of investors to accelerate the liquidation date of the fund without cause by a simple majority vote.

Where AlpInvest and Metropolitan funds include "key person" provisions, they are focused on specific existing AlpInvest or Metropolitan personnel as applicable.

In addition, because our investment funds generally have an adviser that is registered under the Advisers Act, the management agreements of each of our investment funds would be terminated upon an "assignment" to a third-party of these agreements without appropriate investor consent, which assignment may be deemed to occur in the event these advisers were to experience a change of control. We cannot be certain that consents required to assignments of our investment management agreements will be obtained if a change of control occurs. "Assignment" of these agreements without investor consent could cause us to lose the fees we earn from such investment funds.

Third-party investors in our investment funds with commitment-based structures may not satisfy their contractual obligation to fund capital calls when requested by us, which could adversely affect a fund's operations and performance.

Investors in our carry funds make capital commitments to those funds that we are entitled to call from those investors at any time during prescribed periods. We depend on investors fulfilling their commitments when we call capital from them in order for those funds to consummate investments and otherwise pay their obligations (for example, management fees) when due. Any investor that did not fund a capital call would generally be subject to several possible penalties, including having a significant amount of its existing investment forfeited in that fund. However, the impact of the penalty is directly correlated to the amount of capital previously invested by the investor in the fund and if an investor has invested little or no capital, for instance early in the life of the fund, then the forfeiture penalty may not be as meaningful. Investors may also negotiate for lesser or reduced penalties at the outset of the fund, thereby inhibiting our ability to enforce the funding of a capital call. Our use of subscription lines of credit to purchase an investment prior to calling capital from fund investors could increase the prevalence of defaulting limited partners. Should the value of an investment funded through a fund line-of-credit decline, especially early in a fund's life-cycle where minimal capital has been contributed by the fund's investors, a limited partner may decide not to fund its commitment. In addition, third-party investors in private equity, real estate assets and venture capital funds typically use distributions from prior investments to meet future capital calls. In cases where valuations of investors' existing investments fall and the pace of distributions slows, investors may be unable to make new commitments to third-party managed investment funds such as those advised by us. If investors were to fail to satisfy a significant amount of capital calls for any particular fund or funds, the operation and performance of those funds could be materially and adversely affected.

In addition, our failure to comply with applicable pay-to-play laws, regulations and/or policies adopted by a number of states and municipal pension funds as well as the New York Attorney General's Public Pension Fund Reform Code of Conduct, may, in certain instances, excuse a public pension fund investor from its obligation to make further capital contributions relating to all or any part of an investment or allow it to withdraw from the fund. If a public pension fund investor were to seek to be

excused from funding a significant amount of capital calls for any particular fund or funds, the operation and performance of those funds could be materially and adversely affected.

# Our failure to deal appropriately with conflicts of interest in our investment business could damage our reputation and adversely affect our businesses.

As we have expanded and as we continue to expand the number and scope of our businesses, we increasingly confront potential conflicts of interest relating to our funds' investment activities. For example, a decision to acquire material, non-public information about a company while pursuing an investment opportunity for a particular fund may give rise to a potential conflict of interest that results in our having to restrict the ability of other funds to take any action. Certain of our funds, managed accounts or investment vehicles may have overlapping investment objectives, including co-investment funds and funds that have different fee structures, and potential conflicts may arise with respect to our decisions regarding how to allocate investment opportunities among those funds, managed accounts or investors. Different funds may invest in a single company, for example where the fund that made an initial investment no longer has capital available to invest or a follow-on opportunity arises. We may also cause different funds that we manage to purchase different classes of debt or securities in the same portfolio company. For example, one of our funds could acquire a debt security or bank loan issued by the same company in which one of our buyout funds owns common equity securities or several of our funds could be invested in different tranches of a company's debt. A direct conflict of interest could arise between and among the debt holders and the equity holders if such a portfolio company was to develop insolvency concerns, and that conflict would have to be carefully managed by us. It is also possible that in the event the company goes through a bankruptcy proceeding, the interests of the fund holding the debt securities or loans may be subordinated, recharacterized or otherwise adversely affected by virtue of the involvement and actions of the fund holding the equity in the portfolio company. In such a case, the debt security or loan could be converted into equity and the prospects of repayment greatly diminished. Conflicts of interest may also exist in the valuation of our investments and regarding decisions about the allocation of specific investment opportunities among us and our funds and the allocation of fees and costs among us, our investment funds and their portfolio companies and conflicts could also arise in respect of the ultimate disposition of such investments. Due to recent changes in the tax treatment of carried interest under the TCJA, conflicts of interest may arise with investors in certain of our funds in connection with the general partner's decisions with respect to the sequence and timing of disposals of investments in such funds. To the extent we fail to appropriately deal with any such conflicts, it could negatively impact our reputation and ability to raise additional funds and the willingness of counterparties to do business with us or result in regulatory liability or potential litigation against us.

#### Our CLO business and investment into CLOs involves certain risks.

CLOs may present risks similar to other types of debt obligations and, in fact, such risks may be of greater significance in the case of CLOs. For example, investments in structured vehicles, including equity and junior debt securities issued by CLOs, involve risks, including credit risk and market risk. Changes in interest rates and credit quality may cause short-term price fluctuations or longer term impairment.

In addition to the general risks associated with investing in debt securities, CLO securities carry additional risks, including, but not limited to the possibility that distributions from collateral assets will be inadequate to make interest or other payments and the quality of the collateral may decline in value, default or be downgraded. Additionally, changes in the collateral held by a CLO may cause payments on the instruments we hold to be reduced, either temporarily or permanently. Non-payment could result in a reduction of our income and revenues. CLOs are less liquid than other types of securities and may be more volatile than the individual assets that make-up the CLOs. In addition, CLOs and other structured finance securities may be subject to prepayment risk. Further, the performance of a CLO or other structured finance security is generally affected by a variety of factors, including the security's priority in the capital structure of the issuer thereof, the availability of any credit enhancement, the level and timing of payments and recoveries on and the characteristics of the underlying receivables, loans or other assets that are being securitized, remoteness of those assets from the originator or transferor, the adequacy of and ability to realize upon any related collateral and the capability of the servicer of the securitized assets. There are also the risks that the trustee of a CLO does not properly carry out its duties to the CLO, potentially resulting in loss to the CLO. In addition, the complex structure of the security may produce unexpected investment results, especially during times of market stress or volatility. Investments in structured finance securities may also be subject to liquidity risk.

During 2020, we earned approximately \$116 million in management fees from our CLOs, prior to the effects of consolidation, of which approximately 70% are in the form of subordinated fees. The subordinated fees we generate from our CLO business could be negatively impacted if one or more CLOs fail certain tests related to overcollateralization (including the interest diversion test) set forth in their respective indentures. In the event that worsening credit conditions and/or a deterioration in loan performance generally leads to defaults or downgrades of the CLOs' underlying collateral obligations, one

or more CLOs could fail one or more overcollateralization tests and/or interest diversion tests. These risks are correlated, as when an underlying collateral obligation defaults or is downgraded below a certain threshold, such collateral obligation is then carried below par for the purpose of overcollateralization and interest diversion testing, making a failure of any such test more likely to occur. Any such failure would result in funds otherwise available to pay the management fees we earn on such investment vehicle to instead be used to either (x) pay down the principal on the securities issued by such vehicle in an amount necessary to cause such tests to pass or (y) purchase sufficient collateral in an amount necessary to cause such CLO to pass such tests. If either of these scenarios occurred, there is the potential that the remaining funds would be insufficient to pay expected management fees on any such CLO, which would result in either a temporary deferral or permanent loss of such management fees. For example, in the early stages of the COVID-19 pandemic, ratings agencies downgraded certain underlying collateral obligations in our CLOs. As a result, we did not recognize approximately \$7.0 million of subordinated management fees from our CLOs in the first and second quarters of 2020, but recognized such amounts in the third quarter due to improvement in the underlying CLO portfolios.

## Underwriting, syndicating and securities placement activities expose us to risks.

TCG Capital Markets may act as an underwriter, syndicator or placement agent for security offerings and TCG Senior Funding L.L.C. may act as an underwriter, originator, syndicator or placement agent in loan originations. If we are unable to sell securities or place loans at the anticipated price levels where we act as an underwriter, syndicator or placement agent, we may incur losses and suffer reputational harm.

As an underwriter, syndicator or placement agent, we also may be subject to potential liability for material misstatements or omissions in prospectuses and other offering documents relating to offerings we underwrite, syndicate or place. In certain situations, we may have liabilities arising from transactions in which our investment fund may participate as a purchase or a seller of securities, which could constitute a conflict of interest or subject us to damages or reputational harm.

## Risk management activities may adversely affect the return on our and our funds' investments.

When managing our exposure to market risks, we may (on our own behalf or on behalf of our funds) from time to time use forward contracts, options, swaps, caps, collars and floors or pursue other strategies or use other forms of derivative instruments to limit our exposure to changes in the relative values of investments that may result from market developments, including changes in prevailing interest rates, currency exchange rates and commodity prices. The scope of risk management activities undertaken by us varies based on the level and volatility of interest rates, prevailing foreign currency exchange rates, the types of investments that are made and other changing market conditions. The use of hedging transactions and other derivative instruments to reduce the effects of a decline in the value of a position does not eliminate the possibility of fluctuations in the value of the position or prevent losses if the value of the position declines. Such transactions may also limit the opportunity for gain if the value of a position increases. Moreover, it may not be possible to limit the exposure to a market development that is so generally anticipated that a hedging or other derivative transaction cannot be entered into at an acceptable price. The success of any hedging or other derivative transaction generally will depend on our ability to correctly predict market changes, the degree of correlation between price movements of a derivative instrument and the position being hedged, the creditworthiness of the counterparty and other factors. As a result, while we may enter into such a transaction in order to reduce our exposure to market risks, the transaction may result in poorer overall firm or investment performance than if it had not been executed. Such transactions may also limit the opportunity for gain if the value of a hedged position increases.

While such hedging arrangements may reduce certain risks, such arrangements themselves may entail certain other risks. These arrangements may require the posting of cash collateral at a time when a fund has insufficient cash or illiquid assets such that the posting of the cash is either impossible or requires the sale of assets at prices that do not reflect their underlying value. Moreover, these hedging arrangements may generate significant transaction costs, including potential tax costs, which may reduce the returns generated by the firm or a fund. See "—Changing regulations regarding derivatives and commodity interest transactions could adversely impact various aspects of our business."

Certain of our fund investments may be concentrated in particular asset types or geographic regions, which could exacerbate any negative performance of those funds to the extent those concentrated investments perform poorly.

The governing agreements of our investment funds contain only limited investment restrictions and only limited requirements as to diversification of fund investments, either by geographic region or asset type. For example, we advise funds that invest predominantly in the United States, Europe, Asia and Japan; and we advise funds that invest in a single industry sector, such as financial services, aviation, and power. During periods of difficult market conditions, slowdowns, or increased borrower defaults in these sectors or geographic regions, decreased revenue, difficulty in obtaining access to financing and

increased funding costs experienced by our funds may be exacerbated by this concentration of investments, which would result in lower investment returns for our funds. Such concentration may increase the risk that events affecting a specific geographic region or asset type will have an adverse or disparate impact on such investment funds, as compared to funds that invest more broadly. Idiosyncratic factors impacting specific companies or securities can materially affect fund performance depending on the size of the position.

Our energy business is involved in oil and gas investments (i.e, exploration, production, storage, transportation, logistics, refining, marketing, trading, petrochemicals, energy services and other opportunistic investments), which involves a high degree of risk.

Our energy teams focus on investments in businesses involved in oil and gas production, development and exploration, which can be a speculative business involving a high degree of risk, including:

- the use of new technologies;
- reliance on estimates of oil and gas reserves in the evaluation of available geological, geophysical, engineering and economic data for each reservoir:
- encountering unexpected formations or pressures, premature declines of reservoirs, blow-outs, equipment failures and other accidents in completing wells and otherwise, cratering, sour gas releases, uncontrollable flows of oil, natural gas or well fluids, adverse weather conditions, pollution, fires, spills and other environmental risks; and
- · the volatility of oil and natural gas prices and its impact on the demand for oil and gas products and services; and
- potential contributions to anthropogenic climate change.

Oil, gas and product prices are subject to international supply and demand dynamics, and, as a consequence, related margins can be volatile. In 2020, demand was negatively affected by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, which triggered unprecedented global and local travel restrictions as well as regional and nationwide quarantines; this continues today. At the same time, supply was affected by the inability of the members of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries ("OPEC") to agree to crude production curtailments in the first half of 2020. Together, these phenomena resulted in a large drop in crude oil prices, lower gas prices, and lower refining margins, which continue to be affected by a high level of volatility. The resultant supply surplus has triggered accumulation of substantial inventories of crude oil and refined products, which are expected to continue to impact energy market fundamentals in the near to medium term. Political developments, increased supply from new crude oil, gas and alternative low carbon energy sources, technological change, global macroeconomic conditions, public health risks and changes in the influence of OPEC may continue to impact commodity prices going forward and the financial performance of some of our investments. Our investments that are exposed to energy prices, either are consumers or producers of energy, and their financial performance has been, and is likely to continue to be, affected by the continued volatility in energy prices. To the extent that current conditions persist or worsen, there may be adverse impacts on the financial performance of the affected businesses, on the availability of financing or credit to them as well as their asset prices and valuations.

After falling in the first half of 2020, oil prices partially rebounded in the latter half of the year, although they remained more than 20% below their levels at the end of 2019. Oil prices tend to experience significant volatility in response to macroeconomic trends, trade developments, geopolitical events, and data on inventories, global demand, future supply, and U.S. dollar strength. Oil's partial recovery to date is largely attributable to vaccine optimism, continued OPEC+ production cuts and a softer U.S. dollar. Prices for oil and natural gas are subject to wide fluctuation in response to relatively minor changes in the supply of and demand for oil and natural gas as well as numerous additional factors such as market uncertainty, speculation, the level of consumer product demand, the refining capacity of oil purchasers, weather conditions, domestic and non-U.S. governmental regulations, appreciation or depreciation of the U.S. dollar, the price and availability of alternative fuels, political conditions in the Middle East and Africa, actions of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries, the non-U.S. supply of oil and natural gas, U.S. and global inventories, the price of non-U.S. imports and overall economic conditions. In addition, changes in commodity prices can vary widely from one location to the next depending upon the characteristics of the production and the availability of gathering, transportation, processing and storage facilities used to transport the oil and gas to markets. In the event that oil prices decline sharply in the future, or fail to sustain upward price momentum, it is possible our portfolio could be adversely impacted.

The new Administration has made climate change a key focus of its international and domestic policy agenda. It has recently announced a moratorium on new leases on federal lands as well as an executive order aimed at aligning financial flows with its climate policy aimed at lowering greenhouse gas emissions. The executive order, "Tackling Climate Crisis at Home and Abroad", issued on January 27, 2021, includes several policy changes to address climate issues. The goal to conserve 30% of federal lands and waters by 2030 could pose tangential future risks to the operations and profitability of our portfolio companies in certain industries if they result in higher energy or other prices.

On January 25, 2021, the new Administration issued an executive order, "Ensuring the Future Is Made in All of America by All of America's Workers" which has the potential to impact federal contractors and certain grant and loan recipients and their contractors. While the only immediate impact of the order is the creation of a "Made in America" Office within the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) to review federal agency waiver requests, the longer term impact of potential changes to the Federal Acquisition Regulation (FAR) and statutory exemptions for commercial item information technology and trade agreements and the change in waiver procedures requirements for certain grant and loan programs could impact certain investments.

Certain of our investment funds may invest in securities of companies that are experiencing significant financial or business difficulties, including companies involved in bankruptcy or other reorganization and liquidation proceedings. Such investments may be subject to a greater risk of poor performance or loss.

Certain of our investment funds, especially our distressed funds, may invest in business enterprises involved in work-outs, liquidations, reorganizations, bankruptcies and similar transactions and may purchase high risk receivables. An investment in such business enterprises entails the risk that the transaction in which such business enterprise is involved either will be unsuccessful, will take considerable time or will result in a distribution of cash or a new security the value of which will be less than the purchase price to the fund of the security or other financial instrument in respect of which such distribution is received. In addition, if an anticipated transaction does not in fact occur, the fund may be required to sell its investment at a loss. Investments in troubled companies may also be adversely affected by U.S. federal and state laws relating to, among other things, fraudulent conveyances, voidable preferences, lender liability and a bankruptcy court's discretionary power to disallow, subordinate or disenfranchise particular claims. Investments in securities and private claims of troubled companies made in connection with an attempt to influence a restructuring proposal or plan of reorganization in a bankruptcy case may also involve substantial litigation, which has the potential to adversely impact us or unrelated funds or portfolio companies. Because there is substantial uncertainty concerning the outcome of transactions involving financially troubled companies, there is a potential risk of loss by a fund of its entire investment in such company.

Our private equity funds' performance, and our performance, may be adversely affected by the financial performance of our portfolio companies and the industries in which our funds invest.

Our performance and the performance of our private equity funds are significantly impacted by the value of the companies in which our funds have invested. Our funds invest in companies in many different industries, each of which is subject to volatility based upon economic and market factors. During both the global financial crisis and the 2020 COVID-19 crisis, we have experienced significant fluctuations in the fair value of securities held by our funds. The concomitant recession and recovery in the real economy subsequent to both the global financial crisis and COVID-19 crisis also exerted a significant impact on overall performance activity and the demands for many of the goods and services provided by portfolio companies of the funds we advise. Although the U.S. economy appears to have exited the recession induced by the COVID-19 pandemic, the current level of activity remains below its prior peak and many obstacles to continued growth remain, such as a spike in new coronavirus infections, a slow vaccine rollout, geopolitical events, vulnerable credit markets, high levels of public debt, slowing population growth and economic stress outside the U.S. These factors and other general economic trends are likely to impact the performance of portfolio companies in many industries and in particular, industries that anticipated that global GDP would quickly return to its pre-crisis trend. In addition, the value of our investments in portfolio companies in the financial services industry is impacted by the overall health and stability of the credit and equity markets. While the U.S. dollar has weakened substantially since peaking in March, a rebound in its strength could also depress the profits of domestic companies with significant foreign revenues, pressure oil prices, and increase default risk on U.S. dollar-denominated loans and bonds issued by businesses domiciled in emerging market economies (EMEs). An increase in emerging market corporate or sovereign defaults could further impair funding conditions or depress asset prices in these economies. The performance of our private equity funds, and our performance, may be adversely affected to the extent our fund portfolio companies experience adverse performance or additional pressure due to these exogenous factors, such as the COVID-19 pandemic. In addition, the performance of our investment funds and our portfolio companies may be adversely affected by increases in inflationary pressures such as employee wage growth or rising input costs, which could compress profit margins, particularly at our portfolio companies that are unable to effectively increase prices in response. With respect to real estate, various factors could have an adverse effect on investment performance, including, but not limited to, deflation in consumer prices, a low level of

consumer confidence in the economy and/or the residential real estate market and rising mortgage interest rates. In response to financial difficulties that are currently being experienced or that may be experienced in the future by certain portfolio companies or real estate investments, we may consider legal, regulatory, tax or other factors in determining the steps we may take to support such companies or investments, which may include enhancing the management team or funding additional capital investments from our investment funds, our senior Carlyle professionals and/or us. The actions we may take to support companies or investments experiencing financial difficulties may not be successful in remedying the financial difficulties and our investment funds, our senior Carlyle professionals or we may not recoup some or all of any capital investments made in support of such companies or investments.

#### The financial projections of our portfolio companies could prove inaccurate.

Our funds generally establish the capital structure of portfolio companies on the basis of financial projections prepared by the management of such portfolio companies. These projected operating results will normally be based primarily on judgments of the management of the portfolio companies. In all cases, projections are only estimates of future results that are based upon assumptions made at the time that the projections are developed. General economic conditions, which are not predictable, along with other factors may cause actual performance to fall short of the financial projections that were used to establish a given portfolio company's capital structure. Because of the leverage that we typically employ in our investments, this could cause a substantial decrease in the value of our equity holdings in the portfolio company. The inaccuracy of financial projections could thus cause us to misstate the values of our fund's investments and therefore our accrued performance allocations, and ultimately cause our funds' performance to fall short of our expectations.

## Contingent liabilities could harm fund performance.

We may cause our funds to acquire an investment that is subject to contingent liabilities. Such contingent liabilities could be unknown to us at the time of acquisition or, if they are known to us, we may not accurately assess or protect against the risks that they present. Acquired contingent liabilities could thus result in unforeseen losses for our funds. In addition, in connection with the disposition of an investment in a portfolio company, a fund may be required to make representations about the business and financial affairs of such portfolio company typical of those made in connection with the sale of a business. A fund may also be required to indemnify the purchasers of such investment to the extent that any such representations are inaccurate. These arrangements may result in the incurrence of contingent liabilities by a fund, even after the disposition of an investment. Accordingly, the inaccuracy of representations and warranties made by a fund could harm such fund's performance.

## We and our investment funds are subject to risks in using prime brokers, custodians, administrators and other agents and third-party service providers.

We and many of our investment funds depend on the services of prime brokers, custodians, administrators and other agents and third-party service providers to carry out certain securities transactions and other business functions.

The counterparty to one or more of our or our funds' contractual arrangements could default on its obligations under the contract. If a counterparty defaults, we and our funds may be unable to take action to cover the exposure and we or one or more of our funds could incur material losses. Among other systems, our data security, data privacy, investor reporting and business continuity processes could be impacted by a third party's inability or unwillingness to perform pursuant to our arrangements with them. In addition, we could suffer legal and reputational damage from such failure to perform if we are then unable to satisfy our obligations under our contracts with third parties or otherwise and could suffer losses in the event we are unable to comply with certain other agreements.

The terms of our contracts with third parties surrounding securities transactions are often customized and complex, and many of these arrangements occur in markets or relate to products that are not subject to regulatory oversight. In particular, some of our funds utilize prime brokerage arrangements with a relatively limited number of counterparties, which has the effect of concentrating the transaction volume (and related counterparty default risk) of these funds with these counterparties.

The consolidation and elimination of counterparties may increase our concentration of counterparty risk and decrease the number of potential counterparties. Our carry funds generally are not restricted from dealing with any particular counterparty or from concentrating any or all of their transactions with one counterparty. In the event of the insolvency of a party that is holding our assets or those of our funds as collateral, we and our funds may not be able to recover equivalent assets in full as we and our funds will rank among the counterparty's unsecured creditors. In addition, our and our funds' cash held with a prime broker, custodian or counterparty may not be segregated from the prime broker's, custodian's or counterparty's

own cash, and we and our funds therefore may rank as unsecured creditors in relation thereto. The inability to recover our or our investment funds' assets could have a material impact on us or on the performance of our funds.

## Investments in the natural resources industry, including the infrastructure and power industries, involve various operational, construction and regulatory risks.

Investment in infrastructure assets involves certain differentiated risks. Project revenues can be affected by a number of factors. Unanticipated changes in the availability or price of inputs necessary for the operation of infrastructure assets may adversely affect the overall profitability of the investment or related project. Events outside the control of a portfolio company, such as political action, governmental regulation (including potential climate change initiatives), demographic changes, economic growth, increasing fuel prices, government macroeconomic policies, toll rates, social stability, competition from untolled or other forms of transportation, natural disasters (climate change related or otherwise), changes in weather, changes in demand for products or services, bankruptcy or financial difficulty of a major customer and acts of war or terrorism, could significantly reduce the revenues generated or significantly increase the expense of constructing, operating, maintaining or restoring infrastructure facilities. In turn, this may impair a portfolio company's ability to repay its debt, make distributions or even result in termination of an applicable concession or other agreement. Although portfolio companies may maintain insurance to protect against certain risks, where available on reasonable commercial terms (such as business interruption insurance that is intended to offset loss of revenues during an operational interruption), such insurance is subject to customary deductibles and coverage limits and may not be sufficient to recoup all of an investment's losses. Furthermore, once infrastructure assets of investments become operational, they may face competition from other infrastructure assets in the vicinity of the assets they operate, the presence of which depends in part on governmental plans and policies, over which we have no control.

Infrastructure investments are subject to substantial government regulation and governments have considerable discretion to implement regulations that could affect the business of infrastructure investing. In many instances, the operation or acquisition of infrastructure assets involves an ongoing commitment to or from a governmental agency, and the operation of infrastructure assets often relies on government permits, licenses, concessions, leases or contracts. The nature of these obligations and dependencies expose the owners of infrastructure assets to a higher level of regulatory control than typically imposed on other businesses, resulting in government entities having significant influence over such owners.

Where a portfolio company holds a concession or lease from the government, the concession or lease may restrict the portfolio company's ability to operate the business in a way that maximizes cash flows and profitability. The lease or concession may also contain clauses more favorable to the government counterparty than a typical commercial contract. For instance, the lease or concession may enable the government to terminate the lease or concession in certain circumstances without requiring payment of adequate compensation.

The development, operation and maintenance of power generation facilities involves various operational risks, which can include mechanical and structural failure, accidents, labor issues or the failure of technology to perform as anticipated. Events outside our control, such as economic developments, changes in fuel prices or the price of other feedstocks, governmental policies, demand for energy and similar events, could materially reduce the revenues generated or increase the expenses of constructing, operating, maintaining or restoring power generation businesses. Such developments could impair a portfolio company's ability to repay its debt or conduct its operations. We may also choose to or be required to decommission a power generation facility or other asset. The decommissioning process could be protracted and result in the incurrence of significant financial and/or regulatory obligations or other uncertainties.

Our natural resource portfolio companies may also face construction and operational risks typical for energy, infrastructure and power generation infrastructure businesses, including, without limitation:

- labor disputes, work stoppages or shortages of skilled labor;
- shortages of fuels or materials;
- · slower than projected construction progress and the unavailability or late delivery of necessary equipment;
- delays caused by or in obtaining the necessary regulatory approvals or permits;
- adverse weather conditions and unexpected construction conditions;
- accidents or the breakdown or failure of equipment or processes;
- · difficulties in obtaining suitable or sufficient financing; and

· force majeure or catastrophic events such as explosions, fires and terrorist activities and other similar events beyond our control.

Such developments could result in substantial unanticipated delays or expenses and, under certain circumstances, and could prevent completion of construction activities once undertaken. Construction costs may exceed estimates for various reasons, including inaccurate engineering and planning, labor and building material costs in excess of expectations and unanticipated problems with project start-up. Such unexpected increases may result in increased debt service costs and funds being insufficient to complete construction. Portfolio investments under development or portfolio investments acquired to be developed may receive little or no cash flow from the date of acquisition through the date of completion of development and may experience operating deficits after the date of completion. In addition, market conditions may change during the course of development that make such development less attractive than at the time it was commenced. Any events of this nature could severely delay or prevent the completion of, or significantly increase the cost of, the construction. In addition, there are risks inherent in the construction work which may give rise to claims or demands against one of our portfolio companies from time to time. Delays in the completion of any energy or power project may result in lost revenues or increased expenses, including higher operation and maintenance costs related to such portfolio company.

We may acquire equity interests in development projects, including, without limitation, transmission and power facility developments and/or in businesses that engage in transmission and power facility development. To the extent that we invest in such development activities, it will be subject to the risks normally associated with such activities. Such risks include, without limitation, risks relating to the availability and timely receipt of zoning and other regulatory approvals, the cost and timely completion of construction (including risks beyond our control, such as weather or labor conditions or material shortages) and the availability of both construction and permanent financing on favorable terms. These risks could result in substantial unanticipated delays or expenses and, under certain circumstances, could prevent completion of development activities once undertaken, any of which could have an adverse effect on the financial condition and results of operations.

Investments in electric utility industries both in the United States and abroad continue to experience increasing competitive pressures, primarily in wholesale markets, as a result of consumer demands, technological advances, greater availability of natural gas and other factors. Changes in regulation may support not only consolidation among domestic utilities, but also the disaggregation of vertically integrated utilities into separate generation, transmission and distribution businesses. As a result, additional significant competitors could become active in the independent power industry.

We invest in companies that produce hydrocarbons. Due to concerns over the risks of climate change, a number of countries have adopted, or are considering the adoption of, regulatory frameworks to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. These include adoption of cap and trade regimes, carbon taxes, restrictive permitting, increased efficiency standards, and incentives or mandates for renewable energy. These requirements could be costly, lengthen project implementation times, and reduce demand for hydrocarbons, as well as shift hydrocarbon demand toward relatively lower-carbon sources such as natural gas. Current and pending greenhouse gas regulations or policies may also increase compliance costs for our portfolio companies, such as for monitoring or sequestering emissions. Additionally, such requirements could have a negative impact on our ability to obtain suitable or sufficient financing, exit certain of our energy investments or adversely affect the expected returns of new investment opportunities.

The energy, infrastructure, power and natural resource sectors are subject to comprehensive United States and non-U.S. federal, state and local laws and regulations. These regulators include the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (the "FERC"), which has jurisdiction over the transmission and wholesale sale of electricity in interstate commerce and over the transportation, storage and certain sales of natural gas in interstate commerce, including the rates, charges and other terms and conditions for such services, respectively and the North American Electric Reliability Corporation ("NERC"), the purpose of which is to establish and enforce reliability standards applicable to all users, owners and operators of the bulk power system. These regulators derive their authority from, among other laws, the Federal Power Act, as amended (the "FPA"), The Energy Policy Act of 2005, the Natural Gas Act, as amended (the "NGA") and state and local public utility laws. At the state level, some state laws require approval from the state commission before an electric utility operating in the state may divest or transfer electric generation facilities. Most state laws require approval from the state commission before an electric utility company operating in the state may divest or transfer distribution facilities. Failure to comply with applicable laws, rules regulations and standards could result in the prevention of operation of certain facilities or the prevention of the sale of such a facility to a third party, as well as the loss of certain rate authority, refund liability, penalties and other remedies, all of which could result in additional costs to a portfolio company and adversely affect the investment results. In addition, any legislative efforts by the current administration or Congress to overturn or modify policies or regulations enacted by the prior administration that placed limitations on coal and gas electric generation, mining and/or exploration could adversely affect our

alternative energy investments. Conversely, any governmental policy changes encouraging resource extraction could have the effect of holding down energy prices, which could have a negative impact on certain of our energy investments.

Investments may not receive the initial regulatory approval or license needed to acquire or otherwise operate an investment, including after substantial costs have been incurred pursuing such investment. Additional or unanticipated regulatory approvals, including, without limitation, renewals, extensions, transfers, assignments, reissuances or similar actions, may be required to acquire or operate infrastructure assets, and additional approvals may become applicable in the future due to a change in laws and regulations, a change in the portfolio company's customer(s) or for other reasons. Furthermore, permits or special rulings may be required on taxation, financial and regulatory related issues. There can be no assurance that a portfolio company will be able to (i) obtain all required regulatory approvals that it does not yet have or that it may require in the future, (ii) obtain any necessary modifications to existing regulatory approvals, or (iii) maintain required regulatory approvals. Any delay in obtaining or failure to obtain and maintain in full force and effect any regulatory approvals, or amendments thereto, or delay or failure to satisfy any regulatory conditions or other applicable requirements could prevent operation of a facility, sales to third parties or could result in additional costs and adversely impact the returns generated by the investment.

Environmental laws, regulations and regulatory initiatives (including potential climate change initiatives) play a significant role in the power, infrastructure and renewable and alternative energy industry and can have a substantial impact on investments in this industry. A portfolio company's projects may be subject to changing and increasingly stringent environmental and health and safety laws, regulations and permit requirements. For example, global initiatives to minimize pollution have played a major role in the increase in demand for natural gas and alternative energy sources, creating numerous new investment opportunities. Conversely, required expenditures for environmental compliance have adversely impacted investment returns in a number of segments of the industry. The energy and power industry will continue to face considerable oversight from environmental regulatory authorities and significant influence from non-governmental organizations and special interest groups. Our investment funds may invest in portfolio companies that are subject to changing and increasingly stringent environmental and health and safety laws, regulations and permit requirements.

Estimates of factors such as solar energy intensity and movement of wind and water flow (for solar, wind and hydroelectric power, respectively) by qualified engineers are often a key factor in valuing certain energy and power companies. The process of making these estimates is complex, requiring significant decisions and assumptions in the evaluation of available geological, geophysical, engineering and economic data. Estimates or projections of market conditions and supply and demand dynamics are key factors in evaluating potential investment opportunities and valuing the Investments and related assets. The aforementioned estimates are subject to wide variances based on changes in market conditions, underlying assumptions and technical or investment-related assumptions.

The operation and financial performance of any renewable energy investment will be significantly dependent on governmental policies and regulatory frameworks that support renewable energy sources. Investments in renewable energy and related businesses and/or assets currently enjoy support from national, state and local governments and regulatory agencies designed to finance or support the financing development thereof, such as the U.S. federal investment tax credit and federal production tax credit, U.S. Department of the Treasury grants, various renewable and alternative portfolio standard requirements enacted by several states, renewable energy credits and state-level utility programs, such as system benefits charge and customer choice programs. Similar support, initiatives and arrangements exist in non-U.S. jurisdictions as well, in particular the European Union. Non-U.S. jurisdictions may have more variable views on policies regarding renewable energy (and, for example, may be more willing or likely to abandon initiatives regarding renewable energy in favor of more carbon-intensive forms of traditional energy generation). The combined effect of these programs is to subsidize in part the development, ownership and operation of renewable energy projects, particularly in an environment where the low cost of fossil fuel may otherwise make the cost of producing energy from renewable energy projects, particularly in an environment where the low cost of fossil fuel may otherwise make the cost of producing energy from renewable sources uneconomic. There can be no assurance that government support for renewable energy will continue, that favorable legislation will pass, or that the electricity produced by the renewable energy Investments will continue to qualify for support through the RPS programs. The elimination of, or reduction in, government policies (including favorable tax policies) that support renewable energy could have a material adverse effect on a renewable energy proficio company's financial condition

Investments in the insurance industry (including our investment in Fortitude Re) could be adversely impacted by insurance regulations and potential regulatory reforms.

On June 2, 2020, Carlyle FRL, L.P., an affiliated investment fund ("Carlyle FRL"), acquired a 51.6% interest in Fortitude Holdings. Fortitude Holdings owns 100% of the outstanding common shares of Fortitude Re. At closing, we contributed our 19.9% interest in Fortitude Holdings to Carlyle FRL such that Carlyle FRL holds a 71.5% controlling interest in Fortitude Holdings. The insurance industry is highly regulated and the regulators in many jurisdictions have broad, and in some cases discretionary, authority over insurance companies, including, among other things, with respect to marketing practices, policy rate increases, reserve requirements, permissible investments and affiliate transactions. In addition, the insurance sector is subject to frequent regulatory change. While we intend to invest in companies and acquire businesses that seek to comply with applicable laws and regulations, the laws and regulations relating to the insurance industry are complex, may be ambiguous or may lack clear judicial or regulatory interpretive guidance. Even where laws or regulations purport to be the same across different jurisdictions, they may be inconsistently applied by the regulators of the different jurisdictions.

In terms of regulatory changes, the following changes in particular may affect the operations and prospects of our investments in the insurance industry, including Fortitude Re: (i) changes to interest rates and policies of central banks and regulatory authorities; (ii) changes in applicable direct or indirect taxes, levies or charges; (iii) changes in government or regulatory policy that may significantly influence investor decisions in particular markets in which our investments operate; (iv) changes relating to the capital adequacy framework and rules designed to promote financial stability, both on an individual (re)insurance company level and on a group level; (v) changes to policyholder protections; and (vi) developments in financial reporting. An adverse review or determination by any applicable judicial or regulatory authority of any such law or regulation, or an adverse change in applicable regulatory requirements, judicial or regulatory interpretation, or reimbursement programs, could have a material adverse effect on the operations and/or financial performance of our investments in the insurance industry (including Fortitude Re) and may increase their compliance and legal costs. Any such costs could negatively impact the value of our investments and the returns we are able to generate on such investments.

## Our relationship with Fortitude Holdings may not generate a meaningful contribution to our revenue and our ownership and control of Fortitude Holdings could give rise to real or apparent conflicts of interest.

While we expect to derive a meaningful contribution to our revenue across our business segments from our investment in and strategic asset management relationship with Fortitude Re, as described in "Strategic Investment in Fortitude Re (f/k/a. DSA Re)" in "Part II. Item 8 Note 5— Investments," we may not be successful in doing so. Pursuant to investment management agreements we have entered into with Fortitude Re and certain AIG-affiliated ceding companies it has reinsured (the "AIG Ceding Companies"), certain of our subsidiaries receive performance fees and/or management fees from carry funds and separately managed accounts that Fortitude Re and the AIG Ceding Companies invest in. Through its subsidiaries, the Company managed or advised \$4.7 billion of capital attributable to investments made under these investment management agreements, as of December 31, 2020.

Our investment management agreements with Fortitude Re and the AIG Ceding Companies are terminable under certain circumstances. If such investment management agreements were terminated, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. There can be no assurance that the benefit we receive from Fortitude Re will not decline due to a disruption or decline in Fortitude Re's business or a change in our relationship with Fortitude Re, including our investment income from our indirect interest in Fortitude Holdings and/or investment management agreements with Fortitude Re and the AIG Ceding Companies. We may be unable to replace a decline in the revenue derived from investments made in our funds and entities by Fortitude Re and/or the AIG Ceding Companies on a timely basis if our relationship with Fortitude Re were to change or if Fortitude Re were to experience a material adverse impact to its business.

Carlyle FRL owns a controlling interest in Fortitude Holdings and has the right to appoint a majority of its board of directors. As a result, there may be real or apparent conflicts of interest with respect to matters affecting the Company, Carlyle-managed funds and their portfolio companies and Fortitude Holdings, including with respect to the fiduciary duties that our employees that are board members owe to Fortitude Holdings in addition to the duties that they have to the Company. In addition, conflicts of interest could arise with respect to transactions involving business dealings between the Company, Fortitude Holdings and each of their respective affiliates.

### Our Investment Solutions business is subject to additional risks.

Our Investment Solutions business is subject to additional risks, including the following:

• The Investment Solutions business is subject to business and other risks and uncertainties generally consistent with our business as a whole, including without limitation legal, tax and regulatory risks, the avoidance or management of conflicts of interest and the ability to attract and retain investment professionals and other personnel, and risks associated with the acquisition of new investment platforms.

- Pursuant to our current arrangements with the various businesses, we currently restrict our participation in the investment activities undertaken by our Investment Solutions segment (including with respect to AlpInvest and Metropolitan), which may in turn limit our ability to address risks arising from their investment activities. For example, although we maintain ultimate control over AlpInvest and Metropolitan, their management teams (who are our employees) continue to exercise independent investment authority without involvement by other Carlyle personnel. For so long as these arrangements are in place, we will observe substantial restrictions on our ability to access investment information or engage in day-to-day participation in the AlpInvest and Metropolitan investment businesses, including a restriction that AlpInvest and Metropolitan investment decisions are made and maintained without involvement by other Carlyle personnel and that no specific investment data, other than data on the investment performance of its investment funds and managed accounts, will be shared. Generally, we have a reduced ability to identify or respond to investment and other operational issues that may arise within the Investment Solutions business, relative to other Carlyle investment funds.
- Similar to other parts of our business, Investment Solutions is seeking to broaden its investor base by raising funds and advising separate accounts for investors on an account-by-account basis and the number and complexity of such investor mandates and fund structures has increased as a result of continuing fundraising efforts, and the activation of mandates with existing investors.
- Conflicts may arise between such Investment Solutions funds or separate managed accounts (e.g., competition for investment opportunities), and in some cases conflicts may arise between an Investment Solutions fund or managed account and a Carlyle fund. In addition, certain managed accounts may have different or heightened standards of care, and if they invest in other investment funds sponsored by us could result in lower management fees and carried interest to us than Carlyle's typical investment funds.
- Our Investment Solutions business is separated from the rest of the firm by an informational wall designed to prevent certain types of information from flowing from the Investment Solutions platform to the rest of the firm. This information barrier limits the collaboration between our investment professionals with respect to specific investments.

Ongoing trade negotiations and potential for further regulatory reform may create regulatory uncertainty for our portfolio companies and our investment strategies and adversely affect the profitability of our portfolio companies.

Since March 2018, the United States has imposed, or threatened to impose, a series of various tariffs on a variety of goods imported into the U.S., with an emphasis on those imported from China and the EU. These new tariffs, or other changes in U.S. trade policy, have resulted in, and may continue to trigger, retaliatory actions by affected countries, particularly China. While the U.S. and China signed a preliminary trade deal in January 2019 halting further tariffs and increasing sales of U.S. goods to China, the agreement leaves in place most tariffs on Chinese goods.

The U.S. government has also implemented and expanded a number of economic sanctions programs and export controls that target Chinese entities and nationals on national security grounds, and has imposed restrictions on our ability to acquire and retain interests in the securities of certain Chinese entities. These initiatives target, for example, China's response to political demonstrations in Hong Kong, China's conduct concerning the treatment of Uighurs and other ethnic minorities in its Xinjiang province, and certain Chinese entities designated by the U.S. government as Communist Chinese military companies, among other things.

Tensions globally remain elevated and the path of future trade policy and further permanent trade agreements with China are still unclear. A "trade war" or other governmental action related to tariffs or international trade agreements or policies has the potential to increase costs, decrease margins, reduce the competitiveness of products and services offered by current and future portfolio companies and adversely affect the revenues and profitability of companies whose businesses rely on goods imported from or exported to any country impacted by such policies. In addition, tariff increases may adversely affect our suppliers and certain other customers of our portfolio companies, which could amplify the negative impact on our operating results or future cash flows.

#### **Risks Related to Our Common Stock**

### The market price of our common stock may decline due to the large number of shares of common stock eligible for future sale.

The market price of our common stock could decline as a result of sales of a large number of shares of common stock in the market in the future or the perception that such sales could occur. These sales, or the possibility that these sales may occur, also might make it more difficult for us to sell common stock in the future at a time and at a price that we deem appropriate. Subject in some cases to compliance with our insider trading policy, minimum retained ownership requirements and limitations applicable to affiliates under Rule 144 under the Securities Act, all of these shares are freely tradable. In addition, the holders of these shares have the benefit of registration rights agreements with us. See "Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Person Transactions—Registration Rights Agreements." Moreover, as holders of freely tradable common stock rather than Carlyle Holdings units, the Former Private Unitholders will be now able to more easily sell shares of common stock into the market (or donate shares of common stock to charities which in turn may sell these into the market) than was the case before the Conversion. For example, the Former Private Unitholders are no longer subject to restrictions that in most cases limited their ability to exchange Holdings Units for common units to prescribed quarterly exchange dates. This could result in the Former Private Unitholders disposing of their equity interests in us more quickly and/or at a higher volumes than in the past, and the market price of our common stock could decline as a result. Subject to the restrictions described below, we may issue and sell in the future additional shares of common stock could decline as a result. Subject to the restrictions described below, we may issue and sell in the future additional shares of common stock units as of December 31, 2020. The issuance of additional equity securities or securities convertible into equity securities would also result in dilution of our existing stockholders' equity interest. The issuance of th

Under our Equity Incentive Plan, we have granted 73,372,573 restricted stock units as of December 31, 2020. Additional shares of common stock will be available for future grant under our Equity Incentive Plan, which plan provides for automatic annual increases in the number of shares of common stock available for future issuance. We have filed several registration statements and intend to file additional registration statements on Form S-8 under the Securities Act to register shares of common stock or securities convertible into or exchangeable for common stock issued or available for future grant under our Equity Incentive Plan (including pursuant to automatic annual increases). Any such Form S-8 registration statement will automatically become effective upon filing. Accordingly, common stock registered under such registration statement will be available for sale in the open market. Morgan Stanley, our equity plan service provider, may, from time to time, act as a broker, dealer, or agent for, or otherwise facilitate sales in the open market through block transactions or otherwise of our common stock on behalf of, plan participants, including in connection with sales of shares of common stock to fund tax obligations payable in connection with the vesting of awards under our Equity Incentive Plan.

## The market price of our common stock may be volatile, which could cause the value of your investment to decline.

Our common stock may trade less frequently than those of certain more mature companies due to the limited number of shares of common stock held by non-affiliates outstanding. Due to such limited trading volume, the price of our common stock may display abrupt or erratic movements at times. Additionally, it may be more difficult for investors to buy and sell significant amounts of our common stock without an unfavorable impact on prevailing market prices.

The market price of our common stock may be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations. Securities markets worldwide experience significant price and volume fluctuations. This market volatility, as well as general economic, market or political conditions, could reduce the market price of our common stock in spite of our operating performance. In addition, our operating results could be below the expectations of public market analysts and investors due to a number of potential factors, including variations in our quarterly operating results or dividends to common stockholders, additions or departures of key management personnel, failure to meet analysts' earnings estimates, publication of research reports about our industry, litigation and government investigations, changes or proposed changes in laws or regulations or differing interpretations or enforcement thereof affecting our business, adverse market reaction to any indebtedness we may incur or securities we may issue in the future, changes in market valuations of similar companies or speculation in the press or investment community, announcements by our competitors of significant contracts, acquisitions, dispositions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments, adverse publicity about the industries in which we participate or individual scandals, and in response the market price of our common stock could decrease significantly. You may be unable to resell your common stock at or above the price you paid for them.

In the past few years, stock markets have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations. In the past, following periods of volatility in the overall market and the market price of a company's securities, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against public companies. This type of litigation, if instituted against us, could result in substantial costs and a diversion of our management's attention and resources.

## Carlyle Group Management L.L.C. controls us and its interests may conflict with ours or yours in the future.

Carlyle Group Management L.L.C., which is wholly owned and controlled by our founders and other senior Carlyle professionals, holds approximately 57.8% of the voting power of our common stock pursuant to an irrevocable proxy granted to it by senior Carlyle professionals and certain other former limited partners of Carlyle Holdings who became holders of shares of common stock in connection with the Conversion.

For so long as Carlyle Group Management L.L.C. continues to have voting power over a significant percentage of our common stock, even if such amount is less than 50%, it will still be able to significantly influence the composition of our Board of Directors and the approval of actions requiring stockholder approval. Accordingly, for such period of time, Carlyle Group Management L.L.C. will have significant influence with respect to our management, business plans and policies, including the appointment and removal of our officers. In particular, for so long as Carlyle Group Management L.L.C. continues to own a significant percentage of our common stock, it will be able to cause or prevent a change of control of our company or a change in the composition of our Board of Directors and could preclude any unsolicited acquisition of our company. The concentration of ownership could deprive you of an opportunity to receive a premium for your shares of common stock as part of a sale of our company and ultimately might affect the market price of our common stock.

## We are a "controlled company" and as a result rely on, and intend to continue to rely on, exceptions from certain corporate governance requirements under the rules of Nasdaq.

We are a "controlled company" and qualify for exceptions from certain corporate governance and other requirements of the rules of Nasdaq. Pursuant to these exceptions, controlled companies may elect not to comply with certain corporate governance requirements of Nasdaq, including the requirements (1) that a majority of our Board of Directors consist of independent directors, (2) that we have a compensation committee that is composed entirely of independent directors, (3) that the compensation committee be required to consider certain independence factors when engaging compensation consultants, legal counsel and other committee advisors, and (4) that we have independent director oversight of director nominations. We have elected to avail ourselves of these exceptions. Accordingly, our stockholders generally do not have the same protections afforded to stockholders of companies that are subject to all of the corporate governance requirements of Nasdaq.

## Our founders have the right to designate members of our Board of Directors.

Pursuant to the stockholder agreements with each of our founders, for so long as such founder and/or his "Founder Group" (as defined in the stockholder agreements) beneficially owns at least 5% of our issued and outstanding common stock, each of our founders will have the right to nominate one director to our Board of Directors. In addition, each founder will have the right to nominate a second director to our Board of Directors until the earlier of (x) such time as such founder and/or his Founder Group ceases to beneficially own at least 20 million shares of our common stock and (y) January 1, 2027. For so long as at least one founder is entitled to designate two directors to the board, the founders then serving on our Board of Directors may (i) designate a founder to serve as chair or co-chair and (ii) designate a founder to serve on each of the compensation and nominating committees and any executive committee, subject to applicable law and listing standards. Accordingly, for such period of time, our founders will have significant influence over the composition of our board and could prevent certain changes in the composition of our Board of Directors.

## Our certificate of incorporation will not limit the ability of our former general partner, founders, directors, officers or stockholders to compete with us.

Our certificate of incorporation provides that none of Carlyle Group Management L.L.C., any person that controls Carlyle Group Management L.L.C., and our founders, directors and officers and stockholders will have any duty to refrain from engaging, directly or indirectly, in the same business activities or similar business activities or lines of business in which we operate. In the ordinary course of their business activities, these persons may engage in activities where their interests conflict with our interests or those of our other stockholders.

These persons also may pursue acquisition opportunities that may be complementary to our business, and, as a result, those acquisition opportunities may not be available to the Company. In addition, these persons may have an interest in our

pursuing acquisitions, divestitures and other transactions that, in their judgment, could enhance their investment, even though such transactions might involve risks to our common stockholders.

Anti-takeover provisions in our organizational documents and Delaware law might discourage or delay acquisition attempts for us that you might consider favorable.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that may make the merger or acquisition of our company more difficult without the approval of our Board of Directors. Among other things, these provisions:

- provide that our Board of Directors will be divided into three classes, as nearly equal in size as possible, which directors in each class serving three-year terms and with terms of the directors of only one class expiring in any given year;
- provide for the removal of directors only for cause;
- provide that, if at any time any person or group (other than Carlyle Group Management L.L.C. and its affiliates, a direct or subsequently approved transferee of Carlyle Group Management L.L.C. or its affiliates) beneficially owns 20% or more of any class of stock then outstanding, that person or group will lose voting rights on all of its shares of stock and such shares may not be voted on any matter;
- would allow us to authorize the issuance of shares of one or more series of preferred stock, including in connection with a stockholder rights
  plan, financing transactions or otherwise, the terms of which series may be established and the shares of which may be issued without
  stockholder approval, and which may include super voting, special approval, dividend, or other rights or preferences superior to the rights of the
  holders of common stock;
- · prohibit stockholder action by written consent unless such action is consented by the Board of Directors;
- provide for certain limitations on convening special stockholder meetings;
- provide (i) that the board of directors is expressly authorized to make, alter, or repeal our bylaws and (ii) that our stockholders may only amend our bylaws with the approval of at least a majority of all of the outstanding shares of our capital stock entitled to vote; and
- establish advance notice requirements for nominations for elections to our board or for proposing matters that can be acted upon by stockholders at stockholder meetings.

Further, as a Delaware corporation, we are also subject to provisions of Delaware law, which may impede or discourage a takeover attempt that our stockholders may find beneficial. These anti-takeover provisions and other provisions under Delaware law, our stockholder agreements with our founders and proxy held by Carlyle Group Management L.L.C. could discourage, delay or prevent a transaction involving a change in control of our company, including actions that our stockholders may deem advantageous, or could negatively affect the trading price of our common stock. These provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for you and other stockholders to elect directors of your choosing and to cause us to take other corporate actions you desire.

The provision of our certificate of incorporation requiring exclusive venue in the Court of Chancery in the State of Delaware for certain types of lawsuits may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against us and our directors, officers and stockholders.

Our certificate of incorporation requires, to the fullest extent permitted by law, that any claims, suits, actions or proceedings arising out of or relating in any way to our certificate of incorporation may only be brought in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or, if such court does not have subject matter jurisdiction thereof, any other court in the State of Delaware with subject matter jurisdiction. This provision may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against us and our directors, officers and stockholders.

If The Carlyle Group Inc. were deemed to be an "investment company" under the Investment Company Act, applicable restrictions could make it impractical for us to continue our business as contemplated and could have a material adverse effect on our business.

An entity generally will be deemed to be an "investment company" for purposes of the Investment Company Act if:

- it is or holds itself out as being engaged primarily, or proposes to engage primarily, in the business of investing, reinvesting or trading in securities;
   or
- absent an applicable exemption, it owns or proposes to acquire investment securities having a value exceeding 40% of the value of its total assets (exclusive of U.S. government securities and cash items) on an unconsolidated basis.

We believe that we are engaged primarily in the business of providing asset management services and not in the business of investing, reinvesting or trading in securities. We hold ourselves out as an asset management firm and do not propose to engage primarily in the business of investing, reinvesting or trading in securities. Accordingly, we do not believe that The Carlyle Group Inc. is an "orthodox" investment company as defined in section 3(a)(1)(A) of the Investment Company Act and described in the first bullet point above. Furthermore, The Carlyle Group Inc. does not have any material assets other than its interests in certain wholly owned subsidiaries, which in turn have no material assets other than general partner interests in the Carlyle Holdings partnerships. These wholly owned subsidiaries are the sole general partners of the Carlyle Holdings partnerships and are vested with all management and control over the Carlyle Holdings partnerships. We do not believe that the equity interests of The Carlyle Group Inc. in its wholly owned subsidiaries or the general partner interests of these wholly owned subsidiaries in the Carlyle Holdings partnerships are investment securities. Moreover, because we believe that the capital interests of the general partners of our funds in their respective funds are neither securities nor investment securities, we believe that less than 40% of The Carlyle Group Inc.'s total assets (exclusive of U.S. government securities and cash items) on an unconsolidated basis are composed of assets that could be considered investment securities. Accordingly, we do not believe that The Carlyle Group Inc. is an inadvertent investment company by virtue of the 40% test in section 3(a)(1)(C) of the Investment Company Act as described in the second bullet point above. In addition, we believe that The Carlyle Group Inc. is not an investment company under section 3(b)(1) of the Investment Company Act because it is primarily engaged in a non-investment company business.

The Investment Company Act and the rules thereunder contain detailed parameters for the organization and operation of investment companies. Among other things, the Investment Company Act and the rules thereunder limit or prohibit transactions with affiliates, impose limitations on the issuance of debt and equity securities, generally prohibit the issuance of options and impose certain governance requirements. We intend to conduct our operations so that The Carlyle Group Inc. will not be deemed to be an investment company under the Investment Company Act. If anything were to happen which would cause The Carlyle Group Inc. to be deemed to be an investment company under the Investment Company Act, requirements imposed by the Investment Company Act, including limitations on our capital structure, ability to transact business with affiliates (including us) and ability to compensate key employees, could make it impractical for us to continue our business as currently conducted, impair the agreements and arrangements between and among The Carlyle Group Inc. and our senior Carlyle professionals and materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, we may be required to limit the amount of investments that we make as a principal or otherwise conduct our business in a manner that does not subject us to the registration and other requirements of the Investment Company Act.

The consolidation of investment funds, holding companies or operating businesses of our portfolio companies could make it more difficult to understand the operating performance of the Company and could create operational risks for the Company.

Under applicable U.S. GAAP standards, we may be required to consolidate certain of our investment funds, holding companies or operating businesses if we determine that these entities are VIEs and that we are the primary beneficiary of the VIE, as discussed in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The consolidation of such entities could make it difficult for an investor to differentiate our assets, liabilities, and results of operations of the consolidated VIEs. The assets of the consolidated VIEs are not available to meet our liquidity requirements and similarly we generally have not guaranteed or assumed any obligation for repayment of the liabilities of the consolidated VIEs.

As of December 31, 2020, the total assets and liabilities of the consolidated VIEs reflected in the consolidated balance sheets were \$6.3 billion and \$6.1 billion, respectively.

As a public entity, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, as amended, and requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the "Sarbanes-Oxley Act"). The Exchange Act requires that we file annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and financial condition, and provide an annual assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting. In order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting as required by the Exchange Act, significant resources and management oversight are required. We have implemented procedures and processes for the purpose of

addressing the standards and requirements applicable to public companies. The VIEs that we consolidate as the primary beneficiary are, subject to certain transition guidelines, included in our annual assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. As a result, we will need to continue to implement and oversee procedures and processes to integrate such operations into our internal control structure. If we are not able to implement or maintain the necessary procedures and processes, we may be unable to report our financial information on a timely or accurate basis and could be subject adverse consequences, including sanctions by the SEC or violations of applicable Nasdaq listing rules, and could result in a breach of the covenants under the agreements governing our financing arrangements. There could also be a negative reaction in the financial markets due to a loss of investor confidence in us and the reliability of our financial statements.

#### Risks Related to Taxation

#### Comprehensive U.S. federal income tax reform became effective in 2018, which could adversely affect us as it is implemented.

On December 22, 2017, the TCJA was signed into law, which has resulted in fundamental changes to the Code. Some of the key elements of the TCJA include (i) the reduction of the corporate tax rate from 35% to 21%, (ii) new limitations on the utilization, carryback and carryforward of net operating losses, (iii) partial limitations on the deductibility of business interest expense, (iv) certain modifications to Section 162(m) of the Code and (v) general changes to the taxation of corporations and businesses, including modifications to cost recovery rules and changes relating to the scope and timing of U.S. taxation on earnings from international business operations. Generally we expect the reduction in the corporate tax rate to result in reduction in our effective tax rate on the portion of our income that was subject to U.S. corporate income tax prior to the Conversion; however, following the Conversion, we expect to pay more corporate tax on an overall basis, despite the reduction in the corporate tax rate, as all of our income will be subject to U.S. federal income tax. See "—We expect to pay more corporate income taxes than we would have as a limited partnership prior to the Conversion."

In addition, the TCJA expanded the definition of companies that could be treated as controlled foreign corporations ("CFCs") which could result in more of our foreign portfolio companies being treated as CFCs. This could result in unintended tax implications with respect to the treatment and timing of U.S. taxation of earnings from our investments in certain foreign portfolio companies.

While additional guidance has been and continues to be issued with respect to the legislation, there are still a number of areas which need additional guidance or technical corrections. There can be no assurance that needed technical clarifications or other legislative changes to provide unintended or unforeseen adverse tax consequences will be enacted by Congress or provided by Treasury and the IRS. We continue to monitor the impacts, but there will likely be additional compliance costs, which may impact the results of our operations and cash flows. Many states and localities may not be in full conformity with the U.S. tax proposals, which may also result in additional costs and tax burden.

## Changes in U.S. and foreign tax regulations could adversely affect our ability to raise funds from certain foreign investors.

Under the U.S. Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act ("FATCA"), U.S. withholding agents and all entities in a broadly defined class of foreign financial institutions ("FFIs") are required to comply with a complicated and expansive reporting regime or be subject to certain U.S. withholding taxes. In connection with this regulation, various foreign governments have entered into intergovernmental agreements ("IGAs") with the U.S. government. The reporting obligations imposed under FATCA require FFIs to enter into agreements with the IRS to perform due diligence and to disclose through reporting information about certain account holders and investors to the IRS (or in the case of certain FFIs that are resident in a jurisdiction that has entered into an IGA to implement this legislation, the FFIs would comply with revised diligence and reporting obligations of such IGA). Additionally, certain non-U.S. entities that are not FFIs are required to either certify they have no substantial U.S. beneficial ownership or report certain information with respect to their substantial U.S. beneficial ownership. Failure to comply with these requirements could expose us and/or our investors to a 30% withholding tax on certain U.S. payments and possibly limit our ability to open bank accounts and secure funding in the global capital markets. The administrative and economic costs of compliance with FATCA may discourage some foreign investors from investing in U.S. funds, which could adversely affect our ability to raise funds from these investors. Other countries, such as Luxembourg, the United Kingdom and the Cayman Islands, have implemented and are participating in a multi-jurisdictional regime known as the Common Reporting Standard ("CRS"), which is similar to that of FATCA (without the withholding requirement), and in some cases, have imposed penalties on non-compliant institutions. Compliance under these and similar regimes as described above could result in increased administrative and compliance costs for our investment entities

Compliance under these and similar regimes as described above could result in increased administrative and compliance costs for our investment entities and, in some cases, could subject our investment entities to increased withholding taxes.

In addition, as part of the TCJA, any gain recognized by a non-U.S. holder on the sale or exchange of a partnership interest may be treated as income effectively connected with the conduct of a U.S. trade or business ("ECI") and therefore subject to U.S. tax to the extent that such non-U.S. holder would have been allocated ECI if the partnership sold all of its assets at fair market value as of the date of the sale or exchange. The TCJA includes a provision effective after December 31, 2017 requiring the transferee of an interest in a partnership that is engaged in a U.S. trade or business to withhold 10 percent of the transferor's amount realized (gross purchase price) on the sale, exchange or other disposition of such partnership interest, unless an applicable non-foreign person affidavit is furnished by the transferor or another exception applies. Final regulations were released in 2020 and are effective for transactions on or after January 29, 2021. Compliance under such regulations may have an adverse impact on our secondaries business.

## We expect to pay more corporate income taxes than we would have as a limited partnership prior to the Conversion.

Our Conversion was effective on January 1, 2020. Following the Conversion, all of the net income attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc. is subject to U.S. federal (and state and local) corporate income taxes, which we anticipate will have a dilutive impact to Distributable Earnings per share of common stock and net income and reduce the amount of cash available for dividends to our common stockholders, although this dilution should initially be partially mitigated by a tax basis increase related to the Conversion. Prior to the Conversion, only a portion of the income attributable to us was subject to U.S. federal, state and local corporation income taxes. We anticipate that our Distributable Earnings will be subject to an effective corporate tax rate in the mid-to-high teens for several years following the Conversion and in the low-twenties over the long-term. These estimates are presented for illustrative purposes only and are subject to various risks and uncertainties. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates. Among other things, these estimates are based on assumptions concerning the size and recovery period of the tax basis increase related to the Conversion, as well as the currently enacted maximum U.S. federal corporate income tax rate of 21%. To the extent the tax basis increase generated in the Conversion is smaller or takes longer to realize than anticipated, we would expect the effective tax rate on Distributable Earnings to more quickly reach its long-term level. In addition, any future increase in currently enacted corporate tax rates would cause us to pay more corporate income taxes than currently anticipated. The impact of changes to tax legislation may also cause us to pay more corporate income taxes than currently anticipated.

## ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

#### ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal executive offices are located in leased office space at 1001 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Washington, D.C. We also lease the space for our other 28 offices. In December 2020, we consolidated our New York office space and moved to One Vanderbilt. We do not own any real property. We consider these facilities to be suitable and adequate for the management and operation of our business.

## ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In the ordinary course of business, the Company is a party to litigation, investigations, inquiries, employment-related matters, disputes and other potential claims. See Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K for a discussion of certain of these matters.

## ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not Applicable.

PART II.

# ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol "CG."

The number of holders of record of our common stock as of February 10, 2021 was 6. This does not include the number of stockholders that hold shares in "street name" through banks or broker-dealers.

## **Dividend Policy**

Under our dividend policy for our common stock, we expect to pay our common stockholders an annualized dividend of \$1.00 per share of common stock, equal to a quarterly dividend of \$0.25 per share of common stock.

The declaration and payment of any dividends to holders of our common stock are subject to the discretion of our Board of Directors, which may change our dividend policy at any time or from time to time, and the terms of our certificate of incorporation. There can be no assurance that dividends will be made as intended or at all or that any particular dividend policy will be maintained.

## **Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities**

We did not repurchase any shares of our common stock during the three months ended December 31, 2020.

In December 2018, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to \$200 million of common stock and/or Carlyle Holdings units. In January 2020 our Board of Directors re-authorized the repurchase program with regard to our common stock. In February 2021, our Board of Directors replenished the repurchase program to its limit of \$200 million of common stock in aggregate. This program authorizes the repurchase of shares of common stock from time to time in open market transactions, in privately negotiated transactions or otherwise. Under the repurchase program, shares of common stock may be repurchased from time to time in open market transactions, in privately negotiated transactions or otherwise. The timing and actual number of shares of common stock repurchased will depend on a variety of factors, including legal requirements, price and economic and market conditions. The share repurchase program may be suspended or discontinued at any time and does not have a specified expiration date.

#### **Sales of Unregistered Securities**

In March of 2017, we amended our agreement with NGP Management. Pursuant to the amended agreement, we agreed, among other things, to issue additional shares of common stock on each of February 1, 2018, 2019 and 2020, with a value of \$10.0 million per year to an affiliate of NGP Management. For each year thereafter, we agreed to issue additional shares of common stock on February 1 in an amount based on total distributions received by the Company from NGP Management, in any case not to exceed \$10.0 million per year. In order to effectuate the amended NGP agreement, we entered into agreements with an affiliate of NGP Management on each of the dates below to deliver such shares as follows:

		Shares of Common Stock Delivered / Deliverable in August,									
	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024					
Date of Agreement:											
February 1, 2018	160,211	120,158	120,159	_	_	_					
February 1, 2019	_	219,189	164,391	164,393	_	_					
February 1, 2020	_	_	119,760	89,821	89,820	_					
February 1, 2021	_	_	_	116,559	87,419	87,418					

Such securities have been offered and sold in reliance on the exemption contained in Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act as a transaction by the issuer not involving a public offering. No general solicitation or underwriters were involved in such offer and sale.

### Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans

As permitted by our policies and procedures governing transactions in our securities by our directors, executive officers and other employees, from time to time some of these persons may establish plans or arrangements complying with Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act, and similar plans and arrangements relating to our common stock. Our policy generally provides for a default election by employees to sell shares to cover taxes due upon the vesting of restricted stock units unless

the employee elects to pay cash in respect of the taxes due upon vesting dur	ing the open trading window in the quarter prior to the vesting date.
	86

## ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data presents selected data on the financial condition and results of operations of The Carlyle Group Inc. This financial data should be read together with "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and the historical financial statements and related notes included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. On January 1, 2020, The Carlyle Group L.P. (the "Partnership") completed its its conversion from a Delaware limited partnership to a Delaware corporation, The Carlyle Group Inc. Information reported for periods prior to the Conversion on January 1, 2020 reflect the results of the Partnership. References to The Carlyle Group Inc., our common stock and our dividends in periods prior to the Conversion refer to The Carlyle Group L.P., its common units and distributions. For periods subsequent to the Conversion, Net income (loss) attributable to Carlyle Holdings, refers to Net income (loss) of The Carlyle Group Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries, net of non-controlling interests in consolidated entities.

We derived the following selected consolidated financial data of The Carlyle Group Inc. as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 and for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018 from the audited consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The selected consolidated financial data as of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 and for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 were derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of The Carlyle Group Inc. which are not included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Historical results are not necessarily indicative of results for any future period.

			Year	r End	led Decembe	r 31,		
		2020	2019		2018		2017	2016
			(Dollars in	millio	ns, except po	er un	it data)	
Statement of Operations Data								
Revenues <sup>(1)(2)</sup>								
Fund management fees	\$	1,486.0	\$ 1,476.2	\$	1,272.0	\$	1,026.9	\$ 1,076.1
Incentive fees		37.0	35.9		30.2		35.3	36.4
Investment income, including performance allocations		1,095.2	1,568.4		809.2		2,290.6	875.9
Interest and other income and revenues		316.4	 296.5		315.8		323.4	 285.9
Total Revenues		2,934.6	3,377.0		2,427.2		3,676.2	2,274.3
Total Expenses		2,333.3	2,119.7		2,071.5		2,632.3	2,242.1
Other Income (Expense)		(21.3)	(23.9)		4.5		88.4	13.1
Income before provision for income taxes		580.0	1,233.4		360.2		1,132.3	45.3
Provision for income taxes		197.2	49.0		31.3		124.9	30.0
Net income		382.8	1,184.4		328.9		1,007.4	15.3
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests in consolidated entities		34.6	36.6		33.9		72.5	41.0
Net income (loss) attributable to Carlyle Holdings		348.2	1,147.8		295.0		934.9	 (25.7)
Net income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interests in Carlyle Holdings		_	766.9		178.5		690.8	(32.1)
Net income (loss) attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc.	\$	348.2	\$ 380.9	\$	116.5	\$	244.1	\$ 6.4
Net income attributable to Series A Preferred Shareholders		_	19.1		23.6		6.0	 _
Series A Preferred Shares redemption premium		_	16.5		_			_
Net income (loss) attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc. Common Stockholder	s <b>\$</b>	348.2	\$ 345.3	\$	92.9	\$	238.1	\$ 6.4
Net income (loss) attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc. per common share:		-						
Basic	\$	0.99	\$ 3.05	\$	0.89	\$	2.58	\$ 0.08
Diluted	\$	0.97	\$ 2.82	\$	0.82	\$	2.38	\$ (80.0)
Dividends declared per common share	\$	1.00	\$ 1.36	\$	1.24	\$	1.24	\$ 1.68

	As of December 31,									
	2020			2019	9 2018		2017			2016
	(Dollars in millions)									
Balance Sheet Data										
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	987.6	\$	793.4	\$	629.6	\$	1,000.1	\$	670.9
Corporate treasury investments	\$	_	\$	_	\$	51.7	\$	376.3	\$	190.2
Investments and accrued performance allocations	\$	7,380.9	\$	6,804.4	\$	5,697.5	\$	5,294.9	\$	3,588.1
Investments of Consolidated Funds <sup>(3)</sup>	\$	6,056.9	\$	5,007.3	\$	5,286.6	\$	4,534.3	\$	3,893.7
Total assets <sup>(4)</sup>	\$	15,644.8	\$	13,808.8	\$	12,914.2	\$	12,280.6	\$	9,973.0
Debt obligations	\$	1,970.9	\$	1,976.3	\$	1,550.4	\$	1,573.6	\$	1,265.2
Loans payable of Consolidated Funds	\$	5,563.0	\$	4,706.7	\$	4,840.1	\$	4,303.8	\$	3,866.3
Total liabilities <sup>(4)</sup>	\$	12,714.6	\$	10,839.2	\$	10,077.9	\$	9,331.6	\$	8,519.0
Non-controlling interests in consolidated entities	\$	241.0	\$	333.5	\$	324.2	\$	404.7	\$	277.8
Series A Preferred Units	\$	_	\$	_	\$	387.5	\$	387.5	\$	_
Total equity	\$	2,930.2	\$	2,969.6	\$	2,836.3	\$	2,949.0	\$	1,454.0

- (1) On January 1, 2018, The Carlyle Group Inc. adopted ASU 2014-9, *Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)*, and related amendments, which provide comprehensive guidance for recognizing revenue from contracts with customers. Consistent with the adoption of ASU 2014-9 on a modified retrospective basis, revenue presented for periods prior to 2018 have not been adjusted to reflect the new revenue recognition guidance.
- (2) Upon adoption of ASU 2014-9, performance allocations that represent a performance-based capital allocation from fund limited partners to The Carlyle Group Inc. (commonly known as "carried interest") are accounted for as earnings from financial assets within the scope of ASC 323, *Investments Equity Method and Joint Ventures*, and therefore are not in the scope of ASU 2014-9. The Carlyle Group Inc. applied this change in accounting principle on a full retrospective basis, which resulted in a reclassification of amounts previously reported as performance fees to performance allocations within investment income (loss) in the statement of operations. Amounts previously reported as performance fees that do not meet the definition of performance-based capital allocations are in the scope of ASU 2014-9 and are included in incentive fees in the statement of operations. Revenue for all periods presented reflect this reclassification.
- (3) The entities comprising our Consolidated Funds are not the same entities for all periods presented. On January 1, 2016, The Carlyle Group Inc. adopted ASU 2015-2, *Consolidation (Topic 810): Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis*, which provides a revised consolidation model to use in evaluating whether to consolidate certain types of legal entities. As a result, The Carlyle Group Inc. deconsolidated a majority of its consolidated funds on January 1, 2016. The consolidation or deconsolidation of funds generally has the effect of grossing up or down, respectively, reported assets, liabilities, and cash flows, and has no effect on net income attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc. or equity.
- (4) On January 1, 2019, The Carlyle Group Inc. adopted ASU 2016-2, *Leases (Topic 842)*, and related amendments, which requires lessees to recognize virtually all of their leases on the balance sheet by recording right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. Consistent with the adoption of ASU 2016-2 on a modified retrospective basis, total assets and total liabilities presented for periods prior to 2019 have not been adjusted to reflect the new lease recognition guidance.

#### ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

On January 1, 2020, we completed our conversion from a Delaware limited partnership named The Carlyle Group L.P. into a Delaware corporation named The Carlyle Group Inc. Pursuant to the Conversion, at the specified effective time on January 1, 2020, each common unit of The Carlyle Group L.P. outstanding immediately prior to the effective time converted into one share of common stock of The Carlyle Group Inc. and each special voting unit and general partner unit was canceled for no consideration. In addition, holders of the partnership units in Carlyle Holdings II L.P., Carlyle Holdings II L.P., and Carlyle Holdings III L.P. exchanged such units for an equivalent number of shares of common stock and certain other restructuring steps occurred (the conversion, together with such restructuring steps and related transactions, the "Conversion").

Unless the context suggests otherwise, references in this report to "Carlyle," the "Company," "we," "us" and "our" refer (i) prior to the consummation of the Conversion to The Carlyle Group L.P. and its consolidated subsidiaries and (ii) from and after the consummation of the Conversion to The Carlyle Group Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries. References to our common stock in periods prior to the Conversion refer to the common units of The Carlyle Group L.P.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the related notes included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

### Overview

We conduct our operations through three operating segments: Global Private Equity, Global Credit, and Investment Solutions.

- Global Private Equity Our Global Private Equity segment advises our 34 buyout and middle market and growth capital funds, our 10 U.S. and internationally focused real estate funds, our 14 natural resources funds, and our three Legacy Energy funds. The segment also includes three NGP Predecessor Funds and five NGP Carry Funds advised by NGP. As of December 31, 2020, our Global Private Equity segment had \$131.8 billion in AUM and \$91.6 billion in Fee-earning AUM.
- *Global Credit* Our Global Credit segment advises a group of 71 funds that pursue investment strategies including loans and structured credit, direct lending, opportunistic credit, distressed credit, and aircraft financing and servicing. As of December 31, 2020, our Global Credit segment had \$55.9 billion in AUM and \$42.1 billion in Fee-earning AUM.
- *Investment Solutions* Our Investment Solutions segment advises global private equity and real estate fund of funds programs and related co-investment and secondary activities across 283 fund vehicles. As of December 31, 2020, our Investment Solutions segment had \$58.1 billion in AUM and \$36.4 billion in Fee-earning AUM.

We earn management fees pursuant to contractual arrangements with the investment funds that we manage and fees for transaction advisory and oversight services provided to portfolio companies of these funds. We also typically receive a performance fee from an investment fund, which may be either an incentive fee or a special residual allocation of income, which we refer to as a carried interest, in the event that specified investment returns are achieved by the fund. Under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP"), we are required to consolidate some of the investment funds that we advise. However, for segment reporting purposes, we present revenues and expenses on a basis that deconsolidates these investment funds. Accordingly, our segment revenues primarily consist of fund management and related advisory fees and other income, realized performance revenues (consisting of incentive fees and carried interest allocations), realized principal investment income, including realized gains on our investments in our funds and other trading securities, as well as interest income. Our segment expenses primarily consist of cash compensation and benefits expenses, including salaries, bonuses, and realized performance payment arrangements, and general and administrative expenses. While our segment expenses include depreciation and interest expense, our segment expenses exclude acquisition-related charges and amortization of intangibles and impairment. Refer to Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more information on the differences between our financial results reported pursuant to U.S. GAAP and our financial results for segment reporting purposes.

#### **Trends Affecting our Business**

Aggregate economic activity continued to improve through the fourth quarter of 2020, and overall revenue growth among public companies was roughly flat, on average, for the year. However, the pandemic's sharply discrepant impact has increased the dispersion in performance across businesses and industries. During 2020, more than 10% of public companies reported a peak-to-trough fall in revenues of more than 50%, roughly twice the number of businesses reporting losses of this magnitude over any 12-month period during 2008-2009. On the other hand, over 5% of businesses also reported revenue gains in excess of 50%, as remote work and social distancing led businesses to make greater use of video communications technology and households substituted video streaming and durable goods purchases for travel, tourism and live events spending.

Overall, U.S. business spending, led by software and services, averaged nearly 8% year-over-year growth in the fourth quarter of 2020, and our proprietary portfolio data continue to suggest that growth in certain industries such as healthcare and technology also remained robust. In Europe, there was continued growth in the business services and industrials sectors, but a large resurgence in coronavirus cases drove some retrenchment in affected industries and geographies. As has been the case since the onset of the pandemic, the travel, tourism, and hospitality sectors were particularly impacted. U.S. hotel occupancy fell to 37% of capacity in December, the lowest rate since the spring, while new restrictions on movement and business activity in Europe resulted in a modest quarter-over-quarter economic contraction. The U.S. Commerce Department estimates that the U.S. economy expanded at an annual rate of 4.0% in Q4 2020. As a result, gross domestic product (GDP) finished the year 2.5% below year-end 2019 levels and when averaged over the entirety of 2020, GDP contracted by 3.5% relative to 2019. In contrast, China continues to exhibit strong recovery, with economic output ending the fourth quarter 6.5% ahead of year-ago levels.

Global equity markets remained strong in 2020, driven by the sharp decline in interest rates, significant increases in fiscal support, and the sense among market participants that the COVID-19 pandemic reflects a temporary decline in the supply of certain experiences and services rather than an endogenous drop in consumer demand. Over the past year, the S&P 500 rose by roughly 15%, with much larger gains in tech-heavy indexes like the Nasdaq whose constituents have tended to benefit from social distancing and remote work. The global equity markets saw a particularly strong surge from November 6 onwards after the overwhelmingly positive results of COVID-19 vaccine trials were announced. From September 30 through December 31, 2020, the S&P 500, MSCI ACWI, EuroStoxx 600, and Shanghai Composite rose 11.7%, 14.4%, 10.5%, and 7.9%, respectively. Much of this performance, particularly in the U.S., was driven by a rebound in sectors where equity prices had been hardest hit by the pandemic, such as hospitality, financials, brick-and-mortar retail, and oil & gas. In the U.S., analysts currently estimate fourth quarter earnings for companies in the S&P 500 declined 5% year-over-year, with the largest contractions still concentrated in the energy and industrials (including transportation) sectors.

While unexpected resilience in goods consumption, residential real estate markets, and business spending have led to better than expected 2020 global growth outcomes, and the recently enacted and proposed fiscal stimulus measures should help bolster household income, significant risks remain for 2021. In December 2020, total U.S. employment declined for the first time since April after seven consecutive months of gains. The slower than anticipated global vaccination rollout, combined with uncertainties regarding new variants of the virus, will prolong the risk of continued disruption from the COVID-19 pandemic deeper into the year. In Europe, the ongoing re-imposition of broad-based lockdown measures could stymie growth in the near-term, while underlying labor market fragility and debt accumulation pose a potential risk to the longer-term growth outlook for the region. Direct state aid programs have artificially suppressed unemployment rates to date and 5% or more of the workforce is still supported by employment retention programs in some European economies. While many of these policies have been extended through 2021, an eventual labor market shakeout remains a possibility.

Of particular note are risks to the outlook for the transportation industry where recovery in metrics such as discretionary air travel and public transit ridership lags other macro indicators, and the infrastructure sector, where the pandemic has materially altered revenue expectations and has led to severe projected budget shortfalls at the state and local level. The potential for a sustained period of severely depressed commercial air travel may have significant implications not only for the airlines, but also for the myriad aviation related companies such as aircraft suppliers, their vendors and airport services firms that depend on the aviation industry for a substantial portion of their revenues.

The near-term outlook for oil and gas is expected to improve in 2021 as lockdowns are eased and fuel demand rebounds. The long-term outlook for oil and gas will be more dependent on the pace of the broader shift to alternative energy sources. For example, currently over 90% of surface, air and marine transportation is powered by oil-based fuels. While growth in electric vehicle sales should cause this share to decline over time, electric vehicles account for less than 3% of new auto sales, and less than 0.5% of the cars on the road today are fully electric. Additionally, ongoing concerns about climate change and carbon emissions may dampen investor interest in the oil and gas sector which could have a negative impact on our activities in the sector including raising capital, obtaining suitable or sufficient financing, exiting investments and achieving expected returns on new investments.

Global geopolitical tensions, already strained pre-pandemic, have been exacerbated by the widespread economic disruption. U.S.-China relations, which had appeared to ease at the end of 2019, soured during 2020 amid harsh rhetoric, sanctions, and export restrictions. While there is some optimism that tensions with China could ease under the new U.S. Administration, the outlook remains highly uncertain. The imposition of a national security law on Hong Kong has prompted backlash from various global players, thereby increasing overall uncertainty about risks associated with international trade with Hong Kong, the potential for increased taxation on Hong Kong-related transactions, and new regulatory restrictions and data protection concerns for businesses operating in Hong Kong, including our Hong Kong operations. Disputes over digital services taxes and import tariffs on luxury goods imports reignited U.S.-European Union trade tensions, although early signals from the new U.S. Administration suggest a desire to approach existing disagreements diplomatically. Political instability and the potential for a broader pullback in global trade introduce risks to the economic growth of most economies, particularly those with significant export-dependence. Domestically within the U.S., heightened unemployment and deep-seated political divisiveness continue to cause significant uncertainty.

Bond markets, while stable, shifted modestly in the fourth quarter. The 10-year U.S. Treasury yield rose more than 25 basis points over the quarter to its highest level since March on expectations of increased government spending under the new Administration and closely divided Congress. High yield spreads tightened a further 150 basis points. Futures markets continue to expect short-term rates to remain near zero through 2025 due to the Federal Reserve's new policy framework, which appears to allow inflation to overshoot its 2% target for "some time." Within corporate credit, businesses have taken advantage of low interest rates through massive debt issuance and restructurings, building large cash piles as liquidity buffers.

Our carry fund portfolio continued to build on the strong momentum started in the second half of the year, appreciating 8% in the fourth quarter and 10% for the year. Within our Global Private Equity segment, our corporate private equity funds appreciated by 11% in the fourth quarter and 19% over the last twelve months, reflecting strong performance across the portfolio and our real estate funds appreciated by 3% during the fourth quarter and 8% over the last twelve months. Our natural resources funds appreciated by 3% in the fourth quarter despite continued pressure, with depreciation of 16% over the last twelve months. In our Global Credit segment, our carry funds (which represent approximately 14% of the total Global Credit remaining fair value) appreciated by 7% in the fourth quarter, as tightening spreads led to an increase in value for many of our positions, and depreciated 2% over the last twelve months. Investment Solutions appreciation was 7% in the fourth quarter and 10% for the year, though the valuations of our primary and secondary funds of funds generally reflect investment fair values on a one-quarter lag.

With continued positive impact from valuations across the portfolio, net accrued performance revenues on our balance sheet increased to a record \$2.3 billion at December 31, 2020, up 36% since last year. Significant IPO activity in our portfolio during 2020 has increased the portion of our traditional carry funds attributable to publicly traded companies to 15% of fair value in the fourth quarter, compared to 6% at the end of 2019. While these IPOs have performed well to date overall, this shift may result in an increasing correlation to public market performance and a significant concentration of investment gains in individual investments for certain funds. To the extent that there is volatility in public equity markets and/or the prices of our publicly-traded portfolio companies, there may be elevated volatility in our performance revenue accrual in the coming quarters.

Generally, the investment period of our funds enables us to be patient in deploying capital only in investments that meet our return criteria and the strategic objectives of our funds. During the fourth quarter, our carry funds invested \$8.7 billion in new or follow-on transactions and we invested \$18.3 billion for the full year 2020. We anticipate that increased market activity and opportunities for large buyouts will facilitate strong deployment activity as we move further into 2021. We also expect volume to remain robust across both growth and buyout opportunities, particularly in the healthcare, technology, and consumer sectors. However, challenges in specific industries could lead to a longer-term slowdown in certain sectors, such as traditional energy.

We generated \$6.9 billion in realized proceeds from our carry funds in the fourth quarter and realized \$21.0 billion in 2020. We expect near-term exit activity in early 2021 to depend on the trajectory of multiple and varied macro environment factors, in addition to valuation multiples and access to capital markets. However, we believe that our recent IPO activity and maturing portfolio position us well to deliver higher levels of both realized proceeds and realized performance revenue over the long term. For example, during the fourth quarter we realized significant performance revenue for a second straight quarter from our sixth U.S. Buyout fund, which reflects the value creation and advancing maturity profile of that flagship fund.

Fundraising has remained generally resilient since the onset of the pandemic. Though we were not fundraising any of our flagship funds in Global Private Equity during 2020, we raised \$27.5 billion in new capital in 2020, well exceeding our goal for the year, with particular fundraising strength in Investment Solutions and Global Credit.

At the beginning of the pandemic, many observers conflated a return to the office with a return to business as usual. Instead, business volumes and productivity rose to pre-pandemic levels well in advance of full office reopening. Since the start

of the pandemic, our employees have proven what they can accomplish while they are working remotely, and they remain well connected and engaged with each other and our stakeholders through our suite of teleconferencing and virtual meeting solutions. While we have generally reopened our offices around the globe, most employees continue to work remotely and we continue to successfully operate our business and address the needs of our shareholders, fund investors and portfolio companies.

We are closely evaluating the financial and other proposals put forth by the new Administration and Congress and their potential impacts on our business. While there may be changes to current tax and regulatory regimes, additional fiscal stimulus packages could be followed by longer-term spending increases on infrastructure, climate, health care and education. The potential for policy changes may create regulatory uncertainty for our portfolio companies and our investment strategies and adversely affect the profitability of our portfolio companies.

#### **Recent Transactions**

#### Dividends

In February 2021, the Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend of \$0.25 per common share to common stockholders of record at the close of business on February 16, 2021, payable on February 23, 2021.

#### Conversion to a Corporation

On January 1, 2020, we completed our conversion from a Delaware limited partnership named The Carlyle Group L.P. (the "Partnership") into a Delaware corporation named The Carlyle Group Inc. (the "Corporation"). Pursuant to the Conversion, at the specified effective time on January 1, 2020, (i) each common unit of the Partnership outstanding immediately prior to the effective time converted into one issued and outstanding, fully paid and nonassessable share of common stock, (ii) each special voting unit of the Partnership outstanding immediately prior to the effective time was canceled for no consideration and the former holder(s) thereof ceased to have any rights with respect thereto and (iii) each general partner unit of the Partnership outstanding immediately prior to the effective time was canceled for no consideration and the former holder(s) thereof ceased to have any rights with respect thereto, in each case without any action required on the part of the Partnership, the Corporation, any holder of any Partnership interest or any other person. In addition, holders of partnership units in Carlyle Holdings I L.P., Carlyle Holdings II L.P. and Carlyle Holdings III L.P. exchanged such units for an equivalent number of shares of common stock of the Corporation and certain other restructuring steps occurred (the conversion, together with such restructuring steps and related transactions, the "Conversion").

The Conversion qualified for the non-recognition of gain or loss to our former common unitholders for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The application of the non-recognition rules to non-U.S. common unitholders in the context of the Conversion is dependent on local tax requirements. Following the Conversion, dividends are reported to stockholders on Form 1099-DIV and are treated as qualified dividend income (generally taxable to U.S. individual stockholders at capital gain rates) paid by a domestic corporation to the extent paid out of our current or accumulated earnings and profits, as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes, with any excess dividends treated as return of capital to the extent of the stockholder's basis.

Prior to the Conversion, we recorded significant non-controlling interests in Carlyle Holdings related to the ownership interests of the limited partners of the Carlyle Holdings partnerships. The Company, through wholly-owned subsidiaries, was the sole general partner of Carlyle Holdings. Accordingly, the Company consolidated the financial position and results of operations of Carlyle Holdings into its consolidated financial statements. In the Conversion, the limited partners of the Carlyle Holdings partnerships exchanged their Carlyle Holdings partnership units for an equivalent number of shares of common stock of The Carlyle Group Inc. As a result, in periods following Conversion, the consolidated balance sheet of The Carlyle Group Inc. will not reflect any non-controlling interests in Carlyle Holdings. In addition, we expect that our provision for income taxes in periods following the Conversion will be greater than in periods prior to the Conversion because following the Conversion, all of our income before the provision for income taxes will be subject to U.S. federal (and state and local) corporate income taxes. See "Part 1. Item 1A. Risk Factors—Following the Conversion, we expect to pay more corporate income taxes than we would have as a limited partnership." For these reasons, our results in periods following the Conversion may not be comparable to our results in periods prior to the Conversion.

For additional information about the Conversion, see "Part 1. Item 1. Business–Organizational Structure," "Part II. Item 8. Note 10–Related Party Transactions," and "Part II. Item 8. Note 11–Income Taxes."

## **Key Financial Measures**

Our key financial measures are discussed in the following pages. Additional information regarding these key financial measures and our other significant accounting policies can be found in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

#### Revenues

Revenues primarily consist of fund management fees, incentive fees, investment income (including performance allocations, realized and unrealized gains of our investments in our funds and other principal investments), as well as interest and other income.

Fund Management Fees. Fund management fees include management fees and transaction and portfolio advisory fees. We earn management fees for advisory services we provide to funds in which we hold a general partner interest or with which we have an investment advisory or investment management agreement. Additionally, management fees include catch-up management fees, which are episodic in nature and represent management fees charged to fund investors in subsequent closings of a fund which apply to the time period between the fee initiation date and the subsequent closing date. Approximately 90% of our fee revenue is in the form of management fees from traditional closed-end, long-dated funds, which are highly predictable and stable, and do not have significant exposure to the underlying fund valuations.

Management fees attributable to Carlyle Partners VII, L.P. ("CP VII"), our seventh U.S. buyout fund with approximately \$17.5 billion of Feeearning AUM as of December 31, 2020, was 17% of total management fees recognized during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 and 13% during the year ended December 31, 2018. No other fund generated over 10% of total management fees in the periods presented.

Fund management fees exclude the reimbursement of any partnership expenses paid by the Company on behalf of the Carlyle funds pursuant to the limited partnership agreements, including amounts related to the pursuit of actual, proposed, or unconsummated investments, professional fees, expenses associated with the acquisition, holding and disposition of investments, and other fund administrative expenses.

Transaction and Portfolio Advisory Fees. Transaction and portfolio advisory fees are fees we receive for the transaction and portfolio advisory services we provide to our portfolio companies. When covered by separate contractual agreements, we recognize transaction and portfolio advisory fees when the service has been provided and collection is reasonably assured. We are required to offset our fund management fees earned by a percentage of the transaction and advisory fees earned, which we refer to as the "rebate offsets." Historically, such rebate offset percentages generally approximated 80% of the fund's portion of the transaction and advisory fees earned. However, the percentage of transaction and portfolio advisory fees we share with our investors on our recent vintage funds has generally increased from 80% to 100% of the fund's portion of the transaction and portfolio advisory fees earned, such that a larger share of the transaction fee revenue we retain is driven by co-investment activity. In addition, GCM generates capital markets fees in connection with activities related to the underwriting, issuance and placement of debt and equity securities, and loan syndication for our portfolio companies and third-party clients, which are generally not subject to rebate offsets with respect to our most recent vintages (but are subject to the rebate offsets set forth above for older funds). Underwriting fees include gains, losses and fees arising from securities offerings in which we participate in the underwriter syndicate. The recognition of transaction fees, portfolio advisory fees, and capital markets fees can be volatile as they are primarily generated by investment activity within our funds, and therefore are impacted by our investment pace.

*Incentive Fees.* Incentive fees consist of performance-based incentive arrangements pursuant to management contracts, primarily from certain of our Global Credit funds, when the return on assets under management exceeds certain benchmark returns or other performance targets. In such arrangements, incentive fees are recognized when the performance benchmark has been achieved.

*Investment Income.* Investment income consists of our performance allocations as well as the realized and unrealized gains and losses resulting from our equity method investments and other principal investments.

Performance allocations consist principally of the performance-based capital allocation from fund limited partners to us, commonly referred to as carried interest, from certain of our investment funds, which we refer to as the "carry funds." Carried interest revenue is recognized by Carlyle upon appreciation of the valuation of our funds' investments above certain return hurdles as set forth in each respective partnership agreement and is based on the amount that would be due to us pursuant to the fund partnership agreement at each period end as if the funds were liquidated at such date. Accordingly, the amount of carried interest recognized as performance allocations reflects our share of the fair value gains and losses of the associated

funds' underlying investments measured at their then-current fair values relative to the fair values as of the end of the prior period. As a result, the performance allocations earned in an applicable reporting period are not indicative of any future period, as fair values are based on conditions prevalent as of the reporting date. Refer to "— Trends Affecting our Business" for further discussion.

In addition to the performance allocations from our Global Private Equity funds and most of our closed-end carry funds in the Global Credit segment, we are also entitled to receive performance allocations from our Investment Solutions, Carlyle Aviation and NGP Carry Funds. The timing of performance allocations realizations for these funds is typically later than in our other carry funds based on the terms of such arrangements.

Our performance allocations are generated by a diverse set of funds with different vintages, geographic concentration, investment strategies and industry specialties. For an explanation of the fund acronyms used throughout this Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations section, see "Item 1. Business — Our Family of Funds."

Performance allocations in excess of 10% of the total for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 were generated from the following funds:

Year Ended December 31,											
	2020 2019 2018										
			(Dollars	in m	illions)						
CP VI	\$	1,124.3	CP VI	\$	154.2	CP VI	\$	162.5			
CAP IV		331.0	CRP V		154.9	CRP VII		131.8			
			Alpinvest Co & Secondary Investments 2006-2008		83.5	CEP IV		77.9			
			CEP IV		(119.0)	CIEP I	\$	74.5			
						CP V		68.4			
						CAP IV		(245.7)			
						CRP V		(67.7)			

No other fund generated over 10% of performance allocations in the periods presented above. Performance allocations from CP VI during 2020 were driven by appreciation across the portfolio, with notable increases in the values of the publicly traded investments in the portfolio.

Under our arrangements with the historical owners and management team of AlpInvest, we generally do not retain any carried interest in respect of the historical investments and commitments to our fund vehicles that existed as of July 1, 2011 (including any options to increase any such commitments exercised after such date). We are entitled to 15% of the carried interest in respect of commitments from the historical owners of AlpInvest for the period between 2011 and 2020 and 40% of the carried interest in respect of all other commitments (including all future commitments from third parties). In certain instances, carried interest associated with the AlpInvest fund vehicles is subject to entity level income taxes in the Netherlands.

Realized carried interest may be clawed back or given back to the fund if the fund's investment values decline below certain return hurdles, which vary from fund to fund. When the fair value of a fund's investments remains constant or falls below certain return hurdles, previously recognized performance allocations are reversed. In all cases, each investment fund is considered separately in evaluating carried interest and potential giveback obligations. For any given period, performance allocations revenue on our statement of operations may include reversals of previously recognized performance allocations due to a decrease in the value of a particular fund that results in a decrease of cumulative performance allocations earned to date. Since fund return hurdles are cumulative, previously recognized performance allocations also may be reversed in a period of appreciation that is lower than the particular fund's hurdle rate. For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, the reversals of performance allocations were \$401.5 million, \$215.8 million and \$364.4 million, respectively. Additionally, unrealized performance allocations reverse when performance allocations are realized, and unrealized performance allocations can be negative if the amount of realized performance allocations exceed total performance allocations generated in the period.

As of December 31, 2020, accrued performance allocations and accrued giveback obligations were approximately \$5.0 billion and \$18.7 million, respectively. Each balance assumes a hypothetical liquidation of the funds' investments at

December 31, 2020 at their then current fair values. These assets and liabilities will continue to fluctuate in accordance with the fair values of the fund investments until they are realized. As of December 31, 2020, approximately \$10.6 million of the accrued giveback obligation is the responsibility of various current and former senior Carlyle professionals and other limited partners of the Carlyle Holdings partnerships, and the net accrued giveback obligation attributable to Carlyle Holdings is \$8.1 million. The Company uses "net accrued performance revenues" to refer to the aggregation of the accrued performance allocations and incentive fees net of (i) accrued giveback obligations, (ii) accrued performance allocations and incentive fee-related compensation, (iii) performance allocations and incentive fees attributable to non-controlling interests and excludes any net accrued performance allocations and incentive fees that have been realized but will be collected in subsequent periods. The net accrued performance revenues as of December 31, 2020 are \$2.3 billion.

In addition, realized performance allocations may be reversed in future periods to the extent that such amounts become subject to a giveback obligation. If at December 31, 2020, all investments held by our carry funds were deemed worthless, a possibility that management views as remote, the amount of realized and previously distributed performance allocations subject to potential giveback would be approximately \$0.5 billion, on an after-tax basis where applicable. See the related discussion of "Contingent Obligations (Giveback)" within "— Liquidity and Capital Resources."

The following table summarizes the total amount of aggregate giveback obligations that we have realized since Carlyle's inception. Given various current and former senior Carlyle professionals and other limited partners of the Carlyle Holdings partnerships are responsible for paying the majority of the realized giveback obligation, the table below also summarizes the amount that was attributable to Carlyle:

		Inception through December 31, 2020							
	Total Giveback								
		(Dollars in millions)							
Various Legacy Energy Funds	\$	158.0	\$ 55.0						
All other Carlyle Funds		58.1	0.6						
Aggregate giveback since inception	\$	216.1	\$ 55.6						

The funding for employee obligations and givebacks related to carry realized pre-IPO is primarily through a collection of employee receivables related to giveback obligations and from non-controlling interests for their portion of the obligation. The realization of giveback obligations for the Company's portion of such obligations reduces Distributable Earnings in the period realized. Further, each individual recipient of realized carried interest typically signs a guarantee agreement or partnership agreement that personally obligates such person to return his/her pro rata share of any amounts of realized carried interest previously distributed that are later clawed back. Accordingly, carried interest as performance allocation compensation is subject to return to the Company in the event a giveback obligation is funded. Generally, the actual giveback liability, if any, does not become due until the end of a fund's life.

Each investment fund is considered separately in evaluating carried interest and potential giveback obligations. As a result, performance allocations within funds will continue to fluctuate primarily due to certain investments within each fund constituting a material portion of the carry in that fund. Additionally, the fair value of investments in our funds may have substantial fluctuations from period to period.

In addition, in our discussion of our non-GAAP results, we use the term "realized net performance revenues" to refer to realized performance allocations and incentive fees from our funds, net of the portion allocated to our investment professionals, if any, and certain tax expenses associated with carried interest attributable to certain partners and employees, which are reflected as realized performance allocations and incentive fees related compensation expense. See "— Non-GAAP Financial Measures" for the amount of realized performance revenues recognized each period. See "— Segment Analysis" for the realized performance revenues by segment and related discussion for each period.

Investment income also represents the unrealized and realized gains and losses on our principal investments, including our investments in Carlyle funds that are not consolidated, as well as any interest and other income. Investment income (loss) also includes the related amortization of the basis difference between the carrying value of our investment and our share of the underlying net assets of the investee, as well as the compensation expense associated with compensatory arrangements provided by us to employees of our equity method investee, as it relates to our investments in NGP. Principal investment income also included our proportionate share of U.S. GAAP earnings from our strategic investment in Fortitude Re prior to the contribution

of our investment to a Carlyle-affiliated investment fund (see Note 5—Investments to the consolidated financial statements). Realized principal investment income (loss) is recorded when we redeem all or a portion of our investment or when we receive or are due cash income, such as dividends or distributions. A realized principal investment loss is also recorded when an investment is deemed to be worthless. Unrealized principal investment income (loss) results from changes in the fair value of the underlying investment, as well as the reversal of previously recognized unrealized gains (losses) at the time an investment is realized.

Fair Value Measurement. U.S. GAAP establishes a hierarchal disclosure framework which ranks the observability of market price inputs used in measuring financial instruments at fair value. The observability of inputs is impacted by a number of factors, including the type of financial instrument, the characteristics specific to the financial instrument and the state of the marketplace, including the existence and transparency of transactions between market participants. Financial instruments with readily available quoted prices, or for which fair value can be measured from quoted prices in active markets, will generally have a higher degree of market price observability and a lesser degree of judgment applied in determining fair value.

The table below summarizes the valuation of investments and other financial instruments included within our AUM, by segment and fair value hierarchy levels, as of December 31, 2020:

	As of December 31, 2020								
	Global Private Equity Global Credit				Investment Solutions		Total		
	(Dollars in millions)								
Consolidated Results									
Level I	\$	4,366	\$	62	\$	1,895	\$	6,323	
Level II		8,223		1,362		61		9,646	
Level III		76,566		44,225		32,533		153,324	
Fair Value of Investments		89,155		45,649		34,489		169,293	
Available Capital		42,625		10,232		23,619		76,476	
Total AUM	\$	131,780	\$	55,881	\$	58,108	\$	245,769	

*Interest and Other Income of Consolidated Funds.* Interest and other income of Consolidated Funds primarily represents the interest earned on CLO assets. The Consolidated Funds are not the same entities in all periods presented. The Consolidated Funds in future periods may change due to changes in fund terms, formation of new funds, and terminations of funds.

Net Investment Gains of Consolidated Funds. Net investment gains of Consolidated Funds measures the change in the difference in fair value between the assets and the liabilities of the Consolidated Funds. A gain (loss) indicates that the fair value of the assets of the Consolidated Funds appreciated more (less), or depreciated less (more), than the fair value of the liabilities of the Consolidated Funds. A gain or loss is not necessarily indicative of the investment performance of the Consolidated Funds and does not impact the management or incentive fees received by Carlyle for its management of the Consolidated Funds. The portion of the net investment gains (losses) of Consolidated Funds attributable to the limited partner investors is allocated to non-controlling interests. Therefore a gain or loss is not expected to have a material impact on the revenues or profitability of the Company. Moreover, although the assets of the Consolidated Funds are consolidated onto our balance sheet pursuant to U.S. GAAP, ultimately we do not have recourse to such assets and such liabilities are generally non-recourse to us. Therefore, a gain or loss from the Consolidated Funds generally does not impact the assets available to our equity holders.

## **Expenses**

Compensation and Benefits. Compensation includes salaries, bonuses, equity-based compensation, and performance payment arrangements. Bonuses are accrued over the service period to which they relate.

We recognize as compensation expense the portion of performance allocations and incentive fees that are due to our employees, senior Carlyle professionals, advisors, and operating executives in a manner consistent with how we recognize the performance allocations and incentive fee revenue. These amounts are accounted for as compensation expense in conjunction with the related performance allocations and incentive fee revenue and, until paid, are recognized as a component of the accrued compensation and benefits liability. Compensation in respect of performance allocations and incentive fees is paid when the related performance allocations and incentive fees

are accrued. The funds do not have a uniform allocation of performance allocations and incentive fees to our employees, senior Carlyle professionals and operating executives. Therefore, for any given period, the ratio of performance allocations and incentive fee compensation to performance allocations and incentive fee revenue may vary based on the funds generating the performance allocations and incentive fee revenue for that period and their particular allocation percentages.

In addition, we have implemented various equity-based compensation arrangements that require senior Carlyle professionals and other employees to vest ownership of a portion of their equity interests over a service period of generally six months to four years, which under U.S. GAAP will result in compensation charges over current and future periods. Over the past two years, we have granted fewer equity awards to employees than we have previously. For example, in 2018, 2019 and 2020, we granted approximately 13.3 million, 6.7 million and 3.5 million of restricted stock units and other awards, respectively. In February 2021, we granted 6.6 million long-term strategic restricted stock units to certain senior professionals, the majority of which are subject to vesting based on the achievement of annual performance targets over four years. As a result, the number of restricted stock units granted in 2021 will be higher than in 2020, which, combined with a higher share price than in prior periods, will result in higher equity-based compensation expense in the coming years. Compensation charges associated with all equity-based compensation grants are excluded from Fee Related Earnings and Distributable Earnings.

We may hire additional individuals and overall compensation levels may correspondingly increase, which could result in an increase in compensation and benefits expense. As a result of acquisitions, we have charges associated with contingent consideration taking the form of earn-outs and profit participation, some of which are reflected as compensation expense.

General, Administrative and Other Expenses. General, administrative, and other expenses include occupancy and equipment expenses and other expenses, which consist principally of professional fees, including those related to our global regulatory compliance program, external costs of fundraising, travel and related expenses, communications and information services, depreciation and amortization (including intangible asset amortization and impairment) and foreign currency transactions. We expect that general, administrative and other expenses will vary due to infrequently occurring or unusual items, such as impairment of intangible assets and expenses or insurance recoveries associated with litigation and contingencies. Also, in periods of significant fundraising, to the extent that we use third parties to assist in our fundraising efforts, our general, administrative and other expenses may increase accordingly. Additionally, we anticipate that general, administrative and other expenses will fluctuate from period to period due to the impact of foreign exchange.

We also could incur additional expenses in the future related to our acquisitions including amortization of acquired intangibles and earn-outs to equity holders. As discussed in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements, we evaluate our intangible assets (including goodwill) for impairment and could record additional impairment losses in future periods.

*Interest and Other Expenses of Consolidated Funds.* The interest and other expenses of Consolidated Funds consist primarily of interest expenses related primarily to our CLO loans, professional fees and other third-party expenses.

Income Taxes. Following the Conversion on January 1, 2020, all of the income before provision for income taxes attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc. is subject to U.S. federal, state, and local corporate income taxes. Prior to the Conversion, the Carlyle Holdings partnerships and their subsidiaries primarily operated as pass-through entities for U.S. income tax purposes and recorded a provision for state and local income taxes for certain entities based on applicable laws and a provision for foreign income taxes for certain foreign entities. In addition, Carlyle Holdings I GP Inc. was subject to U.S. income taxes on only a portion of our income or loss. As such, the Company was not responsible for the tax liability due on certain income earned during the year. Such income was taxed at the unitholder and non-controlling interest holder level, and any income tax was the responsibility of the unitholders and was paid at that level. See Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements for more information regarding the impact of the Conversion.

Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method of accounting. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis, using currently enacted tax rates. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period in which the change is enacted. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

In the normal course of business, we are subject to examination by federal and certain state, local and foreign tax regulators. As of December 31, 2020, our U.S. federal income tax returns for the years 2016 through 2019 are open under the normal three-year statute of limitations and therefore subject to examination. State and local tax returns are generally subject to audit from 2014 to 2019. Foreign tax returns are generally subject to audit from 2011 to 2019. Certain of our affiliates are currently under audit by federal, state and foreign tax authorities.

*Non-controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities.* Non-controlling interests in consolidated entities represent the component of equity in consolidated entities not held by us. These interests are adjusted for general partner allocations.

Prior to the Conversion, we recorded significant non-controlling interests in Carlyle Holdings relating to the ownership interests of the limited partners of the Carlyle Holdings partnerships. The Company, through wholly owned subsidiaries, was the sole general partner of Carlyle Holdings. Accordingly, the Company consolidated the financial position and results of operations of Carlyle Holdings into its financial statements, and the other ownership interests in Carlyle Holdings are reflected as a non-controlling interest in the Company's financial statements. The limited partners of the Carlyle Holdings partnerships exchanged their Carlyle Holdings partnership units for an equivalent number of shares of common stock of The Carlyle Group Inc. as part of the Conversion. As a result, following the Conversion the consolidated balance sheet of The Carlyle Group Inc. does not reflect any non-controlling interests in Carlyle Holdings.

Earnings Per Common Share. We compute earnings per common share in accordance with ASC 260, Earnings Per Share. Basic earnings per common share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) attributable to the common shares of the Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per common share reflects the assumed conversion of all dilutive securities. We apply the treasury stock method to determine the dilutive weighted-average common shares represented by unvested restricted stock units. Prior to the Conversion, we applied the "if-converted" method to the Carlyle Holdings partnership units to determine the dilutive weighted-average common units outstanding.

#### **Non-GAAP Financial Measures**

Distributable Earnings. Distributable Earnings, or "DE", is a key performance benchmark used in our industry and is evaluated regularly by management in making resource deployment and compensation decisions, and in assessing the performance of our three segments. We also use DE in our budgeting, forecasting, and the overall management of our segments. We believe that reporting DE is helpful to understanding our business and that investors should review the same supplemental financial measure that management uses to analyze our segment performance. DE is intended to show the amount of net realized earnings without the effects of consolidation of the Consolidated Funds. DE is derived from our segment reported results and is an additional measure to assess performance.

Distributable Earnings differs from income (loss) before provision for income taxes computed in accordance with U.S. GAAP in that it includes certain tax expenses associated with performance revenues (comprised of performance allocations and incentive fees), and does not include unrealized performance allocations and related compensation expense, unrealized principal investment income, equity-based compensation expense, net income (loss) attributable to non-Carlyle interest in consolidated entities, or charges (credits) related to Carlyle corporate actions and non-recurring items. Charges (credits) related to Carlyle corporate actions and non-recurring items include: charges associated with acquisitions or strategic investments, changes in the tax receivable agreement liability, corporate conversion costs, amortization and any impairment charges associated with acquired intangible assets, transaction costs associated with acquisitions and dispositions, charges associated with earnouts and contingent consideration including gains and losses associated with the estimated fair value of contingent consideration issued in conjunction with acquisitions or strategic investments, impairment charges associated with lease right-of-use assets, gains and losses from the retirement of debt, charges associated with contract terminations and employee severance. We believe the inclusion or exclusion of these items provides investors with a meaningful indication of our core operating performance. This measure supplements and should be considered in addition to and not in lieu of the results of operations discussed further under "—Consolidated Results of Operations" prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

Fee Related Earnings. Fee Related Earnings, or "FRE", is a component of DE and is used to assess the ability of the business to cover direct base compensation and operating expenses from total fee revenues. FRE differs from income (loss) before provision for income taxes computed in accordance with U.S. GAAP in that it adjusts for the items included in the calculation of DE and also adjusts DE to exclude net realized performance revenues, realized principal investment income from investments in Carlyle funds, net interest (interest income less interest expense), and certain general, administrative and other expenses when the timing of any future payment is uncertain.

#### **Operating Metrics**

We monitor certain operating metrics that are common to the asset management industry.

*Fee-earning Assets under Management.* Fee-earning assets under management or Fee-earning AUM refers to the assets we manage or advise from which we derive recurring fund management fees. Our Fee-earning AUM is generally based on one of the following, once fees have been activated:

- (a) the amount of limited partner capital commitments, generally for carry funds where the original investment period has not expired, for AlpInvest carry funds during the commitment fee period and for Metropolitan carry funds during the weighted-average investment period of the underlying funds (see "Fee-earning AUM based on capital commitments" in the table below for the amount of this component at each period);
- (b) the remaining amount of limited partner invested capital at cost, generally for carry funds and certain co-investment vehicles where the original investment period has expired, Metropolitan carry funds after the expiration of the weighted-average investment period of the underlying funds, and one of our business development companies (see "Fee-earning AUM based on invested capital" in the table below for the amount of this component at each period);
- (c) the amount of aggregate fee-earning collateral balance at par of our CLOs and other securitization vehicles, as defined in the fund indentures (typically exclusive of equities and defaulted positions) as of the quarterly cut-off date;
- (d) the external investor portion of the net asset value of certain carry funds (see "Fee-earning AUM based on net asset value" in the table below for the amount of this component at each period);
- (e) the gross assets (including assets acquired with leverage), excluding cash and cash equivalents, of one of our business development companies and certain carry funds (see "Fee-earning AUM based on lower of cost or fair value and other" in the table below for the amount of this component at each period); and
- (f) the lower of cost or fair value of invested capital, generally for AlpInvest carry funds where the commitment fee period has expired and certain carry funds where the investment period has expired, (see "Fee-earning AUM based on lower of cost or fair value and other" in the table below for the amount of this component at each period).

The table below details Fee-earning AUM by its respective components at each period.

	As of December 31,					
	2020 2019			2019		2018
Consolidated Results	(Dollars in millions)					
Components of Fee-earning AUM						
Fee-earning AUM based on capital commitments (1)	\$	77,729	\$	72,059	\$	70,032
Fee-earning AUM based on invested capital (2)		38,055		41,639		43,369
Fee-earning AUM based on collateral balances, at par (3)		26,480		24,887		22,921
Fee-earning AUM based on net asset value (4)		7,966		4,531		3,288
Fee-earning AUM based on lower of cost or fair value and other (5)		19,872		17,941		19,942
Balance, End of Period (6) (7)	\$	170,102	\$	161,057	\$	159,552

- Reflects limited partner capital commitments where the original investment period, weighted-average investment period, or commitment fee period
  has not expired.
- (2) Reflects limited partner invested capital at cost and includes amounts committed to or reserved for investments for certain Global Private Equity and Investment Solutions funds.
- (3) Represents the amount of aggregate Fee-earning collateral balances and principal balances, at par, for our CLOs/structured products.
- (4) Reflects the net asset value of certain other carry funds.
- (5) Includes funds with fees based on gross asset value.
- (6) Energy III, Energy IV, and Renew II (collectively, the "Legacy Energy Funds") are managed with Riverstone Holdings LLC and its affiliates. Affiliates of both Carlyle and Riverstone act as investment advisers to each of the Legacy Energy Funds. Carlyle has a minority representation on the management committees of Energy IV and Renew II. Carlyle and Riverstone each hold half of the seats on the management committees of Energy III, but the investment period for this fund has expired and the remaining investments in such fund are being disposed of in the ordinary course of business.

As of December 31, 2020, the Legacy Energy Funds had, in the aggregate, approximately \$0.8 billion in AUM and \$1.2 billion in Fee-earning AUM. We are no longer raising capital for the Legacy Energy Funds and expect these balances to continue to decrease over time as the funds wind down.

(7) Ending balance excludes \$13.4 billion of pending Fee-earning AUM for which fees have not yet been activated.

The table below provides the period to period rollforward of Fee-earning AUM.

	Year Ended December 31,						
<u></u>	2020 2019				2018		
(Dollars in millions)							
\$	161,057	\$	159,552	\$	124,595		
	22,481		16,460		50,164		
	(17,130)		(15,293)		(13,486)		
	(466)		1,115		62		
	4,160		(777)		(1,783)		
\$	170,102	\$	161,057	\$	159,552		
	\$	\$ 161,057 22,481 (17,130) (466) 4,160	\$ 161,057 \$ 22,481 (17,130) (466) 4,160	2020         2019           (Dollars in millions)           \$ 161,057         \$ 159,552           22,481         16,460           (17,130)         (15,293)           (466)         1,115           4,160         (777)	2020 2019 (Dollars in millions)  \$ 161,057 \$ 159,552 \$ 22,481 16,460 (17,130) (15,293) (466) 1,115 4,160 (777)		

- (1) Inflows represents limited partner capital raised by our carry funds or separately managed accounts for which management fees based on commitments were activated during the period, the fee-earning commitments invested in vehicles for which management fees are based on invested capital, the fee-earning collateral balance of new CLO issuances, as well as gross subscriptions in our vehicles for which management fees are based on net asset value. Inflows exclude fundraising amounts during the period for which fees have not yet been activated, which are referenced as Pending Fee-earning AUM. Inflows also includes \$4.1 billion of fee-earning Carlyle Aviation Partners (formerly Apollo Aviation Group) assets which were acquired in a transaction that closed in December 2018.
- (2) Outflows represents the impact of realizations from vehicles with management fees based on remaining invested capital at cost or fair value, changes in basis for funds where the investment period, weighted-average investment period or commitment fee period has expired during the period, reductions for funds that are no longer calling for fees, gross redemptions in our open-end funds, and runoff of CLO collateral balances. Distributions for funds earning management fees based on commitments during the period do not affect Fee-earning AUM.
- (3) Market Activity & Other represents realized and unrealized gains (losses) on portfolio investments in our carry funds based on the lower of cost or fair value and net asset value, as well as activity of funds with fees based on gross asset value.
- (4) Foreign Exchange represents the impact of foreign exchange rate fluctuations on the translation of our non-U.S. dollar denominated funds. Activity during the period is translated at the average rate for the period. Ending balances are translated at the spot rate as of the period end.

Refer to "— Segment Analysis" for a detailed discussion by segment of the activity affecting Fee-earning AUM for each of the periods presented by segment.

Assets under Management. Assets under management or "AUM" refers to the assets we manage or advise. Our AUM equals the sum of the following:

- (a) the aggregate fair value of our carry funds and related co-investment vehicles, NGP Predecessor Funds and separately managed accounts, plus the capital that Carlyle is entitled to call from investors in those funds and vehicles (including Carlyle commitments to those funds and vehicles and those of senior Carlyle professionals and employees) pursuant to the terms of their capital commitments to those funds and vehicles;
- (b) the amount of aggregate collateral balance and principal cash at par or aggregate principal amount of the notes of our CLOs and other structured products (inclusive of all positions);
- (c) the net asset value of certain carry funds; and
- (d) the gross assets (including assets acquired with leverage) of our business development companies, plus the capital that Carlyle is entitled to call from investors in those vehicles pursuant to the terms of their capital commitments to those vehicles.

We include in our calculation of AUM and Fee-earning AUM certain energy and renewable resources funds that we jointly advise with Riverstone Holdings L.L.C. ("Riverstone") and the NGP Energy Funds that are advised by NGP.

For most of our carry funds, total AUM includes the fair value of the capital invested, whereas Fee-earning AUM includes the amount of capital commitments or the remaining amount of invested capital, depending on whether the original investment period for the fund has expired. As such, Fee-earning AUM may be greater than total AUM when the aggregate fair value of the remaining investments is less than the cost of those investments.

Our calculations of AUM and Fee-earning AUM may differ from the calculations of other asset managers. As a result, these measures may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other asset managers. In addition, our calculation of AUM (but not Fee-earning AUM) includes uncalled commitments to, and the fair value of invested capital in, our investment funds from Carlyle and our personnel, regardless of whether such commitments or invested capital are subject to management fees or performance allocations. Our calculations of AUM or Fee-earning AUM are not based on any definition of AUM or Fee-earning AUM that is set forth in the agreements governing the investment funds that we manage or advise.

We generally use Fee-earning AUM as a metric to measure changes in the assets from which we earn recurring management fees. Total AUM tends to be a better measure of our investment and fundraising performance as it reflects investments at fair value plus available capital.

Available Capital. Available Capital refers to the amount of capital commitments available to be called for investments, which may be reduced for equity invested that is funded via a fund credit facility and expected to be called from investors at a later date, plus any additional assets/liabilities at the fund level other than active investments. Amounts previously called may be added back to available capital following certain distributions. "Expired Available Capital" occurs when a fund has passed the investment and follow-on periods and can no longer invest capital into new or existing deals. Any remaining Available Capital, typically a result of either recycled distributions or specific reserves established for the follow-on period that are not drawn, can only be called for fees and expenses and is therefore removed from the Total AUM calculation.

The table below provides the period to period rollforward of Total AUM.

	Year Ended December 31,							
	 2020		2019		2018			
	(Dollars in millions)							
Consolidated Results								
Total AUM Rollforward								
Balance, Beginning of Period	\$ 224,442	\$	216,470	\$	195,061			
Inflows (1)	26,902		19,970		38,701			
Outflows (including realizations) (2)	(21,477)		(20,187)		(24,760)			
Market Activity & Other (3)	10,380		9,146		10,337			
Foreign Exchange (4)	5,522		(957)		(2,869)			
Balance, End of Period	\$ 245,769	\$	224,442	\$	216,470			

- (1) Inflows reflects the impact of gross fundraising during the period. For funds or vehicles denominated in foreign currencies, this reflects translation at the average quarterly rate, while the separately reported Fundraising metric is translated at the spot rate for each individual closing. Inflows also includes \$5.8 billion of Carlyle Aviation Partners (formerly Apollo Aviation Group) assets which were acquired in a transaction that closed in December 2018.
- (2) Outflows includes distributions net of recallable or recyclable amounts in our carry funds, related co-investment vehicles, separately managed accounts and the NGP Predecessor Funds, gross redemptions in our open-end funds, runoff of CLO collateral balances and the expiration of available capital.
- (3) Market Activity & Other generally represents realized and unrealized gains (losses) on portfolio investments in our carry funds and related co-investment vehicles, the NGP Predecessor Funds and separately managed accounts, as well as the net impact of fees, expenses and non-investment income, change in gross asset value for our business development companies and other changes in AUM.
- (4) Foreign Exchange represents the impact of foreign exchange rate fluctuations on the translation of our non-U.S. dollar denominated funds. Activity during the period is translated at the average rate for the period. Ending balances are translated at the spot rate as of the period end.

Portfolio Appreciation (Depreciation). The overall portfolio appreciation of 10% in 2020 is comprised of 19% appreciation for carry funds within our Global Private Equity segment focusing on corporate private equity, 8% for funds focusing on real estate and (16)% for fund focusing on natural resources, (2)% appreciation for carry funds in the Global Credit segment and 10% for carry funds in the Investment Solutions segment. While there is no perfectly comparable market index benchmark for the overall portfolio or any of its segments or strategies, we would note that S&P 500 and MSCI ACWI appreciation for the year were 16% and 14%, respectively, while the FTSE NAREIT Composite appreciation was (10)%, the S&P Oil and Gas Exploration & Production Index was (38)%, and S&P Leveraged Loan Index appreciation was 3%.

## **Consolidation of Certain Carlyle Funds**

The Company consolidates all entities that it controls either through a majority voting interest or as the primary beneficiary of variable interest entities, which are collectively referred to as the Consolidated Funds in our consolidated financial statements. As of December 31, 2020, our Consolidated Funds represent approximately 2% of our AUM; 2% of our fund management fees; and less than 1% of our investment income for the year ended December 31, 2020.

We are not required under the consolidation guidance to consolidate in our financial statements most of the investment funds we advise. However, we consolidate certain CLOs that we advise. As of December 31, 2020, our consolidated CLOs held approximately \$6.3 billion of total assets and comprised substantially all of the assets and loans payable of the Consolidated Funds. The assets and liabilities of the Consolidated Funds are generally held within separate legal entities and, as a result, the liabilities of the Consolidated Funds are non-recourse to us.

Generally, the consolidation of the Consolidated Funds has a gross-up effect on our assets, liabilities and cash flows but has no net effect on the net income attributable to the Company and equity. The majority of the net economic ownership interests of the Consolidated Funds are reflected as non-controlling interests in consolidated entities in the consolidated financial statements. Because only a small portion of our funds are consolidated, the performance of the Consolidated Funds is not necessarily consistent with or representative of the combined performance trends of all of our funds.

For further information on our consolidation policy and the consolidation of certain funds, see Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

## **Consolidated Results of Operations**

The following table and discussion sets forth information regarding our consolidated results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018. Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared on substantially the same basis for all historical periods presented; however, the consolidated funds are not the same entities in all periods shown due to changes in U.S. GAAP, changes in fund terms and the creation and termination of funds. As further described above, the consolidation of these funds primarily had the impact of increasing interest and other income of Consolidated Funds, interest and other expenses of Consolidated Funds, and net investment gains of Consolidated Funds in the year that the fund is initially consolidated. The consolidation of these funds had no effect on net income attributable to the Company for the periods presented.

Year Ended December 31,

		2020		2019		2018
		(Dollars in mil	lions,	except share and	per sh	are data)
Revenues						
Fund management fees	\$	1,486.0	\$	1,476.2	\$	1,272.0
Incentive fees		37.0		35.9		30.2
Investment income (loss)						
Performance allocations		1,635.9		799.1		622.9
Principal investment income (loss)		(540.7)		769.3		186.3
Total investment income		1,095.2		1,568.4		809.2
Interest and other income		89.6		97.3		101.3
Interest and other income of Consolidated Funds		226.8		199.2		214.5
Total revenues		2,934.6		3,377.0		2,427.2
Expenses						
Compensation and benefits						
Cash-based compensation		849.6		833.4		746.7
Equity-based compensation		105.0		140.0		239.9
Performance allocations and incentive fee related compensation		779.1		436.7		376.3
Total compensation and benefits		1,733.7		1,410.1		1,362.9
General, administrative, and other expenses		349.3		494.4		460.7
Interest		94.0		82.1		82.2
Interest and other expenses of Consolidated Funds		163.5		131.8		164.6
Other non-operating (income) expenses		(7.2)		1.3		1.1
Total expenses		2,333.3		2,119.7		2,071.5
Other income (loss)						
Net investment gains (losses) of Consolidated Funds		(21.3)		(23.9)		4.5
Income before provision for income taxes		580.0		1,233.4		360.2
Provision for income taxes		197.2		49.0		31.3
Net income		382.8		1,184.4		328.9
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests in consolidated entities		34.6		36.6		33.9
Net income attributable to Carlyle Holdings		348.2		1,147.8		295.0
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests in Carlyle Holdings		_		766.9		178.5
Net income attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc.		348.2		380.9		116.5
Net income attributable to Series A Preferred Unitholders		_		19.1		23.6
Series A Preferred Units redemption premium		_		16.5		
Net income attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc. Common Stockholders	\$	348.2	\$	345.3	\$	92.9
Net income attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc. per common share					÷	
Basic	\$	0.99	\$	3.05	\$	0.89
Diluted	\$	0.97	\$	2.82	\$	0.82
Weighted-average common shares	J.	0.97	Ψ	2.02	Ψ	0.62
Basic		350,464,315		113,082,733		104,198,089
Diluted	<del>-</del>	358,393,802	_	122,632,889		113,389,443
Zhatta		330,333,002		122,032,009		113,303,443

Year Ended December 31, 2020 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2019 and Year Ended December 31, 2019 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2018.

#### Revenues

Total revenues decreased \$442.4 million, or 13%, for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019 and increased \$949.8 million, or 39%, for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018. The following table provides the components of the changes in total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:

	Year Ended December 31,				
	2020		2019		
	(Dollars in millions)				
Total Revenues, prior year	\$ 3,377.0	\$	2,427.2		
Increases (Decreases):					
Increase in fund management fees	9.8		204.2		
Increase in incentive fees	1.1		5.7		
(Decrease) increase in investment income, including performance allocations	(473.2)		759.2		
Increase (decrease) in interest and other income of Consolidated Funds	27.6		(15.3)		
Decrease in interest and other income	(7.7)		(4.0)		
Total (decrease) increase	(442.4)		949.8		
Total Revenues, current year	\$ 2,934.6	\$	3,377.0		

*Fund Management Fees.* Fund management fees increased \$9.8 million, or 1%, for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019, and increased \$204.2 million, or 16%, for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018, primarily due to the following:

	Year Ended December 31,				
		2020		2019	
		(Dollars in millions)			
Higher management fees from the commencement of the investment period for certain newly raised funds	\$	132.1	\$	319.0	
Lower management fees resulting from the change in basis for earning management fees from commitments to invested capital for certain funds and from changes in invested capital in funds whose management fees are based on assets under management		(100.5)		(127.6)	
(Decrease) increase in catch-up management fees from subsequent closes of funds that are in the fundraising period		(18.3)		10.5	
Higher (lower) transaction and portfolio advisory fees		1.7		(1.4)	
All other changes		(5.2)		3.7	
Total increase in fund management fees	\$	9.8	\$	204.2	

Fund management fees include transaction and portfolio advisory fees, net of rebate offsets, of \$50.8 million, \$49.1 million, and \$50.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

*Investment Income.* Investment income decreased \$473.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019, and increased \$759.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018, primarily due to the following:

		Year Ended December 31,			
	2020		2019		
		(Dollars in millions)			
Increase in performance allocations, excluding NGP	\$	836.8	\$	176.2	
Increase (decrease) in investment income from NGP, which includes performance allocations from the investments in NGP		125.0		(162.1)	
Increase in investment income from our buyout and growth funds		53.6		8.2	
Decrease in gains on foreign currency hedges		(3.3)		(0.6)	
(Decrease) increase in investment income from our real estate funds		(8.7)		9.9	
Decrease in investment income from our natural resources funds, excluding NGP		(10.2)		(2.6)	
(Decrease) increase from settlement of CEREP I tax matter in 2019		(71.5)		71.5	
Increase (decrease) in investment income from our distressed debt funds, energy mezzanine funds and opportunistic credit funds		14.3		(7.3)	
Increase in investment income from our direct lending funds, interval funds and Carlyle Global Capital Markets		9.6		1.4	
Decrease in investment income from Carlyle Aviation		(2.3)		_	
Increase (decrease) in investment income from our CLOs		3.3		(2.6)	
(Decrease) increase in income from Fortitude Re		(1,414.8)		665.0	
All other changes		(5.0)		2.2	
Total (decrease) increase in investment income	\$	(473.2)	\$	759.2	

Prior to the Control Transaction which closed on June 2, 2020, as described in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, we accounted for our investment in Fortitude Re under the equity method of accounting by recognizing our pro rata share of Fortitude Holdings' U.S. GAAP earnings, which is included in principal investment income (loss) in the consolidated statements of operations. These amounts were inclusive of unrealized gains (losses) resulting from changes in the fair value of embedded derivatives related to certain reinsurance contracts included in Fortitude Re's U.S. GAAP financial statements. Modified coinsurance is subject to the general accounting principles for hedging, specifically the guidance originally issued as Derivatives Implementation Group Issue No. B36: Embedded Derivatives: Modified Coinsurance Agreements and Debt Instruments That Incorporate Credit Risk Exposures That Are Unrelated or Only Partially Related to the Creditworthiness of the Obligor under Those Instruments ("DIG B36"). As of December 31, 2019, our investment in Fortitude Holdings was \$1,200.9 million, which reflected \$628.2 million of cumulative unrealized gains related to the change in the fair value of embedded derivatives.

At the time we contributed our existing 19.9% interest in Fortitude Holdings to Carlyle FRL, a Carlyle-affiliated investment fund, we began accounting for our investment under the equity method based on our net asset value in the fund. Our investment in Carlyle FRL, which is an investment company, reflects our investment in Fortitude Holdings at fair value. Although the fair value reflected a 10% appreciation over our cost, this resulted in a loss in principal investment income (loss) of \$620.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, our investment in Carlyle FRL was \$554.4 million, relative to our cost of \$465.4 million.

Our investment in NGP entitles us to 55% of the management fee-related revenue of the NGP entities that serve as advisors to the NGP Energy Funds and is subject to impairment under the U.S. GAAP accounting for equity method investments. We evaluate our equity method investment in NGP for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the investment may not be recoverable, but no less than quarterly. For example, challenges with fundraising or lower future management fees could cause an impairment of our investment in NGP in the future. As of December 31, 2020, we continue to believe that our investment in NGP is not impaired.

<u>Performance Allocations</u>. Performance allocations increased \$836.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to 2019 and increased \$176.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018. Performance allocations by segment for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 comprised the following:

	Year Ended December 31,						
		2020 2019			2018		
	(Dollars in millions)						
Global Private Equity	\$	1,440.5	\$	550.4	\$	439.8	
Global Credit		21.5		38.5		9.1	
Investment Solutions <sup>(1)</sup>		173.9		210.2		174.0	
Total performance allocations	\$	1,635.9	\$	799.1	\$	622.9	
Total carry fund appreciation	10%		9%			9%	

(1) The Company's primary and secondary investments in external funds are generally valued based on its proportionate share of the net assets provided by the third party general partners of the underlying fund partnerships based on the most recent available information which typically has a lag of up to 90 days. As a result, amounts presented may not include the impact of economic activity in the current quarter.

Refer to "— Key Financial Measures" for a listing of the funds with performance allocations in excess of 10% of the total for the periods presented.

Global equity markets remained strong in 2020, driven by the sharp decline in interest rates, significant increases in fiscal support, and the sense among market participants that the COVID-19 pandemic reflects a temporary decline in the supply of certain experiences and services rather than an endogenous drop in consumer demand. Our carry fund portfolio generally exhibited similar resiliency amidst the significant economic and market disruptions in 2020, with particular momentum in the latter half of the year. Within our Global Private Equity segment, our corporate private equity funds appreciated by 11% in the fourth quarter and 19% over the last twelve months and our real estate funds appreciated by 3% during the fourth quarter, but depreciated by 16% over the last twelve months, as our energy funds continue to recover from extreme volatility in the early stages of the pandemic. Global Credit carry funds, which represent approximately 14% of the total Global Credit remaining fair value, were up 7% in the fourth quarter, with depreciation of 2% for the year. Investment Solutions appreciation was 7% in the fourth quarter and 10% for the year, driven by strong investment performance in our AlpInvest funds, though the valuations of our primary and secondary funds of funds generally reflect investment values on a one-quarter lag. Though significant risks remain for global markets and economic recovery into 2021, we believe our existing portfolio of assets is high-quality and well-diversified by fund, industry sector, asset class, and region.

In addition, we recorded incentive fees from Consolidated Funds of \$1.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. These fees eliminated upon consolidation. There were no incentive fees from Consolidated Funds recorded during the years ended December 31, 2020 or 2019.

Interest and Other Income. Interest and other income decreased \$7.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019 and decreased \$4.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018. The decrease for the year ended December 31, 2020 was primarily as a result of decreases from the reimbursement of certain costs incurred on behalf of Carlyle funds and decreases in interest income from investments in CLO subordinated notes and interest income related to corporate treasury investments that matured in 2019. The decrease in 2019 reflected a decrease in interest income related to corporate treasury investments, partially offset by the reimbursement of certain costs incurred on behalf of Carlyle funds.

Interest and Other Income of Consolidated Funds. Our CLOs generate interest income primarily from investments in bonds and loans inclusive of amortization of discounts and generate other income from consent and amendment fees. Substantially all interest and other income of the CLOs and other consolidated funds together with interest expense of our CLOs and net investment gains of Consolidated Funds is attributable to the related funds' limited partners or CLO investors. Accordingly, such amounts have no material impact on net income attributable to the Company.

Interest and other income of consolidated funds increased \$27.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019, and decreased \$15.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018. Substantially all of the variance in interest and other income of Consolidated Funds for both periods relates to interest income from CLOs.

# Expenses

Total expenses increased \$213.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019, and increased \$48.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018. The following table provides the components of the changes in total expenses for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:

	Year Ended December 31,						
		2020		2019			
	(Dollars in millions)						
Total Expenses, prior year	\$	2,119.7	\$	2,071.5			
Increases (Decreases):							
Increase in total compensation and benefits		323.6		47.2			
(Decrease) increase in general, administrative and other expenses		(145.1)		33.7			
Increase (decrease) in interest		11.9		(0.1)			
Increase (decrease) in interest and other expenses of Consolidated Funds		31.7		(32.8)			
(Decrease) increase in other non-operating expense		(8.5)		0.2			
Total increase		213.6		48.2			
Total Expenses, current year	\$	2,333.3	\$	2,119.7			

*Total Compensation and Benefits*. Total compensation and benefits increased \$323.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019, and increased \$47.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018, due to the following:

		Year Ended December 31,						
		2020	2019					
		ons)						
Increase in cash-based compensation and benefits	\$	16.2	\$	86.7				
Decrease in equity-based compensation		(35.0)		(99.9)				
Increase in performance allocations and incentive fee related compensation		342.4		60.4				
Total increase in total compensation and benefits	\$	323.6	\$	47.2				

<u>Cash-based compensation and benefits</u>. Cash-based compensation and benefits increased \$16.2 million, or 2%, for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019, and increased \$86.7 million, or 14%, for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018, primarily due to the following:

	Year Ended December 31,				
	2020	2019			
	(Dollars i	ns)			
Increase in headcount and bonuses	\$ 27.5	\$	56.2		
(Decrease) increase in compensation expense associated with contingent earn-out payments $^{(1)}$	(11.3)		30.5		
Total increase in base compensation and benefits	\$ 16.2	\$	86.7		

<sup>(1)</sup> The Carlyle Aviation Partners acquisition included an earn-out of up to \$150.0 million. See Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements for additional detail.

<u>Equity-based compensation</u>. Equity-based compensation decreased \$35.0 million, or 25%, for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019. The decrease in equity-based compensation from 2019 to 2020 was due primarily to the lower rate of ongoing grants of restricted stock units, as well as a forfeiture credit recorded in 2020 related to the retirement of one of our co-chief executive officers.

Equity-based compensation decreased \$99.9 million, or 42%, for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018. The decrease in equity-based compensation from 2018 to 2019 was due primarily to the timing of the last vesting of awards in May 2018 related to our initial public offering in 2012 and lower rate of ongoing grants of restricted stock units.

<u>Performance allocations and incentive fee related compensation expense.</u> Performance allocations and incentive fee related compensation expense increased \$342.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019 and increased \$60.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018. Performance allocations and incentive fee related compensation expense as a percentage of performance allocations and incentive fee was 47%, 52%, and 58% for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Performance allocations and incentive fee related compensation as a percentage of performance allocations and incentive fees fluctuates depending on the mix of funds contributing to performance allocations and incentive fees in a given period. For our largest segment, Global Private Equity, our performance allocations and incentive fee related compensation expense as a percentage of performance allocations is generally around 45%. Performance allocations from our Investment Solutions segment pay a higher ratio of performance allocations as compensation, primarily as a result of the terms of our acquisition of AlpInvest. Conversely, performance allocations from the Legacy Energy and NGP funds in our Global Private Equity segment are primarily allocated to Carlyle because the investment teams for the Legacy Energy and NGP funds are employed by Riverstone and NGP, respectively, and not Carlyle.

*General, Administrative and Other Expenses.* General, administrative and other expenses decreased \$145.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019, and increased \$33.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018, primarily due to:

	Year Ended December 31,				
	2020	2019			
	(Dollars i	n millions)			
Decrease in net insurance proceeds recognized for certain legal matters	_	31.5			
Lease assignment and termination costs	_	(66.9)			
CCC litigation cost recovery <sup>(1)</sup>	(29.9)	_			
(Lower) higher intangible asset amortization	(0.9)	5.5			
(Lower) higher depreciation and amortization	(12.6)	13.1			
(Lower) higher professional fees, including corporate conversion costs	(29.7)	41.4			
(Lower) higher travel and conference costs	(49.2)	4.9			
Foreign exchange adjustments <sup>(2)</sup>	(29.8)	23.2			
Higher (lower) external fundraising costs	4.2	(34.3)			
Other changes	2.8	15.3			
Total (decrease) increase in general, administrative and other expenses	\$ (145.1)	\$ 33.7			

<sup>(1)</sup> See Note 9 to our consolidated financial statements.

*Interest.* Interest increased \$11.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019 primarily due to interest accrued on the 3.500% Senior Notes issued in September 2019. See Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements for more information.

Interest and Other Expenses of Consolidated Funds. Interest and other expenses of Consolidated Funds increased \$31.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019 primarily due to higher interest expense on the consolidated CLOs. Interest and other expenses of Consolidated Funds decreased \$32.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018, primarily due to lower interest expense on the consolidated CLOs.

The CLOs incur interest expense on their loans payable and incur other expenses consisting of trustee fees, rating agency fees and professional fees. Substantially all interest and other income of our CLOs together with interest expense of our CLOs and net investment gains of Consolidated Funds is attributable to the related funds' limited partners or CLO investors. Accordingly, such amounts have no material impact on net income attributable to the Company.

*Other Non-operating Expenses (Income).* For the year ended December 31, 2020, this caption includes the impact of the Conversion on our tax receivable agreement liability, which was reduced by \$9.3 million. See Note 11 to the consolidated

<sup>(2)</sup> For the years ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019 and December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018, foreign exchange adjustments are primarily driven by the revaluation in our European CLOs investments.

financial statements for more information on the tax impacts of the Conversion. For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, this caption also represents the change in the fair value of contingent consideration associated with the Company's acquisitions.

#### Net Investment Gains (Losses) of Consolidated Funds

For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 net investment (losses) gains of Consolidated Funds was \$(21.3) million, \$(23.9) million, and \$4.5 million, respectively, comprised of the activity of the consolidated CLOs and certain other funds. For the consolidated CLOs, the amount reflects the net gain or loss on the fair value adjustment of both the assets and liabilities. The components of net investment gains of consolidated funds for the respective periods are:

	Year Ended December 31,							
	2020			2019		2018		
	(Dollars in millions)							
Realized losses	\$	(91.3)	\$	(14.2)	\$	(4.9)		
Net change in unrealized gains (losses)		62.2		(4.7)		(103.9)		
Total losses		(29.1)		(18.9)		(108.8)		
Gains (losses) from liabilities of CLOs		7.8		(5.0)		113.3		
Total net investment (losses) gains of Consolidated Funds	\$	(21.3)	\$	(23.9)	\$	4.5		

## Net Income Attributable to Non-controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities

Net income attributable to non-controlling interests in consolidated entities was \$34.6 million, \$36.6 million, and \$33.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. These amounts are primarily attributable to the net earnings of the Consolidated Funds for each period, which are substantially all allocated to the related funds' limited partners or CLO investors. The net income (loss) of our Consolidated Funds, after eliminations, was \$8.1 million, \$10.0 million, and \$(5.3) million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Net income attributable to non-controlling interests in consolidated entities also includes net income attributable to non-controlling interests in carried interest, giveback obligations, and cash held for carried interest distributions.

#### Net Income (Loss) Attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc. Common Stockholders

The net income attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc. common stockholders was \$348.2 million, \$345.3 million, and \$92.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Prior to the Conversion, the Company was allocated a portion of the monthly net income (loss) attributable to Carlyle Holdings based on the Company's ownership in Carlyle Holdings (which was approximately 34% and 32% as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively). Net income or loss attributable to the Company also included 100% of the net income or loss attributable to the Company's wholly owned taxable subsidiary, Carlyle Holdings I GP Inc., which was \$(4.5) million and \$15.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. As a result, prior to the Conversion, the total net income or loss attributable to the Company has varied as a percentage of the net income or loss attributable to Carlyle Holdings. In addition, net income attributable to The Carlyle Group L.P. common unitholders for the year ended December 31, 2019 was reduced by the Series A preferred units ("Preferred Units") redemption premium. During the year ended December 31, 2020, we recorded approximately \$86 million as a provision for income taxes as a result of a reduction in our net deferred tax asset related to the Conversion. Excluding this impact from Conversion, our effective income tax rate would have been approximately 19%.

Net income attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc. common stockholders per basic common share was \$0.99, \$3.05, and \$0.89 for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Net income (loss) attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc. common unitholders per diluted common share was \$0.97, \$2.82, and \$0.82 for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

# **Non-GAAP Financial Measures**

The following tables set forth information in the format used by management when making resource deployment decisions and in assessing performance of our segments. These non-GAAP financial measures are presented for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018. Our Non-GAAP financial measures exclude the effects of unrealized performance allocations net of related compensation expense, unrealized principal investment income, consolidated funds, acquisition-related items including amortization and any impairment charges of acquired intangible assets and contingent consideration taking the form of earn-outs, charges associated with equity-based compensation, changes in the tax receivable agreement liability, corporate actions and infrequently occurring or unusual events.

The following table shows our total segment Distributable Earnings, or "DE", and Fee Related Earnings, or "FRE", for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

	Year Ended December 31,					
		2020		2019		2018
			(Do	llars in millions)		
Total Segment Revenues	\$	2,289.5	\$	2,110.1	\$	2,185.9
Total Segment Expenses		1,527.4		1,463.5		1,512.0
(=) Distributable Earnings	\$	762.1	\$	646.6	\$	673.9
(-) Realized Net Performance Revenues		246.3		164.1		319.7
(-) Realized Principal Investment Income		73.0		87.0		48.1
(+) Net Interest		76.9		57.3		44.3
(=) Fee Related Earnings	\$	519.7	\$	452.8	\$	350.4

The following table sets forth our total segment revenues for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

	Year Ended December 31,					
		2020 2019			2018	
			(Do	llars in millions)		
Segment Revenues						
Fund level fee revenues						
Fund management fees	\$	1,559.2	\$	1,570.9	\$	1,361.8
Portfolio advisory and transaction fees, net and other		56.9		53.5		63.2
Total fund level fee revenues		1,616.1		1,624.4		1,425.0
Realized performance revenues		586.1		374.3		682.4
Realized principal investment income		73.0		87.0		48.1
Interest income		14.3		24.4		30.4
Total Segment Revenues	\$	2,289.5	\$	2,110.1	\$	2,185.9

The following table sets forth our total segment expenses for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

	Year Ended December 31,						
		2020		2019		2018	
			(Doll	ars in millions)			
Segment Expenses							
Compensation and benefits							
Cash-based compensation and benefits	\$	821.5	\$	792.1	\$	740.7	
Realized performance revenues related compensation		339.8		210.2		362.7	
Total compensation and benefits	· ·	1,161.3		1,002.3		1,103.4	
General, administrative, and other indirect expenses		241.4		331.3		298.8	
Depreciation and amortization expense		33.5		48.2		35.1	
Interest expense		91.2		81.7		74.7	
Total Segment Expenses	\$	1,527.4	\$	1,463.5	\$	1,512.0	

Income before provision for income taxes is the GAAP financial measure most comparable to Distributable Earnings and Fee Related Earnings. The following table is a reconciliation of income before provision for income taxes to Distributable Earnings and to Fee Related Earnings.

Von Ended December 21

	Year Ended December 31,					
		2020		2019	2018	
			(Doll	lars in millions)		
Income before provision for income taxes	\$	580.0	\$	1,233.4 \$	360.2	
Adjustments:						
Net unrealized performance revenues		(598.7)		(42.3)	50.2	
Unrealized principal investment (income) loss (1)		556.2		(590.9)	(48.8)	
Adjusted unrealized principal investment (income) loss from investment in Fortitude Re $^{(2)}$		104.4		(140.9)	(11.7)	
Equity-based compensation (3)		116.6		151.5	252.2	
Acquisition related charges, including amortization of intangibles and impairment		38.1		52.0	22.3	
Other non-operating (income) expense		(7.2)		1.3	1.1	
Tax expense associated with certain foreign performance fee revenues		(7.9)		(14.3)	(1.5)	
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests in consolidated entities		(34.6)		(36.6)	(33.9)	
Lease assignment and termination costs		_		_	66.9	
Debt extinguishment costs				0.1	7.8	
Corporate conversion costs, severance and other adjustments		15.2		33.3	9.1	
Distributable Earnings		762.1		646.6	673.9	
Realized net performance revenues, net of related compensation (4)		246.3		164.1	319.7	
Realized principal investment income (4)		73.0		87.0	48.1	
Net interest		76.9		57.3	44.3	
Fee Related Earnings	\$	519.7	\$	452.8 \$	350.4	

- (1) Adjustments to unrealized principal investment income (loss) during the year ended December 31, 2020 are inclusive of \$211.8 million of unrealized gains resulting from changes in the fair value of embedded derivatives related to certain reinsurance contracts included in Fortitude Re's U.S. GAAP financial statements prior to the contribution of our investment in Fortitude Holdings to Carlyle FRL on June 2, 2020. At the time of the contribution of our investment to Carlyle FRL, we began accounting for our investment under the equity method based on our net asset value in the fund, which is an investment company that accounts for its investment in Fortitude Holdings at fair value. This resulted in an unrealized loss in principal investment income (loss) of \$620.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2020. Adjustments to unrealized principal investment income (loss) during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 are inclusive of \$582.0 million and \$46.2 million of unrealized gains, respectively, on embedded derivatives.
- (2) Adjusted unrealized principal investment income (loss) from the investment in Fortitude Re represents 19.9% of Fortitude Holdings' estimated net income (loss) for the respective periods through June 2, 2020, excluding the unrealized gains (losses) related to embedded derivatives.
- (3) Equity-based compensation for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 includes amounts presented in principal investment income and general, administrative and other expenses in our U.S. GAAP statement of operations.

(4) See reconciliation to most directly comparable U.S. GAAP measure below:

	Tear Ended December 31, 2020							
		Carlyle Consolidated		Adjustments <sup>(5)</sup>		Total Reportable Segments		
Performance revenues	\$	1,635.9	\$	(1,049.8)	\$	586.1		
Performance revenues related compensation expense		779.1		(439.3)		339.8		
Net performance revenues	\$	856.8	\$	(610.5)	\$	246.3		
Principal investment income (loss)	\$	(540.7)	\$	613.7	\$	73.0		

Vear Ended December 31, 2020

	Year Ended December 31, 2019							
		Carlyle Consolidated		Total Reportable Segments				
			(	Dollars in millions)				
Performance revenues	\$	799.1	\$	(424.8)	\$	374.3		
Performance revenues related compensation expense		436.7		(226.5)		210.2		
Net performance revenues	\$	362.4	\$	(198.3)	\$	164.1		
Principal investment income (loss)	\$	769.3	\$	(682.3)	\$	87.0		

	Year Ended December 31, 2018							
		Carlyle Consolidated Adjustments <sup>(5)</sup>				Total Reportable Segments		
			(	Dollars in millions)		_		
Performance revenues	\$	622.9	\$	59.5	\$	682.4		
Performance revenues related compensation expense		376.3		(13.6)		362.7		
Net performance revenues	\$	246.6	\$	73.1	\$	319.7		
Principal investment income (loss)	\$	186.3	\$	(138.2)	\$	48.1		

(5) Adjustments to performance revenues and principal investment income (loss) relate to (i) unrealized performance allocations net of related compensation expense and unrealized principal investment income, which are excluded from our Non-GAAP results, (ii) amounts earned from the Consolidated Funds, which were eliminated in the U.S. GAAP consolidation but were included in the Non-GAAP results, (iii) amounts attributable to non-controlling interests in consolidated entities, which were excluded from the Non-GAAP results, (iv) the reclassification of NGP performance revenues, which are included in investment income in the U.S. GAAP financial statements, (v) the reclassification of certain incentive fees from business development companies, which are included in fund management fees in the Non-GAAP results, and (vi) the reclassification of certain tax expenses associated with performance revenues. Adjustments to principal investment income (loss) also include the reclassification of earnings for the investment in NGP Management and its affiliates to the appropriate operating captions for the Non-GAAP results, and the exclusion of charges associated with the investment in NGP Management and its affiliates that are excluded from the Non-GAAP results (see Note 5 to our consolidated financial statements).

Distributable Earnings for our reportable segments is as follows:

	Year Ended December 31,					
	2020			2019		2018
	(Dollars in millions)					
Global Private Equity	\$	604.5	\$	579.4	\$	557.5
Global Credit		116.2		48.4		77.5
Investment Solutions		41.4		18.8		38.9
Total	\$	762.1	\$	646.6	\$	673.9

#### **Segment Analysis**

Discussed below is our DE and FRE for our segments for the periods presented. Our segment information is reflected in the manner used by our senior management to make operating and compensation decisions, assess performance and allocate resources.

Historically, we have conducted our operations through four reportable segments: Corporate Private Equity, Real Assets, Global Credit, and Investment Solutions. In the fourth quarter of 2020, in connection with our transition to a sole chief executive officer on October 1, 2020, our senior management began re-evaluating our operating structure. As a result, we revised our operating segments by combining Corporate Private Equity and Real Assets into a single segment called Global Private Equity to reflect how senior management manages and assesses the performance of the business and allocates resources. Effective with the three months ended December 31, 2020, we have modified the presentation of our segment financial information to reflect this change, with retrospective application to all prior periods presented. Consequently, information for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 will be different from the historical segment financial results we previously reported in our reports filed with the SEC. There was no impact to the Global Credit and Investment Solutions segments as a result of this change.

For segment reporting purposes, revenues and expenses are presented on a basis that deconsolidates our Consolidated Funds. As a result, segment revenues from management fees, realized performance revenues and realized principal investment income (loss) are different than those presented on a consolidated U.S. GAAP basis because these revenues recognized in certain segments are received from Consolidated Funds and are eliminated in consolidation when presented on a consolidated U.S. GAAP basis. Furthermore, segment expenses are different than related amounts presented on a consolidated U.S. GAAP basis due to the exclusion of fund expenses that are paid by the Consolidated Funds.

# **Global Private Equity**

For purposes of presenting our results of operations for this segment, our earnings from our investments in NGP are presented in the respective operating captions. The following table presents our results of operations for our Global Private Equity segment:

	Year Ended December 31,					
		2020	2019		2018	
			(Dollars in millions)			
Segment Revenues						
Fund level fee revenues						
Fund management fees	\$	1,042.0	\$ 1,106.6	\$	952.0	
Portfolio advisory and transaction fees, net and other		22.8	38.9		56.7	
Total fund level fee revenues		1,064.8	1,145.5		1,008.7	
Realized performance revenues		404.5	301.8		566.2	
Realized principal investment income		52.0	73.3		40.1	
Interest income		3.3	8.7		13.7	
Total revenues		1,524.6	1,529.3		1,628.7	
Segment Expenses						
Compensation and benefits						
Cash-based compensation and benefits		501.9	510.6		508.3	
Realized performance revenues related compensation		183.0	145.2		261.9	
Total compensation and benefits		684.9	655.8		770.2	
General, administrative, and other indirect expenses		157.9	215.2		231.7	
Depreciation and amortization expense		22.0	32.1		24.1	
Interest expense		55.3	46.8		45.2	
Total expenses		920.1	949.9		1,071.2	
(=) Distributable Earnings	\$	604.5	\$ 579.4	\$	557.5	
(-) Realized Net Performance Revenues		221.5	156.6		304.3	
(-) Realized Principal Investment Income		52.0	73.3		40.1	
(+) Net Interest		52.0	38.1		31.5	
(=) Fee Related Earnings	\$	383.0	\$ 387.6	\$	244.6	

Year Ended December 31, 2020 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2019 and Year Ended December 31, 2019 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2018

#### Distributable Earnings

Distributable earnings increased \$25.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019, and increased \$21.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018. The following table provides the components of the changes in distributable earnings for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:

	Year Ended December 31,				
		2019			
	(Dollars in millions)				
Distributable earnings, prior year	\$	579.4	\$	557.5	
Increases (decreases):					
(Decrease) increase in fee related earnings		(4.6)		143.0	
Increase (decrease) in realized net performance revenues		64.9		(147.7)	
(Decrease) increase in realized principal investment income		(21.3)		33.2	
Increase in net interest		(13.9)		(6.6)	
Total increase		25.1		21.9	
Distributable earnings, current year	\$	604.5	\$	579.4	

Realized Net Performance Revenues. Realized net performance revenues increased \$64.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019, and decreased \$147.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018. Realized net performance revenues increased in 2020 as we began realizing carry from CP VI during the year, and we generated higher performance revenue realizations from our financial services and Europe real estate funds. Realized net performance revenues in 2019 were also impacted by the realized clawback on one of the Legacy Energy funds.

The decrease in realized net performance revenues for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018 was primarily due to to lower performance revenue realizations from our U.S., Europe and Asia buyout funds in carry, as well as \$19.0 million of realized clawback on Riverstone Legacy Energy Fund IV in 2019, partially offset by higher realizations on our U.S. real estate funds.

Realized net performance revenues were primarily generated by the following funds for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively:

Year Ended December 31,									
2020	2018								
CP IV	CETP III	CP V							
CP V	CAP III	CEP III							
CP VI	CGFSP II	CAP III							
CETP III	CETP II	CETP III							
CGFSP I	CP V	CRP VII							
CRP VII	CPI	CRP III							
CERF	Energy IV (clawback)	CRP VI							
CEREP III	CRP III								
CPI	CRP VI								
CGFSP II	CRP VII								
CRP III	CRP V								
CCI									

*Realized Principal Investment Income.* Realized principal investment income decreased \$21.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019 and increased \$33.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared

to 2018. The decrease in realized principal investment income for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019 was primarily due to the recovery of \$71.5 million from the final resolution of French tax litigation concerning a European real estate fund in 2019, partially offset by higher realized gains in 2020 from CP VI, CEP IV and CAP IV.

The increase in realized principal investment income for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018 primarily relates to the aforementioned \$71.5 million French tax matter recovery, which reversed a portion of an investment loss recognized in 2015 (see Note 9 of our consolidated financial statements for more information on this matter), partially offset by realized losses in 2019 from CP VI and CEP IV compared to realized gains in 2018 from CP VI, CEP III and CAP IV.

#### **Fee Related Earnings**

Fee related earnings decreased \$4.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019, and increased \$143.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018. The following table provides the components of the change in fee related earnings for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:

	Year Ended December 31,			
		2020		2019
		(Dollars i	n mill	ions)
Fee related earnings, prior year	\$	387.6	\$	244.6
Increases (decreases):				
(Decrease) increase in fee revenues		(80.7)		136.8
Decrease (increase) in cash-based compensation		8.7		(2.3)
Decrease in general, administrative and other indirect expenses		57.3		16.5
All other changes		10.1		(8.0)
Total (decrease) increase		(4.6)		143.0
Fee related earnings, current year	\$	383.0	\$	387.6

*Fee Revenues*. Total fee revenues decreased \$80.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019 and increased \$136.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018, due to the following:

	Year Ended December 31,					
	2020 2019					
	(Dollars in millions)					
(Lower) higher fund management fees	\$	(64.6)	\$	154.6		
Lower portfolio advisory and transaction fees, net and other		(16.1)		(17.8)		
Total (decrease) increase in fee revenues	\$	(80.7)	\$	136.8		

The decrease in fund management fees for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019 was primarily due to lower management fees from CGIOF, including \$20.4 million in catch-up management fees for subsequent closes in 2019, and lower management fees from NGP X, NGP XI and NGP XII. These decreases were partially offset by higher management fees from CIEP II, including catch-up management fees of \$6.6 million in 2020, activation of management fees in 2020 on our fourth Japan buyout fund ("CJP IV"), and higher management fees from CETP IV.

The increase in fund management fees for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018 was primarily due to the activation of management fees during 2018 on our seventh U.S. buyout fund ("CP VII"), our fifth Asia buyout fund ("CAP V") and our fifth Europe buyout fund ("CEP V"), and on our fourth Europe technology fund ("CETP IV") during the third quarter of 2019. We also had increased management fees from CGIOF, CIEP II, CPI and NGP XII, partially offset by lower management fees from CRP VII, CIEP I, CEREP III and CRP V. Management fees also increased as a result of \$26.4 million in catch-up management fees for subsequent closes in 2019 for CGIOF and NGP XII. These increases were partially offset by lower fee rates and a lower basis for CP VI, CAP IV, CEP IV, and CETP III as they exited the investment period.

The weighted average management fee rate decreased slightly from 1.26% at December 31, 2019 to 1.25% at December 31, 2020. Fee-earning AUM was \$91.6 billion and \$94.8 billion as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, reflecting a decrease of \$3.2 billion.

The weighted average management fee rate increased from 1.23% at December 31, 2018 to 1.26% at December 31, 2019. The increase in the weighted average management fee rate was driven by additional fundraising and fee activation in funds with higher effective fee rates than the segment weighted average. Fee-earning AUM was \$94.8 billion and \$95.3 billion as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, reflecting a decrease of \$0.5 billion

The decrease in transaction fees for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019 resulted primarily from transaction fees related to investments in CP VII, CIEP and CJP III in 2019, partially offset by transaction fees related to investments in CGFSP II, CGFSP III and CIEP II in 2020. The decrease in transaction fees for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018 resulted primarily from transaction fees related to significant investments in CP VII and one significant investment in CAP IV in 2018, partially offset by transaction fees in CIEP and CJP III in 2019.

Cash-based compensation and benefits expense. Cash-based compensation and benefits expense decreased \$8.7 million, or 2%, for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019, primarily due to lower cash bonuses as a result of decreased headcount. Cash-based compensation and benefits expense increased \$2.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018, primarily due to higher cash bonuses in 2019.

General, administrative and other indirect expenses. General, administrative and other indirect expenses decreased \$57.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019, primarily due to the allocated portion of the cost recovery associated with the CCC matter of \$20.3 million (see Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements for more information), lower professional fees and lower travel and entertainment expenses as a result of travel restrictions during the COVID-19 pandemic. General, administrative and other indirect expenses decreased \$16.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018 primarily due to lower external costs associated with fundraising activities.

# Fee-earning AUM as of and for each of the Three Years in the Period Ended December 31, 2020

Fee-earning AUM is presented below for each period together with the components of change during each respective period.

The table below breaks out Fee-earning AUM by its respective components at each period.

	As of December 31,						
	2020 20			2019		2018	
	' <u>-</u>		(Doll	ars in millions)	_		
Global Private Equity							
Components of Fee-earning AUM (1)							
Fee-earning AUM based on capital commitments	\$	55,937	\$	54,902	\$	51,274	
Fee-earning AUM based on invested capital		30,129		35,012		39,827	
Fee-earning AUM based on net asset value		3,208		2,308		1,479	
Fee-earning AUM based on lower of cost or fair value and other		2,297		2,589		2,755	
Total Fee-earning AUM	\$	91,571	\$	94,811	\$	95,335	
Weighted Average Management Fee Rates (2)							
All Funds		1.25 %	1	1.26 %	, D	1.22 %	
Funds in Investment Period		1.37 %	)	1.41 %	, D	1.41 %	

- (1) For additional information concerning the components of Fee-earning AUM, see "—Fee-earning Assets under Management."
- (2) Represents the aggregate effective management fee rate of each fund in the segment, weighted by each fund's Fee-earning AUM, as of the end of each period presented.

The table below provides the period to period rollforward of Fee-earning AUM.

		Twelve Months Ended December 31,						
		2020		2019		2018		
			(Dolla	rs in millions)		_		
Global Private Equity								
Fee-earning AUM Rollforward								
Balance, Beginning of Period	\$	94,811	\$	95,335	\$	67,183		
Inflows (1)		5,400		8,315		35,893		
Outflows (including realizations) (2)		(9,514)		(8,591)		(7,223)		
Market Activity & Other (3)		(306)		(9)		(117)		
Foreign Exchange (4)	<u></u>	1,180		(239)		(401)		
Balance, End of Period	\$	91,571	\$	94,811	\$	95,335		

- (1) Inflows represents limited partner capital raised by our carry funds or separately managed accounts for which management fees based on commitments were activated during the period, the fee-earning commitments invested in vehicles for which management fees are based on invested capital, and gross subscriptions in open-ended vehicles with management fees based on net asset value. Inflows exclude fundraising amounts during the period for which fees have not yet been activated, which are referenced as Pending Fee-earning AUM.
- (2) Outflows represents the impact of realizations from vehicles with management fees based on remaining invested capital at cost or fair value, changes in basis for funds where the investment period, weighted-average investment period or commitment fee period has expired during the period, reductions for funds that are no longer calling for fees, and gross redemptions in open-ended vehicles with management fees based on net asset value. Realizations for funds earning management fees based on commitments during the period do not affect Fee-earning AUM.
- (3) Market Activity & Other represents realized and unrealized gains (losses) on portfolio investments in our carry funds based on the lower of cost or fair value and net asset value.
- (4) Foreign Exchange represents the impact of foreign exchange rate fluctuations on the translation of our non-U.S. dollar denominated funds. Activity during the period is translated at the average rate for the period. Ending balances are translated at the spot rate as of the period end.

Fee-earning AUM was \$91.6 billion at December 31, 2020, a decrease of \$3.2 billion, or 3%, compared to \$94.8 billion at December 31, 2019. This was driven by outflows of \$9.5 billion which were principally a result of dispositions in our U.S. Buyout, NGP Energy, and Legacy Energy funds, as well as distributions in other funds outside of their investment period. Partially offsetting this were inflows of \$5.4 billion primarily related to the activation of management fees in CJP IV, subscriptions in CPI, and new fee-paying commitments raised in various other funds. Also offsetting the decrease was positive foreign exchange activity of \$1.2 billion from the translation of our Europe buyout, growth, and real estate AUM from EUR to USD. Investment and distribution activity by funds still in the investment period does not impact Fee-earning AUM as these funds are based on commitments.

Fee-earning AUM was \$94.8 billion at December 31, 2019, a decrease of \$0.5 billion, or 1%, compared to \$\$95.3 billion at December 31, 2018. This was driven by outflows of \$8.6 billion which were principally a result of dispositions in our U.S. Buyout, U.S. Real Estate, NGP Energy, and Europe Buyout funds, as well as distributions in other funds outside of their investment period. This was offset by inflows of \$8.3 billion primarily related to the activation of management fees in CIEP II and CETP IV, as well as new fee-paying commitments raised in various other funds.

Fee-earning AUM was \$95.3 billion at December 31, 2018, an increase of \$28.2 billion, or 42%, compared to \$67.2 billion at December 31, 2017. This was driven by inflows of \$35.9 billion principally from the activation of management fees in CP VII, CEP V, and CAP V. This was partially offset by outflows of \$7.2 billion which were principally the result of fee basis stepdowns in CP VI, CEP IV and CAP IV, as well as distributions in other funds outside of their investment period.

#### Total AUM as of and for each of the Three Years in the Period Ended December 31, 2020

The table below provides the period to period rollforward of Total AUM.

	 Twelve Months Ended December 31,						
	 2020 2019			2018			
		(Doll	ars in millions)				
Global Private Equity							
Total AUM Rollforward							
Balance, Beginning of Period	\$ 129,784	\$	126,399	\$	115,446		
Inflows (1)	3,550		10,663		22,576		
Outflows (including realizations) (2)	(9,589)		(9,904)		(14,132)		
Market Activity & Other (3)	6,412		2,948		3,338		
Foreign Exchange (4)	1,623		(322)		(829)		
Balance, End of Period	\$ 131,780	\$	129,784	\$	126,399		

- (1) Inflows reflects the impact of gross fundraising during the period. For funds or vehicles denominated in foreign currencies, this reflects translation at the average quarterly rate, while the separately reported Fundraising metric is translated at the spot rate for each individual closing.
- (2) Outflows includes distributions net of recallable or recyclable amounts in our carry funds, related co-investment vehicles, separately managed accounts and the NGP Predecessor Funds, gross redemptions in our open-ended funds, and the expiration of available capital.
- (3) Market Activity & Other generally represents realized and unrealized gains (losses) on portfolio investments in our carry funds and related co-investment vehicles, the NGP Predecessor Funds and separately managed accounts, as well as the net impact of fees, expenses and non-investment income, and other changes in AUM.
- (4) Foreign Exchange represents the impact of foreign exchange rate fluctuations on the translation of our non-U.S. dollar denominated funds. Activity during the period is translated at the average rate for the period. Ending balances are translated at the spot rate as of the period end.

Total AUM was \$131.8 billion at December 31, 2020, an increase of \$2.0 billion, or 2%, compared to \$129.8 billion at December 31, 2019. This increase was driven by \$3.6 billion of inflows primarily due to fundraising in CPI, CIEP II, and CJP IV. Also contributing to this increase was market appreciation of \$6.4 billion. The carry funds driving appreciation for the period included \$6.1 billion attributable to CP VI, \$1.3 billion attributable to CAP IV, and \$0.8 billion attributable to CP VII, offset by \$(1.0) billion attributable to NGP XI and \$(0.5) billion attributable to CIEP. The increase of \$1.6 billion in foreign exchange activity was primarily from the translation of our Europe buyout, growth, and real estate AUM from EUR to USD. Partially offsetting the increase were \$9.6 billion of outflows driven primarily by distributions in our U.S. Buyout, Asia Buyout and U.S. Real Estate funds.

Total AUM was \$129.8 billion at December 31, 2019, an increase of \$3.4 billion, or 3%, compared to \$126.4 billion at December 31, 2018. This increase was driven by \$10.7 billion of inflows primarily due to fundraising in CJP IV, CGP II, CETP IV, and CIEP II. Also contributing to this increase was market appreciation and other activity of \$2.9 billion due to appreciation in our carry funds partially offset by the impact of management fees and expenses. The carry funds driving appreciation for the period included \$0.9 billion attributable to CP VI, \$0.5 billion attributable to CP VII, and \$0.4 billion attributable to CAP V. Partially offsetting the increase were \$9.9 billion of outflows driven primarily by distributions in our U.S. Real Estate, NGP Energy, and U.S. Buyout funds.

Total AUM was \$126.4 billion at December 31, 2018, an increase of \$11.0 billion, or 9%, compared to \$115.4 billion at December 31, 2017. This increase was driven by \$22.6 billion of inflows primarily due to fundraising in CEP IV, CP VII, and CAP V. Also contributing to this increase was market appreciation and other activity of \$3.3 billion. The carry funds driving appreciation for the period included \$1.0 billion attributable to CP VI, \$0.5 billion attributable to CP VI, and \$0.4 billion attributable to CP VI. Partially offsetting this increase were \$14.1 billion of outflows driven primarily by distributions in our U.S. Buyout, Asia Buyout and U.S. Real Estate funds.

#### **Fund Performance Metrics**

Fund performance information for our investment funds that generally have at least \$1.0 billion in capital commitments, cumulative equity invested or total value as of December 31, 2020, which we refer to as our "significant funds,"

is included throughout this discussion and analysis to facilitate an understanding of our results of operations for the periods presented. The fund return information reflected in this discussion and analysis is not indicative of the performance of The Carlyle Group Inc. and is also not necessarily indicative of the future performance of any particular fund. An investment in The Carlyle Group Inc. is not an investment in any of our funds. There can be no assurance that any of our funds or our other existing and future funds will achieve similar returns. See "Item 1A. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Business Operations — The historical returns attributable to our funds, including those presented in this report, should not be considered as indicative of the future results of our funds or of our future results or of any returns expected on an investment in our common stock."

The following tables reflect the performance of our significant funds in our Global Private Equity business. See "Item 1. Business — Our Family of Funds" for a legend of the fund acronyms listed below.

					TOTAL INVESTMENTS						R	EALIZED/PAR INVEST	TIALLY R		
					As of December 31, 2020				_	As of Dece	mber 31, 2	020			
Fund (Fee Initiation Date/Stepdown Date)	C	Committed Capital	Cumulative Invested Capital(1)	Percent Invested	-	Realized Value(2)	Remaining Fair Value(3)	MOIC (4)	Gross IRR (6)(12)	Net IRR (7)(12)	Net Accrued Carry/(Clawback) (8)	· -	Total Fair Value(9)	MOIC (4)	Gross IRR (6)(12)
Corporate Private Equity		Capitai	Cupitai(1)	Investeu		varac(2)	value(3)	(+)	(0)(12)	(/)(12)	(6)	-	value(5)	(4)	(0)(12)
CP VII (May 2018 / May 2024)	\$	18,510 \$	11.622	63%	\$	516	12,252	1.1x	NM	NM	s —	\$	1.029	2.9x	75%
CP VI (May 2013 / May 2018)	\$	13,000 \$	13,019	100%	\$	8,221	, , -	2.0x	19%	15%	\$ 1,095	\$	11,570	2.4x	28%
CP V (Jun 2007 / May 2013)	\$	13,720 \$	13,238	96%	\$	26,217		2.1x	18%	14%	\$ 1,033	\$	26,793	2.5x	24%
CEP V (Oct 2018 / Oct 2024)	€	6,416 €	1,821	28%	€	12		1.0x	NM	NM	\$ —	Ψ	n/a	n/a	n/a
CEP IV (Sep 2014 / Oct 2018)	€	3,670 €	3,753	102%	€	2,104		1.4x	11%	7%	\$ —	€	1,863	1.8x	24%
CEP III (Jul 2007 / Dec 2013)	€	5,295 €	5,156	97%	€	10,995		2.2x	19%	14%	\$ 32	€	11,299	2.4x	20%
CEP II (Sep 2003 / Jul 2007)	€	1,805 €	2,048	113%	€	4,113		2.0x	36%	20%	\$ 4	€	4,123	2.2x	43%
CAP V (Jun 2018 / Jun 2024)	\$	6,554 \$	2,335	36%	\$	280		1.3x	48%	20%	\$ 43	·	n/a	n/a	n/a
CAP IV (Jul 2013 / Jun 2018)	\$	3,880 \$	4,044	104%	\$	3.019		1.7x	17%	11%	\$ 250	\$	4,261	3.0x	35%
CAP III (Jun 2008 / Jul 2013)	\$	2,552 \$	2,543	100%	\$	4,417	- /	1.8x	16%	11%	\$ 21	\$	4,417	2.1x	19%
CJP IV (Oct 2020 / Oct 2026)	¥	258,000 ¥	2,545	0%	¥	— !		n/a	n/a	n/a	\$	Ψ	n/a	n/a	n/a
CJP III (Sep 2013 / Aug 2020)	¥	119,505 ¥	91,192	76%	¥	79,367		1.8x	19%	11%	\$ 55	¥	81,420	2.8x	37%
CJP II (Oct 2006 / Jul 2013)	¥	165,600 ¥	141,867	86%	¥	205,301		1.5x	7%	3%	\$ -	¥	203,831	1.5x	7%
CGFSP III (Dec 2017 / Dec 2023)	\$	1,005 \$	715	71%	\$	4 :		1.2x	21%	9%	\$ 4	•	n/a	n/a	n/a
CGFSP II (Jun 2013 / Dec 2017)	\$	1,000 \$	943	94%	\$	1.041		2.1x	25%	18%	\$ 61	\$	1,009	2.1x	29%
CEOF II (Nov 2015 / Mar 2020)	\$	2,400 \$	2,090	87%	\$	381		1.2x	8%	3%	\$ —	\$	399	1.5x	31%
CEOF I (Nov 2013 / Mai 2020) CEOF I (Sep 2011 / Nov 2015)	\$	1,119 \$	1,174	105%	\$	1,505		1.5x	12%	8%	\$ 30	\$	1,359	1.8x	23%
CETP IV (Jul 2019 / Jul 2025)	€	1,350 €	461	34%	€	(		1.0x	NM	NM	\$ -	Ψ	n/a	n/a	n/a
CETP IV (Jul 2019 / Jul 2029) CETP III (Jul 2014 / Jul 2019)	€	657 €	592	90%	€	1,063		2.6x	43%	30%	\$ 30	€	1,064	4.5x	53%
CGP II (Dec 2020 / Jan 2025)	\$	1,840 \$	175	10%	\$	- 3		1.0x	NM	NM	\$ 50	e	n/a	n/a	n/a
CGP (Jan 2015 / Mar 2021)	\$	3,588 \$	2,933	82%	\$	248		1.0x	3%	2%	\$ —		n/a	n/a	n/a
CAGP IV (Aug 2008 / Dec 2014)	\$	1,041 \$	954	92%	\$	1,114		1.1x	7%	2%	\$ — \$ —	\$	1,085	1.4x	9%
All Other Active Funds & Vehicles(10)	φ	1,041 \$	16,528	n/a	\$	16.136		1.6x	12%	9%	\$ 45	\$	16,607	2.1x	17%
Fully Realized Funds & Vehicles(11)		\$	23,553	n/a	\$	59,821	- ,	2.5x	28%	21%	\$ 5	\$	59,821	2.1x 2.5x	28%
TOTAL CORPORATE PRIVATE EQUITY(13	5)	\$	115,036	n/a	\$	148,040		1.8x	25%	17%	\$ 1,814	\$	153,548	2.3x 2.4x	27%
Real Estate	<i>''</i>	J	113,030	II/a	φ	140,040	03,313	1.03	23 /0	17 /0	J 1,014	4	133,340	2.41	27 /0
CRP VIII (Aug 2017 / May 2022)	\$	5,505 \$	2,955	54%	\$	639	5 2,964	1.2x	NM	NM	\$ 33	\$	651	1.9x	62%
CRP VII (Aug 2017 / May 2022) CRP VII (Jun 2014 / Dec 2017)	\$	4,162 \$	3,779	91%	\$	3,775	, ,	1.6x	19%	12%	\$ 91	\$	3,665	1.9x 1.8x	26%
,	\$	2,340 \$	2,154	92%	\$	3,622		1.0x 1.8x	27%	18%	\$ 3	\$	3,472	2.0x	32%
CRP VI (Mar 2011 / Jun 2014) CRP V (Nov 2006 / Mar 2011)	\$	3,000 \$	3,349	112%	\$	5,098		1.8x	12%	9%	\$ 149	\$	5,839	2.0x 1.8x	13%
CRP V (Nov 2006 / Mar 2011) CRP IV (Jan 2005 / Nov 2006)	\$	950 \$	1,215	112%	\$	1,950		1.6x	7%	9% 4%	\$ 149 \$ —	\$	1,949	1.8x 1.7x	7%
` ,	\$	4,338 \$	3,118	72%	\$	630		1.0x 1.2x	14%	12%	\$ <u> </u>	\$	231	1.6x	
CPI (May 2016 / n/a) CEREP III (Jun 2007 / May 2012)	€	2,230 €	2.053	92%	€	2,403		1.2x 1.2x	4%	1%	\$ 12	€	2.440	1.0x 1.2x	NM 4%
All Other Active Funds & Vehicles(14)	£	2,230 € \$	3,285		\$	3,041		1.5x	10%	8%	\$ 10	\$	2,440	1.7x	11%
Fully Realized Funds & Vehicles(14)		\$	5,203	n/a n/a	\$	6,961		1.3x	10%	6%	\$ 10	\$	6,964	1.7x 1.3x	13%
TOTAL REAL ESTATE(13)		<u>\$</u>	27,657	n/a	\$	28,653		1.5x	12%	7%	\$ 298	<u>\$</u>	28,543	1.6x	12%
		J)	27,037	II/d	Þ	20,033	11,327	1.3X	12 70	7 70	<b>J</b> 290	a a	20,343	1.0X	12 70
Natural Resources CIEP II (Apr 2019 / Apr 2025)	\$	2,286 \$	602	26%	\$	7 :	558	0.9x	NM	NM	\$ —		7/2	22/2	n/n
	\$				\$	883		0.9x 1.3x				\$	n/a	n/a	n/a 22%
CIEP I (Sep 2013 / Jun 2019)		2,500 \$	2,334	93%					13%	6%		Ф	1,344	2.0x	
CPP II (Sep 2014 / Apr 2021)	\$	1,527 \$	1,229 466	81%	\$	324 S		1.3x 0.8x	11% NM	5% NM	\$ — \$ —	\$	n/a 31	n/a 2.6x	n/a
CGIOF (Dec 2018 / Sep 2023)		2,201 \$		21%								Ф			NM
NGP XII (Jul 2017 / Jul 2022)	\$	4,278 \$	2,186	51%	\$	13 3		1.1x	NM	NM	J	ď	n/a	n/a	n/a
NGP X (Oct 2014 / Jul 2017)	\$	5,325 \$	4,930	93% 93%	\$	1,703		1.1x	2%	Neg	\$ — \$ —	\$	1,591	1.1x	33%
NGP X (Jan 2012 / Dec 2014)	\$	3,586 \$	3,344		\$	2,989		1.0x	1%	Neg	Ψ	\$	2,902	1.3x	10%
All Other Active Funds & Vehicles(17)		\$	2,785	n/a	\$	1,219		1.2x	9%	7%	\$ 6	\$	1,407	2.0x	25%
Fully Realized Funds & Vehicles(18)		\$	1,190	n/a	\$	1,435		1.2x	3%	1%	\$ _	\$	1,436	1.2x	3%
TOTAL NATURAL RESOURCES		\$	19,066	n/a	\$	8,603	12,865	1.1x	4%	1%	\$ 6	\$	37,254	1.5x	11%

12%

778 1.5x

6% \$

(4) \$

23,552 1.5x

14%

\$ 23,234 \$

16,552

n/a

Legacy Energy Funds(16)

- (1) Represents the original cost of investments since inception of the fund.
- (2) Represents all realized proceeds since inception of the fund.
- (3) Represents remaining fair value, before management fees, expenses and carried interest, and may include remaining escrow values for realized investments.
- (4) Multiple of invested capital ("MOIC") represents total fair value, before management fees, expenses and carried interest, divided by cumulative invested capital.
- (5) An investment is considered realized when the investment fund has completely exited, and ceases to own an interest in, the investment. An investment is considered partially realized when the total amount of proceeds received in respect of such investment, including dividends, interest or other distributions and/or return of capital, represents at least 85% of invested capital and such investment is not yet fully realized. Because part of our value creation strategy involves pursuing best exit alternatives, we believe information regarding Realized/Partially Realized MOIC and Gross IRR, when considered together with the other investment performance metrics presented, provides investors with meaningful information regarding our investment performance by removing the impact of investments where significant realization activity has not yet occurred. Realized/Partially Realized MOIC and Gross IRR have limitations as measures of investment performance, and should not be considered in isolation. Such limitations include the fact that these measures do not include the performance of earlier stage and other investments that do not satisfy the criteria provided above. The exclusion of such investments will have a positive impact on Realized/Partially Realized MOIC and Gross IRR in respect of such investments are less than the aggregate MOIC and Gross IRR. Our measurements of Realized/Partially Realized MOIC and Gross IRR may not be comparable to those of other companies that use similarly titled measures.
- (6) Gross Internal Rate of Return ("Gross IRR") represents an annualized time-weighted return on Limited Partner invested capital, based on contributions, distributions and unrealized fair value as of the reporting date, before the impact of management fees, partnership expenses and carried interest. For fund vintages 2017 and after, Gross IRR includes the impact of interest expense related to the funding of investments on fund lines of credit. Gross IRR is calculated based on the timing of Limited Partner cash flows, which may differ to varying degrees from the timing of actual investment cash flows for the fund. Subtotal Gross IRR aggregations for multiple funds are calculated based on actual cash flow dates for each fund and represent a theoretical time-weighted return for a Limited Partner who invested sequentially in each fund.
- (7) Net Internal Rate of Return ("Net IRR") represents an annualized time-weighted return on Limited Partner invested capital, based on contributions, distributions and unrealized fair value as of the reporting date, after the impact of all management fees, partnership expenses and carried interest, including current accruals. Net IRR is calculated based on the timing of Limited Partner cash flows, which may differ to varying degrees from the timing of actual investment cash flows for the fund. Fund level IRRs are based on aggregate Limited Partner cash flows, and this blended return may differ from that of individual Limited Partners. As a result, certain funds may generate accrued performance revenues with a blended Net IRR that is below the preferred return hurdle for that fund. Subtotal Net IRR aggregations for multiple funds are calculated based on actual cash flow dates for each fund and represent a theoretical time-weighted return for a Limited Partner who invested sequentially in each fund.
- (8) Represents the net accrued performance fee balance/(giveback obligation) as of the current quarter end.
- (9) Represents all realized proceeds combined with remaining fair value, before management fees, expenses and carried interest.
- (10) Aggregate includes the following funds, as well as all active co-investments, separately managed accounts (SMA's), and stand-alone investments arranged by us: CVP II, MENA, CCI, CSSAF I, CSABF, CPF, CAP Growth I, and CBPF II.
- (11) Aggregate includes the following funds, as well as related co-investments, separately managed accounts (SMA's), and certain other stand-alone investments arranged by us: CP I, CP II, CP III, CP IV, CEP I, CAP I, CAP II, CBPF I, CJP I, CMG, CVP I, CUSGF III, CGFSP I, CEVP I, CETP II, CAVP II, CAVP II, CAVP II, CAGP III and Mexico.
- (12) For funds marked "NM," IRR may be positive or negative, but is not considered meaningful because of the limited time since initial investment and early stage of capital deployment. For funds marked "Neg," IRR is considered meaningful but is negative as of reporting period end.
- (13) For purposes of aggregation, funds that report in foreign currency have been converted to U.S. dollars at the reporting period spot rate.
- (14) Aggregate includes the following funds, as well as all active co-investments, separately managed accounts (SMA's), and stand-alone investments arranged by us: CCR and CER.
- (15) Aggregate includes the following funds, as well as related co-investments, separately managed accounts (SMA's), and certain other stand-alone investments arranged by us: CRP I, CRP II, CRP II, CAREP I, CAREP II, CEREP I, and CEREP II.
- (16) Aggregate includes the following Legacy Energy funds and related co-investments: Energy I, Energy II, Energy III, Energy IV, Renew I, and Renew II.

- (17) Aggregate includes the following funds, as well as all active co-investments, separately managed accounts (SMA's), and stand-alone investments arranged by us: NGP GAP, CPOCP, CRSEF, and NGP RP.
- (18) Aggregate includes the following funds, as well as related co-investments, separately managed accounts (SMA's), and certain other stand-alone investments arranged by us: CIP.

# **Global Credit**

The following table presents our results of operations for our Global Credit segment:

	Year Ended December 31,				
		2020	2019		2018
	(Dollars in millions)				
Segment Revenues					
Fund level fee revenues					
Fund management fees	\$	324.2	\$ 307.2	\$	243.0
Portfolio advisory and transaction fees, net and other		34.0	14.6		6.1
Total fund level fee revenues		358.2	321.8		249.1
Realized performance revenues		26.5	1.8		9.8
Realized principal investment income		18.7	12.0		7.9
Interest income		10.4	14.2		15.3
Total revenues		413.8	349.8		282.1
Segment Expenses					
Compensation and benefits					
Cash-based compensation and benefits		206.1	185.2		140.4
Realized performance revenues related compensation		12.2	0.4		4.5
Total compensation and benefits		218.3	185.6		144.9
General, administrative, and other indirect expenses		45.7	78.9		30.5
Depreciation and amortization expense		7.0	9.9		6.3
Interest expense		26.6	27.0		22.9
Total expenses		297.6	301.4		204.6
(=) Distributable Earnings	\$	116.2	\$ 48.4	\$	77.5
(-) Realized Net Performance Revenues	-	14.3	1.4		5.3
(-) Realized Principal Investment Income		18.7	12.0		7.9
(+) Net Interest		16.2	12.8		7.6
(=) Fee Related Earnings	\$	99.4	\$ 47.8	\$	71.9

# Year Ended December 31, 2020 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2019 and Year Ended December 31, 2019 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2018

#### Distributable Earnings

Distributable earnings increased \$67.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019, and decreased \$29.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018. The following table provides the components of the changes in distributable earnings for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:

		Year Ended December 31,				
		2019				
		(Dollars i	n mill	lions)		
Distributable earnings, prior year	\$	48.4	\$	77.5		
Increases (decreases):						
Increase (decrease) in fee related earnings		51.6		(24.1)		
Increase (decrease) in realized net performance revenues		12.9		(3.9)		
Increase in realized principal investment income		6.7		4.1		
Increase in net interest		(3.4)		(5.2)		
Total increase (decrease)		67.8		(29.1)		
Distributable earnings, current year	\$	116.2	\$	48.4		

Realized Net Performance Revenues. Realized net performance revenues increased \$12.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019 primarily driven by Carlyle Aviation Partners in 2020. Realized net performance revenues decreased \$3.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018. The majority of realized net performance revenues was generated by our distressed debt carry funds and our business development companies in 2018.

Realized Principal Investment Income. Realized principal investment income increased \$6.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019 and increased \$4.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018. The increase in realized principal investment income for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019 was primarily due to realized losses in one of our energy mezzanine funds in 2019 and higher realized gains on investments in our business development companies. The increase in realized principal investment income for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018 was primarily due to higher dividends from our Interval Fund in 2019.

#### **Fee Related Earnings**

Fee related earnings increased \$51.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019, and decreased \$24.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018. The following table provides the components of the change in fee related earnings for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:

	Year Ended December 31,					
		2020	2019			
		(Dollars i	n millio	ons)		
Fee related earnings, prior year	\$	47.8	\$	71.9		
Increases (Decreases):						
Increase in fee revenues		36.4		72.7		
Increase in cash-based compensation		(20.9)		(44.8)		
Decrease (increase) in general, administrative and other indirect expenses		33.2		(48.4)		
All other changes		2.9		(3.6)		
Total increase (decrease)		51.6		(24.1)		
Fee related earnings, current year	\$	99.4	\$	47.8		

*Fee Revenues*. Total fee revenues increased \$36.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019 and increased \$72.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018, due to the following:

	Y	Year Ended December 31,					
		2020	2019				
		(Dollars in millions)					
Higher fund management fees	\$	17.0	\$	64.2			
Higher portfolio advisory and transaction fees, net and other		19.4		8.5			
Total increase in fee revenues	\$	36.4	\$	72.7			

The increase in fund management fees for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019 was primarily driven by increased management fees from our structured credit funds, opportunistic credit carry fund, direct lending platform, Carlyle FRL and Carlyle Aviation Partners, partially offset by lower management fees from our energy mezzanine carry funds.

The increase in fund management fees for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018 was primarily driven by management fees from Carlyle Aviation Partners, which was acquired in December 2018, management fees from CLOs that originated in 2018 and 2019, as well as increased management fees from our direct lending platform.

The weighted average management fee rate on our carry funds increased from 1.20% at December 31, 2019 to 1.22% at December 31, 2020 primarily due to fundraising in Carlyle Aviation Partners.

The weighted average management fee rate on our carry funds decreased from 1.23% at December 31, 2018 to 1.20% at December 31, 2019 primarily due to the step-down of the fee rate and basis in CEMOF II.

The increase in portfolio advisory and transaction fees, net, and other fees for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 as compared to the respective periods resulted primarily from transaction fees associated with Carlyle FRL in 2020 (see Note 5 of our consolidated financial statements for more information) and increased underwriting fees related to Carlyle Global Capital Markets.

The increase in portfolio advisory and transaction fees, net, and other fees for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 as compared to the respective periods resulted primarily from increased underwriting fees related to Carlyle Global Capital Markets.

Cash-based compensation and benefits expense. Cash-based compensation and benefits expense increased \$20.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019 primarily due to increased headcount and higher cash bonuses. Cash-based compensation and benefits expense increased \$44.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018 primarily due to the Carlyle Aviation Partners acquisition, as well as increased headcount and higher cash bonuses.

General, administrative and other indirect expenses. General, administrative and other indirect expenses decreased \$33.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019 primarily due the allocated portion of the cost recovery associated with the CCC matter of \$6.3 million during the three months ended March 31, 2020 (see Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements for more information), as well as lower professional fees, due in part to expense recoveries from Carlyle FRL, and lower travel and entertainment expenses as a result of travel restrictions during the COVID-19 pandemic.

General, administrative and other indirect expenses increased \$48.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018 primarily due to \$31.5 million of insurance proceeds related to commodities received in 2018 as well as increases related to our acquisition of Carlyle Aviation Partners in December 2018.

#### Fee-earning AUM as of and for each of the Three Years in the Period Ended December 31, 2020

Fee-earning AUM is presented below for each period together with the components of change during each respective period.

The table below breaks out Fee-earning AUM by its respective components at each period.

	As of December 31,							
	2020			2019		2018		
				rs in millions)				
Global Credit								
Components of Fee-earning AUM (1)								
Fee-earning AUM based on capital commitments	\$	3,921	\$	4,727	\$	7,403		
Fee-earning AUM based on invested capital		5,607		4,509		1,885		
Fee-earning AUM based on collateral balances, at par		26,480		24,887		22,921		
Fee-earning AUM based on net asset value		1,578		1,561		867		
Fee-earning AUM based on other (2)		4,547		2,178		2,076		
Total Fee-earning AUM	\$	42,133	\$	37,862	\$	35,152		
Weighted Average Management Fee Rates (3)								
All Funds, excluding CLOs		1.22 %	, )	1.20 %	)	1.23 %		

- (1) For additional information concerning the components of Fee-earning AUM, see "—Fee-earning Assets under Management."
- (2) Includes funds with fees based on gross asset value.
- (3) Represents the aggregate effective management fee rate for carry funds, weighted by each fund's Fee-earning AUM, as of the end of each period presented. Management fees for CLOs are based on the total par amount of the assets (collateral) and principal balance of the notes in the fund and are not calculated as a percentage of equity and are therefore not included.

The table below provides the period to period rollforward of Fee-earning AUM.

	 Twelve Months Ended December 31,				
	 2020	2019			2018
		(Dollars in millions)			
Global Credit					
Fee-earning AUM Rollforward					
Balance, Beginning of Period	\$ 37,862	\$	35,152	\$	27,262
Inflows (1)	6,368		4,437		9,179
Outflows (including realizations) (2)	(3,906)		(2,663)		(1,228)
Market Activity & Other (3)	618		1,067		253
Foreign Exchange (4)	1,191		(131)		(314)
Balance, End of Period	\$ 42,133	\$	37,862	\$	35,152

- (1) Inflows represents limited partner capital raised by our carry funds or separately managed accounts for which management fees based on commitments were activated during the period, the fee-earning commitments invested in vehicles for which management fees are based on invested capital, the fee-earning collateral balance of new CLO issuances, as well as gross subscriptions in our vehicles for which management fees are based on net asset value. Inflows exclude fundraising amounts during the period for which fees have not yet been activated, which are referenced as Pending Fee-earning AUM. This also includes \$4.1 billion of fee-earning Carlyle Aviation Partners (formerly Apollo Aviation Group) assets which were acquired in a transaction that closed in December 2018.
- (2) Outflows represents the impact of realizations from vehicles with management fees based on remaining invested capital at cost or fair value, changes in basis for funds where the investment period, weighted-average investment period or commitment fee period has expired during the period, reductions for funds that are no longer calling for fees, gross redemptions in our open-end funds, and runoff of CLO collateral balances. Realizations for funds earning management fees based on commitments during the period do not affect Fee-earning AUM.

- (3) Market Activity & Other represents realized and unrealized gains (losses) on portfolio investments in funds or vehicles based on the lower of cost or fair value or net asset value, as well as activity of funds with fees based on gross asset value.
- (4) Foreign Exchange represents the impact of foreign exchange rate fluctuations on the translation of our non-U.S. dollar denominated funds. Activity during the period is translated at the average rate for the period. Ending balances are translated at the spot rate as of the period end.

Fee-earning AUM was \$42.1 billion at December 31, 2020, an increase of \$4.2 billion, or 11%, compared to \$37.9 billion at December 31, 2019. Driving the increase were inflows of \$6.4 billion primarily attributable to new fee-paying capital raised in our U.S. and Europe CLOs, fee-paying third-party capital raised in our insurance business, and investment activity in CCOF, as well as \$1.2 billion in foreign exchange activity related to the translation of our EUR-denominated CLOs to USD. Partially offsetting the increase were \$3.9 billion of outflows primarily related to a fee basis step-down in CEMOF II and runoff of our CLO collateral balances. Distributions from carry funds still in the investment period do not impact Fee-earning AUM as these funds are based on commitments and not invested capital.

Fee-earning AUM was \$37.9 billion at December 31, 2019, an increase of \$2.7 billion, or 8%, compared to \$35.2 billion at December 31, 2018. Driving the increase were inflows of \$4.4 billion primarily attributable to new fee-paying capital raised in our U.S. and Europe CLO's and follow-on closes in CCOF, as well as \$1.1 billion of market and other activity primarily related to increases in gross asset value in our BDCs and securitization vehicles. Partially offsetting the increase were \$2.7 billion of outflows primarily related to a fee basis step-down in CEMOF II and runoff of our CLO collateral balances.

Fee-earning AUM was \$35.2 billion at December 31, 2018, an increase of \$7.9 billion, or 29%, compared to \$27.3 billion at December 31, 2017. Driving the increase were inflows of \$9.2 billion primarily attributable to the acquisition of Carlyle Aviation Partners and new fee-paying capital raised in our U.S. and Europe CLO's. Partially offsetting the increase were \$1.2 billion of outflows primarily related to runoff of our CLO collateral balances as well as distributions from carry funds outside the investment period.

# Total AUM as of and for each of the Three Years in the Period Ended December 31, 2020

The table below provides the period to period rollforward of Total AUM.

	Twelve Months Ended December 31,					
	2020		2019		2018	
		(Dollars in millions)				
Global Credit						
Total AUM Rollforward						
Balance, Beginning of Period	\$ 49,412	\$	44,417	\$	33,324	
Inflows (1)	9,497		6,338		12,062	
Outflows (including realizations) (2)	(4,167)		(2,396)		(1,148)	
Market Activity & Other (3)	402		1,190		511	
Foreign Exchange (4)	737		(137)		(332)	
Balance, End of Period	\$ 55,881	\$	49,412	\$	44,417	

- (1) Inflows reflects the impact of gross fundraising during the period. For funds or vehicles denominated in foreign currencies, this reflects translation at the average quarterly rate, while the separately reported Fundraising metric is translated at the spot rate for each individual closing. Inflows also includes \$5.8 billion of Carlyle Aviation Partners (formerly Apollo Aviation Group) assets which were acquired in a transaction that closed in December 2018.
- (2) Outflows includes distributions net of recallable or recyclable amounts in our carry funds, related co-investment vehicles, and separately managed accounts, gross redemptions in our open-end funds, runoff of CLO collateral balances, and the expiration of available capital.
- (3) Market Activity & Other generally represents realized and unrealized gains (losses) on portfolio investments in our carry funds, related coinvestment vehicles, and separately managed accounts, as well as the impact of fees, expenses and non-investment income, change in gross asset value for our business development companies and other changes in AUM.
- (4) Foreign Exchange represents the impact of foreign exchange rate fluctuations on the translation of our non-U.S. dollar denominated funds. Activity during the period is translated at the average rate for the period. Ending balances are translated at the spot rate as of the period end.

Total AUM was \$55.9 billion at December 31, 2020, an increase of \$6.5 billion, or 13%, compared to \$49.4 billion at December 31, 2019. This was driven by \$9.5 billion of inflows primarily due to new U.S. and Europe CLO issuances, fundraising in CCOF II, and closings in various platform accounts. Also driving the increase was \$0.7 billion in foreign exchange activity related to the translation of our EUR-denominated CLOs to USD. Partially offsetting the increase were outflows of \$4.2 billion primarily related to distributions in our Energy Credit and Aviation funds, as well as CLO run-off.

Total AUM was \$49.4 billion at December 31, 2019, an increase of \$5.0 billion, or 11%, compared to \$44.4 billion at December 31, 2018. This was driven by \$6.3 billion of inflows primarily due to new U.S. and Europe CLO issuances, as well as additional closes in CCOF. Also driving the increase was market and other activity of \$1.2 billion, the majority of which was attributable to increases in the gross asset value of our BDC's and securitization vehicles. Partially offsetting the increase were outflows of \$2.4 billion primarily related to distributions in our Energy Credit and Aviation funds, as well as CLO run-off.

Total AUM was \$44.4 billion at December 31, 2018, an increase of \$11.1 billion, or 33%, compared to \$33.3 billion at December 31, 2017. This was driven by \$12.1 billion of inflows primarily due to the acquisition of Carlyle Aviation Partners, as well as new U.S. and Europe CLO issuances and additional closes in our second BDC. Partially offsetting the increase were outflows of \$1.1 billion primarily related to CLO run-off and distributions in our Global Credit carry funds.

# **Fund Performance Metrics**

Fund performance information for certain of our Global Credit Funds is included throughout this discussion and analysis to facilitate an understanding of our results of operations for the periods presented. The fund return information reflected in this discussion and analysis is not indicative of the performance of The Carlyle Group Inc. and is also not necessarily indicative of the future performance of any particular fund. An investment in The Carlyle Group Inc. is not an investment in any of our funds. There can be no assurance that any of our funds or our other existing and future funds will achieve similar returns. See "Item 1A. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Business Operations — The historical returns attributable to our funds including those presented in this report should not be considered as indicative of the future results of our funds or of our future results or of any returns expected on an investment in our common stock."

The following table reflects the performance of certain funds in our Global Credit business. These tables separately present funds that, as of the periods presented, had at least \$1.0 billion in capital commitments, cumulative equity invested or total equity value. See "Business — Our Family of Funds" for a legend of the fund acronyms listed below.

(Dollars in millions)				TOTAL INVESTMENTS					
				As of December 31, 2020					
Fund (Fee Initiation Date/Stepdown Date)	Committed Capital	Cumulative Invested Capital (1)	Percent Invested	Realized Value (2)	Remaining Fair Value (3)	MOIC (4)	Gross IRR (5) (8)	Net IRR (6) (8)	Net Accrued Carry/(Clawback) (7)
Global Credit Carry Funds									
CSP IV (Apr 2016 / Dec 2020)	\$ 2,500 \$	1,848	74%	\$ 805	\$ 1,307	1.1x	13%	1%	\$
CSP III (Dec 2011 / Aug 2015)	\$ 703 \$	703	100%	\$ 846	\$ 175	1.5x	21%	11%	\$ —
CSP II (Dec 2007 / Jun 2011)	\$ 1,352 \$	1,352	100%	\$ 2,431	\$ 62	1.8x	17%	11%	\$ 7
CCOF II (Nov 2020 / Oct 2025)	\$ 1,880 \$	90	5%	\$ _	\$ 90	1.0x	NM	NM	\$ —
CCOF I (Nov 2017 / Sep 2022)	\$ 2,373 \$	2,694	114%	\$ 915	\$ 2,178	1.1x	21%	15%	\$ 30
CEMOF II (Dec 2015 / Jun 2019)	\$ 2,819 \$	1,696	60%	\$ 718	\$ 952	1.0x	Neg	Neg	\$ —
CEMOF I (Dec 2010 / Dec 2015)	\$ 1,383 \$	1,606	116%	\$ 880	\$ 122	0.6x	Neg	Neg	\$
CSC (Mar 2017 / n/a)	\$ 838 \$	1,303	155%	\$ 655	\$ 844	1.2x	15%	11%	\$ 18
All Other Active Funds & Vehicles(9)	\$	3,355	n/a	\$ 2,869	\$ 873	1.1x	6%	1%	\$ 17
Fully Realized Funds & Vehicles(10)	\$	1,447	n/a	\$ 1,988	\$ —	1.4x	12%	7%	\$ —
TOTAL GLOBAL CREDIT	\$	16,093	n/a	\$ 12,108	\$ 6,602	1.2x	9%	3%	\$ 72

- (1) Represents the original cost of investments since the inception of the fund. For CSP II and CSP III, reflects amounts net of investment level recallable proceeds which is adjusted to reflect recyclability of invested capital for the purpose of calculating the fund MOIC.
- (2) Represents all realized proceeds since inception of the fund.
- (3) Represents remaining fair value, before management fees, expenses and carried interest, and may include remaining escrow values for realized investments.
- (4) Multiple of invested capital ("MOIC") represents total fair value, before management fees, expenses and carried interest, divided by cumulative invested capital.
- (5) Gross Internal Rate of Return ("Gross IRR") represents an annualized time-weighted return on Limited Partner invested capital, based on contributions, distributions and unrealized fair value as of the reporting date, before the impact of management fees, partnership expenses and carried interest. For fund vintages 2017 and after, Gross IRR includes the impact of interest expense related to the funding of investments on fund lines of credit. Gross IRR is calculated based on the timing of Limited Partner cash flows, which may differ to varying degrees from the timing of actual investment cash flows for the fund. Subtotal Gross IRR aggregations for multiple funds are calculated based on actual cash flow dates for each fund and represent a theoretical time-weighted return for a Limited Partner who invested sequentially in each fund.
- (6) Net Internal Rate of Return ("Net IRR") represents an annualized time-weighted return on Limited Partner invested capital, based on contributions, distributions and unrealized fair value as of the reporting date, after the impact of all management fees, partnership expenses and carried interest, including current accruals. Net IRR is calculated based on the timing of Limited Partner cash flows, which may differ to varying degrees from the timing of actual investment cash flows for the fund. Fund level IRRs are based on aggregate Limited Partner cash flows, and this blended return may differ from that of individual Limited Partners. As a result, certain funds may generate accrued performance revenues with a blended Net IRR that is below the preferred return hurdle for that fund. Subtotal Net IRR aggregations for multiple funds are calculated based on actual cash flow dates for each fund and represent a theoretical time-weighted return for a Limited Partner who invested sequentially in each fund.
- (7) Represents the net accrued performance fee balance/(giveback obligation) as of the current quarter end.
- (8) For funds marked "NM," IRR may be positive or negative, but is not considered meaningful because of the limited time since initial investment and early stage of capital deployment. For funds marked "Neg," IRR is considered meaningful but is negative as of reporting period end.
- (9) Aggregate includes the following funds, as well as all active co-investments, separately managed accounts (SMA's), and stand-alone investments arranged by us: SASOF II, SASOF III, and SASOF IV.
- (10) Aggregate includes the following funds, as well as related co-investments, separately managed accounts (SMA's), and certain other stand-alone investments arranged by us: CSP I, CMP I, CMP II, and CASCOF.

# **Investment Solutions**

The following table presents our results of operations for our Investment Solutions segment:

	Year Ended December 31,				
	 2020	2019		2018	
		(Dollars in millions)			
Segment Revenues					
Fund level fee revenues					
Fund management fees	\$ 193.0	\$ 157.1	\$	166.8	
Portfolio advisory and transaction fees, net and other	0.1	_		0.4	
Total fund level fee revenues	193.1	157.1		167.2	
Realized performance revenues	155.1	70.7		106.4	
Realized principal investment income	2.3	1.7		0.1	
Interest income	0.6	1.5		1.4	
Total revenues	 351.1	231.0	_	275.1	
Segment Expenses					
Compensation and benefits					
Cash-based compensation and benefits	113.5	96.3		92.0	
Realized performance revenues related compensation	144.6	64.6		96.3	
Total compensation and benefits	258.1	160.9		188.3	
General, administrative, and other indirect expenses	37.8	37.2		36.6	
Depreciation and amortization expense	4.5	6.2		4.7	
Interest expense	9.3	7.9		6.6	
Total expenses	309.7	212.2		236.2	
(=) Distributable Earnings	\$ 41.4	\$ 18.8	\$	38.9	
(-) Realized Net Performance Revenues	10.5	6.1		10.1	
(-) Realized Principal Investment Income	2.3	1.7		0.1	
(+) Net Interest	8.7	6.4		5.2	
(=) Fee Related Earnings	\$ 37.3	\$ 17.4	\$	33.9	

# Year Ended December 31, 2020 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2019 and Year Ended December 31, 2019 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2018

#### Distributable Earnings

Distributable earnings increased \$22.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019, and decreased \$20.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018. The following table provides the components of the change in distributable earnings for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:

	Year Ended December 31,						
		2020	2019				
		(Dollars i	n milli	ons)			
Distributable earnings, prior year	\$	18.8	\$	38.9			
Increases (decreases):							
Increase (decrease) in fee related earnings		19.9		(16.5)			
Increase (decrease) in realized net performance revenues		4.4		(4.0)			
Increase in realized principal investment income		0.6		1.6			
Increase in net interest		(2.3)	_	(1.2)			
Total increase (decrease)		22.6		(20.1)			
Distributable earnings, current year	\$	41.4	\$	18.8			

Realized Net Performance Revenues. Realized net performance revenues increased \$4.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019, and decreased \$4.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018. Substantially all of the realized net performance revenues were generated from AlpInvest carry fund vehicles for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018. Performance revenues from our Investment Solutions segment pay a higher ratio of performance revenues as compensation, primarily as a result of the terms of our acquisition of AlpInvest. Under our arrangements with the historical owners and management team of AlpInvest, we generally do not retain any carried interest with respect to the historical investments and commitments to our AlpInvest fund vehicles that existed as of July 1, 2011 (including any options to increase any such commitments exercised after such date). We are entitled to 15% of the carried interest with respect to commitments from the historical owners of AlpInvest for the period between 2011 and 2020, except in certain instances, and 40% of the carried interest in respect of all other commitments (including all future commitments from third parties). As funds that have launched since our acquisition of AlpInvest in 2011 begin to realize performance revenues, an increasing share of net realized performance revenues will be for our benefit.

## Fee Related Earnings

Fee related earnings increased \$19.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019, and decreased \$16.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018. The following table provides the components of the change in fee related earnings for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:

	Year Ended December 31,					
		2020	2019			
		(Dollars i	n mill	ions)		
Fee related earnings, prior year	\$	17.4	\$	33.9		
Increases (decreases):						
Increase (decrease) in fee revenues		36.0		(10.1)		
Increase in cash-based compensation		(17.2)		(4.3)		
Increase in general, administrative and other indirect expenses		(0.6)		(0.6)		
All other changes		1.7		(1.5)		
Total increase (decrease)		19.9		(16.5)		
Fee related earnings, current year	\$	37.3	\$	17.4		

*Fee Revenues*. Total fee revenues increased \$36.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019, primarily due to increased management fees from our private equity fund vehicles driven by the activation of management fees on our latest secondaries fund and higher catch-up management fees on our real estate fund-of-fund vehicles.

Total fee revenues decreased \$10.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018, primarily due to decreased management fees from our private equity fund vehicles and lower catch-up management fees on our real estate fund-of-fund vehicles. In addition, realizations outpaced new fundraising, leading to lower Fee-earning AUM.

*Cash-based compensation and benefits expense.* Cash-based compensation and benefits expense increased \$17.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019, primarily due to an increase in 2020 cash bonuses.

Cash-based compensation and benefits expense increased \$4.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to 2018, primarily due to an increase in headcount and 2019 cash bonuses.

General, administrative and other indirect expenses. General, administrative and other indirect expenses increased \$0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019, primarily due to increased professional fees, partially offset by the allocated portion of the cost recovery associated with the CCC matter of \$3.3 million during the three months ended March 31, 2020 (see Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements for more information.) and lower travel and entertainment expenses as a result of travel restrictions during the COVID-19 pandemic.

#### Fee-earning AUM as of and for each of the Three Years in the Period Ended December 31, 2020

Fee-earning AUM is presented below for each period together with the components of change during each respective period.

The table below breaks out Fee-earning AUM by its respective components during the period.

	As of December 31,						
	2020 2019					2018	
			(Dolla	ars in millions)			
nent Solutions							
mponents of Fee-earning AUM (1)							
Fee-earning AUM based on capital commitments	\$	17,871	\$	12,430	\$	11,355	
Fee-earning AUM based on invested capital (2)		2,319		2,118		1,657	
Fee-earning AUM based on net asset value		3,180		662		942	
Fee-earning AUM based on lower of cost or fair market value		13,028		13,174		15,111	
ee-earning AUM	\$	36,398	\$	28,384	\$	29,065	
	Fee-earning AUM based on invested capital (2) Fee-earning AUM based on net asset value	mponents of Fee-earning AUM (1)  Fee-earning AUM based on capital commitments  Fee-earning AUM based on invested capital (2)  Fee-earning AUM based on net asset value  Fee-earning AUM based on lower of cost or fair market value	ment Solutions mponents of Fee-earning AUM (1) Fee-earning AUM based on capital commitments \$ 17,871 Fee-earning AUM based on invested capital (2) 2,319 Fee-earning AUM based on net asset value 3,180 Fee-earning AUM based on lower of cost or fair market value 13,028	tent Solutions Imponents of Fee-earning AUM (1) Fee-earning AUM based on capital commitments Fee-earning AUM based on invested capital (2) Fee-earning AUM based on net asset value Fee-earning AUM based on lower of cost or fair market value  2020  (Dollar	20202019(Dollars in millions)nent SolutionsImponents of Fee-earning AUM (1)Fee-earning AUM based on capital commitments\$ 17,871\$ 12,430Fee-earning AUM based on invested capital (2)2,3192,118Fee-earning AUM based on net asset value3,180662Fee-earning AUM based on lower of cost or fair market value13,02813,174	20202019(Dollars in millions)Tenent SolutionsImponents of Fee-earning AUM (1)Fee-earning AUM based on capital commitments\$ 17,871\$ 12,430\$Fee-earning AUM based on invested capital (2)2,3192,118Fee-earning AUM based on net asset value3,180662Fee-earning AUM based on lower of cost or fair market value13,02813,174	

- (1) For additional information concerning the components of Fee-earning AUM, see "—Fee-earning Assets under Management."
- (2) Includes amounts committed to or reserved for certain AlpInvest and Metropolitan carry funds.

		Twelve Months Ended December 31,					
		2020		2019		2018	
			(Dolla	rs in millions)		_	
Investment Solutions							
Fee-earning AUM Rollforward							
Balance, Beginning of Period	\$	28,384	\$	29,065	\$	30,150	
Inflows (1)		10,713		3,708		5,092	
Outflows (including realizations) (2)		(3,710)		(4,039)		(5,035)	
Market Activity & Other (3)		(778)		57		(74)	
Foreign Exchange (4)	<u> </u>	1,789		(407)		(1,068)	
Balance, End of Period	\$	36,398	\$	28,384	\$	29,065	

(1) Inflows represents limited partner capital raised by our carry funds or separately managed accounts for which management fees based on commitments were activated during the period and the fee-earning commitments invested in

- vehicles for which management fees are based on invested capital. Inflows exclude fundraising amounts during the period for which fees have not yet been activated, which are referenced as Pending Fee-earning AUM.
- (2) Outflows represents the impact of realizations from vehicles with management fees based on remaining invested capital at cost or fair value, changes in basis for funds where the investment period, weighted-average investment period or commitment fee period has expired during the period, and reductions for funds that are no longer calling for fees. Distributions for funds earning management fees based on commitments during the period do not affect Fee-earning AUM.
- (3) Market Activity & Other represents realized and unrealized gains (losses) on portfolio investments in our carry funds based on the lower of cost or fair value and net asset value.
- (4) Foreign Exchange represents the impact of foreign exchange rate fluctuations on the translation of our non-U.S. dollar denominated funds. Activity during the period is translated at the average rate for the period. Ending balances are translated at the spot rate as of the period end.

Fee-earning AUM was \$36.4 billion at December 31, 2020, an increase of \$8.0 billion, or 28%, compared to \$28.4 billion at December 31, 2019. This increase was driven by inflows of \$10.7 billion primarily attributable to fundraising in our AlpInvest funds as well as capital deployed in our AlpInvest funds which charge fees based on invested capital. Foreign exchange activity related to the translation of our AlpInvest Fee-earning AUM from EUR to USD resulted in an increase in Fee-earning AUM of \$1.8 billion. Partially offsetting this increase were outflows of \$3.7 billion primarily attributable to distributions in our AlpInvest funds. Distributions from funds still in the commitment or weighted-average investment period do not impact Fee-earning AUM as these funds are based on commitments and not invested capital. Increases in fair value may have an impact on Fee-earning AUM for Investment Solutions as the management fees for many fully committed funds are based on fair value or on the lower of cost or fair value of the underlying investments.

Fee-earning AUM was \$28.4 billion at December 31, 2019, a decrease of \$0.7 billion, or 2%, compared to \$29.1 billion at December 31, 2018. This decrease was driven by outflows of \$4.0 billion primarily attributable to distributions in our AlpInvest funds as well as \$0.4 billion of foreign exchange activity related to the translation of our AlpInvest Fee-earning AUM from EUR to USD. Partially offsetting this decrease were inflows of \$3.7 billion primarily attributable to fundraising in our AlpInvest funds as well as capital deployed in our AlpInvest funds which charge fees based on invested capital.

Fee-earning AUM was \$29.1 billion at December 31, 2018, a decrease of \$1.1 billion, or 4%, compared to \$30.2 billion at December 31, 2017. This decrease was driven by outflows of \$5.0 billion primarily attributable to distributions in our AlpInvest funds as well as \$1.1 billion of foreign exchange activity related to the translation of our AlpInvest Fee-earning AUM from EUR to USD. Partially offsetting this decrease were inflows of \$5.1 billion primarily attributable to fundraising in our AlpInvest and MRE funds.

## Total AUM as of and for each of the Three Years in the Period Ended December 31, 2020

The table below provides the period to period rollforward of Total AUM.

	Twelve Months Ended December 31,					
		2020		2019		2018
			(Dollars	s in millions)		_
Investment Solutions						
Total AUM Rollforward						
Balance, Beginning of Period	\$	45,246	\$	45,654	\$	46,291
Inflows (1)		13,855		2,969		4,063
Outflows (including realizations) (2)		(7,721)		(7,887)		(9,480)
Market Activity & Other (3)		3,566		5,008		6,488
Foreign Exchange (4)		3,162		(498)		(1,708)
Balance, End of Period	\$	58,108	\$	45,246	\$	45,654

- (1) Inflows reflects the impact of gross fundraising during the period. For funds or vehicles denominated in foreign currencies, this reflects translation at the average quarterly rate, while the separately reported Fundraising metric is translated at the spot rate for each individual closing.
- (2) Outflows includes distributions in our carry funds, related co-investment vehicles and separately managed accounts, as well as the expiration of available capital.

- (3) Market Activity & Other generally represents realized and unrealized gains (losses) on portfolio investments in our carry funds, related co-investment vehicles and separately managed accounts, the net impact of fees, expenses and non-investment income, as well as other changes in AUM. The fair market values for our Investment Solutions primary and secondary carry funds are based on the latest available valuations of the underlying limited partnership interests as provided by their general partners which typically has a lag of up to 90 days, plus the net cash flows since the latest valuation, up to December 31, 2020.
- (4) Foreign Exchange represents the impact of foreign exchange rate fluctuations on the translation of our non-U.S. dollar denominated funds. Activity during the period is translated at the average rate for the period. Ending balances are translated at the spot rate as of the period end.

Total AUM was \$58.1 billion as of December 31, 2020, an increase of \$12.9 billion, or 29%, compared to \$45.2 billion as of December 31, 2019. Driving this increase were \$13.9 billion of inflows principally from new commitments raised in our AlpInvest secondaries and coinvestment programs, \$3.6 billion of market and other activity, and \$3.2 billion of foreign exchange gains related to the translation of our AlpInvest AUM from EUR to USD. Offsetting the increase were \$7.7 billion of outflows primarily due to distributions in our AlpInvest funds.

Total AUM was \$45.2 billion as of December 31, 2019, a decrease of \$0.5 billion, or 1%, compared to \$45.7 billion as of December 31, 2018. Driving this decrease were \$7.9 billion of outflows primarily due to distributions in our AlpInvest funds and \$0.5 billion of foreign exchange losses related to the translation of our AlpInvest AUM from EUR to USD. Offsetting the decrease were \$3.0 billion of inflows from new commitments raised in our AlpInvest and MRE funds, and \$5.0 billion of market and other activity. Market appreciation was driven by 15% appreciation in our AlpInvest funds and 3% appreciation in our MRE funds.

Total AUM was \$45.7 billion as of December 31, 2018, a decrease of \$0.6 billion, or 1%, compared to \$46.3 billion as of December 31, 2017. Driving this decrease were \$9.5 billion of outflows primarily due to distributions in our AlpInvest funds and \$1.7 billion of foreign exchange losses related to the translation of our AlpInvest AUM from EUR to USD. Offsetting the decrease were \$4.1 billion of inflows from new commitments raised in our AlpInvest and MRE funds, and \$6.5 billion of market and other activity. Market appreciation was driven by 19% appreciation in our AlpInvest funds and 8% appreciation in our MRE funds.

#### **Fund Performance Metrics**

Fund performance information for our investment funds that have at least \$1.0 billion in capital commitments, cumulative equity invested or total value as of December 31, 2020, which we refer to as our "significant funds," is generally included throughout this discussion and analysis to facilitate an understanding of our results of operations for the periods presented. The fund return information reflected in this discussion and analysis is not indicative of the performance of The Carlyle Group Inc. and is also not necessarily indicative of the future performance of any particular fund. An investment in The Carlyle Group Inc. is not an investment in any of our funds. There can be no assurance that any of our funds or our other existing and future funds will achieve similar returns. See "Item 1A. Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Business Operations—The historical returns attributable to our funds, including those presented in this report, should not be considered as indicative of the future results of our funds or of our future results or of any returns expected on an investment in our common stock."

The following tables reflect the performance of our significant funds in our Investment Solutions business.

			_	As of December 31, 2020								
Investment Solutions (1)(8)	Vintage Year	Fu	und Size	Cumulative Invested Capital (2)(3)	Realized Value (3)	Remaining Fair Value(3)	Total Fair Value(3)(4)	MOIC (5)	Gross IRR (6) (10)	Net IRR (7)(10)		Accrued (Clawback) (12)
AlpInvest(13)						(Reported in	Local Currency	, in Million	s)			
Main Fund VI - Fund Investments	2015	€	1,106 €	913	€ 407	€ 978 €	1,385	1.5x	20%	18%	\$	1
Main Fund V - Fund Investments	2013	€	5,080 €				,	1.7x	17%	16%	\$	13
Main Fund IV - Fund Investments	2009	€	4,877 €					1.9x	17%	17%	\$	2
Main Fund III - Fund Investments	2005	€	11,500 €					1.7x	10%	10%	\$	_
Main Fund II - Fund Investments	2003	€	4,545 €					1.6x	10%	9%	\$	_
Main Fund I - Fund Investments	2000	€	5,175 €				6,790	1.7x	12%	11%	\$	_
Main Fund VII - Secondary Investments	2020	\$	8,129 \$				1,138	1.0x	NM	NM	\$	_
AlpInvest Secondaries Fund VII	2020	\$	6,769 \$				806	1.0x	NM	NM	\$	_
Main Fund VI - Secondary Investments	2017	\$	6.017 \$				5,896	1.2x	13%	10%	\$	24
AlpInvest Secondaries Fund VI	2017	\$	3,333 \$				3,189	1.2x	12%	8%	\$	15
Main Fund V - Secondary Investments	2011	€	4,273 €					1.7x	19%	18%	\$	29
Main Fund IV - Secondary Investments	2010	€	1,859 €					1.7x	19%	18%	\$	
Main Fund III - Secondary Investments	2006	€	2,250 €					1.5x	11%	10%	\$	_
Main Fund II - Secondary Investments	2003	€	998 €				-,	1.8x	27%	26%	\$	_
Main Fund VII - Co-Investments	2017	\$	2,842 \$		- ,		2,829	1.3x	15%	12%	\$	19
AlpInvest Co-Investment Fund VII	2017	\$	1,688 \$					1.3x	16%	12%	\$	14
Main Fund VI - Co-Investments	2014	€	1,115 €					2.4x	28%	26%	\$	11
Main Fund V - Co-Investments	2012	€	1,124 €					2.7x	29%	27%	\$	6
Main Fund IV - Co-Investments	2010	€	1,475 €					2.7x	23%	22%	\$	_
Main Fund III - Co-Investments	2006	€	2,760 €					1.5x	6%	5%	\$	_
Main Fund III - Mezzanine Investments	2006	€	2,000 €					1.4x	10%	9%	\$	_
Main Fund II - Mezzanine Investments	2004	€	700 €				,	1.4x	8%	7%	\$	_
All Other Active Funds & Vehicles(9)	Various		€					1.3x	8%	7%	\$	37
Fully Realized Funds & Vehicles	Various		€					2.3x	35%	32%	\$	_
TOTAL ALPINVEST (USD)(11)			\$				128,942	1.7x	13%	12%	\$	144
TOTAL ALPINVEST (USD)(11)			=	77,000	33,011	33,100 \$	120,012	1772	1370	12/0		
Metropolitan Real Estate												
MRE Secondaries Fund II	2017	\$	1,092 \$	315	\$ 79	\$ 274 \$	352	1.1x	8%	Neg	\$	0
All Other Active Funds & Vehicles	Various		\$	2,821	\$ 2,791	\$ 782 \$	3,573	1.3x	6%	4%	\$	1
Fully Realized Funds & Vehicles	Various		\$	597	\$ 721	\$ - \$	722	1.2x	4%	2%	\$	_
TOTAL METROPOLITAN REAL ESTATE			\$	3,734	\$ 3,591	\$ 1,056 \$	4,647	1.2x	6%	3%	\$	1

TOTAL INVESTMENTS

- (1) Includes private equity and mezzanine primary fund investments, secondary fund investments and co-investments originated by the AlpInvest team, as well as real estate primary fund investments, secondary fund investments and co-investments originated by the Metropolitan Real Estate team. Excluded from the performance information shown are a) investments that were not originated by AlpInvest, b) Direct Investments, which was spun off from AlpInvest in 2005, and c) LP co-investment vehicles advised by AlpInvest. As of December 31, 2020, these excluded investments represent \$1.5 billion of AUM at AlpInvest.
- (2) Represents the original cost of investments since inception of the fund.
- (3) To exclude the impact of FX, all foreign currency cash flows have been converted to the currency representing a majority of the capital committed to the relevant fund at the reporting period spot rate.

- (4) Represents all realized proceeds combined with remaining fair value, before management fees, expenses and carried interest.
- (5) Multiple of invested capital ("MOIC") represents total fair value, before management fees, expenses and carried interest, divided by cumulative invested capital.
- (6) Gross Internal Rate of Return ("Gross IRR") represents the annualized IRR for the period indicated on Limited Partner invested capital based on investment contributions, distributions and unrealized value of the underlying funds, before management fees, expenses and carried interest at the AlpInvest/Metropolitan Real Estate level.
- (7) Net Internal Rate of Return ("Net IRR") represents the annualized IRR for the period indicated on Limited Partner invested capital based on contributions, distributions and unrealized value after management fees, expenses and carried interest. Fund level IRRs are based on aggregate Limited Partner cash flows, and this blended return may differ from that of individual Limited Partners. As a result, certain funds may generate accrued performance revenues with a blended Net IRR that is below the preferred return hurdle for that fund.
- (8) As used herein, 'Main Funds' are each comprised of (i) an anchor mandate(s) (i.e., generally the largest account(s) within a strategy's investment program) and (ii) AlpInvest's other advisory client mandates with investment periods that fall within the relevant investment periods under the mandate of the anchor mandate(s) (but do not overlap with more than one such investment period). AlpInvest's commingled funds, AlpInvest Secondaries Fund VI ("ASF VI"), ASF VII and AlpInvest Co-Investment Fund VII ("ACF VII") are part of the Main Funds. Mezzanine Main Funds include mezzanine investments across all strategies (i.e., Primary Funds, Secondaries, and Co-Investments).
- (9) Aggregate includes Main Fund VII Fund Investments, Main Fund VIII Fund Investments, Main Fund IX Fund Investments, Main Fund X Fund Investments, Main Fund XI Fund Investments, Main Fund V Mezzanine Investments, Main Fund V Mezzanine Investments, all 'clean technology' private equity investments, all strategic co-investment mandates that invest in co-investment opportunities arising out of an investor's own separate private equity relationships and invitations, all strategic capital mandates, any state-focused investment mandates, and all other investors whose investments are not reflected in a Main Fund.
- (10) For funds marked "NM," IRR may be positive or negative, but is not considered meaningful because of the limited time since initial investment and early stage of capital deployment. For funds marked "Neg," IRR is considered meaningful but is negative as of reporting period end.
- (11) For purposes of aggregation, funds that report in foreign currency have been converted to U.S. dollars at the reporting period spot rate.
- (12) Represents the net accrued performance fee balance/(giveback obligation) as of the current quarter end.
- (13) "Main Fund" entries represent a combination of a commingled fund and SMA vehicles which together comprise a "program" vintage. Indented lines shown for AlpInvest Secondaries Funds VII, VI and AlpInvest Co-Investment Fund VII reflect a breakout of the commingled fund, which is part of the larger program vintage.

# **Liquidity and Capital Resources**

#### Historical Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have historically required limited capital resources to support the working capital and operating needs of our business. Our management fees have largely covered our operating costs and all realized performance allocations, after covering the related compensation, are available for distribution to equityholders. Approximately 95% – 97% of all capital commitments to our funds have been provided by our fund investors, with the remaining amount typically funded by our senior Carlyle professionals, advisors and other professionals.

# Our Sources of Liquidity

We have multiple sources of liquidity to meet our capital needs, including cash on hand, annual cash flows, accumulated earnings and funds from our senior revolving credit facility, which has \$775.0 million of available capacity as of December 31, 2020. We believe these sources will be sufficient to fund our capital needs for at least the next twelve months.

Cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents were approximately \$987.6 million at December 31, 2020. However, a portion of this cash is allocated for specific business purposes, including, but not limited to, (i) performance allocations and incentive fee-related cash that has been received but not yet distributed as performance allocations and incentive fee related compensation and amounts owed to non-controlling interests; (ii) proceeds received from realized investments that are allocable to non-controlling interests; and (iii) regulatory capital.

*Corporate Treasury Investments*. These investments represent investments in U.S. Treasury and government agency obligations, commercial paper, certificates of deposit, other investment grade securities and other investments with original

maturities of greater than three months when purchased. There were no corporate treasury investments as of December 31, 2020.

After deducting cash amounts allocated to the specific requirements mentioned above, the remaining cash and cash equivalents is approximately \$880 million as of December 31, 2020. This remaining amount will be used towards our primary liquidity needs, as outlined in the next section. This amount does not take into consideration ordinary course of business payables and reserves for specific business purposes.

Senior Revolving Credit Facility. On February 11, 2019, the Company entered into an amendment and restatement of its senior revolving credit facility. The capacity under the revolving credit facility is \$775.0 million and is scheduled to mature on February 11, 2024. Principal amounts outstanding under the amended and restated revolving credit facility accrue interest, at the option of the borrowers, either (a) at an alternate base rate plus an applicable margin not to exceed 0.50% per annum, or (b) at LIBOR plus an applicable margin not to exceed 1.50% per annum (1.40% at December 31, 2020).

The senior revolving credit facility is unsecured. We are required to maintain management fee earning assets (as defined in the amended and restated senior revolving credit facility) of at least \$75.0 billion and a total leverage ratio of less than 3.0 to 1.0, in each case, tested on a quarterly basis. Non-compliance with any of the financial or non-financial covenants without cure or waiver would constitute an event of default under the senior revolving credit facility. An event of default resulting from a breach of certain financial or non-financial covenants may result, at the option of the lenders, in an acceleration of the principal and interest outstanding, and a termination of the senior revolving credit facility. The senior credit facility also contains other customary events of default, including defaults based on events of bankruptcy and insolvency, nonpayment of principal, interest or fees when due, breach of specified covenants, change in control and material inaccuracy of representations and warranties.

Global Credit Revolving Credit Facility. In December 2018, certain subsidiaries of the Company established a \$250.0 million revolving line of credit, primarily intended to support certain lending activities within the Global Credit segment. The credit facility includes a \$125.0 million line of credit with a one-year team, which was amended in December 2020 to extend its maturity to December 2021, and a \$125.0 million line of credit with a three-year term. Principal amounts outstanding under the facility accrue interest, at the option of the borrowers, either (a) at an alternate base rate plus applicable margin not to exceed 1.00%, or (b) at the Eurocurrency rate plus an applicable margin not to exceed 2.00%. As of December 31, 2020, there was no outstanding balance under this facility.

CLO Borrowings. For certain of our CLOs, the Company finances a portion of its investment in the CLOs through the proceeds received from term loans with financial institutions. The Company's outstanding CLO term loans were \$356.1 million and \$324.9 million at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The CLO term loans are secured by the Company's investments in the respective CLO, have a general unsecured interest in the Carlyle entity that manages the CLO, and generally do not have recourse to any other Carlyle entity. As of December 31, 2020, \$336.5 million of these loans are secured by investments attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc. See Note 7 of our financial statements for more information on our CLO term loans.

Senior Notes. Certain indirect finance subsidiaries of the Company have issued senior notes, on which interest is payable semi-annually, as discussed below. The senior notes are unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the respective subsidiary and are fully and unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, by the Company and each of the Carlyle Holdings partnerships. The indentures governing each of the senior notes contain customary covenants that, among other things, limit the issuers' and the guarantors' ability, subject to certain exceptions, to incur indebtedness secured by liens on voting stock or profit participating equity interests of their subsidiaries or merge, consolidate or sell, transfer or lease assets. The notes also contain customary events of default. All or a portion of the notes may be redeemed at our option, in whole or in part, at any time and from time to time, prior to their stated maturity, at the make-whole redemption price set forth in the notes. If a change of control repurchase event occurs, the notes are subject to repurchase at the repurchase price as set forth in the notes.

3.500% Senior Notes. In September 2019, Carlyle Finance Subsidiary L.L.C. issued \$425.0 million of 3.500% senior notes due September 19, 2029 at 99.841% of par.

<u>5.650% Senior Notes</u>. In September 2018, Carlyle Finance L.L.C. issued \$350.0 million of 5.650% senior notes due September 15, 2048 at 99.914% of par.

3.875% Senior Notes. In January 2013, Carlyle Holdings Finance L.L.C. issued \$500.0 million of 3.875% senior notes due February 1, 2023 at 99.966% of par. In September 2018, we completed a tender offer to purchase \$250.0 million in aggregate principal amount of these notes. As of December 31, 2020, \$250.0 million of these notes remain outstanding.

5.625% Senior Notes. In March 2013, Carlyle Holdings II Finance L.L.C. issued \$400.0 million of 5.625% senior notes due March 30, 2043 at 99.583% of par. In March 2014, an additional \$200.0 million of these notes were issued at 104.315% of par and are treated as a single class with the already outstanding \$400.0 million aggregate principal amount of these notes.

*Promissory Notes.* In June 2017, as part of the settlement with investors in two commodities investment vehicles managed by an affiliate of the Company (discussed in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements), the Company issued a series of promissory notes, aggregating to \$53.9 million, to the investors of these commodities investment vehicles. Interest on these promissory notes accrued at the three month LIBOR plus 2%. These promissory notes matured on July 15, 2019 and were fully repaid as of that date.

Obligations of CLOs. Loans payable of the Consolidated Funds represent amounts due to holders of debt securities issued by the CLOs. We are not liable for any loans payable of the CLOs. Several of the CLOs issued preferred shares representing the most subordinated interest, however these tranches are mandatorily redeemable upon the maturity dates of the senior secured loans payable, and as a result have been classified as liabilities under U.S. GAAP, and are included in loans payable of Consolidated Funds in our consolidated balance sheets. Loans payable of the CLOs are collateralized by the assets held by the CLOs and the assets of one CLO may not be used to satisfy the liabilities of another. This collateral consists of cash and cash equivalents, corporate loans, corporate bonds and other securities.

*Preferred Units.* In September 2017, we issued 16 million of our Preferred Units for net proceeds of approximately \$387.5 million. In October 2019, we completed the redemption of our Preferred Units for \$25.339757 per unit, which is equal to \$25.25 per preferred unit plus declared and unpaid distributions to, but excluding, the redemption date.

Realized Performance Allocation Revenues. Another source of liquidity we may use to meet our capital needs is the realized performance allocation revenues generated by our investment funds. Performance allocations are generally realized when an underlying investment is profitably disposed of and the fund's cumulative returns are in excess of the preferred return. For certain funds, performance allocations are realized once all invested capital and expenses have been returned to the fund's investors and the fund's cumulative returns are in excess of the preferred return. Incentive fees earned on our CLO vehicles generally are paid upon the dissolution of such vehicles.

Our accrued performance allocations by segment as of December 31, 2020, gross and net of accrued giveback obligations, are set forth below:

Asset Class		Accrued Performance Allocations		Accrued Giveback Obligation	Net Accrued Performance Revenues
			(1	Dollars in millions)	
Global Private Equity	\$	3,926.1	\$	(18.4)	\$ 3,907.7
Global Credit		132.3		(0.3)	132.0
Investment Solutions (1)		910.2		_	910.2
Total	\$	4,968.6	\$	(18.7)	\$ 4,949.9
Less: Accrued performance allocation-related compensation					 (2,534.4)
Less: Deferred taxes on certain foreign accrued performance allocations					(56.0)
Less: Net accrued performance allocations attributable to non-controlling interest	ests in	consolidated entities	5		(11.7)
Net accrued performance revenues before timing differences					2,347.8
Less/Plus: Timing differences between the period when accrued performance recollected/distributed $$	evenu	es are realized and th	e pe	riod they are	(16.5)
Net accrued performance revenues attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc.					\$ 2,331.3

(1) The Company's primary and secondary investments in external funds are generally valued based on its proportionate share of the net assets provided by the third party general partners of the underlying fund partnerships based on the most recent available information which typically has a lag of up to 90 days. As a result, amounts presented may not include the impact of economic activity in the current quarter.

The net accrued performance revenues attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc., excluding realized amounts, related to our carry funds and our other vehicles as of December 31, 2020, as well as the carry fund appreciation (depreciation), is set forth below by segment (Dollars in millions):

	Carry Fund	t Accrued formance		
	FY 2018	FY 2019	FY 2020	 evenues
Overall Carry Fund Appreciation/(Depreciation)	9%	9%	10%	
Global Private Equity <sup>(2)</sup>				\$ 2,114.8
Corporate Private Equity	5%	8%	19%	1,813.7
Real Estate	8%	16%	8%	298.3
Natural Resources	6%	(5)%	(16)%	6.4
Global Credit Carry Funds	5%	1%	(2)%	71.6
Investment Solutions Carry Funds (3)	19%	15%	10%	144.9
Net Accrued Performance Revenues				\$ 2,331.3

- (1) Appreciation/(Depreciation) represents unrealized gain/(loss) for the period on a total return basis before fees and expenses. The percentage of return is calculated as: ending remaining investment fair market value plus net investment outflow (sales proceeds minus net purchases) minus beginning remaining investment fair market value divided by beginning remaining investment fair market value. Amounts are fund only, and do not include coinvestments.
- (2) Includes \$3.6 million of net accrued clawback from our Legacy Energy funds.
- (3) Our primary and secondary investments in external funds are generally valued based on the proportionate share of the net assets provided by third party general partners of the underlying fund partnership based on the most recent available information which typically has a lag of up to 90 days. As a result, amounts presented may not include the impact of economic activity in the current quarter.

Realized Principal Investment Income. Another source of liquidity we may use to meet our capital needs is the realized principal investment income generated by our equity method investments and other principal investments. Principal investment income is realized when we redeem all or a portion of our investment or when we receive or are due cash income, such as dividends or distributions. Certain of the investments attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc. (excluding certain general partner interests, strategic investments, and investments in certain CLOs) may be sold at our discretion as a source of liquidity.

Investments as of December 31, 2020 consist of the following:

	 estments in rlyle Funds	In	Investments in NGP (1)		Total
		(Doll	ars in millions)		
Investments, excluding performance allocations	\$ 2,038.8	\$	373.5	\$	2,412.3
Less: Amounts attributable to non-controlling interests in consolidated entities	(214.3)		_		(214.3)
Plus: Investments in Consolidated Funds, eliminated in consolidation	170.8		_		170.8
Less: Strategic equity method investments in NGP Management	_		(373.5)		(373.5)
Total investments attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc., exclusive of NGP Management	\$ 1,995.3	\$	_	\$	1,995.3

(1) See Note 5 to our consolidated financial statements.

Our investments as of December 31, 2020 can be further attributed as follows:

Investments in Carlyle Funds, excluding CLOs:	
Global Private Equity funds <sup>(1)</sup>	\$ 676.3
Global Credit funds <sup>(2)</sup>	671.3
Investment Solutions funds <sup>(3)</sup>	57.9
Total investments in Carlyle Funds, excluding CLOs	1,405.5
Investments in CLOs	502.5
Other investments	87.3
Total investments attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc.	1,995.3
CLO loans and other borrowings attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc. (4)	(336.5)
Total investments attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc., net of CLO loans and other borrowings $$	\$ 1,658.8

- (1) Excludes our strategic equity method investment in NGP Management and investments in NGP general partners accrued performance allocations.
- (2) Includes the Company's investment in Fortitude Re, which was contributed to Carlyle FRL, a Carlyle-affiliated investment fund, in June 2020 as discussed in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.
- (3) The Company's primary and secondary investments in external funds are generally valued based on its proportionate share of the net assets provided by the third party general partners of the underlying fund partnerships based on the most recent available information which typically has a lag of up to 90 days. As a result, amounts presented may not include the impact of economic activity in the current quarter.
- (4) Of the \$356.1 million in total CLO term loans outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and as disclosed in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements, \$336.5 million are collateralized by investments attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc.

#### **Our Liquidity Needs**

We generally use our working capital and cash flows to invest in growth initiatives, service our debt, fund the working capital needs of our business and investment funds and pay dividends to our common stockholders.

In the future, we expect that our primary liquidity needs will be to:

- provide capital to facilitate the growth of our existing business lines;
- provide capital to facilitate our expansion into new, complementary business lines, including acquisitions;
- pay operating expenses, including compensation and compliance costs and other obligations as they arise;
- fund costs of litigation and contingencies, including related legal costs;
- fund the capital investments of Carlyle in our funds;
- fund capital expenditures;
- repay borrowings and related interest costs and expenses;
- · pay earnouts and contingent cash consideration associated with our acquisitions and strategic investments;
- pay income taxes, including corporate income taxes;
- pay dividends to our common stockholders in accordance with our dividend policy;
- make installment payments under the deferred obligation to former holders of Carlyle Holdings partnership units, which were exchanged in the Conversion, and;
- · repurchase our common stock.

*Preferred Unit Distributions and Redemption.* With respect to distribution year 2019, the Board of Directors declared a distribution to preferred unitholders totaling approximately \$19.1 million. In October 2019, we completed the redemption of our preferred units for \$25.339757 per unit, which is equal to \$25.25 per Preferred Unit plus declared and unpaid distributions to, but excluding, the redemption date.

Common Stockholder Dividends. Our intention is to pay dividends to holders of our common stock in an amount of \$0.25 per share of common stock (\$1.00 per share annually), subject to the discretion of our Board of Directors and compliance with applicable law. For U.S. federal income tax purposes, any dividends we pay following the Conversion generally will be treated as qualified dividend income (generally taxable to U.S. individual stockholders at capital gain rates) paid by a domestic corporation to the extent paid out of current or accumulated earnings and profits, as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes, with any excess dividends treated as return of capital to the extent of the stockholder's basis. The declaration and payment of dividends to holders of our common stock will be at the sole discretion of our Board of Directors, and our dividend policy may be changed at any time.

In 2020, our Board of Directors has declared cumulative dividends to common stockholders totaling approximately \$352.6 million, or \$1.00 per common share, consisting of the following:

Common Stock Dividends - Dividend Year 2020

Quarter	Dividend per Common Share	Dividend to Common Stockholders <sup>(1)</sup>	Record Date	Payment Date
Q1 2020	\$ 0.25 \$	87.2	May 12, 2020	May 19, 2020
Q2 2020	0.25	88.3	August 11, 2020	August 18, 2020
Q3 2020	0.25	88.4	November 10, 2020	November 17, 2020
Q4 2020	0.25	88.7	February 16, 2021	February 23, 2021
Total	\$ 1.00 \$	352.6		

In 2019, our Board of Directors declared a dividend of approximately \$194.8 million to common stockholders, consisting of the following:

Common Stock Dividends - Dividend Year 2019

Quarter	dend per non Share	Dividend to Common Stockholders	Record Date	Payment Date
Q1 2019	\$ 0.19 \$	21.0	May 13, 2019	May 20, 2019
Q2 2019	0.43	49.9	August 12, 2019	August 19, 2019
Q3 2019	0.31	36.5	November 12, 2019	November 19, 2019
Q4 2019	0.25	87.4	February 18, 2020	February 25, 2020
Total	\$ 1.18 \$	194.8		

<sup>(1)</sup> The dividend to common stockholders for Q4 2019 reflects the exchange of all Carlyle Holdings partnership units to shares of common stock in The Carlyle Group Inc. in connection with the Conversion on January 1, 2020.

In 2018, our Board of Directors declared a dividend of approximately \$144.1 million to common stockholders, consisting of the following:

Common Stock Dividends - Dividend Year 2018

Quarter	idend per mon Share	Dividend to Common Stockholders	Record Date	Payment Date
Q1 2018	\$ 0.27 \$	27.8	May 11, 2018	May 17, 2018
Q2 2018	0.22	23.3	August 13, 2018	August 17, 2018
Q3 2018	0.42	45.5	November 13, 2018	November 20, 2018
Q4 2018	0.43	47.5	February 19, 2019	February 26, 2019
Total	\$ 1.34 \$	144.1		

*Fund Commitments.* Generally, we intend to have Carlyle commit to fund approximately 0.75% of the capital commitments to our future carry funds, although we may elect to invest additional amounts in funds focused on new investment areas. We may, from time to time, exercise our right to purchase additional interests in our investment funds that become

available in the ordinary course of their operations. We expect our senior Carlyle professionals and employees to continue to make significant capital contributions to our funds based on their existing commitments, and to make capital commitments to future funds consistent with the level of their historical commitments. We also intend to make investments in our open-end funds and our CLO vehicles. Our investments in our European CLO vehicles will comply with the risk retention rules as discussed in "Risk Retention Rules" later in this section.

Since our inception through December 31, 2020, we and our senior Carlyle professionals, operating executives and other professionals have invested or committed to invest in or alongside our funds. Approximately 3% to 5% of all capital commitments to our funds are funded collectively by us and our senior Carlyle professionals, operating executives and other professionals.

The current unfunded commitment of Carlyle and our senior Carlyle professionals, operating executives and other professionals to our investment funds as of December 31, 2020, consisted of the following:

Asset Class		Unfunded Commitment
	(Doll	lars in millions)
Global Private Equity	\$	2,835.2
Global Credit		333.4
Investment Solutions		313.3
Total	\$	3,481.9

A substantial majority of the remaining commitments are expected to be funded by senior Carlyle professionals, operating executives and other professionals through our internal co-investment program. Of the \$3.5 billion of unfunded commitments, approximately \$3.0 billion is subscribed individually by senior Carlyle professionals, operating executives and other professionals, with the balance funded directly by the Company.

Repurchase Program. In December 2018, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to \$200 million of common stock and/or Carlyle Holdings units. In January 2020 our Board of Directors re-authorized the repurchase program with regard or common stock. This program authorizes the repurchase of shares of common stock from time to time in open market transactions, in privately negotiated transactions or otherwise. For the year ended December 31, 2020, we paid an aggregate of \$26.4 million to repurchase and retire approximately 1.1 million shares with all of the repurchases done via open market brokered transactions. As of December 31, 2020, \$139.1 million of repurchase capacity remained under the program. In February 2021, our Board of Directors replenished the repurchase program to its limit of \$200 million of common stock.

The significant captions and amounts from our consolidated statements of cash flows which include the effects of our Consolidated Funds and CLOs in accordance with U.S. GAAP are summarized below.

		Year Ended December 31,							
		2018							
			(Dollars in	millions)					
Statements of Cash Flows Data									
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities, including investments in Carlyle funds and Fortitude Re	\$	(169.2)	\$	358.6	\$	(343.5)			
Net cash used in investing activities		(61.2)		(27.8)		(99.1)			
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities		370.3		(149.2)		72.0			
Effect of foreign exchange rate change		21.7		8.1		(19.9)			
Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash	\$	161.6	\$	189.7	\$	(390.5)			

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities. Net cash used in operating activities was primarily driven by our earnings in the respective periods after adjusting for significant non-cash activity, including non-cash performance allocations and incentive fees, the related non-cash performance allocations and incentive fee related compensation, non-cash principal investment income, non-cash equity-based compensation, and depreciation, amortization and impairments, all of which are included in earnings.

Cash flows from operating activities for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, excluding the activities of our Consolidated Funds, were \$716.8 million, \$591.3 million and \$461.2 million, respectively. Operating cash inflows primarily include the receipt of management fees and realized performance allocations and incentive fees, while operating cash

outflows primarily include payments for operating expenses, including compensation and general, administrative, and other expenses. During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, net cash provided by operating activities primarily includes the receipt of management fees and realized performance allocations and incentive fees, totaling approximately \$2.1 billion, \$1.9 billion, and \$2.0 billion, respectively. These inflows were partially offset by payments for compensation and general, administrative, and other expenses of approximately \$1.6 billion, \$1.6 billion, and \$1.7 billion for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Cash used to purchase investments as well as the proceeds from the sale of such investments are reflected in our cash flows from operating activities as this investment activity is a normal part of our operations. During the year ended December 31, 2020, investment proceeds were \$307.5 million while investment purchases were \$350.9 million, including \$79.6 million related to a purchase price adjustment on our strategic investment in Fortitude Re. During the year ended December 31, 2019, investment proceeds were \$389.2 million while investment purchases were \$312.4 million. Investment proceeds in 2019 also included \$71.5 million received from the resolution of French tax litigation. During the year ended December 31, 2018, investment proceeds were \$893.4 million while investment purchases were \$867.4 million, which included cash outflows of \$393.8 million related to our investment in Fortitude Re.

The net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2020 also reflects the investment activity of our Consolidated Funds. For the year ended December 31, 2020, proceeds from the sales and settlements of investments by the Consolidated Funds were \$2.0 billion, while purchases of investments by the Consolidated Funds were \$3.1 billion. For the year ended December 31, 2019, proceeds from the sales and settlements of investments by the Consolidated Funds were \$2.1 billion, while purchases of investments by the Consolidated Funds were \$2.2 billion. For the year ended December 31, 2018, proceeds from the sales and settlements of investments by the Consolidated Funds were \$2.7 billion, while purchases of investments by the Consolidated Funds were \$3.7 billion.

*Net Cash Used In Investing Activities.* Our investing activities generally reflect cash used for acquisitions and fixed assets and software for internal use. Purchases of fixed assets were \$61.2 million, \$27.8 million and \$31.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2018, cash used in investing activities principally reflects the acquisition of Carlyle Aviation Partners.

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities. In 2020, we received net proceeds of \$294.1 million from borrowings under the revolving credit facilities, and repaid \$329.9 million, and paid \$68.8 million in January 2020 for the first installment of the deferred consideration payable to former Carlyle Holdings unitholders in connection with the Conversion. We also paid \$26.4 million to repurchase and retire 1.1 million shares of common stock. In 2019, we received net proceeds of \$420.6 million from the issuance of \$425.0 million of 3.500% senior notes, and \$41.0 million from the issuance of various CLO borrowings, paid \$405.4 million to repurchase our outstanding Preferred Units, paid \$34.5 million to repurchase 1.6 million units under our repurchase program and paid off a \$25.0 million term loan. In 2018, we received net proceeds of \$345.7 million from the issuance of \$350.0 million of 5.650% senior notes, paid \$255.1 million to repurchase \$250.0 million of 3.875% senior notes, and paid \$108.8 million to prepay the remaining balance outstanding under a promissory note to BNRI.

Dividends to our common stockholders were \$351.3 million, \$154.9 million, and \$129.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Distributions to the non-controlling interest holders in Carlyle Holdings were \$313.3 million and \$288.8 million the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The net (payments) borrowings on loans payable by our Consolidated Funds during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 were \$704.1 million, \$224.8 million, and \$818.0 million, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, contributions from non-controlling interest holders were \$210.0 million, \$57.8 million, and \$31.3 million, respectively, which relate primarily to contributions from the non-controlling interest holders in Consolidated Funds. For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, distributions to non-controlling interest holders were \$77.8 million, \$62.4 million, and \$105.2 million, respectively, which relate primarily to distributions to the non-controlling interest holders in Consolidated Funds.

# **Our Balance Sheet**

Total assets were \$15.6 billion at December 31, 2020, an increase of \$1.8 billion from December 31, 2019. The increase in total assets was primarily attributable to increases in Investments of consolidated funds of \$1.0 billion due to the formation of two CLOs during the year ended December 31, 2020, partially offset by the deconsolidation of the Renewable Energy fund. The increase in total assets was also driven by a \$576.5 million increase in investments, including accrued performance allocations, as well as a \$157.3 million increase in our lease right-of-use assets, net resulting from the start of our lease of our new New York office space in December 2020.

Total liabilities were \$12.7 billion at December 31, 2020, an increase of \$1,875.4 million from December 31, 2019. The increase in liabilities was primarily attributable to an increase in accrued compensation and benefits of \$726.1 million primarily due to an increase in accrued performance allocations-related compensation and loans payable of Consolidated Funds of \$856.3 million from December 31, 2019 to 2020, driven by the formation of two CLOs during the year ended December 31, 2020.

The assets and liabilities of the Consolidated Funds are generally held within separate legal entities and, as a result, the assets of the Consolidated Funds are not available to meet our liquidity requirements and similarly the liabilities of the Consolidated Funds are non-recourse to us. For example, as previously discussed, the CLO term loans generally are secured by the Company's investment in the CLO, have a general unsecured interest in the Carlyle entity that manages the CLO, and do not have recourse to any other Carlyle entity.

Our balance sheet without the effect of the Consolidated Funds can be seen in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. At December 31, 2020, our total assets were \$9.5 billion, including cash and cash equivalents totaling \$987.6 million and net accrued performance revenues of \$2.3 billion.

# **Unconsolidated Entities**

Certain of our global private equity funds have entered into lines of credit secured by their investors' unpaid capital commitments or by a pledge of the equity of the underlying investment. These lines of credit are used primarily to reduce the overall number of capital calls to investors or for working capital needs. In certain instances, however, they may be used for other investment related activities, including serving as bridge financing for investments. The degree of leverage employed varies among portfolio companies.

# **Off-balance Sheet Arrangements**

In the normal course of business, we enter into various off-balance sheet arrangements including sponsoring and owning limited or general partner interests in consolidated and non-consolidated funds, entering into derivative transactions, and entering into guarantee arrangements. We also have ongoing capital commitment arrangements with certain of our consolidated and non-consolidated funds. We do not have any other off-balance sheet arrangements that would require us to fund losses or guarantee target returns to investors in any of our other investment funds.

For further information regarding our off-balance sheet arrangements, see Note 2 and Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

# **Contractual Obligations**

The following table sets forth information relating to our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2020 on a consolidated basis and on a basis excluding the obligations of the Consolidated Funds:

	2021	2022-2023 2024-2025		2024-2025	Thereafter		Total	
	(Dollars in millions)							
Debt obligations (including senior notes) <sup>(a)</sup>	\$ _	\$	271.3	\$	84.8	\$	1,624.7	\$ 1,980.8
Interest payable <sup>(b)</sup>	86.9		163.5		145.6		1,087.5	1,483.5
Other consideration <sup>(c)</sup>	121.0		223.7		68.8		_	413.5
Lease obligations <sup>(d)</sup>	47.8		116.3		101.6		397.4	663.1
Capital commitments to Carlyle funds <sup>(e)</sup>	3,501.4		_		114.9		_	3,616.3
Tax receivable agreement payments <sup>(f)</sup>	_		22.1		6.2		69.8	98.1
Loans payable of Consolidated Funds <sup>(g)</sup>	95.1		190.3		190.5		6,126.4	6,602.3
Unfunded commitments of the CLOs <sup>(h)</sup>	5.1		_		_		_	5.1
Consolidated contractual obligations	3,857.3		987.2		712.4		9,305.8	14,862.7
Loans payable of Consolidated Funds <sup>(g)</sup>	(95.1)		(190.3)		(190.5)		(6,126.4)	(6,602.3)
Capital commitments to Carlyle funds <sup>(e)</sup>	(2,959.8)		_		_		_	(2,959.8)
Unfunded commitments of the CLOs <sup>(h)</sup>	(5.1)		_		_		_	(5.1)
Carlyle Operating Entities contractual obligations	\$ 797.3	\$	796.9	\$	521.9	\$	3,179.4	\$ 5,295.5

- (a) The table above assumes that no prepayments are made on the senior notes. The CLO terms loans are included in the table above based on the earlier of the stated maturity date or the date the CLO is expected to be dissolved. See Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements for the various maturity dates of the CLO term loans and senior notes.
- (b) The interest rates on the debt obligations as of December 31, 2020 consist of: 3.500% on \$425.0 million of senior notes, 5.650% on \$350 million of senior notes, 3.875% on \$250.0 million of senior notes, 5.625% on \$600.0 million of senior notes, and a range of approximately 1.58% to 2.63% for our CLO term loans. Interest payments assume that no prepayments are made and loans are held until maturity with the exception of the CLO term loans, which are based on the earlier of the stated maturity date or the date the CLO is expected to be dissolved.
- (c) These obligations represent our estimate of amounts to be paid on the contingent cash and other obligations associated with our acquisition of Carlyle Aviation Partners (see Note 3) and other obligations, as well as the deferred payment obligations described below. In connection with the Conversion, former holders of Carlyle Holdings partnership units will receive cash payments aggregating to approximately \$344 million, which is equivalent to \$1.50 per Carlyle Holdings partnership unit exchanged in the Conversion, payable in five annual installments of \$0.30, the first of which occurred during the first quarter of 2020. The payment obligations are unsecured obligations of the Company or a subsidiary thereof, subordinated in right of payment to indebtedness of the Company and its subsidiaries, and do not bear interest.
- (d) We lease office space in various countries around the world and maintain our headquarters in Washington, D.C., where we have a non-cancelable lease agreement expiring on March 31, 2030. We entered into a non-cancelable lease agreement expiring in 2036 for new office space in New York City that commenced in 2020. Our office leases in other locations expire in various years through 2032. The amounts in this table represent the minimum lease payments required over the term of the lease.
- (e) These obligations generally represent commitments by us to fund a portion of the purchase price paid for each investment made by our funds. Commitments to the funds are generally due on demand and are therefore presented in the less than one year category. A substantial majority of these investments is expected to be funded by senior Carlyle professionals and other professionals through our internal co-investment program. Of the \$3.5 billion of unfunded commitments to the funds, approximately \$3.0 billion is subscribed individually by senior Carlyle professionals, advisors and other professionals, with the balance funded directly by the Company.
- (f) In connection with our initial public offering, we entered into a tax receivable agreement with the limited partners of the Carlyle Holdings partnerships whereby we agreed to pay such limited partners 85% of the amount of cash tax savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state and local income tax realized as a result of increases in tax basis resulting from exchanges of Carlyle Holdings partnership units for common units of The Carlyle Group L.P. From and after the consummation of the Conversion, holders of Carlyle Holdings partnership units do not have any rights to payments under the tax receivable agreement except for payment obligations pre-existing at the time of the Conversion with respect to exchanges that occurred prior to the Conversion. These obligations are more than offset by the future cash tax savings that we are expected to realize.
- (g) These obligations represent amounts due to holders of debt securities issued by the consolidated CLO vehicles. These obligations include interest to be paid on debt securities issued by the consolidated CLO vehicles. Interest payments assume that no prepayments are made and loans are held until maturity. For debt securities with rights only to the residual value of the CLO and no stated interest, no interest payments were included in this calculation. Interest payments on variable-rate debt securities are based on interest rates in effect as of December 31, 2020, at spreads to market rates pursuant to the debt agreements, and range from 0.40% to 8.03%.
- (h) These obligations represent commitments of the CLOs to fund certain investments. These amounts are generally due on demand and are therefore presented in the less than one year category.

Excluded from the table above are liabilities for uncertain tax positions of \$24.0 million at December 31, 2020 as we are unable to estimate when such amounts may be paid.

# Contingent Cash Payments For Business Acquisitions and Strategic Investments

We have certain contingent cash obligations associated with our acquisition of Carlyle Aviation Partners and our strategic investment in Fortitude Re. For our acquisition of Carlyle Aviation Partners, the contingent cash payments relate to an earn-out of up to \$150.0 million that is payable upon the achievement of certain revenue and earnings performance targets during 2020 through 2025, which will be accounted for as compensation expense. We accrue the compensation liability over the service period.

For our strategic investment in Fortitude Re, the contingent cash payment relates to performance-based contingent cash consideration payable to Carlyle FRL for further payment to AIG following December 31, 2023. Based on the terms of the underlying contracts, the maximum amount that could be paid from contingent cash obligations associated with the acquisition of Carlyle Aviation Partners and the strategic investment in Fortitude Re as of December 31, 2020 is \$245.0 million versus amounts recognized on the balance sheet of \$145.6 million.

# **Risk Retention Rules**

We will continue to comply with the risk retention rules governing CLOs issued in Europe for which we are a sponsor, which require a combination of capital from our balance sheet, commitments from senior Carlyle professionals, and/or third party financing.

For additional information related to the U.S. Risk Retention Rules, see "—Financial regulatory changes in the United States could adversely affect our business and the possibility of increased regulatory focus could result in additional burdens and expenses on our business" within Item 1A.

# Guarantees

See Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for information related to our material guarantees.

# **Indemnifications**

In many of our service contracts, we agree to indemnify the third-party service provider under certain circumstances. The terms of the indemnities vary from contract to contract, and the amount of indemnification liability, if any, cannot be determined and has not been included in the estimate above or recorded in our consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2020.

# **Contingent Obligations (Giveback)**

Carried interest is ultimately realized when: (1) an underlying investment is profitably disposed of, (2) certain costs borne by the limited partner investors have been reimbursed, (3) the fund's cumulative returns are in excess of the preferred return and (4) we have decided to collect carry rather than return additional capital to limited partner investors. Realized carried interest may be required to be returned by us in future periods if the fund's investment values decline below certain levels. When the fair value of a fund's investments remains constant or falls below certain return hurdles, previously recognized performance allocations are reversed.

See Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information related to our contingent obligations (giveback).

# **Other Contingencies**

In the ordinary course of business, we are a party to litigation, investigations, inquiries, employment-related matters, disputes and other potential claims. We discuss certain of these matters in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

# **Carlyle Common Stock and Carlyle Holdings Partnership Units**

Rollforwards of shares of our common stock outstanding and Carlyle Holdings partnership units for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

	Shares as of December 31, 2019	Shares Issued <sup>(1)</sup>	Shares Forfeited	Shares Exchanged	Shares Repurchased / Retired	Shares as of December 31, 2020
The Carlyle Group Inc. common shares	117,840,651	7,452,114		229,318,248	(1,090,437)	353,520,576
Carlyle Holdings partnership units	229,318,248	_	_	(229,318,248)	_	_
Total	347,158,899	7,452,114			(1,090,437)	353,520,576

	Shares as of December 31, 2018	Shares Issued <sup>(1)</sup>	Shares Forfeited	Shares Exchanged	Shares Repurchased / Retired	Shares as of December 31, 2019
The Carlyle Group Inc. common shares	107,746,443	10,063,471		1,659,588	(1,628,851)	117,840,651
Carlyle Holdings partnership units	230,977,836	_	_	(1,659,588)	_	229,318,248
Total	338,724,279	10,063,471			(1,628,851)	347,158,899

<sup>(1)</sup> Units issued include restricted common units and units issued and delivered in connection with our equity method investment in NGP.

The Carlyle Group Inc. common stock issued during the period presented in the tables above relate to the vesting of the Company's restricted stock units and shares issued and delivered in connection with our equity method investment in NGP during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.

The Carlyle Holdings partnership units exchanged during the year ended December 31, 2020 relate to the exchange of Carlyle Holdings partnership units for an equivalent number of shares of common stock of the Company on January 1, 2020 pursuant to the Conversion. The Carlyle Holdings partnership units exchanged during the year ended December 31, 2019 relate to the exchange of Carlyle Holdings partnership units held by NGP and certain limited partners for shares of common stock on a one-for-one basis. Beginning with the second quarter of 2017, senior Carlyle professionals were able to exchange their Carlyle Holdings partnership units for shares of common stock on a quarterly basis, subject to the terms of the Exchange Agreement.

The Carlyle Group Inc. common stock repurchased during the period presented in the tables above relate to shares repurchased during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 and subsequently retired as part of our stock repurchase programs.

The total shares as of December 31, 2020 as shown above exclude approximately 1.3 million shares of common stock in connection with the vesting of restricted stock units subsequent to December 31, 2020 that will participate in the common stockholder dividend that will be paid.

# **Critical Accounting Policies**

*Principles of Consolidation.* The Company consolidates all entities that it controls either through a majority voting interest or as the primary beneficiary of variable interest entities ("VIEs"). The Company describes the policies and procedures it uses in evaluating whether an entity is consolidated in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. As part of its consolidation procedures, the Company evaluates: (1) whether it holds a variable interest in an entity, (2) whether the entity is a VIE, and (3) whether the Company's involvement would make it the primary beneficiary.

- In evaluating whether the Company holds a variable interest, fees (including management fees, incentive fees and performance allocations) that are customary and commensurate with the level of services provided, and where the Company does not hold other economic interests in the entity that would absorb more than an insignificant amount of the expected losses or returns of the entity, are not considered variable interests. The Company considers all economic interests, including indirect interests, to determine if a fee is considered a variable interest.
- For those entities where the Company holds a variable interest, the Company determines whether each of these entities qualifies as a VIE and, if so, whether or not the Company is the primary beneficiary. The assessment of whether the entity is a VIE is generally performed qualitatively, which requires judgment. These judgments include: (a) determining whether the equity investment at risk is sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support, (b) evaluating whether the equity holders, as a group, can make decisions that have a significant effect on the economic performance of the entity, (c) determining whether two or more parties' equity interests should be aggregated, and (d) determining whether the equity investors have proportionate voting rights to their obligations to absorb losses or rights to receive returns from an entity.
- For entities that are determined to be VIEs, the Company consolidates those entities where it has concluded it is the primary beneficiary. The primary beneficiary is defined as the variable interest holder with (a) the power to direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly impact the entity's economic performance and (b) the obligation to absorb losses of the entity or the right to receive benefits from the entity that could potentially be significant to the VIE. In evaluating whether the Company is the primary beneficiary, the Company evaluates its economic interests in the entity held either directly or indirectly by the Company.

Changes to these judgments could result in a change in the consolidation conclusion for a legal entity.

Entities that do not qualify as VIEs are generally assessed for consolidation as voting interest entities. Under the voting interest entity model, the Company consolidates those entities it controls through a majority voting interest.

Performance Allocations. Performance allocations consist principally of the allocation of profits from certain of the funds to which the Company is entitled (commonly known as carried interest). The Company is generally entitled to a 20% allocation (which can vary by fund) of the net realized income or gain as a carried interest after returning the invested capital, the allocation of preferred returns and return of certain fund costs (generally subject to catch-up provisions as set forth in the fund limited partnership agreement). Carried interest is ultimately realized when: (i) an underlying investment is profitably disposed of, (ii) certain costs borne by the limited partner investors have been reimbursed, (iii) the fund's cumulative returns are in excess of the preferred return and (iv) the Company has decided to collect carry rather than return additional capital to limited partner investors.

While carried interest is recognized upon appreciation of the funds' investment values above certain return hurdles set forth in each respective partnership agreement, the Company recognizes revenues attributable to performance allocations based upon the amount that would be due pursuant to the fund partnership agreement at each period end as if the funds were terminated at that date. Accordingly, the amount recognized as performance allocations reflects the Company's share of the gains and losses of the associated funds' underlying investments measured at their then-current fair values relative to the fair values as of the end of the prior period. Because of the inherent uncertainty, these estimated values may differ significantly

from the values that would have been used had a ready market for the investments existed, and it is reasonably possible that the difference could be material. If, at December 31, 2020, all of the investments held by the Company's funds were deemed worthless, a possibility that management views as remote, the amount of realized and distributed carried interest subject to potential giveback would be \$0.5 billion, on an after-tax basis where applicable.

See Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for information related to performance allocations for various fund types, preferred return hurdle rates, the timing of performance allocation recognition in investment income, and the potential for performance allocation income reversal.

Performance Allocation Related Compensation. A portion of the performance allocations earned is due to employees and advisers of the Company. These amounts are accounted for as compensation expense in conjunction with the recognition of the related performance allocation revenue and, until paid, are recognized as a component of the accrued compensation and benefits liability. Accordingly, upon a reversal of performance allocation revenue, the related compensation expense, if any, is also reversed.

Income Taxes. On January 1, 2020, the Company converted from The Carlyle Group L.P., a Delaware limited partnership, to The Carlyle Group Inc., a Delaware corporation. As a result, all of the income before provision for income taxes attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc. is subject to U.S. federal (and state and local) corporate income taxes. Based on applicable federal, foreign, state and local tax laws, the Company records a provision for income taxes for certain entities. Tax positions taken by the Company are subject to periodic audit by U.S. federal, state, local and foreign taxing authorities.

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future consequences of events that have been included in the financial statements or tax returns. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the financial statement reporting and the tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the period in which the difference is expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in the period of the change in the provision for income taxes. Further, deferred tax assets are recognized for the expected realization of available net operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. A valuation allowance is recorded on the Company's gross deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that such asset will not be realized. When evaluating the realizability of the Company's deferred tax assets, all evidence, both positive and negative, is evaluated. Items considered in this analysis include the ability to carry back losses, the reversal of temporary differences, tax planning strategies, and expectations of future earnings. The Company has approximately \$97 million of deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2020. Changes in judgment as it relates to the realizability of these assets, as well as potential changes in corporate tax rates would have the effect of significantly reducing the value of the deferred tax assets.

The Conversion resulted in a step-up in the tax basis of certain assets that will be recovered as those assets are sold or the basis is amortized. We recorded an estimated net deferred tax asset of \$262.1 million relating to this step-up in tax basis. The Conversion and subsequent exchange of Carlyle Holdings units for an equivalent number of shares of common stock of the Company also resulted in an estimated net reduction of the deferred tax asset of \$388.1 million. This amount was generated by: (1) deferred tax liabilities on investments and accrued performance revenue allocations, net of related compensation, which were not previously subject to U.S. corporate income tax, (2) an increase in the historical net deferred tax assets reflecting deferred tax amounts previously allocated to private unitholders, and (3) a decrease in the historical net deferred tax assets reflecting the impact of reducing our effective state tax rate under the corporate structure. Together with the estimated step-up in tax basis, the Conversion resulted in an estimated net reduction to the Company's net deferred tax asset of \$126.0 million due to the Conversion. See Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more information regarding the Conversion.

Under U.S. GAAP for income taxes, the amount of tax benefit to be recognized is the amount of benefit that is "more likely than not" to be sustained upon examination. The Company analyzes its tax filing positions in all of the U.S. federal, state, local and foreign tax jurisdictions where it is required to file income tax returns, as well as for all open tax years in these jurisdictions. If, based on this analysis, the Company determines that uncertainties in tax positions exist, a liability is established, which is included in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities in the consolidated financial statements. The Company recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax positions in the provision for income taxes. If recognized, the entire amount of unrecognized tax positions would be recorded as a reduction in the provision for income taxes.

*Fair Value Measurement.* U.S. GAAP establishes a hierarchical disclosure framework which ranks the observability of market price inputs used in measuring financial instruments at fair value. The observability of inputs is impacted by a number of factors, including the type of financial instrument, the characteristics specific to the financial instrument and the state of the

marketplace, including the existence and transparency of transactions between market participants. Financial instruments with readily available quoted prices, or for which fair value can be measured from quoted prices in active markets, will generally have a higher degree of market price observability and a lesser degree of judgment applied in determining fair value.

Financial instruments measured and reported at fair value are classified and disclosed based on the observability of inputs used in the determination of fair values, as follows:

*Level I* — inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices available in active markets for identical instruments as of the reporting date. The type of financial instruments included in Level I include unrestricted securities, including equities and derivatives, listed in active markets. The Company does not adjust the quoted price for these instruments, even in situations where the Company holds a large position and a sale could reasonably impact the quoted price.

Level II — inputs to the valuation methodology are other than quoted prices in active markets, which are either directly or indirectly observable as of the reporting date. The type of financial instruments in this category includes less liquid and restricted securities listed in active markets, securities traded in other than active markets, government and agency securities, and certain over-the-counter derivatives where the fair value is based on observable inputs.

Level III — inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to overall fair value measurement. The inputs into the determination of fair value require significant management judgment or estimation. Financial instruments that are included in this category include investments in privately-held entities, non-investment grade residual interests in securitizations, collateralized loan obligations, and certain over-the-counter derivatives where the fair value is based on unobservable inputs.

In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, the determination of which category within the fair value hierarchy is appropriate for any given financial instrument is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Company's assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment and considers factors specific to the financial instrument.

In the absence of observable market prices, the Company values its investments using valuation methodologies applied on a consistent basis. For some investments little market activity may exist. Management's determination of fair value is then based on the best information available in the circumstances and may incorporate management's own assumptions and involves a significant degree of judgment, taking into consideration a combination of internal and external factors, including the appropriate risk adjustments for non-performance and liquidity risks. Investments for which market prices are not observable include private investments in the equity of operating companies and real estate properties, and certain debt positions. The valuation technique for each of these investments is described in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The valuation methodologies can involve subjective judgments, and the fair value of assets established pursuant to such methodologies may be incorrect, which could result in the misstatement of fund performance and accrued performance allocations. Because there is significant uncertainty in the valuation of, or in the stability of the value of, illiquid investments, the fair values of such investments as reflected in an investment fund's net asset value do not necessarily reflect the prices that would be obtained by us on behalf of the investment fund when such investments are realized. Realizations at values significantly lower than the values at which investments have been reflected in prior fund net asset values would result in reduced earnings or losses for the applicable fund, the loss of potential performance allocations and incentive fees. Changes in values attributed to investments from quarter to quarter may result in volatility in the net asset values and results of operations that we report from period to period. Also, a situation where asset values turn out to be materially different than values reflected in prior fund net asset values could cause investors to lose confidence in us, which could in turn result in difficulty in raising additional funds. See "Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Company — Valuation methodologies for certain assets in our funds can involve subjective judgments, and the fair value of assets established pursuant to such methodologies may be incorrect, which could result in the misstatement of fund performance and accrued performance allocations."

*Principal Equity-Method Investments*. The Company accounts for all investments in which it has or is otherwise presumed to have significant influence, including investments in the unconsolidated funds and strategic investments, using the equity method of accounting. The carrying value of equity-method investments is determined based on amounts invested by the Company, adjusted for the equity in earnings or losses of the investee allocated based on the respective partnership or other agreement, less distributions received. The Company evaluates its equity-method investments for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of such investments may not be recoverable.

Our equity-method investment in NGP entitles us to 55% of the management fee-related revenue of the NGP entities that serve as advisors to the NGP Energy Funds and is subject to impairment under the U.S. GAAP accounting for equity method investments. For example, challenges with fundraising or lower future management fees could cause an impairment of our investment in NGP in the future. As of December 31, 2020, we continue to believe that our investment in NGP is not impaired.

Equity-based Compensation. Compensation expense relating to the issuance of equity-based awards to Carlyle employees is measured at fair value on the grant date. The compensation expense for awards that vest over a future service period is recognized over the relevant service period on a straight-line basis. The compensation expense for awards that do not require future service is recognized immediately. Cash settled equity-based awards are classified as liabilities and are re-measured at the end of each reporting period. The compensation expense for awards that contain performance conditions is recognized when it is probable that the performance conditions will be achieved; in certain instances, such compensation expense may be recognized prior to the grant date of the award. The compensation expense for awards that contain market conditions is based on a grant-date fair value that factors in the probability that the market conditions will be achieved and is recognized over the requisite service period on a straight-line basis.

The Company recognizes equity-based award forfeitures in the period they occur as a reversal of previously recognized compensation expense.

Equity-based awards issued to non-employees are recognized as general, administrative and other expenses, except to the extent they are recognized as a part of equity method earnings because they are issued to employees of the Company's equity method investees.

In determining the aggregate fair value of any award grants, we make judgments as to the grant-date fair value, particularly the discount related to awards that do not participate in distributions during the vesting period.

*Intangible Assets and Goodwill.* The Company's intangible assets primarily consist of acquired contractual rights to earn future fee income, including management and advisory fees. Finite-lived intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives, which range from four to ten years, and are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable.

Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the identifiable net assets of businesses acquired and is recorded in the functional currency of the acquired entity. Goodwill is recognized as an asset and is reviewed for impairment annually as of October 1 and between annual tests when events and circumstances indicate that impairment may have occurred.

# **Recent Accounting Pronouncements**

We discuss recent accounting pronouncements in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

# ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Our primary exposure to market risk is related to our role as general partner or investment advisor to our investment funds and the sensitivities to movements in the fair value of their investments, including the effect on management fees, incentive fees, performance allocations and principal investment income.

Although our investment funds share many common themes, each of our asset management asset classes runs its own investment and risk management processes, subject to our overall risk tolerance and philosophy. The investment process of our investment funds involves a comprehensive due diligence approach, including review of reputation of shareholders and management, company size and sensitivity of cash flow generation, business sector and competitive risks, portfolio fit, exit risks and other key factors highlighted by the deal team. Key investment decisions are subject to approval by both the fund-level managing directors, as well as the investment committee, which is generally comprised of one or more of the three founding partners, one "sector" head, one or more advisors and senior investment professionals associated with that particular fund. Once an investment in a portfolio company has been made, our fund teams closely monitor the performance of the portfolio company, generally through frequent contact with management and the receipt of financial and management reports.

# **Effect on Fund Management Fees**

Management fees will only be directly affected by short-term changes in market conditions to the extent they are based on NAV or represent permanent impairments of value. These management fees will be increased (or reduced) in direct proportion to the effect of changes in the market value of our investments in the related funds. In addition, the terms of the governing agreements with respect to certain of our carry funds provide that the management fee base will be reduced when the aggregate fair market value of a fund's investments is below its cost. The proportion of our management fees that are based on NAV is dependent on the number and types of investment funds in existence and the current stage of each fund's life cycle.

# **Effect on Performance Allocations**

Performance allocations reflect revenue primarily from carried interest on our carry funds. In our discussion of "Key Financial Measures" and "Critical Accounting Policies", we disclose that performance allocations are recognized upon appreciation of the valuation of our funds' investments above certain return hurdles and are based upon the amount that would be due to Carlyle at each reporting date as if the funds were liquidated at their then-current fair values. Changes in the fair value of the funds' investments may materially impact performance allocations depending upon the respective funds' performance to date as compared to its hurdle rate and the related carry waterfall.

The following table summarizes the incremental impact, including our Consolidated Funds, of a 10% change in total remaining fair value by segment as of December 31, 2020 on our performance allocations revenue:

	 10% Increase in Total Remaining Fair Value		10% Decrease in Total Remaining Fair Value	
	(Dollars in millions)			
Global Private Equity	\$ 1,449.2	\$	(597.4)	
Global Credit	67.7		(82.6)	
Investment Solutions	180.3		(173.5)	
Total	\$ 1,697.2	\$	(853.5)	

The following table summarizes the incremental impact of a 10% change in Level III remaining fair value by segment as of December 31, 2020 on our performance allocations revenue:

	 10% Increase in Level III Remaining Fair Value		10% Decrease in Level III Remaining Fair Value	
	(Dollars in millions)			
Global Private Equity	\$ \$ 1,235.1 \$			
Global Credit	66.9		(82.0)	
Investment Solutions	170.4			
Total	\$ \$ 1,472.4 <b>\$</b>			

The effect of the variability in performance allocations revenue would be in part offset by performance allocation related compensation.

# Effect on Assets Under Management

Generally, our Fee-earning assets under management are not affected by changes in valuation. However, total assets under management is impacted by valuation changes to net asset value. The table below shows the remaining fair value and the percentage amount classified as Level III investments as defined within the fair value standards of U.S. GAAP:

	Remai	ning Fair Value	Classified as Level III Investments
		(Dollars in mi	llions)
Global Private Equity	\$	89,155	86 %
Global Credit (1)	\$	45,649	97 %
Investment Solutions	\$	34,489	94 %

(1) Comprised of approximately \$27.9 billion (100% Level III Investments) in our structured credit products, \$6.5 billion (91% Level III Investments) in our carry funds, \$6.6 billion (87% Level III Investments) in our managed accounts/other products, and \$4.6 billion (100% Level III Investments) in our direct lending products.

### **Exchange Rate Risk**

Our investment funds hold investments that are denominated in non-U.S. dollar currencies that may be affected by movements in the rate of exchange between the U.S. dollar and non-U.S. dollar currencies. Non-U.S. dollar denominated assets and liabilities are translated at year-end rates of exchange, and the consolidated statements of operations accounts are translated at rates of exchange in effect throughout the year. Additionally, a portion of our management fees are denominated in non-U.S. dollar currencies. We estimate that as of December 31, 2020, if the U.S. dollar strengthened 10% against all foreign currencies, the impact on our consolidated results of operations for the year then ended would be as follows: (a) fund management fees would increase by \$35.6 million, (b) performance allocations would increase by \$19.4 million and (c) principal investment income would increase by \$9.3 million.

# **Interest Rate Risk**

We have obligations under our CLO term loans that accrue interest at variable rates. Interest rate changes may therefore affect the amount of interest payments, future earnings and cash flows. The CLO term loans incur interest at EURIBOR or LIBOR plus an applicable rate. We do not have any interest rate swaps in place for these borrowings.

Based on our debt obligations payable as of December 31, 2020, we estimate that interest expense relating to variable rates would increase by approximately \$3.6 million on an annual basis in the event interest rates were to increase by one percentage point.

# Credit Risk

Certain of our investment funds hold derivative instruments that contain an element of risk in the event that the counterparties are unable to meet the terms of such agreements. We minimize our risk exposure by limiting the counterparties with which we enter into contracts to banks and investment banks who meet established credit and capital guidelines. We do not expect any counterparty to default on its obligations and therefore do not expect to incur any loss due to counterparty default.

# ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

# Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of The Carlyle Group Inc.

# **Opinion on the Financial Statements**

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Carlyle Group Inc. (the "Company", formerly The Carlyle Group L.P.) as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "consolidated financial statements"). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated February 11, 2021 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

# Adoption of ASU No. 2016-02

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method for accounting for leases in 2019 due to the adoption of ASU No. 2016-02, *Leases (Topic 842)*.

# **Basis for Opinion**

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

# **Critical Audit Matters**

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

# Measurement of principal equity method investments, including accrued performance allocations

Description of the matter

At December 31, 2020, the carrying value of the Company's investments totaled approximately \$7.4 billion and included principal equity method investments in sponsored unconsolidated funds (collectively, the "funds" or each, a "fund") of approximately \$2.4 billion and accrued performance allocations of approximately \$5.0 billion. As discussed in Notes 2 and 4 to the consolidated financial statements, a significant input to the measurement of the Company's principal equity method investments in the funds, including accrued performance allocations, is management's estimate of the fair value of the investments held by each fund. Management estimates the fair value of the funds' investments, including investments in the equity of private operating companies, real estate properties and certain debt positions, by applying the methodologies outlined in Notes 2 and 4 and using significant unobservable inputs and assumptions.

Auditing management's estimates of the fair value of the funds' investments, valued using significant unobservable inputs and assumptions, was complex and highly judgmental because these investments exhibit higher estimation uncertainty.

How we addressed the matter in our audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of controls over the funds' investment valuation process. This included management's review controls over the assessment of the methodologies, significant inputs and assumptions included in the fair value estimates, as well as management's review around the completeness, accuracy and reasonableness of the data used in these estimates.

Our audit procedures related to valuations using significant unobservable inputs included, among others, assessing whether the valuation methodologies used were appropriate and testing the mathematical accuracy of the valuation models.

For a sample of investments, we obtained management's valuation models and compared objective inputs used in the models to agreements or underlying source documents provided by the Company. We also assessed the appropriateness of the unobservable inputs and assumptions used in the fair value estimates by comparing them to underlying support or available market data and evaluating the appropriateness of any significant adjustments. Our procedures varied based on the nature of the fund investment selected for testing.

For example, for certain investments in the equity of private operating companies, we assessed the appropriateness of management's determination of public market comparable companies and similar transactions. For these selected investments, we also evaluated significant adjustments applied to the selected earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) multiple or discount rate derived from the comparable companies by considering investee specific and relevant market information.

For some of the selected fund investments, we independently developed fair value estimates, with the support of valuation specialists, using investee and market information and compared them to the funds' fair value estimates.

For a sample of investments that were sold during the year, we performed procedures to assess the historical reasonableness of management's estimates. We also reviewed management's assessment of subsequent events and transactions and considered whether they corroborated or contradicted the year-end estimates.

# Conversion from a Delaware limited partnership to a Delaware corporation

Description of the matter

As described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, effective on January 1, 2020, The Carlyle Group L.P. converted from a Delaware limited partnership to a Delaware corporation named The Carlyle Group Inc. (the "Conversion"). Prior to the Conversion, the Company recorded significant non-controlling interests in Carlyle Holdings I L.P., Carlyle Holdings II L.P. and Carlyle Holdings III L.P. (collectively, "Carlyle Holdings"), the holdings partnerships through which the Company and senior Carlyle professionals and other holders of Carlyle Holdings partnership units owned their respective interests in the business. As discussed in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements, the Conversion resulted in a step-up in the tax basis of certain assets of Carlyle Holdings that will be recovered as the assets are sold or the basis is amortized. The Company recorded an estimated net deferred tax asset of \$262.1 million relating to this step-up in tax basis.

Auditing the estimated step-up in tax basis resulting from the Conversion required a high degree of auditor judgment and a greater level of effort, including the involvement of our tax professionals and valuation specialists, to evaluate the methodologies and models used to calculate and allocate the step-up in tax basis to the assets of Carlyle Holdings.

How we addressed the matter in our audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of the Company's controls implemented over management's review of the accounting and disclosures resulting from the Conversion. This included management's review controls over the completeness and accuracy of the data used in accounting for the Conversion, the appropriateness of the methodologies and models used to calculate and allocate the step-up in tax basis, and the completeness and accuracy of the disclosures related to the Conversion.

Our audit procedures related to the Conversion included, among others, and with the involvement of our tax professionals, testing a sample of the restructuring steps undertaken by the Company to legally effectuate the Conversion by reviewing the transaction agreements; assessing the appropriateness of the methodologies used in calculating and allocating the step-up in tax basis pursuant to the relevant tax laws and regulations, and assessing the tax positions taken by the Company to determine whether they are more likely than not to be sustained upon examination.

With the assistance of our valuation specialists, we assessed whether the inputs used in the models and methodologies used were appropriate and tested the mathematical accuracy of the models used by management in calculating and allocating the step-up in tax basis. We compared the objective inputs used in the models to agreements or underlying source documentation provided by the Company. We also assessed the appropriateness of the assumptions used in calculating and allocating the step-up in tax basis by comparing them to underlying support or available market data and evaluating the appropriateness of any significant adjustments.

We assessed whether the step-up in tax basis was appropriately accounted for in the Company's income tax provision and related deferred taxes. We evaluated the financial statement disclosures related to the Conversion pursuant to the relevant authoritative guidance.

# Accounting for the Company's interest in Carlyle FRL L.P. and consolidation assessment with respect to Fortitude Holdings (a portfolio company of Carlyle FRL L.P.)

Description of the matter

As discussed in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, on June 2, 2020, Carlyle FRL, L.P. ("Carlyle FRL"), a Carlyle-affiliated investment fund, acquired a 51.6% ownership interest in Fortitude Group Holdings, LLC ("Fortitude Holdings") from American International Group, Inc. (the "Control Transaction"). At closing, the Company contributed its existing 19.9% interest in Fortitude Holdings into Carlyle FRL, such that Carlyle FRL holds a 71.5% interest in Fortitude Holdings. Prior to the Control Transaction, the Company's investment was accounted for under the equity method of accounting by recognizing its pro rata share of Fortitude Holdings' U.S. GAAP earnings. At the time the Company contributed its existing 19.9% stake in Fortitude Holdings to Carlyle FRL, the Company's investment became an ownership interest in Carlyle FRL. Accordingly, the Company began accounting for its investment under the equity method based on its net asset value in Carlyle FRL, which is an investment company that accounts for its investment in Fortitude Holdings at fair value. This change in measurement resulted in a loss in principal investment income (loss) of \$620.7 million.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, management has determined that the Company's Funds are investment companies under U.S. GAAP for purposes of financial reporting. Additionally, the Company consolidates all entities that it controls either through a majority voting interest or as the primary beneficiary of variable interest entities.

Auditing the Company's investment company conclusion with respect to its equity method investee, Carlyle FRL, pursuant to ASC Topic 946, *Financial Services-Investment Companies*, and the Company's consolidation conclusion with respect to Fortitude Holdings pursuant to ASC Topic 810, *Consolidation*, was complex and required judgment due to the qualitative nature of these assessments.

How we addressed the matter in our audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of the Company's controls over the accounting for the Control Transaction, including management's review controls over its assessment of whether Carlyle FRL is an investment company and whether the Company should consolidate Fortitude Holdings.

To assess management's conclusions, we read the relevant contractual agreements and inquired of management to understand the purpose and design of Carlyle FRL and Fortitude Holdings. We also read, among other things, the governing documents, the investment management agreement, the offering materials, other communications with investors, and other available market information to evaluate management's assertions with respect to the purpose and design of Carlyle FRL and Fortitude Holdings and to evaluate management's investment company and consolidation conclusions for Carlyle FRL and Fortitude Holdings considering the characteristics of an investment company and the consolidation guidance, respectively.

Our evaluation of the characteristics of an investment company with respect to Carlyle FRL included, among other things, consideration of the nature of the asset management relationship between the Company and Fortitude Holdings discussed in Note 5, the nature and extent of fees charged to Carlyle FRL's limited partners relative to other available market information for similar structures, Carlyle FRL's plan for capital appreciation, including the related exit strategy, the significance of third-party capital obtained by Carlyle FRL, and the rights held by the limited partners in Carlyle FRL compared to the rights held by limited partners in other Carlyle-sponsored funds. Our evaluation with respect to the consolidation conclusion included, among other things, an assessment of management's assertions regarding the decisions that most significantly impact Fortitude Holdings' economic performance and an assessment of management's conclusions regarding the entity that has the ability to make those decisions.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2002. Tysons, VA

February 11, 2021

# Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of The Carlyle Group Inc.

# Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited The Carlyle Group Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, The Carlyle Group Inc. (the "Company") maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes and our report dated February 11, 2021 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

# **Basis for Opinion**

The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

# **Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting**

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Tysons, VA February 11, 2021

# Consolidated Balance Sheets (Dollars in millions)

	December 31,			1,
	·	2020		2019
Assets	<u></u>			
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	987.6	\$	793.4
Cash and cash equivalents held at Consolidated Funds		148.6		122.4
Restricted cash		2.0		34.6
Investments, including accrued performance allocations of \$4,968.6 and \$3,855.6 as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively		7,380.9		6,804.4
Investments of Consolidated Funds		6,056.9		5,007.3
Due from affiliates and other receivables, net		272.5		273.9
Due from affiliates and other receivables of Consolidated Funds, net		89.1		74.4
Fixed assets, net		149.2		108.2
Lease right-of-use assets, net		361.1		203.8
Deposits and other		51.7		54.0
Intangible assets, net		48.7		62.3
Deferred tax assets		96.5		270.1
Total assets	\$	15,644.8	\$	13,808.8
Liabilities and equity				
Debt obligations	\$	1,970.9	\$	1,976.3
Loans payable of Consolidated Funds		5,563.0		4,706.7
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities		286.3		354.9
Accrued compensation and benefits		3,222.6		2,496.5
Due to affiliates		436.7		542.1
Deferred revenue		89.0		71.0
Deferred tax liabilities		57.8		65.2
Other liabilities of Consolidated Funds		556.1		316.1
Lease liabilities		513.5		288.2
Accrued giveback obligations		18.7		22.2
Total liabilities	·	12,714.6		10,839.2
Commitments and contingencies				
Partners' capital (common units, 117,840,651 issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2019)				703.8
Common stock, \$0.01 par value, 100,000,000,000 shares authorized (353,520,576 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020)		3.5		_
Additional paid-in-capital		2,546.2		_
Retained earnings		348.2		_
Accumulated other comprehensive loss		(208.7)		(85.2)
Non-controlling interests in consolidated entities		241.0		333.5
Non-controlling interests in Carlyle Holdings				2,017.5
Total equity		2,930.2		2,969.6
Total liabilities and equity	\$	15,644.8	\$	13,808.8

See accompanying notes.

# Consolidated Statements of Operations (Dollars in millions, except share and per share data)

		Year Ended December 31				
		2020		2019		2018
Revenues						
Fund management fees	\$	1,486.0	\$	1,476.2	\$	1,272.0
Incentive fees		37.0		35.9		30.2
Investment income						
Performance allocations		1,635.9		799.1		622.9
Principal investment income (loss)		(540.7)		769.3		186.3
Total investment income		1,095.2		1,568.4		809.2
Interest and other income		89.6		97.3		101.3
Interest and other income of Consolidated Funds		226.8		199.2		214.5
Total revenues		2,934.6		3,377.0		2,427.2
Expenses						
Compensation and benefits						
Cash-based compensation and benefits		849.6		833.4		746.7
Equity-based compensation		105.0		140.0		239.9
Performance allocations and incentive fee related compensation		779.1		436.7		376.3
Total compensation and benefits		1,733.7		1,410.1		1,362.9
General, administrative and other expenses		349.3		494.4		460.7
Interest		94.0		82.1		82.2
Interest and other expenses of Consolidated Funds		163.5		131.8		164.6
Other non-operating expenses (income)		(7.2)		1.3		1.1
Total expenses		2,333.3		2,119.7		2,071.5
Other income (loss)						
Net investment gains (losses) of Consolidated Funds		(21.3)		(23.9)		4.5
Income before provision for income taxes		580.0		1,233.4		360.2
Provision for income taxes		197.2		49.0		31.3
Net income		382.8		1,184.4		328.9
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests in consolidated entities		34.6		36.6		33.9
Net income attributable to Carlyle Holdings	<del></del>	348.2		1,147.8		295.0
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests in Carlyle Holdings		_		766.9		178.5
Net income attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc.		348.2		380.9		116.5
Net income attributable to Series A Preferred Unitholders		_		19.1		23.6
Series A Preferred Units redemption premium		_		16.5		_
Net income attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc. Common Stockholders	\$	348.2	\$	345.3	\$	92.9
Net income attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc. common stockholders  Net income attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc. per common share (see Note 13)	<u> </u>		Ť		Ť	02.0
Basic	\$	0.99	\$	3.05	\$	0.89
Diluted	_		$\dot{-}$		_	
	\$	0.97	\$	2.82	\$	0.82
Weighted-average common shares						
Basic		350,464,315		113,082,733		104,198,089
Diluted		358,393,802		122,632,889		113,389,443

Substantially all revenue is earned from affiliates of the Company. See accompanying notes.

# Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Dollars in millions)

	Year Ended December 31,				
	2020	2019	2018		
Net income	\$ 382.8	\$ 1,184.4	\$ 328.9		
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax					
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of income tax (benefit) expense of \$(33.5) and \$0.3 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively	49.6	10.4	(47.4)		
Unrealized gains (losses) on Fortitude Re available-for-sale securities, net of income tax (benefit) expense of \$(5.3) and \$4.4 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively	(20.0)	16.8	3.2		
Defined benefit plans					
Unrealized loss for the period, net of income tax (benefit) expense of \$(2.3) and \$(2.3) for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively	(9.0)	(6.7)	(2.5)		
Less: reclassification adjustment for unrecognized gain during the period included in base compensation expense, net of income tax (benefit) expense of \$0.6 and \$0.4 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively	1.8	1.0	0.9		
Other comprehensive income (loss)	22.4	21.5	(45.8)		
Comprehensive income	405.2	1,205.9	283.1		
Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests in consolidated entities	37.6	47.5	6.8		
Comprehensive income attributable to Carlyle Holdings	367.6	1,158.4	276.3		
Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests in Carlyle Holdings	_	774.1	165.5		
Comprehensive income attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc.	\$ 367.6	\$ 384.3	\$ 110.8		

See accompanying notes.

# Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (Dollars and shares in millions)

	Common Units	Common Shares	Preferred Equity	Partners' Capital	Common Stock	Additional Paid-in- Capital	Retained Earnings (Deficit)	Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)	Non- controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities	Non- controlling Interests in Carlyle Holdings	Total Equity
Balance at December 31, 2017	100.1		\$ 387.5	\$ 701.8	<u> </u>	\$ —	\$ —	\$ (72.7)	\$ 404.7	\$ 1,527.7	\$ 2,949.0
Reallocation of ownership interests in Carlyle Holdings	_	_	_	20.5	_	_	_	(2.0)	_	(18.5)	_
Exchange of Carlyle Holdings units for common units	3.8	_	_	29.6	_	_	_	(2.9)	_	(26.7)	_
Units repurchased	(4.9)	_	_	(107.5)	_	_	_	_	_	_	(107.5)
Deferred tax effects resulting from acquisition of interests in Carlyle Holdings	_	_	_	1.7	_	_	_	_	_	_	1.7
Equity-based compensation	_	_	_	65.7	_	_	_	_	_	178.7	244.4
Issuances of common units for equity- based awards	8.7	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Contributions	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	31.3	_	31.3
Distributions	_	_	(23.6)	(129.8)	_	_	_	_	(118.6)	(288.8)	(560.8)
Net income	_	_	23.6	92.9	_	_	_	_	33.9	178.5	328.9
Cumulative effect adjustment upon adoption of ASU 2016-16	_	_	_	(1.2)	_	_	_	_	_	(2.9)	(4.1)
Cumulative effect adjustment upon adoption of ASU 2014-09	_	_	_	(0.3)	_	_	_	_	_	(0.5)	(0.8)
Currency translation adjustments	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(6.2)	(27.1)	(14.1)	(47.4)
Unrealized gains on Fortitude Re available-for-sale securities	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	1.0	_	2.2	3.2
Defined benefit plans, net	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(0.5)	_	(1.1)	(1.6)
Balance at December 31, 2018	107.7		\$ 387.5	\$ 673.4	\$ —	\$ —	\$ —	\$ (83.3)	\$ 324.2	\$ 1,534.5	\$ 2,836.3
Reallocation of ownership interests in Carlyle Holdings	_	_	_	64.3	_	_	_	(4.1)	_	(60.2)	_
Exchange of Carlyle Holdings units for common units	1.7	_	_	15.4	_	_	_	(1.2)	_	(14.2)	_
Units repurchased	(1.6)	_	_	(34.5)	_	_	_	_	_	_	(34.5)
Deferred tax effects resulting from acquisition of interests in Carlyle Holdings				1.0							1.0
Equity-based compensation				46.8						97.1	143.9
Issuances of common units for equity- based awards	10.0	_		40.0	_		_	_	_		_
Contributions	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	57.8	_	57.8
Distributions	_	_	(17.7)	(154.9)	_	_	_	_	(84.8)	(313.3)	(570.7)
Net income	_	_	35.6	345.3	_	_	_	_	36.6	766.9	1,184.4
Redemption of Preferred Units (see Note 14)	_	_	(405.4)	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(405.4)
Deconsolidation of a Consolidated Entity	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(11.2)	_	(11.2)
Cumulative effect adjustment upon adoption of ASU 2016-2	_	_	_	(0.2)	_	_	_	_	_	(0.5)	(0.7)
Currency translation adjustments	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(0.1)	10.9	(0.4)	10.4
Unrealized gains on Fortitude Re available-for-sale securities	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	5.5	_	11.3	16.8
Defined benefit plans, net	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(2.0)	_	(3.7)	(5.7)
Deferred consideration for Carlyle Holdings Units, net of tax (see Note 10)	_	_	_	(252.8)	_	_	_	_	_	_	(252.8)
Balance at December 31, 2019	117.8	_	\$ —	\$ 703.8	\$ —	\$ —	\$ —	\$ (85.2)	\$ 333.5	\$ 2,017.5	\$ 2,969.6
								0.0			

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (Dollars and shares in millions)

	Common Units	Common Shares	Preferred Equity	Partners' Capital	Common Stock	Additional Paid-in- Capital	Retained Earnings (Deficit)	Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)	Non- controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities	Non- controlling Interests in Carlyle Holdings	Total Equity
Balance at December 31, 2019	117.8		<u>s</u> —	\$ 703.8	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	\$ (85.2)	\$ 333.5	\$ 2,017.5	\$ 2,969.6
Reclassification resulting from Conversion - Partners' Capital	(117.8)	117.8	_	(703.8)	1.2	702.6	_	_	_	_	_
Reclassification resulting from Conversion - Non-controlling Interest in Carlyle Holdings	_	229.4	_	_	2.3	2,180.9	_	(165.7)	_	(2,017.5)	_
Shares repurchased	_	(1.1)	_	_	_	(26.4)	_	_	_	_	(26.4)
Tax effects resulting from Conversion	_	_	_	_	_	(62.9)	_	22.8	_	_	(40.1)
Equity-based compensation	_	_	_	_	_	113.4	_	_	_	_	113.4
Shares issued for equity-based awards	_	7.4	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Contributions	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	210.0		210.0
Distributions	_	_	_	_	_	(351.3)	_	_	(77.8)	_	(429.1)
Net income	_	_	_	_	_	_	348.2	_	34.6	_	382.8
Deconsolidation of Consolidated Entities	_	_	_	_	_	(10.1)	_	_	(262.3)	_	(272.4)
Currency translation adjustments	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	46.6	3.0	_	49.6
Unrealized loss on Fortitude Re available-for-sale securities	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(20.0)	_	_	(20.0)
Defined benefit plans, net	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(7.2)	_	_	(7.2)
Balance at December 31, 2020		353.5	\$ <u> </u>	<u> </u>	\$ 3.5	\$ 2,546.2	\$ 348.2	\$ (208.7)	\$ 241.0	<u> </u>	\$ 2,930.2

See accompanying notes.

# The Carlyle Group Inc. Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Dollars in millions)

Cash flows from operating activities  Net income  Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash flows from operating activities:  Depreciation and amortization  Equity-based compensation  Non-cash performance allocations and incentive fees  Non-cash principal investment (income) loss	\$	382.8	<b>2019</b> \$ 1,	184.4	\$	2018
Net income Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash flows from operating activities: Depreciation and amortization Equity-based compensation Non-cash performance allocations and incentive fees	\$	382.8	\$ 1,	184.4	¢	
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash flows from operating activities:  Depreciation and amortization  Equity-based compensation  Non-cash performance allocations and incentive fees	Ψ	302.0	Ψ 1,			328.9
Depreciation and amortization Equity-based compensation Non-cash performance allocations and incentive fees					Ψ	320.3
Non-cash performance allocations and incentive fees		52.1		65.6		46.9
		105.0		140.0		239.9
Non-cash principal investment (income) loss		(631.8)	,	271.8)		25.9
		534.4	((	673.1)		(179.4)
Other non-cash amounts Consolidated Funds related:		(2.9)		24.8		3.2
Realized/unrealized (gain) loss on investments of Consolidated Funds		29.1		18.9		108.8
Realized/unrealized (gain) loss from loans payable of Consolidated Funds		(7.8)		5.0		(113.3)
Purchases of investments by Consolidated Funds		(3,140.0)	(2,3	239.2)		(3,723.8)
Proceeds from sale and settlements of investments by Consolidated Funds		2,013.8	2,	,112.7		2,662.9
Non-cash interest income, net		(8.1)		(3.8)		(4.0)
Change in cash and cash equivalents held at Consolidated Funds Change in other receivables held at Consolidated Funds		13.9 (5.4)		50.9 61.8		399.4 (95.1)
Change in other liabilities held at Consolidated Funds  Change in other liabilities held at Consolidated Funds		220.9	C	229.2)		(59.1)
Other non-cash amounts of Consolidated Funds		0.5	(.	(0.1)		(55.1)
Purchases of investments		(271.3)	()	312.4)		(473.6)
Purchase of investment in Fortitude Re		(79.6)		_		(393.8)
Proceeds from the sale of investments		307.5		389.2		893.4
Payments of contingent consideration						(37.5)
Changes in deferred taxes, net		134.5		13.9		(19.8)
Change in due from affiliates and other receivables Change in deposits and other		1.9 (2.0)		49.2 (6.0)		(74.2)
Change in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities		(4.0)		(43.7)		78.2
Change in accrued compensation and benefits		210.1		51.6		60.8
Change in due to affiliates		(29.2)		24.7		(35.6)
Change in lease right-of-use assets and lease liabilities		(9.8)		(16.9)		
Change in deferred revenue		16.2		(37.9)		21.4
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities		(169.2)		358.6		(343.5)
Cash flows from investing activities		(0.5)		/== a\		(0.1.0)
Purchases of fixed assets, net		(61.2)		(27.8)		(31.3)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired  Net cash used in investing activities		(61.2)		(27.8)		(67.8)
Cash flows from financing activities		(01.2)		(27.0)		(99.1)
Borrowings under credit facilities		294.1		92.7		_
Repayments under credit facilities		(329.9)		(56.9)		_
Issuance of 3.500% senior notes due 2029, net of financing costs		_		420.6		_
Issuance of 5.650% senior notes due 2048, net of financing costs		_		_		345.7
Repurchase of 3.875% senior notes due 2023		_				(255.1)
Repayment of term loan		20.5		(25.0)		40.0
Proceeds from debt obligations, net of financing costs  Payments on debt obligations		20.5 (3.8)		41.0 (45.2)		40.8 (156.7)
Net borrowings on loans payable of Consolidated Funds		704.1		224.8		818.0
Payments of contingent consideration		(0.3)		(0.2)		—
Redemption of Preferred Units		_	(-	405.4)		_
Dividends to common stockholders		(351.3)	(1	154.9)		(129.8)
Distributions to preferred unitholders		_		(17.7)		(23.6)
Distributions to non-controlling interest holders in Carlyle Holdings			(:	313.3)		(288.8)
Payment of deferred consideration for Carlyle Holdings units		(68.8)		_		_
Contributions from non-controlling interest holders  Distributions to non-controlling interest holders		210.0 (77.8)		57.8 (62.4)		31.3 (105.2)
Common shares repurchased		(26.4)		(34.5)		(105.2)
Change in due to/from affiliates financing activities		0.7		129.4		(97.1)
Change in due to/from affiliates and other receivables of Consolidated Funds		(0.8)		_		
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities		370.3	(	149.2)		72.0
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes		21.7		8.1		(19.9)
Increase (Decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash		161.6		189.7		(390.5)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period		828.0		638.3		1,028.8
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period	\$	989.6	\$	828.0	\$	638.3
Supplemental cash disclosures						
Cash paid for interest	\$	80.1	\$	63.4	\$	60.7
	\$	35.4	\$	30.5	\$	46.8
Cash paid for income taxes						
Supplemental non-cash disclosures						
Supplemental non-cash disclosures  Tax effects from the conversion to a Corporation recorded in equity	\$	40.1	\$		\$	
Supplemental non-cash disclosures	<u>\$</u> \$	40.1	\$	60.2	\$	18.5

\$	(253.6)	\$	(24.3)	\$	_
\$	_	\$	(22.4)	\$	(13.4)
<del></del>					
\$		\$	6.4	\$	12.3
\$	_	\$	5.4	\$	10.6
\$	_	\$	1.0	\$	1.7
\$	987.6	\$	793.4	\$	629.6
	2.0		34.6		8.7
\$	989.6	\$	828.0	\$	638.3
\$	148.6	\$	122.4	\$	247.5
	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	\$ \$	\$ \$	\$ — \$ (22.4)  \$ — \$ 6.4  \$ — \$ 5.4  \$ — \$ 1.0  \$ 987.6 \$ 793.4  2.0 34.6  \$ 989.6 \$ 828.0	\$ — \$ (22.4) \$  \$ — \$ (22.4) \$  \$ — \$ 6.4 \$  \$ — \$ 5.4 \$  \$ — \$ 1.0 \$  \$ 987.6 \$ 793.4 \$  2.0 34.6  \$ 989.6 \$ 828.0 \$

See accompanying notes.

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

# 1. Organization and Basis of Presentation

Effective on January 1, 2020, The Carlyle Group L.P. converted from a Delaware limited partnership to a Delaware corporation named The Carlyle Group Inc. (the "Conversion"). As a result of the Conversion, each common unit was converted into a share of common stock. Under the laws of its incorporation, The Carlyle Group Inc. is deemed to be the same entity as The Carlyle Group L.P. (the "Partnership"). Unless the context suggests otherwise, references to "Carlyle" or the "Company," refer to (i) The Carlyle Group Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries following the Conversion and (ii) The Carlyle Group L.P. and its consolidated subsidiaries prior to the Conversion. Because the Conversion became effective January 1, 2020, the accompanying consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019 and for the year ended December 31, 2018 and related notes reflect the results of a partnership, and not a corporation.

Prior to the Conversion, the Company recorded significant non-controlling interests in Carlyle Holdings I L.P., Carlyle Holdings II L.P. and Carlyle Holdings III L.P. (collectively, "Carlyle Holdings"), the holdings partnerships through which the Company and senior Carlyle professionals and other holders of Carlyle Holdings partnership units owned their respective interests in the business. In the Conversion, the limited partners of the Carlyle Holdings partnerships exchanged their Carlyle Holdings partnership units for an equivalent number of shares of common stock of The Carlyle Group Inc. As a result, in periods following the Conversion, the consolidated balance sheet and statement of operations of The Carlyle Group Inc. does not reflect any non-controlling interests in Carlyle Holdings, and net income (loss) attributable to Carlyle Holdings refers to the net income (loss) of The Carlyle Group Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries, net of non-controlling interests in consolidated entities.

Carlyle is one of the world's largest global investment firms that originates, structures, and acts as lead equity investor in management-led buyouts, strategic minority equity investments, equity private placements, consolidations and buildups, growth capital financings, real estate opportunities, bank loans, high-yield debt, distressed assets, mezzanine debt, and other investment opportunities. Carlyle provides investment management services to, and has transactions with, various private equity funds, real estate funds, private credit funds, collateralized loan obligations ("CLOs"), and other investment products sponsored by the Company for the investment of client assets in the normal course of business. Carlyle typically serves as the general partner, investment manager or collateral manager, making day-to-day investment decisions concerning the assets of these products. Carlyle operates its business through three reportable segments: Global Private Equity, Global Credit and Investment Solutions (see Note 16).

# **Basis of Presentation**

The accompanying financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries. In addition, certain Carlyle-affiliated funds, related co-investment entities and certain CLOs managed by the Company (collectively the "Consolidated Funds") have been consolidated in the accompanying financial statements pursuant to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ("U.S. GAAP"), as described in Note 2. The consolidation of the Consolidated Funds generally has a gross-up effect on assets, liabilities and cash flows, and generally has no effect on the net income attributable to the Company. The economic ownership interests of the other investors in the Consolidated Funds are reflected as non-controlling interests in consolidated entities in the accompanying consolidated financial statements (see Note 2).

# 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

# **Principles of Consolidation**

The Company consolidates all entities that it controls either through a majority voting interest or as the primary beneficiary of variable interest entities ("VIEs").

The Company evaluates (1) whether it holds a variable interest in an entity, (2) whether the entity is a VIE, and (3) whether the Company's involvement would make it the primary beneficiary. In evaluating whether the Company holds a variable interest, fees (including management fees, incentive fees and performance allocations) that are customary and commensurate with the level of services provided, and where the Company does not hold other economic interests in the entity that would absorb more than an insignificant amount of the expected losses or returns of the entity, are not considered variable interests. The Company considers all economic interests, including indirect interests, to determine if a fee is considered a variable interest.

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

For those entities where the Company holds a variable interest, the Company determines whether each of these entities qualifies as a VIE and, if so, whether or not the Company is the primary beneficiary. The assessment of whether the entity is a VIE is generally performed qualitatively, which requires judgment. These judgments include: (a) determining whether the equity investment at risk is sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support, (b) evaluating whether the equity holders, as a group, can make decisions that have a significant effect on the economic performance of the entity, (c) determining whether two or more parties' equity interests should be aggregated, and (d) determining whether the equity investors have proportionate voting rights to their obligations to absorb losses or rights to receive returns from an entity.

For entities that are determined to be VIEs, the Company consolidates those entities where it has concluded it is the primary beneficiary. The primary beneficiary is defined as the variable interest holder with (a) the power to direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly impact the entity's economic performance and (b) the obligation to absorb losses of the entity or the right to receive benefits from the entity that could potentially be significant to the VIE. In evaluating whether the Company is the primary beneficiary, the Company evaluates its economic interests in the entity held either directly or indirectly by the Company.

As of December 31, 2020, assets and liabilities of the consolidated VIEs reflected in the consolidated balance sheets were \$6.3 billion and \$6.1 billion, respectively. Except to the extent of the consolidated assets of the VIEs, the holders of the consolidated VIEs' liabilities generally do not have recourse to the Company.

Substantially all of the Company's Consolidated Funds are CLOs, which are VIEs that issue loans payable that are backed by diversified collateral asset portfolios consisting primarily of loans or structured debt. In exchange for managing the collateral for the CLOs, the Company earns investment management fees, including in some cases subordinated management fees and contingent incentive fees. In cases where the Company consolidates the CLOs (primarily because of a retained interest that is significant to the CLO), those management fees have been eliminated as intercompany transactions. As of December 31, 2020, the Company held \$170.0 million of investments in these CLOs which represents its maximum risk of loss. The Company's investments in these CLOs are generally subordinated to other interests in the entities and entitle the Company to receive a pro rata portion of the residual cash flows, if any, from the entities. Investors in the CLOs have no recourse against the Company for any losses sustained in the CLO structure.

Entities that do not qualify as VIEs are generally assessed for consolidation as voting interest entities. Under the voting interest entity model, the Company consolidates those entities it controls through a majority voting interest.

All significant inter-entity transactions and balances of entities consolidated have been eliminated.

# **Investments in Unconsolidated Variable Interest Entities**

The Company holds variable interests in certain VIEs that are not consolidated because the Company is not the primary beneficiary, including its investments in certain CLOs and strategic investment in NGP Management Company, L.L.C. ("NGP Management" and, together with its affiliates, "NGP"). Refer to Note 5 for information on the strategic investment in NGP. The Company's involvement with such entities is in the form of direct equity interests and fee arrangements. The maximum exposure to loss represents the loss of assets recognized by the Company relating to its variable interests in these unconsolidated entities. The assets recognized in the Company's consolidated balance sheets related to the Company's variable interests in these non-consolidated VIEs were as follows:

	As of December 31,						
		2019					
	(Dollars in millions)						
Investments	\$	988.6	\$	1,029.5			
Accrued performance allocations		177.1		160.2			
Management fee receivables		26.5		35.4			
Total	\$	1,192.2	\$	1,225.1			

These amounts represent the Company's maximum exposure to loss related to the unconsolidated VIEs as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

# **Basis of Accounting**

The accompanying financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Management has determined that the Company's Funds are investment companies under U.S. GAAP for the purposes of financial reporting. U.S. GAAP for an investment company requires investments to be recorded at estimated fair value and the unrealized gains and/or losses in an investment's fair value are recognized on a current basis in the statements of operations. Additionally, the Funds do not consolidate their majority-owned and controlled investments (the "Portfolio Companies"). In the preparation of these consolidated financial statements, the Company has retained the specialized accounting for the Funds.

All of the investments held and notes issued by the Consolidated Funds are presented at their estimated fair values in the Company's consolidated balance sheets. Interest and other income of the Consolidated Funds as well as interest expense and other expenses of the Consolidated Funds are included in the Company's consolidated statements of operations.

# **Use of Estimates**

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make assumptions and estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Management's estimates are based on historical experiences and other factors, including expectations of future events that management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. It also requires management to exercise judgment in the process of applying the Company's accounting policies. Assumptions and estimates regarding the valuation of investments and their resulting impact on performance allocations involve a higher degree of judgment and complexity and these assumptions and estimates may be significant to the consolidated financial statements and the resulting impact on performance allocations and incentive fees. Actual results could differ from these estimates and such differences could be material.

### **Business Combinations**

The Company accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting, under which the purchase price of the acquisition is allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed using the fair values determined by management as of the acquisition date. Contingent consideration obligations that are elements of consideration transferred are recognized as of the acquisition date as part of the fair value transferred in exchange for the acquired business. Acquisition-related costs incurred in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

# **Revenue Recognition**

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with ASC 606, *Revenue from Contracts with Customers*. Revenue is recognized when the Company transfers promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. ASC 606 includes a five-step framework that requires an entity to: (i) identify the contract(s) with a customer, which includes assessing the collectibility of the consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for the goods or services transferred to the customer, (ii) identify the performance obligations in the contract, (iii) determine the transaction price, (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract, and (v) recognize revenue when the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

The Company accounts for performance allocations that represent a performance-based capital allocation from fund limited partners to the Company (commonly known as "carried interest", which comprises substantially all of the Company's previously reported performance fee revenues) as earnings from financial assets within the scope of ASC 323, *Investments – Equity Method and Joint Ventures*, and therefore are not in the scope of ASC 606. In accordance with ASC 323, the Company records equity method income (losses) as a component of investment income based on the change in its proportionate claim on net assets of the investment fund, including performance allocations, assuming the investment fund was liquidated as of each reporting date pursuant to each fund's governing agreements. See Note 5 for additional information on the components of investments and investment income. Performance fees that do not meet the definition of performance-based capital allocations are in the scope of ASC 606 and are included in incentive fees in the consolidated statements of operations. The calculation of unrealized performance revenues utilizes investment valuations of the funds' underlying investments, which are derived using the policies, methodologies and templates prepared by the Company's valuation group, as described in Note 4, Fair Value Measurement.

While the determination of who is the customer in a contractual arrangement will be made on a contract-by-contract basis, the customer will generally be the investment fund for the Company's significant management and advisory contracts.

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

The customer determination impacts the Company's analysis of the accounting for contract costs. Also, the recovery of certain costs incurred on behalf of Carlyle funds, primarily employee travel and entertainment costs, employee compensation and systems costs, are presented gross in the consolidated statements of operations, as the Company controls the inputs to its investment management performance obligation.

# **Fund Management Fees**

The Company provides management services to funds in which it holds a general partner interest or has a management agreement. The Company considers the performance obligations in its contracts with its funds to be the promise to provide (or to arrange for third parties to provide) investment management services related to the management, policies and operations of the funds.

As it relates to the Company's performance obligation to provide investment management services, the Company typically satisfies this performance obligation over time as the services are rendered, since the funds simultaneously receive and consume the benefits provided as the Company performs the service. The transaction price is the amount of consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised services to the funds. Management fees earned from each investment management contract over the contract life represent variable consideration because the consideration the Company is entitled to varies based on fluctuations in the basis for the management fee, for example fund net asset value ("NAV") or assets under management ("AUM"). Given that the management fee basis is susceptible to market factors outside of the Company's influence, management fees are constrained and, therefore, estimates of future period management fees are generally not included in the transaction price. Revenue recognized for the investment management services provided is generally the amount determined at the end of the period because that is when the uncertainty for that period is resolved.

For closed-end carry funds in the Global Private Equity and Global Credit segments, management fees generally range from 1.0% to 2.0% of commitments during the fund's investment period based on limited partners' capital commitments to the funds. Following the expiration or termination of the investment period, management fees generally are based on the lower of cost or fair value of invested capital and the rate charged may also be reduced to between 0.6% and 2.0%. For certain separately managed accounts, longer-dated carry funds, and other closed-end funds, management fees generally range from 0.2% to 1.0% based on contributions for unrealized investments, the current value of the investment, or adjusted book value. The Company will receive management fees during a specified period of time, which is generally ten years from the initial closing date, or, in some instances, from the final closing date, but such termination date may be earlier in certain limited circumstances or later if extended for successive one year periods, typically up to a maximum of two years. Depending upon the contracted terms of investment advisory or investment management and related agreements, these fees are generally called semi-annually in advance and are recognized as earned over the subsequent six month period. For certain longer-dated carry funds and certain other closed-end funds, management fees are called quarterly over the life of the funds.

Within the Global Credit segment, for CLOs and other structured products, management fees generally range from 0.4% to 0.5% based on the total par amount of assets or the aggregate principal amount of the notes in the CLO and are due quarterly based on the terms and recognized over the respective period. Management fees for the CLOs and other structured products are governed by indentures and collateral management agreements. The Company will receive management fees for the CLOs until redemption of the securities issued by the CLOs, which is generally five to ten years after issuance. Management fees for the business development companies are due quarterly in arrears at annual rates that range from 1.25% of invested capital to 1.5% of gross assets, excluding cash and cash equivalents.

Management fees for the Company's private equity and real estate carry fund vehicles in the Investment Solutions segment generally range from 0.25% to 1.0% on the vehicle's capital commitments during the commitment fee period of the relevant fund or the weighted-average investment period of the underlying funds. Following the expiration of the commitment fee period or weighted-average investment period of such funds, the management fees generally range from 0.25% to 1.0% on (i) the lower of cost or fair value of the capital invested, (ii) the net asset value for unrealized investments, or (iii) the contributions for unrealized investments; however, certain separately managed accounts earn management fees at all times on contributions for unrealized investments or on the initial commitment amount. Management fees for the Investment Solutions carry fund vehicles are generally due quarterly and recognized over the related quarter.

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, management fee receivables, net of allowances for credit losses, were \$102.7 million and \$88.8 million, respectively, and are included in due from affiliates and other receivables, net, in the consolidated balance sheets.

The Company also provides transaction advisory and portfolio advisory services to the portfolio companies, and where covered by separate contractual agreements, recognizes fees for these services when the performance obligation has been satisfied and collection is reasonably assured. The Company also recognizes underwriting fees from the Company's loan syndication and capital markets business, Carlyle Global Capital Markets. Fund management fees includes transaction and portfolio advisory fees and capital markets fees of \$50.8 million, \$49.1 million and \$50.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively, net of any offsets as defined in the respective partnership agreements.

Fund management fees exclude the reimbursement of any partnership expenses paid by the Company on behalf of the Carlyle funds pursuant to the limited partnership agreements, including amounts related to the pursuit of actual, proposed, or unconsummated investments, professional fees, expenses associated with the acquisition, holding and disposition of investments, and other fund administrative expenses. For the professional fees that the Company arranges for the investment funds, the Company concluded that the nature of its promise is to arrange for the services to be provided and it does not control the services provided by third parties before they are transferred to the customer. Therefore, the Company concluded it is acting in the capacity of an agent. Accordingly, the reimbursement for these professional fees paid on behalf of the investment funds is presented on a net basis in general, administrative and other expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

The Company also incurs certain costs, primarily employee travel and entertainment costs, employee compensation and systems costs, for which it receives reimbursement from the investment funds in connection with its performance obligation to provide investment and management services. For reimbursable travel, compensation and systems costs, the Company concluded it controls the services provided by its employees and the resources used to develop applicable systems before they are transferred to the customer and therefore is a principal. Accordingly, the reimbursement for these costs incurred by the Company to manage the fund limited partnerships are presented on a gross basis in interest and other income in the consolidated statements of operations and the expense in general, administrative and other expenses or cash-based compensation and benefits expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

### Incentive Fees

In connection with management contracts from certain of its Global Credit funds, the Company is also entitled to receive performance-based incentive fees when the return on assets under management exceeds certain benchmark returns or other performance targets. In such arrangements, incentive fees are recognized when the performance benchmark has been achieved. Incentive fees are variable consideration because they are contingent upon the investment vehicle achieving stipulated investment return hurdles. Investment returns are highly susceptible to market factors outside of the Company's influence. Accordingly, incentive fees are constrained until all uncertainty is resolved. Estimates of future period incentive fees are generally not included in the transaction price because these estimates are constrained. The transaction price for incentive fees is generally the amount determined at the end of each accounting period to which they relate because that is when the uncertainty for that period is resolved, as these fees are not subject to clawback.

# Investment Income (Loss), including Performance Allocations

Investment income (loss) represents the unrealized and realized gains and losses resulting from the Company's equity method investments, including any associated general partner performance allocations, and other principal investments, including CLOs.

General partner performance allocations consist of the allocation of profits from certain of the funds to which the Company is entitled (commonly known as carried interest). For closed-end carry funds in the Global Private Equity and Global Credit segments, the Company is generally entitled to a 20% allocation (or 10% to 20% on certain open-end and longer-dated carry funds, certain credit funds, and external co-investment vehicles, up to 25% on certain Global Private Equity funds in the event performance benchmarks are achieved, and approximately 2% to 10% for most of the Investment Solutions segment carry fund vehicles) of the net realized income or gain as a carried interest after returning the invested capital, the allocation of preferred returns of generally 7% to 9% (or 4% to 7% for certain longer-dated carry funds) and return of certain fund costs (generally subject to catch-up provisions as set forth in the fund limited partnership agreement). Carried interest is recognized upon appreciation of the funds' investment values above certain return hurdles set forth in each respective partnership agreement. The Company recognizes revenues attributable to performance allocations based upon the amount that would be due

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

pursuant to the fund partnership agreement at each period end as if the funds were terminated at that date. Accordingly, the amount recognized as investment income for performance allocations reflects the Company's share of the gains and losses of the associated funds' underlying investments measured at their then-current fair values relative to the fair values as of the end of the prior period. Because of the inherent uncertainty, these estimated values may differ significantly from the values that would have been used had a ready market for the investments existed, and it is reasonably possible that the difference could be material.

Carried interest is ultimately realized when: (i) an underlying investment is profitably disposed of, (ii) certain costs borne by the limited partner investors have been reimbursed, (iii) the fund's cumulative returns are in excess of the preferred return and (iv) the Company has decided to collect carry rather than return additional capital to limited partner investors. Realized carried interest may be required to be returned by the Company in future periods if the fund's investment values decline below certain levels. When the fair value of a fund's investments remains constant or falls below certain return hurdles, previously recognized performance allocations are reversed. In all cases, each fund is considered separately in this regard, and for a given fund, performance allocations can never be negative over the life of a fund. If upon a hypothetical liquidation of a fund's investments at their then current fair values, previously recognized and distributed carried interest would be required to be returned, a liability is established for the potential giveback obligation. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company has accrued \$18.7 million and \$22.2 million, respectively, for giveback obligations.

Principal investment income (loss) is realized when the Company redeems all or a portion of its investment or when the Company receives or is due cash income, such as dividends or distributions. Unrealized principal investment income (loss) results from the Company's proportionate share of the investee's unrealized earnings, including changes in the fair value of the underlying investment, as well as the reversal of unrealized gain (loss) at the time an investment is realized. Principal investment income (loss) also includes the Company's allocation of earnings from its investment in Fortitude Re through June 2, 2020 (see Note 5). As it relates to the Company's investments in NGP (see Note 5), principal investment income includes the related amortization of the basis difference between the Company's carrying value of its investment and the Company's share of underlying net assets of the investee, as well as the compensation expense associated with compensatory arrangements provided by the Company to employees of its equity method investee.

### Interest Income

Interest income is recognized when earned. For debt securities representing non-investment grade beneficial interests in securitizations, the effective yield is determined based on the estimated cash flows of the security. Changes in the effective yield of these securities due to changes in estimated cash flows are recognized on a prospective basis as adjustments to interest income in future periods. Interest income earned by the Company is included in interest and other income in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Interest income of the Consolidated Funds was \$211.6 million, \$192.3 million and \$207.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and is included in interest and other income of Consolidated Funds in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

# **Credit Losses**

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, *Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326)*, which was adopted by the Company on January 1, 2020. For more information regarding adoption, see "*Recent Accounting Pronouncements Recently Issued Accounting Standards Adopted as of January 1, 2020*" helow.

Under ASU 2016-13, the Company is required to measure all expected credit losses for financial assets held at the reporting date based on historical experience, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. As part of its adoption process, the Company assessed the collection risk characteristics of the outstanding amounts in its due from affiliates balance to define the following pools of receivables:

- Reimbursable fund expenses receivables,
- Management fee receivables,
- Incentive fee receivables,
- Transaction fee receivables,
- Portfolio fee receivables, and
- Notes receivable.

The Company generally utilizes either historical credit loss information or discounted cash flows to calculate expected credit losses for each pool. The Company's receivables are predominantly with its investment funds, which have low risk of

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

credit loss based on the Company's historical experience. Historical credit loss data may be adjusted for current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts, including the Company's expectation of near-term realization based on the liquidity of the affiliated investment funds. Therefore the adoption of ASU 2016-13 did not have a material impact to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

# **Compensation and Benefits**

Cash-based Compensation and Benefits – Cash-based compensation and benefits includes salaries, bonuses (discretionary awards and guaranteed amounts), performance payment arrangements and benefits paid and payable to Carlyle employees. Bonuses are accrued over the service period to which they relate.

Equity-Based Compensation – Compensation expense relating to the issuance of equity-based awards is measured at fair value on the grant date. The compensation expense for awards that vest over a future service period is recognized over the relevant service period on a straight-line basis. The compensation expense for awards that do not require future service is recognized immediately. Cash settled equity-based awards are classified as liabilities and are re-measured at the end of each reporting period. The compensation expense for awards that contain performance conditions is recognized when it is probable that the performance conditions will be achieved; in certain instances, such compensation expense may be recognized prior to the grant date of the award. The compensation expense for awards that contain market conditions is based on a grant-date fair value that factors in the probability that the market conditions will be achieved and is recognized over the requisite service period on a straight-line basis.

Equity-based awards issued to non-employees are generally recognized as general, administrative and other expenses, except to the extent they are recognized as part of the Company's equity method earnings because they are issued to employees of equity method investees.

The Company recognizes equity-based award forfeitures in the period they occur as a reversal of previously recognized compensation expense. The reduction in compensation expense is determined based on the specific awards forfeited during that period. Furthermore, the Company recognizes all excess tax benefits and deficiencies as income tax benefit or expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

Performance Allocations and Incentive Fee Related Compensation – A portion of the performance allocations and incentive fees earned is due to employees and advisors of the Company. These amounts are accounted for as compensation expense in conjunction with the recognition of the related performance allocations and incentive fee revenue and, until paid, are recognized as a component of the accrued compensation and benefits liability. Accordingly, upon a reversal of performance allocations or incentive fee revenue, the related compensation expense, if any, is also reversed. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had recorded a liability of \$2.5 billion and \$2.0 billion, respectively, related to the portion of accrued performance allocations and incentive fees due to employees and advisors, respectively, which was included in accrued compensation and benefits in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

# **Income Taxes**

The Carlyle Group Inc. is a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes and thus is subject to U.S. federal, state and local corporate income taxes. Prior to the Conversion, The Carlyle Group L.P. was generally organized as a series of pass-through entities and therefore generally not subject to U.S. federal income taxes, with the exception of certain wholly-owned subsidiaries which were subject to federal, state, local and foreign corporate income taxes at the entity level. Tax positions taken by the Company are subject to periodic audit by U.S. federal, state, local and foreign taxing authorities.

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future consequences of events that have been included in the financial statements or tax returns. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the financial statement reporting and the tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the period in which the difference is expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in the period of the change in the provision for income taxes. Further, deferred tax assets are recognized for the expected realization of available net operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. A valuation allowance is recorded on the Company's gross deferred tax assets when it is "more likely than not" that such asset will not be realized. When evaluating the realizability of the Company's deferred tax assets, all evidence, both positive and negative, is evaluated. Items considered in this analysis include the ability to carry back losses, the reversal of temporary differences, tax planning strategies, and expectations of future

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

earnings. Lastly, the Company accounts for the tax on global intangible low-taxed income ("GILTI") as incurred and therefore has not recorded deferred taxes related to GILTI on its foreign subsidiaries.

Under U.S. GAAP for income taxes, the amount of tax benefit to be recognized is the amount of benefit that is "more likely than not" to be sustained upon examination. The Company analyzes its tax filing positions in all of the U.S. federal, state, local and foreign tax jurisdictions where it is required to file income tax returns, as well as for all open tax years in these jurisdictions. If, based on this analysis, the Company determines that uncertainties in tax positions exist, a liability is established, which is included in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities in the consolidated financial statements. The Company recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax positions in the provision for income taxes. If recognized, the entire amount of unrecognized tax positions would be recorded as a reduction in the provision for income taxes.

# **Tax Receivable Agreement**

In connection with the Company's initial public offering, the Company entered into a tax receivable agreement with the limited partners of the Carlyle Holdings partnerships whereby certain subsidiaries of the Partnership agreed to pay to the limited partners of the Carlyle Holdings partnerships involved in any exchange transaction 85% of the amount of cash tax savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state and local income tax realized as a result of increases in tax basis resulting from exchanges of Carlyle Holdings partnership units for common units of The Carlyle Group L.P. From and after the consummation of the Conversion, holders of the Carlyle Holdings partnership units do not have any rights to payments under the tax receivable agreement except for payment obligations pre-existing at the time of the Conversion with respect to exchanges that occurred prior to the Conversion.

With respect to exchanges that occurred prior to the Conversion, the Company recorded an increase in deferred tax assets for the estimated income tax effects of the increases in tax basis based on enacted federal and state tax rates at the date of the exchange. All of the effects to the deferred tax asset of changes in any of the Company's estimates after the tax year of the exchange will be reflected in the provision for income taxes. Similarly, the effect of subsequent changes in the enacted tax rates will be reflected in the provision for income taxes.

# **Non-controlling Interests**

Non-controlling interests in consolidated entities represent the component of equity in consolidated entities held by third-party investors. These interests are adjusted for general partner allocations which occur during the reporting period. Any change in ownership of a subsidiary while the controlling financial interest is retained is accounted for as an equity transaction between the controlling and non-controlling interests. Transaction costs incurred in connection with such changes in ownership of a subsidiary are recorded as a direct charge to equity.

Prior to the Conversion, the Company recorded non-controlling interests in Carlyle Holdings, which relates to the ownership interests of the other limited partners of the Carlyle Holdings partnerships. The Company, through wholly-owned subsidiaries, was the sole general partner of Carlyle Holdings. Accordingly, the Company consolidated the financial position and results of operations of Carlyle Holdings into its consolidated financial statements, and the other ownership interests in Carlyle Holdings were reflected as non-controlling interests in the Company's consolidated financial statements. Any change to the Company's ownership interest in Carlyle Holdings was accounted for as a transaction within partners' capital as a reallocation of ownership interests in Carlyle Holdings. As part of the Conversion, the limited partners of the Carlyle Holdings partnerships exchanged their Carlyle Holdings partnership units for an equivalent number of shares of common stock of The Carlyle Group Inc., which was accounted for as a transaction within equity. As a result, the consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statement of operations of The Carlyle Group Inc. do not reflect any non-controlling interests in Carlyle Holdings following the Conversion.

# **Earnings Per Common Share**

The Company computes earnings per common share in accordance with ASC 260, *Earnings Per Share*. Basic earnings per common share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) attributable to the common shares of the Company by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per common share reflects the assumed conversion of all dilutive securities. Prior to the Conversion, the Company applied the "if-converted" method to Carlyle Holdings partnership units to determine the dilutive weighted-average common shares outstanding. Net income (loss) attributable to the common shares excludes net income (loss) and dividends attributable to any participating securities under the

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

two-class method of ASC 260. Subsequent to the Conversion, the Company has a single class of stock and therefore, the "if-converted" method is no longer be applied in the computation of diluted earnings per share.

### Investments

Investments include (i) the Company's ownership interests (typically general partner interests) in the Funds, (ii) strategic investments made by the Company (both of which are accounted for as equity method investments), (iii) the investments held by the Consolidated Funds (which are presented at fair value in the Company's consolidated financial statements), and (iv) certain credit-oriented investments, including investments in the CLOs and the preferred securities of TCG BDC, Inc. (the "BDC Preferred Shares") (which are accounted for as trading securities).

The valuation procedures utilized for investments of the Funds vary depending on the nature of the investment. The fair value of investments in publicly-traded securities is based on the closing price of the security with adjustments to reflect appropriate discounts if the securities are subject to restrictions.

The fair value of non-equity securities or other investments, which may include instruments that are not listed on an exchange, considers, among other factors, external pricing sources, such as dealer quotes or independent pricing services, recent trading activity or other information that, in the opinion of the Company, may not have been reflected in pricing obtained from external sources.

When valuing private securities or assets without readily determinable market prices, the Company gives consideration to operating results, financial condition, economic and/or market events, recent sales prices and other pertinent information. These valuation procedures may vary by investment, but include such techniques as comparable public market valuation, comparable acquisition valuation and discounted cash flow analysis. Because of the inherent uncertainty, these estimated values may differ significantly from the values that would have been used had a ready market for the investments existed, and it is reasonably possible that the difference could be material. Furthermore, there is no assurance that, upon liquidation, the Company will realize the values presented herein.

Upon the sale of a security or other investment, the realized net gain or loss is computed on a weighted average cost basis, with the exception of the investments held by the CLOs, which compute the realized net gain or loss on a first in, first out basis. Securities transactions are recorded on a trade date basis.

# Principal Equity Method Investments

The Company accounts for all investments in which it has or is otherwise presumed to have significant influence, including investments in the unconsolidated Funds and strategic investments, using the equity method of accounting. The carrying value of equity method investments is determined based on amounts invested by the Company, adjusted for the equity in earnings or losses of the investee (including performance allocations) allocated based on the respective partnership agreement, less distributions received. The Company evaluates its equity method investments for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of such investments may not be recoverable.

# **Cash and Cash Equivalents**

Cash and cash equivalents include cash held at banks and cash held for distributions, including investments with original maturities of less than three months when purchased.

# Cash and Cash Equivalents Held at Consolidated Funds

Cash and cash equivalents held at Consolidated Funds consists of cash and cash equivalents held by the Consolidated Funds, which, although not legally restricted, is not available to fund the general liquidity needs of the Company.

# **Restricted Cash**

Restricted cash primarily represents cash held by the Company's foreign subsidiaries due to certain government regulatory capital requirements as well as certain amounts held on behalf of Carlyle funds.

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

### **Derivative Instruments**

The Company uses derivative instruments primarily to reduce its exposure to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Derivative instruments are recognized at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets with changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated statements of operations for all derivatives not designated as hedging instruments.

# **Securities Sold Under Agreements to Repurchase**

As it relates to certain European CLOs sponsored by the Company, securities sold under agreements to repurchase ("repurchase agreements") are accounted for as collateralized financing transactions. The Company provides securities to counterparties to collateralize amounts borrowed under repurchase agreements on terms that permit the counterparties to repledge or resell the securities to others. As of December 31, 2020, \$67.3 million of securities were transferred to counterparties under repurchase agreements and are included within investments in the consolidated balance sheets. Cash received under repurchase agreements is recognized as a liability within debt obligations in the consolidated balance sheets. Interest expense is recognized on an effective yield basis and is included within interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations. See Note 7 for additional information.

# **Fixed Assets**

Fixed assets consist of furniture, fixtures and equipment, leasehold improvements, and computer hardware and software and are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is recognized on a straight-line method over the assets' estimated useful lives, which for leasehold improvements are the lesser of the lease terms or the life of the asset, and three to seven years for other fixed assets. Fixed assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.

#### Leases

The Company accounts for its leases in accordance with ASU 2016-2, *Leases (Topic 842)*, and recognizes a lease liability and right-of-use asset in the consolidated balance sheet for contracts that it determines are leases or contain a lease. The Company's leases primarily consist of operating leases for office space in various countries around the world. The Company also has operating leases for office equipment and vehicles, which are not significant. The Company does not separate non-lease components from lease components for its office space and equipment operating leases and instead accounts for each separate lease component and its associated non-lease component as a single lease component. Right-of-use assets represent the Company's right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the Company's obligation to make lease payments arising from the leases. The Company's right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are recognized at lease commencement based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. Lease right-of-use assets include initial direct costs incurred by the Company and are presented net of deferred rent and lease incentives. Absent an implicit interest rate in the lease, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate, adjusted for the effects of collateralization, based on the information available at commencement in determining the present value of lease payments. The Company's lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease term.

The Company does not recognize a lease liability or right-of-use asset on the balance sheet for short-term leases. Instead, the Company recognizes short-term lease payments as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. A short-term lease is defined as a lease that, at the commencement date, has a lease term of 12 months or less and does not include an option to purchase the underlying asset that the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise. When determining whether a lease qualifies as a short-term lease, the Company evaluates the lease term and the purchase option in the same manner as all other leases.

# **Intangible Assets and Goodwill**

The Company's intangible assets consist of acquired contractual rights to earn future fee income, including management and advisory fees, customer relationships, and acquired trademarks. Finite-lived intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives, which range from four to ten years, and are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable.

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the identifiable net assets of businesses acquired and is recorded in the functional currency of the acquired entity. Goodwill is recognized as an asset and is reviewed for impairment annually as of October 1st and between annual tests when events and circumstances indicate that impairment may have occurred.

### **Deferred Revenue**

Deferred revenue represents management fees and other revenue received prior to the balance sheet date, which has not yet been earned. The increase in the deferred revenue balance for the year ended December 31, 2020 was primarily driven by cash payments received in advance of the Company satisfying its performance obligations, partially offset by revenues that were included in the deferred revenue balance at the beginning of the period.

# **Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)**

The Company's accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) is comprised of foreign currency translation adjustments and gains and losses on defined benefit plans sponsored by AlpInvest. The components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 were as follows:

		As of December 31,					
		2020					
	(Dollars in millions)						
Currency translation adjustments	\$	(181.4) \$	(85.1)				
Unrealized losses on defined benefit plans		(27.3)	(6.6)				
Fortitude Re available-for-sale securities		<del>-</del>	6.5				
Total	\$	(208.7) \$	(85.2)				

Pursuant to the Conversion and the limited partners of the Carlyle Holdings partnerships exchange of all Carlyle Holdings partnership units for an equivalent number of shares of common stock of The Carlyle Group Inc., the accumulated other comprehensive loss previously attributable to non-controlling interests in Carlyle Holdings is included in the Company's accumulated other comprehensive loss in the consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statements of changes in equity.

# **Foreign Currency Translation**

Non-U.S. dollar denominated assets and liabilities are translated at period-end rates of exchange, and the consolidated statements of operations are translated at rates of exchange in effect throughout the period. Foreign currency gains (losses) resulting from transactions outside of the functional currency of an entity of \$8.4 million, \$(21.4) million and \$1.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively, are included in general, administrative and other expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

# **Recent Accounting Pronouncements**

Recently Issued Accounting Standards Effective on January 1, 2020

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, *Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820) – Disclosure Framework – Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement.* ASU 2018-13 eliminates, adds and modifies certain disclosure requirements for fair value measurements. This guidance was adopted by the Company on January 1, 2020.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-4, *Intangibles – Goodwill and Other (Topic 350) – Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment.* ASU 2017-04 simplifies an entity's annual goodwill test for impairment by eliminating the requirement to calculate the implied fair value of goodwill, and instead an entity should compare the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount. The impairment charge will then be the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit's fair value. An entity would still have the option to perform a qualitative assessment for a reporting unit to determine if the quantitative impairment test is necessary. The guidance was adopted by the Company on January 1, 2020 using a prospective transition method, and the impact was not material.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, *Accounting for Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326)*. ASU 2016-13 requires an organization to measure all expected credit losses for financial assets held at the reporting date based on historical experience, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. Previously, GAAP required an "incurred

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

loss" methodology that delayed recognition until it was probable a loss had been incurred. Under the new standard, the allowance for credit losses must be deducted from the amortized cost of the financial asset to present the net amount expected to be collected. The income statement will reflect the measurement of credit losses for newly recognized financial assets as well as the expected increases or decreases of expected credit losses that have taken place during the period. The Company adopted this guidance using the modified retrospective transition method on January 1, 2020, and the impact was not material.

### 3. Acquisition of Carlyle Aviation Partners

On December 19, 2018, the Company acquired 100% of the equity interests in Apollo Aviation Group, a Miami, Florida-based multi-strategy investment manager that is engaged in commercial aviation aircraft financing and investment and providing investment management services related to the commercial aviation industry. Upon closing, Apollo Aviation Group was renamed Carlyle Aviation Partners, Ltd. ("Carlyle Aviation Partners") and is included in the Company's Global Credit business segment. At acquisition, Carlyle Aviation Partners had \$5.8 billion in assets under management with an investor base that is predominantly institutional, including public and private pension funds, family offices and endowments. The purchase price consisted of \$74.5 million in cash. The transaction also included an earn-out of up to \$150.0 million that is payable upon the achievement of certain revenue and earnings performance targets during 2020 through 2025, which is accounted for as compensation expense. As of December 31, 2020, the Company recorded \$50.6 million in accrued compensation and benefits related to this earn-out. The Company consolidated the financial position and results of operations of Carlyle Aviation Partners effective December 19, 2018 and accounted for this transaction as a business combination. In connection with this transaction, the Company incurred approximately \$4.3 million of acquisition costs that were recorded as an expense for the year ended December 31, 2018.

See Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements included in the Company's 2018 Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information on the Carlyle Aviation Partners acquisition.

# 4. Fair Value Measurement

The fair value measurement accounting guidance establishes a hierarchical disclosure framework which ranks the observability of market price inputs used in measuring financial instruments at fair value. The observability of inputs is impacted by a number of factors, including the type of financial instrument, the characteristics specific to the financial instrument and the state of the marketplace, including the existence and transparency of transactions between market participants. Financial instruments with readily available quoted prices, or for which fair value can be measured from quoted prices in active markets, will generally have a higher degree of market price observability and a lesser degree of judgment applied in determining fair value.

Financial instruments measured and reported at fair value are classified and disclosed based on the observability of inputs used in the determination of fair values, as follows:

Level I – inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices available in active markets for identical instruments as of the reporting date. The type of financial instruments in this category include unrestricted securities, such as equities and derivatives, listed in active markets. The Company does not adjust the quoted price for these instruments, even in situations where the Company holds a large position and a sale could reasonably impact the quoted price.

Level II — inputs to the valuation methodology are other than quoted prices in active markets, which are either directly or indirectly observable as of the reporting date. The types of financial instruments in this category include less liquid and restricted securities listed in active markets, securities traded in other than active markets, government and agency securities, and certain over-the-counter derivatives where the fair value is based on observable inputs.

Level III — inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to overall fair value measurement. The inputs into the determination of fair value require significant management judgment or estimation. The types of financial instruments in this category include investments in privately-held entities, non-investment grade residual interests in securitizations, collateralized loan obligations, and certain overthe-counter derivatives where the fair value is based on unobservable inputs.

In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, the determination of which category within the fair value hierarchy is appropriate for any given financial instrument is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Company's assessment of the

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment and considers factors specific to the financial instrument.

In certain cases, debt and equity securities are valued on the basis of prices from an orderly transaction between market participants provided by reputable dealers or pricing services. In determining the value of a particular investment, pricing services may use certain information with respect to transactions in such investments, quotations from dealers, pricing matrices, market transactions in comparable investments and various relationships between investments.

The following table summarizes the Company's assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis by the above fair value hierarchy levels as of December 31, 2020:

	Level I Level II		Level III		Total				
Assets			(Dollars in millions)						
Investments of Consolidated Funds:									
Equity securities	\$	_	\$ -	- \$	9.4	\$	9.4		
Bonds		_	_	_	550.4		550.4		
Loans		<u> </u>			5,497.1		5,497.1		
		_	-	_	6,056.9		6,056.9		
Investments in CLOs and other:									
Investments in CLOs and other		_	-	_	570.8		570.8		
Partnership and LLC interests <sup>(1)</sup>		<u> </u>			16.4		16.4		
		_	-	_	587.2		587.2		
Foreign currency forward contracts		_	0	7	_		0.7		
Total	\$		\$ 0	7 \$	6,644.1	\$	6,644.8		
Liabilities				= =					
Loans payable of Consolidated Funds <sup>(2)</sup>	\$	_	\$ -	- \$	5,563.0	\$	5,563.0		
Foreign currency forward contracts		_	0	4	_		0.4		
Total	\$		\$ 0	4 \$	5,563.0	\$	5,563.4		

- (1) Balance represents Fund Investments that the Company reports based on the most recent available information which typically has a lag of up to 90 days.
- (2) Senior and subordinated notes issued by CLO vehicles are valued based on the more observable fair value of the CLO financial assets, less (i) the fair value of any beneficial interest held by the Company and (ii) the carrying value of any beneficial interests that represent compensation for services.

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

The following table summarizes the Company's assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis by the above fair value hierarchy levels as of December 31, 2019:

	Level I		Level II	Level III	Total
Assets			(Dollars i	in millions)	
Investments of Consolidated Funds:					
Equity securities	\$	_	\$ —	\$ 19.4	\$ 19.4
Bonds		_	_	574.1	574.1
Loans			<u> </u>	4,413.8	4,413.8
		_	_	5,007.3	 5,007.3
Investments in CLOs and other		_	_	496.2	496.2
Foreign currency forward contracts		_	0.1	_	0.1
Total	\$		\$ 0.1	\$ 5,503.5	\$ 5,503.6
Liabilities					
Loans payable of Consolidated Funds <sup>(1)</sup>	\$	_	\$ —	\$ 4,685.2	\$ 4,685.2
Foreign currency forward contracts		_	0.3	_	0.3
Total	\$		\$ 0.3	\$ 4,685.2	\$ 4,685.5

(1) Senior and subordinated notes issued by CLO vehicles are valued based on the more observable fair value of the CLO financial assets, less (i) the fair value of any beneficial interests held by the Company and (ii) the carrying value of any beneficial interests that represent compensation for services.

Investment professionals with responsibility for the underlying investments are responsible for preparing the investment valuations pursuant to the policies, methodologies and templates prepared by the Company's valuation group, which is a team made up of dedicated valuation professionals reporting to the Company's chief accounting officer. The valuation group is responsible for maintaining the Company's valuation policy and related guidance, templates and systems that are designed to be consistent with the guidance found in ASC 820, *Fair Value Measurement*. These valuations, inputs and preliminary conclusions are reviewed by the fund accounting teams. The valuations are then reviewed and approved by the respective fund valuation subcommittees, which include the respective fund head(s), segment head, chief financial officer and chief accounting officer, as well as members of the valuation group. The valuation group compiles the aggregate results and significant matters and presents them for review and approval by the global valuation committee, which includes the Company's co-chairmen of the board, chairman emeritus, chief executive officer, chief risk officer, chief financial officer, chief accounting officer, and the business segment heads, and observed by the chief compliance officer, the director of internal audit, the Company's audit committee and others. Additionally, each quarter a sample of valuations are reviewed by external valuation firms. Valuations of the funds' investments are used in the calculation of accrued performance allocations, or "carried interest".

In the absence of observable market prices, the Company values its investments using valuation methodologies applied on a consistent basis. For some investments little market activity may exist. Management's determination of fair value is then based on the best information available in the circumstances and may incorporate management's own assumptions and involve a significant degree of judgment, taking into consideration a combination of internal and external factors, including the appropriate risk adjustments for non-performance and liquidity risks. Investments for which market prices are not observable include private investments in the equity of operating companies and real estate properties, and certain debt positions. The valuation technique for each of these investments is described below:

Private Equity and Real Estate Investments – The fair values of private equity investments are determined by reference to projected net earnings, earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA"), the discounted cash flow method, public market or private transactions, valuations for comparable companies or sales of comparable assets, and other measures which, in many cases, are unaudited at the time received. The methods used to estimate the fair value of real estate investments include the discounted cash flow method and/or capitalization rate ("cap rate") analysis. Valuations may be derived by reference to observable valuation measures for comparable companies or transactions (e.g., applying a key performance metric of the investment such as EBITDA or net operating income to a relevant valuation multiple or cap rate observed in the range of comparable companies or transactions), adjusted by management for differences between the investment and the referenced comparables, and in some instances by

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

reference to option pricing models or other similar models. Adjustments to observable valuation measures are frequently made upon the initial investment to calibrate the initial investment valuation to industry observable inputs. Such adjustments are made to align the investment to observable industry inputs for differences in size, profitability, projected growth rates, geography and capital structure if applicable. The adjustments are reviewed with each subsequent valuation to assess how the investment has evolved relative to the observable inputs. Additionally, the investment may be subject to certain specific risks and/or development milestones which are also taken into account in the valuation assessment. Option pricing models and similar tools do not currently drive a significant portion of private equity or real estate valuations and are used primarily to value warrants, derivatives, certain restrictions and other atypical investment instruments.

Credit-Oriented Investments – The fair values of credit-oriented investments (including corporate treasury investments) are generally determined on the basis of prices between market participants provided by reputable dealers or pricing services. In determining the value of a particular investment, pricing services may use certain information with respect to transactions in such investments, quotations from dealers, pricing matrices, market transactions in comparable investments and various relationships between investments. Specifically, for investments in distressed debt and corporate loans and bonds, the fair values are generally determined by valuations of comparable investments. In some instances, the Company may utilize other valuation techniques, including the discounted cash flow method.

CLO Investments and CLO Loans Payable – The Company measures the financial liabilities of its consolidated CLOs based on the fair value of the financial assets of its consolidated CLOs, as the Company believes the fair value of the financial assets are more observable. The fair values of the CLO loan and bond assets are primarily based on quotations from reputable dealers or relevant pricing services. In situations where valuation quotations are unavailable, the assets are valued based on similar securities, market index changes, and other factors. The Company performs certain procedures to ensure the reliability of the quotations from pricing services. Generally, the loan and bond assets of the CLOs are not publicly traded and are classified as Level III. The fair values of the CLO structured asset positions are determined based on both discounted cash flow analyses and third party quotes. Those analyses consider the position size, liquidity, current financial condition of the CLOs, the third party financing environment, reinvestment rates, recovery lags, discount rates and default forecasts and are compared to broker quotations from market makers and third party dealers.

The Company measures the CLO loan payables held by third party beneficial interest holders on the basis of the fair value of the financial assets of the CLO and the beneficial interests held by the Company. The Company continues to measure the CLO loans payable that it holds at fair value based on both discounted cash flow analyses and third-party quotes, as described above.

Fund Investments – The Company's primary and secondary investments in external funds are valued based on its proportionate share of the net assets provided by the third party general partners of the underlying fund partnerships based on the most recent available information which typically has a lag of up to 90 days. The terms of the investments generally preclude the ability to redeem the investment. Distributions from these investments will be received as the underlying assets in the funds are liquidated, the timing of which cannot be readily determined.

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

The changes in financial instruments measured at fair value for which the Company has used Level III inputs to determine fair value are as follows (Dollars in millions):

Financial Assets Year Ended December 31, 2020 **Investments of Consolidated Funds** Equity securities Investments in CLOs and other Total Bonds Loans Balance, beginning of period 19.4 574.1 \$ 4,413.8 496.2 5,503.5 Deconsolidation of funds (1) (156.4)(210.2)(363.4)3.2 342.1 Purchases 156.9 2,641.0 148.9 3,288.9 Sales and distributions (33.7)(399.2)(1,163.6)(93.5)(1,690.0)Settlements (0.3)(417.0)(417.3) Realized and unrealized gains (losses), net Included in earnings 23.2 (4.6)(50.5)24.1 (7.8)Included in other comprehensive income 38.3 283.6 8.3 330.2 9.4 550.4 5,497.1 587.2 6,644.1 Balance, end of period Changes in unrealized gains (losses) included in earnings related to financial assets still held at the reporting date \$ 7.5 \$ 5.8 \$ (31.6) \$ 24.1 \$ 5.8 Changes in unrealized gains (losses) included in other comprehensive income related to financial assets still held at the reporting date (0.1) \$ 24.6 226.0 8.3 \$ 258.8

Financial Accets Very Ended December 21, 2010

			Financial Ass	ets 1	ear Ended Dece	mber	31, 2019	
	Investr	nent	ts of Consolidat	ed F	unds			
	Equity securities		Bonds		Loans		vestments in Os and other	Total
Balance, beginning of period	\$ 	\$	690.1	\$	4,596.5	\$	446.4	\$ 5,733.0
Deconsolidation/consolidation of funds (2)	_		_		(294.8)		(2.7)	(297.5)
Purchases	21.6		312.4		1,905.2		128.8	2,368.0
Sales and distributions	(1.1)		(441.2)		(1,037.7)		(80.1)	(1,560.1)
Settlements	_		_		(632.7)		_	(632.7)
Realized and unrealized gains (losses), net								
Included in earnings	(1.1)		26.6		(51.2)		(4.1)	(29.8)
Included in other comprehensive	_		(13.8)		(71.5)		7.9	(77.4)
Balance, end of period	\$ 19.4	\$	574.1	\$	4,413.8	\$	496.2	\$ 5,503.5
Changes in unrealized gains (losses) included in earnings related to financial assets still held at the reporting date	\$ (5.0)	\$	13.5	\$	(80.2)	\$	(4.9)	\$ (76.6)

<sup>(1)</sup> As a result of the deconsolidation of one CLO during the year ended December 31, 2020 the investment that the Company held in this fund is no longer eliminated in consolidation and is now included in investments in CLOs and other. Additionally, a renewable energy fund was deconsolidated during the year ended December 31, 2020.

<sup>(2)</sup> As a result of the consolidation of one CLO during the year ended December 31, 2019, the investment that the Company held in that CLO is now eliminated in consolidation and no longer included in investments in CLOs and other. Additionally, two CLOs were deconsolidated during the year ended December 31, 2019 and as a result the investments that the Company held in those CLOs are no longer eliminated in consolidation and are now included in investments in CLOs and other.

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

# Financial Liabilities Loans Payable of Consolidated Funds Vear Ended December 31

	Year Ended	Decemi	oer 31,
	2020		2019
Balance, beginning of period	\$ 4,685.2	\$	4,840.1
Deconsolidation/consolidation of funds	(144.8)		(285.9)
Borrowings	2,096.2		1,144.3
Paydowns	(1,109.9)		(940.8)
Sales	(260.4)		_
Realized and unrealized (gains) losses, net			
Included in earnings	(15.9)		16.9
Included in other comprehensive income	312.6		(89.4)
Balance, end of period	\$ 5,563.0	\$	4,685.2
Changes in unrealized (gains) losses included in earnings related to financial liabilities still held at the reporting date	\$ (36.2)	\$	16.3
Changes in unrealized (gains) losses included in other comprehensive income related to financial liabilities still held at the reporting date	\$ 364.3		

Realized and unrealized gains and losses included in earnings for Level III investments for investments in CLOs and other investments are included in investment income (loss), and such gains and losses for investments of Consolidated Funds and loans payable of the Consolidated Funds are included in net investment gains (losses) of Consolidated Funds in the consolidated statements of operations.

Gains and losses included in other comprehensive income for all Level III financial asset and liabilities are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss, non-controlling interests in consolidated entities and, prior to the Conversion, non-controlling interests in Carlyle Holdings in the consolidated balance sheets.

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

The following table summarizes quantitative information about the Company's Level III inputs as of December 31, 2020:

(Dollars in millions)		Value at er 31, 2020	Valuation Technique(s)	Unobservable Input(s)	Range (Weighted Average)
Assets					Average)
Investments of Consolidated Funds:					
Equity securities	\$	9.4	Consensus Pricing	Indicative Quotes (\$ per share)	0.00 - 40.00 (0.57)
Equity securities	Ψ	511	Conscisus i nemg	mateurite Quotes (4 per snare)	0.00 10.00 (0.07)
Bonds		550.4	Consensus Pricing	Indicative Quotes (% of Par)	85 - 108 (98)
Loans		5,497.1	Consensus Pricing	Indicative Quotes (% of Par)	15 - 108 (97)
		6,056.9		,	
Investments in CLOs and other		5,525.0			
Senior secured notes		437.0	Discounted Cash Flow with Consensus Pricing	Discount Margins (Basis Points)	85 - 1,725 (227)
				Default Rates	1% - 2% (1%)
				Recovery Rates	50% - 70% (60%)
				Indicative Quotes (% of Par)	71 - 100 (98)
Subordinated notes and preferred shares		52.5	Discounted Cash Flow with Consensus Pricing	Discount Rate	16% - 30% (23%)
				Default Rates	1% - 2% (1%)
				Recovery Rates	50% - 70% (60%)
				Indicative Quotes (% of Par)	31 - 90 (46)
Partnership and LLC interests		16.4	NAV of Underlying Fund <sup>(1)</sup>	N/A	N/A
BDC preferred shares		60.0	Discounted Cash Flow	Discount Rates	7% - 7% (7%)
Aviation subordinated notes		7.2	Discounted Cash Flow	Discount Rates	20% - 20% (20%)
Loans		14.1	Consensus Pricing	Indicative Quotes (% of Par)	98 - 100 (100)
Total	\$	6,644.1			
Liabilities					
Loans payable of Consolidated Funds:					
Senior secured notes	\$	5,358.9	Other <sup>(2)</sup>	N/A	N/A
Subordinated notes and preferred shares		204.1	Discounted Cash Flow with Consensus Pricing	Discount Rates	16% - 30% (22%)
				Default Rates	1% - 2% (1%)
				Recovery Rates	50% - 70% (60%)
				Indicative Quotes (% of Par)	30 - 91 (50)
Total	\$	5,563.0			

 <sup>(1)</sup> Represents the Company's investments in funds that are valued using the NAV of the underlying fund.
 (2) Senior and subordinated notes issued by CLO vehicles are classified based on the more observable fair value of the CLO financial assets, less (i) the fair value of any beneficial interests held by the Company and (ii) the carrying value of any beneficial interests that represent compensation for services.

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

The following table summarizes quantitative information about the Company's Level III inputs as of December 31, 2019:

	F	air Value at			Range (Weighted
(Dollars in millions)	Dece	mber 31, 2019	Valuation Technique(s)	Unobservable Input(s)	Average)
Assets					
Investments of Consolidated Funds:					
Equity securities	\$	1.6	Consensus Pricing	Indicative Quotes (\$ per share)	0.01 - 25.18 (0.04)
		17.8	Discounted Cash Flow	Discount Rates	8% - 8% (8%)
Bonds		574.1	Consensus Pricing	Indicative Quotes (% of Par)	0 - 108 (98)
Loans		4,413.8	Consensus Pricing	Indicative Quotes (% of Par)	38 - 101 (97)
		5,007.3			
Investments in CLOs and other					
Senior secured notes		399.4	Discounted Cash Flow with Consensus Pricing	Discount Margins (Basis Points)	50 - 1,450 (210)
				Default Rates	1% - 4% (2%)
				Recovery Rates	45% - 75% (58%)
				Indicative Quotes (% of Par)	75 - 100 (98)
Subordinated notes and preferred shares		55.1	Discounted Cash Flow with Consensus Pricing	Discount Rates	10% - 15% (12%)
				Default Rates	1% - 4% (2%)
				Recovery Rates	45% - 75% (57%)
				Indicative Quotes (% of Par)	33 - 89 (57)
Aviation subordinated notes		4.3	Discounted Cash Flow	Discount Rates	15% - 15% (15%)
Loans		37.4	Consensus Pricing	Indicative Quotes (% of Par)	99 - 100 (99)
Total	\$	5,503.5			
Liabilities					
Loans payable of Consolidated Funds:					
Senior secured notes	\$	4,446.4	Other <sup>(1)</sup>	N/A	N/A
Subordinated notes and preferred shares		238.8	Discounted Cash Flow with Consensus Pricing	Discount Rates	10% - 15% (13%)
			-	Default Rates	1% - 4% (3%)
				Recovery Rates	45% - 75% (61%)
				Indicative Quotes (% of Par)	40 - 82 (62)
Total	\$	4,685.2			

(1) Senior and subordinated notes issued by CLO vehicles are classified based on the more observable fair value of the CLO financial assets, less (i) the fair value of any beneficial interests held by the Company and (ii) the carrying value of any beneficial interests that represent compensation for services.

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of investments of the Company's consolidated funds are indicative quotes. Significant decreases in indicative quotes in isolation would result in a significantly lower fair value measurement.

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of the Company's investments in CLOs and other investments include discount margins, discount rates, default rates, recovery rates and indicative quotes. Significant decreases in recovery rates or indicative quotes in isolation would result in a significantly lower fair value measurement. Significant increases in discount margins, discount rates or default rates in isolation would result in a significantly lower fair value measurement.

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of the Company's loans payable of Consolidated Funds are discount rates, default rates, recovery rates and indicative quotes. Significant increases in discount rates

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

or default rates in isolation would result in a significantly lower fair value measurement. Significant decreases in recovery rates or indicative quotes in isolation would result in a significantly lower fair value measurement.

#### 5. Investments

Investments consist of the following:

	 As of December	er 31,
	 2020	2019
	 (Dollars in mill	ions)
Accrued performance allocations	\$ 4,968.6 \$	3,855.6
Principal equity method investments, excluding performance allocations	1,810.8	2,443.6
Principal investments in CLOs and other	601.5	505.2
Total investments	\$ 7,380.9 \$	6,804.4

### **Accrued Performance Allocations**

The components of accrued performance allocations are as follows:

		As of Dec	ember 31,	
	202	20		2019
	•	(Dollars in	n millions)	
Global Private Equity	\$	3,926.1	\$	2,871.9
Global Credit		132.3		136.9
Investment Solutions (1)		910.2		846.8
Total	\$	4,968.6	\$	3,855.6

(1) The Company's primary and secondary investments in external funds are generally valued based on its proportionate share of the net assets provided by the third party general partners of the underlying fund partnerships based on the most recent available information which typically has a lag of up to 90 days. As a result, amounts presented may not include the impact of economic activity in the current quarter.

Approximately 41% and 26% of accrued performance allocations at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, are related to Carlyle Partners VI, L.P., one of the Company's Global Private Equity funds.

Accrued performance allocations are shown gross of the Company's accrued performance allocations and incentive fee-related compensation (see Note 8), and accrued giveback obligations, which are separately presented in the consolidated balance sheets. The components of the accrued giveback obligations are as follows:

	As of Dec	ember 31,	
	 2020	2019	)
	 (Dollars i	n millions)	
Global Private Equity	\$ (18.4)	\$	(22.2)
Global Credit	(0.3)		_
Total	\$ (18.7)	\$	(22.2)

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

# **Principal Equity-Method Investments, Excluding Performance Allocations**

The Company's equity method investments (excluding performance allocations) include its fund investments in Global Private Equity, Global Credit, and Investment Solutions typically as general partner interests, and its strategic investments in Fortitude Re (included within Global Credit) and NGP (included within Global Private Equity), which are not consolidated. Principal investments are related to the following segments:

	As of	December 3	81,
	2020		2019
	(Dolla	rs in millio	ns)
Global Private Equity	\$ 1,08	2.1 \$	1,021.8
Global Credit	67	l <b>.9</b>	1,299.6
Investment Solutions <sup>(1)</sup>	5	<b>5.8</b>	122.2
Total	\$ 1,81	).8 \$	2,443.6

<sup>(1)</sup> Principal equity method investments for Investment Solutions as of December 31, 2019 includes approximately \$66.0 million related to certain entities which were deconsolidated during the year ended December 31, 2020.

The summarized financial information of the Company's equity method investees from the date of initial investment is as follows (Dollars in millions):

		Global vate Equity	7				Gle	obal Credit				Inv	estn	nent Soluti	ons			A	ggr	egate Tota	ls	
	Fo	e Year End cember 31,	led		For the Year Ended December 31,					For the Year Ended December 31,						For the Year Ended December 31,						
	2020	2019		2018		2020		2019		2018		2020		2019		2018		2020		2019		2018
Statement of operations information																						
Investment income	\$ 652.7	\$ 1,298.7	\$	1,283.9	\$	1,012.2	\$	517.7	\$	319.5	\$	50.5	\$	33.4	\$	46.1	\$	1,715.4	\$	1,849.8	\$	1,649.5
Expenses	1,702.2	1,737.6		1,447.5		240.7		171.0		145.5		965.2		771.3		672.6		2,908.1		2,679.9		2,265.6
Net investment income (loss)	(1,049.5)	(438.9)		(163.6)		771.5		346.7		174.0		(914.7)		(737.9)		(626.5)		(1,192.7)		(830.1)		(616.1)
Net realized and unrealized gain (loss)	7,889.4	3,285.2		6,269.1		(682.5)		(513.2)		(116.7)		4,039.7		4,177.8		3,243.2		11,246.6		6,949.8		9,395.6
Net income (loss)	\$ 6,839.9	\$ 2,846.3	\$	6,105.5	\$	89.0	\$	(166.5)	\$	57.3	\$	3,125.0	\$	3,439.9	\$	2,616.7	\$	10,053.9	\$	6,119.7	\$	8,779.5

	Gl Private	obal e Equ	ity	Globa	Cre	dit		Investmer	ıt Sol	utions	Aggrega	ite To	tals		
	As of December 31,			As of December 31,				As of Dec	emb	er 31,	As of December 31,				
	 2020		2019	2020		2019		2020		2019	2020		2019		
Balance sheet information											 				
Investments	\$ 87,377.2	\$	80,709.6	\$ 12,822.2	\$	5,931.9	\$	24,028.1	\$	20,575.4	\$ 124,227.5	\$	107,216.9		
Total assets	\$ 92,381.0	\$	84,540.9	\$ 13,795.9	\$	6,404.6	\$	23,914.0	\$	20,393.0	\$ 130,090.9	\$	111,338.5		
Debt	\$ 9,998.7	\$	8,686.0	\$ 3,151.9	\$	1,232.8	\$	753.9	\$	19.3	\$ 13,904.5	\$	9,938.1		
Other liabilities	\$ 1,118.8	\$	1,201.6	\$ 310.4	\$	164.8	\$	507.8	\$	449.8	\$ 1,937.0	\$	1,816.2		
Total liabilities	\$ 11,117.5	\$	9,887.6	\$ 3,462.3	\$	1,397.6	\$	1,261.7	\$	469.1	\$ 15,841.5	\$	11,754.3		
Partners' capital	\$ 81,263.5	\$	74,653.3	\$ 10,333.6	\$	5,007.0	\$	22,652.3	\$	19,923.9	\$ 114,249.4	\$	99,584.2		

# Strategic Investment in Fortitude Re (f/k/a DSA Re)

On November 13, 2018, the Company acquired a 19.9% interest in Fortitude Group Holdings, LLC ("Fortitude Holdings"), a wholly owned subsidiary of American International Group, Inc. ("AIG") ("the Minority Transaction"), pursuant to a Membership Interest Purchase Agreement by and among the Company, AIG and Fortitude Holdings, dated as of July 31, 2018 (the "2018 MIPA"). Fortitude Holdings owns 100% of the outstanding common shares of Fortitude Reinsurance Company Ltd., a Bermuda domiciled reinsurer ("Fortitude Re", f/k/a "DSA Re") established to reinsure a portfolio of AIG's legacy life, annuity and property and casualty liabilities.

The Company paid \$381 million in cash at closing of the Minority Transaction (the "Initial Purchase Price") and expects to pay up to \$95 million in additional deferred consideration following December 31, 2023. In May 2020, the Initial

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

Purchase Price was adjusted upward by \$99.5 million in accordance with the 2018 MIPA as Fortitude Holdings chose not to distribute a planned non-pro rata dividend to AIG prior to May 13, 2020. The Company paid \$79.6 million of such adjustment in May 2020 and will pay the remaining \$19.9 million following December 31, 2023.

On June 2, 2020, Carlyle FRL, L.P. ("Carlyle FRL"), a Carlyle-affiliated investment fund, acquired a 51.6% ownership interest in Fortitude Holdings from AIG (the "Control Transaction") and T&D United Capital Co., Ltd. ("T&D"), a subsidiary of T&D Holdings, Inc., purchased a 25.0% ownership interest as a strategic third-party investor pursuant to a Membership Interest Purchase Agreement by and among the Company, AIG, Carlyle FRL, and T&D, dated as of November 25, 2019 (the "2019 MIPA"). At closing, the Company contributed its existing 19.9% interest in Fortitude Holdings to Carlyle FRL, such that Carlyle FRL holds a 71.5% interest in Fortitude Holdings. Taken together, Carlyle FRL and T&D have 96.5% ownership of Fortitude Holdings. Additionally, AIG agreed to a post-closing purchase price adjustment pursuant to which AIG will contribute to Fortitude Re an amount to cover certain adverse reserve developments in Fortitude Re's property and casualty insurance business, based on an agreed methodology, that occur on or prior to December 31, 2023, up to \$500 million.

The Company has a strategic asset management relationship with Fortitude Holdings pursuant to which Fortitude Holdings committed to allocate assets in asset management strategies and vehicles of the Company and its affiliates. If Fortitude Holdings fails to allocate an agreed upon amount of assets to the Company's asset management strategies and vehicles within 30 to 36 months of the closing of the Minority Transaction, the Company may be entitled to certain payments from Fortitude Holdings based on the commitment shortfall and assumed customary rates. As of December 31, 2020, Fortitude Holdings and AIG have committed approximately \$4.7 billion of capital to-date to various Carlyle strategies.

Prior to the Control Transaction, the Company's investment was accounted for under the equity method of accounting by recognizing its pro rata share of Fortitude Holdings' U.S. GAAP earnings, which is included in principal investment income in the consolidated statements of operations. These amounts are inclusive of unrealized gains (losses) related to the change in fair value of embedded derivatives related to certain reinsurance contracts included in Fortitude Re's U.S. GAAP financial statements. Modified coinsurance is subject to the general accounting principles for hedging, specifically the guidance originally issued as Derivatives Implementation Group Issue No. B36: Embedded Derivatives: Modified Coinsurance Agreements and Debt Instruments That Incorporate Credit Risk Exposures That Are Unrelated or Only Partially Related to the Creditworthiness of the Obligor under Those Instruments ("DIG B36"). As of December 31, 2019, the Company's investment in Fortitude Holdings was \$1,200.9 million, which reflected \$628.2 million of cumulative unrealized gains related to the change in the fair value of embedded derivatives.

At the time the Company contributed its existing 19.9% stake in Fortitude Holdings to Carlyle FRL, the Company's investment became an ownership interest in the fund. Accordingly, the Company began accounting for its investment under the equity method based on its net asset value in Carlyle FRL, which is an investment company that accounts for its investment in Fortitude Holdings at fair value. The contribution of the Company's 19.9% interest to Carlyle FRL resulted in a loss in principal investment income (loss) of \$620.7 million in the during the year ended December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, the Company's investment in Carlyle FRL was \$554.4 million, relative to its cost of \$465.4 million. Following the contribution, the Company no longer records its pro rata share of the U.S. GAAP earnings of Fortitude Holdings. Refer to Note 4 in the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2020 and the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 for summarized financial information of Fortitude Holdings as of and for the periods then ended.

# Strategic Investment in NGP

The Company has equity interests in NGP Management Company, L.L.C. ("NGP Management"), the general partners of certain carry funds advised by NGP, and principal investments in certain NGP funds. The Company accounts for its investments in NGP under the equity method of accounting, and includes these investments in the Global Private Equity segment. These interests entitle the Company to an allocation of income equal to 55.0% of the management fee-related revenues of NGP Management which serves as the investment advisor to certain NGP funds as well as 47.5% of the performance allocations received by certain current and future NGP fund general partners.

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

The Company's investments in NGP as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

	 As of Dec	embe	er 31,			
	 2020		2019			
	(Dollars i	n mil	lions)			
Investment in NGP Management	\$ 373.5	\$	383.6			
Principal investments in NGP funds	51.4		67.9			
Total investments in NGP	\$ 424.9	<b>\$ 424.9</b> \$ 451.5				

Investment in NGP Management. The Company's equity interests in NGP Management entitle the Company to an allocation of income equal to 55.0% of the management fee-related revenues of NGP Management, which serves as the investment advisor to the NGP Energy Funds. Management fees are generally calculated as 1.0% to 2.0% of the limited partners' commitments during the fund's investment period, and 0.6% to 2.0% based on the lower of cost or fair market value of invested capital following the expiration or termination of the investment period. Management fee-related revenues from NGP Management are primarily driven by NGP XII, NGP XI and NGP X during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

The Company records investment income (loss) for its equity income allocation from NGP management fee-related revenues and also records its share of any allocated expenses from NGP Management, expenses associated with the compensatory elements of the strategic investment, and the amortization of the basis differences related to the definite-lived identifiable intangible assets of NGP Management. The net investment income (loss) recognized in the Company's consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,					
2020		2019		2018	
	(Dolla	ars in millions	i)		
\$ 73.9	\$	97.8	\$	96.0	
(11.0)		(10.5)		(13.1)	
(4.3)		(5.7)		(7.1)	
\$ 58.6	\$	81.6	\$	75.8	
\$ \$	\$ 73.9 (11.0) (4.3)	2020 (Dolla \$ 73.9 \$ (11.0) (4.3)	2020     2019       (Dollars in millions)       \$ 73.9     97.8       (11.0)     (10.5)       (4.3)     (5.7)	2020   2019	

The difference between the Company's remaining carrying value of its investment and its share of the underlying net assets of the investee was \$4.2 million, \$8.5 million and \$14.2 million as of December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively; these differences are amortized over a period of 10 years from the initial investment date. The Company assesses the remaining carrying value of its equity method investment for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable, and considers factors including, but not limited to, expected cash flows from its interest in future management fees and NGP's ability to raise new funds.

Investment in the General Partners of NGP Carry Funds. The Company's investment in the general partners of the NGP Carry Funds entitle it to 47.5% of the performance allocations received by certain current and future NGP fund general partners. The Company records its equity income allocation from NGP performance allocations in principal investment income (loss) from equity method investments rather than performance allocations in its consolidated statements of operations. There were no net investment earnings (losses) related to these performance allocations for the year ended December 31, 2020. The Company recognized net investment earnings (losses) related to these performance allocations in its consolidated statements of operations of \$(151.0) million and \$7.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

*Principal Investments in NGP Funds.* The Company also holds principal investments in the NGP Carry Funds. The Company recognized net investment earnings (losses) related to principal investment income in its consolidated statements of operations of \$(12.0) million and \$(9.0) million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The net investment loss related to principal investment income for the year ended December 31, 2018 was not significant.

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

# **Principal Investments in CLOs and Other Investments**

Principal investments in CLOs and other investments as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 primarily consisted of \$601.5 million and \$505.2 million, respectively, of investments in CLO senior and subordinated notes. A portion of these investments is collateral to CLO term loans (see Note 7). As of December 31, 2020, principal investments in CLOs and other investments also includes the Company's investment in the BDC Preferred Shares at fair value of \$60.0 million (see Note 10).

# **Investment Income (Loss)**

The components of investment income (loss) are as follows:

	Year Ended December 31,				
	2020		2020 2019		2018
			(Dollars in millions)		
Performance allocations					
Realized	\$	591.1	\$ 354.8	\$	693.8
Unrealized		1,044.8	444.3		(70.9)
		1,635.9	799.1		622.9
Principal investment income from equity method investments (excluding performance allocations)					
Realized		135.5	189.5		122.9
Unrealized		(679.3)	585.4		66.4
		(543.8)	774.9		189.3
Principal investment income (loss) from investments in CLOs and other investments					
Realized		0.3	1.0		1.5
Unrealized		2.8	(6.6)		(4.5)
		3.1	(5.6)		(3.0)
Total	\$	1,095.2	\$ 1,568.4	\$	809.2

The performance allocations included in revenues are derived from the following segments:

	Year Ended December 31,					
	2020	2019		2018		
		(Dollars in millions)				
Global Private Equity	\$ 1,440.5	\$ 550.4	\$	439.8		
Global Credit	21.5	38.5		9.1		
Investment Solutions	173.9	210.2		174.0		
Total	\$ 1,635.9	\$ 799.1	\$	622.9		

Approximately 89%, or \$1,455.3 million, of performance allocations for the year ended December 31, 2020 are related to the following funds along with total revenue recognized (total revenue includes performance allocations, fund management fees, and principal investment income):

- Carlyle Partners VI, L.P. (Global Private Equity segment) \$1,251.5 million,
- Carlyle Asia Partners IV, L.P. (Global Private Equity segment) \$374.1 million,

Approximately 34%, or \$273.6 million, of performance allocations for the year ended December 31, 2019 are related to the following funds along with total revenue recognized (total revenue includes performance allocations, fund management fees, and principal investment income):

- Carlyle Partners VI, L.P. (Global Private Equity segment) \$239.0 million,
- Carlyle Realty Partners V, L.P. (Global Private Equity segment) \$158.5 million,

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

- · AlpInvest Co- & Secondary Investments 2006-2008 (Investment Solutions segment) \$83.5 million, and
- Carlyle Europe Partners IV, L.P. (Global Private Equity segment) \$(82.9) million.

Additionally, \$(110.9) million in total revenue was recognized from the Company's investment in NGP XI for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Approximately 32%, or \$201.7 million, of performance allocations for the year ended December 31, 2018 are related to the following funds along with total revenue recognized (total revenue includes performance allocations, fund management fees, and principal investment income):

- Carlyle Partners VI, L.P. (Global Private Equity segment) \$277.0 million,
- Carlyle Realty Partners VII, L.P. (Global Private Equity segment) \$173.9 million,
- Carlyle Europe Partners IV, L.P. (Global Private Equity segment) \$140.4 million,
- Carlyle International Energy Partners, L.P. (Global Private Equity segment) \$122.7 million,
- Carlyle Partners V, L.P. (Global Private Equity segment) \$87.2 million,
- Carlyle Realty Partners V, L.P. (Global Private Equity segment) \$(58.0) million, and
- Carlyle Asia Partners IV, L.P. (Global Private Equity segment) \$(208.0) million.

Carlyle's principal investment income (loss) from its equity-method investments consists of:

	Year Ended December 31,					
	2020		2019		2018	
		(Dolla	rs in millions)			
Global Private Equity	\$ 137	.1 \$	45.2	\$	125.0	
Global Credit (inclusive of earnings from Fortitude Re)	(690	.4)	718.2		55.8	
Investment Solutions	9	.5	11.5		8.5	
Total	\$ (543	.8) \$	774.9	\$	189.3	

The principal investment income (loss) in Global Credit for December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 includes \$(691.8) million, \$722.9 million and \$57.9 million, respectively, from the Company's equity method investment in Fortitude Holdings.

### **Investments of Consolidated Funds**

The Company consolidates the financial positions and results of operations of certain CLOs in which it is the primary beneficiary. As of December 31, 2019, the Company also consolidated the financial position and results of operations of its renewable energy fund due to a guarantee on the fund's revolving credit facility. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company formed two new CLOs for which the Company is the primary beneficiary and also deconsolidated its renewable energy fund upon the expiration of the guarantee in December 2020.

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

The following table presents a summary of the investments held by the Consolidated Funds. Investments held by the Consolidated Funds do not represent the investments of all Carlyle sponsored funds.

		Fair '	Value		Percentage of Investments of Consolidated Funds			
Geographic Region/Instrument Type/ Industry <u>Description or Investment Strategy</u>		December 31,			December	31,		
		2020		2019	2020	2019		
		(Dollars in	n milli	ons)		_		
United States								
Equity securities:								
Renewable Energy	\$	_	\$	17.8	— %	0.36 %		
Total equity securities (cost of \$— and \$19.1 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively)		_		17.8	<u> </u>	0.36 %		
Assets of the CLOs:								
Bonds		72.3		37.0	1.19 %	0.74 %		
Equity		2.4		1.1	0.04 %	0.02 %		
Loans		2,570.3		1,510.6	42.44 %	30.17 %		
Total assets of the CLOs (cost of \$2,681.1 and \$1,585.3 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively)		2,645.0		1,548.7	43.67 %	30.93 %		
Total United States	\$	2,645.0	\$	1,566.5	43.67 %	31.29 %		
Europe								
Assets of the CLOs:								
Bonds	\$	478.1	\$	532.5	7.89 %	10.63 %		
Equity		7.0		0.5	0.12 %	0.01 %		
Loans		2,847.6		2,671.9	47.01 %	53.36 %		
Total assets of the CLOs (cost of \$3,402.0 and \$3,277.3 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively)		3,332.7		3,204.9	55.02 %	64.00 %		
Total Europe	\$	3,332.7	\$	3,204.9	55.02 %	64.00 %		
Global								
Assets of the CLOs:								
Bonds	\$	_	\$	4.5	— %	0.09 %		
Loans		79.2		231.4	1.31 %	4.62 %		
Total assets of the CLOs (cost of \$79.4 and \$237.0 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively)		79.2	· · · <u></u>	235.9	1.31 %	4.71 %		
Total Global	\$	79.2	\$	235.9	1.31 %	4.71 %		
Total investments of Consolidated Funds (cost of \$6,162.5 and \$5,118.7 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively)	\$	6,056.9	\$	5,007.3	100.00 %	100.00 %		
- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·								

There were no individual investments with a fair value greater than five percent of the Company's total assets for any period presented.

# **Interest and Other Income of Consolidated Funds**

The components of interest and other income of Consolidated Funds are as follows:

	Year Ended December 31,					
	·	2020	2019		2018	
	(Dollars in millions)					
Interest income from investments	\$	211.6	\$ 192	3 \$	207.2	
Other income		15.2	6	9	7.3	
Total	\$	226.8	\$ 199	2 \$	214.5	

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

# **Net Investment Gains (Losses) of Consolidated Funds**

Net investment gains (losses) of Consolidated Funds include net realized gains (losses) from sales of investments and unrealized gains (losses) resulting from changes in fair value of the Consolidated Funds' investments. The components of net investment gains (losses) of Consolidated Funds are as follows:

	Year Ended December 31,						
	202	20	2019		2018		
	'		(Dollars in millions	)			
Losses from investments of Consolidated Funds	\$	(29.1)	\$ (18	.9) \$	(108.8)		
Gains (losses) from liabilities of CLOs		7.8	(5	.0)	113.3		
Total	\$	(21.3)	\$ (23	.9) \$	4.5		

The following table presents realized and unrealized gains (losses) earned from investments of the Consolidated Funds:

	Year Ended December 31,							
		2020	2019		2018			
	(Dollars in millions)							
Realized losses	\$	(91.3)	\$ (14.2)	\$	(4.9)			
Net change in unrealized gains (losses)		62.2	(4.7)		(103.9)			
Total	\$	(29.1)	\$ (18.9)	\$	(108.8)			

# 6. Intangible Assets and Goodwill

The following table summarizes the carrying amount of intangible assets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019:

 As of December 31,				
2020		2019		
 (Dollars i	n millions)			
\$ 107.9	\$	103.0		
1.2		1.1		
(77.2)		(57.9)		
31.9		46.2		
16.8		16.1		
\$ 48.7	\$	62.3		
\$	2020 (Dollars i \$ 107.9 1.2 (77.2) 31.9 16.8	(Dollars in millions) \$ 107.9 \$ 1.2 (77.2) 31.9 16.8		

As of both December 31, 2020 and 2019, goodwill consisted of \$5.5 million, associated with the Company's Global Credit segment in connection with the Company's acquisition of Carlyle Aviation Partners. The remaining \$11.3 million and \$10.6 million, respectively, of goodwill is associated with the Company's Investment Solutions segment.

As discussed in Note 2, the Company reviews its intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. No impairment losses were recorded during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

Intangible asset amortization expense was \$14.6 million, \$15.5 million and \$10.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and is included in general, administrative, and other expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

The following table summarizes the expected amortization expense for 2021 through 2025 and thereafter (Dollars in millions):

2021	\$ 10.3
2022	6.1
2023	3.9
2024	3.9
2025	3.9
Thereafter	 3.8
	\$ 31.9

### 7. Borrowings

The Company borrows and enters into credit agreements for its general operating and investment purposes. The Company's debt obligations consist of the following:

	As of December 31,							
	20	)20			20	19	_	
	Borrowing Outstanding		Carrying Value	Borrowing Outstanding			Carrying Value	
			(Dollars i	n million	is)		_	
Global Credit Revolving Credit Facility	\$ <del>-</del>	\$	_	\$	35.8	\$	35.8	
CLO Borrowings (See below)	356.1		353.6		324.9		324.0	
3.875% Senior Notes Due 2/01/2023	250.0		249.5		250.0		249.3	
5.625% Senior Notes Due 3/30/2043	600.0		600.7		600.0		600.7	
5.650% Senior Notes Due 9/15/2048	350.0		346.0		350.0		345.8	
3.500% Senior Notes Due 9/19/2029	425.0		421.1		425.0		420.7	
Total debt obligations	\$ 1,981.1	\$	1,970.9	\$	1,985.7	\$	1,976.3	

### **Senior Credit Facility**

As of December 31, 2020, the senior credit facility included \$775.0 million in a revolving credit facility. The revolving credit facility is scheduled to mature on February 11, 2024, and principal amounts outstanding under the revolving credit facility accrue interest, at the option of the borrowers, either (a) at an alternate base rate plus an applicable margin not to exceed 0.50%, or (b) at LIBOR plus an applicable margin not to exceed 1.50% (at December 31, 2020, the interest rate was 1.40%). During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company borrowed and repaid in full \$250.0 million under the revolving credit facility and there was no amount outstanding under the revolving credit facility at December 31, 2020. The Company made no borrowings under the senior credit facility during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. Interest expense under the senior credit facility was not significant for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018. Prior to its amendment and restatement on February 11, 2019, the senior credit facility included \$25.0 million in a term loan which was repaid in connection with the amendment and restatement.

# **Global Credit Revolving Credit Facility**

On December 17, 2018, certain subsidiaries of the Company established a \$250.0 million revolving line of credit, primarily intended to support certain lending activities within the Global Credit segment. The credit facility includes a \$125.0 million line of credit with a one-year term, which was amended in December 2020 to extend its maturity to December 2021, and a \$125.0 million line of credit with a three-year term. Principal amounts outstanding under the facility accrue interest, at the option of the borrowers, either (a) at an alternate base rate plus an applicable margin not to exceed 1.00%, or (b) at the Eurocurrency rate plus an applicable margin, not to exceed 2.00%.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company borrowed \$44.1 million and repaid \$79.9 million under the credit facility, and there was no borrowing outstanding under this facility as of December 31, 2020. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company borrowed \$92.7 million and repaid \$56.9 million under the credit facility, and there was

#### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

\$35.8 million outstanding under this facility as of December 31, 2019. Interest expense was not significant for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. The Company made no borrowings under the facility during the period from December 17, 2018 through December 31, 2018.

### **CLO Borrowings**

For certain of the Company's CLOs, the Company finances a portion of its investment in the CLOs through the proceeds received from term loans and other financing arrangements with financial institutions. The Company's outstanding CLO borrowings consist of the following (Dollars in millions):

Formation Date	Out	rrowing standing ber 31, 2020	ring Outstanding mber 31, 2019	Maturity Date (1)	Interest Rate as of December 31, 2020	
February 28, 2017	\$	79.9	\$ 75.3	November 17, 2031	2.33%	(2)
April 19, 2017		22.7	22.9	April 22, 2031	2.15%	(3) (14)
June 28, 2017		22.9	22.9	July 22, 2031	2.14%	(4) (14)
August 2, 2017		22.7	22.8	July 23, 2029	2.03%	(5) (14)
August 2, 2017		21.3	19.5	August 3, 2022	1.75%	(6)
August 14, 2017		22.4	22.6	August 15, 2030	2.07%	(7) (14)
November 30, 2017		22.7	22.7	January 16, 2030	1.97%	(8) (14) (16)
December 6, 2017		19.0	19.1	October 16, 2030	1.88%	(9) (14) (16)
December 7, 2017		20.8	20.8	January 19, 2029	1.58%	(10) (14) (16)
January 30, 2018		19.2	19.2	January 23, 2030	1.84%	(11) (14) (16)
March 1, 2018		15.2	15.3	January 16, 2031	1.79%	(12) (14) (16)
March 15, 2019		22.6	20.8	March 15, 2032	2.63%	(13)
August 20, 2019		22.9	21.0	August 15, 2032	2.52%	(15)
September 15, 2020		21.8	_	April 15, 2033	1.59%	(15)
	\$	356.1	\$ 324.9			

- (1) Maturity date is earlier of date indicated or the date that the CLO is dissolved.
- (2) Outstanding borrowing of €65.3 million; incurs interest at EURIBOR plus applicable margins as defined in the agreement.
  - (3) Incurs interest at LIBOR plus 1.932%.
  - (4) Incurs interest at LIBOR plus 1.923%.
  - (5) Incurs interest at LIBOR plus 1.808%.
  - (6) Original borrowing of €17.4 million; incurs interest at EURIBOR plus 1.75% and has full recourse to the Company.
  - (7) Incurs interest at LIBOR plus 1.848%.
  - (8) Incurs interest at LIBOR plus 1.731%.
  - (9) Incurs interest at LIBOR plus 1.647%.
  - (10) Incurs interest at LIBOR plus 1.365%.
  - (11) Incurs interest at LIBOR plus 1.624%
  - (12) Incurs interest at LIBOR plus 1.552%
  - (13) Incurs interest at the average effective interest rate of each class of purchased securities plus 0.50% spread percentage and 0.08% class A-1 periodic adjustment rate up to &54,120.
  - (14) Term loan issued under master credit agreement.
  - (15) Incurs interest at the average effective interest rate of each class of purchased securities plus 0.50% spread percentage.
  - (16) CLO Indentures for the respective CLO borrowings entered on November 30, 2017 and after provide for an alternative rate framework determined at the Company's discretion upon a trigger event of LIBOR.

The CLO term loans are secured by the Company's investments in the respective CLO, have a general unsecured interest in the Carlyle entity that manages the CLO, and generally do not have recourse to any other Carlyle entity. Interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 was \$8.5 million, \$11.4 million, and \$10.5 million, respectively. The fair value of the outstanding balance of the CLO term loans at December 31, 2020 and 2019 approximated par value based on current market rates for similar debt instruments. These CLO term loans are classified as Level III within the fair value hierarchy.

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

### European CLO Financing - February 28, 2017

On February 28, 2017, a subsidiary of the Company entered into a financing agreement with several financial institutions under which these financial institutions provided a €65.3 million term loan (\$79.9 million at December 31, 2020) to the Company. This term loan is secured by the Company's investments in the retained notes in certain European CLOs that were formed in 2014 and 2015. This term loan will mature on the earlier of November 17, 2031 or the date that the certain European CLO retained notes have been redeemed. The Company may prepay the term loan in whole or in part at any time after the third anniversary of the date of issuance without penalty. Prepayment of the term loan within the first three years will incur a penalty based on the prepayment amount. Interest on this term loan accrues at EURIBOR plus applicable margins (2.33% at December 31, 2020).

### Master Credit Agreement - Term Loans

In January 2017, the Company entered into a master credit agreement with a financial institution under which the financial institution provided term loans to the Company for the purchase of eligible interests in CLOs. Term loans issued under this master credit agreement are secured by the Company's investment in the respective CLO as well as any senior management fee and subordinated management fee payable by each CLO. Term loans bear interest at LIBOR plus a weighted average spread over LIBOR on the CLO notes and an applicable margin, which is due quarterly. CLO Indentures for the respective CLO borrowings entered on November 30, 2017 and after provide for an alternative rate framework determined at the Company's discretion upon a trigger event of LIBOR. This agreement terminated in January 2020. Outstanding CLO term loans will mature at each respective borrowing's maturity date.

# CLO Repurchase Agreements

On February 5, 2019, the Company entered into a €100.0 million master credit facility agreement (the "CLO Financing Facility") to finance a portion of the risk retention investments in certain European CLOs managed by the Company. Subject to the terms and conditions of the CLO Financing Facility, the Company and the counterparty may enter into repurchase agreements on such terms agreed upon by the parties. Each transaction entered into under the CLO Financing Facility will bear interest at a rate based on the weighted average effective interest rate of each class of securities that have been sold plus a spread to be agreed upon by the parties. As of December 31, 2020, €45.0 million of the CLO Financing Facility remained available.

Each transaction entered into under the CLO Financing Facility provides for payment netting and, in the case of a default or similar event with respect to the counterparty to the CLO Financing Facility, provides for netting across transactions. Generally, upon a counterparty default, the Company can terminate all transactions under the CLO Financing Facility and offset amounts it owes in respect of any one transaction against collateral, if any, or other amounts it has received in respect of any other transactions under the CLO Financing Facility; provided, however, that in the case of certain defaults, the Company may only be able to terminate and offset solely with respect to the transaction affected by the default. During the term of a transaction entered into under the CLO Financing Facility, the Company will deliver cash or additional securities acceptable to the counterparty if the securities sold are in default. Upon termination of a transaction, the Company will repurchase the previously sold securities from the counterparty at a previously determined repurchase price. The CLO Financing Facility may be terminated at any time upon certain defaults or circumstances agreed upon by the parties.

The repurchase agreements may result in credit exposure in the event the counterparty to the transaction is unable to fulfill its contractual obligations. The Company minimizes the credit risk associated with these activities by monitoring counterparty credit exposure and collateral values. Other than margin requirements, the Company is not subject to additional terms or contingencies which would expose the Company to additional obligations based upon the performance of the securities pledged as collateral.

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

#### **Senior Notes**

Certain indirect subsidiaries of the Company have issued long term borrowings in the form of senior notes, on which interest is payable semi-annually in arrears. The following table provides information regarding these senior notes (Dollars in millions):

				Interest Expense							
	Δ	ggregate	Fair V As of Dec				For The Y	Year	s Ended Dec	emb	er 31,
		ipal Amount	2020		2019		2020		2019		2018
3.875% Senior Notes Due 2/1/2023 (2),(6)	\$	250.0	\$ 270.0	\$	262.8	\$	9.9	\$	9.9	\$	17.2
5.625% Senior Notes Due 3/30/2043 (3)		600.0	782.6		713.4		33.8		33.7		33.7
5.650% Senior Notes Due 9/15/2048 (4)		350.0	469.3		424.0		19.9		19.9		5.9
3.500% Senior Notes Due 9/19/2029 (5)		425.0	476.6		430.2		15.3		4.2		_
						\$	78.9	\$	67.7	\$	56.8

- (1) Including accrued interest. Fair value is based on indicative quotes and the notes are classified as Level II within the fair value hierarchy.
- (2) Issued in January 2013 at 99.966% of par.
- (3) Issued \$400.0 million in aggregate principal at 99.583% of par in March 2013. An additional \$200.0 million in aggregate principal was issued at 104.315% of par in March 2014, and is treated as a single class with the outstanding \$400.0 million in senior notes previously issued.
- (4) Issued in September 2018 at 99.914% of par.
- (5) Issued in September 2019 at 99.841% of par.
- (6) In September 2018, the Company completed a tender offer to re-purchase \$250.0 million in aggregate principal amount of the 3.875% senior notes. As a result of this repurchase, the Company recognized \$6.9 million of costs in interest expense and \$0.9 million of costs in general, administrative and other expenses upon early extinguishment of the debt.

The issuers may redeem the senior notes, in whole at any time or in part from time to time, at a price equal to the greater of (i) 100% of the principal amount of the notes being redeemed and (ii) the sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest on any notes being redeemed discounted to the redemption date on a semiannual basis at the Treasury Rate plus 40 basis points (30 basis points in the case of the 3.875% and 3.500% senior notes), plus in each case accrued and unpaid interest on the principal amounts being redeemed.

### **Promissory Notes**

Promissory Note Due January 1, 2022

On January 1, 2016, the Company issued a \$120.0 million promissory note to BNRI as a result of a contingent consideration arrangement entered into in 2012 between the Company and BNRI as part of the Company's strategic investment in NGP (see Note 5). Interest on the promissory note accrued at the three month LIBOR plus 2.50%. In September 2018, the Company prepaid the \$108.8 million outstanding promissory note, plus \$1.2 million of accrued and unpaid interest. Interest expense on the promissory note was not significant for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Promissory Notes Due July 15, 2019

In June 2017, as part of the settlement with investors in two commodities investment vehicles managed by an affiliate of the Company (disclosed in Note 9), the Company issued a series of promissory notes, aggregating to \$53.9 million, to the investors of these commodities investment vehicles. Interest on these promissory notes accrued at the three month LIBOR plus 2%. These promissory notes matured on July 15, 2019 and were fully repaid as of that date. Interest expense on these promissory notes was not significant for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.

# **Debt Covenants**

The Company is subject to various financial covenants under its loan agreements including, among other items, maintenance of a minimum amount of management fee-earning assets. The Company is also subject to various non-financial covenants under its loan agreements and the indentures governing its senior notes. The Company was in compliance with all financial and non-financial covenants under its various loan agreements as of December 31, 2020.

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

# **Loans Payable of Consolidated Funds**

Loans payable of Consolidated Funds primarily represent amounts due to holders of debt securities issued by the CLOs. Several of the CLOs issued preferred shares representing the most subordinated interest, however these tranches are mandatorily redeemable upon the maturity dates of the senior secured loans payable, and as a result have been classified as liabilities and are included in loans payable of Consolidated Funds in the consolidated balance sheets.

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the following borrowings were outstanding, which includes preferred shares classified as liabilities (Dollars in millions):

		As of December 31, 2020								
		Borrowing Outstanding		Fair Value	Weighted Average Interest Rate	Weighted Average Remaining Maturity in Years				
Senior secured notes	\$	5,442.2	\$	5,358.9	1.74 %	10.36				
Subordinated notes, preferred shares, and other		164.2		204.1	N/A (1)	10.49				
Total	\$	5,606.4	\$	5,563.0						

	As of December 31, 2019									
		orrowing tstanding		Fair Value	Weighted Average Interest Rate		Weighted Average Remaining Maturity in Years			
Senior secured notes	\$	4,534.3	\$	4,446.4	1.87 %		10.78			
Subordinated notes, preferred shares, and other		214.9		238.8	N/A	(1)	10.90			
Total	\$	4,749.2	\$	4,685.2						

(1) The subordinated notes and preferred shares do not have contractual interest rates, but instead receive distributions from the excess cash flows of the CLOs.

Loans payable of the CLOs are collateralized by the assets held by the CLOs and the assets of one CLO may not be used to satisfy the liabilities of another. This collateral consisted of cash and cash equivalents, corporate loans, corporate bonds and other securities. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the fair value of the CLO assets was \$6.3 billion and \$5.2 billion, respectively.

# 8. Accrued Compensation and Benefits

Accrued compensation and benefits consist of the following:

		As of December 31,				
		2020		2019		
	(Dollars					
Accrued performance allocations and incentive fee-related compensation	\$	2,534.4	\$	2,038.2		
Accrued bonuses		469.6		265.1		
Employment-based contingent cash consideration		50.6		31.4		
Other		168.0		161.8		
Total	\$	3,222.6	\$	2,496.5		

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

The following table presents realized and unrealized performance allocations and incentive fee related compensation:

	 Year Ended December 31,							
	 2020		2019		2018			
	 (Dollars in millions)							
Realized	\$ 337.2	\$	219.1	\$	363.8			
Unrealized	441.9		217.6		12.5			
Total	\$ 779.1	\$	436.7	\$	376.3			

Certain employees of AlpInvest are covered by defined benefit pension plans sponsored by AlpInvest. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the benefit obligation of those pension plans totaled approximately \$109.2 million and \$87.4 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the fair value of the plans' assets was approximately \$67.4 million and \$59.6 million, respectively. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company recognized a liability of \$41.8 million and \$27.8 million, respectively, representing the funded status of the plans, which was included in accrued compensation and benefits in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, the net periodic benefit cost recognized was \$5.5 million, \$3.6 million and \$3.1 million, respectively, which is included in cash-based compensation and benefits expense (for the service cost component) and other non-operating expenses (for non-service cost components) in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. No other employees of the Company are covered by defined benefit pension plans.

# 9. Commitments and Contingencies

# **Capital Commitments**

The Company and its unconsolidated affiliates have unfunded commitments to entities within the following segments as of December 31, 2020 (Dollars in millions):

	Unfunded
	Commitments
Global Private Equity	\$ 2,835.2
Global Credit	333.4
Investment Solutions	313.3
Total	\$ 3,481.9

Of the \$3.5 billion of unfunded commitments, approximately \$3.0 billion is subscribed individually by senior Carlyle professionals, advisors and other professionals, with the balance funded directly by the Company. In addition to these unfunded commitments, the Company may from time to time exercise its right to purchase additional interests in its investment funds that become available in the ordinary course of their operations.

Additionally, as of December 31, 2020 certain subsidiaries of the Company had \$19.5 million in commitments related to the origination and syndication of loans and securities under the Carlyle Global Capital Markets platform.

# **Guaranteed Loans**

On September 3, 2019, the Company entered into an agreement with a financial institution pursuant to which the Company is the guarantor on loans made to eligible employees investing in Carlyle sponsored funds (the "Program"). The Program is renewed annually, and accrues interest at either the WSJ Prime Rate minus 1.00% floating or the 12MAT Index plus 2.00% floating, in either case with a floor rate of 3.50% (versus actual rates of 2.25% and 2.38%, respectively, as of December 31, 2020). The aggregate Program limit of loans is \$100.0 million, and is collateralized by each borrower's interest in the Carlyle sponsored funds. As of December 31, 2020, approximately \$15.0 million was outstanding under the Program and payable by the employees. The Company has not funded any amounts under the guarantee to date, and believes the likelihood of any material funding under this guarantee to be remote. The fair value of the guarantee is not significant to the consolidated

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

financial statements. The Program replaced a similar agreement with another financial institution, and as of December 31, 2020, approximately \$0.6 million remained outstanding and guaranteed by the Company under that previous agreement.

Certain consolidated subsidiaries of the Company are the guarantors of revolving credit facilities for certain funds in the Investment Solutions segment. The guarantee is limited to the lesser of the total amount drawn under the credit facilities or the net asset value of the guarantor subsidiaries, which was approximately \$36.5 million as of December 31, 2020. The outstanding balances are secured by uncalled capital commitments from the underlying funds and the Company believes the likelihood of any material funding under this guarantee to be remote.

# **Contingent Obligations (Giveback)**

A liability for potential repayment of previously received performance allocations of \$18.7 million at December 31, 2020, is shown as accrued giveback obligations in the consolidated balance sheets, representing the giveback obligation that would need to be paid if the funds were liquidated at their current fair values at December 31, 2020. However, the ultimate giveback obligation, if any, generally is not paid until the end of a fund's life or earlier if the giveback becomes fixed and early payment is agreed upon by the fund's partners (see Note 2). The Company has no unbilled receivables from former and current employees and senior Carlyle professionals as of December 31, 2020. The Company recorded \$1.4 million of unbilled receivables from former and current employees and senior Carlyle professionals as of December 31, 2019, related to giveback obligations, which are included in due from affiliates and other receivables, net in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The receivables are collateralized by investments made by individual senior Carlyle professionals and employees in Carlyle-sponsored funds. In addition, \$175.9 million and \$164.4 million have been withheld from distributions of carried interest to senior Carlyle professionals and employees for potential giveback obligations as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Such amounts are held on behalf of the respective current and former Carlyle employees to satisfy any givebacks they may owe and are held by entities not included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Current and former senior Carlyle professionals and employees are personally responsible for their giveback obligations. As of December 31, 2020, approximately \$10.6 million of the Company's accrued giveback obligation is the responsibility of various current and former senior Carlyle professionals and other limited partners of the Carlyle Holdings partnerships, and the net accrued giveback obligation attributable to the Company is \$8.1 million.

During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company paid \$4.5 million and \$41.3 million, respectively, to satisfy giveback obligations, primarily related to its Legacy Energy funds. Approximately \$4.3 million and \$22.1 million of these obligations were paid by current and former senior Carlyle professionals and \$0.2 million and \$19.2 million by the Company during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

If, at December 31, 2020, all of the investments held by the Company's Funds were deemed worthless, a possibility that management views as remote, the amount of realized and distributed carried interest subject to potential giveback would be \$0.5 billion, on an after-tax basis where applicable, of which approximately \$0.3 billion would be the responsibility of current and former senior Carlyle professionals.

# Leases

The Company's leases primarily consist of operating leases for office space in various countries around the world, including its headquarters in Washington, D.C. These leases have remaining lease terms of 1 year to 15 years, some of which include options to extend for up to 5 years and some of which include an option to terminate the leases within 1 year. The Company also has operating leases for office equipment and vehicles, which are not significant.

In June 2018, the Company entered into an amended non-cancelable lease agreement expiring on March 31, 2030 for its Washington, D.C. office. In connection with the amended lease, the Company exercised an option to terminate its office lease in Arlington, Virginia at the end of 2019. The Company relocated one of its New York City offices in December 2020 to new office space in Midtown New York. The new lease was signed in July 2018 and expires in 2036. In connection with this new lease, the Company incurred a charge of \$63.5 million (including transaction costs) during 2018 related to the assignment of an existing office lease in New York City. The charge will be paid over approximately 15 years beginning in December 2020. This charge (excluding \$3.5 million of transaction costs paid) was accounted for as a lease incentive, and is included in lease right-of-use assets, net in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2020. Prior to commencement of the new lease, this charge was included in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities.

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

The following table summarizes the Company's lease cost, cash flows and other supplemental information related to its operating leases (Dollars in millions):

	Year Ended December 31,					
		2020		2019		
Operating lease cost	\$	47.8	\$	48.9		
Sublease income		(4.0)		(2.3)		
Total operating lease cost	\$	43.8	\$	46.6		
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities	\$	57.8	\$	61.3		
Weighted-average remaining lease term		12.4		9.8		
Weighted-average discount rate		4.3 %		5.3 %		

Maturities of lease liabilities related to operating leases were as follows (Dollars in millions):

Year ending December 31,	
2021	\$ 47.8
2022	60.9
2023	55.4
2024	51.9
2025	49.7
Thereafter	397.4
Total lease payments	\$ 663.1
Less imputed interest	(149.6)
Total lease liabilities	\$ 513.5

Rent expense was approximately \$47.8 million, \$48.9 million and \$51.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and is included in general, administrative and other expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

# **Legal Matters**

In the ordinary course of business, the Company is a party to litigation, investigations, inquiries, employment-related matters, disputes and other potential claims. Certain of these matters are described below. The Company is not currently able to estimate the reasonably possible amount of loss or range of loss, in excess of amounts accrued, for the matters that have not been resolved. The Company does not believe it is probable that the outcome of any existing litigation, investigations, disputes or other potential claims will materially affect the Company or these financial statements in excess of amounts accrued. The Company believes that the matters described below are without merit.

Along with many other companies and individuals in the financial sector, the Company and Carlyle Mezzanine Partners, L.P. ("CMP") are named as defendants in *Foy v. Austin Capital*, a case filed in June 2009 in state court in New Mexico, which purports to be a *qui tam* suit on behalf of the State of New Mexico under the state Fraud Against Taxpayers Act ("FATA"). The suit alleges that investment decisions by New Mexico public investment funds were improperly influenced by campaign contributions and payments to politically connected placement agents. The plaintiffs seek, among other things, actual damages for lost income, rescission of the investment transactions described in the complaint and disgorgement of all fees received. In September 2017, the Court dismissed the lawsuit and the plaintiffs then filed an appeal seeking to reverse that decision. In June 2020, the Court of Appeals affirmed the decision dismissing the case. On June 24, 2020, plaintiffs filed a motion for rehearing with the Court of Appeals. On June 30, 2020, the Court of Appeals denied that motion. Plaintiffs filed an appeal to the New Mexico Supreme Court. On October 9, 2020, the New Mexico Supreme Court denied Foy's petition for certiorari. On October 27, 2020, Foy filed two motions for rehearing with the New Mexico Supreme Court.

Carlyle Capital Corporation Limited ("CCC") was a fund sponsored by the Company that invested in AAA-rated residential mortgage backed securities on a highly leveraged basis. In March of 2008, amidst turmoil throughout the mortgage markets and money markets, CCC filed for insolvency protection in Guernsey. The Guernsey liquidators who took control of CCC in March 2008 filed a suit on July 7, 2010 against the Company, certain of its affiliates and the former directors of CCC in the Royal Court of Guernsey seeking more than \$1.0 billion in damages in a case styled *Carlyle Capital Corporation Limited v. Conway et al.* On September 4, 2017, the Royal Court of Guernsey ruled that the Company and Directors of CCC acted reasonably and appropriately in the management and governance of CCC and that none of the Company, its affiliates or former directors of CCC had any liability. In December 2017, the plaintiff filed a notice of appeal of the trial court decision. On April 12, 2019 the Guernsey Court of Appeal dismissed the appeal and affirmed the trial court's decision. On July 31, 2019, the plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal with the Judicial Committee of the Privy Council. On April 2, 2020, the parties entered into a binding Heads of Agreement and on April 21 executed a definitive settlement agreement, which received court approval on May 1, 2020. Pursuant to this agreement, the Company retains the amounts already received from the plaintiff to reimburse the Company for legal fees and expenses incurred to defend against the claims (approximately £23.3 million) and received the funds deposited as security with the Privy Council (approximately £850,000). All claims have now been dismissed. The Company recognized \$29.9 million as a reduction to general, administrative and other expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations during the year ended December 31, 2020.

A Luxembourg subsidiary of CEREP I, a real estate fund, was involved in a tax dispute with the French authorities beginning in 2010 relating to whether gain from the sale of an investment was taxable in France. In April 2015, the French tax court issued an opinion in this matter adverse to CEREP I, holding the Luxembourg subsidiary of CEREP I liable for approximately €105 million (including interest accrued since the beginning of the tax dispute). CEREP I paid approximately €30 million of the tax obligations and the Company paid the remaining approximately €75 million in its capacity as a guarantor. After an appeals process, in July 2019, the parties agreed to settle this matter by reducing the tax claim to €37.1 million of French tax and interest. The remaining €80.5 million will be retained by the Company and CEREP I. Accordingly, the Company recognized \$71.5 million in principal investment income during the year ended December 31, 2019.

During 2017, the Company entered into settlement and purchase agreements with investors in a hedge fund and two structured finance vehicles managed by Vermillion related to investments of approximately \$400 million in petroleum commodities that the Company believes were misappropriated by third parties outside the U.S. During the fourth quarter of 2018, the Company reached an agreement with the primary underwriters in the marine cargo insurance policies for \$55 million, of which the Company recognized approximately \$32 million in insurance proceeds during the year ended December 31, 2018, with the remaining proceeds to be distributed to former investors. Although additional recovery efforts continue, there is no assurance that the Company will be successful in any of these efforts and the Company will not recognize any amounts in respect of such recoveries until such amounts are probable of payment.

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

The Company currently is and expects to continue to be, from time to time, subject to examinations, formal and informal inquiries and investigations by various U.S. and non-U.S. governmental and regulatory agencies, including but not limited to, the SEC, Department of Justice, state attorneys general, FINRA, National Futures Association and the U.K. Financial Conduct Authority. The Company routinely cooperates with such examinations, inquiries and investigations, and they may result in the commencement of civil, criminal, or administrative or other proceedings against the Company or its personnel.

It is not possible to predict the ultimate outcome of all pending investigations and legal proceedings and employment-related matters, and some of the matters discussed above involve claims for potentially large and/or indeterminate amounts of damages. Based on information known by management, management does not believe that as of the date of this filing the final resolutions of the matters above will have a material effect upon the Company's consolidated financial statements. However, given the potentially large and/or indeterminate amounts of damages sought in certain of these matters and the inherent unpredictability of investigations and litigations, it is possible that an adverse outcome in certain matters could, from time to time, have a material effect on the Company's financial results in any particular period.

The Company accrues an estimated loss contingency liability when it is probable that such a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had recorded liabilities aggregating to approximately \$35 million for litigation-related contingencies, regulatory examinations and inquiries, and other matters. The Company evaluates its outstanding legal and regulatory proceedings and other matters each quarter to assess its loss contingency accruals, and makes adjustments in such accruals, upwards or downward, as appropriate, based on management's best judgment after consultation with counsel. There is no assurance that the Company's accruals for loss contingencies will not need to be adjusted in the future or that, in light of the uncertainties involved in such matters, the ultimate resolution of these matters will not significantly exceed the accruals that the Company has recorded.

### Indemnifications

In the normal course of business, the Company and its subsidiaries enter into contracts that contain a variety of representations and warranties and provide general indemnifications. The Company's maximum exposure under these arrangements is unknown as this would involve future claims that may be made against the Company that have not yet occurred. However, based on experience, the Company believes the risk of material loss to be remote.

### **Risks and Uncertainties**

Carlyle's funds seek investment opportunities that offer the possibility of attaining substantial capital appreciation. Certain events particular to each industry in which the underlying investees conduct their operations, as well as general economic, political, regulatory and public health conditions, including COVID-19, may have a significant negative impact on the Company's investments and profitability. The funds managed by the Company may also experience a slowdown in the deployment of capital, which could adversely affect the Company's ability to raise capital for new or successor funds and could also impact the management fees the Company earns on its carry funds and managed accounts. Such events are beyond the Company's control, and the likelihood that they may occur and the effect on the Company cannot be predicted.

Furthermore, certain of the funds' investments are made in private companies and there are generally no public markets for the underlying securities at the current time. The funds' ability to liquidate their publicly-traded investments are often subject to limitations, including discounts that may be required to be taken on quoted prices due to the number of shares being sold. The funds' ability to liquidate their investments and realize value is subject to significant limitations and uncertainties, including among others currency fluctuations and pandemics.

The Company and the funds make investments outside of the United States. Investments outside the United States may be subject to less developed bankruptcy, corporate, partnership and other laws (which may have the effect of disregarding or otherwise circumventing the limited liability structures potentially causing the actions or liabilities of one fund or a portfolio company to adversely impact the Company or an unrelated fund or portfolio company). Non-U.S. investments are subject to the same risks associated with the Company's U.S. investments as well as additional risks, such as fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, unexpected changes in regulatory requirements, heightened risk of political and economic instability, difficulties in managing non-U.S. investments, potentially adverse tax consequences and the burden of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws.

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

Furthermore, Carlyle is exposed to economic risk concentrations related to certain large investments as well as concentrations of investments in certain industries and geographies.

Additionally, the Company encounters credit risk. Credit risk is the risk of default by a counterparty in the Company's investments in debt securities, loans, leases and derivatives that result from a borrower's, lessee's or derivative counterparty's inability or unwillingness to make required or expected payments.

The Company considers cash, cash equivalents, securities, receivables, principal equity method investments, accounts payable, accrued expenses, other liabilities, loans, senior notes, assets and liabilities of Consolidated Funds and contingent and other consideration for acquisitions to be its financial instruments. Except for the senior notes, the carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets for these financial instruments equal or closely approximate their fair values. The fair value of the senior notes is disclosed in Note 7.

# 10. Related Party Transactions

# Due from Affiliates and Other Receivables, Net

The Company had the following due from affiliates and other receivables at December 31, 2020 and 2019:

		As of December 31,		
		2020	2	2019
	<u></u>	(Dollars i	n million	s)
Accrued incentive fees	\$	9.5	\$	8.2
Unbilled receivable for giveback obligations from current and former employees		_		1.4
Notes receivable and accrued interest from affiliates		17.9		10.5
Management fee, reimbursable expenses and other receivables from unconsolidated funds and affiliates, net		245.1		253.8
Total	\$	272.5	\$	273.9

Notes receivable represent loans that the Company has provided to certain unconsolidated funds to meet short-term obligations to purchase investments. Reimbursable expenses and other receivables from certain of the unconsolidated funds and portfolio companies relate to management fees receivable from limited partners, advisory fees receivable and expenses paid on behalf of these entities. These costs represent costs related to the pursuit of actual or proposed investments, professional fees and expenses associated with the acquisition, holding and disposition of the investments. The affiliates are obligated at the discretion of the Company to reimburse the expenses. Based on management's determination, the Company accrues and charges interest on amounts due from affiliate accounts at interest rates ranging up to 6.96% as of December 31, 2020. The accrued and charged interest to the affiliates was not significant for any period presented.

These receivables are assessed regularly for collectability and amounts determined to be uncollectible are charged directly to general, administrative and other expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. A corresponding allowance for doubtful accounts is recorded and such amounts were not significant for any period presented.

# **Due to Affiliates**

The Company had the following due to affiliates balances at December 31, 2020 and 2019:

		As of December 31,				
	-	2020 20				
		(Dollars in millions)				
Due to non-consolidated affiliates	\$	49.2	\$	65.6		
Amounts owed under the tax receivable agreement		98.0		107.3		
Deferred consideration for Carlyle Holdings units		266.7		332.7		
Other		22.8		36.5		
Total	\$	436.7	\$	542.1		

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

The Company has recorded obligations for amounts due to certain of its affiliates. The Company periodically offsets expenses it has paid on behalf of its affiliates against these obligations. The amount owed under the tax receivable agreement is related primarily to the acquisition by the Company of Carlyle Holdings partnership units in June 2015 and March 2014, respectively, the exchange in May 2012 by CalPERS of its Carlyle Holdings partnership units for Partnership common units, as well as certain unit exchanges by senior Carlyle professionals prior to the Conversion. Deferred consideration for Carlyle Holdings units relates to the remaining obligation to the holders of Carlyle Holdings partnership units who will receive cash payments aggregating to \$1.50 per Carlyle Holdings partnership unit exchanged in connection with the Conversion, payable in five annual installments of \$0.30. The first and second annual installment payments occurred in January 2020 and January 2021, respectively. The obligation was initially recorded at fair value, net of a discount of \$11.3 million and measured using Level III inputs in the fair value hierarchy.

# **Other Related Party Transactions**

In the normal course of business, the Company has made use of aircraft owned by entities controlled by senior Carlyle professionals. The senior Carlyle professionals paid for their purchases of the aircraft and bear all operating, personnel and maintenance costs associated with their operation for personal use. Payment by the Company for the business use of these aircraft by senior Carlyle professionals and other employees, which is made at market rates, totaled \$4.8 million, \$8.1 million and \$8.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The accrual of aircraft fees is included in general, administrative, and other expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

On May 5, 2020, the Company purchased 2,000,000 of the BDC Preferred Shares from TCG BDC in a private placement at a price of \$25 per share. Dividends are payable on a quarterly basis in an initial amount equal to 7.0% per annum payable in cash, or, at TCG BDC's option, 9.0% per annual payable in additional BDC Preferred Shares. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded \$2.3 million for the cash dividends declared by TCG BDC, which is included in interest and other income in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company's investment in the BDC Preferred Shares, which is recorded at fair value, is \$60.0 million as of December 31, 2020 and included in investments, including accrued performance allocations, in the consolidated balance sheets.

Senior Carlyle professionals and employees are permitted to participate in co-investment entities that invest in Carlyle funds or alongside Carlyle funds. In many cases, participation is limited by law to individuals who qualify under applicable legal requirements. These co-investment entities generally do not require senior Carlyle professionals and employees to pay management or performance allocations, however, Carlyle professionals and employees are required to pay their portion of partnership expenses.

Carried interest income from certain funds can be distributed to senior Carlyle professionals and employees on a current basis, but is subject to repayment by the subsidiary of the Company that acts as general partner of the fund in the event that certain specified return thresholds are not ultimately achieved. The senior Carlyle professionals and certain other investment professionals have personally guaranteed, subject to certain limitations, the obligation of these subsidiaries in respect of this general partner obligation. Such guarantees are several and not joint and are limited to a particular individual's distributions received.

The Company does business with some of its portfolio companies; all such arrangements are on a negotiated basis.

Substantially all revenue is earned from affiliates of Carlyle.

# 11. Income Taxes

Following the Conversion on January 1, 2020, all of the income before provision for income taxes attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc. is subject to U.S. federal, state, and local corporate income taxes. Prior to the Conversion, the Company was generally organized as a series of partnership entities pursuant to the United States Internal Revenue Code. As such, the Company was not responsible for the tax liability due on certain income earned prior to the Conversion. Such income was taxed at the unitholder and non-controlling interest holder level, and any income tax would be the responsibility of the unitholders and paid at that level. Results through December 31, 2019 reflect the Company's pre-Conversion status as a partnership.

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

The Conversion resulted in a step-up in the tax basis of certain assets that will be recovered as those assets are sold or the basis is amortized. The Company recorded an estimated net deferred tax asset of \$262.1 million relating to this step-up in tax basis. The Conversion and subsequent exchange of Carlyle Holdings units for an equivalent number of shares of common stock of the Company also resulted in an estimated net reduction of the deferred tax asset of \$388.1 million. This amount was generated by: (1) deferred tax liabilities on investments and accrued performance revenue allocations, net of related compensation, which were not previously subject to U.S. corporate income tax, (2) an increase in the historical net deferred tax assets reflecting deferred tax amounts previously allocated to private unitholders, and (3) a decrease in the historical net deferred tax assets reflecting the impact of reducing our effective state tax rate under the corporate structure. Together with the estimated step-up in tax basis, the Conversion resulted in an estimated net reduction to the Company's net deferred tax asset of \$126.0 million due to the Conversion.

The effect of the exchange of Carlyle Holdings units for an equivalent number of shares of common stock of The Carlyle Group Inc. in the Conversion is accounted for as a transaction with non-controlling shareholders, the direct tax effects of which are recorded in equity. The effect of the termination of the status of the Company as a partnership for U.S. tax purposes in the Conversion is accounted for as a change in tax status and the related deferred tax effects are recorded in the provision for income taxes in the year ended December 31, 2020. Of the \$126.0 million net reduction in the net deferred tax asset of the Company resulting from the Conversion, \$85.9 million of expense was recorded in the provision for income taxes and \$40.1 million recorded directly as a reduction to equity in the year ended December 31, 2020.

The income before provision for taxes consists of the following:

	Year Ended December 31,						
	2	020	2019		2018		
	(Dollars in millions)						
U.S. domestic income	\$	439.5	\$ 1,141.8	\$	206.5		
Foreign income		140.5	91.6		153.7		
Total income before provision for income taxes	\$	580.0	\$ 1,233.4	\$	360.2		

The provision for income taxes consists of the following:

	Year Ended December 31,						
		2020	2019		2018		
			(Dollars in millions)				
Current							
Federal income tax	\$	0.3	\$ 1.0	\$	2.5		
State and local income tax		3.6	1.2		0.2		
Foreign income tax		50.2	30.1		40.6		
Total current		54.1	32.3		43.3		
Deferred							
Federal income tax		127.2	4.5		(13.4)		
State and local income tax		15.8	(0.3)		(1.7)		
Foreign income tax		0.1	12.5		3.1		
Total deferred		143.1	16.7		(12.0)		
Total provision for income taxes	\$	197.2	\$ 49.0	\$	31.3		

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

The following table summarizes the effective income tax rate:

	Year Ended December 31,							
	 2020		2019		2018			
		(Dol	lars in millions)					
Income before provision for income taxes	\$ 580.0	\$	1,233.4	\$	360.2			
Provision for income taxes	\$ 197.2	\$	49.0	\$	31.3			
Effective income tax rate	34.00 %		3.97 %		8.69 %			

The effective tax rate is impacted by a variety of factors, including, but not limited to, changes in the sources of income or loss during the period and whether such income or loss is taxable to the Company and its subsidiaries. The following table reconciles the effective income tax rate to the U.S. federal statutory tax rate:

	Year Ended December 31,						
	2020	2019	2018				
Statutory U.S. federal income tax rate	21.00 %	21.00 %	21.00 %				
Income passed through to common unitholders and non-controlling interest holders <sup>(1)</sup>	(2.02)%	(14.46)%	(20.85)%				
Equity-based compensation	(3.09)%	(0.24)%	(0.98)%				
Foreign income taxes	4.76 %	2.29 %	8.25 %				
State and local income taxes	2.08 %	1.46 %	(0.63)%				
Valuation allowance	(2.25)%	(1.32)%	0.24 %				
Impact of change in tax status due to Conversion	14.59 %	— %	— %				
Unrecognized tax benefits	1.64 %	— %	— %				
Other adjustments <sup>(2)</sup>	(2.71)%	(4.76)%	1.66 %				
Effective income tax rate	34.00 %	3.97 %	8.69 %				

<sup>(1)</sup> Includes income that is not taxable to the Company and its subsidiaries. Such income was directly taxable to the common unitholders for the period prior to the Conversion and remains taxable to the Company's non-controlling interest holders.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences that may exist between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse.

<sup>(2)</sup> Includes (2.64)% related to the disposal of certain foreign subsidiaries in 2020, which resulted in the recognition of long-term capital losses.

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

The following table summarizes the tax effects of the temporary differences:

	As of December 31,				
	2020				
		(Dollars i	n millions)	_	
Deferred tax assets					
Federal foreign tax credit	\$	12.3	\$	11.9	
Federal net operating loss carry forward		22.0		25.6	
State net operating loss carry forwards		8.3		9.4	
Capital loss carry forward		_		1.6	
Tax basis goodwill and intangibles		304.9		105.6	
Depreciation and amortization		23.7		16.1	
Deferred restricted stock unit compensation		20.7		8.5	
Deferred consideration for Carlyle Holdings units (see Note 10)		0.6		79.9	
Lease liabilities		100.1		17.2	
Accrued compensation		549.1		44.1	
Basis difference in investments		91.3		17.9	
Other		107.1		45.9	
Deferred tax assets before valuation allowance		1,240.1		383.7	
Valuation allowance		(15.0)		(25.7)	
Total deferred tax assets	\$	1,225.1	\$	358.0	
Deferred tax liabilities (1)			-		
Intangible assets	\$	_	\$	1.9	
Unrealized appreciation on investments		1,094.8		129.8	
Lease right-of-use assets		79.6		15.0	
Other		12.0		6.4	
Total deferred tax liabilities	\$	1,186.4	\$	153.1	
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities)	\$	38.7	\$	204.9	

(1) As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, \$1,128.6 million and \$87.9 million, respectively, of deferred tax liabilities were offset and presented as a single deferred tax asset amount on the Company's balance sheet as these deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same jurisdiction.

The Company had \$96.5 million and \$270.1 million in deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. These deferred tax assets resulted primarily from step-up in tax basis resulting from Conversion and future amortization of tax basis intangible assets generated from exchanges covered by the Tax Receivable Agreement (see Note 2), and reduced by temporary differences between the financial statement and tax bases of accrued performance allocations, net of related compensation. The realization of the deferred tax assets is dependent on the Company's future taxable income before deductions related to the establishment of its deferred tax assets. The deferred tax asset balance is comprised of a portion that would be realized in connection with future ordinary income and a portion that would be realized in connection with future capital gains.

The Company evaluated various sources of evidence in determining the ultimate realizability of its deferred tax assets including the character and timing of projected future taxable income. In prior years, a subsidiary of the Company subject to entity level income tax in certain state and local jurisdictions incurred significant tax losses and recorded a full valuation allowance on its deferred tax assets in these jurisdictions. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company released the full valuation allowance for \$13.0 million after the evaluation of the positive and negative evidence and determination that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will be realized. In addition, the Company established a valuation allowance on certain state net operating losses for a corporate subsidiary with entity level state net operating losses that cannot be utilized by other group members in the amount of \$2.4 million. The Company continues to maintain a valuation allowance on the U.S. federal foreign tax credit ("FTC") carryforward earned in 2013 and forward that will not be realized due to federal limitations on its utilization. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company has established a valuation allowance of \$15.0 million and

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

\$25.7 million, respectively, for FTCs and other deferred tax assets in certain jurisdictions. For all other deferred tax assets, the Company has concluded it is more likely than not that they will be realized and that a valuation allowance is not needed at December 31, 2020. Lastly, the Company has deferred tax liabilities of \$57.8 million and \$65.2 million at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, which primarily resulted from unrealized appreciation on the Company's investments in the Netherlands.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company has a federal pre-tax net operating loss ("NOL") carry forward of approximately \$104.9 million and cumulative state pre-tax NOL carry forwards of approximately \$220.7 million, which will be available to offset future taxable income. If unused, a portion of the federal and state carry forwards will begin to expire in 2037 and 2021, respectively. However, the Company recorded a valuation allowance on \$29.8 million of the state pre-tax NOL carry forwards. In addition, the Company has an FTC carryforward of \$12.3 million, which relates to taxes paid in foreign jurisdictions that may reduce the Company's federal tax liability. If unused, a portion will expire in 2023 and years forward. A valuation allowance of \$11.9 million is recorded on these FTCs.

On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus AID, Relief, and Economic Security Act ("CARES Act") was enacted to provide relief to taxpayers as a result of the economic impact of COVID-19. The provisions allowed federal NOLs generated in 2018 through 2020 to be carried back 5 years and temporarily suspended the 80% limitation on the utilization of federal NOLs utilized in 2018 through 2020. After 2020, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("TCJA") limits federal NOLs generated in 2018 through 2020 to 80% of taxable income in any tax year, but federal NOLs may be carried forward indefinitely. As of December 31, 2020, the Company has \$22.7 million of federal pre-tax NOLs subject to the 80% limitation that may be carried forward indefinitely. The remaining \$82.2 million of federal pre-tax NOLs were generated prior to 2018 and are not subject to the limitation under TCJA. Further, the timing of utilization of tax attributes generated prior to the Conversion may be impacted by change of control limitations under Internal Revenue Code Section 382.

The Company files its tax returns as prescribed by the tax laws of the jurisdictions in which it operates. In the normal course of business, the Company is subject to examination by federal and certain state, local and foreign tax regulators. With a few exceptions, as of December 31, 2020, the Company's U.S. federal income tax returns for the years 2017 through 2019 are open under the normal three years statute of limitations and therefore subject to examination. State and local tax returns are generally subject to audit from 2015 to 2019. Foreign tax returns are generally subject to audit from 2011 to 2019. Certain of the Company's affiliates are currently under audit by federal, state and foreign tax authorities. The Company does not believe that the outcome of the audits will require it to record unrecognized tax benefits or that the outcome will have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Under U.S. GAAP for income taxes, the amount of tax benefit to be recognized is the amount of benefit that is "more likely than not" to be sustained upon examination. The Company has recorded unrecognized tax benefits of \$24.0 million and \$15.1 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, which is reflected in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. These balances include \$6.8 million and \$5.0 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, related to interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions. If recognized, \$19.0 million of uncertain tax positions would be recorded as a reduction in the provision for income taxes.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits, exclusive of penalties and interest, is as follows:

	As of December 31,					
	2020		2019	20	)18	
			(Dollars in millions)			
Balance at January 1	\$	10.1	\$ 8.9	\$	8.9	
Additions based on tax positions related to current year		8.7	_		_	
Additions for tax positions of prior years		_	1.9		0.2	
Reductions for tax positions of prior years		(0.1)	_			
Reductions due to lapse of statute of limitations		(0.6)	(0.7)		(0.2)	
Reductions due to settlements		(0.9)	_		_	
Balance at December 31	\$	17.2	\$ 10.1	\$	8.9	

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

The Company does not believe that it has any tax positions for which it is reasonably possible that the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits will significantly increase or decrease within the next twelve months.

# 12. Non-controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities

The components of the Company's non-controlling interests in consolidated entities are as follows:

	As of December 31,					
		2020	2019			
		(Dollars in millions)				
Non-Carlyle interests in Consolidated Funds	\$	1.2	\$	0.1		
Non-Carlyle interests in majority-owned subsidiaries		223.3		324.5		
Non-controlling interest in carried interest, giveback obligations and cash held for carried interest distributions		16.5		8.9		
Non-controlling interests in consolidated entities	\$	241.0	\$	333.5		

The components of the Company's non-controlling interests in income of consolidated entities are as follows:

	Year Ended December 31,							
	2	020	2019		2018			
			(Dollars in millions)					
Non-Carlyle interests in Consolidated Funds	\$	8.1	\$ 10.0	\$	(5.3)			
Non-Carlyle interests in majority-owned subsidiaries		16.5	20.6		36.4			
Non-controlling interest in carried interest, giveback obligations and cash held for carried interest distributions		10.0	6.0		2.8			
Non-controlling interests in income of consolidated entities	\$	34.6	\$ 36.6	\$	33.9			

# 13. Earnings Per Common Share

Basic and diluted net income per common share are calculated as follows:

	Year Ended December 31, 2020				Year Ended December 31, 2019				Year Ended December 31, 2018			
		Basic		Diluted		Basic		Diluted		Basic		Diluted
Net income attributable to common shares	\$	348,200,000	\$	348,200,000	\$	345,300,000	\$	345,300,000	\$	92,900,000	\$	92,900,000
Weighted-average common shares outstanding		350,464,315		358,393,802		113,082,733		122,632,889		104,198,089		113,389,443
Net income per common share	\$	0.99	\$	0.97	\$	3.05	\$	2.82	\$	0.89	\$	0.82

The weighted-average common shares outstanding, basic and diluted, are calculated as follows:

	Year Ended December 31, 2020		Year Ended De	cember 31, 2019	Year Ended December 31, 2018		
	Basic	Diluted	Basic	Diluted	Basic	Diluted	
The Carlyle Group Inc. weighted-average common shares outstanding	350,464,315	350,464,315	113,082,733	113,082,733	104,198,089	104,198,089	
Unvested restricted stock units	_	5,545,150	_	8,681,760	_	8,336,661	
Issuable Carlyle Group Inc. common shares	_	2,384,337	_	868,396	_	854,693	
Weighted-average common shares outstanding	350,464,315	358,393,802	113,082,733	122,632,889	104,198,089	113,389,443	

The Company applies the treasury stock method to determine the dilutive weighted-average common shares represented by the unvested restricted stock units. Also included in the determination of dilutive weighted-average common shares are issuable common shares associated with the Company's acquisitions, strategic investments in NGP and performance-vesting restricted stock units.

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

Prior to the Conversion, the Company also included contingently issuable Carlyle Holdings partnership units in the determination of dilutive weighted-average common shares. The Company applied the "if-converted" method to the vested Carlyle Holdings partnership units to determine the dilutive weighted-average common shares outstanding. The Company applied the treasury stock method to the unvested Carlyle Holdings partnership units and the "if-converted" method on the resulting number of additional Carlyle Holdings partnership units to determine the dilutive weighted-average common shares represented by the unvested Carlyle Holdings partnership units.

In computing the dilutive effect that the exchange of Carlyle Holdings partnership units would have on earnings per common share in 2019 and 2018, the Company considered that net income available to holders of common shares would increase due to the elimination of non-controlling interests in Carlyle Holdings (including any tax impact). Based on these calculations, 230,213,627 of vested Carlyle Holdings partnership units and 3,565 of unvested Carlyle Holdings partnership units for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 230,266,308 of vested Carlyle Holdings partnership units and 2,140,224 of unvested Carlyle Holdings partnership units for the year ended December 31, 2018 were antidilutive, and therefore have been excluded.

# 14. Equity

### **Preferred Unit Issuance and Redemption**

On September 13, 2017, the Company issued 16,000,000 of 5.875% Series A Preferred Units (the "Preferred Units") for gross proceeds of \$400.0 million, or \$387.5 million, net of issuance costs and expenses. Distributions on the Preferred Units were payable quarterly on March 15, June 15, September 15, and December 15 of each year, beginning on December 15, 2017, when, as and if declared by the Board of Directors, at a rate per annum of 5.875%. Distributions on the Preferred Units were discretionary and non-cumulative.

On October 7, 2019, the Company redeemed the Preferred Units in full pursuant to the tax redemption provisions of the Preferred Units at a price of \$25.339757 per unit, which is equal to \$25.25 per Preferred Unit plus declared and unpaid distributions to, but excluding, the redemption date.

# **Stock Repurchase Program**

In December 2018, the Board of Directors of the Company authorized the repurchase of up to \$200 million of common units and/or Carlyle Holdings units, inclusive of amounts remaining under the February 2016 repurchase program described below. As part of the Conversion, in January 2020 the Board of Directors re-authorized the December 2018 repurchase program. Under this repurchase program, shares of common stock may be repurchased from time to time in open market transactions, in privately negotiated transactions or otherwise. The timing and actual number of shares of common stock repurchased will depend on a variety of factors, including legal requirements, price, and economic and market conditions. This repurchase program may be suspended or discontinued at any time and does not have a specified expiration date. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company paid an aggregate of \$26.4 million to repurchase and retire 1.1 million shares with all of the repurchases done via open market and brokered transactions. As of December 31, 2020, \$139.1 million of repurchase capacity remained under the program. In February 2021, our Board of Directors replenished the repurchase program to its limit of \$200 million of common stock.

In February 2016, the Board of Directors of the Company authorized the repurchase of up to \$200 million of common units and/or Carlyle Holdings units. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company paid an aggregate of \$107.5 million to repurchase and retire 4.9 million units with all of the repurchases done via open market and brokered transactions. From inception of this program through December 31, 2018, the Company paid an aggregate of \$166.6 million to repurchase and retire 8.6 million units.

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

#### **Dividends**

The table below presents information regarding the quarterly dividends on the common shares, which were made at the sole discretion of the Board of Directors of the Company.

Dividend Record Date	Dividend Payment Date	D	ividend per Common Share	Dividend to Common Stockholders <sup>(1)</sup>			
			(Dollars in millions,	except per	share data)		
May 13, 2019	May 20, 2019	\$	0.19	\$	21.0		
August 12, 2019	August 19, 2019		0.43		49.9		
November 12, 2019	November 19, 2019		0.31		36.5		
February 18, 2020	February 25, 2020		0.25		87.4		
Total 2019 Dividend Year		\$	1.18	\$	194.8		
May 12, 2020	May 19, 2020	\$	0.25	\$	87.2		
August 11, 2020	August 18, 2020		0.25		88.3		
November 10, 2020	November 17, 2020		0.25		88.4		
February 16, 2021	February 23, 2021		0.25		88.7		
Total 2020 Dividend Year		\$	1.00	\$	352.6		

<sup>(1)</sup> The dividend to common stockholders for Q4 2019 reflects the exchange of all Carlyle Holdings partnership units to shares of common stock in The Carlyle Group Inc. in connection with the Conversion on January 1, 2020.

The Board of Directors will take into account general economic and business conditions, as well as the Company's strategic plans and prospects, business and investment opportunities, financial condition and obligations, legal, tax and regulatory restrictions, other constraints on the payment of dividends by the Company to its common stockholders or by subsidiaries to the Company, and other such factors as the Board of Directors may deem relevant. In addition, the terms of the Company's credit facility provide certain limits on the Company's ability to pay dividends.

# 15. Equity-Based Compensation

In May 2012, Carlyle Group Management L.L.C., the general partner of the Partnership, adopted the Equity Incentive Plan. The Equity Incentive Plan, which was amended on January 1, 2020 in connection with the Conversion to reflect shares of the Company's common stock, is a source of equity-based awards permitting the Company to grant to Carlyle employees, directors and consultants non-qualified options, share appreciation rights, common shares, restricted stock units and other awards based on the Company's common shares. The total number of the Company's common shares which were initially available for grant under the Equity Incentive Plan was 30,450,000. The Equity Incentive Plan contains a provision which automatically increases the number of the Company's common shares available for grant based on a pre-determined formula; this increase occurs annually on January 1. As of January 1, 2021, pursuant to the formula, the total number of the Company's common shares available for grant under the Equity Incentive Plan was 35,352,057.

### Common Shares

In connection with its strategic investment in NGP, the Company agreed to issue common units on each of February 1, 2018, 2019 and 2020, with a value of \$10.0 million per year to an affiliate of NGP Management, and subsequent to 2020, to issue common units on an annual basis with a value not to exceed based \$10.0 million based on a prescribed formula, which will vest over a 42-month period. Because the Company accounts for its investment in NGP under the equity method of accounting, the fair value of the units is recognized as a reduction to principal investment income. During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, the Company recognized \$8.8 million, \$8.1 million and \$8.1 million, respectively, as a reduction to principal investment income related to these units.

### Carlyle Holdings Partnership Units

Unvested Carlyle Holdings partnership units were held by senior Carlyle professionals and other individuals engaged in Carlyle's business and generally vested ratably over a six-year period. The unvested Carlyle Holdings partnership units were accounted for as equity-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718. The grant-date fair value of the unvested Carlyle Holdings partnership units were charged to equity-based compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the required service

#### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

period. The Company recorded equity-based compensation expense associated with these awards of \$0.2 million and \$55.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. No tax benefits were recorded related to the unvested Carlyle Holdings partnership units, as the vesting of these units did not result in a tax deduction to the corporate taxpayers. As of December 31, 2019, all of these awards were vested.

### Restricted Stock Units

The deferred restricted stock units are unvested when granted and vest ratably over a service period, which generally ranges from six months to four years. The grant-date fair value of the deferred restricted stock units granted to Carlyle's employees is charged to equity-based compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the required service period. Additionally, the calculation of the expense assumes a per unit discount that ranges from 0% to 20.0%, as these unvested awards do not participate in any dividends. The Company recorded compensation expense of \$105.0 million, \$139.8 million and \$184.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively, with \$26.0 million, \$13.7 million and \$16.6 million of corresponding deferred tax benefits, respectively. A portion of the accumulated deferred tax asset associated with equity-based compensation expense was reclassified as a current tax benefit due to units vesting during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018. Equity-based compensation expense generates deferred tax assets, which are realized when the units vest. The net impact of the addition/(reduction) in deferred tax assets due to the equity-based compensation expense recorded during the period less the tax deduction for units that vested was \$(4.8) million, \$(4.7) million and \$2.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. In addition, the deferred tax asset related to equity-based compensation increased by \$15.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2020 as a result of the exchange of Carlyle Holdings units in the Conversion, as equity-based compensation previously attributable to non-controlling interests is now attributable to the Company (see Note 11). As of December 31, 2020, the total unrecognized equity-based compensation expense related to unvested deferred restricted stock units is \$113.6 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average term of 1.9 years.

The expense associated with the deferred restricted stock units granted to NGP personnel are recognized as a reduction of the Company's investment income in NGP Management. Equity-based awards issued to non-employees, including non-employee directors and consultants, are recognized as general, administrative and other expenses. The grant-date fair value of deferred restricted stock units granted to non-employees is charged to expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. Equity-based awards that require the satisfaction of future service criteria are recognized over the relevant service period. The expense for equity-based awards issued to non-employees was \$6.0 million, \$6.0 million and \$6.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The vesting of deferred restricted stock units creates taxable income for the Company's employees in certain jurisdictions. Accordingly, the employees may elect to engage the Company's equity plan service provider to sell sufficient common units and generate proceeds to cover their minimum tax obligations.

In 2020, the Company granted approximately 3.5 million deferred restricted stock units across a number of the Company's employees. The total estimated grant-date fair value of these awards was approximately \$101.4 million.

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

A summary of the status of the Company's non-vested equity-based awards as of December 31, 2020 and a summary of changes from December 31, 2017 through December 31, 2020, are presented below:

	Carlyle	Hold	lings	The Carlyle Group, Inc.					
Unvested Shares	Partnership Units		Weighted- Average Grant Date Fair Value	Restricted Stock Units		Weighted- Average Grant Date Fair Value	Unvested Common Shares (1)		Weighted- Average Grant Date Fair Value
Balance, December 31, 2017	8,095,015	\$	22.03	15,519,591	\$	16.25	7,782	\$	22.22
Granted	_	\$	_	12,907,610	\$	20.83	400,528	\$	24.97
Vested	8,085,628	\$	22.02	8,665,497	\$	17.42	7,782	\$	22.22
Forfeited	_	\$	_	638,004	\$	16.57	_	\$	_
Balance, December 31, 2018	9,387	\$	28.26	19,123,700	\$	18.73	400,528	\$	24.97
Granted	_	\$	_	6,196,319	\$	15.73	547,973	\$	18.25
Vested	9,387	\$	28.26	9,903,260	\$	19.35	160,211	\$	24.97
Forfeited	_	\$	_	794,600	\$	17.82	_	\$	_
Balance, December 31, 2019		\$	_	14,622,159	\$	17.09	788,290	\$	20.30
Granted	_	\$	_	3,450,355	\$	29.40	299,401	\$	33.40
Vested	_	\$	_	7,112,767	\$	17.36	339,347	\$	20.63
Forfeited	_	\$	_	2,436,665	\$	19.03	_	\$	_
Balance, December 31, 2020		\$	_	8,523,082	\$	21.70	748,344	\$	25.39

<sup>(1)</sup> Includes shares issued in connection with the Company's strategic investment in NGP.

### 16. Segment Reporting

Historically, the Company conducted its operations through four reportable segments: Corporate Private Equity, Real Assets, Global Credit, and Investment Solutions. In the fourth quarter of 2020, in connection with the transition to a sole chief executive officer on October 1, 2020, senior management began re-evaluating the Company's operating structure. As a result, the Company revised its operating segments by combining Corporate Private Equity and Real Assets into a single segment called Global Private Equity to reflect how the chief operating decision makers manage and assess the performance of the business and allocate resources. Effective with the three months ended December 31, 2020, the presentation of the Company's segment financial information has been modified to reflect this change, with retrospective application to all prior periods presented. Consequently, information for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 will be different from the historical segment financial results previously reported by the Company in its reports filed with the SEC. There was no impact to the Global Credit and Investment Solutions segments as a result of this change.

Carlyle conducts its operations through three reportable segments:

*Global Private Equity* – The Global Private Equity segment is comprised of the Company's operations that advise a diverse group of funds that invest in buyout, middle market and growth capital, real estate and natural resources transactions.

Global Credit – The Global Credit segment advises a group of funds that pursue investment opportunities across various types of credit, including loans and structured credit, direct lending, opportunistic credit, energy credit, distressed credit, aircraft financing and servicing, and capital solutions.

*Investment Solutions* – The Investment Solutions segment advises global private equity fund of funds programs and related co-investment and secondary activities through AlpInvest. This segment also includes Metropolitan, a global manager of real estate fund of funds and related co-investment and secondary activities.

The Company's reportable business segments are differentiated by their various investment focuses and strategies. Overhead costs are generally allocated based on cash-based compensation and benefits expense for each segment. The Company's earnings from its investment in NGP are presented in the respective operating captions within the Global Private Equity segment.

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

Distributable Earnings. Distributable Earnings, or "DE," is a key performance benchmark used in the Company's industry and is evaluated regularly by management in making resource deployment and compensation decisions and in assessing performance of the Company's three reportable segments. Management also uses DE in budgeting, forecasting, and the overall management of the Company's segments. Management believes that reporting DE is helpful to understanding the Company's business and that investors should review the same supplemental financial measure that management uses to analyze the Company's segment performance. DE is intended to show the amount of net realized earnings without the effects of the consolidation of the Consolidated Funds. DE is derived from the Company's segment reported results and is used to assess performance.

Distributable Earnings differs from income (loss) before provision for income taxes computed in accordance with U.S. GAAP in that it includes certain tax expenses associated with certain foreign performance revenues (comprised of performance allocations and incentive fees), and does not include unrealized performance allocations and related compensation expense, unrealized principal investment income, equity-based compensation expense, net income (loss) attributable to non-Carlyle interests in consolidated entities, or charges (credits) related to Carlyle corporate actions and non-recurring items. Charges (credits) related to Carlyle corporate actions and non-recurring items include: charges associated with acquisitions or strategic investments, changes in the tax receivable agreement liability, corporate conversion costs, amortization and any impairment charges associated with acquisitions and dispositions, charges associated with earnouts and contingent consideration including gains and losses associated with the estimated fair value of contingent considerations issued in conjunction with acquisitions or strategic investments, impairment charges associated with lease right-of-use assets, gains and losses from the retirement of debt, charges associated with contract terminations and employee severance. Management believes the inclusion or exclusion of these items provides investors with a meaningful indication of the Company's core operating performance.

Fee Related Earnings. Fee Related Earnings, or "FRE," is used to assess the ability of the business to cover direct base compensation and operating expenses from total fee revenues. FRE differs from income (loss) before provision for income taxes computed in accordance with U.S. GAAP in that it adjusts for the items included in the calculation of DE and also adjusts DE to exclude net realized performance revenues, realized principal investment income, net interest (interest income less interest expense), and certain general, administrative and other expenses when the timing of any future payment is uncertain.

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

The following tables present the financial data for the Company's three reportable segments as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020:

	December 31, 2020 and the Year Then Ended										
		Global Private Equity		Global Credit		Total					
				(Dollars i	n mi	llions)					
Segment Revenues											
Fund level fee revenues											
Fund management fees	\$	1,042.0	\$	324.2	\$	193.0	\$	1,559.2			
Portfolio advisory and transaction fees, net and other		22.8		34.0		0.1		56.9			
Total fund level fee revenues		1,064.8		358.2		193.1		1,616.1			
Realized performance revenues		404.5		26.5		155.1		586.1			
Realized principal investment income		52.0		18.7		2.3		73.0			
Interest income		3.3		10.4		0.6		14.3			
Total revenues		1,524.6		413.8		351.1		2,289.5			
Segment Expenses											
Compensation and benefits											
Cash-based compensation and benefits		501.9		206.1		113.5		821.5			
Realized performance revenues related compensation		183.0		12.2		144.6		339.8			
Total compensation and benefits		684.9		218.3		258.1		1,161.3			
General, administrative, and other indirect expenses		157.9		45.7		37.8		241.4			
Depreciation and amortization expense		22.0		7.0		4.5		33.5			
Interest expense		55.3		26.6		9.3		91.2			
Total expenses		920.1		297.6		309.7		1,527.4			
Distributable Earnings	\$	604.5	\$	116.2	\$	41.4	\$	762.1			
(-) Realized net performance revenues	<u></u>	221.5		14.3		10.5		246.3			
(-) Realized principal investment income		52.0		18.7		2.3		73.0			
(+) Net interest		52.0		16.2		8.7		76.9			
(=) Fee Related Earnings	\$	383.0	\$	99.4	\$	37.3	\$	519.7			
Segment assets as of December 31, 2020	\$	6,341.1	\$	1,923.4	\$	1,262.9	\$	9,527.4			

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

The following tables present the financial data for the Company's three reportable segments as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019:

	December 31, 2019 and the Year Then Ended									
		Global Private Equity		Global Credit	]	Investment Solutions		Total		
	(Dollars in millions)									
Segment Revenues										
Fund level fee revenues										
Fund management fees	\$	1,106.6	\$	307.2	\$	157.1	\$	1,570.9		
Portfolio advisory and transaction fees, net and other		38.9		14.6				53.5		
Total fund level fee revenues		1,145.5		321.8		157.1		1,624.4		
Realized performance revenues		301.8		1.8		70.7		374.3		
Realized principal investment income		73.3		12.0		1.7		87.0		
Interest income		8.7		14.2		1.5		24.4		
Total revenues		1,529.3		349.8		231.0		2,110.1		
Segment Expenses										
Compensation and benefits										
Cash-based compensation and benefits		510.6		185.2		96.3		792.1		
Realized performance revenues related compensation		145.2		0.4		64.6		210.2		
Total compensation and benefits		655.8		185.6		160.9		1,002.3		
General, administrative, and other indirect expenses		215.2		78.9		37.2		331.3		
Depreciation and amortization expense		32.1		9.9		6.2		48.2		
Interest expense		46.8		27.0		7.9		81.7		
Total expenses		949.9		301.4		212.2		1,463.5		
Distributable Earnings	\$	579.4	\$	48.4	\$	18.8	\$	646.6		
(-) Realized net performance revenues		156.6		1.4		6.1		164.1		
(-) Realized principal investment income		73.3		12.0		1.7		87.0		
(+) Net interest		38.1		12.8		6.4		57.3		
(=) Fee Related Earnings	\$	387.6	\$	47.8	\$	17.4	\$	452.8		
Segment assets as of December 31, 2019	\$	4,997.0	\$	2,564.7	\$	1,226.2	\$	8,787.9		

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

The following tables present the financial data for the Company's three reportable segments for the year ended December 31, 2018:

Realized performance revenues         566.2         9.8         106.4         682.           Realized principal investment income         40.1         7.9         0.1         48.           Interest income         13.7         15.3         1.4         30.           Total revenues         1,628.7         282.1         275.1         2,185.           Segment Expenses         Total revenues         Total revenues         Total revenues         Total revenues         92.0         740.           Compensation and benefits         508.3         140.4         92.0         740.           Realized performance revenues related compensation         261.9         4.5         96.3         362.           Total compensation and benefits         770.2         144.9         188.3         1,103.           General, administrative, and other indirect expenses         231.7         30.5         36.6         298.           Depreciation and amortization expense         24.1         6.3         4.7         35.           Interest expense         45.2         22.9         6.6         74.           Total expenses         1,071.2         204.6         236.2         1,512.           Distributable Earnings         \$ 557.5         \$ 77.5         \$		Year Ended December 31, 2018										
Fund level fee revenues   Fund level fee revenues   Fund level fee revenues   Fund management fees   \$ 952.0 \$ 243.0 \$ 166.8 \$ 1,361.     Portfolio advisory and transaction fees, net and other   56.7   6.1   0.4   632.     Total fund level fee revenues   1,008.7   249.1   167.2   1,425.     Realized performance revenues   566.2   9.8   106.4   682.     Realized performance revenues   40.1   7.9   0.1   48.     Interest income   13.7   15.3   1.4   30.     Total revenues   1,628.7   282.1   275.1   2,185.     Segment Expenses   Segment Expense   Segment Expenses   Segment Exp		Private			Credit		Solutions		Total			
Fund level fee revenues   Fund management fees   \$ 952.0   \$ 243.0   \$ 166.8   \$ 1,361.0   \$ 1,071.2   \$ 1,425.0   \$ 1,081.0	C P				(Dollars i	n milli	ions)					
Fund management fees         \$ 952.0         243.0         166.8         1,361.           Portfolio advisory and transaction fees, net and other         56.7         6.1         0.4         63.           Total fund level fee revenues         1,008.7         249.1         167.2         1,425.           Realized performance revenues         566.2         9.8         106.4         682.           Realized principal investment income         40.1         7.9         0.1         48.           Interest income         13.7         15.3         1.4         30.           Total revenues         1,628.7         282.1         275.1         2,185.           Segment Expenses           Compensation and benefits         508.3         140.4         92.0         740.           Realized performance revenues related compensation         261.9         4.5         96.3         362.           Total compensation and benefits         770.2         144.9         188.3         1,103.           General, administrative, and other indirect expenses         231.7         30.5         36.6         298.           Depreciation and amortization expense         45.2         22.9         6.6         74.           Total expenses         1,071.2         2	o a constant of the constant o											
Portfolio advisory and transaction fees, net and other         56.7         6.1         0.4         63.           Total fund level fee revenues         1,008.7         249.1         167.2         1,425.           Realized performance revenues         566.2         9.8         106.4         682.           Realized principal investment income         40.1         7.9         0.1         48.           Interest income         13.7         15.3         1.4         30.           Total revenues         1,628.7         282.1         275.1         2,185.           Segment Expenses         2         2.2         275.1         2,185.           Compensation and benefits         508.3         140.4         92.0         740.           Realized performance revenues related compensation         261.9         4.5         96.3         362.           Total compensation and benefits         770.2         144.9         188.3         1,103.           General, administrative, and other indirect expenses         231.7         30.5         36.6         298.           Depreciation and amortization expense         45.2         22.9         6.6         74.           Total expenses         1,071.2         204.6         236.2         1,512. <td></td> <td>¢.</td> <td>053.0</td> <td>¢.</td> <td>242.0</td> <td>æ.</td> <td>166.0</td> <td>æ.</td> <td>1 201 0</td>		¢.	053.0	¢.	242.0	æ.	166.0	æ.	1 201 0			
Total fund level fee revenues         1,008.7         249.1         167.2         1,425.           Realized performance revenues         566.2         9.8         106.4         682.           Realized principal investment income         40.1         7.9         0.1         48.           Interest income         13.7         15.3         1.4         30.           Total revenues         1,628.7         282.1         275.1         2,185.           Segment Expenses         2         22.1         275.1         2,185.           Compensation and benefits         508.3         140.4         92.0         740.           Realized performance revenues related compensation         261.9         4.5         96.3         362.           Realized performance revenues related compensation         261.9         4.5         96.3         362.           Total compensation and benefits         770.2         144.9         188.3         1,103.           General, administrative, and other indirect expenses         231.7         30.5         36.6         298.           Depreciation and amortization expense         45.2         22.9         6.6         74.           Total expenses         1,071.2         204.6         236.2         1,512. <td></td> <td>\$</td> <td></td> <td>\$</td> <td></td> <td>\$</td> <td></td> <td>\$</td> <td>,</td>		\$		\$		\$		\$	,			
Realized performance revenues         566.2         9.8         106.4         682.           Realized principal investment income         40.1         7.9         0.1         48.           Interest income         13.7         15.3         1.4         30.           Total revenues         1,628.7         282.1         275.1         2,185.           Segment Expenses         Total revenues         8.8         140.4         92.0         740.           Cash-based compensation and benefits         508.3         140.4         92.0         740.           Realized performance revenues related compensation         261.9         4.5         96.3         362.           Total compensation and benefits         770.2         144.9         188.3         1,103.           General, administrative, and other indirect expenses         231.7         30.5         36.6         298.           Depreciation and amortization expense         24.1         6.3         4.7         35.           Interest expense         45.2         22.9         6.6         74.           Total expenses         1,071.2         204.6         236.2         1,512.           Distributable Earnings         \$557.5         77.5         38.9         673.	,							_				
Realized principal investment income         40.1         7.9         0.1         48.           Interest income         13.7         15.3         1.4         30.           Total revenues         1,628.7         282.1         275.1         2,185.           Segment Expenses         508.3         140.4         92.0         740.           Cash-based compensation and benefits         508.3         140.4         92.0         740.           Realized performance revenues related compensation         261.9         4.5         96.3         362.           Total compensation and benefits         770.2         144.9         188.3         1,103.           General, administrative, and other indirect expenses         231.7         30.5         36.6         298.           Depreciation and amortization expense         45.2         22.9         6.6         74.           Total expenses         1,071.2         204.6         236.2         1,512.           Distributable Earnings         \$ 557.5         77.5         38.9         673.           (-) Realized principal investment income         40.1         7.9         0.1         48.									1,425.0			
Interest income         13.7         15.3         1.4         30.           Total revenues         1,628.7         282.1         275.1         2,185.           Segment Expenses         Compensation and benefits           Cash-based compensation and benefits         508.3         140.4         92.0         740.           Realized performance revenues related compensation         261.9         4.5         96.3         362.           Total compensation and benefits         770.2         144.9         188.3         1,103.           General, administrative, and other indirect expenses         231.7         30.5         36.6         298.           Depreciation and amortization expense         24.1         6.3         4.7         35.           Interest expense         45.2         22.9         6.6         74.           Total expenses         1,071.2         204.6         236.2         1,512.           Distributable Earnings         \$ 557.5         \$ 77.5         \$ 38.9         673.           (-) Realized performance revenues         304.3         5.3         10.1         319.           (-) Realized principal investment income         40.1         7.9         0.1         48.									682.4			
Total revenues         1,628.7         282.1         275.1         2,185.           Segment Expenses           Compensation and benefits         508.3         140.4         92.0         740.           Cash-based compensation and benefits         508.3         140.4         92.0         740.           Realized performance revenues related compensation         261.9         4.5         96.3         362.           Total compensation and benefits         770.2         144.9         188.3         1,103.           General, administrative, and other indirect expenses         231.7         30.5         36.6         298.           Depreciation and amortization expense         24.1         6.3         4.7         35.           Interest expense         45.2         22.9         6.6         74.           Total expenses         1,071.2         204.6         236.2         1,512.           Distributable Earnings         \$ 557.5         \$ 77.5         38.9         673.           (-) Realized net performance revenues         304.3         5.3         10.1         319.           (-) Realized principal investment income         40.1         7.9         0.1         48.	1 1								48.1			
Segment Expenses         Compensation and benefits         Cash-based compensation and benefits       508.3       140.4       92.0       740.         Realized performance revenues related compensation       261.9       4.5       96.3       362.         Total compensation and benefits       770.2       144.9       188.3       1,103.         General, administrative, and other indirect expenses       231.7       30.5       36.6       298.         Depreciation and amortization expense       24.1       6.3       4.7       35.         Interest expense       45.2       22.9       6.6       74.         Total expenses       1,071.2       204.6       236.2       1,512.         Distributable Earnings       \$ 557.5       \$ 77.5       38.9       673.         (-) Realized net performance revenues       304.3       5.3       10.1       319.         (-) Realized principal investment income       40.1       7.9       0.1       48.			13.7		15.3		1.4		30.4			
Compensation and benefits       508.3       140.4       92.0       740.         Realized performance revenues related compensation       261.9       4.5       96.3       362.         Total compensation and benefits       770.2       144.9       188.3       1,103.         General, administrative, and other indirect expenses       231.7       30.5       36.6       298.         Depreciation and amortization expense       24.1       6.3       4.7       35.         Interest expense       45.2       22.9       6.6       74.         Total expenses       1,071.2       204.6       236.2       1,512.         Distributable Earnings       \$ 557.5       77.5       38.9       673.         (-) Realized net performance revenues       304.3       5.3       10.1       319.         (-) Realized principal investment income       40.1       7.9       0.1       48.	Total revenues		1,628.7		282.1		275.1		2,185.9			
Cash-based compensation and benefits       508.3       140.4       92.0       740.         Realized performance revenues related compensation       261.9       4.5       96.3       362.         Total compensation and benefits       770.2       144.9       188.3       1,103.         General, administrative, and other indirect expenses       231.7       30.5       36.6       298.         Depreciation and amortization expense       24.1       6.3       4.7       35.         Interest expense       45.2       22.9       6.6       74.         Total expenses       1,071.2       204.6       236.2       1,512.         Distributable Earnings       \$ 557.5       77.5       38.9       673.         (-) Realized net performance revenues       304.3       5.3       10.1       319.         (-) Realized principal investment income       40.1       7.9       0.1       48.	Segment Expenses											
Realized performance revenues related compensation         261.9         4.5         96.3         362.           Total compensation and benefits         770.2         144.9         188.3         1,103.           General, administrative, and other indirect expenses         231.7         30.5         36.6         298.           Depreciation and amortization expense         24.1         6.3         4.7         35.           Interest expense         45.2         22.9         6.6         74.           Total expenses         1,071.2         204.6         236.2         1,512.           Distributable Earnings         \$ 557.5         77.5         38.9         673.           (-) Realized net performance revenues         304.3         5.3         10.1         319.           (-) Realized principal investment income         40.1         7.9         0.1         48.												
Total compensation and benefits         770.2         144.9         188.3         1,103.           General, administrative, and other indirect expenses         231.7         30.5         36.6         298.           Depreciation and amortization expense         24.1         6.3         4.7         35.           Interest expense         45.2         22.9         6.6         74.           Total expenses         1,071.2         204.6         236.2         1,512.           Distributable Earnings         \$ 557.5         \$ 77.5         38.9         673.           (-) Realized net performance revenues         304.3         5.3         10.1         319.           (-) Realized principal investment income         40.1         7.9         0.1         48.	Cash-based compensation and benefits		508.3		140.4		92.0		740.7			
General, administrative, and other indirect expenses         231.7         30.5         36.6         298.           Depreciation and amortization expense         24.1         6.3         4.7         35.           Interest expense         45.2         22.9         6.6         74.           Total expenses         1,071.2         204.6         236.2         1,512.           Distributable Earnings         \$ 557.5         77.5         38.9         673.           (-) Realized net performance revenues         304.3         5.3         10.1         319.           (-) Realized principal investment income         40.1         7.9         0.1         48.	Realized performance revenues related compensation		261.9		4.5		96.3		362.7			
Depreciation and amortization expense         24.1         6.3         4.7         35.           Interest expense         45.2         22.9         6.6         74.           Total expenses         1,071.2         204.6         236.2         1,512.           Distributable Earnings         \$ 557.5         77.5         38.9         673.           (-) Realized net performance revenues         304.3         5.3         10.1         319.           (-) Realized principal investment income         40.1         7.9         0.1         48.	Total compensation and benefits		770.2		144.9		188.3		1,103.4			
Interest expense         45.2         22.9         6.6         74.           Total expenses         1,071.2         204.6         236.2         1,512.           Distributable Earnings         \$ 557.5         77.5         38.9         673.           (-) Realized net performance revenues         304.3         5.3         10.1         319.           (-) Realized principal investment income         40.1         7.9         0.1         48.	General, administrative, and other indirect expenses		231.7		30.5		36.6		298.8			
Total expenses         1,071.2         204.6         236.2         1,512.           Distributable Earnings         \$ 557.5         77.5         38.9         673.           (-) Realized net performance revenues         304.3         5.3         10.1         319.           (-) Realized principal investment income         40.1         7.9         0.1         48.	Depreciation and amortization expense		24.1		6.3		4.7		35.1			
Distributable Earnings         \$ 557.5         \$ 77.5         \$ 38.9         \$ 673.           (-) Realized net performance revenues         304.3         5.3         10.1         319.           (-) Realized principal investment income         40.1         7.9         0.1         48.	Interest expense		45.2		22.9		6.6		74.7			
(-) Realized net performance revenues       304.3       5.3       10.1       319.         (-) Realized principal investment income       40.1       7.9       0.1       48.	Total expenses		1,071.2		204.6		236.2		1,512.0			
(-) Realized principal investment income 40.1 7.9 0.1 48.	Distributable Earnings	\$	557.5	\$	77.5	\$	38.9	\$	673.9			
	(-) Realized net performance revenues		304.3		5.3		10.1		319.7			
(+) Net interest 31.5 7.6 5.2 4.4	(-) Realized principal investment income		40.1		7.9		0.1		48.1			
( ) 1.00	(+) Net interest		31.5		7.6		5.2		44.3			
(=) Fee Related Earnings \$ 244.6 \$ 71.9 \$ 33.9 \$ 350.	(=) Fee Related Earnings	\$	244.6	\$	71.9	\$	33.9	\$	350.4			

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

The following tables reconcile the Total Segments to the Company's Total Assets and Income (Loss) Before Provision for Income Taxes as of and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:

				December 31, 2020	) an	d the Year then Ended			
	_	Total Reportable Segments		Consolidated Funds		Reconciling Items		(	Carlyle Consolidated
				(Dolla	rs iı	n millions)			
Revenues	\$	2,289.5	\$	226.8	\$	418.3 (a)	9	\$	2,934.6
Expenses	\$	1,527.4	\$	206.2	\$	599.7 (b)	9	\$	2,333.3
Other income	\$	_	\$	(21.3)	\$	— (c)	9	\$	(21.3)
Distributable earnings	\$	762.1	\$	(0.7)	\$	(181.4) (d)	9	\$	580.0
Total assets	\$	9,527.4	\$	6,294.6	\$	(177.2) (e)	9	\$	15,644.8

			December 31, 2019	an	d the Year then Ended						
	Total Reportable Segments		Consolidated Funds		Reconciling Items			Carlyle Consolidated			
	 (Dollars in millions)										
Revenues	\$ 2,110.1	\$	199.2	\$	1,067.7 (	a)	\$	3,377.0			
Expenses	\$ 1,463.5	\$	165.6	\$	490.6 (	b)	\$	2,119.7			
Other income	\$ _	\$	(23.9)	\$	— (	c)	\$	(23.9)			
Distributable earnings	\$ 646.6	\$	9.7	\$	577.1 (	d)	\$	1,233.4			
Total assets	\$ 8,787.9	\$	5,204.3	\$	(183.4) (	e)	\$	13,808.8			

The following table reconciles the Total Segments to the Company's Income Before Provision for Income Taxes for the year ended December 31, 2018:

	Year Ended December 31, 2018										
	Т	Total Reportable Segments		Consolidated Funds		Reconciling Items			Carlyle Consolidated		
				(Dolla	rs ir	n millions)					
Revenues	\$	2,185.9	\$	214.5	\$	26.8	(a)	\$	2,427.2		
Expenses	\$	1,512.0	\$	213.3	\$	346.2	(b)	\$	2,071.5		
Other income	\$	_	\$	4.5	\$	_	(c)	\$	4.5		
Distributable earnings	\$	673.9	\$	5.7	\$	(319.4)	(d)	\$	360.2		

(a) The Revenues adjustment principally represents unrealized performance revenues, unrealized principal investment income (loss) (including Fortitude Re), revenues earned from the Consolidated Funds which were eliminated in consolidation to arrive at the Company's total revenues, adjustments for amounts attributable to non-controlling interests in consolidated entities, adjustments related to expenses associated with the investments in NGP Management and its affiliates that are included in operating captions or are excluded from the segment results, adjustments to reflect the reimbursement of certain costs incurred on behalf of Carlyle funds on a net basis, and the inclusion of tax expenses associated with certain foreign performance revenues, as detailed below:

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

	Year Ended December 31,						
		2020		2019		2018	
Unrealized performance revenues	\$	1,031.0	\$	267.8	\$	(42.7)	
Unrealized principal investment income		(556.2)		590.9		48.8	
Adjusted unrealized principal investment income from investment in Fortitude Re		(104.4)		140.9		11.7	
Adjustments related to expenses associated with investments in NGP Management and its affiliates	5	(15.3)		(16.2)		(18.9)	
Tax expense associated with certain foreign performance revenues		0.5		0.3		(4.9)	
Non-Carlyle economic interests in acquired businesses and other adjustments to present certain costs on a net basis		96.6		117.5		92.5	
Elimination of revenues of Consolidated Funds		(33.9)		(33.5)		(59.7)	
	\$	418.3	\$	1,067.7	\$	26.8	

The following table reconciles the total segments fund level fee revenue to the most directly comparable U.S. GAAP measure, the Company's consolidated fund management fees, for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018:

		Year Ended December 31,										
		2020		2019		2018						
	(Dollars in millions)											
Total Reportable Segments - Fund level fee revenues	\$	1,616.1	\$	1,624.4	\$	1,425.0						
Adjustments (1)		(130.1)		(148.2)		(153.0)						
Carlyle Consolidated - Fund management fees	\$	1,486.0	\$	1,476.2	\$	1,272.0						

- (1) Adjustments represent the reclassification of NGP management fees from principal investment income, the reclassification of certain incentive fees from business development companies and other credit products, management fees earned from consolidated CLOs which were eliminated in consolidation to arrive at the Company's fund management fees, and the reclassification of certain amounts included in portfolio advisory and transaction fees, net and other in the segment results that are included in interest and other income in the U.S. GAAP results.
- (b) The Expenses adjustment represents the elimination of intercompany expenses of the Consolidated Funds payable to the Company, the inclusion of equity-based compensation, certain tax expenses associated with realized performance revenues related compensation, and unrealized performance revenues related compensation, adjustments related to expenses associated with the investment in NGP Management that are included in operating captions, adjustments to reflect the reimbursement of certain costs incurred on behalf of Carlyle funds on a net basis, changes in the tax receivable agreement liability, and charges and credits associated with Carlyle corporate actions and non-recurring items, as detailed below:

## **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

	Year Ended December 31,								
		2020	2019	2018					
			(Dollars in millions)						
Unrealized performance revenues related compensation	\$	432.3	\$ 225.5	\$ 7.4					
Equity-based compensation		116.6	151.5	252.2					
Acquisition related charges and amortization of intangibles and impairment		38.1	52.0	22.3					
Other non-operating (income) expense		(7.2)	1.3	1.1					
Tax expense associated with certain foreign performance revenues related compensation		(8.4)	(14.3)	(6.2)					
Non-Carlyle economic interests in acquired business and other adjustments to present certain costs on a net basis		55.8	75.0	34.3					
Lease assignment and termination costs		_	_	66.9					
Debt extinguishment costs		_	0.1	7.8					
Corporate conversion costs, severance and other adjustments		15.2	33.3	9.1					
Elimination of expenses of Consolidated Funds		(42.7)	(33.8)	(48.7)					
	\$	599.7	\$ 490.6	\$ 346.2					

- (c) The Other Income (Loss) adjustment results from the Consolidated Funds which were eliminated in consolidation to arrive at the Company's total Other Income (Loss).
- (d) The following table is a reconciliation of Income (Loss) Before Provision for Income Taxes to Distributable Earnings and to Fee Related Earnings:

	Year Ended December 31,							
		2020		2019	2018			
	(Dollars in millions)							
Income before provision for income taxes	\$	580.0	\$	1,233.4 \$	360.2			
Adjustments:								
Net unrealized performance revenues		(598.7)		(42.3)	50.2			
Unrealized principal investment (income) loss		556.2		(590.9)	(48.8)			
Adjusted unrealized principal investment (income) loss from investment in Fortitude Re		104.4		(140.9)	(11.7)			
Equity-based compensation <sup>(1)</sup>		116.6		151.5	252.2			
Acquisition related charges, including amortization of intangibles and impairment		38.1		52.0	22.3			
Other non-operating (income) expense		(7.2)		1.3	1.1			
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests in consolidated entities		(34.6)		(36.6)	(33.9)			
Tax expense associated with certain foreign performance revenues		(7.9)		(14.3)	(1.5)			
Lease assignment and termination costs		_		_	66.9			
Debt extinguishment costs		_		0.1	7.8			
Corporate conversion costs, severance and other adjustments		15.2		33.3	9.1			
Distributable Earnings	\$	762.1	\$	646.6 \$	673.9			
Realized performance revenues, net of related compensation <sup>(2)</sup>		246.3		164.1	319.7			
Realized principal investment income <sup>(2)</sup>		73.0		87.0	48.1			
Net interest		76.9		57.3	44.3			
Fee Related Earnings	\$	519.7	\$	452.8 \$	350.4			

<sup>(1)</sup> Equity-based compensation for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 includes amounts that are presented in principal investment income and general, administrative and other expenses in the Company's U.S. GAAP consolidated statements of operations.

### **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

(2) See reconciliation to most directly comparable U.S. GAAP measure below:

	Ye	ar l	Ended December 31, 20	<b>)20</b>	
	Carlyle Consolidated		Adjustments <sup>(3)</sup>		Total Reportable Segments
			(Dollars in millions)		
Performance revenues	\$ 1,635.9	\$	(1,049.8)	\$	586.1
Performance revenues related compensation expense	779.1		(439.3)		339.8
Net performance revenues	\$ 856.8	\$	(610.5)	\$	246.3
Principal investment income (loss)	\$ (540.7)	\$	613.7	\$	73.0

	 Year Ended December 31, 2019								
	Carlyle Consolidated		Adjustments <sup>(3)</sup>		Total Reportable Segments				
			(Dollars in millions)						
Performance revenues	\$ 799.1	\$	(424.8)	\$	374.3				
Performance revenues related compensation expense	436.7		(226.5)		210.2				
Net performance revenues	\$ 362.4	\$	(198.3)	\$	164.1				
Principal investment income (loss)	\$ 769.3	\$	(682.3)	\$	87.0				

	 Year Ended December 31, 2018						
	Carlyle Consolidated		Adjustments <sup>(3)</sup>		Total Reportable Segments		
			(Dollars in millions)				
Performance revenues	\$ 622.9	\$	59.5	\$	682.4		
Performance revenues related compensation expense	376.3		(13.6)		362.7		
Net performance revenues	\$ 246.6	\$	73.1	\$	319.7		
Principal investment income (loss)	\$ 186.3	\$	(138.2)	\$	48.1		

- (3) Adjustments to performance revenues and principal investment income (loss) relate to (i) unrealized performance allocations net of related compensation expense and unrealized principal investment income, which are excluded from the segment results, (ii) amounts earned from the Consolidated Funds, which were eliminated in the U.S. GAAP consolidation but were included in the segment results, (iii) amounts attributable to non-controlling interests in consolidated entities, which were excluded from the segment results, (iv) the reclassification of NGP performance revenues, which are included in principal investment income in the U.S. GAAP financial statements, (v) the reclassification of certain incentive fees from business development companies, which are included in fund management fees in the segment results, and (vi) the reclassification of tax expenses associated with certain foreign performance revenues. Adjustments to principal investment income (loss) also include the reclassification of earnings for the investments in NGP Management and its affiliates to the appropriate operating captions for the segment results, and the exclusion of charges associated with the investment in NGP Management and its affiliates that are excluded from the segment results.
- (e) The Total Assets adjustment represents the addition of the assets of the Consolidated Funds that were eliminated in consolidation to arrive at the Company's total assets.

## **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

# **Information by Geographic Location**

Carlyle primarily transacts business in the United States and a significant amount of its revenues are generated domestically. The Company has established investment vehicles whose primary focus is making investments in specified geographical locations. The tables below present consolidated revenues and assets based on the geographical focus of the associated investment vehicle.

	Total Revenues			Total Assets			
	 Share	%	Sh		%		
		(Dollars i	n mil	llions)			
Year Ended December 31, 2020							
Americas <sup>(1)</sup>	\$ 1,787.7	61 %	\$	7,758.8	50 %		
EMEA <sup>(2)</sup>	622.3	21 %		6,807.0	43 %		
Asia-Pacific <sup>(3)</sup>	524.6	18 %		1,079.0	7 %		
Total	\$ 2,934.6	100 %	\$	15,644.8	100 %		

	Total Revenues			Total Assets		
	 Share	%		Share	%	
		(Dollars i	n mil	lions)		
Year Ended December 31, 2019						
Americas <sup>(1)</sup>	\$ 2,265.9	67 %	\$	6,616.8	48 %	
EMEA <sup>(2)</sup>	815.3	24 %		6,471.9	47 %	
Asia-Pacific <sup>(3)</sup>	295.8	9 %		720.1	5 %	
Total	\$ 3,377.0	100 %	\$	13,808.8	100 %	

		Total F	Revenues		Total Assets			
	Share % SI		Share %		Share % Share		Share	%
			(Dollars i	n mil	lions)			
Year Ended December 31, 2018								
Americas <sup>(1)</sup>	\$	1,596.0	66 %	\$	5,555.9	43 %		
EMEA <sup>(2)</sup>		875.5	36 %		6,791.6	53 %		
Asia-Pacific <sup>(3)</sup>		(44.3)	(2)%		566.7	4 %		
Total	\$	2,427.2	100 %	\$	12,914.2	100 %		

- (1) Relates to investment vehicles whose primary focus is the United States, Mexico or South America.
- (2) Relates to investment vehicles whose primary focus is Europe, the Middle East, and Africa.
- (3) Relates to investment vehicles whose primary focus is Asia, including China, Japan, India and Australia.

## **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

# 17. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Unaudited quarterly information for each of the three months in the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are presented below.

	Three Months Ended							
	March 31, 2020 June 30, 2020			September 30, 2020		December 31, 2020		
				(Dollars	in mi	illions)		
Revenues	\$	(745.7)	\$	1,131.0	\$	1,034.6	\$	1,514.7
Expenses		(69.8)		924.5		643.4		835.2
Other income (loss)		(113.1)		50.3		23.9		17.6
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes	\$	(789.0)	\$	256.8	\$	415.1	\$	697.1
Net income (loss)	\$	(709.0)	\$	204.5	\$	332.7	\$	554.6
Net income (loss) attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc. common stockholders	\$	(612.0)	\$	145.9	\$	295.5	\$	518.8
Net income (loss) attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc. per common share <sup>(1)</sup>								
Basic	\$	(1.76)	\$	0.42	\$	0.84	\$	1.47
Diluted	\$	(1.76)	\$	0.41	\$	0.82	\$	1.44
Dividends declared per common share <sup>(2)</sup>	\$	0.25	\$	0.25	\$	0.25	\$	0.25

	Three Months Ended							
	March 31, 2019 June 30, 2019		S	eptember 30, 2019		December 31, 2019		
		(Dollars in				llions)		
Revenues	\$	1,087.0	\$	1,061.1	\$	768.6	\$	460.3
Expenses		602.5		528.3		505.3		483.6
Other income (loss)		(14.2)		9.2		(1.9)		(17.0)
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes	\$	470.3	\$	542.0	\$	261.4	\$	(40.3)
Net income (loss)	\$	446.3	\$	526.5	\$	252.0	\$	(40.4)
Net income (loss) attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc. common stockholders	\$	137.0	\$	148.2	\$	68.4	\$	(8.3)
Net income (loss) attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc. per common share <sup>(1)</sup>								
Basic	\$	1.25	\$	1.34	\$	0.60	\$	(0.07)
Diluted	\$	1.18	\$	1.23	\$	0.55	\$	(80.0)
Dividends declared per common share <sup>(2)</sup>	\$	0.43	\$	0.19	\$	0.43	\$	0.31

<sup>(1)</sup> The sum of the quarterly earnings per common share amounts may not equal the total for the year due to the effects of rounding and dilution.

## 18. Subsequent Events

# Dividends

In February 2021, the Board of Directors declared a dividend of \$0.25 per common share to common stockholders of record at the close of business on February 16, 2021, payable on February 23, 2021.

<sup>(2)</sup> Dividends declared reflects the calendar date of the declaration of each dividend.

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

# 19. Supplemental Financial Information

The following supplemental financial information illustrates the consolidating effects of the Consolidated Funds on the Company's financial position as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 and results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018. The supplemental statement of cash flows is presented without effects of the Consolidated Funds.

	As of December 31, 2020					
	O	nsolidated perating Entities	Consolidated Funds	Eliminations	Consolidated	
			(Dollars i	n millions)		
Assets						
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	987.6	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 987.6	
Cash and cash equivalents held at Consolidated Funds		_	148.6	_	148.6	
Restricted cash		2.0	_	_	2.0	
Investments, including performance allocations of \$4,968.6		7,551.7	_	(170.8)	7,380.9	
Investments of Consolidated Funds		_	6,056.9	_	6,056.9	
Due from affiliates and other receivables, net		278.9	_	(6.4)	272.5	
Due from affiliates and other receivables of Consolidated Funds, net		_	89.1	_	89.1	
Fixed assets, net		149.2	_	_	149.2	
Lease right-of-use assets, net		361.1	_	_	361.1	
Deposits and other		51.7	_	_	51.7	
Intangible assets, net		48.7	_	_	48.7	
Deferred tax assets		96.5	_	_	96.5	
Total assets	\$	9,527.4	\$ 6,294.6	\$ (177.2)	\$ 15,644.8	
Liabilities and equity						
Debt obligations	\$	1,970.9	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 1,970.9	
Loans payable of Consolidated Funds		_	5,563.0	_	5,563.0	
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities		286.3	_	_	286.3	
Accrued compensation and benefits		3,222.6	_	_	3,222.6	
Due to affiliates		436.7	_	_	436.7	
Deferred revenue		89.0	_	_	89.0	
Deferred tax liabilities		57.8	_	_	57.8	
Other liabilities of Consolidated Funds		_	556.1	_	556.1	
Lease liabilities		513.5	_	_	513.5	
Accrued giveback obligations		18.7	_	_	18.7	
Total liabilities		6,595.5	6,119.1		12,714.6	
Common stock		3.5	_	_	3.5	
Additional paid-in capital		2,546.2	167.6	(167.6)	2,546.2	
Retained earnings		348.2	_	_	348.2	
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)		(205.8)	6.7	(9.6)	(208.7)	
Non-controlling interests in consolidated entities		239.8	1.2	<u>`</u> —	241.0	
Total equity		2,931.9	175.5	(177.2)	2,930.2	
Total liabilities and equity	\$	9,527.4	\$ 6,294.6	\$ (177.2)	\$ 15,644.8	

				As of Decen	nber 31, 2019			
	<del>-</del>	Consolidated Operating Entities	Co	onsolidated Funds	Eliminations	Consolidated		
	_			(Dollars i	n millions)			
Assets								
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	5 793.4	\$	_	\$ —	\$	793.4	
Cash and cash equivalents held at Consolidated Funds		_		122.4	_		122.4	
Restricted cash		34.6		_	_		34.6	
Investments, including performance allocations of \$3,855.6 million		6,982.7		_	(178.3)		6,804.4	
Investments of Consolidated Funds		_		5,007.3	_		5,007.3	
Due from affiliates and other receivables, net		279.0		_	(5.1)		273.9	
Due from affiliates and other receivables of Consolidated Funds, net		_		74.4	_		74.4	
Fixed assets, net		108.2		_	_		108.2	
Lease right-of-use assets, net		203.8		_	_		203.8	
Deposits and other		53.8		0.2	_		54.0	
Intangible assets, net		62.3		_	_		62.3	
Deferred tax assets		270.1		_	_		270.1	
Total assets	9	\$ 8,787.9	\$	5,204.3	\$ (183.4)	\$	13,808.8	
Liabilities and partners' capital	_							
Debt obligations	9	1,976.3	\$	_	\$ —	\$	1,976.3	
Loans payable of Consolidated Funds		_		4,706.7	_		4,706.7	
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities		354.9		_	_		354.9	
Accrued compensation and benefits		2,496.5		_	_		2,496.5	
Due to affiliates		542.1		_	_		542.1	
Deferred revenue		71.0		_	_		71.0	
Deferred tax liabilities		65.2		_	_		65.2	
Other liabilities of Consolidated Funds		_		316.1	_		316.1	
Lease liabilities		288.2		_	_		288.2	
Accrued giveback obligations		22.2		_	_		22.2	
Total liabilities		5,816.4		5,022.8			10,839.2	
Partners' capital		703.8		61.7	(61.7)		703.8	
Accumulated other comprehensive loss		(84.5)	)	(0.1)	(0.6)		(85.2)	
Non-controlling interests in consolidated entities		333.4		0.1	_		333.5	
Non-controlling interests in Carlyle Holdings		2,018.8		119.8	(121.1)		2,017.5	
Total partners' capital		2,971.5		181.5	(183.4)		2,969.6	
m. cl 1: 1 2: 2: - 1	-		_	= 2012	<b>*</b> (100.4)	Φ.	42.000.0	

8,787.9

5,204.3

(183.4) \$

13,808.8

Total liabilities and partners' capital

		Year Ended December 31, 2020					
	C	nsolidated perating Entities	Consolidated Funds	Eliminations	Consolidated		
			(Dollars i	n millions)			
Revenues							
Fund management fees	\$	1,513.6	\$ —	\$ (27.6)			
Incentive fees		37.0	_	_	37.0		
Investment income							
Performance allocations		1,635.9	_	_	1,635.9		
Principal investment loss		(546.4)		5.7	(540.7)		
Total investment income		1,089.5	_	5.7	1,095.2		
Interest and other income		101.6	_	(12.0)	89.6		
Interest and other income of Consolidated Funds			226.8		226.8		
Total revenues		2,741.7	226.8	(33.9)	2,934.6		
Expenses							
Compensation and benefits							
Cash-based compensation and benefits		849.6	_	_	849.6		
Equity-based compensation		105.0	_	_	105.0		
Performance allocations and incentive fee related compensation		779.1	_	_	779.1		
Total compensation and benefits		1,733.7	_	_	1,733.7		
General, administrative and other expenses		349.3	_	_	349.3		
Interest		94.0	_	_	94.0		
Interest and other expenses of Consolidated Funds		_	206.2	(42.7)	163.5		
Other non-operating income		(7.2)	_	_	(7.2)		
Total expenses		2,169.8	206.2	(42.7)	2,333.3		
Other income (loss)				` `			
Net investment losses of Consolidated Funds		_	(21.3)	_	(21.3)		
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes		571.9	(0.7)	8.8	580.0		
Provision for income taxes		197.2	`	_	197.2		
Net income (loss)		374.7	(0.7)	8.8	382.8		
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests in consolidated entities		26.5	_	8.1	34.6		
Net income (loss) attributable to The Carlyle Group Inc.	\$	348.2	\$ (0.7)	\$ 0.7	\$ 348.2		

Year Ended December 31, 2019

	rear Ended December 31, 2019					
	0	nsolidated perating Entities	Consolidated Funds	Eliminations	Consolidated	
			(Dollars i	n millions)		
Revenues			•	<b>.</b> (24.5)	A 4500	
Fund management fees	\$		\$ —	\$ (21.5)		
Incentive fees		35.9	_	_	35.9	
Investment income		799.1			700.1	
Performance allocations		799.1 755.0	_	14.3	799.1	
Principal investment income				14.3	769.3	
Total investment income  Interest and other income		1,554.1 123.6	_		1,568.4 97.3	
Interest and other income Interest and other income of Consolidated Funds		123.0	199.2	(26.3)	199.2	
Total revenues		3,211.3	199.2	(33.5)	3,377.0	
		3,211.3	199.2	(33.5)	3,3/7.0	
Expenses Compensation and benefits						
Cash-based compensation and benefits		833.4			833.4	
Equity-based compensation		140.0			140.0	
Performance allocations and incentive fee related compensation		436.7	_	_	436.7	
Total compensation and benefits		1,410.1			1,410.1	
General, administrative and other expenses		494.4	_	_	494.4	
Interest		82.1	_	_	82.1	
Interest and other expenses of Consolidated Funds		_	165.6	(33.8)	131.8	
Other non-operating expense		1.3	_	_	1.3	
Total expenses		1,987.9	165.6	(33.8)	2,119.7	
Other income (loss)		,		()	,	
Net investment losses of Consolidated Funds		_	(23.9)	_	(23.9)	
Income before provision for income taxes	_	1,223.4	9.7	0.3	1,233.4	
Provision for income taxes		49.0	_	_	49.0	
Net income	-	1,174.4	9.7	0.3	1,184.4	
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests in consolidated entities		26.6	_	10.0	36.6	
Net income attributable to Carlyle Holdings	-	1,147.8	9.7	(9.7)	1,147.8	
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests in Carlyle Holdings		766.9	_	`	766.9	
Net income attributable to The Carlyle Group L.P.		380.9	9.7	(9.7)	380.9	
Net income attributable to Series A Preferred Unitholders		19.1	_	` <u></u>	19.1	
Series A Preferred Units redemption premium		16.5	_	_	16.5	
Net income attributable to The Carlyle Group L.P. Common Unitholders	\$	345.3	\$ 9.7	\$ (9.7)	\$ 345.3	
v 1						

	Year Ended December 31, 2018						
	Consolidated Operating Entities	Consolidated Funds	Eliminations	Consolidated			
		(Dollars i	in millions)				
Revenues							
Fund management fees	\$ 1,296.4	\$ —	\$ (24.4)				
Incentive fees	31.3	_	(1.1)	30.2			
Investment income							
Performance allocations	622.9	_	_	622.9			
Principal investment income	193.8		(7.5)	186.3			
Total investment income	816.7	_	(7.5)	809.2			
Interest and other income	128.0	_	(26.7)	101.3			
Interest and other income of Consolidated Funds		214.5		214.5			
Total revenues	2,272.4	214.5	(59.7)	2,427.2			
Expenses							
Compensation and benefits							
Cash-based compensation and benefits	746.7	_	_	746.7			
Equity-based compensation	239.9	_	_	239.9			
Performance allocations and incentive fee related compensation	376.3			376.3			
Total compensation and benefits	1,362.9	_	_	1,362.9			
General, administrative and other expenses	460.7	_	_	460.7			
Interest	82.2	_	_	82.2			
Interest and other expenses of Consolidated Funds	_	213.3	(48.7)	164.6			
Other non-operating income	1.1	_	_	1.1			
Total expenses	 1,906.9	213.3	(48.7)	2,071.5			
Other income							
Net investment gains of Consolidated Funds	_	4.5	_	4.5			
Income before provision for income taxes	365.5	5.7	(11.0)	360.2			
Provision for income taxes	31.3	_	_	31.3			
Net income	334.2	5.7	(11.0)	328.9			
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests in consolidated entities	39.2	_	(5.3)	33.9			
Net income attributable to Carlyle Holdings	295.0	5.7	(5.7)	295.0			
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests in Carlyle Holdings	178.5	_	`	178.5			
Net income attributable to The Carlyle Group L.P.	116.5	5.7	(5.7)	116.5			
Net income attributable to Series A Preferred Unitholders	23.6	_	) –	23.6			

Net income attributable to The Carlyle Group L.P. Common Unitholders

92.9 \$

(5.7) \$

92.9

5.7 \$

			Year Ended December 31	
		2020	2019	2018
			(Dollars in millions)	
Cash flows from operating activities	¢	274.7	¢ 1.174.4	¢ 224
Net income	\$	374.7	\$ 1,174.4	\$ 334.
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash flows from operating activities:		FD 1	CF C	40
Depreciation and amortization		52.1	65.6	46.
Equity-based compensation		105.0	140.0	239.
Non-cash performance allocations and incentive fees		(631.8)	(271.8)	25.
Non-cash principal investment income		568.0	(647.9)	(165.9
Other non-cash amounts		(2.9)	24.8	3.
Purchases of investments		(317.8)	(350.2)	(533.8
Purchase of investment in Fortitude Re		(79.6)	_	(393.8
Proceeds from the sale of investments		332.1	421.0	916.
Payments of contingent consideration				(37.
Change in deferred taxes, net		134.5	13.9	(19.8
Change in due from affiliates and other receivables		1.2	49.8	(75.1
Change in deposits and other		(2.0)	(6.0)	(4.0
Change in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities		(4.0)	(43.7)	78.
Change in accrued compensation and benefits		210.1	51.5	60.
Change in due to affiliates		(29.2)	24.7	(35.0
Change in lease right-of-use asset and lease liability		(9.8)	(16.9)	_
Change in deferred revenue		16.2	(37.9)	21.
Net cash provided by operating activities		716.8	591.3	461.
Cash flows from investing activities				
Purchases of fixed assets, net		(61.2)	(27.8)	(31.3
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired		_	_	(67.3
Net cash used in investing activities		(61.2)	(27.8)	(99.
Cash flows from financing activities				
Borrowings under credit facilities		294.1	92.7	_
Repayments under credit facilities		(329.9)	(56.9)	_
Issuance of 3.500% senior notes due 2029, net of financing costs		ì –	420.6	_
Issuance of 5.650% senior notes due 2048, net of financing costs		_	_	345.
Repurchase of 3.875% senior notes due 2023		_	_	(255.
Repayment of term loan		_	(25.0)	` -
Proceeds from debt obligations		20.5	41.0	40.
Payments on debt obligations		(3.8)	(45.2)	(156.
Payments of contingent consideration		(0.3)	(0.2)	_
Redemption of preferred units		_	(405.4)	_
Dividends to common stockholders		(351.3)	(154.8)	(129.8
Distributions to preferred unitholders		(551.5)	(17.6)	(23.0
Distributions to non-controlling interest holders in Carlyle Holdings		_	(313.4)	(288.8
Payment of deferred consideration for Carlyle Holdings units		(68.8)	(5151.)	(2001
Contributions from non-controlling interest holders		31.0	57.8	31.
Distributions to non-controlling interest holders		(76.8)	(62.3)	(98.9
Common shares repurchased		(26.4)	(34.5)	(107.
Change in due to/from affiliates financing activities		0.7	129.3	(97.
Net cash used in financing activities				
<u> </u>		(511.0)	(373.9)	(739.)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes		17.0	0.1	(12.9
Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash		161.6	189.7	(390.
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period		828.0	638.3	1,028.
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period	\$	989.6	\$ 828.0	\$ 638.
Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period:				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	987.6	\$ 793.4	\$ 629.
Restricted cash		2.0	34.6	8.
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period	\$	989.6	\$ 828.0	\$ 638.

### ITEM 9. CHANGES AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

#### ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

#### **Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures**

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as that term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act")) that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures. In designing disclosure controls and procedures, our management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible disclosure controls and procedures. The design of any disclosure controls and procedures also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance of achieving the desired control objectives.

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation and subject to the foregoing, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this report, the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to accomplish their objectives at the reasonable assurance level.

### **Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting**

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 that have materially affected, or that are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

### Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. The Company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed under the supervision of its principal executive and principal financial officer and effected by the Company's Board of Directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of its consolidated financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

The Company's internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect transactions and dispositions of the Company's assets; provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and the directors; and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company's assets that could have a material effect on its consolidated financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. In addition, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020 based on the framework established in *Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013)* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, management has determined that the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020 was effective.

Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has audited the Company's consolidated financial statements included in this report on Form 10-K and issued its report on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, which is included herein.

# ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

### PART III.

### ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information about our directors, including our audit committee, executive officers and corporate governance will be in our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which will be filed within 120 days of the end of 2020 (the "2021 Proxy Statement") and is incorporated in this Form 10-K by reference.

### Code of Conduct and Code of Ethics for Financial Professionals

We have a Code of Conduct and a Code of Ethics for Financial Professionals, which apply to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer. Each of these codes is available on our website at http://ir.carlyle.com. We intend to disclose any amendment to or waiver of the Code of Conduct and any waiver of our Code of Ethics for Financial Professionals on behalf of an executive officer or director either on our website or in a Form 8-K filing.

### ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information relating to our executive officer and director compensation and the compensation committee of the Board will be in the 2021 Proxy Statement and is incorporated in this Form 10-K by reference.

# ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information relating to securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans, security ownership of certain beneficial owners of our common stock and information relating to the security ownership of our management will be in the 2021 Proxy Statement and is incorporated in this Form 10-K by reference.

### ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information regarding certain relationships and related transactions and director independence will be in the 2021 Proxy Statement and is incorporated in this Form 10-K by reference.

### ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Information regarding principal accounting fees and services will be in the 2021 Proxy Statement and is incorporated in this Form 10-K by reference.

### PART IV.

# ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

## (a) Documents filed as part of this report

### 1. Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	<u>154</u>
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019	<u>159</u>
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018	160
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018	<u>161</u>
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Partner's Capital for the Years Ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018	<u>162</u>
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018	<u>163</u>
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	164

### 3. Exhibits

A list of exhibits required to be filed or furnished as part of this report is set forth in the Exhibit Index below.

## (c) Separate financial statements of subsidiaries not consolidated and fifty percent or less owned persons

Under Rule 3-09 of Regulation S-X, we are required to file separate audited financial statements of Fortitude Group Holdings, LLC for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. We expect to file those financial statements by amendment to our Annual Report on Form 10-K on or before March 31, 2021 as permitted by Item 3-09(b)(1) of Regulation S-X.

## **Exhibit Index**

Exhibit No.	Description
3.1	Certificate of Conversion of The Carlyle Group L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 2, 2020).
3.2	Certificate of Incorporation of The Carlyle Group Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 2, 2020).
3.3	Bylaws of The Carlyle Group Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 2, 2020).
4.1	Indenture dated as of January 18, 2013 among Carlyle Holdings Finance L.L.C., The Carlyle Group L.P., Carlyle Holdings I L.P., Carlyle Holdings II L.P., Carlyle Holdings III L.P. and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 18, 2013).
4.2	First Supplemental Indenture dated as of January 18, 2013 among Carlyle Holdings Finance L.L.C., The Carlyle Group L.P., Carlyle Holdings II L.P., Carlyle Holdings II L.P., and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 18, 2013).
4.3	Form of 3.875% Senior Note due 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 18, 2013).
4.4	Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of January 1, 2020 among Carlyle Holdings Finance L.L.C., The Carlyle Group Inc., Carlyle Holdings I L.P., Carlyle Holdings II L.P., Carlyle Holdings II L.P., CG Subsidiary Holdings L.L.C. and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 12, 2020).

Exhibit No.	Description
4.5	Indenture dated as of March 28, 2013 among Carlyle Holdings II Finance L.L.C., The Carlyle Group L.P., Carlyle Holdings I L.P., Carlyle Holdings III L.P. and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 28, 2013).
4.6	First Supplemental Indenture dated as of March 28, 2013 among Carlyle Holdings II Finance L.L.C., The Carlyle Group L.P., Carlyle Holdings II L.P., Carlyle Holdings III L.P. and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 28, 2013).
4.7	Form of 5.625% Senior Note due 2043 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 28, 2013).
4.8	Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of March 10, 2014 among Carlyle Holdings II Finance L.L.C., The Carlyle Group L.P., Carlyle Holdings II L.P., Carlyle Holdings III L.P. and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 10, 2014).
4.9	Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of January 1, 2020 among Carlyle Holdings II Finance L.L.C., The Carlyle Group Inc., Carlyle Holdings II L.P., Carlyle Holdings II L.P., Carlyle Holdings II L.P., Carlyle Holdings III L.P., CG Subsidiary Holdings L.L.C. and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.9 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 12, 2020).
4.10	Indenture dated as of September 14, 2018 among Carlyle Finance L.L.C., The Carlyle Group L.P., Carlyle Holdings I L.P., Carlyle Holdings II L.P. and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 14, 2018).
4.11	First Supplemental Indenture dated as of September 14, 2018 among Carlyle Finance L.L.C., The Carlyle Group L.P., Carlyle Holdings I L.P., Carlyle Holdings II L.P., Carlyle Holdings III L.P. and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 14, 2018).
4.12	Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of January 1, 2020 among Carlyle Finance L.L.C., The Carlyle Group Inc., Carlyle Holdings I L.P., Carlyle Holdings II L.P., Carlyle Holdings III L.P., CG Subsidiary Holdings L.L.C. and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.12 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 12, 2020).
4.13	Form of 5.650% Senior Note due 2048 (included in Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 14, 2018).
4.14	Indenture dated as of September 19, 2019 among Carlyle Finance Subsidiary L.L.C., The Carlyle Group L.P., Carlyle Holdings I L.P., Carlyle Holdings II L.P., and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 19, 2019).
4.15	First Supplemental Indenture dated as of September 19, 2019 among Carlyle Finance Subsidiary L.L.C., The Carlyle Group L.P., Carlyle Holdings II L.P., Carlyle Holdings III L.P., and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 19, 2019).
4.16	Form of 3.500% Senior Notes due 2029 (included in Exhibit 4.3 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 19, 2019).
4.17	Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of January 1, 2020 among Carlyle Finance Subsidiary L.L.C., The Carlyle Group Inc., Carlyle Holdings I L.P., Carlyle Holdings II L.P., Carlyle Holdings II L.P., Carlyle Holdings III L.P., CG Subsidiary Holdings L.L.C. and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.17 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 12, 2020).
4.18	Description of Capital Stock (incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 12, 2020).

Exhibit No.	Description
10.1	Tax Receivable Agreement, dated as of May 2, 2012, by and among The Carlyle Group L.P., Carlyle Holdings I GP Inc., Carlyle Holdings I L.P. and each of the limited partners of the Carlyle Holdings Partnerships party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 8, 2012).
10.2	Amendment to Tax Receivable Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2020, by and among the Corporation, Carlyle Holdings I GP Inc., Carlyle Holdings I L.P. and each of the limited partners of the Carlyle Holdings Partnerships party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 2, 2020).
10.3	Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement with Senior Carlyle Professionals, dated as of January 1, 2020, by and among the Corporation, TCG Carlyle Global Partners L.L.C. and the Covered Persons (defined therein) party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 2, 2020).
10.4	Registration Rights Agreement by and among the Partnership, MDC/TCP Investments (Cayman) I, Ltd., MDC/TCP Investments (Cayman) II, Ltd., MDC/TCP Investments (Cayman) IV, Ltd., MDC/TCP Investments (Cayman) V, Ltd., MDC/TCP Investments (Cayman) V, Ltd., MDC/TCP Investments (Cayman) VI, Ltd., MDC/TCP Investments (Cayman) VI, Ltd. and Five Overseas Investment L.L.C, dated as of May 8, 2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 8, 2012).
10.5	The Carlyle Group Inc. Amended and Restated 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrant's Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed with the SEC on January 2, 2020).
10.6+	Noncompetition Agreement with William E. Conway, Jr. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on March 15, 2012).
10.7+	Noncompetition Agreement with Daniel A. D'Aniello (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on March 15, 2012).
10.8+	Noncompetition Agreement with David M. Rubenstein (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on March 15, 2012).
10.9+	Stockholder Agreement by and between the Corporation and William E. Conway, Jr., dated as of January 1, 2020 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 2, 2020).
10.10+	Stockholder Agreement by and between the Corporation and Daniel A. D'Aniello, dated as of January 1, 2020 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 2, 2020).
10.11+	Stockholder Agreement by and between the Corporation and David M. Rubenstein, dated as of January 1, 2020 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 2, 2020).
10.12	Note And Unit Subscription Agreement, dated as of December 16, 2010, by and among TC Group, L.L.C., TC Group Cayman, L.P., TC Group Investment Holdings, L.P., TC Group Cayman Investment Holdings, L.P., TCG Holdings, L.L.C., TCG Holdings Cayman, L.P., TCG Holdings II, L.P., TCG Holdings Cayman II, L.P., Fortieth Investment Company L.L.C., MDC/TCP Investments (Cayman) I, Ltd., MDC/TCP Investments (Cayman) II, Ltd., MDC/TCP Investments (Cayman) IV, Ltd., MDC/TCP Investments (Cayman) V, Ltd., MDC/TCP Investments (Cayman) V, Ltd., and Five Overseas Investment L.L.C. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on February 14, 2012).
10.13	<u>Lease, dated January 10, 2011, between Commonwealth Tower, L.P. and Carlyle Investment Management L.L.C. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on November 7, 2011).</u>
10.14	Amended and Restated Office Lease by and between Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of America and Carlyle Investment Management L.L.C., dated as of June 14, 2019 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 1, 2018).
10.15	First Amendment to Deed of Lease, dated November 8, 2011, between Commonwealth Tower, L.P. and Carlyle Investment Management L.L.C. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on January 10, 2012).

Exhibit No.	Description
10.16	Non-Exclusive Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of December 31, 2012, between Falstaff Partners, LLC as Lessor and Carlyle Investment Management L.L.C. as Lessee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 14, 2013).
10.16.1	Amendment No. 1 to the Lease Agreement dated February 18, 2014 relating to the Non-Exclusive Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of December 31, 2012, between Falstaff Partners, LLC as Lessor and Carlyle Investment Management L.L.C. as Lessee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18.1 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 27, 2014).
10.17*	Non-Exclusive Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of December 22, 2020, between Westwind Acquisition Company, L.L.C. as Lessor and Carlyle Investment Management L.L.C. as Lessee.
10.18	Non-Exclusive Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of December 26, 2012, between Orange Crimson Aviation, L.L.C. as Lessor and Carlyle Investment Management L.L.C as Lessee (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 14, 2013).
10.18.1	Amendment No. 1 to the Lease Agreement dated February 18, 2014 relating to the Non-Exclusive Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of December 26, 2012, between Orange Crimson Aviation, L.L.C. as Lessor and Carlyle Investment Management L.L.C. as Lessee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20.1 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 27, 2014).
10.19	Non-Exclusive Aircraft Lease Agreement dated as of December 11, 2018 by and between KZ Partners, Inc. as Lessor and Carlyle Investment Management L.L.C. as Lessee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 13, 2019).
10.20	Form of Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of Fund General Partner (Delaware) (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on February 14, 2012).
10.21	Form of Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of Fund General Partner (Cayman Islands) (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on February 14, 2012).
10.22	Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of February 11, 2019, among TC Group Investment Holdings, L.P., TC Group Investment Holdings, L.P., TC Group Investment Holdings, L.P., TC Group Cayman, L.P., and Carlyle Investment Management L.L.C., as Borrowers, TC Group, L.L.C., Carlyle Holdings I L.P., Carlyle Holdings II L.P. and Carlyle Holdings III L.P. as Guarantors, the Lenders party hereto, and Citibank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and Citibank N.A., JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and Credit Suisse Funding LLC as Joint Lead Arrangers and Bookrunners and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and Credit Suisse Loan Funding LLC as Syndication Agents (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 13, 2019).
10.23+	Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 12, 2020).
10.24+	Employment Agreement of Kewsong Lee, dated as of October 23, 2017 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 15, 2018).
10.24.1+	Amendment to Employment Agreement of Kewsong Lee, dated as of January 1, 2020 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.6 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 2, 2020).
10.25*+	Form of Global Restricted Stock Unit Agreement.
10.26+	Form of Global Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Performance RSUs for Other Executive Officers (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on April 30, 2020).
10.27+	Form of Global Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Performance RSUs for Co-Chief Executive Officers Granted in February 2018 (note that references in award agreement to Deferred Restricted Common Units refer to Restricted Stock Units post-Conversion) (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 1, 2019).
10.28+	Form of Global Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Outperformance RSUs for Co-Chief Executive Officers Granted in February 2019 (note that references in award agreement to Deferred Restricted Common Units refer to Restricted Stock Units post-Conversion) (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 1, 2019).

Exhibit No.	Description
10.29+	Form of Global Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Outperformance RSUs for Co-Chief Executive Officers Granted in February 2020 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on April 30, 2020).
10.30+	Operating Executive Consulting Agreement by and between Carlyle Investment Management L.L.C. and James H. Hance, dated as of November 1, 2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 13, 2012).
10.31+	<u>Key Executive Incentive Program (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 26, 2015).</u>
21.1*	Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
23.1*	Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.
31.1*	<u>Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a – 14(a).</u>
31.2*	Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a – 14(a).
32.1*	Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2*	<u>Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.</u>
101.INS*	Inline XBRL Instance Document - the Instance Document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.
101.SCH*	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101.CAL*	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF*	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
101.LAB*	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document.
101.PRE*	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
104*	The cover page from The Carlyle Group Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, formatted in Inline XBRL (included within the Exhibit 101 attachments).

- \* Filed herewith
- + Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement in which directors and/or executive officers are eligible to participate.

The agreements and other documents filed as exhibits to this report are not intended to provide factual information or other disclosure other than with respect to the terms of the agreements or other documents themselves, and you should not rely on them for that purpose. In particular, any representations and warranties made by us in these agreements or other documents were made solely within the specific context of the relevant agreement or document and may not describe the actual state of affairs as of the date they were made or at any other time.

### **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: February 11, 2021

### The Carlyle Group Inc.

By: /s/ Curtis L. Buser

> Name: Curtis L. Buser Title: Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated on the 11th day of February 2021.

> **Signature** <u>Title</u>

Chief Executive Officer and Director /s/ Kewsong Lee (principal executive officer) Kewsong Lee

/s/ Curtis L. Buser Chief Financial Officer Curtis L. Buser (principal financial officer)

/s/ William E. Conway, Jr William E. Conway, Jr. Co-Chairman and Director

/s/ Daniel A. D'Aniello
Daniel A. D'Aniello Chairman Emeritus and Director

/s/ David M. Rubenstein Co-Chairman and Director David M. Rubenstein

/s/ Peter J. Clare Chief Investment Officer for Corporate Private Equity and Director

Peter J. Clare /s/ Lawton Fitt Director

/s/ James H. Hance, Jr. Director James H. Hance, Jr.

**Lawton Fitt** 

/s/ Janet Hill Janet Hill Director

/s/ Dr. Thomas S. Robertson **Dr. Thomas S. Robertson** Director

/s/ William J. Shaw William J. Shaw Director

/s/ Anthony Welters
Anthony Welters Director

/s/ Charles E. Andrews, Jr. Charles E. Andrews, Jr. Chief Accounting Officer (principal accounting officer)

### NON-EXCLUSIVE AIRCRAFT LEASE AGREEMENT

Dated as of the 22nd day of December 2020,

between

# WESTWIND ACQUISITION COMPANY, L.L.C.

as Lessor,

and

## CARLYLE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT L.L.C.

as Lessee,

concerning one Gulfstream G650ER aircraft bearing U.S. registration number N807BC, and manufacturer's serial number 6440

# INSTRUCTIONS FOR COMPLIANCE WITH "TRUTH IN LEASING" REQUIREMENTS UNDER FAR § 91.23

Within 24 hours after execution of this Aircraft Lease Agreement:

mail a copy of the executed document, without <u>Schedule A</u>, to the following address via certified mail, return receipt requested:

Federal Aviation Administration Aircraft Registration Branch ATTN: Technical Section P.O. Box 25724 Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73125

# At least 48 hours prior to the first flight to be conducted under this Agreement:

provide notice of the departure airport and proposed time of departure of said first flight, by telephone or facsimile, to the Flight Standards District Office located nearest the departure airport.

Carry a copy of this Aircraft Lease Agreement in the aircraft at all times.

\* \* \*

<u>Schedule A</u> contains only economic rental data and is intentionally omitted for FAA submission purposes.

146973802v2

This **NON-EXCLUSIVE AIRCRAFT LEASE AGREEMENT** (the "Agreement") is entered into as of December 22, 2020 (the "Effective Date"), by and between **WESTWIND ACQUISITION COMPANY**, **LLC.** ("Lessor"), and **CARLYLE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT L.L.C.** ("Lessee").

### WITNESSETH:

**WHEREAS**, Lessor is, as of the Effective Date of this Agreement, the registered owner of the Aircraft described and referred to herein;

**WHEREAS**, Lessee desires to lease from the Lessor, and Lessor desires to lease to Lessee, the Aircraft, upon and subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement; and

**WHEREAS**, during the term of this Agreement, the Aircraft may be subject to concurrent leases to other lessees.

**NOW, THEREFORE**, in consideration of the mutual promises herein contained and other good and valid consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:

# **SECTION 1. DEFINITIONS**

- 1.1 The following terms shall have the following meanings for all purposes of this Agreement:
  - "Aircraft" means the Airframe and the Engines. Such Engines shall be deemed part of the "Aircraft" whether or not from time to time attached to the Airframe or on the ground.
  - "Airframe" means that certain Gulfstream G650ER aircraft bearing U.S. registration number

N807BC, and manufacturer's serial number 6440 together with any and all Parts (including, but not limited to, landing gear and auxiliary power units but excluding Engines or engines) so long as such Parts shall be either incorporated or installed in or attached to the Airframe.

- "Applicable Law" means, without limitation, all applicable laws, treaties, international agreements, decisions and orders of any court, arbitration or governmental agency or authority and rules, regulations, orders, directives, licenses and permits of any governmental body, instrumentality, agency or authority, including, without limitation, the FARs, the Federal Aviation Act of 1958 as amended, and Title 49, Subtitle VII of the United States Code.
- "Business Day" means any day of the year in which banks are not authorized or required to close in the location of Lessor's address for notification.
- "Engines" means two (2) Rolls-Royce Deutschland Ltd & Co KG model BR700-725A1-12 engines bearing manufacturer's serial numbers 25989 and 25988 together with any and all Parts so long as the same shall be either incorporated or installed in or attached to such Engine. An Engine shall remain leased hereunder whether or not from time to time attached to the Airframe or on the ground.

- "FAA" means the Federal Aviation Administration of the United States Department of Transportation or any successor agency.
- "FARs" means collectively the Aeronautics Regulations of the Federal Aviation Administration and the Department of Transportation, as codified at Title 14, Parts 1 to 399 of the United States Code of Federal Regulations.
- "Flight Crew" has the meaning specified in Section 5.3 of this Agreement.
- "Flight Hour" means each flight hour of use of the Aircraft by Lessee, as recorded on the Aircraft hour meter and measured from the time the Aircraft wheel blocks are removed at the beginning of a flight, to the time the Aircraft wheel blocks are replaced after the Aircraft lands at the end of a flight in one-tenth (1/10<sup>th</sup>) of an hour increments. Flight Hours also include any flight hours consumed in repositioning the Aircraft to facilitate Lessee's scheduled itineraries.
- **"FSDO Notice"** means a FSDO Notification Letter in the form of <u>Schedule B</u> attached hereto.
- "Lien" means any mortgage, security interest, international interest, lease or other charge or encumbrance or claim or right of others, including, without limitation, rights of others under any airframe or engine interchange or pooling agreement.
- "Operating Base" means Dulles International Airport, Virginia.
- "Operational Control" has the same meaning given the term in Section 1.1 of the FARs.
- "Parts" means all appliances, components, parts, instruments, appurtenances, accessories, furnishings or other equipment of whatever nature (other than complete Engines or engines) which may from time to time be incorporated or installed in or attached to the Airframe or any Engine and includes replacement parts.
- "Pilot in Command" has the same meaning given the term in Section 1.1 of the FARs.
- "Rent Payment Date" means the last Business Day of each calendar month.
- "Schedule Keeper" means the person designated by Lessor to coordinate the scheduling of the Aircraft.
- "Taxes" means all sales taxes, use taxes, retailer taxes, duties, fees, excise taxes (including, without limitation, federal transportation excise taxes), or other taxes of any kind which may be assessed or levied by any Taxing Jurisdiction as a result of the lease of the Aircraft to Lessee, or the use of the Aircraft by Lessee.
- "**Taxing Jurisdictions**" means any federal, state, county, local, airport, district, foreign, or other governmental authority that imposes Taxes.
- "**Term**" means the term of this Agreement set forth in Section 3.1.

### SECTION 2. LEASE AND DELIVERY OF THE AIRCRAFT

- 2.1 **Lease.** Lessor agrees to lease to Lessee, and Lessee agrees to lease from Lessor, the Aircraft, on the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
- 2.2 **Delivery**. The Aircraft shall be delivered by Lessor to the Lessee at the Operating Base or at such other location that is mutually agreeable by Lessor and Lessee prior to each use of the Aircraft in "AS IS", "WHERE AS" condition subject to each and every disclaimer of warranty and requirements as set forth in Section 4.3 hereof. Upon each such delivery, the United States standard airworthiness certificate issued for the Aircraft shall be present on board the Aircraft, and said standard airworthiness certificate shall be effective in accordance with FAR 21.181(a)(1). Lessor shall not be liable for delay or failure to furnish the Aircraft pursuant to this Agreement when such failure is caused by government regulation or authority, mechanical difficulty, war, terrorism, civil commotion, strikes or labor disputes, weather conditions, or acts of God.
- 2.3 **Non-Exclusivity.** Lessee and Lessor acknowledge that the Aircraft is leased to Lessee on a non-exclusive basis, and that the Aircraft shall, at other times, be operated by Lessor and may be otherwise subject to lease to others during the Term at Lessor's sole discretion. During any period during which the Lessor or any other person or entity is utilizing the Aircraft, Lessee's leasehold rights to possession of the Aircraft under this Agreement shall temporarily abate, but all other provisions of this Agreement shall nevertheless continue in full force and effect.
- FSDO Notice. At least 48 hours prior to the first flight to be conducted under this Agreement, Lessee shall complete the FSDO Notice attached hereto as Schedule B and deliver the completed FSDO Notice by facsimile to the FAA Flight Standards District Office located nearest to the departure airport of said first flight.

### SECTION 3. TERM, SCHEDULING, AND RENT

- 3.1 **Term**. The Term shall commence on the Effective Date, and be effective for a period of one (1) year. At the end of the first one (1) year period or any subsequent one (1) year period, the Term shall automatically be renewed for an additional one (1) year period, unless terminated by either party. Either party may terminate this Agreement with or without cause upon forty-eight (48) hours notice to the other party; provided, however, that Lessee shall be permitted to complete any scheduled use of the Aircraft which has commenced.
- 3.2 **Scheduling**. Lessee's use of the Aircraft during the Term of this Agreement is non-exclusive. The parties agree as follows:
  - (a) <u>Use by Lessor and Other Lessees</u>. Lessor and Lessee agree that Lessor may lease the Aircraft to one or more other lessees during the Term on a non-exclusive basis, that Lessor has the absolute right to determine the availability of the Aircraft for Lessee and that Lessor's use of the Aircraft shall have priority over the availability of the Aircraft for lease to Lessee or any other party. Lessor agrees that at such times as the Aircraft is not undergoing maintenance or being used by Lessor, Lessee and all other lessees of the Aircraft shall have equal rights to use of the Aircraft and that all use of the Aircraft shall

- be scheduled on a "first come, first served" basis; provided, however, that Lessee and all other lessees shall cooperate in good faith on all scheduling matters and shall use their respective best efforts to avoid scheduling conflicts involving the Aircraft.
- (b) <u>Designation of Schedule Keeper</u>. Lessor shall advise Lessee of the individual or entity that will coordinate the scheduling of the Aircraft.
- (c) <u>Minimum Usage by Lessee</u>. Nothing contained herein shall obligate Lessee to any minimum usage of the Aircraft, it being understood and agreed that Lessee's usage shall be on an "as-needed" basis.
- 3.3 **Rent**. The Lessee shall pay rent in an amount equal to the Hourly Rent specified in <u>Schedule A</u> attached hereto for each Flight Hour of use of the Aircraft by Lessee. The amount of Hourly Rent paid during the calendar year (or prorated portion thereof) shall be compared to the actual utilization costs of the Aircraft at the end of each calendar year beginning December 31, 2020. If the actual utilization costs exceed the amount of Hourly Rent paid, Lessee shall pay the amount of such excess to Lessor by the Rent Payment Date in January of the immediately following year. If the amount of Hourly Rent paid during the calendar year (or prorated portion thereof) exceeds the actual utilization costs, Lessor shall apply the amount of such excess to the account of Lessee for credit against future Hourly Rent which is due under this Agreement. All rent accrued during any calendar month shall be payable in arrears on the Rent Payment Date in the immediately succeeding calendar month without further demand or invoice. All rent shall be paid to the Lessor in immediately available U.S. funds and in form and manner as the Lessor in its sole discretion may instruct Lessee from time to time. In the event the Lease is terminated by either party pursuant to Section 3.1, Lessee shall pay upon demand all outstanding Hourly Rent for each used Flight Hour.
- 3.4 **Taxes.** Neither rent nor any other payments to be made by Lessee under this Agreement includes the amount of any Taxes which may be assessed or levied by any Taxing Jurisdictions as a result of the lease of the Aircraft to Lessee. Lessee shall remit to Lessor all such Taxes together with each payment of rent pursuant to Section 3.3.

## SECTION 4. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES; DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTIES

- 4.1 **Representations and Warranties of Lessee**. Lessee represents and warrants as of the date hereof and during the entire Term hereof as follows:
  - 4.1.1 Lessee is a validly organized limited liability company under the laws of the State of Delaware, and the person executing on behalf of Lessee has full power and authority to execute this Agreement on behalf of Lessee and by such execution shall bind Lessee under this Agreement.
  - 4.1.2 No action, suit, or proceeding is currently pending or threatened against Lessee which shall in any material way affect Lessee's financial status as of the date hereof, or impair the execution, delivery, or performance by Lessee of this Agreement.

- 4.1.3 The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Lessee and the performance of its obligations hereunder have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action and do not conflict with any provision of Lessee's articles of organization, bylaws, operating agreement, any governmental regulations, or any other agreements that Lessee may now have with other parties.
- 4.1.4 Lessee is not subject to any restriction, which with or without the giving of notice, the passage of time, or both, prohibits or would be violated by or be in conflict with this Agreement.
- 4.1.5 Lessee will not permit the Aircraft to be operated in any manner contrary to any manual or instructions for the Aircraft or in violation of the terms or conditions of any insurance policy covering the Aircraft or any applicable statute, regulation, ordinance, or other law.
- 4.2 **Representations and Warranties of Lessor**. Lessor represents and warrants as of the date hereof and during the entire Term hereof as follows:
  - 4.2.1 Lessor is a validly organized limited liability company under the laws of the State of Delaware, and the person executing on behalf of Lessor has full power and authority to execute this Agreement on behalf of Lessor and by such execution shall bind Lessor under this Agreement.
  - 4.2.2 No action, suit, or proceeding is currently pending or threatened against Lessor which shall in any material way affect Lessor's financial status as of the date hereof, or impair the execution, delivery, or performance by Lessor of this Agreement.
  - 4.2.3 The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Lessor and the performance of its obligations hereunder have been duly authorized by all necessary limited liability company action and do not conflict with any provision of Lessor's articles of organization, bylaws, operating agreement, any governmental regulations, or any other agreements that Lessor may now have with other parties.
- 4.3 **Disclaimer of Warranties.** THE AIRCRAFT IS BEING LEASED BY THE LESSOR TO THE LESSEE HEREUNDER ON AN "AS IS" BASIS. THE WARRANTIES AND REPRESENTATIONS SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT ARE EXCLUSIVE AND IN LIEU OF ALL OTHER REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES, AND LESSOR HAS NOT MADE AND SHALL NOT BE CONSIDERED OR DEEMED TO HAVE MADE AND LESSEE HEREBY WAIVES, RELEASES, DISCLAIMS AND RENOUNCES ALL EXPECTATION OF OR RELIANCE UPON ANY WARRANTIES, OBLIGATIONS AND LIABILITIES OF LESSOR, EXPRESS, IMPLIED, ARISING BY LAW, COURSE OF DEALING, USAGE OF TRADE OR OTHERWISE WITH RESPECT TO THE DESIGN, MERCHANTABILITY, OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR USE OF THE AIRCRAFT. LESSOR SHALL HAVE NO RESPONSIBILITY OR LIABILITY TO LESSEE OR ANY OTHER PERSON WITH RESPECT TO ANY OF THE FOLLOWING, REGARDLESS OF ANY NEGLIGENCE OR FAULT OF LESSOR: (A) ANY LIABILITY, LOSS OR DAMAGE CAUSED OR ALLEGED TO BE CAUSED DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY BY THE AIRCRAFT OR ANY COMPONENT OF THE AIRCRAFT OR BY ANY INADEQUACY THEREOF, ANY DEFICIENCY OR DEFECT IN THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER

CIRCUMSTANCES IN CONNECTION WITH THE AIRCRAFT OR THIS AGREEMENT; (B) THE USE, OPERATION OR PERFORMANCE OF THE AIRCRAFT OR ANY COMPONENT OF THE AIRCRAFT OR ANY RISKS RELATING THERETO; OR (C) ANY INTERRUPTION OF SERVICE, LOSS OF BUSINESS OR ANTICIPATED PROFITS OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES. LESSEE SHALL INDEMNIFY, DEFEND AND HOLD LESSOR HARMLESS FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL CLAIMS, ACTIONS, SUITS, PROCEEDINGS, INJURIES (OR DEATH), DAMAGES, LIABILITIES, COSTS OR EXPENSES (INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION REASONABLE ATTORNEYS' FEES) ARISING FROM OR IN ANY WAY RELATING TO LESSEE'S LEASE OR POSSESSION OF THE AIRCRAFT DURING THE TERM AND SUCH INDEMNIFICATION SHALL SURVIVE THE EXPIRATION OR EARLIER TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT.

## SECTION 5. REGISTRATION, USE, OPERATION, MAINTENANCE AND POSSESSION

Title and Registration. Title to the Aircraft shall remain vested in Lessor at all times during the Term to the exclusion of Lessee and that Lessor shall have only such rights as shall be specifically set forth herein. Lessor represents that as of the date of this Agreement the Aircraft is, and throughout the Term the Aircraft shall remain, lawfully registered as a civil aircraft of the United States.

- Use and Operation. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, Lessee shall be solely and exclusively responsible for the use, operation and control of the Aircraft while in its possession during the Term of this Agreement. Lessee shall operate the Aircraft in accordance with the provisions of Part 91 of the FARs and shall not operate the Aircraft in commercial service, as a common carrier, or otherwise on a compensatory or "for hire" basis except to the limited extent permitted under Subpart F of Part 91 of the FARs, if applicable. Lessee agrees not to operate or locate the Airframe or any Engine, or suffer the Airframe or any Engine to be operated or located, in any area excluded from coverage by any insurance policy in effect or required to be maintained hereunder with respect to the Airframe or Engines, or in any war zone. Lessee agrees not to knowingly operate the Airframe or any Engine or knowingly permit the Airframe or any Engine to be operated during the Term except in operations for which Lessee is duly authorized, or to knowingly use or permit the Aircraft to be used for a purpose for which the Aircraft is not designed or reasonably suitable. Lessee will not knowingly use or operate the Aircraft in violation of any Applicable Law, or contrary to any manufacturer's operating manuals or instructions. Lessee shall not knowingly permit the Aircraft to be used for the carriage of any persons or property prohibited by law nor shall it be used during the existence of any known defect except in accordance with the FARs.
- 5.3 **Operating Costs.** Except as otherwise provided herein, Lessor shall pay certain fixed and variable costs of operating the Aircraft, including, without limitation, all costs of insurance, hangarage at the Operating Base, maintenance and inspections, overhauls, oil and other lubricants. The foregoing notwithstanding, Lessee shall, at its own expense, (i) pay costs of fuel required for operation of Lessee's flights, (ii) pay standard catering costs, (iii) locate and retain (either through direct employment or contracting with an independent contractor for flight services) all pilots and other cabin personnel (including mechanic) required for Lessee's operations of the Aircraft (collectively the "Flight Crew"), and (iv) pay all miscellaneous out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with Lessee's operation of the Aircraft, including, but not limited to, landing fees, ramp fees, overnight hangar fees, de-icing costs, contaminant recovery costs, special-request catering and commissary costs, in-flight entertainment and telecommunications charges, ground transportation, Flight Crew travel expenses, charts, manuals, and other publications obtained for the specific flight, and any other similar items.
- 5.4 **Maintenance of Aircraft**. Lessee shall perform, or cause to be performed, all pre- and post-flight inspections in accordance and as required by the FAA-approved inspection program for the Aircraft. Lessee shall notify Lessor, or cause Lessor to be notified, of any maintenance requirement, dangerous condition, malfunction or worn part that may be discovered during any such inspection. Subject to the foregoing, Lessor shall be solely responsible for arranging the performance of all maintenance and inspections of the Aircraft during the Term, shall ensure that the Aircraft is maintained in an airworthy condition during the Term, and shall coordinate the performance of and payment for all repairs and maintenance of the Aircraft.
- 5.5 **Flight Crew**. All members of the Flight Crew shall be fully competent and experienced, duly licensed, and qualified in accordance with the requirements of Applicable Law and all insurance policies covering the Aircraft. All members of the Flight Crew who are pilots shall be fully trained in accordance with an FAA-approved training program, including initial and recurrent training and, where appropriate, contractor-provided simulator training.

- 5.6 **Operational Control.** THE PARTIES EXPRESSLY AGREE THAT LESSEE SHALL AT ALL TIMES WHILE THE AIRCRAFT IS IN ITS POSSESSION DURING THE TERM MAINTAIN OPERATIONAL CONTROL OF THE AIRCRAFT, AND THAT THE INTENT OF THE PARTIES IS THAT THIS AGREEMENT CONSTITUTE A "DRY" OPERATING LEASE. Lessee shall exercise exclusive authority over initiating, conducting, or terminating any flight conducted pursuant to this Agreement, and the Flight Crew shall be under the exclusive command and control of Lessee in all phases of such flights.
- 5.7 **Authority of Pilot in Command.** Notwithstanding that Lessee shall have operational control of the Aircraft during any flight conducted pursuant to this Agreement, Lessor and Lessee expressly agree that the Pilot in Command member of the Flight Crew retained by Lessee pursuant to Section 5.3, in his or her sole discretion, may terminate any flight, refuse to commence any flight, or take any other flight-related action which in the judgment of the Pilot in Command is necessitated by considerations of safety. The Pilot in Command shall have final and complete authority to postpone or cancel any flight for any reason or condition which in his or her judgment would compromise the safety of the flight. No such action of the Pilot in Command shall create or support any liability for loss, injury, damage or delay to Lessor.
- 5.8 **Right to Inspect**. Lessor and its agents shall have the right to inspect the Aircraft at any reasonable time, upon giving Lessee reasonable notice, to ascertain the condition of the Aircraft and to satisfy Lessor that the Aircraft is being properly repaired and maintained in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement. All required repairs shall be performed as soon as practicable after such inspection.
- 5.9 **Modification of Aircraft**. Lessee shall not make or permit to be made any modification or alteration, improvement, or addition to the Aircraft without the express written consent of Lessor.
- 5.10 **Fines, Penalties and Forfeitures**. Lessee shall be solely responsible for any fines, penalties or forfeitures relating in any manner to the operation or use of the Aircraft by Lessee under this Agreement.

### SECTION 6. CONDITION DURING TERM AND RETURN OF AIRCRAFT

6.1 **Return**. Upon completion of each use of the Aircraft by Lessee during the Term, Lessee shall return the Aircraft to the Lessor by delivering the same to the Operating Base, fully equipped with all Engines installed thereon. Upon each such delivery, the Aircraft shall be in as good operating condition as at it was in when Lessor delivered the Aircraft to Lessee, ordinary wear and tear excepted, and the United States standard airworthiness certificate issued for the Aircraft shall be present on board the Aircraft and said standard airworthiness certificate shall be effective in accordance with FAR 21.181(a)(1). Nothing contained in this Section 6.1 may be interpreted to require Lessee to perform any maintenance or other obligation which is the responsibility of the Lessor pursuant to Section 5.4 hereof; provided, however, that Lessee shall be obligated to ensure that Lessor is advised of any maintenance requirement, dangerous condition, malfunction or worn part that may be discovered during each period during the Term commencing with the delivery of the Aircraft to Lessee and terminating when the Aircraft has been redelivered to Lessor in the condition required hereunder.

## **SECTION 7. LIENS**

7.1 Lessee shall ensure that no Liens are created or placed against the Aircraft by Lessee or third parties as a result of Lessee's or its agents' or representatives' action or inaction. Lessee shall notify Lessor promptly upon learning of any liens not permitted by these terms. Lessee shall, at its own cost and expense, take all such actions as may be necessary to discharge and satisfy in full any such lien promptly after the same becomes known to it.

## **SECTION 8. INSURANCE**

- 8.1 **Liability.** Lessor shall maintain, or cause to be maintained, bodily injury and property damage, liability insurance in an amount no less than Three Hundred Million United States Dollars (USD\$300,000,000.00) Combined Single Limit for the benefit of itself and Lessee in connection with the use of the Aircraft. Said policy shall be an occurrence policy and shall include Lessee as an operator and an Additional Named Insured.
- 8.2 **Hull.** Lessor shall maintain aircraft hull insurance in the amount of Sixty Million United States Dollars (US\$60,000,000.00) which the parties agree shall be deemed to be the full replacement value of the Aircraft, and such insurance shall name Lessor and any first lien mortgage holder as loss payees as their interests may appear. Said policy shall contain a waiver of subrogation clause in favor of all Additional Named Insureds.
- 8.3 **Insurance Certificates.** Lessor will provide Lessee with a Certificate of Insurance upon execution of this Agreement and thereafter reasonably upon request therefor.

- 8.4 **Conditions of Insurance.** Each insurance policy required hereunder shall insure the interest of Lessee regardless of any breach or violation by Lessor of any warranties, declarations, or conditions contained in such policies. Each such policy shall be primary without any right of contribution from any insurance maintained by Lessee. The geographic limits, if any, contained in each and every such policy of insurance shall include at the minimum all territories over which Lessee will operate the Aircraft for which the insurance is placed. Each policy shall contain an agreement by the insurer that notwithstanding the lapse of any such policy for any reason or any right of cancellation by the insurer or Lessor, whether voluntary or involuntary, such policy shall continue in force for the benefit of Lessee for at least thirty (30) days (or such lesser time as may be permitted in the case of War Risk Insurance, if such War Risk Insurance so requires) after written notice of such lapse or cancellation shall have been given to Lessee. Each policy shall contain an agreement by the Insurer to provide Lessee with thirty (30) days' advance written notice of any deletion, cancellation, or material change in coverage.
- 8.5 **Insurance Companies.** Each insurance policy required hereunder shall be issued by a company or companies who are qualified to do business in the United States and who (i) will submit to the jurisdiction of any competent state or federal court in the United States with regard to any dispute arising out of the policy of insurance or concerning the parties herein; and (ii) will respond to any claim or judgment against Lessee in any competent state or federal court in the United States or its territories.

### **SECTION 9. DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES**

9.1 Upon the occurrence of any failure by a party hereto duly to observe or perform any of its obligations hereunder, and at any time thereafter so long as the same shall be continuing, the other party may, at its option, declare in writing that this Agreement is in default; and at any time thereafter, so long as the outstanding default shall not have been remedied, the non-defaulting party may cancel, terminate, or rescind this Agreement and may exercise any and all remedies available to it at law or in equity.

## **SECTION 10. NOTICES**

10.1 All communications, declarations, demands, consents, directions, approvals, instructions, requests and notices required or permitted by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given or made when delivered by hand or on the next Business Day when sent by overnight courier or when transmitted by means of facsimile or other wire transmission (with request for assurance of receipt in a manner typical with respect to communications of that type and followed promptly with the original thereof and a copy sent simultaneously therewith by first class mail, postage prepaid) in each case at the address set forth below:

**If to Lessor:** Westwind Acquisition Company, L.L.C.

1001 Pennsylvania Ave., NW

Suite 200

Washington, DC 20004 Attn: William Conway **If to Lessee:** Carlyle Investment Management L.L.C.

1001 Pennsylvania Ave., NW

Suite 200

Washington, DC 20004 Attn: Jeffrey Ferguson

## SECTION 11. EVENT OF LOSS AND INDEMNIFICATION

- 11.1 **Notification of Event of Loss.** In the event any damage to or destruction of the Aircraft shall occur, while the Aircraft is in the possession of Lessee, or in the event of any whole or partial loss of the Aircraft during such time, including, without limitation, any loss resulting from the theft, condemnation, confiscation or seizure of, or requisition of title to or use of, the Aircraft by private persons or by any governmental or purported governmental authority, Lessee shall immediately:
  - 11.1.1 report the event of loss to Lessor, the insurance company or companies, and to any and all applicable governmental agencies; and
  - 11.1.2 furnish such information and execute such documents as may be required and necessary to collect the proceeds from any insurance policies.
- 11.2 **Repair or Termination**. In the event the Aircraft is partially destroyed or damaged, Lessor shall have the option, in its sole discretion, to either (i) fully repair the Aircraft in order that it shall be placed in at least as good condition as it was prior to such partial destruction or damage; or (ii) terminate this Agreement. Within five (5) days after the date of such partial destruction or damage, Lessor shall give written notice to Lessee specifying whether Lessor has elected fully to repair the Aircraft and, if so, the expected date the Aircraft will be fully repaired and available for Lessee's use in accordance with this Agreement, or to terminate this Agreement, which termination shall be effective immediately upon such written notice from Lessor to Lessee setting forth Lessor's election to so terminate this Agreement.
- 11.3 **Indemnification.** Lessee hereby releases, and shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Lessor and its shareholders, members, directors, officers, managers, employees, successors and assigns, from and against, any and all claims, damages, losses, liabilities, demands, suits, judgments, causes of action, civil and criminal legal proceedings, penalties, fines, and other sanctions, and any attorneys' fees and other reasonable costs and expenses, directly or indirectly arising from the use of the Aircraft by Lessee to the extent of available insurance.

## **SECTION 12. MISCELLANEOUS**

12.1 **Entire Agreement.** This Agreement, and all terms, conditions, warranties, and representations herein, are for the sole and exclusive benefit of the signatories hereto. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement of the parties as of its Effective Date and supersedes all prior or independent, oral or written agreements, understandings, statements, representations, commitments, promises, and warranties made with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement.

- 12.2 **Other Transactions.** Except as specifically provided in this Agreement, none of the provisions of this Agreement, nor any oral or written statements, representations, commitments, promises, or warranties made with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement shall be construed or relied upon by any party as the basis of, consideration for, or inducement to engage in, any separate agreement, transaction or commitment for any purpose whatsoever.
- 12.3 **Prohibited and Unenforceable Provisions.** Any provision of this Agreement which is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof, and any such prohibitions or unenforceability in any jurisdiction. To the extent permitted by applicable law, each of Lessor and Lessee hereby waives any provision of applicable law which renders any provision hereof prohibited or unenforceable in any respect.
- 12.4 **Enforcement.** This Agreement, including all agreements, covenants, representations and warranties, shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of, and may be enforced by Lessor, Lessee, and each of their agents, servants and personal representatives.
- 12.5 **Headings.** The section and subsection headings in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and shall not modify, define, expand, or limit any of the terms or provisions hereof.
- 12.6 **Counterparts.** This Agreement may be executed by the parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be an original, but all such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.
- 12.7 **Amendments.** No term or provision of this Agreement may be amended, changed, waived, discharged, or terminated orally, but only by an instrument in writing signed by the party against which the enforcement of the change, waiver, discharge, or termination is sought.
- 12.8 **No Waiver.** No delay or omission in the exercise or enforcement or any right or remedy hereunder by either party shall be construed as a waiver of such right or remedy. All remedies, rights, undertakings, obligations, and agreements contained herein shall be cumulative and not mutually exclusive, and in addition to all other rights and remedies which either party possesses at law or in equity.
- 12.9 **No Assignments.** Neither party may assign its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the prior written permission of the other.
- 12.10 **Governing Law.** This Agreement has been negotiated and delivered in the Commonwealth of Virginia and shall in all respects be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, including all matters of construction, validity and performance, without giving effect to its conflict of laws provisions.
- 12.11 **Jurisdiction and Venue**. Each party hereby consents to the nonexclusive jurisdiction and venue of the state and federal courts serving the Commonwealth of Virginia. Nothing in this Agreement shall, however, prohibit any party from seeking enforcement of this Agreement in

any appropriate court and in any jurisdiction where the party against whom enforcement is sought is subject to personal jurisdiction and where venue is proper.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]

#### **SECTION 13. TRUTH IN LEASING**

13.1 TRUTH IN LEASING STATEMENT UNDER SECTION 91.23 OF THE FARs.

WITHIN THE TWELVE (12) MONTH PERIOD PRECEDING THE DATE OF THIS AGREEMENT, EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT THE AIRCRAFT IS LESS THAN TWELVE (12) MONTHS OLD, THE AIRCRAFT HAS BEEN INSPECTED AND MAINTAINED AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FOLLOWING PROVISIONS OF FAR:

#### CHECK ONE:

- 91.409 (f) (1): A continuous airworthiness inspection program that is part of a continuous airworthiness maintenance program currently in use by a person holding an air carrier operating certificate or an operating certificate issued under FAR Part 121, 127, or 135 and operating that make and model aircraft under FAR Part 121 or operating that make and model under FAR Part 135 and maintaining it under FAR 135.411(a)(2).
- 91.409 (f) (2): An approved aircraft inspection program approved under FAR 135.419 and currently in use by a person holding an operating certificate issued under FAR Part 135.
- X 91.409 (f) (3): A current inspection program recommended by the manufacturer.
  - 91.409 (f) (4): Any other inspection program established by the registered owner or operator of the Aircraft and approved by the Administrator of the Federal Aviation Administration in accordance with FAR 91.409 (g).

THE PARTIES HERETO CERTIFY THAT DURING THE TERM OF THIS AGREEMENT AND FOR OPERATIONS CONDUCTED HEREUNDER, THE AIRCRAFT WILL BE MAINTAINED AND INSPECTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF FAR:

#### **CHECK ONE:**

91.409 (f) (1) 91.409 (f) (2) X 91.409 (f) (3) 91.409 (f) (4)

LESSEE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT WHEN IT OPERATES THE AIRCRAFT UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, IT SHALL BE KNOWN AS, CONSIDERED, AND IN FACT WILL BE THE LESSEE OF SUCH AIRCRAFT. EACH PARTY HERETO CERTIFIES THAT IT UNDERSTANDS THE EXTENT OF ITS RESPONSIBILITIES, SET FORTH HEREIN, FOR COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE FEDERAL AVIATION REGULATIONS.

AN EXPLANATION OF FACTORS BEARING ON OPERATIONAL CONTROL AND PERTINENT FEDERAL AVIATION REGULATIONS CAN BE OBTAINED FROM THE NEAREST FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION FLIGHT STANDARDS DISTRICT OFFICE, GENERAL AVIATION DISTRICT OFFICE, OR AIR CARRIER DISTRICT OFFICE.

THE PARTIES HERETO CERTIFY THAT A TRUE COPY OF THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE CARRIED ON THE AIRCRAFT AT ALL TIMES, AND SHALL BE MADE AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION UPON REQUEST BY AN APPROPRIATELY CONSTITUTED IDENTIFIED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ADMINISTRATOR OF THE FAA.

\* \* \*

**IN WITNESS WHEREOF**, the Lessor and the Lessee have each caused this **Non-Exclusive Aircraft Lease Agreement** to be duly executed as of the Effective Date.

#### LESSOR:

#### Westwind Acquisition Company, L.L.C.

By: /s/William E. Conway, Jr.

Print: William E. Conway, Jr.

Title: Sole Member

#### LESSEE:

### Carlyle Investment Management L.L.C.

By: <u>/s/ Chas Andrews</u>

Print: Chas Andrews

Title: Chief Accounting Officer

## The Carlyle Group Inc. Amended and Restated 2012 Equity Incentive Plan

#### Form of Global Restricted Stock Unit Agreement

Participant:	Date of Grant:
--------------	----------------

Number of RSUs:

- 1. <u>Grant of RSUs</u>. The Carlyle Group Inc. (the "<u>Company</u>") hereby grants the number of restricted stock units (the "<u>RSUs</u>") listed above to the Participant (the "<u>Award</u>"), effective as of [Date] (the "<u>Date of Grant</u>"), on the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth in this agreement including Appendix A, which includes any applicable country-specific provisions (together, the "<u>Award Agreement</u>"). This grant is made pursuant to the terms of The Carlyle Group Inc. Amended and Restated 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (as amended, modified or supplemented from time to time, the "<u>Plan</u>"), which is incorporated herein by reference and made a part of this Award Agreement. Each RSU represents the unfunded, unsecured right of the Participant to receive a Share on the delivery date(s) specified in Section 4 hereof.
  - 2. <u>Definitions</u>. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the same meanings as in the Plan.
  - (a) "Cause" shall mean the determination by the Administrator that the Participant has (i) engaged in gross negligence or willful misconduct in the performance of the Participant's duties, (ii) willfully engaged in conduct that the Participant knows or, based on facts known to the Participant, should know is materially injurious to the Company or any of its Affiliates, (iii) materially breached any material provision of the Participant's employment agreement or other Restrictive Covenant Agreement with the Company or its Affiliates, (iv) been convicted of, or entered a plea bargain or settlement admitting guilt for, fraud, embezzlement, or any other felony under the laws of the United States or of any state or the District of Columbia or any other country or any jurisdiction of any other country (but specifically excluding felonies involving a traffic violation), (v) been the subject of any order, judicial or administrative, obtained or issued by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") or similar agency or tribunal of any country, for any securities violation involving insider trading, fraud, misappropriation, dishonesty or willful misconduct (including, for example, any such order consented to by the Participant in which findings of facts or any legal conclusions establishing liability are neither admitted nor denied), or (vi) discussed the Company's (or its Affiliates') fundraising efforts, or the name of any fund vehicle that has not had a final closing of commitments, to any reporter or representative of any press or other public media.
  - (b) "Qualifying Event" shall mean, during the Participant's Services with the Company and its Affiliates, the Participant's death or Disability.
  - (c) "<u>Restrictive Covenant Agreement</u>" shall mean any agreement (including, without limitation, this Award Agreement), and any attachments or schedules thereto,

entered into by and between the Participant and the Company or its Affiliates, pursuant to which the Participant has agreed, among other things, to certain restrictions relating to non-competition (if applicable), non-solicitation and/or confidentiality, in order to protect the business of the Company and its Affiliates.

- (d) "<u>Vested RSUs</u>" shall mean those RSUs which have become vested pursuant to Section 3 or otherwise pursuant to the Plan.
  - (e) "<u>Vesting Dates</u>" shall mean each of the vesting dates set forth in Section 4(a) hereof.

#### 3. <u>Vesting</u>.

- (a) *Vesting General.* Subject to the Participant's continued Services with the Company and its Affiliates, the Award shall vest on the applicable Vesting Dates as follows:
  - (i) The RSUs granted hereunder shall vest in installments on each Vesting Date as set forth in Section 4(a) hereof.
- (b) *Vesting Death or Disability.* Upon the occurrence of a Qualifying Event, 100% of the RSUs granted hereunder shall vest (to the extent not previously vested) upon the date of such Qualifying Event.
- (c) *Vesting Terminations*. Except as otherwise set forth in Section 3(b), in the event the Participant's Services with the Company and its Affiliates are terminated for any reason, the portion of the Award that has not yet vested pursuant to Section 3(a) or 3(b) hereof (or otherwise pursuant to the Plan) shall be cancelled immediately and the Participant shall automatically forfeit all rights with respect to such portion of the Award as of the date of such termination. For purposes of this provision, the effective date of termination of the Participant's Services will be determined in accordance with Section 8(k) hereof.

#### 4. <u>Vesting and Delivery Dates</u>.

(a) *Delivery – General*. The Company shall, on or within 30 days following a Vesting Date, deliver (or cause delivery to be made) to the Participant the Shares underlying the RSUs that vest and become Vested RSUs on such Vesting Date. The general vesting and delivery terms with respect to the RSUs are set forth in the table below.

<b>Vesting Dates</b>	<u>Annual Vesting / Delivery</u>	<u>Cumulative Vesting / Delivery</u>
		_

- (b) *Delivery Death or Disability*. Upon the occurrence of a Qualifying Event, the Company shall, within 30 days following the date of such event, deliver (or cause delivery of) Shares to the Participant in respect of 100% of the RSUs which vest and become Vested RSUs on such date.
- (c) *Delivery Terminations*. Except as otherwise set forth in Section 4(b) or 4(d), in the event the Participant's Services with the Company and its Affiliates are terminated for any reason, the Company shall within 30 days following the date of such termination, deliver (or cause delivery of) Shares to the Participant in respect of any then outstanding Vested RSUs.
- (d) Forfeiture Cause Termination or Breach of Restrictive Covenants. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, upon the termination of the Participant's Services by the Company or any of its Affiliates for Cause or upon the Participant's breach of any of the restrictive covenants contained within an applicable Restrictive Covenant Agreement, all outstanding RSUs (whether or not vested) shall immediately terminate and be forfeited without consideration and no further Shares with respect of the Award shall be delivered to the Participant or to the Participant's legal representative, beneficiaries or heirs. Without limiting the foregoing, to the extent permitted under applicable law, any Shares that have previously been delivered to the Participant or the Participant's legal representative, beneficiaries or heirs pursuant to the Award and which are still held by the Participant or the Participant's legal representative, or beneficiaries or heirs as of the date of such termination for Cause or such breach, shall also immediately terminate and be forfeited without consideration.
- 5. <u>Change in Control.</u> Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, in the event of a Change in Control, (i) 100% of the RSUs granted hereunder which then remain outstanding shall vest (to the extent not previously vested) upon the date of such Change in Control, and (ii) the Company shall deliver (or cause delivery of) Shares to the Participant at the same times as would otherwise be delivered pursuant to Section 4(a); <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, if such Change in Control (or any subsequent Change in Control) would constitute "a change in the ownership or effective control" or a "change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the assets" of the Company (in each case within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code), the Company shall instead deliver (or cause delivery of) Shares to the Participant in respect of 100% of the then outstanding RSUs on or within 10 days following such Change in Control.
- 6. <u>No Dividends or Distributions on RSUs</u>. No dividends or other distributions shall accrue or become payable with respect to any RSUs prior to the date upon which the Shares underlying the RSUs are issued or transferred to the Participant.
- 7. <u>Adjustments Upon Certain Events</u>. The Administrator shall make certain substitutions or adjustments to any RSUs subject to this Award Agreement pursuant to Section 9 of the Plan.
  - 8. <u>Nature of Grant</u>. In accepting the grant, the Participant acknowledges, understands, and agrees that:

- (a) the Plan is established voluntarily by the Company, it is discretionary in nature and it may be modified, amended, suspended or terminated by the Company, at any time, to the extent permitted by the Plan;
- (b) the grant of the RSUs is exceptional, voluntary and occasional and does not create any contractual or other right to receive future grants of RSUs, or benefits in lieu of RSUs, even if RSUs have been granted in the past;
- (c) all decisions with respect to future RSUs or other grants, if any, will be at the sole discretion of the Company;
- (d) the granting of the RSUs evidenced by this Award Agreement shall impose no obligation on the Company or any Affiliate to continue the Services of the Participant and shall not lessen or affect the Company's or its Affiliate's right to terminate the Services of such Participant;
  - (e) the Participant is voluntarily participating in the Plan;
- (f) the RSUs and the Shares subject to the RSUs, and the income from and value of same, are not intended to replace any pension rights or compensation;
- (g) the RSUs and the Shares subject to the RSUs, and the income from and value of same, are not part of normal or expected compensation for purposes of calculating any severance, resignation, termination, redundancy, dismissal, end-of-service payments, holiday pay, bonuses, long-service awards, pension or retirement or welfare benefits or similar payments;
- (h) the RSUs should in no event be considered as compensation for, or relating in any way to, past services for the Company, the Employer (as defined in Section 15 of this Award Agreement) or any Affiliate or predecessor;
- (i) unless otherwise agreed with the Company, the RSUs and the Shares subject to the RSUs, and the income from and value of same, are not granted as consideration for, or in connection with, the Services Participant may provide as a director of an Affiliate;
- (j) the future value of the underlying Shares is unknown, indeterminable and cannot be predicted with certainty;
- (k) in the event of termination of the Participant's Services for any reason, except as set forth in Sections 3(b) and 4(b) (whether or not later to be found invalid or in breach of employment laws in the jurisdiction where the Participant is employed or the terms of the Participant's employment agreement, if any), unless otherwise determined by the Company, the Participant's right to vest in the RSUs under the Plan, if any, will terminate effective as of the date that the Participant is no longer actively providing Services and will not be extended by any notice period (e.g., active Services would not

include any contractual notice period or any period of "garden leave" or similar period mandated under employment laws in the jurisdiction where the Participant is employed, or the terms of the Participant's employment agreement, if any); the Administrator shall have the exclusive discretion to determine when the Participant is no longer actively providing Services for purposes of the RSUs grant (including whether the Participant may still be considered to be providing Services while on an approved leave of absence); and

- (l) in addition to the provisions above in this Section 8, the following provisions apply if the Participant is providing Services outside the United States:
  - (i) no claim or entitlement to compensation or damages shall arise from forfeiture of the RSUs resulting from termination of the Participant's Services as set forth in Section 3(c), 4(c) or 4(d) above for any reason (whether or not later found to be invalid or in breach of employment laws in the jurisdiction where the Participant is employed or the terms of the Participant's employment agreement, if any), and in consideration of the grant of the RSUs, the Participant agrees not to institute any claim against the Company or any Affiliate;
  - (ii) the RSUs and the Shares subject to the RSUs are not part of normal or expected compensation or salary for any purpose; and
  - (iii) neither the Company nor any Affiliate shall be liable for any foreign exchange rate fluctuation between the Participant's local currency and the United States Dollar that may affect the value of the RSUs or of any amounts due to the Participant pursuant to the settlement of the RSUs or the subsequent sale of any Shares acquired upon settlement.
- 9. <u>No Advice Regarding Grant.</u> The Company is not providing any tax, legal or financial advice, nor is the Company making any recommendations regarding the Participant's participation in the Plan, or the Participant's acquisition or sale of the underlying Shares. The Participant should consult with his or her own personal tax, legal and financial advisors regarding his or her participation in the Plan before taking any action related to the Plan.
- 10. <u>Data Privacy Information and Consent</u>. The Company is located at 1001 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Washington, DC 20004 U.S.A. and grants employees of the Company and its Affiliates RSUs, at the Company's sole discretion. If the Participant would like to participate in the Plan, please review the following information about the Company's data processing practices and declare the Participant's consent.
  - (a) <u>Data Collection and Usage</u>: The Company collects, processes and uses personal data of Participants, including name, home address and telephone number, date of birth, social insurance number or other identification number, salary, citizenship, job title, any Shares or directorships held in the Company, and details of all RSUs, canceled, vested, or outstanding in the Participant's favor, which the Company receives from the Participant or the Employer. If the Company offers the

Participant a grant of RSUs under the Plan, then the Company will collect the Participant's personal data for purposes of allocating Shares and implementing, administering and managing the Plan. The Company's legal basis for the processing of the Participant's personal data would be his or her consent.

- (b) Stock Plan Administration Service Providers: The Company transfers participant data to Morgan Stanley, an independent service provider based in the United States, which assists the Company with the implementation, administration and management of the Plan. In the future, the Company may select a different service provider and share the Participant's data with another company that serves in a similar manner. The Company's service provider will open an account for the Participant to receive and trade Shares. The Participant will be asked to agree on separate terms and data processing practices with the service provider, which is a condition to the Participant's ability to participate in the Plan.
- (c) <u>International Data Transfers</u>: The Company and its service providers are based in the United States. If the Participant is outside the United States, the Participant should note that his or her country has enacted data privacy laws that are different from the United States. The Company's legal basis for the transfer of the Participant's personal data is his or her consent.
- (d) <u>Data Retention</u>: The Company will use the Participant's personal data only as long as is necessary to implement, administer and manage the Participant's participation in the Plan or as required to comply with legal or regulatory obligations, including under tax and security laws.
- (e) <u>Voluntariness and Consequences of Consent Denial or Withdrawal</u>: The Participant's participation in the Plan and the Participant's grant of consent is purely voluntary. The Participant may deny or withdraw his or her consent at any time. If the Participant does not consent, or if the Participant withdraws his or her consent, the Participant cannot participate in the Plan. This would not affect the Participant's salary as an employee or his or her career; the Participant would merely forfeit the opportunities associated with the Plan.
- (f) <u>Data Subject Rights</u>: The Participant has a number of rights under data privacy laws in his or her country. Depending on where the Participant is based, the Participant's rights may include the right to (i) request access or copies of personal data of the Company processes, (ii) rectification of incorrect data, (iii) deletion of data, (iv) restrictions on processing, (v) portability of data, (vi) lodge complaints with competent authorities in the Participant's country, and/or (vii) a list with the names and address of any potential recipients of the Participant's data. To receive clarification regarding the Participant's rights or to exercise the Participant's rights please contact the Company at The Carlyle Group Inc., 1001 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Washington, DC 20004 U.S.A., Attention: Equity Management.

If the Participant agrees with the data processing practices as described in this notice, please declare the Participant's consent by clicking the "Accept Award" button on the Morgan Stanley award acceptance page or signing below.

- 11. <u>No Rights of a Holder of Shares</u>. Except as otherwise provided herein, the Participant shall not have any rights as a holder of Shares until such Shares have been issued or transferred to the Participant.
- 12. Restrictions. Any Shares issued or transferred to the Participant or to the Participant's beneficiary pursuant to Section 4 of this Award Agreement (including, without limitation, following the Participant's death or Disability) shall be subject to such stop transfer orders and other restrictions as the Administrator may deem advisable under the Plan or the rules, regulations, and other requirements of the SEC, any stock exchange upon which such Shares are listed and any applicable U.S. or non-U.S. federal, state or local laws, and the Administrator may cause a notation or notations to be put entered into the books and records of the Company to make appropriate reference to such restrictions. Without limiting the generality of the forgoing, a Participant's ability to sell or transfer the Shares shall be subject to such trading policies or limitations as the Administrator may, in its sole discretion, impose from time to time on current or former senior professionals, employees, consultants, directors, members, partners or other service providers of the Company or of any of its Affiliates.
- 13. <u>Transferability</u>. Unless otherwise determined or approved by the Administrator, no RSUs may be assigned, alienated, pledged, attached, sold or otherwise transferred or encumbered by the Participant other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution, and any purported assignment, alienation, pledge, attachment, sale, transfer or encumbrance not permitted by this Section 13 shall be void and unenforceable against the Company or any Affiliate.
- 14. <u>Notices</u>. All notices, requests, claims, demands and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be given (and shall be deemed to have been duly given upon receipt) by delivery in person, by courier service, by fax, or by registered or certified mail (postage prepaid, return receipt requested) to the respective parties at the following addresses (or at such other address for a party as shall be specified in a notice given in accordance with this Section 14):
  - (a) If to the Company, to:

The Carlyle Group Inc. 1001 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20004 Attention: General Counsel Fax: (202) 315-3678

(b) If to the Participant, to the address appearing in the personnel records of the Company or any Affiliate.

- 15. Withholding. The Participant acknowledges that he or she may be required to pay to the Company or, if different, an Affiliate that employs the Participant (the "Employer"), and that the Company, the Employer, or any Affiliate shall have the right and are hereby authorized to withhold from any compensation or other amount owing to the Participant, applicable income tax, social insurance, payroll tax, fringe benefits tax, payment on account or other tax-related items (including taxes that are imposed on the Company or the Employer as a result of the Participant's participation in the Plan but are deemed by the Company or the Employer to be an appropriate charge to the Participant) (collectively, "Tax-Related Items"), with respect to any issuance, transfer, or other taxable event under this Award Agreement or under the Plan and to take such action as may be necessary in the opinion of the Company to satisfy all obligations for the payment of such Tax-Related Items. The Participant further acknowledges that the Company and/or the Employer (i) make no representations or undertakings regarding the treatment of any Tax-Related Items in connection with any aspect of the RSUs, including, but not limited to the grant or vesting of the RSUs and the subsequent sale of Shares acquired upon settlement of the Vested RSUs; and (ii) do not commit to and are under no obligation to structure the terms of the grant or any aspect of the RSUs to reduce or eliminate the Participant's liability for Tax-Related Items or achieve a particular tax result. Further, if the Participant is subject to Tax-Related Items in more than one jurisdiction, the Participant acknowledges that the Company and/or the Employer (or former employer, as applicable) may be required to withhold or account for Tax-Related Items in more than one jurisdiction. Without limiting the foregoing, the Administrator may, from time to time, permit the Participant to make arrangements prior to any Vesting Date described herein to pay the applicable Tax-Related Items in a manner prescribed by the Administrator prior to the applicable Vesting Date; provided that, unless otherwise determined by the Administrator, any such payment or estimate must be received by the Company prior to an applicable Vesting Date. Additionally, the Participant authorizes the Company and/or the Employer to satisfy the obligations with regard to all Tax-Related Items by withholding from proceeds of the sale of Shares acquired upon settlement of the Vested RSUs either through a voluntary sale or through a mandatory sale arranged by the Company (on the Participant's behalf pursuant to this authorization). Depending on the withholding method, the Company and/or the Employer may withhold or account for the Tax-Related Items by considering minimum statutory withholding amounts or other applicable withholding rates in the Participant's jurisdiction(s), including maximum applicable rates. In the event of overwithholding, the Participant may receive a refund of any over-withheld amount in cash through the Employer's normal payroll process (with no entitlement to the equivalent in Shares), or if not refunded, the Participant may seek a refund from the applicable tax authorities. In the event of underwithholding, the Participant may be required to pay additional Tax-Related Items directly to the applicable tax authorities or to the Company and/or the Employer. The Participant acknowledges that, regardless of any action taken by the Company, the Employer, or any Affiliate the ultimate liability for all Tax-Related Items, is and remains the Participant's responsibility and may exceed the amount, if any, actually withheld by the Company or the Employer. The Company may refuse to issue or deliver the Shares or the proceeds from the sale of Shares, if the Participant fails to comply with his or her obligations in connection with the Tax-Related Items.
- 16. <u>Choice of Law; Venue</u>. The interpretation, performance and enforcement of this Award Agreement shall be governed by the law of the State of New York without regard to its

conflict of law provisions. Any and all disputes, controversies or issues arising out of, concerning or relating to this Award, this Award Agreement or the relationship between the parties evidenced by the Award Agreement, including, without limitation, disputes, controversies or issues arising out of, concerning or relating to the construction, interpretation, breach or enforcement of this Award Agreement, shall be brought exclusively in the courts in the State of New York, City and County of New York, including the Federal Courts located therein (should Federal jurisdiction exist). Each of the parties hereby expressly represents and agrees that it/he/she is subject to the personal jurisdiction of said courts, irrevocably consents to the personal jurisdiction of such courts; and waives to the fullest extent permitted by law any objection which it/he/she may now or hereafter have that the laying of the venue of any legal lawsuit or proceeding related to such dispute, controversy or issue that is brought in any such court is improper or that such lawsuit or proceeding has been brought in an inconvenient forum.

- 17. WAIVER OF RIGHT TO JURY TRIAL. AS SPECIFICALLY BARGAINED FOR INDUCEMENT FOR EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO TO ENTER INTO THIS AWARD AGREEMENT (AFTER HAVING THE OPPORTUNITY TO CONSULT WITH COUNSEL OF ITS/HIS/HER CHOICE), EACH PARTY EXPRESSLY WAIVES THE RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LAWSUIT OR PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF, CONCERNING OR RELATING TO THIS AWARD, THIS AWARD AGREEMENT, THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE PARTIES EVIDENCED BY THIS AWARD AGREEMENT AND/OR THE MATTERS CONTEMPLATED THEREBY.
- 18. <u>Subject to Plan</u>. By entering into this Award Agreement, the Participant agrees and acknowledges that the Participant has received and read a copy of the Plan. All RSUs and Shares issued or transferred with respect thereof are subject to the Plan. In the event of a conflict between any term or provision contained herein and a term or provision of the Plan, the applicable terms and provisions of the Plan will govern and prevail.
- 19. Entire Agreement. This Award Agreement contains the entire understanding between the parties with respect to the RSUs granted hereunder (including, without limitation, the vesting and delivery schedules described herein and in Appendix A), and hereby replaces and supersedes any prior communication and arrangements between the Participant and the Company or any of its Affiliates with respect to the matters set forth herein and any other pre-existing economic or other arrangements between the Participant and the Company or any of its Affiliates, unless otherwise explicitly provided for in any other agreement that the Participant has entered into with the Company or any of its Affiliates and that is set forth on Schedule A hereto. Unless set forth on Schedule A hereto, no such other agreement entered into prior to the Date of Grant shall have any effect on the terms of this Award Agreement.
- 20. <u>Modifications</u>. Notwithstanding any provision of this Award Agreement to the contrary, the Company reserves the right to modify the terms and conditions of this Award Agreement, including, without limitation, the timing or circumstances of the issuance or transfer of Shares to the Participant hereunder, to the extent such modification is determined by the Company to be necessary to comply with applicable law or preserve the intended deferral of income recognition with respect to the RSUs until the issuance or transfer of Shares hereunder.

- 21. <u>Signature in Counterparts; Electronic Acceptance</u>. This Award Agreement may be signed in counterparts, each of which shall be an original, with the same effect as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument. Alternatively, this Award Agreement may be granted to and accepted by the Participant electronically.
- 22. <u>Electronic Delivery</u>. The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver any documents related to current or future participation in the Plan by electronic means. The Participant hereby consents to receive such documents by electronic delivery and agrees to participate in the Plan through an on-line or electronic system established and maintained by the Company or a third party designated by the Company.
- 23. <u>Compliance with Law.</u> Notwithstanding any other provision of this Award Agreement, unless there is an available exemption from any registration, qualification or other legal requirement applicable to the Shares, the Company shall not be required to deliver any Shares issuable upon settlement of the RSUs prior to the completion of any registration or qualification of the Shares under any local, state, federal or foreign securities or exchange control law or under rulings or regulations of the SEC or of any other governmental regulatory body, or prior to obtaining any approval or other clearance from any local, state, federal or foreign governmental agency, which registration, qualification or approval the Company shall, in its absolute discretion, deem necessary or advisable. The Participant understands that the Company is under no obligation to register or qualify the Shares with the SEC or any state or foreign securities commission or to seek approval or clearance from any governmental authority for the issuance or sale of the Shares. Further, the Participant agrees that the Company shall have unilateral authority to amend the Plan and the Award Agreement without the Participant's consent to the extent necessary to comply with securities or other laws applicable to issuance of Shares.
- 24. <u>Language</u>. The Participant acknowledges that he or she is sufficiently proficient in English, or has consulted with an advisor who is sufficiently proficient in English, so as to allow the Participant to understand the terms and conditions of this Award Agreement. Furthermore, if the Participant has received this Award Agreement or any other document related to the Plan translated into a language other than English and if the meaning of the translated version is different than the English version, the English version will control.
- 25. <u>Severability</u>. The provisions of this Award Agreement are severable and if any one or more provisions are determined to be illegal or otherwise unenforceable, in whole or in part, the remaining provisions shall nevertheless be binding and enforceable.
- 26. <u>Appendix</u>. Notwithstanding any provisions in this Award Agreement, the RSUs grant shall be subject to any additional terms and conditions set forth in Appendix A to this Award Agreement for the Participant's country. Moreover, if the Participant relocates to another country, any additional terms and conditions for such country will apply to the Participant, to the extent the Company determines that the application of such terms and conditions is necessary or advisable for legal or administrative reasons. Appendix A constitutes part of this Award Agreement.

- 27. <u>Imposition of Other Requirements</u>. The Company reserves the right to impose other requirements on the Participant's participation in the Plan, on the RSUs and on any Shares acquired under the Plan, to the extent the Company determines it is necessary or advisable for legal or administrative reasons, and to require the Participant to sign any additional agreements or undertakings that may be necessary to accomplish the foregoing.
- 28. <u>Waiver</u>. The Participant acknowledges that a waiver by the Company of breach of any provision of this Award Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any other provision of this Award Agreement, or of any subsequent breach by the Participant or any other participant.
- 29. <u>Insider Trading Restrictions/Market Abuse Laws</u>. The Participant acknowledges that, depending on his or her country of residence, or broker's country of residence, or where the Shares are listed, Participant may be subject to insider trading restrictions and/or market abuse laws, which may affect the Participant's ability to directly or indirectly, accept, acquire, sell, or attempt to sell or otherwise dispose of Shares or rights to Shares (e.g., RSUs) under the Plan during such times as Participant is considered to have "inside information" regarding the Company (as defined by the laws or regulations in applicable jurisdictions or Participant's country). Local insider trading laws and regulations may prohibit the cancellation or amendment of orders placed by the Participant before possessing inside information. Furthermore, the Participant understands that he or she may be prohibited from (i) disclosing the inside information to any third party, including fellow employees (other than on a "need to know" basis) and (ii) "tipping" third parties or causing them to otherwise buy or sell securities. Any restrictions under these laws or regulations are separate from and in addition to any restrictions that may be imposed under any applicable Company insider trading policy. The Participant acknowledges that it is his or her responsibility to comply with any applicable restrictions, and the Participant should speak to his or her personal advisor on this matter.
- 30. <u>Foreign Asset/Account Reporting</u>. The Participant's country of residence may have certain foreign asset and/or account reporting requirements which may affect his or her ability to acquire or hold RSUs under the Plan or cash received from participating in the Plan (including sales proceeds arising from the sale of Shares) in a brokerage or bank account outside the Participant's country. The Participant may be required to report such amounts, assets or transactions to the tax or other authorities in his or her country. The Participant also may be required to repatriate sale proceeds or other funds received as a result of participation in the Plan to the Participant's country through a designated broker or bank within a certain time after receipt. The Participant is responsible for ensuring compliance with such regulations and should speak with his or her personal legal advisor regarding this matter.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Award Agreement.\*

#### The Carlyle Group Inc.

By:		
Name:		
Title:		

\* If this Award Agreement is delivered to the Participant electronically, the Participant's electronic acceptance of the Award Agreement (pursuant to instructions separately communicated to the Participant) shall constitute acceptance of the Award Agreement and shall be binding on the Participant and the Company in lieu of any required signatures to this Award Agreement.

# APPENDIX A TO THE CARLYLE GROUP INC. FORM OF GLOBAL RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT

#### **Terms and Conditions**

This Appendix A includes additional terms and conditions that govern the Award of restricted stock units ("<u>RSUs</u>") granted to the Participant under The Carlyle Group Inc. Amended and Restated 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (the "<u>Plan</u>") if the Participant works and resides in any of the countries listed below. Capitalized terms used but not defined in this Appendix A are defined in the Plan and/or Award Agreement and have the meanings set forth therein.

#### **Notifications**

This Appendix A also includes information regarding securities laws, exchange controls and certain other issues of which the Participant should be aware with respect to the Participant's participation in the Plan. The information is based on the securities, exchange control and other laws in effect in the respective countries as of January 2021. Such laws are often complex and change frequently. As a result, the Company strongly recommends that the Participant not rely on the information noted in this Appendix A as the only source of information relating to the consequences of the Participant's participation in the Plan because the information may be out of date by the time the Participant vests in the RSUs or sells Shares acquired under the Plan.

In addition, the information contained herein is general in nature and may not apply to the Participant's particular situation, and the Company is not in a position to assure the Participant of a particular result. Accordingly, the Participant should seek appropriate professional advice as to how the relevant laws in the Participant's country may apply to the Participant's situation.

Finally, the Participant understands that if he or she is a citizen or resident of a country other than the one in which the Participant is currently working, transfers employment after the Date of Grant, or is considered a resident of another country for local law purposes, the information contained herein may not apply to the Participant, and the Company shall, in its discretion, determine to what extent the terms and conditions contained herein shall apply to the Participant.

#### **UNITED STATES**

<u>Non-Solicitation Covenant</u>. This provision supplements Section 4(d) "Forfeiture – Cause Termination or Breach of Restrictive Covenants" of the Award Agreement:

Notwithstanding the Participant's termination of Services and any other provision of this Award Agreement, for a period of twelve (12) months after the date of the Participant's termination of Services, the Participant will not, directly or indirectly, without the prior written consent of the Company: (i) participate in any capacity, including as an investor or an advisor, in any transaction that the Company or any of its Affiliates was actively considering investing in or offering to invest in prior to the Participant's date of termination of Services; (ii) solicit, contact or identify investors in any investment company, fund or managed account controlled or advised by the Company or its Affiliates (to the extent the Participant knows that such person or entity is an investor, directly or indirectly, in such Company, fund or managed account) on behalf of any person or entity; or (iii) recruit, solicit, induce or seek to induce any current employee of the Company or its Affiliates to become employed by the Participant or any other person or entity. The Participant agrees that this non-solicitation covenant may limit the Participant's ability to earn a livelihood in a business similar to the business conducted by the Company, but the Participant nevertheless hereby agrees and hereby acknowledges that the consideration provided to the Participant in this Award Agreement is adequate to support the restrictions contained herein. The Participant further agrees that the restrictions set forth in this non-solicitation covenant are reasonable and necessary to protect the Company's trade secrets and other legitimate business needs. In the event that any court or tribunal of competent jurisdiction shall determine this non-solicitation covenant to be unenforceable or invalid for any reason, the Participant and the Company agree that this non-solicitation covenant shall be interpreted to extend only over the maximum period of time for which it may be enforceable, and/or the maximum geographical area as to which it may be enforceable, and/or to the maximum extent in any and all respects as to which it may be enforceable, all as determined by such court or tribunal. The Participant agrees and acknowledges that the foregoing non-solicitation covenant is a material inducement to the Company to enter into this Award Agreement and, as such, it is agreed by the parties that any violation of this nonsolicitation covenant by the Participant will constitute a material breach of this Award Agreement and, in addition to any other remedies the Company may have, will result in the consequences set forth below in this Appendix A under "Breach of Non-Solicitation Covenant." The Participant further agrees that the remedy at law for any breach of this non-solicitation covenant may be inadequate, and that the Company shall, in addition to whatever other remedies it may have at law or in equity, be entitled (without posting bond or other security) to injunctive or other equitable relief, as deemed appropriate by any court or tribunal of competent jurisdiction, to prevent a breach of the Participant's obligations as set forth in this non-solicitation covenant. Notwithstanding the foregoing, clauses (i) and (ii) shall not apply if the Participant's principal place of Services is in California. Additionally, if the Participant's principal place of Services is in any other jurisdiction where any provisions contained under clauses (i) or (ii) of this non-solicitation covenant are prohibited by applicable law, then such provisions shall not apply to the Participant to the extent prohibited by applicable law. Nothing in this Appendix A is intended to limit or supersede any other Restrictive Covenant Agreement to which the Participant is subject.

<u>Breach of Non-Solicitation Covenant</u>. If, following his or her termination of Services, the Participant breaches this non-solicitation covenant or other applicable provisions of the Award Agreement or the Plan:

- (a) all outstanding RSUs (whether or not vested, as allowable under applicable law) shall immediately terminate and be forfeited without consideration and no further Shares with respect of the Award shall be delivered to the Participant or to the Participant's legal representative, beneficiaries or heirs; and
- (b) any Shares that have previously been delivered to the Participant or the Participant's legal representative, beneficiaries or heirs pursuant to the Award, which are still held by the Participant or the Participant's legal representative, or beneficiaries or heirs as of the date of such breach, shall also immediately terminate and be forfeited without consideration.

### LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

Company Name	Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization
ACP VIII 2020-2024 GP, LLC	Delaware
Alp Holdings Coöperatief U.A.	Netherlands
Alp Invest ASF VII Top Castle Sidecar GP, LLC	Delaware
ALP L Global GP B.V.	Netherlands
ALP L Global GP, LLC	Delaware
Alp Lower Holdings Ltd.	Cayman Islands
AlpInvest Access GP LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest Access II GP B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Access II GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest Access III GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest ASF VII G Sidecar GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest ASR GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest C GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest CI VII B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest CI VIII B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Co-Investment VII GP LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest Co-Investment VII Lux GP S.à r.l.	Luxembourg
AlpInvest Co-Investment VIII GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest Co-Investment VIII Lux GP S.à r.l.	Luxembourg
AlpInvest Edison GP B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Edison GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest Falcon SCF I GP B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Falcon SCF I GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
AlpInvest FC Credit GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest FCR Secondaries GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest FCR Secondaries II GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest Finance Street GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest Fondo B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest FS GP B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest G Co-Investment GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest G GP B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest G GP S.à r.l.	Luxembourg
AlpInvest G Secondary GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest GA B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest GGG B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest GGG II B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest GGG II GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest Global Advantage GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest GRIO GP B.V.	Netherlands

## Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization

Company Name	Jurisdiction of Incorpo or Organization
Alpinvest GRIO GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest Harvest GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest HLI GP B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest HLI GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest IIF GP LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest Indiana GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest Indiana-A GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest INext GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest Investments B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest J GP B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest J GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest KP GP B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest KP GP S.à r.l.	Luxembourg
AlpInvest LIVE GP B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Live GP LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest M Capital Fund GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest M GP B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Mex B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Mex I LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest Mex II LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest Mich B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Mich SPV B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest MMBO Holdings GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest North Rush GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest North Rush II GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest NPE GP B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest NPE GP LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest NPE GP S.à.r.l.	Luxembourg
AlpInvest NPE II GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest P GP B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners 2003 BV	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners 2006 BV	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners 2008 B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners 2009 B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners 2011 B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners 2011 LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest Partners 2012 I BV	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners 2012 II B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners 2012 LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest Partners 2014 I B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners 2014 II B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners 2014 LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest Partners 2016 II B.V.	Netherlands

Company Name	or Organization
AlpInvest Partners 2017 II B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners 2018 II B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners 2019 II B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners 2020 II B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners 2020/2021 GP I LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest Partners B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Beheer 2006 BV	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Clean Technology Investments 2007-2009 BV	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Clean Technology Investments 2010-2011 BV	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Co-Investments 2015 I B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Co-Investments 2015 I SPV B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Co-Investments 2015 II B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Co-Investments 2015 II SPV B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Co-Investments 2016 I B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Co-Investments BV	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Direct Investments 2003 BV	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Direct Investments BV	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Direct Secondary Investments BV	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners European Mezzanine Investments BV	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Fund Investments 2003 BV	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Fund Investments 2006 BV	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Fund Investments 2009 BV	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Fund Investments 2011 B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Fund Investments 2012 I B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Fund Investments 2012 II B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Fund Investments 2013 I B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Fund Investments 2013 II B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Fund Investments 2014 I B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Fund Investments 2014 II B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Fund Investments 2015 I B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Fund Investments 2015 II B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Fund Investments BV	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Fund of Funds Custodian IIA BV	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Fund of Funds Management IIA BV	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Later Stage Co-Investments Custodian II BV	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Later Stage Co-Investments Custodian IIA BV	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Later Stage Co-Investments Management II BV	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Later Stage Co-Investments Management IIA BV	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Limited	Hong Kong
AlpInvest Partners Mezzanine 2012-2014 B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Mezzanine Investments 2005/2006 BV	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Mezzanine Investments 2007/2009 BV	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Secondary Investments 2015 I B.V.	Netherlands

Jurisdiction of Incorporation

Company Name	or Organization
AlpInvest Partners Secondary Investments 2015 II B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Secondary Investments 2016 I B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners Secondary Investments 2018/2019 I B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Partners US Mezzanine Investments BV	Netherlands
Alpinvest Partnership Fund GP S.à r.l.	Luxembourg
AlpInvest Partnership Strategic Account GP, LLC	United States
AlpInvest PEP GP B.V.	Netherlands
Alpinvest PM GP B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest Primary Non-US Co-Invest, L.P.	Cayman Islands
AlpInvest Primary US Co-Invest, L.P.	Cayman Islands
AlpInvest Private Equity Program 2017 GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest Private Equity Program 2018 GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest Private Equity Program 2020 GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest Private Equity Program GP LLC	Delaware
Alpinvest PSS GP B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest PSS GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest Secondaries V GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest Secondaries VI GP LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest Secondaries VI Lux GP S.à r.l.	Luxembourg
AlpInvest Secondaries VII GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest Secondaries VII Lux GP S.à r.l.	Luxembourg
AlpInvest SF V B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest SF VI B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest SF VII B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest SIG Fund GP, LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest SIG GP B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest United B.V.	Netherlands
AlpInvest US Co-Investment Access GP LLC	Delaware
AlpInvest US Holdings, LLC	Delaware
Alplnvest Partners Secondary Investments 2020/2021 I B.V.	Netherlands
AMC 2012 Holdings Ltd.	Cayman Islands
AMC 2012 Ltd.	Cayman Islands
AMC 2013 Holdings Ltd.	Cayman Islands
AMC 2013 Ltd.	Cayman Islands
AMC 2014 Holdings Ltd.	Cayman Islands
AMC 2014 Ltd.	Cayman Islands
AMC 2015 Holdings Ltd.	Cayman Islands
AMC 2015 Ltd.	Cayman Islands
AP 2011-2014 SLP Ltd	Cayman Islands
AP 2014-2016 SLP Ltd.	Cayman Islands
AP Account Management B.V.	Netherlands
AP B.V.	Netherlands
AP Co-Invest 2016-2020 SLP Ltd.	Cayman Islands

**Jurisdiction of Incorporation** 

**Jurisdiction of Incorporation** or Organization

Cavman Islands

Cayman Islands

Cayman Islands

Delaware

Scotland

#### **Company Name** AP H Secondaries B.V. Netherlands AP Harvest GP B.V. Netherlands AP INPRS SLP Ltd. Cavman Islands AP M GP, LLC **United States** AP P GP, LLC **United States** AP Primary 2017-2021 SLP Ltd. Cavman Islands AP Private Equity Investments I B.V. Netherlands AP Private Equity Investments III B.V. Netherlands AP World Fund B.V. Netherlands Apollo Aviation Acquisitions, LLC Florida Apollo Aviation Lease Management, LLC Delaware ASF V Co-Invest Holding Ltd. Cavman Islands ASF V Co-Invest Ltd. Cayman Islands Netherlands ASP Thunderball B.V. ASP VI 2016-2020 SLP Ltd. Cavman Islands ASP VII 2020-2024 GP, LLC Delaware Betacom Beheer 2004 BV Netherlands Betacom XLII B.V. Netherlands Betacom XLV BV Netherlands Brazil Internationalization II (Delaware), L.L.C. Delaware Brazil Internationalization, L.L.C. Delaware BRL Funding Partners, L.L.C. Delaware BRL Funding Partners, L.P. Cayman Islands C/R ENERGY ILP GENERAL PARTNER LTD. Cayman Islands CAGP General Partner, L.P. Cayman Islands CAGP IV AIV GP, L.P. Cayman Islands CAGP IV General Partner, L.P. Cayman Islands CAGP IV, L.L.C. Delaware CAGP, Ltd. Cayman Islands CALF Holdings, Ltd. Cavman Islands CALF I General Partner, L.P. Cayman Islands Cayman Islands **CALF** Investment Limited Hong Kong CAP Advisors (Hong Kong) Limited CAP Growth I General Partner, L.P. Cayman Islands CAP Growth I, L.L.C. Delaware CAP Growth II General Partner, L.P. Cayman Islands CAP Growth II Lux GP, S.à r.l. Luxembourg CAP Growth II, L.L.C. Delaware

CAP II General Partner, L.P.

CAP III General Partner S3, L.P.

CAP III General Partner, L.P.

CAP III GENERAL PARTNER (SCOT) L.P.

CAP II, L.L.C.

**Jurisdiction of Incorporation** or Organization

Cayman Islands

Cayman Islands

Australia

Hong Kong

**Company Name** CAP III S3 Ltd. Cavman Islands CAP III, L.L.C. Delaware CAP INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED Hong Kong CAP IV General Partner, L.P. Cayman Islands Cayman Islands CAP IV Ltd. CAP IV, L.L.C. Delaware CAP MANAGEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED Hong Kong CAP V General Partner, L.P. Cayman Islands CAP V, L.L.C. Delaware CARE Engagement, Ltd. Cavman Islands Carlyle (Beijing) Asset Management Co., Ltd. Beijing Carlyle (Beijing) Investment Consulting Center, L.P. China Carlyle (Beijing) Investment Management Co., Ltd. China Carlyle Access GP 2014, L.L.C. Delaware Carlyle Access GP 2014, Ltd. Cavman Islands Carlyle Access GP 2015, L.L.C. Delaware Carlyle Access GP 2015, Ltd. Cayman Islands Carlyle Access GP III, L.L.C. Delaware Carlyle Access GP III, Ltd. Cayman Islands Carlyle Access GP IV, L.L.C. Delaware Carlyle Access GP IV, Ltd. Cavman Islands Carlyle Alternative Opportunities GP S1 II, L.P. Delaware Carlyle Alternative Opportunities GP S1, L.P. Delaware Carlyle Alternative Opportunities GP S2 II, L.P. Delaware Carlyle Alternative Opportunities GP S2, L.P. Delaware Carlyle Alternative Opportunities GP-GP S1, L.L.C. Delaware Carlvle Alternative Opportunities GP-GP, L.L.C. Delaware Carlyle Asia GP, L.P. Cayman Islands Carlyle Asia GP, Ltd. Cayman Islands Carlyle Asia Investment Advisors Limited Hong Kong Carlyle Asia PE Alternative Opportunities GP S2 II, L.P. Delaware Carlyle Asia PE Alternative Opportunities GP S2, L.P. Delaware Carlyle Asia Real Estate GP, L.P. Cayman Islands Carlyle Asia Real Estate GP, Ltd. Cayman Islands Cayman Islands Carlyle Asia Real Estate II GP, L.P. Carlyle Asia Real Estate II GP, Ltd. Cayman Islands Carlyle Asia Real Estate II, Ltd. Cayman Islands Carlyle Asia Real Estate III GP, Ltd. Cayman Islands Carlyle Asia Real Estate III, L.P. Cayman Islands

Carlyle Asia Real Estate, Ltd.

Carlyle Australia Equity Management Pty Limited

Carlyle Australia Investment Advisors Limited

Carlyle Asia, Ltd.

Company Name	Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization
Carlyle Australia Real Estate Advisors Pty Ltd	Australia
Carlyle Aviation Fund Management II LLC	Delaware
Carlyle Aviation Fund Management, LLC	Delaware
Carlyle Aviation Group, LLC	Florida
Carlyle Aviation Holdings U.S., L.L.C.	Florida
Carlyle Aviation Leasing Services LP	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Aviation Leasing Services UGP Ltd.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Aviation Luxembourg S.à r.l.	Luxembourg
Carlyle Aviation Management Irish Holding Company Limited	Ireland
Carlyle Aviation Management Limited	Bermuda
Carlyle Aviation Management Singapore Pte. Ltd.	Singapore
Carlyle Aviation Partners LLC	Florida
Carlyle Aviation Partners Ltd.	Bermuda
Carlyle Aviation PDP Management LLC	Delaware
Carlyle Aviation Runway PDP GP LLC	Delaware
Carlyle Aviation Securities Partners, LLC	Delaware
Carlyle Aviation Services II UGP Ltd.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Aviation Services III LP	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Aviation Services III UGP Ltd.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Aviation Services IV LP	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Aviation Services IV UGP Ltd.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Aviation Services Limited	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Aviation Services V LP	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Aviation Services V UGP Ltd.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Aviation Services, II L.P.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Beratungs GmbH	Germany
Carlyle Brasil Consultoria em Investimentos Ltda.	Brazil
Carlyle Bravo Credit SLP L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Bravo Credit Special Limited Partner, L.P.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Capital Coinvestment Partners, L.P.	Delaware
Carlyle Cavalier GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Cavalier GP, L.P.	Delaware
Carlyle China Realty GP, L.P.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle China Realty Ltd.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle CIM Agent, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle CLO GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
	- 1

Carlyle CLO ILP GP, L.L.C.

Carlyle CLO Investment Holdings, L.P.

Carlyle CLO Management L.L.C.

Carlyle CLO Partners GP, L.L.C.

Carlyle CLO Partners GP, L.L.C.

Carlyle Commodity Management, L.L.C.

Carlyle Direct Alternative Opportunities GP S1, L.L.C.

Carlyle Direct Alternative Opportunities GP, L.L.C.

Delaware

Carlyle Direct Alternative Opportunities GP, L.L.C.

Jurisdiction of Incorporation
or Organization

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Cayman Islands

#### **Company Name** Carlyle Egypt Investment Advisors LLC Egypt Carlyle EPE Alternative Opportunities GP S2 II, L.P. Delaware Carlyle Equity Opportunity GP AIV Cayman, L.P. Cavman Islands Carlyle Equity Opportunity GP AIV III, L.P. Delaware Carlyle Equity Opportunity GP AIV, L.L.C. Delaware Carlyle Equity Opportunity GP AIV, L.P. Delaware Carlyle Equity Opportunity GP, L.L.C. Delaware Carlyle Equity Opportunity GP, L.P. Delaware Carlyle Equity Opportunity GP-S1, L.P. Delaware Carlyle ETPE Alternative Opportunities GP S2, L.P. Delaware Carlyle Euro CLO 2017-1 Designated Activity Company Ireland Carlyle Euro CLO 2017-3 Designated Activity Company Ireland Carlyle Euro CLO 2018-1 Designated Activity Company Ireland CARLYLE EUROPE LIMITED England & Wales Carlyle Europe Real Estate Master Coinvestment, L.P. Delaware Carlyle Europe Real Estate Partners II, L.P. Delaware Carlyle Europe Real Estate St. Lazare GP, L.L.C. Delaware Carlyle Finance L.L.C. Delaware Carlyle Finance Subsidiary L.L.C. Delaware Carlyle Financial Services II, Ltd. Cavman Islands Carlyle Financial Services III AIV, L.L.C. Delaware Carlyle Financial Services III, LLC Delaware Carlyle Financial Services, Ltd. Cayman Islands Carlyle Financial Services-A, Ltd. Cayman Islands Carlyle FRL GP, L.L.C. Delaware Carlyle Global Credit (Asia) Limited Hong Kong Carlyle Global Credit Administration L.L.C. Delaware Carlyle Global Credit Investment Management L.L.C. Delaware Carlyle Global Market Strategies CLO 2012-4, Ltd. Cayman Islands Carlyle Global Market Strategies Commodities Funding 2014-1, Ltd Cavman Islands Carlyle Global Market Strategies Commodities Funding 2015-1, Ltd. Cavman Islands Carlyle Global Market Strategies Euro CLO 2013-1 B.V. Netherlands Carlyle Global Market Strategies Euro CLO 2015-1 Desginated Activity Company Ireland Carlyle Global Market Strategies Euro CLO 2015-3 Designated Activity Company Ireland Carlyle Global Market Strategies Euro CLO 2016-1 Designated Activity Company Ireland Carlyle Global Market Strategies Euro CLO 2016-2 Designated Activity Company Ireland Carlyle Holdings Finance L.L.C. Delaware Carlyle Holdings I Finance L.L.C. Delaware

Carlyle Holdings I GP Inc.

Carlyle Holdings I L.P.

Carlyle Holdings I GP Sub L.L.C.

Carlyle Holdings II Finance L.L.C.

Carlyle Holdings II Finance Ltd.

Company Name	Jurisdiction of Incorporat or Organization
Carlyle Holdings II GP L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Holdings II L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Holdings II L.P.	Quebec
Carlyle Holdings II Sub L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Holdings III GP L.P.	Quebec
Carlyle Holdings III GP Limited Partner L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Holdings III GP Management L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Holdings III GP Sub L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Holdings III L.P.	Quebec
CARLYLE HONG KONG EQUITY MANAGEMENT LIMITED [][][][][][][][]	Hong Kong
Carlyle IDF Management L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle India Advisors Private Limited	India
Carlyle Infrastructure General Partner, L.P.	Delaware
Carlyle Infrastructure GP, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Investment Consulting (Shanghai) Co Ltd	China
Carlyle Investment Management L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Ireland GP, L.P.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Japan Equity Management LLC	Delaware
Carlyle Japan II Ltd.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Japan III Ltd.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Japan IV, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Japan Ltd.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Japan, LLC	Delaware
CARLYLE KNOX HOLDINGS, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Korea Ltd.	Korea, Republic of
Carlyle Latin America Holdings Cayman, L.P.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Latin America Real Estate Partners, L.P.	Ontario
Carlyle Lion River Coinvestment General Partner, L.P.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Malta Advisors Limited	Malta
Carlyle Management Hong Kong Limited	Hong Kong
CARLYLE MAPLE LEAF FINANCE CO., U.L.C.	Nova Scotia
Carlyle Maple Leaf Holdings (Cayman), L.P.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Maple Leaf Holdings (Cayman), Ltd.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Maple Leaf Holdings, U.L.C.	Nova Scotia
Carlyle Mauritius CIS Investment Management Limited	Mauritius
Carlyle Mauritius Investment Advisors, Ltd	Mauritius
Carlyle MC GP, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle MENA (GCC) General Partner Limited	United Arab Emirates
Carlyle MENA General Partner, L.P.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle MENA Investment Advisors Limited	United Arab Emirates

Company Name	Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization
Carlyle MENA Limited	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Mexico Advisors, S. de R.L. de C.V.	Mexico
Carlyle Mexico General Partner, L.P.	Ontario
Carlyle Mexico Holdings, S.C.	Mexico
Carlyle Mexico L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Middle East, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CARLYLE NGP AGRIBUSINESS HOLDINGS, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle NGP Royalties I Holdings, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle NGP X Holdings, L.L.C.	Delaware
CARLYLE NGP XI HOLDINGS, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle NGP XII Holdings, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Nigeria Investment Advisors Limited	Nigeria
Carlyle Ontario Credit SLP L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Ontario Credit Special Limited Partner, L.P.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Pacific GP, L.P.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Pacific Limited	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Pacific Red Oak GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Perú Consultoría de Inversiones S.R.L.	Peru
Carlyle Peru GP, L.P.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Power General Partner, L.P.	Delaware
Carlyle PQ Opportunity GP, L.P.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle PQ/HDS GP Limited	Cayman Islands
Carlyle PQ/HDS Opportunity GP, L.P.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Property Investors GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Real Estate Advisors France Sarl	France
Carlyle Real Estate Advisors Italy S.r.l.	Italy
CARLYLE REAL ESTATE ADVISORS LLP	England & Wales
Carlyle Real Estate Società di Gestione del Risparmio S.p.A.	Italy
Carlyle Realty Distressed RMBS GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Realty Distressed RMBS II, L.P.	Delaware
Carlyle Realty Distressed RMBS III, L.P.	Delaware
Carlyle Realty Distressed RMBS, L.P.	Delaware
Carlyle Realty Halley Coinvestment GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Realty II, L.P.	Delaware
Carlyle Realty III GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Realty III, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Realty III, L.P.	Delaware
Carlyle Realty Investment Holdings, L.P.	Delaware
Carlyle Realty IV GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Realty IV, L.L.C.	Delaware
Caylyla Daalty IV I D	Dalar saus

Delaware Luxembourg Delaware

Carlyle Realty IV, L.P.
Carlyle Realty IX Lux GP, S.à r.l.
Carlyle Realty V GP, L.L.C.

	Jurisdiction of Incorporation
Company Name	or Organization
Carlyle Realty V, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Realty V, L.P.	Delaware
Carlyle Realty VI, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Realty VII, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Realty VIII, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Realty, L.P.	Delaware
Carlyle Revolving Loan GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Revolving Loan GP, L.P.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Russia Limited	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Scopel Holdings Cayman, L.P.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Scopel Mezzanine Loan GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Scopel Real Estate GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Scopel Senior Loan Partners GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Scopel Senior Loan Partners GP, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CARLYLE SINGAPORE INVESTMENT ADVISORS PTE LTD	Singapore
Carlyle Skyline Credit Fund GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Skyline Credit Fund GP, L.P.	Delaware
Carlyle South Africa Advisors	South Africa
Carlyle Star Co-Investment GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Structured Credit GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle Structured Credit GP, L.P.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle Tango RE Credit GP, L.P.	Delaware
Carlyle Tango, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle US CLO 2013-1 Risk Retention Investment, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle US CLO 2013-2 Risk Retention Investment, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle US CLO 2013-3 Risk Retention Investment, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle US CLO 2013-4 Risk Retention Investment, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle US CLO 2017-1 Risk Retention Investment, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle US CLO 2017-2 Risk Retention Investment, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle US CLO 2017-3 Risk Retention Investment, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle US CLO 2017-4 Risk Retention Investment, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle US CLO 2017-5 Risk Retention Investment, L.L.C.	Delaware
Carlyle US CLO 2019-4, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle US CLO 2020-1, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
Carlyle-MRE Terra GP, L.P.	Delaware
CASCOF General Partner, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CASCOF, L.L.C.	Delaware
CAVP General Partner, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CCEE Advisors (Delaware), L.L.C.	Delaware
CCIF Dollar Feeder GP, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CCIF GP Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CCIF GP, L.P.	Cayman Islands

CCOF General Partner, L.P.

Company Name	Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization
CCOF II General Partner, L.P.	Delaware
CCOF II L.L.C.	Delaware
CCOF II Lux General Partner, S.à r.l.	Luxembourg
CCOF II Note Issuer General Partner, L.L.C.	Delaware
CCOF II SPV GP, LLC	Delaware
CCOF L.L.C.	Delaware
CCOF SPV GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
CDL 2018-1 GP, L.L.C.	United States
CDL 2018-1 GP, L.P.	United States
CDL 2018-2 GP, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CDL 2020-3 Manager, L.L.C.	Delaware
CECP Advisors Ireland Limited	Ireland
CECP Advisors LLP	England & Wales
CECP Investment Advisors France S.A.R.L.	France
CECP, L.L.C.	Delaware
Celadon Partners, LLC	Delaware
CELF ADVISORS LLP	England & Wales
CELF, L.L.C.	Delaware
CEMOF General Partner Cayman, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CEMOF General Partner, L.P.	Delaware
CEMOF GP Cayman, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CEMOF II General Partner, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CEOF AIV GP Cayman, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CEOF AIV GP Cayman, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CEOF GP Cayman, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CEOF II DE AIV GP, L.P.	Delaware
CEOF II DE GP AIV, L.L.C.	Delaware
CEOF II GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
CEOF II GP, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CEP Advisors S.r.l.	Italy
CEP General Partner, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CEP II ARC 1S GP, L.P.	Delaware
CEP II ARC 2S GP, L.P.	Delaware
CEP II GP, L.P.	Alberta
CEP II Limited	Cayman Islands
CEP II Managing GP Holdings, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CEP II Managing GP, L.P.	Scotland
CEP III ARC 1P GP, L.P.	Delaware
CER HI ARC 40 CR I R	D 1

Delaware

Delaware

Scotland

Cayman Islands

CEP III ARC 1Q GP, L.P.

CEP III ARC 2P GP, L.P.

CEP III ARC 2Q GP, L.P.

CEP III GP, L.P.

**CEP III Limited** 

Company Name	Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization
CEP III Managing GP Holdings, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CEP III Managing GP, L.P.	Scotland
CEP Investment Administration II Limited	Guernsey
CEP Investment Administration Limited	Guernsey
CEP IV ARC 1A GP, L.P.	Delaware
CEP IV ARC 2A GP, L.P.	Delaware
CEP IV Dollar Feeder GP, L.P.	Scotland
CEP IV Managing GP Holdings, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CEP IV MANAGING GP, L.P.	Scotland
CEP IV-C Limited Partner, L.P.	Scotland
CEP V Holdings, L.L.C.	Delaware
CEP V Lux GP S.à r.l.	Luxembourg
CEP V Managing GP, L.P.	Ontario
CEP V-C Limited Partner L.P.	Scotland
CER Berlin RP Co-Investment GP, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CER Berlin RP GP, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CER Berlin RP, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CER Coinvest GP, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CER Coinvest, L.L.C.	Delaware
CER Coinvest, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CER Italian Logistics GP LLP	England & Wales
CER Italian Logistics GP, L.P.	Scotland
CER Italian Logistics Holdings, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CER Italian Logistics Managing GP, L.P.	Scotland
CER Net.Works GP, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CER Net.Works, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CEREP GP II, L.L.C.	Delaware
CEREP GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
CEREP II Master Holdings, L.L.C.	Delaware
CEREP II Mezzanine GP B, L.L.C.	Delaware
CEREP II Mezzanine GP B-2, L.L.C.	Delaware
CEREP II Mezzanine GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
CEREP II Mezzanine Loan Partners B-2, L.P.	Delaware
CEREP III ARC 10 GP, L.P.	Delaware
CEREP III ARC 20 GP, L.P.	Delaware
CEREP III GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
CEREP III-X, L.L.C.	Delaware
CEREP Investment Holdings II, LLC	Delaware
CEREP Investment Holdings III, L.L.C.	Delaware
CEDED Investment Heldings I. I. C.	Deleview

Delaware

Luxembourg

England & Wales

CEREP Investment Holdings, L.L.C.

CEREP Master Holdings, L.L.C.

**CEREP Management Sarl** 

CERF ARC LLP

	Jurisdiction of Incorporation
Company Name	or Organization
CERF GP S.à r.l.	Luxembourg
CERF II Lux GP, S.à r.l.	Luxembourg
CERF Managing GP Holdings, L.L.C.	Delaware
CERF Managing GP, L.P.	Scotland
CETP ARC 1I GP, L.P.	Delaware
CETP ARC 1J GP, L.P.	Delaware
CETP ARC 2I GP, L.P.	Delaware
CETP ARC 2J GP, L.P.	Delaware
CETP GP (Cayman) Limited	Cayman Islands
CETP GP, L.P.	Scotland
CETP II ARC 1L GP, L.P.	Delaware
CETP II ARC 1M GP, L.P.	Delaware
CETP II ARC 2L GP, L.P.	Delaware
CETP II ARC 2M GP, L.P.	Delaware
CETP II GP (Cayman) Limited	Cayman Islands
CETP II GP, L.P.	Scotland
CETP II Managing GP Holdings, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CETP II Managing GP, L.P.	Scotland
CETP III ARC 1F GP, L.P.	Delaware
CETP III ARC 1G GP, L.P.	Delaware
CETP III ARC 2F GP, L.P.	Delaware
CETP III ARC 2G GP, L.P.	Delaware
CETP III GP, L.P.	Scotland
CETP III Holdings, L.L.C.	Delaware
CETP III Managing GP Holdings, L.L.C.	Delaware
CETP III Managing GP, L.P.	Scotland
CETP III-F GP, L.P.	Delaware
CETP IV Holdings, L.L.C.	United States
CETP IV Lux GP S.à r.l.	Luxembourg
CETP IV Managing GP, L.P.	Ontario
CETP Managing GP Holdings, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CETP Managing GP, L.P.	Scotland
CEVP General Partner, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CEVP, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CG Europe Real Estate S.à r.l.	Luxembourg
CG Subsidiary Holdings L.L.C.	Delaware
CGFSP II Limited	Cayman Islands

CGH, L.L.C. CGH-1, L.L.C.

CGIOF Feeder (Scotland) GP, LLP

CGIOF General Partner S1, L.P.

CGIOF General Partner, L.P. CGIOF GP S1, L.L.C.

Delaware

Delaware

Scotland

Delaware

Cayman Islands Cayman Islands

## Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization

Cayman Islands

Company Name	Jurisdiction of Incorp or Organization
CGIOF GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
CGMS M-2015 General Partner, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CGMS M-2015 GP, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CGP General Partner (CY-1), L.P.	Cayman Islands
CGP General Partner (DE-1), L.P.	Delaware
CGP General Partner II, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CGP General Partner S3, L.L.C.	Delaware
CGP General Partner S3, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CGP General Partner, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CGP II General Partner S3, L.L.C.	Delaware
CGP II General Partner S3, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CGP II, L.L.C.	Delaware
China CMA GP, L.P.	Cayman Islands
China CMA GP, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
China CMA II GP, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CIEP General Partner, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CIEP GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
CIEP II GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
CIEP II Lux GP S.à r.l.	Luxembourg
CIEP II Managing GP, L.P.	Ontario
CIM (Delaware), Inc.	Delaware
CIM Europe S.à r.l.	Luxembourg
CIM Global Cayman Limited	Cayman Islands
CIM Global, L.L.C.	Delaware
CIP ARC 1H GP, L.P.	Delaware
CIP ARC 2H GP, L.P.	Delaware
CIP Cayman GP Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CIP Direct GP (Cayman), L.P.	Cayman Islands
CIP Direct GP LLC	Delaware
CIP U.S. Direct GP, L.P.	Delaware
CIPA General Partner, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CIPA, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CJIP Co-Investment III GP, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CJIP III General Partner, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CJIP IV Co-Investment GP, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CJIP IV General Partner, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CJIP IV Lux GP, S.àr.l.	Luxembourg
CJP Co-Investment II GP A, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CJP Co-Investment II GP B, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CJP Co-Investment III GP, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CJP General Partner, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CJP II General Partner, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CID II International CD I D	Cormon Islands

CJP II International GP, L.P.

Company Name	or Organization
CJP III General Partner, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CJP III Japan ILP GP, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CJP IV Co-Investment GP, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CJP IV General Partner, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CJP IV Japan ILP GP, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CLABF General Partner, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CLABF, L.L.C.	Delaware
CLARE Partners D, L.P.	Ontario
CLAREP Co-Investment, L.P.	Ontario
CLAREP GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
CLAREP Mexico, L.P.	Ontario
CMMCP (Onshore) General Partner, L.L.C.	Delaware
CMP General Partner, L.P.	Delaware
CP IV GP, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CP V General Partner, L.L.C.	Delaware
CP V Landmark GP LLC	Delaware
CP V S3 GP, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CPC V GP, LLC	Delaware
CPE Buyout GP, S.à r.l.	Luxembourg
CPP II General Partner, L.P.	Delaware
CREA Germany GmbH	Germany
CREA UK, L.L.C.	Delaware
Credit Acquisitions-2 General Partner, L.P.	Cayman Islands
Credit Acquisitions-2, L.L.C.	United States
Credit Acquisitions-3 General Partner, L.P.	Cayman Islands
Credit Acquisitions-3, L.L.C.	Delaware
CREV General Partner, L.L.C.	Delaware
CREV General Partner, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CRFI IV AIV GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
CRP III AIV GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
CRP III AIV GP, L.P.	Delaware
CRP IV AIV GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
CRP IV AIV GP, L.P.	Delaware
CRP V AIV GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
CRP V AIV GP, L.P.	Delaware
CRP V-A AIV GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
CRQP III AIV GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
CRQP III-A AIV GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
CRQP IV AIV GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
CRQP IV-A AIV GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
CRSEF General Partner Lux S1, S.C.Sp.	Luxembourg
CRSEF GP S1, L.L.C.	Delaware

CRSEF GP, L.L.C.

Jurisdiction of Incorporation

Delaware

### Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization

Ontario

Ontario

Company Name	Jurisdiction of Incorpo or Organization
CRSEF Lux GP S.à r.l.	Luxembourg
CRSEF Managing GP, L.P.	Ontario
CSABF AIV GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
CSABF General Partner Limited	Cayman Islands
CSABF General Partner, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CSG IIF SM Member GP, LLC	Delaware
CSG IIF SM Member, L.P.	Delaware
CSG Manager, LLC	Delaware
CSG Special Member, LLC	Delaware
CSP II (CAYMAN) GENERAL PARTNER, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CSP II (Cayman) GP, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CSP II General Partner, L.P.	Delaware
CSP III (Cayman) General Partner, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CSP III AIV General Partner (Cayman), L.P.	Cayman Islands
CSP III AIV GP (Cayman), Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CSP III Cayman International AIV GP, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CSP III General Partner, L.P.	Delaware
CSP Investment Advisors (HK) Limited	Hong Kong
CSP IV (Cayman 1) General Partner, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CSP IV (Cayman 2) General Partner, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CSP IV (Cayman 2) GP, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CSP IV (Cayman 3) General Partner, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CSP IV (Cayman 3) GP, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CSP IV ARF Delaware 3, L.L.C.	Delaware
CSP IV ARF General Partner, L.P.	Delaware
CSP IV General Partner, L.P.	Delaware
CSSAF General Partner (SA) Partnership	South Africa
CSSAF GP Ltd.	Cayman Islands
CSSAF Managing Partnership, L.P.	Cayman Islands
CVP II DHS Holdings GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
DBD Investors III, L.L.C.	Delaware
DGAM Management Services, Inc.	Cayman Islands
Direct Portfolio Management B.V.	Netherlands
Diversified Global Asset Management Corporation	Nova Scotia
EF Holdings, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
Five Overseas CG Investment L.L.C.	Delaware
Guaymas GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
HSP ARC 1D GP, L.P.	Delaware
HSP ARC 1E GP, L.P.	Delaware
HSP ARC 2D GP, L.P.	Delaware
HSP ARC 2E GP, L.P.	Delaware

LA Real Estate Partners C, L.P.

LAREP B, L.P.

Company Name	Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization
Latin America RE Partners E, L.P.	Ontario
MAIN STREET 1045 (PTY) LTD.	South Africa
Metropolitan MD GP, L.P.	Delaware
Metropolitan Real Estate Equity Management, LLC	Delaware
Metropolitan Real Estate Europe LLP	England & Wales
Metropolitan Real Estate Holdings, LLC	Delaware
MRE TPSF GP, L.P.	Delaware
MREP (GP of Second GP), L.P.	Delaware
MREP (GP) II, LLP	England & Wales
MREP (ILP) II Limited	England & Wales
MREP (LP of GP), LLC	Delaware
MREP (Second GP) II, L.P.	Delaware
MREP (Second GP), L.P.	Delaware
MREP Co-Investments K GP, LLC	Delaware
MREP10, LLC	Delaware
MREPGlobal7, LLC	Delaware
MREPIntl6, LLC	Delaware
MREP-SCIF B Manager, LLC	Delaware
MREP-SCIF II B Manager, LLC	Delaware
MREP-SCIF II GP, L.P.	Delaware
MREP-SCIF, LLC	Delaware
Oeral Investments BV	Netherlands
PrimeFlight Aviation Services, GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
PT. Carlyle Indonesia Advisors	Indonesia
Rio Branco 2 GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
SCPI General Partner, L.L.C.	Delaware
Seed Coinvestment GP, L.P.	Cayman Islands
Siren Holdings GP, Ltd.	Cayman Islands
TC Group Cayman Investment Holdings Sub L.P.	Cayman Islands
TC Group Cayman Investment Holdings, L.P.	Cayman Islands
TC Group Cayman Sub L.P.	Cayman Islands
TC Group Cayman, L.P.	Cayman Islands
TC Group CEMOF II, L.L.C.	Delaware
TC Group CEMOF, L.L.C.	Delaware
TC Group CMP, L.L.C.	Delaware
TIC C CDD II I I C	D 1

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

TC Group CPP II, L.L.C.

TC Group CSP II, L.L.C.

TC Group CSP III, L.L.C.

TC Group CSP IV, L.L.C.

TC Group Infrastructure, L.L.C.

TC Group CSP III Cayman, L.L.C.

TC Group CSP III Cayman-S3, L.L.C.

TC Group Infrastructure Direct GP, L.L.C.

Company Name	or Organization
TC Group Investment Holdings Limited Partner L.L.C.	Delaware
TC Group Investment Holdings Sub L.P.	Delaware
TC Group Investment Holdings, L.L.C.	Delaware
TC Group Investment Holdings, L.P.	Delaware
TC Group IV Cayman, L.P.	Cayman Islands
TC Group IV Managing GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
TC Group IV, L.L.C.	Delaware
TC Group IV, L.P.	Delaware
TC Group Management, L.L.C.	Delaware
TC Group Sub L.P.	Delaware
TC Group V Cayman S3, L.P.	Cayman Islands
TC Group V Cayman, L.P.	Cayman Islands
TC Group V Managing GP, L.L.C.	Delaware
TC Group V S1, L.L.C.	Delaware
TC Group V S1, L.P.	Delaware
TC Group V US, L.L.C.	Delaware
TC Group V US, L.P.	Delaware
TC Group V, L.L.C.	Delaware
TC Group V, L.P.	Delaware
TC Group VI - F, L.L.C.	Delaware
TC GROUP VI CAYMAN, L.L.C.	Delaware
TC Group VI Cayman, L.P.	Cayman Islands
TC Group VI S1, L.L.C.	Delaware
TC Group VI S1, L.P.	Delaware
TC Group VI S1-F, L.L.C.	Delaware
TC Group VI, L.L.C.	Delaware
TC Group VI, L.P.	Delaware
TC Group VII Cayman, L.L.C.	Delaware
TC Group VII Cayman, L.P.	Cayman Islands
TC Group VII Lux GP, S.à r.l.	Luxembourg
TC Group VII S1, L.L.C.	Delaware
TC Group VII S1, L.P.	Delaware
TC Group VII, L.L.C.	Delaware
TC Group VII, L.P.	Delaware
TC Group, L.L.C.	Delaware
TC Group-Energy LLC	Delaware
TC Group-Energy-S2 LLC	Delaware
TCG 2014 Coinvestment Acquisitions, L.P.	Cayman Islands
TCG 2014 GP Ltd.	Cayman Islands
TCG AP Investment Holdings Ltd.	Cayman Islands
TCG Asnieres 1 S.à.r.l.	Luxembourg
TCG Asnieres 2 S.à.r.l.	Luxembourg
TCG Capital Markets L.L.C.	Delaware

Jurisdiction of Incorporation

Company Name	or Organization
TCG Energy Investment Holdings (Cayman), L.P.	Cayman Islands
TCG Energy Investment Holdings III Cayman, L.P.	Cayman Islands
TCG Energy Investment Holdings III Cayman-S1, L.P.	Cayman Islands
TCG Energy Investment Holdings III Cayman-S3, L.P.	Cayman Islands
TCG Energy Investment Holdings, L.P.	Delaware
TCG FBIE Advisory Services, L.L.C.	Delaware
TCG FBIE Holdings Ltd.	Cayman Islands
TCG FBIE Holdings, L.P.	Cayman Islands
TCG FBIE Manager (Delaware), L.L.C.	Delaware
TCG Financial Services (Scot), L.P.	Scotland
TCG Financial Services II A, L.L.C.	Delaware
TCG Financial Services II A1, L.P.	Delaware
TCG Financial Services II, L.P.	Cayman Islands
TCG Financial Services III AIV, L.P.	Delaware
TCG Financial Services III, L.P.	Cayman Islands
TCG Financial Services L.P.	Cayman Islands
TCG Financial Services-A, L.P.	Cayman Islands
TCG Gestor Ltda.	Brazil
TCG Holdings Finance Co. L.L.C.	Delaware
TCG Horizon Strategic GP, LLC	Delaware
TCG Pattern Investment Holdings, L.P.	Cayman Islands
TCG Power Opportunities, L.L.C.	Delaware
TCG R/C RW GP Corp	Delaware
TCG Realty Investment Holdings, L.L.C.	Delaware
TCG RW ILP Corp	Delaware
TCG Securities, L.L.C.	Delaware
TCG Senior Funding L.L.C.	Delaware
TCG V (SCOT), L.P.	Scotland
TCG Ventures II, L.L.C.	Delaware
TCG Ventures II, L.P.	Delaware
TCG Ventures III, L.L.C.	Delaware
TCG Ventures III, L.P.	Delaware
TCG Ventures Investment Holdings, L.L.C.	Delaware
TCG Ventures, L.L.C.	Delaware
The Carlyle Group (Luxembourg) S.à.r.l.	Luxembourg
The Carlyle Group Employee Co., L.L.C.	Delaware
The Carlyle Group Espana, SL	Spain
The Carlyle Group Inc.	Delaware

Jurisdiction of Incorporation

#### **Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm**

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

- 1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 POS No. 333-181109) pertaining to The Carlyle Group Inc. Amended and Restated 2012 Equity Incentive Plan,
- 2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 POS No. 333-187264) pertaining to The Carlyle Group Inc. Amended and Restated 2012 Equity Incentive Plan.
- 3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 POS No. 333-194164) pertaining to The Carlyle Group Inc. Amended and Restated 2012 Equity Incentive Plan,
- 4) Registration Statement (Form S-8 POS No. 333-202315) pertaining to The Carlyle Group Inc. Amended and Restated 2012 Equity Incentive Plan.
- 5) Registration Statement (Form S-8 POS No. 333-209690) pertaining to The Carlyle Group Inc. Amended and Restated 2012 Equity Incentive Plan.
- 6) Registration Statement (Form S-8 POS No. 333-216100) pertaining to The Carlyle Group Inc. Amended and Restated 2012 Equity Incentive Plan,
- 7) Registration Statement (Form S-8 POS No. 333-223051) pertaining to The Carlyle Group Inc. Amended and Restated 2012 Equity Incentive Plan,
- 8) Registration Statement (Form S-8 POS No. 333-229663) pertaining to The Carlyle Group Inc. Amended and Restated 2012 Equity Incentive Plan.
- 9) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-236394) pertaining to The Carlyle Group Inc. Amended and Restated 2012 Equity Incentive Plan.

of our reports dated February 11, 2021 with respect to the consolidated financial statements of The Carlyle Group Inc. and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of The Carlyle Group Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of The Carlyle Group Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2020.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Tysons, VA February 11, 2021

#### I, Kewsong Lee, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 of The Carlyle Group Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
  - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
  - (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
  - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
  - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
  - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 11, 2021

/s/ Kewsong Lee

Kewsong Lee Chief Executive Officer The Carlyle Group Inc. (Principal Executive Officer)

#### I, Curtis L. Buser, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 of The Carlyle Group Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
  - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
  - (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
  - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
  - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
  - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 11, 2021

/s/ Curtis L. Buser

Curtis L. Buser Chief Financial Officer The Carlyle Group Inc. (Principal Financial Officer)

# Certification of the Co-Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of The Carlyle Group Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Kewsong Lee, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Kewsong Lee

Kewsong Lee Chief Executive Officer The Carlyle Group Inc. Date: February 11, 2021

\* The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate disclosure document.

#### Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of The Carlyle Group Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Curtis L. Buser, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Curtis L. Buser

Curtis L. Buser Chief Financial Officer The Carlyle Group Inc. Date: February 11, 2021

\* The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate disclosure document.